# LYMPHOCYTES IN MS AND EAE: MORE THAN JUST A CD4+ WORLD

EDITED BY: Manu Rangachari, Nathalie Arbour, Steven M. Kerfoot and Jorge I. Alvarez PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology





#### Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2017 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88945-302-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-302-3

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

### **Dedication to quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org** 

1

# LYMPHOCYTES IN MS AND EAE: MORE THAN JUST A CD4<sup>+</sup> WORLD

**Topic Editors:** 

Manu Rangachari, Université Laval, Canada Nathalie Arbour, Université de Montréal, Canada Steven M. Kerfoot, Western University, Canada Jorge I. Alvarez, University of Pennsylvania, United States

Multiple sclerosis is degenerative disease of the central nervous system (CNS) in which myelin destruction and axon loss leads to the accumulation of physical, cognitive, and mental deficits. MS affects more than a million people worldwide and managing this chronic disease presents a significant health challenge. Multiple lines of evidence indicate that MS is an autoimmune disorder in which immune cells launch an inflammatory attack targeting myelin antigens. Indeed, myelin-reactive T cells and antibodies have been identified in MS patients and in animal models (namely experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, or EAE) that recapitulate many features of human disease. Animal model studies have demonstrated that T cells are both necessary and sufficient to initiate and sustain CNS autoimmunity. However, most MS animal models rely on the role played by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and partially replicate the multiple aspects of MS pathogenesis. Thus, research in the past has focused heavily on the contribution of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells to the disease process; searching PubMed for "MS AND CD4" yields twice the results as corresponding searches for "CD8" or "B cell" and four times that for "NK cells".

While CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells may represent the minimum requirement to mediate CNS autoimmunity, it is clear that the immune response underlying human MS is far more complex and involves numerous other immune cells and subsets. This is well illustrated by the observation that MS patients treated with an anti-CD4 depleting antibody did not gain any clinical benefits whereas removal of several lymphocyte subsets using an anti-CD52 depleting antibody has been shown to impede disease progression. In particular, the pathogenic role(s) of non-CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell lymphocytes is relatively poorly understood and under-researched, despite evidence that these subsets contribute to disease pathology or regulation. For example, the observed oligoclonal expansion of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells within the CNS compartment supports a local activation. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells with polarized cytolytic granules are seen in close proximity to oligodendrocytes and demyelinated axons in MS tissues. The presence of B cells in inflammatory lesions and antibodies in the CSF have long been recognized as features of MS and Rituximab, a B cell depleting therapy, has been shown to be highly effective to treat MS. Intriguingly, the putative MS therapeutic reagent Daclizumab may function in part through the expansion of a subset of immunoregulatory NK cells. NKT and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells may also play a role in CNS autoimmunity, given that they respond to lipid antigens and that myelin is lipid-rich. While different animal

2



Spinal cord inflammation and pathology in a spontaneous model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. Mice expressing mutant T and B cell receptors against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) developed signs of autoimmune disease at approximately 5 wks of age (See Dang et.al. in this issue). Immune cell infiltration of spinal cords was assessed by immunofluorescent histology. B cells (B220, Blue) were largely restricted to the meninges, often forming clusters adjacent to regions of reduced myelin (Red) staining. T cells (CD3, Green) were found in association with B cells and throughout the grey and white matter, concentrating in demyelinating lesions.

Image by Steven Kerfoot

models recapitulate some of these aspects of human disease, identifying appropriate models and measures to investigate the role of these less well-understood lymphocytes in MS remains a challenge for the field.

This Frontiers research topic aims to create a platform for both animal- and humanfocused researchers to share their original data, hypotheses, future perspectives and commentaries regarding the role of these lesswell understood lymphocyte subsets (CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, B cells, NK cells, NK T cells,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells) in the pathogenesis of CNS autoimmunity.

**Citation:** Rangachari, M., Arbour, N., Kerfoot, S. M., Alvarez, J. I., eds. (2017). Lymphocytes in MS and EAE: More than just a CD4<sup>+</sup> World. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-302-3

# Table of Contents

### 1. Editorial

06 Editorial: Lymphocytes in MS and EAE: More Than Just a CD4<sup>+</sup> World Manu Rangachari, Steven M. Kerfoot, Nathalie Arbour and Jorge Ivan Alvarez

### 2. B Cells in MS and EAE

09 Meningeal Infiltration of the Spinal Cord by Non-Classically Activated B Cells is Associated with Chronic Disease Course in a Spontaneous B Cell-Dependent Model of CNS Autoimmune Disease

Amy K. Dang, Yodit Tesfagiorgis, Rajiv W. Jain, Heather C. Craig and Steven M. Kerfoot

21 Investigating the Antigen Specificity of Multiple Sclerosis Central Nervous System-Derived Immunoglobulins

Simon N. Willis, Panos Stathopoulos, Anne Chastre, Shannon D. Compton, David A. Hafler and Kevin C. O'Connor

30 B Cells Are Multifunctional Players in Multiple Sclerosis Pathogenesis: Insights from Therapeutic Interventions

Nele Claes, Judith Fraussen, Piet Stinissen, Raymond Hupperts and Veerle Somers

- 44 Hypersensitivity Responses in the Central Nervous System Reza Khorooshi, Nasrin Asgari, Marlene Thorsen Mørch, Carsten Tue Berg and Trevor Owens
- 57 The Role of Latently Infected B Cells in CNS Autoimmunity Ana Citlali Márquez and Marc Steven Horwitz
- 65 Cytokine-Defined B Cell Responses as Therapeutic Targets in Multiple Sclerosis Rui Li, Ayman Rezk, Luke M. Healy, Gillian Muirhead, Alexandre Prat, Jennifer L. Gommerman, Amit Bar-Or and MSSRF Canadian B cells in MS Team
- 75 The Ins and Outs of B Cells in Multiple Sclerosis Kevin Blauth, Gregory P. Owens and Jeffrey L. Bennett
- 82 B Cells in the Multiple Sclerosis Central Nervous System: Trafficking and Contribution to CNS-Compartmentalized Inflammation Laure Michel, Hanane Touil, Natalia B. Pikor, Jennifer L. Gommerman, Alexandre Prat and Amit Bar-Or
- 94 Meningeal Tertiary Lymphoid Tissues and Multiple Sclerosis: A Gathering Place for Diverse Types of Immune Cells during CNS Autoimmunity

Natalia B. Pikor, Alexandre Prat, Amit Bar-Or and Jennifer L. Gommerman

### 3. CD8+ T Cells in MS and EAE

### 101 Involvement of CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cells in Multiple Sclerosis

Marion Salou, Bryan Nicol, Alexandra Garcia and David-Axel Laplaud

#### 110 CD8<sup>+</sup> T-Cells as Immune Regulators of Multiple Sclerosis

Sushmita Sinha, Alexander W. Boyden, Farah R. Itani, Michael P. Crawford and Nitin J. Karandikar

122 The Non-Obese Diabetic Mouse Strain as a Model to Study CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cell Function in Relapsing and Progressive Multiple Sclerosis

Prenitha Mercy Ignatius Arokia Doss, Andrée-Pascale Roy, AiLi Wang, Ana Carrizosa Anderson and Manu Rangachari

130 Evidence from Human and Animal Studies: Pathological Roles of CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cells in Autoimmune Peripheral Neuropathies

Mu Yang, Corentin Peyret, Xiang Qun Shi, Nicolas Siron, Jeong Ho Jang, Sonia Wu, Sylvie Fournier and Ji Zhang

#### 4. Innate Lymphocytesin in MS and EAE

137  $\gamma \delta T$  Cells and NK Cells – Distinct Pathogenic Roles as Innate-Like Immune Cells in CNS Autoimmunity

Sarah C. Edwards, Aoife M. McGinley, Niamh C. McGuinness and Kingston H. G. Mills

143 The Emerging Roles of Gamma–Delta T Cells in Tissue Inflammation in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis

Sakshi Malik, Muzamil Yaqub Want and Amit Awasthi

**154** *Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cells in Multiple Sclerosis: The Jury is Still Out* Emmanuel Treiner and Roland S. Liblau





# Editorial: Lymphocytes in MS and EAE: More Than Just a CD4<sup>+</sup> World

Manu Rangachari<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Steven M. Kerfoot<sup>3</sup>, Nathalie Arbour<sup>4</sup> and Jorge Ivan Alvarez<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neurosciences, Centre de recherche du CHU de Québec – Université Laval, Quebec City, QC, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Department of Molecular Medicine, Université Laval, Quebec City, QC, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Schulich School of Medicine and Dentistry, Western University, London, ON, Canada, <sup>4</sup> Department of Neurosciences, Université de Montréal and CRCHUM, Montréal, QC, Canada, <sup>5</sup> Department of Pathobiology, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Keywords: multiple sclerosis, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell, B cell, gamma-delta T cell, MAIT cell, NK cell

#### **Editorial on the Research Topic**

#### Lymphocytes in MS and EAE: More Than Just a CD4<sup>+</sup> World

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Hans-Peter Hartung, University of Düsseldorf, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Jorge Correale, Fundación para la Lucha contra las Enfermedades Neurológicas de la Infancia, Argentina

#### \*Correspondence:

Manu Rangachari manu.rangachari@crchudequebec. ulaval.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 24 November 2016 Accepted: 26 January 2017 Published: 13 February 2017

#### Citation:

Rangachari M, Kerfoot SM, Arbour N and Alvarez JI (2017) Editorial: Lymphocytes in MS and EAE: More Than Just a CD4<sup>+</sup> World. Front. Immunol. 8:133. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00133 Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an autoimmune disease of the central nervous system (CNS) that affects nearly two million people worldwide. Disease onset can occur at a young age, leaving sufferers with a significantly reduced quality of life. The fact that there is no cure for MS, plus the fact that its animal model experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) is considered a "classic" model of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell-triggered autoimmunity, has led MS pathogenesis to be an area of intense investigation in the past few decades. Numerous lines of evidence indicate that MS is driven by CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocyte-mediated mechanisms (1-3). Polymorphisms in the HLA class II region are by far the strongest genetic link to MS (4). Moreover, the majority of currently available MS disease-modifying therapies are believed to act by modulating inflammatory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses, although in many cases the effects on other immune cell types are under-studied and may be at least as important. Furthermore, while current immunomodulatory drugs are able to reduce the frequency and severity of MS relapses, they are relatively ineffective in progressive forms of the disease (5). Attempted blockade of CD4+ T cells using anti-CD4-depleting antibody therapy did not produce clinical benefits to patients with MS (6). In contrast, more global immunosuppressive or immunomodulatory approaches reduce the number of relapses and disease progression of MS patients (7). Furthermore, numerous publications have presented data generated from autopsy material obtained from human patients supporting the notion that other cell types are involved (8-11). There is thus an urgent need to expand our view of immune-related pathogenesis in human disease. Despite evidence that lymphocytes such as B cells and CD8+ T cells play a role, their contributions are much less well studied experimentally compared to those of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. In this Special Topic, we promote this expanded view of disease pathogenesis by presenting articles that examine the role played by lymphocytes other than CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in MS and its experimental models.

The B cell-depleting reagents rituximab and ocrelizumab have shown success against relapsing/ remitting (12) and even progressive MS (13). Thus, it is no surprise that this collection features several submissions considering different aspects of potential B cell contributions to CNS autoimmunity. Both Claes et al. and Michel et al. survey what is known about B cells in MS and discuss potential pathogenic mechanisms including antibody production, cytokine secretion, antigen presentation to T cells, and the promotion of disease from within the CNS. Claes et al. additionally present a detailed review of how B cell subpopulations and effector functions are altered both by broadly

specific disease-modifying therapies such as interferon-beta and glatiramer acetate as well as by rituximab and ocrelizumab. B cell infiltration into the CNS in MS was a particular focus of the Michel et al. review, and this was further expanded upon by two additional reviews in this special topic. Blauth et al. describe the signals that may permit B cell entry to the CNS, such as CXCL13, VLA-4, and ICAM. Additionally, they discuss recent evidence suggesting that B cells can also exit the CNS so as to undergo additional affinity maturation in peripheral lymphoid tissues, as well as data indicating that the meninges can support differentiation of CNS-specific B cells independently of the periphery. Once in the CNS, B cells have been described to form aggregates in the meninges akin to tertiary lymphoid organ-like structures, and these are the subject of a review from Pikor et al. In particular, they discuss recent evidence suggesting that antigen-experienced T and B cells accumulate in these structures to promote CNS inflammation.

A common theme of these reviews is the uncertainty regarding the neuropathogenic role of B cells in MS. Interestingly, evidence from the two primary research articles in this issue present a challenge to the hypothesis that autoreactive B cell responses are propagated within meningeal aggregates of lymphocytes. First, in an attempt to identify antigenic targets of B cell-mediated destruction in MS, Willis et al. cloned the IgV heavy and light chains of CNS-infiltrating B cell clones from six MS patients to generate putative CNS-reactive recombinant antibodies. Surprisingly, using various approaches (binding to candidate antigen, CNS cell lines, or antigen array) no CNS- or MS-specific antigen targets could be identified. Second, Dang et al. present data showing that the presence of B cells in spinal cord-associated meningeal clusters correlates with chronic symptoms in a B cell-dependent model of spontaneous EAE. Intriguingly, however, these "cluster B cells" have a naïve phenotype with little evidence of Ig class switching and the clusters themselves do not bear the features of structured lymphoid follicles, suggesting that the simple presence of B cells in the meninges is sufficient to promote disease progression.

The remaining B cell-centric articles in this issue focus on other potential pathogenic mechanisms. B cells almost certainly shape the autoimmune response through the secretion of inflammatory cytokines such as TNFa, lymphotoxin, and GM-CSF, as described by Li et al. In addition, B cells can present antigen to T cells and modulate their properties. Márquez and Horwitz discuss the possibility that Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-infected B cells preferentially elicit Th1 responses in the CNS. It is tempting to speculate that exposure to EBV, which is an environmental factor strongly associated with MS (14), influences disease outcomes by altering B cell activity. Furthermore, the effectiveness of B cell depletion therapy in MS may be due in part to reduced effector T cell function. While the "immune helper" functions of B cells in MS have been intensely investigated, the classic role of B cells as antibody-secreting cells cannot be neglected. Indeed, the presence of oligoclonal IgG bands in CSF has long been a clinical biomarker of MS and is still used as a differential diagnostic tool (15). Khorooshi et al. detail what is known about antibodymediated pathogenic mechanisms in CNS autoimmunity. They pay particular attention to the role of anti-aquaporin 4 antibodies in neuromyelitis optica—a disease that has only recently been recognized as being independent of MS. They present a scheme in which these antibodies cross a disrupted blood–brain barrier and target astrocytes for complement-mediated destruction in a T cell-independent manner.

CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are present in MS tissue at all stages of disease. They can greatly outnumber CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in lesions, perivascular cuffs, and normal-appearing white matter. Furthermore, unlike CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that mostly remain restricted to the perivascular space, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells infiltrate deep into the CNS parenchymal lesions (16). Salou et al. delineate some of the current lines of investigation into the role of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in MS, such as ongoing efforts to characterize the antigenic repertoire of these cells, as well as recent advances in the study of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells using EAE and the importance of IL-17-producing CD8+ T cells in pathogenesis. Yang et al. describe the pathogenic function of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in peripheral neuropathies such as Guillain-Barré syndrome, with a particular emphasis on a mouse model that features CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell-driven inflammation in the peripheral sciatic, trigeminal, and facial nerves. By contrast, Sinha et al. argue that the role of regulatory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (T<sub>reg</sub>) in CNS autoimmunity deserves further attention. Importantly, the frequency of CD8<sup>+</sup> T<sub>reg</sub> is diminished during MS relapse, and the authors discuss findings suggesting that the drug glatiramer acetate may act, in part, by augmenting the CD8<sup>+</sup> T<sub>reg</sub> response. Finally, Ignatius Arokia Doss et al. describe a transgenic mouse strain (1C6) in which both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells bear T cell receptor specificity to myelin antigen. The 1C6 transgene is on the NOD background, on which mice develop a relapsing-to-progressive pattern of EAE that models the form most commonly seen in human MS. The authors propose an approach in which 1C6 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are stimulated *ex vivo* with distinct differentiation stimuli, prior to adoptive transfer. This would allow one to dissect the relative contributions of IFNy-producing, IL-17positive, and potentially even regulatory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to CNS autoimmunity.

While B cells and CD8+ T cells represent two-thirds of the lymphocytic "Holy Trinity," there is an array of other lymphocyte subsets with innate immune-like properties that have been posited to play a role in MS. Edwards et al. and Malik et al. provide an overview of what is known about  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in MS and EAE, respectively. These cells, which are found principally in skin and mucosal tissues, readily produce IL-17-associated cytokines and thus may be important mediators of inflammation in the CNS. The role of natural killer cells in disease may be Janus-like, with inflammatory CD16+CD56dim cells being increased during MS relapse while the CD16<sup>dim/-</sup>CD56<sup>bright</sup> subset predominates during remission (Edwards et al.). Treiner and Liblau report what is known about recently identified mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells. These are lymphocytes with innate properties that, as their name suggests, are located in mucosal tissues such as in the gut. While studies in mouse EAE have suggested that MAIT cells are anti-inflammatory, the picture is less clear in humans as MS immunotherapy appears to affect the frequency of peripheral MAIT cells. However, as MAIT cells may proliferate in response to commensal microbial antigens (17), it is tempting to speculate that they may provide part of the answer to the question of how the microbiome can influence autoimmune inflammatory diseases such as MS.

The past decades have seen remarkable progress in unraveling the complex and diversified immune mechanisms that contribute to MS pathobiology. Nevertheless, the precise etiology of MS remains elusive. Furthermore, despite an increasing number of immunomodulatory or immunosuppressive therapies altering relapsing-remitting MS, there is a pressing need for effective treatments for progressive disease. The more expanded view of disease pathology presented in this Special Topic may prove to be the key for the next generation of MS therapies.

### REFERENCES

- Bielekova B, Goodwin B, Richert N, Cortese I, Kondo T, Afshar G, et al. Encephalitogenic potential of the myelin basic protein peptide (amino acids 83-99) in multiple sclerosis: results of a phase II clinical trial with an altered peptide ligand. *Nat Med* (2000) 6:1167–75. doi:10.1038/80516
- Hemmer B, Kerschensteiner M, Korn T. Role of the innate and adaptive immune responses in the course of multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol* (2015) 14:406–19. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70305-9
- Sospedra M, Martin R. Immunology of multiple sclerosis. Annu Rev Immunol (2005) 23:683–747. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115707
- Baranzini SE. Revealing the genetic basis of multiple sclerosis: are we there yet? Curr Opin Genet Dev (2011) 21:317–24. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2010.12.006
- Weiner HL. A shift from adaptive to innate immunity: a potential mechanism of disease progression in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol (2008) 255(Suppl 1):3–11. doi:10.1007/s00415-008-1002-8
- van Oosten BW, Lai M, Hodgkinson S, Barkhof F, Miller DH, Moseley IF, et al. Treatment of multiple sclerosis with the monoclonal anti-CD4 antibody cM-T412: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, MR-monitored phase II trial. *Neurology* (1997) 49:351–7. doi:10.1212/ WNL.49.2.351
- Jones JL, Anderson JM, Phuah C-L, Fox EJ, Selmaj K, Margolin D, et al. Improvement in disability after alemtuzumab treatment of multiple sclerosis is associated with neuroprotective autoimmunity. *Brain* (2010) 133:2232–47. doi:10.1093/brain/awq176
- Larochelle C, Metz I, Lécuyer M-A, Terouz S, Roger M, Arbour N, et al. Immunological and pathological characterization of fatal rebound MS activity following natalizumab withdrawal. *Mult Scler* (2017) 23(1):72–81. doi:10.1177/1352458516641775
- Larochelle C, Lécuyer M-A, Alvarez JI, Charabati M, Saint-Laurent O, Ghannam S, et al. Melanoma cell adhesion molecule-positive CD8 T lymphocytes mediate central nervous system inflammation. *Ann Neurol* (2015) 78:39–53. doi:10.1002/ana.24415
- 10. Frischer JM, Bramow S, Dal-Bianco A, Lucchinetti CF, Rauschka H, Schmidbauer M, et al. The relation between inflammation and

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MR wrote the manuscript with the input of SK, NA, and JA.

#### FUNDING

MR is supported by a Junior-1 «chercheurs-boursiers» Award from the Fonds de recherche santé – Québec (FRQS). NA holds a New Investigator Salary Award from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research. JA holds a NIH/NINDS salary award (1K01NS097519).

neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis brains. Brain (2009) 132:1175-89. doi:10.1093/brain/awp070

- Babbe H, Roers A, Waisman A, Lassmann H, Goebels N, Hohlfeld R, et al. Clonal expansions of CD8(+) T cells dominate the T cell infiltrate in active multiple sclerosis lesions as shown by micromanipulation and single cell polymerase chain reaction. *J Exp Med* (2000) 192:393–404. doi:10.1084/ jem.192.3.393
- Shirani A, Okuda DT, Stüve O. Therapeutic advances and future prospects in progressive forms of multiple sclerosis. *Neurotherapeutics* (2016) 13:58–69. doi:10.1007/s13311-015-0409-z
- Gajofatto A, Turatti M, Benedetti MD. Primary progressive multiple sclerosis: current therapeutic strategies and future perspectives. *Expert Rev Neurother* (2016):1–14. doi:10.1080/14737175.2017.1257385
- Ascherio A. Environmental factors in multiple sclerosis. Expert Rev Neurother (2013) 13:3–9. doi:10.1586/14737175.2013.865866
- Housley WJ, Pitt D, Hafler DA. Biomarkers in multiple sclerosis. *Clin Immunol* (2015) 161:51–8. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2015.06.015
- Kutzelnigg A, Lassmann H. Pathology of multiple sclerosis and related inflammatory demyelinating diseases. *Handb Clin Neurol* (2014) 122:15–58. doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-52001-2.00002-9
- Treiner E, Lantz O. CD1d- and MR1-restricted invariant T cells: of mice and men. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2006) 18:519–26. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2006. 07.001

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Rangachari, Kerfoot, Arbour and Alvarez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Meningeal infiltration of the spinal cord by non-classically activated B cells is associated with chronic disease course in a spontaneous B cell-dependent model of CNS autoimmune disease

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

V. Wee Yong, University of Calgary, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Marc Horwitz, University of British Columbia, Canada Robert Axtell, Oklahoma Medical Research Foundation, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Steven M. Kerfoot, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Schulich School of Medicine and Dentistry, Western University Canada, Dental Sciences Building 3014, London, ON N6A 5C1, Canada skerfoot@uwo.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 25 June 2015 Accepted: 31 August 2015 Published: 15 September 2015

#### Citation:

Dang AK, Tesfagiorgis Y, Jain RW, Craig HC and Kerfoot SM (2015) Meningeal infiltration of the spinal cord by non-classically activated B cells is associated with chronic disease course in a spontaneous B cell-dependent model of CNS autoimmune disease. Front. Immunol. 6:470. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00470 Amy K. Dang, Yodit Tesfagiorgis, Rajiv W. Jain, Heather C. Craig and Steven M. Kerfoot\*

Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Schulich School of Medicine and Dentistry, Western University Canada, London, ON, Canada

We characterized B cell infiltration of the spinal cord in a B cell-dependent spontaneous model of central nervous system (CNS) autoimmunity that develops in a proportion of mice with mutant T and B cell receptors specific for myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. We found that, while males are more likely to develop disease, females are more likely to have a chronic rather than monophasic disease course. B cell infiltration of the spinal cord was investigated by histology and FACs. CD4+ T cell infiltration was pervasive throughout the white and in some cases gray matter. B cells were almost exclusively restricted to the meninges, often in clusters reminiscent of those described in human multiple sclerosis. These clusters were typically found adjacent to white matter lesions and their presence was associated with a chronic disease course. Extensive investigation of these clusters by histology did not identify features of lymphoid follicles, including organization of T and B cells into separate zones, CD35<sup>+</sup> follicular dendritic cells, or germinal centers. The majority of cluster B cells were IgD<sup>+</sup> with little evidence of class switch. Consistent with this, B cells isolated from the spinal cord were of the naïve/memory CD38<sup>hi</sup> CD95<sup>lo</sup> phenotype. Nevertheless, they were CD62L<sup>10</sup> and CD80<sup>hi</sup> compared to lymph node B cells suggesting that they were at least partly activated and primed to present antigen. Therefore, if meningeal B cells contribute to CNS pathology in autoimmunity, follicular differentiation is not necessary for the pathogenic mechanism.

#### Keywords: B cells, EAE, demyelination, inflammation, meninges

### Introduction

The best evidence supports the hypothesis that multiple sclerosis (MS) is an autoimmune disease of the central nervous system (CNS) driven by immune cells targeting myelin antigens. The autoimmune response results in chronic inflammation of the CNS, demyelination, destruction of axons, and neurodegeneration over an extended period of time (1, 2). The presence of infiltrating immune cells in MS CNS tissues, including potentially myelin-specific T and B cells, supports a primary immune

etiology for disease (3–6), as do studies that have identified genes associated with the immune system, immune regulation, and antigen presentation as the primary genetic risk factors for MS (7). Deliberate induction of myelin-targeting autoimmunity in animal models results in CNS inflammation and pathology that recapitulates some features of human MS, although the degree to which these models resemble human disease varies depending on how autoimmunity is induced and on the species or strain of animal used (8–10).

Outside of the laboratory, the vast majority of immune responses incorporate antigen targeting by multiple subpopulations of both T and B cells. However, in recent decades, research interest has focused heavily on CD4+T cells and this is particularly true of MS research. Considerable advances in our understanding of how B cells collaborate with CD4+ T cells during the initiation and development of a response highlight the importance of understanding immune responses as a whole. When both T and B cells are involved in target recognition, germinal center (GC) formation is the typical result. GCs are the source for long lived, high affinity B cell and antibody responses fundamental to normal, complex protective, and pathogenic immunity (11). While best known for their role in antibody production, it is becoming increasingly apparent that B cells are also important regulators and modulators of the immune response through the production of cytokines (12, 13) and presentation of antigen to T cells (14). As antigen-presenting cells (APCs), B cells very efficiently take up antigen that binds to their specific B cell receptor (BCR) and process it for presentation to T cells. The resulting "cognate" interactions between T and B cells specific for the same or physically linked antigen are foundational to the development of most complex immune responses (15, 16), almost certainly including those underlying organ-specific autoimmune diseases like MS (4).

Considerable evidence supports an important role for B cells in addition to T cells in driving MS pathology. The presence of antibodies in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and B cells in the CNS infiltrate has long been recognized as features of disease (4, 5). More recently, targeted depletion of CD20-expressing B cells using humanized anti-CD20 antibodies was shown to very effectively reduce inflammatory signs and relapses in MS (17). This ignited interest in B cells as therapeutic targets. However, a more recent trial of a soluble recombinant version of the cytokine receptor TACI (TACI-Fc), which depletes B cells through the inhibition of the cytokines BAFF and APRIL, was halted early due to indications that treatment increased relapse rate (18). Anti-CD20 and TACI-Fc deplete B cells through very different mechanisms and target different subsets of cells (19). CD20 is not expressed by antibody-producing plasma cells and therapeutic benefit of anti-CD20 was observed well prior to any reduction in antibody levels. By contrast, TACI-Fc does target plasma cells in addition to mature B cells. Further, as both T cells and neurons express receptors for BAFF (20, 21), the effects of this drug likely extend well beyond B cell depletion. Therefore, while antibodies may contribute to pathology (1), the primary B cell contribution to MS is through some other mechanism(s), perhaps via APC function or cytokine

modulation of the autoimmune response. Furthermore, the effectiveness of B cell depletion via anti-CD20 (17) suggests that their pathogenic role is ongoing and drives chronic disease. The lack of benefit and perhaps pathogenic effects of TACI-Fc confuses the issue, and highlights the need to identify pathogenic and protective B cell subpopulations and their roles in CNS autoimmunity.

It is also not clear where, anatomically, B cells exert their pathogenic function. There has been considerable recent interest in clusters of B and T cells observed in the meninges in post-mortem studies of MS brains, often in direct association with demyelinating lesions (3, 6, 22). Some studies have focused on the potential similarity of these structures to secondary lymphoid organs, suggesting that they may perform similar functions in propagating immune responses from within the inflamed CNS (23, 24). Understanding the pathogenic contributions of B cells and the role played by meningeal clusters to ongoing disease will require models that appropriately recapitulate a complex antimyelin immune response.

Animal models with induced anti-myelin autoimmunity are referred to by the umbrella term "experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis" (EAE). Currently, the most commonly used versions of this model are induced through immunization with short peptides mimicking dominant CD4+ T cell epitopes derived from myelin protein antigens. By their design, these models severely limit the involvement of other lymphocytes, including B cells that would normally participate in antigen targeting. Immunization with larger protein antigens can overcome this limitation (25). Alternatively, B cells may contribute to several non-immunization-based models. CNS autoimmunity can develop "spontaneously" (sEAE) in a proportion of mice with enhanced anti-myelin activity due to expression of mutant antigen-specific receptors (26-28). In most cases, enhanced antimyelin immunity is restricted to T cells. However, two groups (29, 30) independently reported that disease occurs with much greater incidence in mice expressing both a transgenic T cell receptor (TCR) specific for myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG)<sub>35-55</sub> peptide (26) and a BCR heavy chain knock-in mice that, when paired with an appropriate light chain, also confers specificity for MOG protein on ~20% of B cells (31). This model, with predetermined B as well as T cell recognition of the myelin autoantigen, may therefore be valuable for investigations of the B cell collaboration with autoimmune T cells to promote CNS autoimmune disease.

Here, we characterize B cells participating in spontaneous CNS autoimmune disease in 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> mice. We observe that sEAE can follow either a monophasic or chronic disease course and that this correlates with ongoing inflammation in the spinal cord and with formation of meningeal clusters of T and B cells in particular. However, we found little evidence that the B cells in meningeal clusters are activated in a conventional sense. Finally, only in a very rare case did we find any evidence of development of follicular features in meningeal clusters, indicating that if clusters do contribute to ongoing pathology in CNS autoimmunity, the relatively unorganized form must represent the minimum requirement for disease.

### Materials and Methods

#### Mice

Wild type C57Bl/6 and 2D2 TCR transgenic (26) mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories. IgH<sup>MOG</sup> MOG-specific BCR knock-in mice (32) were received as a gift from Dr. Hartmut Wekerle. Genotyping was accomplished using the following primers: 2D2: f-GCG GCC GCA ATT CCC AGA GAC ATC CCT CC, r-CCC GGG CAA GGC TCA GCC ATG CTC CTG; IgH<sup>MOG</sup>: f-GGA TTG CAC GCA GGT TCT CCG, r-CCG GCC ACA GTC GAT GAA TCC. All mice were housed under specific pathogen-free conditions at the West Valley Barrier Facility at Western University Canada. Animal protocols (#2011-047) were approved by the Western University Animal Use Subcommittee.

#### Antibodies for Flow Cytometry and Histology

The following antibodies were purchased from BD Biosciences: anti-CD4-V450 (RM4-5), anti-CD45R-V450 (RA3-6B2), anti-CD45R-APC-Cy7 (RA3-6B2), anti-CD45R-A647 (RA3-6B2), anti-CD138-BV421 (281-2),anti-CD19-BV711 (1D3), anti-CD95-PE-Cy7 (Jo2), anti-Bcl6-A647 (K112-91), anti-IgG1-APC (A85-1), anti-CD62L-A700 (MEL-14), anti-CD35biotin (8C12), anti-CD49D (R1-2), anti-CD62P (RB40.34), anti-IgM-APC (II/41), and anti-CD80-PE (16-10A1). The following antibodies were purchased from BioLegend: anti-CD4-A647 (RM4-5), anti-CD3e-FITC (145-2C11), and anti-rabbit DyLight 649 (Poly4064). The following antibodies were purchased from eBioscience: anti-CD4-PE-Cy5 (RM4-5), anti-PNAd-A488 (MECA-79), anti-CD38-PE (90), anti-IgM-PE-Cy5 (II/41), anti-IgD-APC (11-26c), anti-IgD eF450 (11-26c), anti-CD279-Biotin (RMP1-30), anti-CD273-Biotin (TY25), anti-F4/80-Biotin (BM8), Streptavidin-APC-eF780, and Streptavidin-APC. Anti-Ki-67 (SP6) unconjugated was purchased from Thermo Scientific. FluoroMyelin Red for myelin staining was purchased from Invitrogen.

#### Spontaneous 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> EAE Model

2D2<sup>+/-</sup> IgH<sup>MOG+/-</sup> double mutant mice were generated as the F1 generation of 2D2<sup>+/-</sup> mice crossed with IgH<sup>MOG+/+</sup> mice. Where indicated, some mice received a single i.v. injection of 250 ng pertussis toxin (PTX – List Biological Laboratories, Inc.) between 31 and 33 days of age. Clinical disease was monitored daily and was scored as follows: 0, no clinical signs; 1, tail paralysis; 2, tail paralysis and hind limb weakness; 3, hind limb paralysis; and 4, complete hind limb paralysis and front limb weakness. Half points were given for intermediate scores.

#### **Flow Cytometry**

Flow cytometry analysis of T cells and B cells harvested from mouse lymph nodes and spinal cords was performed, as previously described (25). Briefly, spinal cord and lymph nodes, including inguinal, axillary, and cervical lymph nodes, were harvested from mice after perfusion with ice cold PBS. Individual spinal cords were additionally dissociated through a wire mesh after which myelin was removed using a Percoll (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) gradient. Leukocytes were collected at the 37/90% Percoll interface.

Both lymph node and isolated spinal cord cell suspensions were blocked with an anti-Fc- $\gamma$  receptor (CD16/32 2.4G2) in PBS containing 1% FBS before further incubation with the listed combination of staining antibodies. Dead cells were excluded by staining with the Fixable Viability Dye eFluor506 (eBioscience). Flow cytometry was performed on a LSRII cytometer (BD Immunocytometry Systems) and analyzed with FlowJo software (Treestar).

#### Immunofluorescent Histology

Spinal cords and lymph nodes were extracted from mice and prepared, as previously described (25). Briefly, whole lymph nodes and spinal cords were fixed in periodate–lysine–paraformaldehyde (PLP) and subsequently passed through sucrose gradients to protect from freezing artifacts. Lymph nodes were frozen whole in OCT (TissueTek) media. Spinal cords were cut into five to nine evenly spaced pieces and arranged in order prior to freezing in OCT. Serial cryostat sections (7  $\mu$ m) were blocked in PBS containing 1% Bovine Serum Albumin, 0.1% Tween-20, and 10% rat serum before proceeding with staining. Sections were mounted with ProLong Gold Antifade Reagent (Invitrogen) and stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C. Tiled images of whole spinal cord sections (20×) were imaged using DM5500B fluorescence microscope (Leica).

#### **Image and Statistical Analyses**

The size of meningeal clusters in images of diseased spinal cords was analyzed using ImageJ software. PRISM software was used for all statistical analysis. Unless otherwise stated, single comparisons were performed using a Student's *t*-test and multiple comparisons were performed by ANOVA followed by a Tukey *post hoc* test.

### Results

# Disease Incidence in 2D2 $IgH^{\mbox{\scriptsize MOG}}$ Double Mutant Mice

We followed mice bearing mutant TCR and BCR specific for MOG autoantigen for the development of CNS autoimmune disease. Mice demonstrating overt signs of physical disability were defined as "sick." Consistent with the previous descriptions (29, 30, 33), a proportion of unmanipulated 2D2<sup>+/-</sup> IgH<sup>MOG+/+</sup> mice (here after described as 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup>) developed sEAE (**Figure 1A**). No disease was observed in either 2D2 (TCR) or IgH<sup>MOG</sup> (BCR) single mutant mice (Not Shown); it is clearly demonstrating that antigen recognition by both T and B cells contributes to disease development in double mutant mice. Interestingly, males were significantly more likely to develop disease than females, although there was no difference in the time of onset (**Table 1**). Although previous studies did not note gender differences, the incidence data presented by Krishnamoorthy et al. (30) suggest a similar trend in male bias.

Overall incidence was highly variable over the study period. Initially, 39% of unmanipulated mice developed signs of disease (**Figure 1A**, Timepoint 1), but over ~2 years of study incidence fell to 0% (Timepoint 2) but later rose to nearly 100% incidence



**FIGURE 1 | Incidence of spontaneous CNS autoimmune disease** (sEAE) in 2D2 IgH<sup>Moc</sup> mice. (A) Disease onset curves for three representative sequential 4- to 6-month time-periods (Timepoint 1, 2, and 3) selected from the ~2-year period of study. The percent of mice in each group to demonstrate signs of disability as determined by the disease scoring system (see Materials and Methods) is shown (% Sick) (B,C) PTX administration increases disease incidence. (B) Single injections of 250 ng PTX i.v. were administered to ~32 days old 2D2 IgH<sup>Moc</sup> mice, which were subsequently followed for onset of disease compared to unmanipulated mice. (C) Fraction of diseased mice in PTX-untreated and -treated mice, restricted to times when the overall incidence was below 80%. Significantly more PTX-treated mice developed disease as determined by Chi-square analysis (*p* = 0.0003, df = 13.13,1).

(Timepoint 3). Season has previously been identified as a factor contributing to susceptibility to EAE in a different induced model (34), but did not explain the variance observed in the case of our 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> colony. We also excluded obvious changes in environmental factors, such as food or alterations in animal care. Differences in animal housing, largely attributed to differences in microbial exposure, are well known to impact EAE models and spontaneous models, in particular, both between institutions and within the same colony (27, 35). We did not investigate commensal bacteria in our own studies, but unexplained changes in microbiota over time may be the underlying reason for the dramatic shifts in incidence we observed within our colony. Nevertheless, this suggests that, like human MS, spontaneous CNS autoimmune disease in 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> mice is variable and influenced by environmental factors.

Pertussis toxin (PTX) is commonly used in the induction of several models of immunization-induced EAE, particularly in C57Bl/6 mice. While the disease-promoting mechanism(s) are not entirely clear (36-38), PTX represents an antigen nonspecific pathway to promote disease. Indeed, PTX was shown to increase incidence in a similar model of otherwise spontaneous CNS autoimmunity that develops in mice expressing a transgenic TCR to myelin basic protein (27). In our hands, we similarly found that a single i.v. injection of 250 ng PTX was sufficient to significantly increase disease incidence in 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> mice during periods of lower disease incidence (<80%) (Figures 1B,C). Disease in PTX-treated mice was otherwise indistinguishable from that in mice that did not receive PTX (not shown). The mechanism by which it promotes disease induction is not yet clear, but we (37) and others (36, 39) have shown that PTX has innate immunomodulatory effects. Therefore, PTX may act as a surrogate for environmental factors that promote development of CNS autoimmune disease.

# 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> Mice Develop Either Monophasic or Chronic Disease

2D2  $\mathrm{IgH}^{\mathrm{MOG}}$  mice were evaluated daily for disease severity. Of those that showed signs of disease (defined as "sick"), the majority of mice had severe disability of the tail, hindlimbs, and partial involvement of the forelimbs, reminiscent of other EAE models and consistent with previous descriptions of this model (29, 30). Unlike for disease incidence (see above), there was no difference between males and females in maximum disease severity (Table 1). We observed that disease typically followed one of two courses; after the initial acute phase some mice largely recovered with little evidence of ongoing disability while others showed little sign of recovery. Therefore, we grouped mice that survived past 21 days post disease onset (i.e., that had not been used experimentally or been euthanized early due to severe disease) into one of two groups based on their final disease status: (1) chronic - mice with no more than 1 point recovery after the acute phase as determined by the standard 5 point score system, and 2) Monophasic - mice that recovered at least 1 point on the severity scale and had a final score <2 (Figure 2). Further evaluation of these populations showed that while the timing of disease onset was not different between them, the chronic group attained a significantly higher maximum disease score (Table 2).

#### TABLE 1 | Disease profiles in 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> mice by gender.

	n=	Sick	Incidence	Day onset	SEM	Max score	SEM	
Male	154	95	61.7%	36.7	(±0.52)	2.55	(±0.107)	
Female	137	68*	49.6%	36.6	(±0.68) <sup>n.s.</sup>	2.43	(±0.143) <sup>n.s.</sup>	

\*p = 0.0387, df = 4.275,1 by Chi squared analysis. Note that mice that did not develop disease were not included in analysis of onset and severity. n.s., not significant.



	n=	Day onset	SEM	Max score	SEM
Monophasic	42	38.2	(±0.62)	2.26	(±0.117)
Chronic	30	35.8	(±1.47) <sup>n.s.</sup>	2.98	(±0.106)***

\*\*\*p < 0.001.

n.s., not significant.

This indicates that while the populations were separated into the chronic or monophasic groups based principally on their status at the end of the study, the differences between groups manifested themselves earlier in the acute phase of disease (**Figure 2A**). Interestingly, while males were more likely to develop disease (see above), females were more likely to have a chronic disease course (**Figure 2B**).

# Characterization of the B Cell Response in 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> Mice

Previous studies employing the 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> model focused primarily on T cell activation (29, 30, 33) and information about B cell activation in this or other spontaneous models is very limited. Immune responses that incorporate both T and B cell recognition of antigen typically result in a GC response. Consistent with this, significantly more CD95<sup>hi</sup> CD38<sup>lo</sup> GC B cells were present in lymph nodes harvested from sick 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> mice (~3 weeks post onset) compared to wild type or age-matched 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> that did not develop sEAE (**Figures 3A,B**). It should be noted that, with disease progression and severity, we observed lymph node atrophy and in some cases little remaining GC response could be detected (not shown).

# Evaluation of Spinal Cord Pathology in 2D2 $IgH^{MOG}$ Mice

2D2  $IgH^{MOG}$  mice were sacrificed for histological evaluation of CNS pathology. No evidence of pathology or inflammation was evident in the CNS of wild type mice (Figure 4A) or 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> mice that did not develop disease (not shown). Consistent with previous descriptions of this model (29, 30), there was little evidence of inflammation in the brains of 2D2 IgHMOG mice that developed disease (not shown). By contrast, extensive and profound pathology was observed in the spinal cord. Evaluation of tissue harvested from mice in the acute phase of disease (<11 days post onset) revealed that extensive infiltration by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Figure 4, compare Figure 4A – wild type to Figure 4B – acute 2D2 IgHMOG) was associated with regions of reduced myelin staining (Figures 4B,C, inset box *ii*, middle) and F4/80<sup>+</sup> macrophage/ activated microglia (Figure 4C, bottom). CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were also observed in the gray matter in some mice and in these cases myelin staining of the gray matter was often altered compared to healthy mice (Figure 4C top, inset box *i*).

B cell infiltration of the spinal cord was almost exclusively restricted to the meninges although rare cells could be found in the white matter lesions. Meningeal B cells often formed clusters in close association with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (**Figures 4B,C**, inset box *ii*) reminiscent of lymphoid clusters described in human MS tissue (3, 6, 22). Similar clusters were also reported in other



investigations of this model (29, 30, 33), indicating that they are a consistent feature of disease in 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> mice. These clusters were very often in direct association with regions of white matter demyelination and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltration (**Figure 4B**). Pathology was not restricted to any particular region of the spinal cord as in some cases the entire spinal cord was involved, while in others inflammation was restricted to either distal (lumbar) or proximal (cervical) regions (not shown).

### B Cell Infiltration of the Spinal Cord is Associated with Chronic Disease

We next evaluated spinal cord pathology later in disease (>20 days post disease onset) in mice with either a chronic or monophasic disease course (as defined above). White matter pathology in monophasic mice was very limited, in that there was little  $CD4^+$  T cell infiltration or demyelination (**Figure 5A**). By contrast, ongoing white and gray matter inflammation by  $CD4^+$  T cells and white matter demyelination was clearly evident in mice with chronic disease (**Figure 5B**) demonstrating that

continued disability in these mice reflects active and ongoing inflammation, rather than permanent injury incurred during the initial attack. Large meningeal clusters containing T and B cells were also common in these mice. Nevertheless, despite reduced white matter involvement, small meningeal clusters were sometimes also present in monophasic mice (**Figure 5A**). However, subsequent analysis confirmed that meningeal clusters were both more numerous (**Figure 5C**) and larger (**Figure 5D**) in chronic vs. monophasic mice. Further, independent of disease course classification the size of meningeal clusters correlated with disease severity (**Figure 5E**). This, combined with the common spatial association between clusters and underlying regions of demyelination, suggests that these structures may contribute to ongoing chronic CNS autoimmune disease in 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> mice.

### Characterization of B Cells in Meningeal Clusters

To begin to dissect the role that B cells play in spinal cord pathology in sEAE, we evaluated the activation phenotype of



**FIGURE 4 | Evaluation of spinal cord pathology in 2D2 IgH**<sup>Mog</sup> mice. Mice were sacrificed in the acute phase of disease (<11 days post onset) and spinal cord pathology was evaluated by immunofluorescent histology. Sections were stained for myelin and invading CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and B220<sup>+</sup> B cells. **((A)** – wild type health control, **(B)** – 2D2 IgH<sup>Mog</sup> acute disease]. Infiltrating T cells (open triangles) were evident in the gray matter of diseased mice [see **(B)** inset box *i*, shown at higher magnification in **(C)**, top panel]. Clusters containing B220<sup>+</sup> B cells and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (closed triangles) were clearly apparent in the meninges of diseased mice, while no B cells were found in healthy spinal cords [compare **(A)** with **(B)**]. Meningeal clusters were often adjacent to areas of demyelination and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltration of the white matter (open triangles). Ongoing parenchymal invasion by T cells and macrophages/activated microglia were clearly evident, associated with regions of demyelination [open triangles, see enlarged image and serial section stained with F4/80, inset box ii, **(C)**]. Representative images shown (*n* = 5 wt, *n* = 5 acute phase 2D2 IgH<sup>Mog</sup>, minimum three sections taken from different regions of each spinal cord). Scale bars represent 200 µm.

infiltrating B cells. FACS analysis of lymphocytes isolated from spinal cords revealed that B cells are almost exclusively CD38hi CD95<sup>lo</sup>, consistent with naïve or memory lymph node B cells (Figure 3A). However, compared to lymph node B cells with a similar CD38hi CD95lo phenotype, spinal cord B cells had significantly lower expression of CD62L and higher expression of CD80 (Figure 3C), indicating at least some level of non-classical activation, perhaps to present antigen. Cluster B cells were further characterized by histological examination of spinal cord tissue. We focused on spinal cords from chronic mice (see above) with evidence of ongoing disease activity. Consistent with a potential role for B cells in presenting antigen to T cells in clusters, T and B cells were found in close physical association with each other (Figures 6A,B). Subsequent staining confirmed that T cells in clusters were almost exclusively CD4+ T cells. However, we were surprised to find that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were minor yet common component of the T cell infiltrate of white and gray matter (Figure 6A). This was not the case in the acute phase of disease (not shown). Although CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are known to infiltrate the

CNS in human MS and contribute to some animal models of CNS autoimmunity (2, 35), we did not expect their presence in the 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> model as the 2D2 TCR is derived from an MHC class II-restricted CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell (26). However, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were shown to infiltrate the CNS and participate in pathology in a similar model that makes use of a different  $MOG_{35-55}$ -specific TCR on the NOD background. Although the TCR in this model was similarly derived from a CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were found to express the transgenic TCR and recognize the  $MOG_{35-55}$  peptide presented on MHC class I (40).

We further investigated cluster B cells for evidence of activation. While Ki67<sup>+</sup> cells were detectable within clusters as well as in the white matter, very few of them were co-stained with B cell markers (**Figure 6B**). Instead, the large majority of proliferating Ki67<sup>+</sup> cells were T cells (not shown). CD138<sup>+</sup> Plasma cells were not apparent in clusters (**Figure 6C**). Finally, cluster B cells were investigated for evidence of class switch. Virtually, all B cells expressed IgD (**Figure 6D**) and IgM, but not IgG1 (not shown).



Solid arrowneads indicate meningeal clusters. Open arrowneads indicate regions of white matter demyelination and inhitration by CD4<sup>+</sup> cells. Scale bars represent 200  $\mu$ m. The number of meningeal clusters per section (**C**) and cluster area (**D**) was evaluated using Image J software. Three sections from different regions of the spinal cord were evaluated from each mouse. \*\*p < 0.01 as determined by Student's *t*-test. Each symbol represents the average value per section from an individual mouse. (**E**) Cluster size was correlated with average disease score (as a measure of overall disease severity) for each individual mouse included in the study. Each symbol represents an individual mouse. A two tailed Pearson *r* test was performed to test for correlation.

It has been suggested that meningeal clusters in the CNS of MS patients may function as the so-called tertiary lymphoid tissues that recapitulate the structure and function of secondary lymphoid organs, such as lymph nodes and spleen (22). We therefore evaluated meningeal clusters in chronic 2D2 IgHMOG mice for features of lymphoid follicles. With the exception of a single cluster in one mouse from the chronic group (Figure 6E), there was no evidence that T and B cells were organized into separate zones as occurs in lymphoid tissue (see Figures 4B, C, 5 and 6A-D for examples). Neither evidence of CD35<sup>+</sup> follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) (Figure 6F) nor Bcl-6+ staining (GC B cells or T follicular helper Tfh cells) (not shown) was evident in any cluster that we examined. Finally, while some evidence of PNAd staining was apparent in the single cluster with evidence of T and B cell organization (Figure 6F), perhaps indicating development of specialized high endothelial venules, PNAd staining was not evident in any other cluster that we examined (not shown). Therefore, while it is possible that given sufficient time a proportion of meningeal clusters may attain some features of organized lymphoid tissue, the majority of clusters remain largely unorganized. If, as their association with demyelinating regions suggests, these clusters do contribute to the pathology of CNS autoimmunity, the less organized form must represent the minimum requirement for the pathogenic mechanism.

### Discussion

Here, we characterize a spontaneous model of CNS autoimmunity that depends on both T and B cell recognition of the myelin autoantigen. We are aware of only three previously published studies using this 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> model. The original descriptions came from independent studies from Bettelli et al. (29) and Krishnamoorthy et al. (30) that focused principally on characterizing T cell activation as well as lesion distribution, which they found to be limited to the optic nerve and spinal cord. A third study made creative use of a version of this model



**FIGURE 6 | Evaluation of meningeal clusters in spinal cords from 2D2 IgH**<sup>Moa</sup> **mice with chronic sEAE**. Serial sections of spinal cord tissue from mice determined to have chronic disease (see Figure 2) were stained by immunofluorescence to characterize infiltrating immune cells. Images of one representative cluster from a single mouse (*n* = 7) are shown (**A**-**E**). Scale bars represent 100 μm. (**A**) CD3<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were a common but minor component of the white matter infiltrate (open arrowheads), but only very rarely in meningeal clusters. (**B**) CD4<sup>+</sup> cell infiltration into a region of demyelination adjacent to a meningeal cluster composed of B220<sup>+</sup> B cells and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Inset box indicates the magnified region shown in subsequent serial sections. (**C**) Ki67<sup>+</sup> cells in cell cycle were evident in meningeal clusters and in the affected white matter. The large majority of Ki67<sup>+</sup> cells did not co-stain with B220 (example – closed arrowhead), with only very rare exceptions (open circle). (**D**) Little to no evidence of CD138<sup>+</sup> plasma cells was observed in association with meningeal clusters. (**E**) Nearly, all B220<sup>+</sup> B cells in meningeal clusters of setures of lymphoid follicles. (Top) images of the single cluster from a 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> mouse with chronic disease to show evidence of T and B cell organization into different separate regions (left, top – compare to B cell follicle and T cell zone separation in a healthy naïve lymph node, bottom) and differentiation of specialized high endothelial venules (middle top – compared to extensive PNAd staining in the lymph node, bottom). Little to no evidence of CD35<sup>+</sup> follicular dendritic cells (right, top – compared to extensive follicular staining in the lymph node, bottom) was apparent in this meningeal cluster. For each stain listed above, between four and seven individual mice with chronic disease were evaluated, choosing sections with the most developed clusters.

to demonstrate that antibody production by MOG-specific B cells was not important to disease initiation, which instead was linked to antigen presentation by B cells to T cells (33). As discussed in more detail below, our findings presented here are largely consistent with these previous reports. We extend these studies by focusing on the B cell response and on character-izing infiltrating B cells and meningeal clusters in the diseased spinal cord.

The primary goal of our study was to characterize the B cell response in this B-cell-dependent model of CNS autoimmune disease. As expected, measurable GC responses were detected in lymph nodes from sick mice, although this was not true in all cases due to lymph node atrophy. Nevertheless, a GC response driven by interactions between MOG-specific T and B cells is presumably the mechanism for B cell-dependent disease initiation, as B cell presentation of antigen has been shown to be essential in a similar B cell-dependent mouse model (33). Of greater interest to therapeutic intervention in autoimmunity is the potential role of B cells in propagating ongoing disease, which may occur from within the inflamed CNS. With the exception of the involvement of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, which were relatively common infiltrates of the spinal cord parenchyma in chronic but not acute disease, inflammation and pathology was qualitatively similar over the course of active disease. We observed extensive B cell infiltration of the meninges wherever white matter pathology was apparent, often forming clusters with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. By contrast, white matter pathology was largely absent in mice that had recovered from monophasic disease. It is not clear if this reflects myelin repair or if extensive demyelination did not occur in these mice and disability was a reflection of inflammation, rather than actual tissue destruction.

Contrary to our initial expectations, B cells in meningeal clusters showed little indication of activation, with no evidence of class switch and little proliferation compared to infiltrating CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. By FACS, spinal cord B cells were CD38<sup>hi</sup> CD95<sup>lo</sup>, consistent with naïve or memory cells, although elevated CD80 in particular suggests a degree of activation. Further investigation will be required to determine if B cells upregulate CD80 once in the meninges or if CD80<sup>hi</sup> B cells are selectively recruited. It should be noted that B cell follicles in secondary lymphoid tissues are largely populated by naïve B cells, and therefore an unactivated phenotype would be expected if meningeal clusters do indeed represent lymphoid structures. However, with the possible exception of the single cluster in a mouse with chronic disease described above, we did not observed any other evidence of typical follicular features in the meningeal clusters that formed in sick 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> mice. We previously observed similar clusters in a model of EAE induced by immunization with a protein antigen based on mouse MOG (25). Again, there was no evidence of follicular differentiation in these clusters. Together, these models suggest that cluster formation is common in models that incorporate B cell recognition of the autoantigen. This is not an absolute requirement, however, as small clusters could still form in mice with mutant BCR incapable of recognizing MOG or in mice immunized with the standard short MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide (25). White matter demyelination and inflammation were much reduced compared to what we observed in either MOG proteininduced disease or in sick 2D2  $IgH^{MOG}$  mice, which also feature greater meningeal B cell infiltration.

Models of CNS autoimmunity that incorporate target recognition by more than just CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, such as 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> mice or EAE models induced with protein antigen, represent significant improvements over peptide-induced models that are used most commonly today as they allow for a more normal and complex response. Responses to "real" antigens recruit multiple immune targeting and effector processes. Nevertheless, it is not clear that these models more accurately represent human MS. Focusing specifically on investigations of infiltrating B cells in MS, lineage analysis suggest that B cells isolated from CNS represent a population derived from the GC response and subsequently selected from the peripheral pool (4, 41, 42). FACS studies suggest that CSF B cells are enriched for CD27+ cells (4, 43, 44), which in humans is considered a marker of memory. Therefore, these studies suggest that at least some B cells in human disease were previously activated. As there is no equivalent memory marker in mice, it is not currently possible to directly compare these observations to our own of the 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> model.

Histological studies of human post-mortem tissue have been inconsistent in finding meningeal clusters (3, 6, 45-48). When clusters have been observed (3, 6, 45), more examples of follicular differentiation were reported than we observed in our mouse models [here and in Ref. (25)]. Nevertheless, our observations suggest that, given time, it is possible that meningeal clusters can attain at least some features of true follicles. Human studies were performed on tissues from patients who had disease for many years and in most cases decades (22), and despite their focus on the most follicle-like structures, it is clear that most meningeal clusters in MS remained largely unorganized (22, 23), consistent with our observations in both mouse models. Furthermore, human studies were almost exclusively of progressive disease, where neurodegeneration occurs even though there is less evidence of active inflammation (2). It is not clear that these observations are relevant to the earlier active inflammatory stage of disease that is likely a better correlate to EAE. The rarity of tissue from this earlier stage of disease and of spinal cord tissue will make direct comparison very difficult. Nevertheless, as the best evidence supports the hypothesis that MS is an autoimmune disease targeting myelin antigens, holistic models of CNS autoimmune disease that more completely involve the immune system have the best chance of revealing important fundamental pathogenic B cell mechanisms that drive ongoing disease.

The apparent contradictory effects of B cell depletion by anti-CD20 (17) vs. TACI-Fc (18) in human MS highlights the urgent need to better understand the complex biology of these cells in autoimmune disease and the immune response in general. Both anti-CD20 and TACI-Fc target IL-10-producing Breg cells (19, 49). However, they have very different activity on plasma cells and therefore antibody production (19), as well as T cell biology (20). There are likely additional B cell subsets with differential susceptibility to depletion by each reagent. Indeed, IgM<sup>+</sup> memory B cells are more dependent on BAFF and therefore to depletion by TACI-Fc than class-switched memory cells (50). Anatomical location may also affect susceptibility to depletion by either reagent. Work to decipher this will have to rely heavily on models, such as the 2D2 IgH<sup>MOG</sup> mice, as in human patients usually only the circulating and more rarely CSF pools can be accessed. Our models suggest that antigen-specific B cells contribute to disease but that, unexpectedly, the B cell infiltrate in the CNS are not activated in a way that we would expect based on studies of antigen-specific activation in lymphatic tissue. Further work will be required to identify subsets of B cells, how they contribute to pathology or protection from disease,

#### References

- Antel J, Bar-Or A. Roles of immunoglobulins and B cells in multiple sclerosis: from pathogenesis to treatment. J Neuroimmunol (2006) 180:3–8. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.06.032
- Bar-Or A. The immunology of multiple sclerosis. Semin Neurol (2008) 28:29–45. doi:10.1055/s-2007-1019124
- Magliozzi R, Howell O, Vora A, Serafini B, Nicholas R, Puopolo M, et al. Meningeal B-cell follicles in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis associate with early onset of disease and severe cortical pathology. *Brain* (2007) 130:1089–104. doi:10.1093/brain/awm038
- Meinl E, Krumbholz M, Hohlfeld R. B lineage cells in the inflammatory central nervous system environment: migration, maintenance, local antibody production, and therapeutic modulation. *Ann Neurol* (2006) 59:880–92. doi:10.1002/ ana.20890
- Polman CH, Reingold SC, Banwell B, Clanet M, Cohen JA, Filippi M, et al. Diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: 2010 revisions to the McDonald criteria. Ann Neurol (2011) 69:292–302. doi:10.1002/ana.22366
- Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Magliozzi R, Stigliano E, Aloisi F. Detection of ectopic B-cell follicles with germinal centers in the meninges of patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain Pathol* (2004) 14:164–74. doi:10.111 1/j.1750-3639.2004.tb00049.x
- Sawcer S, Franklin RJM, Ban M. Multiple sclerosis genetics. *Lancet Neurol* (2014) 13:700–9. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70041-9
- Baxter AG. The origin and application of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2007) 7:904–12. doi:10.1038/nri2190
- Constantinescu CS, Farooqi N, O'Brien K, Gran B. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) as a model for multiple sclerosis (MS). *Br J Pharmacol* (2011) 164:1079–106. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01302.x
- t Hart BA, Laman JD, Bauer J, Blezer E, van Kooyk Y, Hintzen RQ. Modelling of multiple sclerosis: lessons learned in a non-human primate. *Lancet Neurol* (2004) 3:588–97. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(04)00879-8
- Shlomchik MJ, Weisel F. Germinal center selection and the development of memory B and plasma cells. *Immunol Rev* (2012) 247:52–63. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01124.x
- Barr TA, Shen P, Brown S, Lampropoulou V, Roch T, Lawrie S, et al. B cell depletion therapy ameliorates autoimmune disease through ablation of IL-6producing B cells. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209:1001–10. doi:10.1084/jem.20111675
- Matsushita T, Yanaba K, Bouaziz J-D, Fujimoto M, Tedder TF. Regulatory B cells inhibit EAE initiation in mice while other B cells promote disease progression. J Clin Invest (2008) 118:3420–30. doi:10.1172/JCI36030
- Chen X, Jensen PE. The role of B lymphocytes as antigen-presenting cells. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz) (2008) 56:77–83. doi:10.1007/s00005-008-0014-5
- Phan TG, Gray EE, Cyster JG. The microanatomy of B cell activation. Curr Opin Immunol (2009) 21:258–65. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2009.05.006
- Ramiscal RR, Vinuesa CG. T-cell subsets in the germinal center. *Immunol Rev* (2013) 252:146–55. doi:10.1111/imr.12031
- Barun B, Bar-Or A. Treatment of multiple sclerosis with anti-CD20 antibodies. *Clin Immunol* (2012) 142:31–7. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2011.04.005
- Kappos L, Hartung H-P, Freedman MS, Boyko A, Radü E-W, Mikol DD, et al. Atacicept in multiple sclerosis (ATAMS): a randomised, placebo-controlled,

and their susceptibility to different methods of the rapeutic intervention.

### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the animal care staff at the West Valley Barrier facility for their excellent husbandry. This work was supported by an operating grant from the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada (#1294). SK was a recipient of the Garrett Herman endMS Research and Training Network Career Development Award from the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada. RJ is a recipient of a PhD Studentship from the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada.

double-blind, phase 2 trial. Lancet Neurol (2014) 13:353-63. doi:10.1016/ \$1474-4422(14)70028-6

- Krumbholz M, Derfuss T, Hohlfeld R, Meinl E. B cells and antibodies in multiple sclerosis pathogenesis and therapy. *Nat Rev Neurol* (2012) 8:613–23. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2012.203
- Croft M. The TNF family in T cell differentiation and function unanswered questions and future directions. *Semin Immunol* (2014) 26:183–90. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2014.02.005
- Tada S, Yasui T, Nakatsuji Y, Okuno T, Koda T, Mochizuki H, et al. BAFF controls neural cell survival through BAFF receptor. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e70924. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0070924
- Haugen M, Frederiksen JL, Degn M. B cell follicle-like structures in multiple sclerosis-with focus on the role of B cell activating factor. J Neuroimmunol (2014) 273:1–7. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2014.05.010
- Aloisi F, Pujol-Borrell R. Lymphoid neogenesis in chronic inflammatory diseases. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6:205–17. doi:10.1038/nri1786
- Ruddle NH. Lymphatic vessels and tertiary lymphoid organs. J Clin Invest (2014) 124:953–9. doi:10.1172/JCI71611
- 25. Dang AK, Jain RW, Craig HC, Kerfoot SM. B cell recognition of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoantigen depends on immunization with protein rather than short peptide, while B cell invasion of the CNS in autoimmunity does not. *J Neuroimmunol* (2015) 278C:73–84. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2014.12.008
- Bettelli E, Pagany M, Weiner HL, Linington C, Sobel RA, Kuchroo VK. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-specific T cell receptor transgenic mice develop spontaneous autoimmune optic neuritis. J Exp Med (2003) 197:1073–81. doi:10.1084/jem.20021603
- Goverman J, Woods A, Larson L, Weiner LP, Hood L, Zaller DM. Transgenic mice that express a myelin basic protein-specific T cell receptor develop spontaneous autoimmunity. *Cell* (1993) 72:551–60. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(93)90074-Z
- Pöllinger B, Krishnamoorthy G, Berer K, Lassmann H, Bösl MR, Dunn R, et al. Spontaneous relapsing-remitting EAE in the SJL/J mouse: MOG-reactive transgenic T cells recruit endogenous MOG-specific B cells. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206:1303–16. doi:10.1084/jem.20090299
- Bettelli E, Baeten D, Jäger A, Sobel RA, Kuchroo VK. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-specific T and B cells cooperate to induce a Devic-like disease in mice. J Clin Invest (2006) 116:2393–402. doi:10.1172/JCI28334
- Krishnamoorthy G, Lassmann H, Wekerle H, Holz A. Spontaneous opticospinal encephalomyelitis in a double-transgenic mouse model of autoimmune T cell/B cell cooperation. J Clin Invest (2006) 116:2385–92. doi:10.1172/ JCI28330
- Litzenburger T, Blüthmann H, Morales P, Pham-Dinh D, Dautigny A, Wekerle H, et al. Development of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoreactive transgenic B lymphocytes: receptor editing in vivo after encounter of a selfantigen distinct from myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *J Immunol* (2000) 165:5360–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.9.5360
- Litzenburger T, Fässler R, Bauer J, Lassmann H, Linington C, Wekerle H, et al. B lymphocytes producing demyelinating autoantibodies: development and function in gene-targeted transgenic mice. *J Exp Med* (1998) 188:169–80. doi:10.1084/jem.188.1.169

- Molnarfi N, Schulze-Topphoff U, Weber MS, Patarroyo JC, Prod'homme T, Varrin-Doyer M, et al. MHC class II-dependent B cell APC function is required for induction of CNS autoimmunity independent of myelin-specific antibodies. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210:2921–37. doi:10.1084/jem.20130699
- 34. Teuscher C, Bunn JY, Fillmore PD, Butterfield RJ, Zachary JF, Blankenhorn EP. Gender, age, and season at immunization uniquely influence the genetic control of susceptibility to histopathological lesions and clinical signs of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: implications for the genetics of multiple sclerosis. *Am J Pathol* (2004) **165**:1593–602. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63416-5
- Simmons SB, Pierson ER, Lee SY, Goverman JM. Modeling the heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis in animals. *Trends Immunol* (2013) 34:410–22. doi:10.1016/j.it.2013.04.006
- 36. Fujimoto C, Yu C-R, Shi G, Vistica BP, Wawrousek EF, Klinman DM, et al. Pertussis toxin is superior to TLR ligands in enhancing pathogenic autoimmunity, targeted at a neo-self antigen, by triggering robust expansion of Th1 cells and their cytokine production. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:6896–903. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.177.10.6896
- Kerfoot SM, Long EM, Hickey MJ, Andonegui G, Lapointe BM, Zanardo RCO, et al. TLR4 contributes to disease-inducing mechanisms resulting in central nervous system autoimmune disease. *J Immunol* (2004) 173:7070–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.11.7070
- Linthicum DS, Munoz JJ, Blaskett A. Acute experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. I. Adjuvant action of *Bordetella pertussis* is due to vasoactive amine sensitization and increased vascular permeability of the central nervous system. *Cell Immunol* (1982) 73:299–310. doi:10.1016/0008-8749(82)90457-9
- Zhou H, Wang Y, Lian Q, Yang B, Ma Y, Wu X, et al. Differential IL-10 production by DCs determines the distinct adjuvant effects of LPS and PTX in EAE induction. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44:1352–62. doi:10.1002/eji.201343744
- Anderson AC, Chandwaskar R, Lee DH, Sullivan JM, Solomon A, Rodriguez-Manzanet R, et al. A transgenic model of central nervous system autoimmunity mediated by CD4+ and CD8+ T and B cells. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:2084–92. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102186
- Lovato L, Willis SN, Rodig SJ, Caron T, Almendinger SE, Howell OW, et al. Related B cell clones populate the meninges and parenchyma of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2011) 134:534–41. doi:10.1093/brain/awq350
- Stern JNH, Yaari G, Vander Heiden JA, Church G, Donahue WF, Hintzen RQ, et al. B cells populating the multiple sclerosis brain mature in the draining cervical lymph nodes. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:248ra107. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3008879

- Cepok S, Rosche B, Grummel V, Vogel F, Zhou D, Sayn J, et al. Short-lived plasma blasts are the main B cell effector subset during the course of multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2005) 128:1667–76. doi:10.1093/brain/awh486
- 44. Corcione A, Casazza S, Ferretti E, Giunti D, Zappia E, Pistorio A, et al. Recapitulation of B cell differentiation in the central nervous system of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101:11064–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0402455101
- Howell OW, Reeves CA, Nicholas R, Carassiti D, Radotra B, Gentleman SM, et al. Meningeal inflammation is widespread and linked to cortical pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2011) 134:2755–71. doi:10.1093/brain/awr182
- 46. Kooi E-J, Geurts JJG, van Horssen J, Bø L, van der Valk P. Meningeal inflammation is not associated with cortical demyelination in chronic multiple sclerosis. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol (2009) 68:1021–8. doi:10.1097/ NEN.0b013e3181b4bf8f
- Magliozzi R, Howell OW, Reeves C, Roncaroli F, Nicholas R, Serafini B, et al. A gradient of neuronal loss and meningeal inflammation in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol* (2010) 68:477–93. doi:10.1002/ana.22230
- Magliozzi R, Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Chiappetta G, Veroni C, Reynolds R, et al. B-cell enrichment and Epstein-Barr virus infection in inflammatory cortical lesions in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* (2013) 72:29–41. doi:10.1097/NEN.0b013e31827bfc62
- Yang M, Sun L, Wang S, Ko K-H, Xu H, Zheng B-J, et al. Novel function of B cell-activating factor in the induction of IL-10-producing regulatory B cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:3321–5. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902551
- Scholz JL, Crowley JE, Tomayko MM, Steinel N, O'Neill PJ, Quinn WJ, et al. BLyS inhibition eliminates primary B cells but leaves natural and acquired humoral immunity intact. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:15517–22. doi:10.1073/pnas.0807841105

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Dang, Tesfagiorgis, Jain, Craig and Kerfoot. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Investigating the Antigen Specificity of Multiple Sclerosis Central Nervous System-Derived Immunoglobulins

Simon N. Willis<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Panos Stathopoulos<sup>1</sup>, Anne Chastre<sup>1</sup>, Shannon D. Compton<sup>1</sup>, David A. Hafler<sup>1,4</sup> and Kevin C. O'Connor<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neurology, Yale School of Medicine, New Haven, CT, USA, <sup>2</sup> Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Parkville, VIC, Australia, <sup>3</sup> Department of Medical Biology, University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, <sup>4</sup> Department of Immunobiology, Yale School of Medicine, New Haven, CT, USA

The central nervous system (CNS) of patients with multiple sclerosis (MS) is the site where disease pathology is evident. Damaged CNS tissue is commonly associated with immune cell infiltration. This infiltrate often includes B cells that are found in multiple locations throughout the CNS, including the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), parenchyma, and the meninges, frequently forming tertiary lymphoid structures in the latter. Several groups, including our own, have shown that B cells from distinct locations within the MS CNS are clonally related and display the characteristics of an antigen-driven response. However, the antigen(s) driving this response have yet to be conclusively defined. To explore the antigen specificity of the MS B cell response, we produced recombinant human immunoglobulin (rlgG) from a series of expanded B cell clones that we isolated from the CNS tissue of six MS brains. The specificity of these MS-derived rlgG and control rlgG derived from non-MS tissues was then examined using multiple methodologies that included testing individual candidate antigens, screening with high-throughput antigen arrays and evaluating binding to CNS-derived cell lines. We report that while several MS-derived rlgG recognized particular antigens, including neurofilament light and a protocadherin isoform, none were unique to MS, as non-MS-derived rlgG used as controls invariably displayed similar binding specificities. We conclude that while MS CNS resident B cells display the characteristics of an antigen-driven B cell response, the antigen(s) driving this response remain at large.

Keywords: multiple sclerosis, B cell, autoantibody, autoantigen

## INTRODUCTION

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is the most common neurological disease affecting young adults. MS is an inflammatory disease of the central nervous system (CNS) characterized by immune cell infiltration and demyelination of the brain and spinal cord that leads to physical disability (1). Although the cause of the demyelination is not entirely clear, many studies have implicated T cells as the dominant immune cell type contributing to disease pathology. However, growing evidence also suggests that B cells play an active role in the disease (2). A recent ENCODE study (3) implicated B cells second only to T cells among the cell types most affected by MS susceptibility genes. B cells are found at sites of tissue injury in the CNS. They are also found in the CSF, white matter lesions, gray matter, and in the meninges, where

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Manu Rangachari, CHU de Québec, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Hans Lassmann, Center for Brain Research, Austria Klaus Dornmair, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Germany

> \*Correspondence: Kevin C. O'Connor kevin.oconnor@yale.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 13 August 2015 Accepted: 09 November 2015 Published: 25 November 2015

#### Citation:

Willis SN, Stathopoulos P, Chastre A, Compton SD, Hafler DA and O'Connor KC (2015) Investigating the Antigen Specificity of Multiple Sclerosis Central Nervous System-Derived Immunoglobulins. Front. Immunol. 6:600. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00600

21

they form lymphoid-like tissue aggregates (4) that associate with proximal tissue damage (5). Furthermore, they are responsible for the production of the oligoclonal immunoglobulin bands (OCB) in the spinal fluid that are a hallmark of the disease. Their roles as both effective antigen-presenting cells (6) and immune response regulators (7) have recently been appreciated. Finally, B cell depletion, which has emerged as a beneficial therapeutic approach for MS, confirms that B cells contribute to MS pathology (8).

A number of autoimmune demyelinating diseases of the CNS are associated with a robust B cell response, and in several cases, antigens implicated in this response have been identified. Neuromyelitis optica (NMO) serves as a prototypical example of demyelinating CNS autoimmunity associated with B cells. Most NMO patients produce antibodies [both serum immunoglobulin (9) and CSF-derived IgG (10)] that bind the water channel aquaporin-4 (AQP4). These antibodies have been shown to be derived in part from a clonally expanded B cell pool located within the CSF (11, 12). Other examples of B cell-related autoimmune demyelinating CNS conditions are pediatric MS and acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM), where antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) have been identified (13, 14).

During subacute and chronic active infections of the CNS such as Lyme neuroborreliosis or subacute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE), OCB are found in the CSF and resolve when the infection is cleared. In SSPE, brain-derived, recombinant immunoglobulin can be specifically absorbed by the causative virus, namely, the measles virus (15). The humoral immune response in MS shares many similarities with that seen in SSPE, NMO, and other inflammatory diseases of known cause. The MS CSF often includes elevated immunoglobulin levels and OCB, both of which are derived from B cells residing in the CSF and CNS tissue (16, 17). The CNS B cells in SSPE, NMO, and MS display the characteristics of an antigen-driven response, with high levels of clonal expansion and somatic hypermutation in IgG variable regions, all of which are consistent with post-germinal center activation (12, 18-20). However, in contrast to SSPE and many infectious encephalopathies, the antigen target of the CNS-associated immunoglobulin is not known in MS. Given these similarities and the clear evidence for an antigen-driven response displayed by MS CNS resident B cells, the identification of the autoantibody targets in MS is of substantial interest.

The search for specific autoantibodies in MS has been an area of focus for decades, but the antigens targeted by MS autoantibodies have remained elusive. Many studies have focused on serum antibodies given their accessibility and that serum autoantibodies have been identified in several diseases. Myelin basic protein (MBP) autoantibodies are detected in a very small subset of MS patients (21). MOG autoantibodies appear to be reliably found in a small subset of patients with MS (14) that are primarily pediatric. More exhaustive lists of candidate MS antigens can be found in a number of valuable reviews (22, 23). Numerous candidate autoantibody targets have been reported [reviewed in Ref. (2, 24, 25)], but none have met all the criteria that would allow for widespread acceptance as a genuine disease-associated MS autoantibody. These criteria would, at the very least, include such characteristics as disease specificity, reproducible detection among different laboratories, and different patient cohorts and disease relevance in terms of diagnosis, prognosis, or contribution to immunopathology. Newly identified candidate antigens of interest include contactin-2 (26), ATP-sensitive inward rectifying potassium channel KIR4.1 (27), and sperm-associated antigen 16 (28), all of which are undergoing validation. Although a number of serum-derived antibody targets, such as MOG, can be found in small subsets of MS patients, most of those identified in serum have failed to be sensitive and specific markers for the disease. Some candidate autoantigens appear to be enriched in (29) or restricted to the CSF relative to serum, such as recombination signal binding protein for immunoglobulin kappa J region (RBPJ) (30). These autoantigens also represent a small subset of patients that have not yet defined a unique clinical phenotype.

To date, no antigen has emerged as a validated and widely accepted "MS antigen." We reasoned that the recombinant IgG (rIgG) derived from the clonally expanded and antigen experienced B cells that populate sites of tissue damage in the MS CNS are likely to represent the most enriched sources of disease-relevant antibody. Accordingly, we sought to explore the specificity of such MS CNS-derived immunoglobulin. To this end, we produced rIgG from a series of clonally expanded CNS-derived B cells from different MS CNS specimens and controls. The rIgGs were then screened against previously implicated candidate antigens as well as with high throughput approaches that multiplex large sets of antigens such as whole protein arrays and CNS-derived cell lines. In all of the screening approaches, an effort was made to maximize preservation of conformational and post-translational epitopes. This study, to our knowledge, represents the first time that such a technically demanding approach utilizing recombinant antibodies from CNS lesion-derived B-cells has been employed toward antigen discovery in MS.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# **Ethics Statement**

Patient-derived specimens did not include personally identifiable private information or intervention or interaction with an individual and were accordingly collected under an exempt protocol approved by the Human Research Protection Program at Yale School of Medicine.

# **Subject Specimens**

Tissues were dissected at autopsy from six subjects with clinically defined MS. Five of the six subjects had a progressive clinical course and one had a relapsing remitting clinical course. Collected tissues included lesions and meningeal follicles. Our group previously reported the characteristics of the B cells that infiltrated these specimens (18, 31). Control tissues, which harbored robust B cell infiltrates, included germ cell tumors and muscle tissue from patients with inclusion body myositis (IBM), both of which have been previously described by our group (32, 33).

# Laser Capture Microdissection and B Cell Variable Region Cloning

Central nervous system tissue was sectioned at 12  $\mu m$  on a microtome/cryostat, mounted onto a glass slide then fixed

in 75% ethanol for 30 s. For the identification and capture of individual B lineage cells, the tissue was stained with mouse anti-CD20 or anti-CD38 antibodies (Accurate Chemical & Scientific) after fixation, then counterstained with poly-horseradish peroxidase anti-mouse IgG (Ivax Diagnostics). The tissue was then dehydrated in consecutive washes of 75, 95, and 100% ethanol then xylene. Cells were captured with a PixCell IIe laser capture microdissection instrument and CapSure Macro caps (Arcturus) and immediately stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C. RNA was isolated with the Absolutely RNA Nanoprep Kit (Stratagene) according to the manufacturer's protocol. B cell variable regions were cloned and analyzed according to procedures that we have previously reported (18, 33).

# Recombinant IgG Synthesis and Purification

Multiplex PCR was used to amplify the immunoglobulin variable heavy chain (VH) and variable light chain regions (VL). These products were subsequently directionally sub-cloned behind the CMV promoter into a pcDNA3.3- or pCEP4-based vector constructed in-house to harbor the human immunoglobulin IgG<sub>1</sub> heavy chain and kappa constant domains, respectively. The heavy chain vector was modified to contain a C-terminal affinity tag (HA-hemagglutinin). Expression and purification of the recombinant whole human IgG was performed with protocols that we have previously described (34). Recombinant IgGs (rIgG) were prepared from the matched variable heavy (VH) and light regions (VL) derived from either laser captured single cells or by matching the most highly expressed VH and VL clones from each library.

### **Solid Phase Immunosorbent Assays**

Solid phase ELISA was performed to evaluate rIgG recognition to a number of candidate antigens. These assays were performed using an approach that we have previously described (21). Similarly, the DELFIA assay for the detection of antibody binding to MBP was performed using an approach that we have previously described (35).

### **ProtoArray**

ProtoArray Human Protein Microarrays version 5.0 (Life Technologies), containing approximately 9,400 unique fulllength human proteins, were used. The assay was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions as we have previously described (30). Briefly, protein microarray slides were probed with rIgG pools (normalized for total IgG content) by overnight incubation at 4°C. Bound rIgG was detected with an Alexa Fluor 647-conjugated goat anti-human IgG (Life Technologies). The arrays were then scanned using a GenePix 4200A (Molecular Devices) fluorescent microarray scanner and analyzed with GenePix software. The standard score (*Z*-score) for binding to each antigen was determined using the Immune Response Profiling function within Prospector software (Life Technologies). The selection criteria applied for binding to be considered positive was a *Z*-score >3.

# **Cell-Based Antibody Binding Assays**

The cell-based assay for MOG binding was performed with Jurkat cells that were transfected to express a fusion protein that included the extracellular domain of human MOG linked to GFP. Antibody binding was then measured using an approach as we have previously described (13).

Cell lines were prepared for surface binding screening using methods we have previously described (34). Briefly, cells were incubated with each recombinant antibody at a concentration of 5  $\mu$ g/ml, and then incubated with a polyclonal goat anti-human IgG AlexaFluor 488-labeled antibody (Life Technologies) to detect binding. Cells were resuspended in BD Cytofix (BD Biosciences) and stored at 4°C in the dark until being analyzed by flow cytometry with a FACSCalibur flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). Median fluorescence intensity (MFI) was used to assess binding of MS-derived and control rIgG to the CNS and control cell lines. Similarly, intracellular staining was performed in the same manner as that described for surface binding except for the addition of the permeabilization step, which was facilitated using Cytofix/Cytoperm (BD Biosciences) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

### RESULTS

# Generation of Recombinant IgGs from MS Brain

To explore the specificity of the antibodies produced by CNSderived B cells, we prepared rIgG from immunoglobulin variable region sequences derived from MS and control tissues. The MS cohort included rIgG constructed from MS autopsy tissue specimens from six subjects, MS-A thru MS-F (**Table 1**). Five of the six subjects were female and one male, with ages ranging from 34 to 65 years at the time of death. Five of the MS subjects had a progressive course, while one had relapse-remitting MS. Disease duration ranged from 2 to 20 years. Six recombinant antibodies (Table S1 in Supplementary Material) were derived from clones present in MS-A; four recombinant antibodies each

TABLE 1	Subject demographics and source of MS and control tissue.
---------	---

Case	Age (years)	Gender	Clinical course	Disease duration (years)	Source
MS-A	43	F	Progressive MS	20	Autopsy
MS-B	34	F	Progressive MS	2	Autopsy
MS-C	39	F	Progressive MS	13	Autopsy
MS-D	38	F	Relapsing remitting MS	n.a.	Autopsy
MS-E	65	М	Progressive MS	n.a.	Autopsy
MS-F	49	F	Progressive MS	14	Autopsy
GCT	<18	М	Intracranial germinoma	n.a.	Resection
IBM-A	>40	М	Inclusion body myositis	n.a.	Biopsy
IBM-B	>40	М	Inclusion body myositis	n.a.	Biopsy

n.a., data not available.

were derived from clones present in MS-C and MS-D and a single recombinant antibody was derived from each of the MS-B, MS-E, and MS-F tissues. All of the MS-derived rIgGs were constructed from clonally expanded cells that displayed evidence of affinity maturation including class switching and the accumulation of somatic mutations (Table S2 in Supplementary Material). The control rIgGs were derived (Table 1) from either an intracranial germinoma (GCT-A) or muscle tissue from two different patients with inclusion body myositis (IBM) (IBM-A and IBM-B). We previously demonstrated that the B lineage cells infiltrating both the tumor and muscle tissue (32, 33) shared antigen-driven characteristics that were similar to those representing the MS cohort (Table S2 in Supplementary Material). Specifically they had class switched to IgG, had accumulated somatic mutations, and were remarkably clonally expanded into families that included numerous clonal variants. Nine recombinant antibodies (Table S1 in Supplementary Material) were derived from clones present in the germinoma (GCT-A1 thru GCT-A9) and three each from the two IBM specimens (IBM-A1-3 and IBM-B1-3). Finally, a well-described (36) monoclonal antibody that recognizes MOG, which we humanized, was included in the control cohort (h8-18C5) (Table S1 in Supplementary Material).

### Screening MS rlgG for Binding to Candidate Antigens

To investigate the specificity of CNS-derived antibodies, we began by screening against candidate antigens that have previously been implicated in MS. A DELFIA and an ELISA assay were performed to test MBP (37) and contactin (26), respectively. Differences in binding to MBP and contactin between the MS and control rIgG were unremarkable (not shown). We also used an ELISA assay to assess binding of MS and control rIgG to the intracellular protein neurofilament light (NF-L) (38). Ten MS-derived antibodies that were tested showed modest binding to NF-L (Figure 1) while three antibodies (MS-B1, MS-C2, and MS-C4) displayed strong binding with absorbance values that exceeded the mean +2SD of the control data set (benchmark for strong positive binding). The difference between the MS and the control group was significant (p = 0.0018, Mann-Whitney test). However, binding was not restricted to MS-derived antibodies as a germinoma-derived antibody (GCT-A6) was also positive, indicating a lack of specificity for MS in the rIgG cohorts.

We also examined binding to MOG; autoantibodies to MOG have recently been described in a small subset of MS patients (13), in pediatric MS (14) and in NMO (39). MOG binding was evaluated using a cell-based assay that preserves conformational epitopes and, accordingly, has become a widely accepted approach for detection of such antibodies (13). Robust binding by the humanized monoclonal anti-MOG monoclonal antibody (h8-18C5) was recorded (**Figure 2**). The clear recognition of MOG by our humanized h8-18C5 demonstrates that our recombinant expression system produces fully functional whole human IgG and did not introduce any artifacts that might confound native specificity. Applying this approach to the MS-and germinoma-derived rIgG demonstrated that none of these antibodies recognized MOG expressed on the surface of the cells (**Figure 2**; Figure S1 in Supplementary Material).



**FIGURE 1 | MS and control-derived rIgG binding to neurofilament light** (NF-L) by solid phase ELISA. MS-derived rIgG (n = 13) and control rIgG (n = 8) derived from a germinoma were tested by solid phase ELISA for binding to NF-L. The specific samples included in the assay are shown in the Supplementary Material. Each dot or square represents the binding of a single rIgG. The dashed line indicates the mean +2 SD of the control germinoma-derived cohort (0.76). Values above this line were determined to be positive (95% CI). To correct for non-specific binding, the reported ELISA signal ( $\Delta$ OD) was calculated by subtracting the signal generated by binding to glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GADPH) from that of the NF-L. The mean and SD are shown for each data set. Statistical differences are indicated when significant. Data associated with each rIgG for the MS and control groups are shown in the Supplementary Material.

# Screening MS rIgG Reactivity with High-Throughput Protein Arrays

Having shown no specificity for the MS-derived rIgG to several candidate antigens, we sought to expand the search by using an unbiased library of antigens that could be screened in a high-throughput manner. To this end, we examined the rIgG specificity from the MS and control cohorts with a commercially available protein array composed of approximately 9,400 unique full-length human proteins that were expressed in a system such that the products included some physiologic post-translational modifications and processing. The rIgGs from both the MS and controls groups were pooled so that three rIgG were included on each array during the initial scouting to maximize efficient use of the arrays. A total of three MS and three control arrays were run. Target antigens that were identified by at least one MS antibody pool that did not react with any of the control groups are shown in Figure S2 in Supplementary Material. In most instances, antigen targets were found on a single MS array; however, several were found on two of the three MS arrays. Of these, protocadherin gamma subfamily C, three (PCDHGC3), transcript variant three was of particular interest as a candidate autoantigen as protocadherin isoforms, include extracellular domains, are predominantly expressed in the nervous system and have been implicated in human neurological disorders (40, 41). Given their attractive role as candidate MS antigens we investigated this specificity further. To do this we tested binding to PCDHGC3 protein by ELISA



control-derived (GCT-A3) rIgG to Jurkat cells transfected with MOG-GFP (left column) or GFP alone (right column). Histograms show the MFI of transfected cells gated on those that were positive for both GFP and a florescent anti-human secondary antibody (red). The blue histograms show secondary antibody alone. A humanized monoclonal antibody, h8-18c5, specific for human MOG served as a positive control for the Jurkat–MOG–GFP binding. FACS data for additional rIgGs from the MS and control groups are shown in the Supplementary Material.

with individual rIgGs rather than pooled mixtures (**Figure 3**). The MS-derived rIgG MS-C2 that was present in the pool that bound PCDHGC3 on the ProtoArray (MS array 2) bound to the protein. However, binding was not observed for the individual rIgGs present on the second array that also identified this target (MS array 3). Furthermore, the difference between the MS and the control group was not significant (p = 0.3432, *Mann–Whitney test*) and binding was not restricted to MS-derived antibodies as a germinoma-derived antibody (GCT-A10) also was positive in the ELISA, indicating a lack of specificity for MS in the rIgG cohorts.

# Screening MS rIgG for Binding to Human CNS-Derived Cell Lines

Limitations of the ProtoArray for autoantigen discovery include the underrepresentation of membrane proteins on the array that would have an extracellular domain accessible to antibody and the possibility of altered structural conformation. Cell-based assays can circumvent such restraints. Increased binding to extracellular components of oligodendrocyte precursor and neuronal-derived cell lines by MS serum immunoglobulin compared to healthy controls has been reported (42). Thus, to complement the array data and address its limitations we screened the MS and control rIgG by flow cytometry for binding to extracellular antigens present on the surface of the CNS-derived cell lines including a human oligogendroglioma cell line (HOG) and a human neuroblastoma cell line (SKNSH). Applying this approach, we found that none of the MS or control rIgG tested bound to the surface of either of the CNS cell lines (Figure S1 in Supplementary Material).

We were also interested to test whether the rIgGs would recognize antigens that reside in the cell cytoplasm as CNS resident antibodies may be exposed to such antigens during tissue damage. Flow cytometry was used to screen for intracellular binding of the rIgGs to the HOG cell line. All of the rIgGs from the MS and control cohorts bound to the permeabilized cells (Figure



FIGURE 3 | MS and control-derived rlgG binding to protocadherin gamma (PCDHGC3) by solid phase ELISA. MS-derived rlgG (n = 11) and control rlgG (n = 10) derived from a germinoma and muscle tissue were tested by solid phase ELISA for binding to protocadherin. The specific samples included in the assay are shown in the Supplementary Material. Each dot or square represents the binding of a single rlgG. The dashed line indicates the mean +2 SD of the control-derived cohort (0.87). Values above this line were determined to be positive (95% Cl). The mean and SD are shown for each data set. Statistical differences are indicated when significant. Data associated with each rlgG for the MS and control groups are shown in the Supplementary Material.

S3 in Supplementary Material). A similar pattern of binding was obtained with the 293T cell line (*not shown*). Overall, there were no significant or remarkable distinctions between the flow cytometry MFI histograms of the two cell lines for both the MS and control rIgGs, indicating that intracellular components are frequent non-specific targets of antibodies.

## DISCUSSION

The purpose of our work was to investigate the antigen specificity of the humoral immune response in MS. We focused on those B cells that reside at the site of tissue damage in MS brain as this compartment likely represents an enrichment of disease-associated antibodies compared to serum and to the CSF. Two studies have leveraged a similar approach to examine the specificity of antibody-secreting cells present in the MS CSF (43, 44). While these studies suggested that MS-derived B cells recognize myelin, also derived from MS brain, the specific myelin component could not be identified. Moreover, no reactivity was observed to the major myelin protein antigens, MBP, and MOG. Using CNS tissuederived B cell products, we found that MS-derived antibodies did recognize a number of candidate antigens, but when challenged with a matched set of appropriate controls the MS specificity did not persist. We carefully selected control rIgG that shared the same properties as the MS-derived rIgG. In studies outside of our MS program, we have characterized the B cells that infiltrate particular solid CNS tumors and the muscle tissue of patients with

myositis. In both instances, similar to what we observed in MS, the tissue-enriched B cell repertoire was class switched, clonally expanded and somatically hypermutated. Clones were selected from these repertoires in the same manner as those selected from our MS cohort. In light of these considerations, we suggest that the set of controls we employed are superior to controls produced by naïve B cells or random memory B cells from the circulation. In spite of using candidate antigens coupled with systems biology approaches, we did not identify a validated target for the B cells that reside in the MS CNS tissue. Overall our study highlights the difficulty inherent in antigen discovery approaches, but provides a methodological road map for improvement in the field with emerging technology. We postulate that the target of MS CNS B cells may be: an undiscovered common antigen that may include post-translational modification; antigen(s) possibly exposed through tissue damage; a collection of target antigens that vary among smaller MS population subsets and/or vary based on compartments (serum/CSF) or an infectious agent in the brain itself that would not be identified using our current screening approaches.

Antibody-independent mechanisms may help to explain the pathological contribution of B cells to MS. However, the antigendriven characteristics of MS CNS B cells still point toward a role for antibody-dependent mechanisms. It is intriguing that B cells have been shown to form structures that resemble ectopic germinal centers in the meninges of MS patients (5, 18, 45) where they display all of the characteristics of an antigen-driven response. Similar organized structures have also been found in a number of autoimmune disease tissues (46) and often in different solid tumors (33). As an example, tertiary lymphoid structures have been identified in the thymus tissue of myasthenia gravis (MG) patients (47), where they have been shown to contribute to MG autoantibody production. With respect to MS, the question remains as to the target of the B cell response. Are the B cells directed toward a CNS target that is involved in disease initiation or is the B cell response generated as an indiscriminate secondary response to the dead tissue, rather than the cause of the pathology in the first place? In the case of organized tumor immune cell infiltrates, it is expected that there is not an underlying immune dysregulation that would be expected in autoimmune conditions. Given the similarity between these organized infiltrates, this leaves the possibility open that the process in MS may not entirely be a product of abnormal immune regulation. Are the antibodies in the CNS a normal immune response to the ongoing tissue damage that occurs? This possibility could provide an explanation for the B cell response in MS CNS tissue that it is part of apoptotic cell recognition, secondary to the disease pathology and part of a normal response.

Antigen discovery efforts are not without limitations and ours in not an exception. First, we employed LCM to confirm VH and VL domains were endogenously paired. However, this approach provides a low yield of paired VH and VL domains from single cells derived from autopsy tissue, so we chose to also pair domains based on their representation in the respective libraries. We acknowledge that pairing of VH and VL domains based on their dominant distribution in the repertoire is not a guarantee that they were naturally paired in a single cell; however, it represents the best possible means toward obtaining rIgG from autopsy tissue with current technology. High-throughput technology to pair heavy and light chains from single cells (48) was not available when our study began and this technology is currently limited to use with cells in suspension, which is not possible with cryopreserved autopsy tissue. Pairing based on the most highly represented VH and VL domains was successfully demonstrated in a vaccination setting (49). Furthermore, "knock in" transgenic mice, which express the VH from the 8-18C5 anti-MOG antibody, produce antibody using the endogenous light chain repertoire of the host, and a large fraction of the antibodies recognize MOG regardless of the light pairing, demonstrating the dominant contribution of the VH in target binding (50).

The second limitation concerns the antigen sources. Although our screening strategy was thorough, it was not exhaustive. We focused on proteins since they constitute antigenic targets more frequently than other molecules. In testing individual antigens, we employed ELISA, which allows for rapid testing of multiple samples, and cell-based assays where physiological epitopes are better emulated. Our use of cell lines offers the advantage of presenting multiple cell surface candidate antigens that are present in the CNS. However, low or sparse endogenous expressional levels of proteins on the cell surface or altered expression can affect antibody binding (51) to such cells. Using tissue offers deliberate sourcing of compartments but also can present technical challenges including antigen recovery in fixed tissue used in immunohistochemistry and low antigen abundance when performing western blots or immunoprecipitations.

The protein array, we employed, offers the advantage of highly enriching low abundance proteins that might not be detectable when presented in other formats such as tissue. Furthermore, inclusion of whole proteins offers the potential for increased sensitivity and specificity compared to peptide arrays and phage display libraries. However, the arrays that we used include some shortcomings, such as an abundance of intracellular proteins and an absence of comprehensive posttranslational modifications. Moreover, certain surface proteins that have been implicated in demyelination such as contactin-1 and 2, contactin-associated protein-1 and neurofascin-155 were absent from the panel. Our array results were negative for several surface proteins (catenins, integrins, tetraspanins, claudins) that could be considered biologically plausible targets (52) and were also negative for myelin-associated proteins, as well as for the previously identified intracellular targets of CSF antibodies, myelin-associated enzyme CNPase and RBPJ (30, 53, 54). Positive array hits primarily included several intracellular proteins. Abundant, intracellular protein autoantigens may be useful biomarkers only after extensive validation and scrutiny. Our cell-based assays comparing extracellular and intracellular binding clearly illustrate lack of specificity of the latter. Second, intracellular proteins can be present in many cell types, and therefore lack the tissue specificity that is often associated with validated autoantigens. Thirdly, the question of access to circulating antibodies to intracellular proteins cannot be easily

answered. Overall, both our data and other whole protein array studies suggest that IgG specificity may vary among subsets of MS patients (30, 55, 56).

# CONCLUSION

A comprehensive method to systematically characterize and screen disease-associated immunoglobulins is needed. Such an ideal system is not yet available, but as one is developed it should include biologically relevant whole proteins presented in their native biological state, that is, with endogenous posttranslational modifications and process-dependent modifications that can occur during apoptosis or necrosis. Inclusion of surface proteins should be emphasized. Non-protein antigens would also be required, such as lipids, carbohydrates, and other small molecules. Human-derived antigens represent a priority, but environmental antigen sources such as pathogens and viruses cannot be excluded. Technology is emerging that is approaching these goals through expressing the human genome (57) or virome (58) for the purpose of antibody screening (59). Continued development of these technologies will likely include tertiary structure and post-translational modifications that are important in the formation of many epitopes. Particular focus on MS antigens should start with well-characterized CNS tissue and CSF from early and progressive disease. Now that links between the CNS, CSF, cervical lymphnodes, and peripheral B cells are better understood (19, 60-62), the isolation and examination of particular B lineage subsets in the circulation will be of value. Next generation B cell antibody sequencing now allows comprehensive sequencing of B cell populations to create a repertoire that can be used to guide selection of clones for antigen screening. This can now be coupled with single cell approaches to pair the native VH and VL. The use of animal models to test and validate the contribution of MS-derived immunoglobulin to pathology should be leveraged. Finally, large scale, multi-center studies involving a number of investigators are best suited to tackle this expensive and high-risk endeavor.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

The original hypothesis was conceived by DH and KO who also co-directed the project. The study was initiated and designed by DH and KO. The experiments were designed and data were collected by KO, SW, and DH. Data were analyzed and interpreted by SC, PS, AC, KO and SW. SW, SC, PS, and KO wrote the manuscript.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Some of the MS tissue was obtained from the Human Brain and Spinal Fluid Resource Center, VA West Los Angeles Healthcare Center, which is sponsored by the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS)/National Institute of Mental Health, National Multiple Sclerosis Society, and the Department of Veterans Affairs.

### FUNDING

KO is the recipient of the Grant for Multiple Sclerosis Research Innovation provided by EMD/Merck/Serono, was an Investigator sponsored by the "Race to Erase MS," and was sponsored by a grant from the Department of Defense Multiple Sclerosis Research Program, Research Program of the Office of the Congressionally Directed Medical Research Programs (MS110275), by an NIH Autoimmunity Prevention Center pilot award (U19AI050864)

### REFERENCES

- Ransohoff RM, Hafler DA, Lucchinetti CF. Multiple sclerosis-a quiet revolution. Nat Rev Neurol (2015) 11(3):134–42. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2015.14
- McLaughlin KA, Wucherpfennig KW. B cells and autoantibodies in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis and related inflammatory demyelinating diseases. *Adv Immunol* (2008) 98:121–49. doi:10.1016/S0065-2776(08)00404-5
- Maurano MT, Humbert R, Rynes E, Thurman RE, Haugen E, Wang H, et al. Systematic localization of common disease-associated variation in regulatory DNA. Science (2012) 337(6099):1190–5. doi:10.1126/science.1222794
- Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Magliozzi R, Stigliano E, Aloisi F. Detection of ectopic B-cell follicles with germinal centers in the meninges of patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain Pathol* (2004) 14(2):164–74. doi:10.1 111/j.1750-3639.2004.tb00049.x
- Howell OW, Reeves CA, Nicholas R, Carassiti D, Radotra B, Gentleman SM, et al. Meningeal inflammation is widespread and linked to cortical pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2011) 134(Pt 9):2755–71. doi:10.1093/brain/awr182
- Molnarfi N, Schulze-Topphoff U, Weber MS, Patarroyo JC, Prod'homme T, Varrin-Doyer M, et al. MHC class II-dependent B cell APC function is required for induction of CNS autoimmunity independent of myelin-specific antibodies. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(13):2921–37. doi:10.1084/jem.20130699
- Yanaba K, Bouaziz JD, Matsushita T, Magro CM, St Clair EW, Tedder TF. B-lymphocyte contributions to human autoimmune disease. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 223:284–99. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00646.x
- Hauser SL, Waubant E, Arnold DL, Vollmer T, Antel J, Fox RJ, et al. B-cell depletion with rituximab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2008) 358(7):676–88. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0706383
- Lennon VA, Wingerchuk DM, Kryzer TJ, Pittock SJ, Lucchinetti CF, Fujihara K, et al. A serum autoantibody marker of neuromyelitis optica: distinction from multiple sclerosis. *Lancet* (2004) 364(9451):2106–12. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(04)17551-X
- Takahashi T, Fujihara K, Nakashima I, Misu T, Miyazawa I, Nakamura M, et al. Anti-aquaporin-4 antibody is involved in the pathogenesis of NMO: a study on antibody titre. *Brain* (2007) 130(Pt 5):1235–43. doi:10.1093/brain/awm062
- Bennett JL, Lam C, Kalluri SR, Saikali P, Bautista K, Dupree C, et al. Intrathecal pathogenic anti-aquaporin-4 antibodies in early neuromyelitis optica. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 66(5):617–29. doi:10.1002/ana.21802
- Kowarik MC, Dzieciatkowska M, Wemlinger S, Ritchie AM, Hemmer B, Owens GP, et al. The cerebrospinal fluid immunoglobulin transcriptome and proteome in neuromyelitis optica reveals central nervous system-specific B cell populations. *J Neuroinflammation* (2015) **12**(1):19. doi:10.1186/ s12974-015-0240-9
- O'Connor KC, McLaughlin KA, De Jager PL, Chitnis T, Bettelli E, Xu C, et al. Self-antigen tetramers discriminate between myelin autoantibodies to native or denatured protein. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(2):211–7. doi:10.1038/nm1488
- McLaughlin KA, Chitnis T, Newcombe J, Franz B, Kennedy J, McArdel S, et al. Age-dependent B cell autoimmunity to a myelin surface antigen in pediatric multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(6):4067–76. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0801888
- Owens GP, Williamson RA, Burgoon MP, Ghausi O, Burton DR, Gilden DH. Cloning the antibody response in humans with chronic inflammatory disease: immunopanning of subacute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE) brain sections with antibody phage libraries prepared from SSPE brain enriches for antibody recognizing measles virus antigens in situ. *J Virol* (2000) 74(3):1533–7. doi:10.1128/JVI.74.3.1533-1537.2000

and a Career Transition Award from the National Multiple Sclerosis Society. PS is the recipient of a Hellenic Neurological Society Scholarship.

### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00600

- Obermeier B, Lovato L, Mentele R, Bruck W, Forne I, Imhof A, et al. Related B cell clones that populate the CSF and CNS of patients with multiple sclerosis produce CSF immunoglobulin. *J Neuroimmunol* (2011) 233(1–2):245–8. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.01.010
- Obermeier B, Mentele R, Malotka J, Kellermann J, Kumpfel T, Wekerle H, et al. Matching of oligoclonal immunoglobulin transcriptomes and proteomes of cerebrospinal fluid in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Med* (2008) 14(6):688–93. doi:10.1038/nm1714
- Lovato L, Willis SN, Rodig SJ, Caron T, Almendinger SE, Howell OW, et al. Related B cell clones populate the meninges and parenchyma of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2011) 134(Pt 2):534–41. doi:10.1093/brain/awq350
- Stern JN, Yaari G, Vander Heiden JA, Church G, Donahue WF, Hintzen RQ, et al. B cells populating the multiple sclerosis brain mature in the draining cervical lymph nodes. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(248):248ra107. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3008879
- Smith-Jensen T, Burgoon MP, Anthony J, Kraus H, Gilden DH, Owens GP. Comparison of immunoglobulin G heavy-chain sequences in MS and SSPE brains reveals an antigen-driven response. *Neurology* (2000) 54(6):1227–32. doi:10.1212/WNL.54.6.1227
- O'Connor KC, Chitnis T, Griffin DE, Piyasirisilp S, Bar-Or A, Khoury S, et al. Myelin basic protein-reactive autoantibodies in the serum and cerebrospinal fluid of multiple sclerosis patients are characterized by low-af-finity interactions. *J Neuroimmunol* (2003) **136**(1–2):140–8. doi:10.1016/S0165-5728(03)00002-X
- Krumbholz M, Derfuss T, Hohlfeld R, Meinl E. B cells and antibodies in multiple sclerosis pathogenesis and therapy. *Nat Rev Neurol* (2012) 8(11):613–23. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2012.203
- Derfuss T, Meinl E. Identifying autoantigens in demyelinating diseases: valuable clues to diagnosis and treatment? *Curr Opin Neurol* (2012) 25(3):231–8. doi:10.1097/WCO.0b013e3283533a64
- Meinl E, Derfuss T, Krumbholz M, Probstel AK, Hohlfeld R. Humoral autoimmunity in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci (2011) 306(1-2):180-2. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2010.08.009
- Weber MS, Hemmer B, Cepok S. The role of antibodies in multiple sclerosis. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2011) 1812(2):239–45. doi:10.1016/j. bbadis.2010.06.009
- Derfuss T, Parikh K, Velhin S, Braun M, Mathey E, Krumbholz M, et al. Contactin-2/TAG-1-directed autoimmunity is identified in multiple sclerosis patients and mediates gray matter pathology in animals. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A (2009) 106(20):8302–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0901496106
- Srivastava R, Aslam M, Kalluri SR, Schirmer L, Buck D, Tackenberg B, et al. Potassium channel KIR4.1 as an immune target in multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2012) 367(2):115–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1110740
- de Bock L, Somers K, Fraussen J, Hendriks JJ, van Horssen J, Rouwette M, et al. Sperm-associated antigen 16 is a novel target of the humoral autoimmune response in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2014) **193**(5):2147–56. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1401166
- Ousman SS, Tomooka BH, van Noort JM, Wawrousek EF, O'Connor KC, Hafler DA, et al. Protective and therapeutic role for alphaB-crystallin in autoimmune demyelination. *Nature* (2007) 448(7152):474–9. doi:10.1038/ nature05935
- Querol L, Clark PL, Bailey MA, Cotsapas C, Cross AH, Hafler DA, et al. Protein array-based profiling of CSF identifies RBPJ as an autoantigen in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2013) 81(11):956–63. doi:10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3182a43b48

- Willis SN, Stadelmann C, Rodig SJ, Caron T, Gattenloehner S, Mallozzi SS, et al. Epstein-Barr virus infection is not a characteristic feature of multiple sclerosis brain. *Brain* (2009) 132(Pt 12):3318–28. doi:10.1093/brain/awp200
- Bradshaw EM, Orihuela A, McArdel SL, Salajegheh M, Amato AA, Hafler DA, et al. A local antigen-driven humoral response is present in the inflammatory myopathies. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(1):547–56. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.178.1.547
- Willis SN, Mallozzi SS, Rodig SJ, Cronk KM, McArdel SL, Caron T, et al. The microenvironment of germ cell tumors harbors a prominent antigen-driven humoral response. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(5):3310–7. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0803424
- Ray A, Amato AA, Bradshaw EM, Felice KJ, DiCapua DB, Goldstein JM, et al. Autoantibodies produced at the site of tissue damage provide evidence of humoral autoimmunity in inclusion body myositis. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(10):e46709. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0046709
- O'Connor KC, Appel H, Bregoli L, Call ME, Catz I, Chan JA, et al. Antibodies from inflamed central nervous system tissue recognize myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *J Immunol* (2005) 175(3):1974–82. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.175.3.1974
- Schluesener HJ, Sobel RA, Linington C, Weiner HL. A monoclonal antibody against a myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein induces relapses and demyelination in central nervous system autoimmune disease. *J Immunol* (1987) 139(12):4016–21.
- Warren KG, Catz I. A correlation between cerebrospinal fluid myelin basic protein and anti-myelin basic protein in multiple sclerosis patients. *Ann Neurol* (1987) 21(2):183–9. doi:10.1002/ana.410210211
- Silber E, Semra YK, Gregson NA, Sharief MK. Patients with progressive multiple sclerosis have elevated antibodies to neurofilament subunit. *Neurology* (2002) 58(9):1372–81. doi:10.1212/WNL.58.9.1372
- Kitley J, Woodhall M, Waters P, Leite MI, Devenney E, Craig J, et al. Myelin-oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies in adults with a neuromyelitis optica phenotype. *Neurology* (2012) **79**(12):1273–7. doi:10.1212/ WNL.0b013e31826aac4e
- Kahr I, Vandepoele K, van Roy F. Delta-protocadherins in health and disease. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci (2013) 116:169–92. doi:10.1016/ B978-0-12-394311-8.00008-X
- Morishita H, Yagi T. Protocadherin family: diversity, structure, and function. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* (2007) 19(5):584–92. doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2007.09.006
- Lily O, Palace J, Vincent A. Serum autoantibodies to cell surface determinants in multiple sclerosis: a flow cytometric study. *Brain* (2004) 127(Pt 2):269–79. doi:10.1093/brain/awh031
- von Budingen HC, Harrer MD, Kuenzle S, Meier M, Goebels N. Clonally expanded plasma cells in the cerebrospinal fluid of MS patients produce myelin-specific antibodies. *Eur J Immunol* (2008) 38(7):2014–23. doi:10.1002/ eji.200737784
- Owens GP, Bennett JL, Lassmann H, O'Connor KC, Ritchie AM, Shearer A, et al. Antibodies produced by clonally expanded plasma cells in multiple sclerosis cerebrospinal fluid. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 65(6):639–49. doi:10.1002/ ana.21641
- 45. Magliozzi R, Howell O, Vora A, Serafini B, Nicholas R, Puopolo M, et al. Meningeal B-cell follicles in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis associate with early onset of disease and severe cortical pathology. *Brain* (2007) 130(Pt 4):1089–104. doi:10.1093/brain/awm038
- Aloisi F, Pujol-Borrell R. Lymphoid neogenesis in chronic inflammatory diseases. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6(3):205–17. doi:10.1038/nri1786
- Hill ME, Shiono H, Newsom-Davis J, Willcox N. The myasthenia gravis thymus: a rare source of human autoantibody-secreting plasma cells for testing potential therapeutics. *J Neuroimmunol* (2008) 20(1–202):50–6. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2008.06.027
- DeKosky BJ, Kojima T, Rodin A, Charab W, Ippolito GC, Ellington AD, et al. In-depth determination and analysis of the human paired heavy- and lightchain antibody repertoire. *Nat Med* (2015) 21(1):86–91. doi:10.1038/nm.3743

- Laserson U, Vigneault F, Gadala-Maria D, Yaari G, Uduman M, Vander Heiden JA, et al. High-resolution antibody dynamics of vaccine-induced immune responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111(13):4928–33. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1323862111
- Litzenburger T, Fassler R, Bauer J, Lassmann H, Linington C, Wekerle H, et al. B lymphocytes producing demyelinating autoantibodies: development and function in gene-targeted transgenic mice. *J Exp Med* (1998) 188(1):169–80. doi:10.1084/jem.188.1.169
- Leite MI, Jacob S, Viegas S, Cossins J, Clover L, Morgan BP, et al. IgG1 antibodies to acetylcholine receptors in 'seronegative' myasthenia gravis. *Brain* (2008) 131(Pt 7):1940–52. doi:10.1093/brain/awn092
- Stathopoulos P, Alexopoulos H, Dalakas MC. Autoimmune antigenic targets at the node of Ranvier in demyelinating disorders. *Nat Rev Neurol* (2015) 11(3):143–56. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2014.260
- Lovato L, Cianti R, Gini B, Marconi S, Bianchi L, Armini A, et al. Transketolase and 2',3'-cyclic-nucleotide 3'-phosphodiesterase type I isoforms are specifically recognized by IgG autoantibodies in multiple sclerosis patients. *Mol Cell Proteomics* (2008) 7(12):2337–49. doi:10.1074/mcp.M700277-MCP200
- Quintana FJ, Farez MF, Izquierdo G, Lucas M, Cohen IR, Weiner HL. Antigen microarrays identify CNS-produced autoantibodies in RRMS. *Neurology* (2012) 78(8):532–9. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e318247f9f3
- Cepok S, Zhou D, Srivastava R, Nessler S, Stei S, Bussow K, et al. Identification of Epstein-Barr virus proteins as putative targets of the immune response in multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Invest* (2005) 115(5):1352–60. doi:10.1172/ JCI23661
- Beyer NH, Lueking A, Kowald A, Frederiksen JL, Heegaard NH. Investigation of autoantibody profiles for cerebrospinal fluid biomarker discovery in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol (2012) 242(1–2):26–32. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.08.013
- Larman HB, Zhao Z, Laserson U, Li MZ, Ciccia A, Gakidis MA, et al. Autoantigen discovery with a synthetic human peptidome. *Nat Biotechnol* (2011) 29(6):535–41. doi:10.1038/nbt.1856
- Xu GJ, Kula T, Xu Q, Li MZ, Vernon SD, Ndung'u T, et al. Viral immunology. Comprehensive serological profiling of human populations using a synthetic human virome. *Science* (2015) 348(6239):aaa0698. doi:10.1126/science.aaa0698
- Larman HB, Laserson U, Querol L, Verhaeghen K, Solimini NL, Xu GJ, et al. PhIP-Seq characterization of autoantibodies from patients with multiple sclerosis, type 1 diabetes and rheumatoid arthritis. *J Autoimmun* (2013) 43:1–9. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2013.01.013
- Palanichamy A, Apeltsin L, Kuo TC, Sirota M, Wang S, Pitts SJ, et al. Immunoglobulin class-switched B cells form an active immune axis between CNS and periphery in multiple sclerosis. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(248):248ra106. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008930
- Bankoti J, Apeltsin L, Hauser SL, Allen S, Albertolle ME, Witkowska HE, et al. In multiple sclerosis, oligoclonal bands connect to peripheral B-cell responses. *Ann Neurol* (2014) 75(2):266–76. doi:10.1002/ana.24088
- von Budingen HC, Kuo TC, Sirota M, van Belle CJ, Apeltsin L, Glanville J, et al. B cell exchange across the blood-brain barrier in multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122(12):4533–43. doi:10.1172/JCI63842

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** Kevin C. O'Connor received speaking fees from EMD Serono and consults for Scitemex. The other co-authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Willis, Stathopoulos, Chastre, Compton, Hafler and O'Connor. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# B Cells Are Multifunctional Players in Multiple Sclerosis Pathogenesis: Insights from Therapeutic Interventions

Nele Claes<sup>1</sup>, Judith Fraussen<sup>1</sup>, Piet Stinissen<sup>1</sup>, Raymond Hupperts<sup>2,3</sup> and Veerle Somers<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Hasselt University, Biomedical Research Institute and Transnationale Universiteit Limburg, School of Life Sciences, Diepenbeek, Belgium, <sup>2</sup>Department of Neuroscience, School of Mental Health and Neuroscience, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands, <sup>3</sup>Department of Neurology, Academic MS Center Limburg, Zuyderland Medisch Centrum, Sittard, Netherlands

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a severe disease of the central nervous system (CNS) characterized by autoimmune inflammation and neurodegeneration. Historically, damage to the CNS was thought to be mediated predominantly by activated pro-inflammatory T cells. B cell involvement in the pathogenesis of MS was solely attributed to autoantibody production. The first clues for the involvement of antibody-independent B cell functions in MS pathology came from positive results in clinical trials of the B cell-depleting treatment rituximab in patients with relapsing-remitting (RR) MS. The survival of antibody-secreting plasma cells and decrease in T cell numbers indicated the importance of other B cell functions in MS such as antigen presentation, costimulation, and cytokine production. Rituximab provided us with an example of how clinical trials can lead to new research opportunities concerning B cell biology. Moreover, analysis of the antibody-independent B cell functions in MS has gained interest since these trials. Limited information is present on the effects of current immunomodulatory therapies on B cell functions, although effects of both first-line (interferon, glatiramer acetate, dimethyl fumarate, and teriflunomide), second-line (fingolimod, natalizumab), and even third-line (monoclonal antibody therapies) treatments on B cell subtype distribution, expression of functional surface markers, and secretion of different cytokines by B cells have been studied to some extent. In this review, we summarize the effects of different MS-related treatments on B cell functions that have been described up to now in order to find new research opportunities and contribute to the understanding of the pathogenesis of MS.

Keywords: multiple sclerosis, B cell subtypes, therapy, antibodies, cytokines, costimulation, antigen presentation

# INTRODUCTION

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic inflammatory disease of the central nervous system (CNS), characterized by demyelination in white and gray matter regions, axonal degeneration, and gliosis (1). MS is the most common chronic neurological disease in young adults affecting more women than men (three to one) with an incidence of 7/100,000 and a prevalence of 120/100,000 in Northern Europe (1). The diagnosis of MS is mostly preceded by a clinically isolated syndrome (CIS), which

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Manu Rangachari, CHU de Québec, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Patrick Burkett, Brigham and Women's Hospital, USA Norbert Goebels, University of Düsseldorf, Germany

> \*Correspondence: Somers Veerle veerle.somers@uhasselt.be

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 30 June 2015 Accepted: 07 December 2015 Published: 21 December 2015

#### Citation:

Claes N, Fraussen J, Stinissen P, Hupperts R and Somers V (2015) B Cells Are Multifunctional Players in Multiple Sclerosis Pathogenesis: Insights from Therapeutic Interventions. Front. Immunol. 6:642. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00642 is the first clinical manifestation of a demyelinating disease that has not met the criteria of MS yet (2). Different clinical subtypes of MS are described. About 80% of the patients present with relapsing-remitting (RR) MS, which is characterized by disease exacerbations with periods of functional improvement (3). Over time, about 60% of the RRMS patients develop secondary progressive (SP) MS (4). About 10–20% of MS patients show progressive accumulation of disability from onset, referred to as primary progressive (PP) MS (2). According to the revised definitions of MS, above mentioned MS subtypes can present themselves in an inactive and active form (2). The underlying process of disease progression is not completely understood (5). Most MS therapies are primarily designed as treatment for RRMS patients, where there is marked inflammation.

Current data support the conceptual idea of MS as a complex heterogeneous disease caused by interactions between the environment, genetic susceptibility, and a dysbalanced immune system (6-8). Traditionally, T cells were considered as critical immune components required for the induction of MS pathogenesis. Recently, compelling evidence is present highlighting B cells as central components of the disease as well (9, 10). Autoreactive T cells are activated in the periphery most likely via molecular mimicry or bystander activation and home through a disrupted blood-brain barrier (BBB) to the CNS, where they are reactivated by antigen-presenting cells. This triggers the production of different mediators, such as chemokines and cytokines, by T cells, microglia, and other cells of the CNS. This will in turn initiate the recruitment of other inflammatory cells, including B cells and macrophages. B cells have the ability to cross the BBB and undergo stimulation, antigen-driven affinity maturation, and clonal expansion (11). The inflammatory reaction of T, B, and other immune cells leads to demyelinated lesions throughout the CNS (3).

As B cell involvement in MS has become more evident in recent years, more data have been collected concerning the effects of B cells in MS pathogenesis. Proof of B cell involvement in MS is described thoroughly further on in the review. Both B cell subtype distribution and B cell effector functions are important contributors to the disease. These processes are first described in more detail in order to fully understand how these processes are affected in MS patients and modulated by different MS treatments.

### **B Cell Subtype Distribution in MS**

B cell development starts in the bone marrow where a hematopoietic stem cell evolves into an immature CD19<sup>+</sup> B cell (**Figure 1**) (12). Transitional B cells (CD19<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>++</sup>CD24<sup>++</sup> or CD19<sup>+</sup>CD27<sup>-</sup> IgD<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>+</sup>) enter the circulation and mature into naive B cells (CD19<sup>+</sup>IgD<sup>+</sup>CD27<sup>-</sup>). Upon antigen recognition, naive B cells proliferate into short-lived plasma blasts (CD19<sup>+</sup>CD138<sup>++</sup> or CD19<sup>+</sup>CD27<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>++</sup>) or plasma cells (CD38<sup>+</sup>CD138<sup>+</sup>) that produce low-affinity antibodies for a few days or further mature into memory B cells (CD19<sup>+</sup>CD27<sup>+</sup>) in a germinal center (GC) reaction. A proportion of memory B cells remains non-classswitched memory cells (CD19<sup>+</sup>IgD<sup>+</sup>CD27<sup>+</sup>), while others lose their immunoglobulin (Ig)D expression following isotype switching (CD19<sup>+</sup>IgD<sup>-</sup>CD27<sup>+</sup>). This classically results in the surface expression of IgG, IgA, or IgE, although a small proportion of memory B cells preserve IgM surface expression, namely IgM only memory B cells (CD19<sup>+</sup>IgD<sup>-</sup>CD27<sup>+</sup>IgM<sup>++</sup>) (13–17). A proportion of the memory B cells further matures into plasma blasts and long-lived plasma cells.

T cell subtypes important for providing help in the GC reactions are follicular helper T cells (TFH), follicular regulatory T cells (TFR), but also Th17 cells that can all induce or regulate GC formation and isotype switching (18–21). Regulatory B cells (Bregs) have been identified more recently by their function in immune regulation via the production of IL-10 (22, 23). Bregs could be enriched from transitional B cells, CD27<sup>+</sup> memory B cells and plasma cells. Surface markers to characterize Bregs are still not clearly defined, although in humans CD24, CD38, CD5, and CD1d are mostly used (24–26).

Compositional changes of B cell subtypes in the peripheral blood (PB) are evidenced, shifting the balance toward more proinflammatory responses and less regulation. It is thought that memory B cells, plasma blasts and plasma cells preferentially cross the disrupted BBB and migrate into the CNS of MS patients, where they dominate the B cell pool and exert different effector functions (11, 27–35). During MS relapses, the percentage of PB memory B cells is increased (36). As TFH and TFR cells contribute to a normal GC response wherein potential autoantibodies are eliminated, the altered TFH and TFR function observed in MS patients can result in an inadequate GC response and the production of autoantibodies in the PB (18, 19).

In contrast to an increased percentage of memory B cells in PB, the proportion of Bregs was decreased in MS patients, while unchanged compared to healthy donors in other studies (37–40). Breg function was shown to be preserved as no differences were observed between MS patients and healthy donors in the ability of Bregs to inhibit proliferation of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> T responder cells (40).

### **B Cell Effector Functions**

B cells exert multiple effector functions, which are relevant to the pathogenesis and therapy of MS (9). First, B cells differentiate into antibody-secreting plasma blasts and plasma cells and produce antigen-specific antibodies (Figure 2). IgG from MS patients caused demyelination and axonal damage in a complementdependent manner when using both in vivo and in vitro models (41, 42). Plasmapheresis and immunoadsorption in order to remove antibodies and complement factors already showed promising results as treatment for MS patients with steroid-resistant relapses (43, 44). In MS, different antibody targets have been described, including myelin basic protein (MBP), myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG), neurofilament, sperm-associated antigen 16 (SPAG16), coronin-1a, heat shock proteins, and other components of the CNS, emphasizing the diversity and complexity of the antibody response (45-54). An extensive review on different antibody targets is found in Ref. (45).

Second, B cells form GC-like structures, ectopic lymphoid follicles, outside of secondary lymphoid organs at sites of inflammation (**Figure 2**). These follicles harbor a local source of class-switched Igs that contribute to the immune response and are detected as oligoclonal bands (OCB) in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of MS patients (55–57). These OCB in the



FIGURE 1 | B cell development. B cells develop in the bone marrow and enter the circulation as transitional B cells. B cells remain naive until they encounter an antigen after which they differentiate into plasma blasts, short-lived plasma cells, or further mature into class-switched or non-class-switched memory B cells in a GC response. However, non-class-switched memory B cells can also be formed independent of a GC. A proportion of the memory B cells further develops into plasma blasts and/or plasma cells. Regulatory B cells are characterized within the transitional, naive, memory, and plasma blast or plasma cell population. Potential developmental routes are indicated with the dotted lines.



CSF of MS patients were one of the first findings for B cell involvement in MS (58, 59). Intrathecal B cells are the local source for these OCB in the CSF, contributing to inflammation, and the destruction of the myelin sheet in the CNS (60). B cells migrate to the CNS using surface markers such as C–X–C motif receptor (CXCR)3, CXCR5, and CC chemokine receptor (CCR)5. The CNS has a fostering environment in which the production of CXCL10 and CXCL13 attracts B cells (61). In the meninges of MS patients, these migrated B cells form ectopic GC structures (57).

Third, B cells serve as highly effective and selective antigenpresenting cells leading to optimal antigen-specific T cell expansion, memory formation, and cytokine production (**Figure 2**) (62–64). After antigen binding by the B cell receptor (BCR), the antigen is internalized, processed, and expressed on the surface of the B cells as a complex with major histocompatibility complex

B Cells in MS Treatment

(MHC)-I or II molecules. Additional to antigen-presentation molecules, costimulatory molecules, such as CD80, CD86, and CD40, are expressed on B cells and contribute to optimal T cell activation (65). Myelin reactive peripheral B cells can induce CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses in a proportion of MS patients (66). Additionally, B cell expression of the costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 is higher in MS patients than healthy controls (67, 68).

Finally, B cells support or regulate effector immune functions via the secretion of different cytokines (Figure 2). B cell activation factor (BAFF) and A Proliferation-Inducing Ligand (APRIL) are important survival factors for B cells and plasma cells, thereby maintaining the B cell pool (69). BAFF expression is upregulated in active and inactive MS lesions (70, 71). Maintaining BAFF expression within certain limits in order to balance pro-inflammatory and regulatory B cell subtypes can be an important feature for MS therapies. B cells support proinflammatory functions through secretion of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), interleukin (IL)-6, and lymphotoxin alpha (LT- $\alpha$ ) and exert regulatory functions via the production of IL-10 and IL-35 (22, 23, 72-75). In healthy individuals, transitional B cells perform regulatory functions by producing IL-10, thereby suppressing antigen-mediated T cell activity (26). Within the CD27<sup>+</sup> memory B cell and plasma cell population, IL-10 and IL-35 producing Bregs can be enriched, showing that more mature B cells can also have regulatory functions next to antibody production and T cell activation (23, 25, 76-78). B cells from MS patients showed an increased production of IL-6, an increased LT- $\alpha$ /IL-10 ratio and increased LT- $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$  production after stimulation in vitro (70). In addition, B cells from untreated MS patients secreted more pro-inflammatory IL-6 and less regulatory IL-10 than those from healthy controls (37, 79, 80).

# Additional Proof of B Cell Involvement in MS

Additional proof of B cell involvement in MS came from analysis of BCR sequences and genetic and animal studies. Analysis of Ig heavy chain variable sequences (VH) of intrathecal B cells from MS patients showed a restricted usage of Ig VH gene segments, pointing to a chronic antigen-driven B cell response in MS patients (81–83). Genetic studies in MS identified susceptibility genes that show a strong association with B cell function, such as HLA-DRB1\*1501, HLA-DRB5\*0101, and HLA-DQB1\*0602 (84). Also observations from clinical trials of the B cell-depleting anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody rituximab indicated the importance of antibody-independent B cell functions in the pathogenesis of MS. These clinical studies showed an unchanged level of total Ig and a decrease in CSF T cell numbers, providing additional proof that B cells highly interact with T cells in MS (85–87).

Other information about the involvement of B cells in the pathogenesis of MS is available from experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), the animal model of MS. The role of B cells in EAE has long-time been neglected as B cells are not essential contributors to EAE models based on peptide immunization. More recent studies using recombinant MOG protein immunization have highlighted the role of B cells in EAE induction and pathology (88). The dual role of B cells in EAE was indicated by the use of anti-CD20 treatment, as disease exacerbation was evident when depleting Bregs before EAE induction while disease severity decreased when depleting memory B cells after EAE induction (22, 89, 90). B cells were essential for the generation of optimal pathogenic CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses and differentiation of MOG specific T-helper (Th)1 and Th17 cells (91). In B cell deficient mice, EAE induction by adoptive transfer of activated T cells was reduced and reactivation of infiltrated T cells was impaired (92). Further, B cell-specific MHC class II-deficient mice were resistant to EAE induction and exhibited diminished Th1 and Th17 responses (93). Hence, B cells can promote EAE induction by acting as antigen-presenting cells. Moreover, B cell antigen presentation was proven to be crucial for maximal disease in EAE, further emphasizing the importance of B cells in MS pathogenesis (94).

Recently, a direct link between peripheral and intrathecal B cells was demonstrated. Clonally expanded autoreactive B cells with signs of affinity maturation were, next to the CSF, found in the PB of MS patients (82, 95). Further, expanded B cell clones were found both in the PB/draining cervical lymph nodes and the CSF, indicating a complex crosstalk between the periphery and the CNS in MS pathogenesis (27, 96). Exchange of B cells between the CSF and the PB may suggest that B cells carry antigen from the CNS to peripheral secondary lymphoid organs (11). Primed T cells then migrate to the CNS where residing B cells may further promote T cell activation. These data underline the importance of using therapeutics based on the inhibition of B cell transmigration into the CNS or that induce peripheral B cell depletion (11, 27, 96, 97). Additionally, autoreactive B cells can be removed from the B cell pool via both a central and a peripheral checkpoint. It seems that especially the peripheral tolerance checkpoint is defective, as shown by the equal proportion of polyreactive and anti-nuclear transitional B cells in MS patients and healthy donors (normal central B cell tolerance) and the increased proportion of mature naive B cells from MS patients reactive toward peripheral and CNS self antigens (defective peripheral B cell tolerance) (98). This defect is probably due to impaired Treg function that leads to the accumulation of autoreactive B cells (99). All these observations strengthen the idea that PB B cells contribute to the pathogenic B cell pool present in the CNS of MS patients and are involved in MS pathogenesis both by antibody-dependent and -independent B cell functions. Thus, investigating PB B cells and the effects of treatment on peripheral B cell functions may contribute to our understanding of the pathogenesis of MS (80, 85-87).

This review summarizes how current MS treatments influence B cell functions. At the moment, numerous FDA approved MS treatments or drugs in clinical trials can be subdivided in first-, second- and third-line therapies (**Tables 1–3**). Generally established first-line therapies include interferon-beta (IFN- $\beta$ ) and glatiramer acetate (GA), while fingolimod and natalizumab are considered to be second-line treatments. The recently approved oral drugs teriflunomide and dimethyl fumarate (DMF) are oral treatments used as first-line treatment for MS (100–105). Second- and third-line antibody treatments are rituximab, alemtuzumab, ocrelizumab, ofatumumab, and antibodies that target BAFF and APRIL. Modulating B cell

#### TABLE 1 | Overview of first-line MS treatments.

Name	Target	Primary mode of action	MS type	Important clinical observations	Reference
IFN-β1a Avonex®, IFN-β1a Rebif®, IFN- β1b Betaferon®	/	<ul> <li>Increases the expression of anti-inflammatory agents while downregulating pro-inflammatory cytokines</li> <li>Shifts the immune response from a T-helper (Th) 1 phenotype to Th2</li> <li>Reduces trafficking of inflammatory cells toward the BBB</li> </ul>	RRMS	<ul> <li>Reduction in relapse rate, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) lesion activity, brain atrophy, risk of sustained disability progression</li> <li>Increase in time to reach clinically definite MS after the onset of neurological symptoms</li> </ul>	(100, 107, 152–157)
Glatiramer acetate <i>Copaxone®</i>	/	Induces tolerogenic T cell immune responses and CD4+ and CD8+ regulatory T cells due to mimicry of MBP	RRMS	<ul> <li>Reduction in relapse rate</li> <li>Improvement of disability measured using Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS)</li> </ul>	(79, 105, 158–162)
Teriflunomide <i>Aubagio®</i>	Dihydroorotate dehydrogenase	Inhibits <i>de novo</i> pyrimidine synthesis by blocking the enzyme dihydroorotate dehydrogenase	RRMS	<ul> <li>Reduction in exacerbation rate, annualized relapse rate, risk of sustained accumulation of disability</li> </ul>	(163–168)
Dimethyl fumarate, BG-12 <i>Tecfidera®</i>	/	<ul> <li>Interferes in the citric acid cycle</li> <li>Activates the nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (Nrf2) pathway</li> </ul>	RRMS	<ul><li>Reduction in annual relapse rate</li><li>Reduction in disability progression</li></ul>	(102, 108, 109, 168)

#### TABLE 2 | Overview of second-line MS treatments.

Name	Target	Primary mode of action	MS type	Important clinical observations	References
Natalizumab Tysabri®	VLA-4 (α4-integrin)	Inhibits migration of lymphocytes to the CNS	RRMS	Reduction in exacerbation rate, annual relapse rate     and disability rate	(169–171)
FTY720 Fingolimod®	Sphingosine- 1-phosphate receptor (S1PR)	<ul> <li>Downregulates S1PR on lymphocytes</li> <li>Inhibits egression from lymphoid organs into the circulation</li> </ul>	RRMS	<ul> <li>Reduction in relapse rate, disability progression and total number of gadolinium-enhancing lesions</li> </ul>	(172–180)

#### TABLE 3 | Overview of third-line MS treatments.

Name	Target	Primary mode of action	MS type	Important clinical observations	References
Monoclonal anti- CD20 antibody rituximab <i>rituxan</i> ®, <i>mabThera</i> ®, <i>zytux</i> ®	CD20	Depletes CD20+ B cells	RRMS PPMS SPMS	Reduction of new brain lesions and clinical relapses	(85, 87, 181–185)
Monoclonal anti- CD20 antibody <i>ocrelizumab</i> ®	CD20	Depletes CD20 <sup>+</sup> B cells	RRMS PPMS	<ul> <li>Reduction in gadolinium-enhancing (Gd) T1 lesions, in total number of new and persisting Gd-enhancing lesions and in annualized relapse rate</li> <li>Improved efficacy compared with rituximab with lesser infusion-related reactions</li> </ul>	(181, 186, 187)
Monoclonal anti- CD20 antibody <i>ofatumumab</i> ®	CD20	Depletes CD20+ B cells	/	Reduction in cumulative number of new Gd-enhancing lesions and new and enlarging T2 lesions	(188–191)
Alemtuzumab campath®, lemtrada®	CD52	Depletes CD52 $^+$ B and T cells	RRMS	<ul> <li>Reduction in rate of sustained accumulation of disability, disability progression, and the annualized rate of relapse</li> <li>Improvement of disability scores</li> </ul>	(120, 192–194)
Anti-BAFF; anti- APRIL <i>atacicept</i> <sup>®</sup> , belimumab <i>benlysta</i> <sup>®</sup> , tabalumab, blisibimod	BAFF and/or APRIL	Blocks activation of B cells via inhibition of BAFF and APRIL or the BAFF receptor	RRMS	<ul> <li>Increase in inflammatory disease activity and annualized relapse rate (atacicept<sup>®</sup>)</li> </ul>	(70, 149–151, 195, 196)

functions is an important tool for treating MS patients, although information on the effects of therapy on B cell functions is limited. Investigating the effects of treatment on B cell functions is of potential relevance to the efficacy of such treatments and it will help to increase our insight into the involvement of PB B cells in MS pathogenesis.



EFFECTS OF TREATMENT ON TOTAL B CELL NUMBERS

Total B cell numbers and percentages in the PB were changed during treatment, both in cross-sectional and longitudinal studies, with an increase in the frequency of CD19<sup>+</sup> B cells in IFN- $\beta$ -treated MS patients and a decrease in GA- and DMFtreated MS patients (**Figure 3**) (79, 106–110). Different studies indicated that the percentage of B cells was increased in the PB and decreased in the CSF of natalizumab-treated MS patients, due to the inhibition of lymphocyte migration into the CNS (106, 111–118). This increase in PB B cells was observed up to
30 months after start of the treatment (112). Opposite effects were observed in fingolimod-treated MS patients where total B cell numbers in the PB were diminished because of the lymphocyte entrapment within secondary lymphoid organs. No changes were observed in CSF B cell numbers under fingolimod treatment (118, 119). In a study with 69 RRMS patients treated with rituximab, a decrease of 95% in the percentage of CD20<sup>+</sup> B cells was evidenced from 2 weeks after treatment until 24 weeks (87). By week 48, B cells returned to 31% of baseline values. Alemtuzumab treatment caused a general depletion of both T and B cells in the PB of treated patients (120).

# EFFECTS OF TREATMENT ON B CELL SUBTYPE DISTRIBUTION

Different effects on B cell subtype distribution were demonstrated using different MS treatments. An increased frequency of immature and transitional B cells was generally evidenced under different treatments, including IFN- $\beta$ , natalizumab, fingolimod, and during repopulation following rituximab or alemtuzumab treatment (106, 107, 111, 113, 120–124). These reports all point toward an increased output of B cells from the bone marrow under immunomodulatory treatment. In this regard, an increased release of lymphoid committed progenitor cells was shown during natalizumab therapy in MS (112). However, in a cross-sectional study with 8 natalizumab-treated RRMS patients, a significant decrease in the percentage of transitional B cells was evidenced (106). Also in fingolimod treated MS patients, the output of newly produced B cells or immature B cells from the bone marrow was decreased (121).

Therapeutic effects on frequencies of Bregs have only been described in relation to the use of fingolimod, rituximab and alemtuzumab therapy. In 48 fingolimod treated MS patients, a proportional increase of Bregs was recently described compared to 74 untreated MS patients and 70 healthy controls (125). During repopulation after B cell depletion by rituximab or alemtuzumab, naive B cells with an increased expression of CD38 and CD5, which are described as Bregs, were predominantly present, both in MS and other autoimmune diseases (31, 122, 126).

Peripheral blood naive B cells were increased in IFN- $\beta$ , GA, natalizumab, and fingolimod-treated MS patients in comparison with treatment-naive MS patients in different cross-sectional and longitudinal studies (79, 106, 115, 119, 127). This indicates that the B cell population shifts toward a less disease promoting B cell pool after different MS treatments. For GA and natalizumab, this could not be reproduced in other studies where a decreased frequency of naive B cells was observed or no change in B cell subtype distribution at all (106, 107, 127). However, no information was available about the treatment duration, which makes it difficult to compare the studies.

Also contributing to a less disease promoting B cell phenotype is the significant decrease in the frequency of non-class-switched, class-switched memory B cells, and plasma blasts in both crosssectional and longitudinal studies of IFN- $\beta$ -, GA-, and fingolimodtreated MS patients, even when using different B cell classifications (36, 79, 106, 107, 119, 125, 127–129). Although a decrease in the proportion of plasma blasts was observed in natalizumab-treated MS patients, a higher percentage of memory and marginal zone B cells was reported (112, 114, 115, 127, 130). This memory B cell increase is probably due to the reduced retention of memory B cells in the spleen (112). In the CSF, natalizumab treatment particularly depleted CD5<sup>+</sup> B cells and plasma blasts (131).

Data on B cell subtype distribution are missing for DMF and teriflunomide-treated MS patients. *In vitro* studies have shown that teriflunomide induces cell cycle arrest in B cells without inducing apoptotic cell death (101, 132, 133). Moreover, the effects of different third-line treatments on B cell subtype distribution is poorly investigated in MS as not all treatments are FDA approved and clinical trials are ongoing. To our knowledge, no data are available on the repopulation of B cells after discontinuation of the B cell-depleting therapies ocrelizumab and ofatumumab. Further research is warranted to increase the understanding of the exact mechanism of action and to investigate restoration of the immune balance following depletion therapies.

From this overview, we can conclude that immunomodulatory treatment of MS patients induces a shift in the distribution of B cell subtypes toward a more regulatory or anti-inflammatory phenotype. This is of high clinical importance as a disturbed balance between the different B cell subtypes is observed in MS. For different MS treatments, the effects on B cell subtype distribution have already been investigated to some extent, still conflicting data are present. This is probably due to variation in measurement time points and B cell characterization strategies. Furthermore, as each treatment requires a different time to reach a steady state of immunological parameters and treatment efficiency, it is difficult to compare study results. Therefore, it is essential to use a longitudinal design of the study and take into account the pharmacodynamical properties of the treatment, since some treatment effects could get lost when only measuring in a cross-sectional manner. B cell subtype analysis can also be highly relevant in the search for new markers for progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) in natalizumab-treated patients, as B cells were described as potential carriers of the John Cunningham (JC) virus into the CNS (134). Other research is focused on finding risk factors for the development of PML during natalizumab treatment (112, 130, 135, 136).

### EFFECTS OF TREATMENT ON B CELL EFFECTOR FUNCTION

Here, we present the available data on the effect of immunomodulatory treatment on antibody-dependent and -independent B cell functions. These include antibody production, antigen presentation, costimulation, migration, and cytokine production (**Figure 3**).

### Effects of Treatment on Antibody Production

Glatiramer acetate treatment did not change serum levels of total IgG and IgM in MS patients, but *in vitro* levels of IgG and IgM antibodies were increased after stimulation of PB B cells from these patients (79). Natalizumab-treated MS patients showed lower levels of IgM in both serum and CSF and lower anti-neurofilament light antibodies in the serum than non-natalizumab-treated

MS patients (116, 137). Longitudinal data of 24 MS patients confirmed these results with a decrease in neurofilament light antibody levels, a decline in total IgG levels in the PB and CSF, and a decline in total IgM in the PB (116, 137). Further, the IgG index, which reflects intrathecal IgG production, was decreased during natalizumab treatment, resulting in the disappearance of OCB in some of the treated MS patients (138). Whether a decline in the anti-neurofilament light antibodies is a consequence of a decrease in total antibody levels is not stated. Additionally, vaccination studies in fingolimod-treated healthy volunteers have demonstrated a mild to moderate decrease in IgG and IgM antibody levels toward some antigens, suggesting that fingolimod could reduce autoantibody production in MS as well (139). Teriflunomide, in contrast, did not influence immune responses toward influenza vaccines, indicating that the protective immune responses are preserved in these patients (140).

The anti-BAFF antibody atacicept<sup>®</sup> did not show beneficial results in clinical trials for MS and even led to worsening of the disease. More patients with optic neuritis who received atacicept<sup>®</sup> progressed to clinical definite MS (141). The efficacy of this therapy was proven in a clinical trial for RA wherein circulating IgG and IgA rheumatoid factor (RF) and total IgM, IgA, and IgG levels were reduced (142, 143). These observations indicate that, although MS and RA are both autoimmune diseases in which B cells are involved, different effector mechanisms of B cells are involved in both diseases. Since atacicept<sup>®</sup> affects antibody-producing plasma cells and clinical efficacy of atacicept<sup>®</sup> is shown in RA, one can speculate that in RA pathogenesis autoantibody production is more important than in MS pathogenesis. This underlines the multifactorial functions of B cells in autoimmunity.

# Effects of Treatment on B Cell Antigen Presentation, Costimulation, Migration

Most information on effects of treatment on B cell antigen presentation, costimulation, and migration is available for IFN-β. Ex vivo analysis of PB B cells from 15 IFN-β-treated MS patients showed a decreased percentage of CD80, CD86, and CCR5 positive total and CD27- naive B cells compared to untreated MS patients (36). This pointed toward a less migratory and costimulatory phenotype of these B cells in the PB under treatment, which was confirmed in vitro (36, 144, 145). Furthermore, the increase in CD80 positive cells during relapses in MS patients was shown to be counteracted by IFN- $\beta$  treatment (68). Since CD80 expression is associated with a Th1 phenotype and CD86 expression is associated with a Th2 response, these findings could indicate a shift from Th1 to Th2 in IFN-β treated MS patients (146). Within the CD27<sup>+</sup> memory B cell compartment, the percentage of CD86 positive B cells was increased while the percentage of CXCR3 positive cells was decreased in the IFN-ß group compared to healthy controls, indicating that memory B cells were less able to migrate to the CNS (36). IFN- $\beta$  pretreated B cells were less able to induce proliferation of anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 stimulated CD4+ T cells than untreated B cells, further proving the immunomodulatory capacity of IFN- $\beta$  therapy (144).

In a longitudinal study, B cell expression of the adhesion marker intracellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-3 was reduced during

GA treatment, indicating a potential role for GA in controlling the migration of B cells toward the CNS (147). Other longitudinal data showed a decrease in B cell expression of the antigenpresenting molecule human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-DR/DP/ DQ and an increase in CD80 and CD86 costimulatory molecules on PB B cells in fingolimod treated MS patients (119). In contrast, a decreased expression of CD80 and stable CD86 expression was evidenced on B cells from fingolimod treated MS patients when compared to untreated MS patients in another study (128).

No data are present, to our knowledge, concerning the effects of DMF, teriflunomide, natalizumab and the CD20-depleting antibodies like rituximab, ocrelizumab, and ofatumumab on B cell surface expression of antigen presentation, costimulation, and migration markers. Natalizumab treatment could indirectly have an effect on these B cell functions due to the observed B cell subtype redistribution and general immune modulation. Because DMF and teriflunomide are recent FDA approved drugs, more research is warranted to investigate the effects of these treatments on B cell functions. Still, it can be concluded that different MS therapies can influence the interaction of B cells with T cells or other immune cells. As a consequence, inflammatory responses that are detrimental for the CNS are tempered, which is reflected in the clinical outcome of the treated MS patients.

# Effects of Treatment on Cytokine Production by B Cells

In a cross-sectional study of IFN- $\beta$  treated RRMS patients, increased serum levels of BAFF were observed compared to healthy controls, untreated, and GA-treated RRMS patients (107, 148). Twelve months after discontinuation of alemtuzumab treatment, increased serum BAFF levels were also observed (122). The BAFF-depleting antibody atacicept<sup>®</sup> exacerbated MS, which could be due to the decreased functionality of Bregs, as BAFF and APRIL signaling is highly implicated in the survival of Bregs. Still, the exact reason for the observed increased disease activity needs to be elucidated (149–151).

In terms of changes in cytokine production, IFN-β treatment caused induction of IL-10 production by B cells in vitro (144). Although GA did not directly modulate B cell proliferation or cytokine secretion in vitro (9), ex vivo analysis showed an increased secretion of IL-10 by B cells of 22 RRMS patients treated with GA (79). Intracellular flow cytometric analysis of B cells isolated from GA treated MS patients showed no increased frequency of IL-10 positive B cells in the PB of MS patients, indicating that GA does not influence the number of cytokine producing cells but rather the secretion of the cytokines (79). Further, a decreased capacity to secrete LT- $\alpha$  and IL-6 was indicated after B cell stimulation via CD40 and CD40L interaction or via Toll-like receptor triggering (79). An elevated IL-10 production was also evidenced for PB B cells from fingolimod-treated MS patients and repopulated B cells after rituximab treatment (31, 80, 125, 128). In fingolimod treated MS patients, the increased IL-10 production was accompanied by a decreased TNF- $\alpha$  production, while B cells following rituximab treatment secreted less pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6, LT-α, and TNF- $\alpha$  (31, 80, 125, 128). Limited data is present of the effects of DMF and teriflunomide on the immune function in MS patients. In psoriasis patients, it was shown that DMF altered the immune and T cell cytokine profile (102, 110). Teriflunomide limits the secretion of pro-inflammatory molecules by immune cells, including IL-6 and IL-8 (101).

Thus, similar effects have been observed for all studied treatments on the cytokine production by B cells, correcting the imbalance between regulatory and disease promoting B cell functions in MS. We have to keep in mind that since different B cell subtypes produce different cytokines, by changing B cell subtype distribution, cytokine balances are changed as a secondary effect of the treatment. Data are missing on the effects of treatment on cytokine production by B cells for some FDA approved treatments such as natalizumab and for some treatments in clinical trials such as anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies. It can be speculated that a potential mode of action by which these treatments contribute to the improvement of MS pathogenesis can be by influencing B cell cytokine production from a pro-inflammatory phenotype toward a more regulatory phenotype, still this needs to be further investigated.

### CONCLUSION

It is eminent that B cells are major players in MS pathogenesis and contribute to the disease via both antibody-dependent and -independent mechanisms. B cells are essential for antigen presentation and costimulation of T cells, for the production of cytokines and to produce antibodies that will target components of the CNS. Thus, focusing on effects of treatment on these cells will help in our understanding of MS pathogenesis. Although initially not designed for that purpose, many MS modifying treatments influence both antibody-dependent and -independent B cell functions.

### REFERENCES

- Compston A, Coles A. Multiple sclerosis. *Lancet* (2008) 372(9648):1502–17. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61620-7
- Lublin FD, Reingold SC, Cohen JA, Cutter GR, Sørensen PS, Thompson AJ, et al. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions. *Neurology* (2014) 83(3):278-86. doi:10.1212/ WNL.000000000000560
- Noseworthy JH, Lucchinetti C, Rodriguez M, and Weinshenker BG. Multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2000) 343(13):938–52. doi:10.1056/ NEJM200009283431307
- Weiner HL. A shift from adaptive to innate immunity: a potential mechanism of disease progression in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol* (2008) 255(Suppl 1):3–11. doi:10.1007/s00415-008-1002-8
- Fox RJ, Thompson A, Baker D, Baneke P, Brown D, Browne P, et al. Setting a research agenda for progressive multiple sclerosis: the International Collaborative on Progressive MS. *Mult Scler* (2012) 18(11):1534–40. doi:10.1177/1352458512458169
- Correale J, Ysrraelit MC, Gaitan MI. Immunomodulatory effects of vitamin D in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2009) 132(Pt 5):1146–60. doi:10.1093/brain/ awp033
- Goris A, Pauwels I, Gustavsen MW, van Son B, Hilven K, Bos SD, et al. Genetic variants are major determinants of CSF antibody levels in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2015) 138(Pt 3):632–43. doi:10.1093/brain/awu405
- Mallucci G, Peruzzotti-Jametti L, Bernstock JD, Pluchino S. The role of immune cells, glia and neurons in white and gray matter pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Prog Neurobiol* (2015) 127-128C:1–22. doi:10.1016/j. pneurobio.2015.02.003
- Ireland SJ, Blazek M, Harp CT, Greenberg B, Frohman EM, Davis LS, et al. Antibody-independent B cell effector functions in relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis: clues to increased inflammatory and reduced regulatory

Research on effects of therapy on B cell phenotype and function has demonstrated a shift from pro-inflammatory B cell functions toward more anti-inflammatory and regulatory functions. Still, each treatment influences this balance in its own manner. IFN- $\beta$ , natalizumab, fingolimod, BAFF and APRIL targeting monoclonal antibodies, rituximab and alemtuzumab, induce compositional changes of the B cells, resulting in a less disease promoting distribution of B cells in both the PB and CSF of MS patients. GA, DMF, and teriflunomide work primarily via modulating B cell cytokine production. Still, all these effector mechanisms of B cells are interconnected and cannot be separated from each other. Investigating the mechanism of action of different treatments in different autoimmune diseases leads to new insights into that specific disease. For example, atacicept has different clinical effects in RA and MS, indicating different roles of B cells in these diseases. More research is needed since inconsistencies between studies are present due to differences in B cell subtype definition and time point of measurement. Consensus in B cell subtype characterization will have added value in future research. Further, researchers should take into account pharmacodynamics of the compounds in order to decide on the specific time point for measuring B cell characteristics. Analysis of treatment effects on B cell subtype distribution and function can alternatively lead to prognostic knowledge for determining therapy efficiency. Finally, research should focus on finding specific therapies for the treatment of SPMS although initial efforts have been made. Further analysis of B cell functions in MS pathogenesis and the effects of treatment on these functions is hereby important in order to increase insight into the role of B cells in the disease process. This could lead to the development of novel and more specific therapies.

B cell capacity. *Autoimmunity* (2012) **45**(5):400–14. doi:10.3109/08916934. 2012.665529

- Broux B, Stinissen P, Hellings N. Which immune cells matter? The immunopathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *Crit Rev Immunol* (2013) 33(4):283–306. doi:10.1615/CritRevImmunol.2013007453
- von Büdingen HC, Kuo TC, Sirota M, van Belle CJ, Apeltsin L, Glanville J, et al. B cell exchange across the blood-brain barrier in multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122(12):4533–43. doi:10.1172/JCI63842
- 12. Pieper K, Grimbacher B, Eibel H. B-cell biology and development. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2013) 131(4):959–71. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2013.01.046
- Gray D. Immunological memory: a function of antigen persistence. *Trends Microbiol* (1993) 1(2):39–41. doi:10.1016/0966-842X(93)90026-N
- Gray D. Immunological memory. Annu Rev Immunol (1993) 11:49–77. doi:10.1146/annurev.iy.11.040193.000405
- Banchereau J, Rousset F. Human B lymphocytes: phenotype, proliferation, and differentiation. Adv Immunol (1992) 52:125–262. doi:10.1016/ S0065-2776(08)60876-7
- Klein U, Kuppers R, Rajewsky K. Evidence for a large compartment of IgMexpressing memory B cells in humans. *Blood* (1997) 89(4):1288–98.
- Klein U, Rajewsky K, Kuppers R. Human immunoglobulin (Ig)M+IgD+ peripheral blood B cells expressing the CD27 cell surface antigen carry somatically mutated variable region genes: CD27 as a general marker for somatically mutated (memory) B cells. J Exp Med (1998) 188(9):1679–89. doi:10.1084/jem.188.9.1679
- Dhaeze T, Peelen E, Hombrouck A, Peeters L, Van Wijmeersch B, Lemkens N, et al. Circulating follicular regulatory T cells are defective in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2015) **195**(3):832–40. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1500759
- Dhaeze T, Stinissen P, Liston A, Hellings N. Humoral autoimmunity: a failure of regulatory T cells? *Autoimmun Rev* (2015) 14(8):735–41. doi:10.1016/j. autrev.2015.04.006

- King C, Tangye SG, Mackay CR. T follicular helper (TFH) cells in normal and dysregulated immune responses. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2008) 26:741–66. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.26.021607.090344
- Mitsdoerffer M, Lee Y, Jäger A, Kim HJ, Korn T, Kolls JK, et al. Proinflammatory T helper type 17 cells are effective B-cell helpers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(32):14292–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1009234107
- Fillatreau S, Sweenie CH, McGeachy MJ, Gray D, Anderton SM. B cells regulate autoimmunity by provision of IL-10. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3(10):944–50. doi:10.1038/ni833
- Shen P, Roch T, Lampropoulou V, O'Connor RA, Stervbo U, Hilgenberg E, et al. IL-35-producing B cells are critical regulators of immunity during autoimmune and infectious diseases. *Nature* (2014) 507(7492):366–70. doi:10.1038/nature12979
- Bouaziz JD, Yanaba K, Tedder TF. Regulatory B cells as inhibitors of immune responses and inflammation. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 224:201–14. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00661.x
- Yanaba K, Bouaziz JD, Haas KM, Poe JC, Fujimoto M, Tedder TF. A regulatory B cell subset with a unique CD1dhiCD5+ phenotype controls T cell-dependent inflammatory responses. *Immunity* (2008) 28(5):639–50. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.03.017
- Blair PA, Noreña LY, Flores-Borja F, Rawlings DJ, Isenberg DA, Ehrenstein MR, et al. CD19(+)CD24(hi)CD38(hi) B cells exhibit regulatory capacity in healthy individuals but are functionally impaired in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Immunity* (2010) 32(1):129–40. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2009.11.009
- Palanichamy A, Apeltsin L, Kuo TC, Sirota M, Wang S, Pitts SJ, et al. Immunoglobulin class-switched B cells form an active immune axis between CNS and periphery in multiple sclerosis. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(248):248ra106. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008930
- von Büdingen HC, Harrer MD, Kuenzle S, Meier M, Goebels N. Clonally expanded plasma cells in the cerebrospinal fluid of MS patients produce myelin-specific antibodies. *Eur J Immunol* (2008) 38(7):2014–23. doi:10.1002/eji.200737784
- 29. Cepok S, Rosche B, Grummel V, Vogel F, Zhou D, Sayn J, et al. Short-lived plasma blasts are the main B cell effector subset during the course of multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2005) **128**(Pt 7):1667–76. doi:10.1093/brain/awh486
- Harp C, Lee J, Lambracht-Washington D, Cameron E, Olsen G, Frohman E, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid B cells from multiple sclerosis patients are subject to normal germinal center selection. *J Neuroimmunol* (2007) 183(1–2):189–99. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.10.020
- Duddy M, Niino M, Adatia F, Hebert S, Freedman M, Atkins H, et al. Distinct effector cytokine profiles of memory and naive human B cell subsets and implication in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(10):6092–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.10.6092
- Good KL, Avery DT, Tangye SG. Resting human memory B cells are intrinsically programmed for enhanced survival and responsiveness to diverse stimuli compared to naive B cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(2):890–901. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.182.2.890
- Pascual V, Liu YJ, Magalski A, de Bouteiller O, Banchereau J, Capra JD. Analysis of somatic mutation in five B cell subsets of human tonsil. J Exp Med (1994) 180(1):329–39. doi:10.1084/jem.180.1.329
- Qin Y, Duquette P, Zhang Y, Talbot P, Poole R, Antel J. Clonal expansion and somatic hypermutation of V(H) genes of B cells from cerebrospinal fluid in multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest (1998) 102(5):1045–50. doi:10.1172/JCI3568
- Tangye SG, Avery DT, Deenick EK, Hodgkin PD. Intrinsic differences in the proliferation of naive and memory human B cells as a mechanism for enhanced secondary immune responses. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(2):686–94. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.2.686
- Niino M, Hirotani M, Miyazaki Y, Sasaki H. Memory and naive B-cell subsets in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Neurosci Lett* (2009) 464(1):74–8. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2009.08.010
- 37. Knippenberg S, Peelen E, Smolders J, Thewissen M, Menheere P, Cohen Tervaert JW, et al. Reduction in IL-10 producing B cells (Breg) in multiple sclerosis is accompanied by a reduced naive/memory Breg ratio during a relapse but not in remission. *J Neuroimmunol* (2011) **239**(1–2):80–6. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.08.019
- 38. Quan C, Yu H, Qiao J, Xiao B, Zhao G, Wu Z, et al. Impaired regulatory function and enhanced intrathecal activation of B cells in neuromyelitis

optica: distinct from multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler (2013) 19(3):289-98. doi:10.1177/1352458512454771

- Habib J, Deng J, Lava N, Tyor W, Galipeau J. Blood B cell and regulatory subset content in multiple sclerosis patients. *J Mult Scler (Foster City)* (2015) 2(2):1000139.
- Michel L, Chesneau M, Manceau P, Genty A, Garcia A, Salou M, et al. Unaltered regulatory B-cell frequency and function in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Clin Immunol* (2014) 155(2):198–208. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2014.09.011
- Piddlesden SJ, Lassmann H, Zimprich F, Morgan BP, Linington C. The demyelinating potential of antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein is related to their ability to fix complement. *Am J Pathol* (1993) 143(2):555–64.
- 42. Elliott C, Lindner M, Arthur A, Brennan K, Jarius S, Hussey J, et al. Functional identification of pathogenic autoantibody responses in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2012) **135**(6):1819–33. doi:10.1093/brain/aws105
- Heigl F, Hettich R, Arendt R, Durner J, Koehler J, Mauch E. Immunoadsorption in steroid-refractory multiple sclerosis: clinical experience in 60 patients. *Atheroscler Suppl* (2013) 14(1):167–73. doi:10.1016/j. atherosclerosissup.2012.10.025
- 44. Keegan M, König F, McClelland R, Brück W, Morales Y, Bitsch A, et al. Relation between humoral pathological changes in multiple sclerosis and response to therapeutic plasma exchange. *Lancet* (2005) 366(9485):579–82. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67102-4
- Fraussen J, Claes N, de Bock L, Somers V. Targets of the humoral autoimmune response in multiple sclerosis. *Autoimmun Rev* (2014) 13(11):1126–37. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.07.002
- de Bock L, Somers K, Fraussen J, Hendriks JJ, van Horssen J, Rouwette M, et al. Sperm-associated antigen 16 is a novel target of the humoral autoimmune response in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2014) **193**(5):2147–56. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1401166
- Rouwette M, Noben JP, Van Horssen J, Van Wijmeersch B, Hupperts R, Jongen PJ, et al. Identification of coronin-1a as a novel antibody target for clinically isolated syndrome and multiple sclerosis. *J Neurochem* (2013) 126(4):483–92. doi:10.1111/jnc.12335
- Rouwette M, Somers K, Govarts C, De Deyn PP, Hupperts R, Van Wijmeersch B, et al. Novel cerebrospinal fluid and serum autoantibody targets for clinically isolated syndrome. *J Neurochem* (2012) **123**(4):568–77. doi:10.1111/ jnc.12005
- Angelucci F, Mirabella M, Frisullo G, Caggiula M, Tonali PA, Batocchi AP. Serum levels of anti-myelin antibodies in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients during different phases of disease activity and immunomodulatory therapy. *Dis Markers* (2005) 21(2):49–55. doi:10.1155/2005/826817
- Bartos A, Fialová L, Soukupová J, Kukal J, Malbohan I, Pitha J. Antibodies against light neurofilaments in multiple sclerosis patients. *Acta Neurol Scand* (2007) 116(2):100–7. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0404.2006.00794.x
- Berger T, Rubner P, Schautzer F, Egg R, Ulmer H, Mayringer I, et al. Antimyelin antibodies as a predictor of clinically definite multiple sclerosis after a first demyelinating event. N Engl J Med (2003) 349(2):139–45. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa022328
- Cid C, Regidor I, Alcazar A. Anti-heat shock protein 90beta antibodies are detected in patients with multiple sclerosis during remission. *J Neuroimmunol* (2007) 184(1–2):223–6. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.11.001
- Hedegaard CJ, Chen N, Sellebjerg F, Sørensen PS, Leslie RG, Bendtzen K, et al. Autoantibodies to myelin basic protein (MBP) in healthy individuals and in patients with multiple sclerosis: a role in regulating cytokine responses to MBP. *Immunology* (2009) 128(1 Suppl):e451–61. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.02999.x
- Lalive PH, Menge T, Delarasse C, Della Gaspera B, Pham-Dinh D, Villoslada P, et al. Antibodies to native myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein are serologic markers of early inflammation in multiple sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103(7):2280–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0510672103
- Grogan JL, Ouyang W. A role for Th17 cells in the regulation of tertiary lymphoid follicles. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) 42(9):2255–62. doi:10.1002/ eji.201242656
- Humby F, Bombardieri M, Manzo A, Kelly S, Blades MC, Kirkham B, et al. Ectopic lymphoid structures support ongoing production of classswitched autoantibodies in rheumatoid synovium. *PLoS Med* (2009) 6(1):e1. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0060001

- 57. Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Magliozzi R, Stigliano E, Aloisi F. Detection of ectopic B-cell follicles with germinal centers in the meninges of patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain Pathol* (2004) 14(2):164–74. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2004.tb00049.x
- Cole SR, Beck RW, Moke PS, Kaufman DI, Tourtellotte WW. The predictive value of CSF oligoclonal banding for MS 5 years after optic neuritis. Optic Neuritis Study Group. *Neurology* (1998) 51(3):885–7.
- Kabat EA, Glusman M, Knaub V. Quantitative estimation of the albumin and gamma globulin in normal and pathologic cerebrospinal fluid by immunochemical methods. *Am J Med* (1948) 4(5):653–62. doi:10.1016/ S0002-9343(48)90389-1
- Obermeier B, Lovato L, Mentele R, Brück W, Forne I, Imhof A, et al. Related B cell clones that populate the CSF and CNS of patients with multiple sclerosis produce CSF immunoglobulin. *J Neuroimmunol* (2011) 233(1–2):245–8. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.01.010
- Krumbholz M, Theil D, Cepok S, Hemmer B, Kivisäkk P, Ransohoff RM, et al. Chemokines in multiple sclerosis: CXCL12 and CXCL13 up-regulation is differentially linked to CNS immune cell recruitment. *Brain* (2006) 129(Pt 1):200–11. doi:10.1093/brain/awh680
- 62. Crawford A, Macleod M, Schumacher T, Corlett L, Gray D. Primary T cell expansion and differentiation in vivo requires antigen presentation by B cells. *J Immunol* (2006) **176**(6):3498–506. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.6.3498
- Linton PJ, Harbertson J, Bradley LM. A critical role for B cells in the development of memory CD4 cells. *J Immunol* (2000) 165(10):5558–65. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.165.10.5558
- 64. Batista FD, Harwood NE. The who, how and where of antigen presentation to B cells. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) **9**(1):15–27. doi:10.1038/nri2454
- 65. Linton PJ, Bautista B, Biederman E, Bradley ES, Harbertson J, Kondrack RM, et al. Costimulation via OX40L expressed by B cells is sufficient to determine the extent of primary CD4 cell expansion and Th2 cytokine secretion in vivo. *J Exp Med* (2003) **197**(7):875–83. doi:10.1084/jem.20021290
- 66. Harp CT, Ireland S, Davis LS, Remington G, Cassidy B, Cravens PD, et al. Memory B cells from a subset of treatment-naive relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients elicit CD4(+) T-cell proliferation and IFN-gamma production in response to myelin basic protein and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) **40**(10):2942–56. doi:10.1002/ eji.201040516
- Aung LL, Balashov KE. Decreased dicer expression is linked to increased expression of co-stimulatory molecule CD80 on B cells in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* (2015) 21(9):1131–8. doi:10.1177/1352458514560923
- Genc K, Dona DL, Reder AT. Increased CD80(+) B cells in active multiple sclerosis and reversal by interferon beta-1b therapy. J Clin Invest (1997) 99(11):2664–71. doi:10.1172/JCI119455
- Lesley R, Xu Y, Kalled SL, Hess DM, Schwab SR, Shu HB, et al. Reduced competitiveness of autoantigen-engaged B cells due to increased dependence on BAFF. *Immunity* (2004) 20(4):441–53. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(04)00079-2
- Krumbholz M, Meinl E. B cells in MS and NMO: pathogenesis and therapy. Semin Immunopathol (2014) 36(3):339–50. doi:10.1007/s00281-014-0424-x
- Krumbholz M, Theil D, Derfuss T, Rosenwald A, Schrader F, Monoranu CM, et al. BAFF is produced by astrocytes and up-regulated in multiple sclerosis lesions and primary central nervous system lymphoma. *J Exp Med* (2005) 201(2):195–200. doi:10.1084/jem.20041674
- Bar-Or A, Fawaz L, Fan B, Darlington PJ, Rieger A, Ghorayeb C, et al. Abnormal B-cell cytokine responses a trigger of T-cell-mediated disease in MS? *Ann Neurol* (2010) 67(4):452–61. doi:10.1002/ana.21939
- Carter NA, Rosser EC, Mauri C. Interleukin-10 produced by B cells is crucial for the suppression of Th17/Th1 responses, induction of T regulatory type 1 cells and reduction of collagen-induced arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2012) 14(1):R32. doi:10.1186/ar3736
- Yoshizaki A, Miyagaki T, DiLillo DJ, Matsushita T, Horikawa M, Kountikov EI, et al. Regulatory B cells control T-cell autoimmunity through IL-21-dependent cognate interactions. *Nature* (2012) **491**(7423):264–8. doi:10.1038/nature11501
- Meinl E, Krumbholz M, Hohlfeld R. B lineage cells in the inflammatory central nervous system environment: migration, maintenance, local antibody production, and therapeutic modulation. *Ann Neurol* (2006) 59(6):880–92. doi:10.1002/ana.20890

- Iwata Y, Matsushita T, Horikawa M, Dilillo DJ, Yanaba K, Venturi GM, et al. Characterization of a rare IL-10-competent B-cell subset in humans that parallels mouse regulatory B10 cells. *Blood* (2011) 117(2):530–41. doi:10.1182/ blood-2010-07-294249
- 77. Kessel A, Haj T, Peri R, Snir A, Melamed D, Sabo E, et al. Human CD19(+) CD25(high) B regulatory cells suppress proliferation of CD4(+) T cells and enhance Foxp3 and CTLA-4 expression in T-regulatory cells. *Autoimmun Rev* (2012) 11(9):670–7. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2011.11.018
- Fillatreau S. Regulatory plasma cells. Curr Opin Pharmacol (2015) 23:1–5. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2015.04.006
- Ireland SJ, Guzman AA, O'Brien DE, Hughes S, Greenberg B, Flores A, et al. The effect of glatiramer acetate therapy on functional properties of B cells from patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *JAMA Neurol* (2014) 71(11):1421–8. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.1472
- Barr TA, Shen P, Brown S, Lampropoulou V, Roch T, Lawrie S, et al. B cell depletion therapy ameliorates autoimmune disease through ablation of IL-6-producing B cells. J Exp Med (2012) 209(5):1001–10. doi:10.1084/ jem.20111675
- Owens GP, Ritchie AM, Burgoon MP, Williamson RA, Corboy JR, Gilden DH. Single-cell repertoire analysis demonstrates that clonal expansion is a prominent feature of the B cell response in multiple sclerosis cerebrospinal fluid. J Immunol (2003) 171(5):2725–33. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.5.2725
- Qin Y, Duquette P, Zhang Y, Olek M, Da RR, Richardson J, et al. Intrathecal B-cell clonal expansion, an early sign of humoral immunity, in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with clinically isolated syndrome suggestive of multiple sclerosis. *Lab Invest* (2003) 83(7):1081–8. doi:10.1097/01. LAB.0000077008.24259.0D
- Monson NL, Brezinschek HP, Brezinschek RI, Mobley A, Vaughan GK, Frohman EM, et al. Receptor revision and atypical mutational characteristics in clonally expanded B cells from the cerebrospinal fluid of recently diagnosed multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neuroimmunol* (2005) 158(1–2):170–81. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2004.04.022
- International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium, Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2, Sawcer S, Hellenthal G, Pirinen M, Spencer CC, et al. Genetic risk and a primary role for cell-mediated immune mechanisms in multiple sclerosis. *Nature* (2011) 476(7359):214–9. doi:10.1038/nature10251
- Bar-Or A, Calabresi PA, Arnold D, Markowitz C, Shafer S, Kasper LH, et al. Rituximab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a 72-week, open-label, phase I trial. *Ann Neurol* (2008) 63(3):395–400. doi:10.1002/ana.21363
- Cross AH, Stark JL, Lauber J, Ramsbottom MJ, Lyons JA. Rituximab reduces B cells and T cells in cerebrospinal fluid of multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neuroimmunol* (2006) 180(1–2):63–70. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.06.029
- Hauser SL, Waubant E, Arnold DL, Vollmer T, Antel J, Fox RJ, et al. B-cell depletion with rituximab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2008) 358(7):676–88. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0706383
- Lyons JA, San M, Happ MP, Cross AH. B cells are critical to induction of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis by protein but not by a short encephalitogenic peptide. *Eur J Immunol* (1999) **29**(11):3432–9. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1521-4141(199911)29:11<3432::AID-IMMU3432>3.0.CO;2-2
- Wolf SD, Dittel BN, Hardardottir F, Janeway CA Jr. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis induction in genetically B cell-deficient mice. *J Exp* Med (1996) 184(6):2271–8. doi:10.1084/jem.184.6.2271
- Matsushita T, Yanaba K, Bouaziz JD, Fujimoto M, Tedder TF. Regulatory B cells inhibit EAE initiation in mice while other B cells promote disease progression. J Clin Invest (2008) 118(10):3420–30. doi:10.1172/JCI36030
- Weber MS, Prod'homme T, Patarroyo JC, Molnarfi N, Karnezis T, Lehmann-Horn K, et al. B-cell activation influences T-cell polarization and outcome of anti-CD20 B-cell depletion in central nervous system autoimmunity. *Ann Neurol* (2010) 68(3):369–83. doi:10.1002/ana.22081
- Pierson ER, Stromnes IM, Goverman JM. B cells promote induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by facilitating reactivation of T cells in the central nervous system. *J Immunol* (2014) **192**(3):929–39. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1302171
- Molnarfi N, Schulze-Topphoff U, Weber MS, Patarroyo JC, Prod'homme T, Varrin-Doyer M, et al. MHC class II-dependent B cell APC function is required for induction of CNS autoimmunity independent of myelin-specific antibodies. J Exp Med (2013) 210(13):2921–37. doi:10.1084/jem.20130699

- Parker Harp CR, Archambault AS, Sim J, Ferris ST, Mikesell RJ, Koni PA, et al. B cell antigen presentation is sufficient to drive neuroinflammation in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2015) **194**(11):5077–84. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1402236
- Fraussen J, Vrolix K, Claes N, Martinez-Martinez P, Losen M, Hupperts R, et al. Autoantigen induced clonal expansion in immortalized B cells from the peripheral blood of multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neuroimmunol* (2013) 261(1–2):98–107. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2013.05.002
- Stern JN, Yaari G, Vander Heiden JA, Church G, Donahue WF, Hintzen RQ, et al. B cells populating the multiple sclerosis brain mature in the draining cervical lymph nodes. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(248):248ra107. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3008879
- Bankoti J, Apeltsin L, Hauser SL, Allen S, Albertolle ME, Witkowska HE, et al. In multiple sclerosis, oligoclonal bands connect to peripheral B-cell responses. Ann Neurol (2014) 75(2):266–76. doi:10.1002/ana.24088
- Kinnunen T, Chamberlain N, Morbach H, Cantaert T, Lynch M, Preston-Hurlburt P, et al. Specific peripheral B cell tolerance defects in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest (2013) 123(6):2737–41. doi:10.1172/JCI68775
- Kinnunen T, Chamberlain N, Morbach H, Choi J, Kim S, Craft J, et al. Accumulation of peripheral autoreactive B cells in the absence of functional human regulatory T cells. *Blood* (2013) **121**(9):1595–603. doi:10.1182/ blood-2012-09-457465
- The IFNB Multiple Sclerosis Study Group. Interferon beta-1b is effective in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. I. Clinical results of a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Neurology* (1993) 43(4):655–61. doi:10.1212/WNL.43.4.655
- Bar-Or A. Teriflunomide (Aubagio(R)) for the treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Exp Neurol* (2014) 262(Pt A):57–65. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2014.06.005
- Bomprezzi R. Dimethyl fumarate in the treatment of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: an overview. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord* (2015) 8(1):20–30. doi:10.1177/1756285614564152
- Brinkmann V. FTY720 (fingolimod) in Multiple Sclerosis: therapeutic effects in the immune and the central nervous system. *Br J Pharmacol* (2009) 158(5):1173–82. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00451.x
- Derfuss T, Kuhle J, Lindberg R, Kappos L. Natalizumab therapy for multiple sclerosis. Semin Neurol (2013) 33(1):26–36. doi:10.1055/s-0033-1343793
- 105. Johnson KP, Brooks BR, Cohen JA, Ford CC, Goldstein J, Lisak RP, et al. Copolymer 1 reduces relapse rate and improves disability in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: results of a phase III multicenter, double-blind placebo-controlled trial. The Copolymer 1 Multiple Sclerosis Study Group. *Neurology* (1995) 45(7):1268–76. doi:10.1212/WNL.45.7.1268
- Haas J, Bekeredjian-Ding I, Milkova M, Balint B, Schwarz A, Korporal M, et al. B cells undergo unique compartmentalized redistribution in multiple sclerosis. J Autoimmun (2011) 37(4):289–99. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2011.08.003
- 107. Schubert RD, Hu Y, Kumar G, Szeto S, Abraham P, Winderl J, et al. IFN-beta treatment Requires B cells for efficacy in neuroautoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2015) **194**(5):2110–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1402029
- Fox RJ, Miller DH, Phillips JT, Hutchinson M, Havrdova E, Kita M, et al. Placebo-controlled phase 3 study of oral BG-12 or glatiramer in multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2012) 367(12):1087–97. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1206328
- 109. Gold R, Kappos L, Arnold DL, Bar-Or A, Giovannoni G, Selmaj K, et al. Placebo-controlled phase 3 study of oral BG-12 for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2012) 367(12):1098–107. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1114287
- 110. Litjens NH, Nibbering PH, Barrois AJ, Zomerdijk TP, Van Den Oudenrijn AC, Noz KC, et al. Beneficial effects of fumarate therapy in psoriasis vulgaris patients coincide with downregulation of type 1 cytokines. *Br J Dermatol* (2003) 148(3):444–51. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2133.2003.05153.x
- Krumbholz M, Meinl I, Kümpfel T, Hohlfeld R, Meinl E. Natalizumab disproportionately increases circulating pre-B and B cells in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2008) 71(17):1350–4. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000327671.91357.96
- 112. Planas R, Jelčić I, Schippling S, Martin R, Sospedra M. Natalizumab treatment perturbs memory- and marginal zone-like B-cell homing in secondary lymphoid organs in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) **42**(3):790–8. doi:10.1002/eji.201142108
- 113. Lesesve JF, Debouverie M, Decarvalho Bittencourt M, Béné MC. CD49d blockade by natalizumab therapy in patients with multiple sclerosis increases immature B-lymphocytes. *Bone Marrow Transplant* (2011) 46(11):1489–91. doi:10.1038/bmt.2010.328

- 114. Putzki N, Baranwal MK, Tettenborn B, Limmroth V, Kreuzfelder E. Effects of natalizumab on circulating B cells, T regulatory cells and natural killer cells. *Eur Neurol* (2010) 63(5):311–7. doi:10.1159/000302687
- Skarica M, Eckstein C, Whartenby KA, Calabresi PA. Novel mechanisms of immune modulation of natalizumab in multiple sclerosis patients. J Neuroimmunol (2011) 235(1–2):70–6. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.02.010
- 116. Warnke C, Stettner M, Lehmensiek V, Dehmel T, Mausberg AK, von Geldern G, et al. Natalizumab exerts a suppressive effect on surrogates of B cell function in blood and CSF. *Mult Scler* (2015) **21**(8):1036–44. doi:10.1177/1352458514556296
- 117. Harrer A, Pilz G, Einhaeupl M, Oppermann K, Hitzl W, Wipfler P, et al. Lymphocyte subsets show different response patterns to in vivo bound natalizumab – a flow cytometric study on patients with multiple sclerosis. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(2):e31784. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0031784
- 118. Kowarik MC, Pellkofer HL, Cepok S, Korn T, Kümpfel T, Buck D, et al. Differential effects of fingolimod (FTY720) on immune cells in the CSF and blood of patients with MS. *Neurology* (2011) **76**(14):1214–21. doi:10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3182143564
- 119. Claes N, Dhaeze T, Fraussen J, Broux B, Van Wijmeersch B, Stinissen P, et al. Compositional changes of B and T cell subtypes during fingolimod treatment in multiple sclerosis patients: a 12-month follow-up study. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(10):e111115. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0111115
- 120. Havrdova E, Horakova D, Kovarova I. Alemtuzumab in the treatment of multiple sclerosis: key clinical trial results and considerations for use. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord* (2015) 8(1):31–45. doi:10.1177/1756285614563522
- 121. Chiarini M, Sottini A, Bertoli D, Serana F, Caimi L, Rasia S, et al. Newly produced T and B lymphocytes and T-cell receptor repertoire diversity are reduced in peripheral blood of fingolimod-treated multiple sclerosis patients. *Mult Scler* (2015) **21**(6):726–34. doi:10.1177/13524585145514556
- 122. Heidt S, Hester J, Shankar S, Friend PJ, Wood KJ. B cell repopulation after alemtuzumab induction-transient increase in transitional B cells and longterm dominance of naive B cells. *Am J Transplant* (2012) **12**(7):1784–92. doi:10.1111/j.1600-6143.2012.04012.x
- Kessel A, Rosner I, Toubi E. Rituximab: beyond simple B cell depletion. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol (2008) 34(1):74–9. doi:10.1007/s12016-008-8074-1
- Thompson SA, Jones JL, Cox AL, Compston DA, Coles AJ. B-cell reconstitution and BAFF after alemtuzumab (Campath-1H) treatment of multiple sclerosis. J Clin Immunol (2010) 30(1):99–105. doi:10.1007/s10875-009-9327-3
- Grützke B, Hucke S, Gross CC, Herold MV, Posevitz-Fejfar A, Wildemann BT, et al. Fingolimod treatment promotes regulatory phenotype and function of B cells. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol* (2015) 2(2):119–30. doi:10.1002/acn3.155
- Pers JO, Daridon C, Bendaoud B, Devauchelle V, Berthou C, Saraux A, et al. B-cell depletion and repopulation in autoimmune diseases. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* (2008) 34(1):50–5. doi:10.1007/s12016-007-8015-4
- 127. Rovituso D, Heller S, Schroeter M, Kleinschnitz C, Kuerten S. B1 cells are unaffected by immune modulatory treatment in remitting-relapsing multiple sclerosis patients. J Neuroimmunol (2014) 272(1–2):86–90. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2014.04.008
- 128. Miyazaki Y, Niino M, Fukazawa T, Takahashi E, Nonaka T, Amino I, et al. Suppressed pro-inflammatory properties of circulating B cells in patients with multiple sclerosis treated with fingolimod, based on altered proportions of B-cell subpopulations. *Clin Immunol* (2014) **151**(2):127–35. doi:10.1016/j. clim.2014.02.001
- 129. Nakamura M, Matsuoka T, Chihara N, Miyake S, Sato W, Araki M, et al. Differential effects of fingolimod on B-cell populations in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* (2014) **20**(10):1371–80. doi:10.1177/1352458514523496
- 130. Sottini A, Capra R, Zanotti C, Chiarini M, Serana F, Ricotta D, et al. Pre-existing T- and B-cell defects in one progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy patient. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(4):e34493. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0034493
- 131. Villar LM, García-Sánchez MI, Costa-Frossard L, Espiño M, Roldán E, Páramo D, et al. Immunological markers of optimal response to natalizumab in multiple sclerosis. Arch Neurol (2012) 69(2):191–7. doi:10.1001/ archneurol.2011.971
- Li L, Liu J, Delohery T, Zhang D, Arendt C, Jones C. The effects of teriflunomide on lymphocyte subpopulations in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells in vitro. *J Neuroimmunol* (2013) 265(1–2):82–90. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2013.10.003

- Ringshausen I, Oelsner M, Bogner C, Peschel C, Decker T. The immunomodulatory drug Leflunomide inhibits cell cycle progression of B-CLL cells. *Leukemia* (2008) 22(3):635–8. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2404922
- Chapagain ML, Nerurkar VR. Human polyomavirus JC (JCV) infection of human B lymphocytes: a possible mechanism for JCV transmigration across the blood-brain barrier. J Infect Dis (2010) 202(2):184–91. doi:10.1086/653823
- 135. Warnke C, von Geldern G, Markwerth P, Dehmel T, Hoepner R, Gold R, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid JC virus antibody index for diagnosis of natalizumab-associated progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. *Ann Neurol* (2014) 76(6):792–801. doi:10.1002/ana.24153
- 136. Serana F, Chiarini M, Sottini A, Bertoli D, Giustini V, Tessitore MV, et al. Immunological biomarkers identifying natalizumab-treated multiple sclerosis patients at risk of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. *J Neuroimmunol* (2014) 277(1–2):6–12. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2014.10.011
- 137. Amor S, van der Star BJ, Bosca I, Raffel J, Gnanapavan S, Watchorn J, et al. Neurofilament light antibodies in serum reflect response to natalizumab treatment in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* (2014) 20(10):1355–62. doi:10.1177/1352458514521887
- 138. Harrer A, Tumani H, Niendorf S, Lauda F, Geis C, Weishaupt A, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid parameters of B cell-related activity in patients with active disease during natalizumab therapy. *Mult Scler* (2013) **19**(9):1209–12. doi:10.1177/1352458512463483
- 139. Boulton C, Meiser K, David OJ, Schmouder R. Pharmacodynamic effects of steady-state fingolimod on antibody response in healthy volunteers: a 4-week, randomized, placebo-controlled, parallel-group, multiple-dose study. J Clin Pharmacol (2012) 52(12):1879–90. doi:10.1177/0091270011427908
- 140. Bar-Or A, Freedman MS, Kremenchutzky M, Menguy-Vacheron F, Bauer D, Jodl S, et al. Teriflunomide effect on immune response to influenza vaccine in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2013) 81(6):552–8. doi:10.1212/ WNL.0b013e31829e6fbf
- 141. Sergott RC, Bennett JL, Rieckmann P, Montalban X, Mikol D, Freudensprung U, et al. ATON: results from a phase II randomized trial of the B-celltargeting agent atacicept in patients with optic neuritis. *J Neurol Sci* (2015) 351(1–2):174–8. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.02.019
- 142. Genovese MC, Kinnman N, de La Bourdonnaye G, Pena Rossi C, Tak PP. Atacicept in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and an inadequate response to tumor necrosis factor antagonist therapy: results of a phase II, randomized, placebo-controlled, dose-finding trial. *Arthritis Rheum* (2011) 63(7):1793–803. doi:10.1002/art.30373
- 143. Tak PP, Thurlings RM, Rossier C, Nestorov I, Dimic A, Mircetic V, et al. Atacicept in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: results of a multicenter, phase Ib, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalating, single- and repeated-dose study. *Arthritis Rheum* (2008) 58(1):61–72. doi:10.1002/art.23178
- 144. Huang H, Ito K, Dangond F, Dhib-Jalbut S. Effect of interferon beta-1a on B7.1 and B7.2 B-cell expression and its impact on T-cell proliferation. *J Neuroimmunol* (2013) 258(1–2):27–31. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2013.02.010
- 145. Ramgolam VS, Sha Y, Marcus KL, Choudhary N, Troiani L, Chopra M, et al. B cells as a therapeutic target for IFN-beta in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(7):4518–26. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1000271
- 146. Kuchroo VK, Das MP, Brown JA, Ranger AM, Zamvil SS, Sobel RA, et al. B7-1 and B7-2 costimulatory molecules activate differentially the Th1/Th2 developmental pathways: application to autoimmune disease therapy. *Cell* (1995) 80(5):707–18. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90349-6
- 147. Sellner J, Koczi W, Harrer A, Oppermann K, Obregon-Castrillo E, Pilz G, et al. Glatiramer acetate attenuates the pro-migratory profile of adhesion molecules on various immune cell subsets in multiple sclerosis. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2013) 173(3):381–9. doi:10.1111/cei.12125
- 148. Krumbholz M, Faber H, Steinmeyer F, Hoffmann LA, Kümpfel T, Pellkofer H, et al. Interferon-beta increases BAFF levels in multiple sclerosis: implications for B cell autoimmunity. *Brain* (2008) **131**(Pt 6):1455–63. doi:10.1093/brain/ awn077
- 149. Yang M, Sun L, Wang S, Ko KH, Xu H, Zheng BJ, et al. Novel function of B cell-activating factor in the induction of IL-10-producing regulatory B cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(7):3321–5. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902551
- Hartung HP, Kieseier BC. Atacicept: targeting B cells in multiple sclerosis. Ther Adv Neurol Disord (2010) 3(4):205–16. doi:10.1177/1756285610371146
- Kappos L, Hartung HP, Freedman MS, Boyko A, Radü EW, Mikol DD, et al. Atacicept in multiple sclerosis (ATAMS): a randomised, placebo-controlled,

double-blind, phase 2 trial. Lancet Neurol (2014) 13(4):353-63. doi:10.1016/ S1474-4422(14)70028-6

- 152. Jacobs LD, Cookfair DL, Rudick RA, Herndon RM, Richert JR, Salazar AM, et al. A phase III trial of intramuscular recombinant interferon beta as treatment for exacerbating-remitting multiple sclerosis: design and conduct of study and baseline characteristics of patients. Multiple Sclerosis Collaborative Research Group (MSCRG). *Mult Scler* (1995) 1(2):118–35.
- 153. Paty DW, Li DK. Interferon beta-1b is effective in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. II. MRI analysis results of a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. UBC MS/MRI Study Group and the IFNB Multiple Sclerosis Study Group. *Neurology* (1993) 43(4):662–7. doi:10.1212/WNL.43.4.662
- 154. Panitch H, Goodin D, Francis G, Chang P, Coyle P, O'Connor P, et al. Benefits of high-dose, high-frequency interferon beta-1a in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis are sustained to 16 months: final comparative results of the EVIDENCE trial. *J Neurol Sci* (2005) **239**(1):67–74. doi:10.1016/j. jns.2005.08.003
- 155. Panitch H, Goodin DS, Francis G, Chang P, Coyle PK, O'Connor P, et al. Randomized, comparative study of interferon beta-1a treatment regimens in MS: the EVIDENCE trial. *Neurology* (2002) **59**(10):1496–506. doi:10.1212/01. WNL.0000034080.43681.DA
- 156. Schwid SR, Thorpe J, Sharief M, Sandberg-Wollheim M, Rammohan K, Wendt J, et al. Enhanced benefit of increasing interferon beta-1a dose and frequency in relapsing multiple sclerosis: the EVIDENCE Study. *Arch Neurol* (2005) 62(5):785–92. doi:10.1001/archneur.62.5.785
- Dhib-Jalbut S, Marks S. Interferon-beta mechanisms of action in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2010) 74(Suppl 1):S17-24. doi:10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3181c97d99
- 158. Mikol DD, Barkhof F, Chang P, Coyle PK, Jeffery DR, Schwid SR, et al. Comparison of subcutaneous interferon beta-1a with glatiramer acetate in patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis (the REbif vs glatiramer acetate in relapsing MS disease [REGARD] study): a multicentre, randomised, parallel, open-label trial. *Lancet Neurol* (2008) 7(10):903–14. doi:10.1016/ S1474-4422(08)70200-X
- Duda PW, Schmied MC, Cook SL, Krieger JI, Hafler DA. Glatiramer acetate (copaxone) induces degenerate, Th2-polarized immune responses in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest (2000) 105(7):967–76. doi:10.1172/ JCI8970
- 160. Hong J, Li N, Zhang X, Zheng B, Zhang JZ. Induction of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by copolymer-I through activation of transcription factor Foxp3. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2005) 102(18):6449–54. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0502187102
- 161. Karandikar NJ, Crawford MP, Yan X, Ratts RB, Brenchley JM, Ambrozak DR, et al. Glatiramer acetate (copaxone) therapy induces CD8(+) T cell responses in patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Invest* (2002) 109(5):641–9. doi:10.1172/JCI200214380
- 162. Vieira PL, Heystek HC, Wormmeester J, Wierenga EA, Kapsenberg ML. Glatiramer acetate (copolymer-1, copaxone) promotes Th2 cell development and increased IL-10 production through modulation of dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2003) **170**(9):4483–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.9.4483
- 163. Confavreux C, O'Connor P, Comi G, Freedman MS, Miller AE, Olsson TP, et al. Oral teriflunomide for patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis (TOWER): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Neurol* (2014) 13(3):247–56. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70308-9
- 164. O'Connor P, Wolinsky JS, Confavreux C, Comi G, Kappos L, Olsson TP, et al. Randomized trial of oral teriflunomide for relapsing multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med* (2011) 365(14):1293–303. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1014656
- 165. Vermersch P, Czlonkowska A, Grimaldi LM, Confavreux C, Comi G, Kappos L, et al. Teriflunomide versus subcutaneous interferon beta-1a in patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis: a randomised, controlled phase 3 trial. *Mult Scler* (2014) **20**(6):705–16. doi:10.1177/1352458513507821
- 166. FreedmanMS. Teriflunomidein relapsing multiple sclerosis: the rapeuticutility. Ther Adv Chronic Dis (2013) 4(5):192–205. doi:10.1177/2040622313492810
- 167. Bar-Or A, Pachner A, Menguy-Vacheron F, Kaplan J, Wiendl H. Teriflunomide and its mechanism of action in multiple sclerosis. *Drugs* (2014) 74(6):659–74. doi:10.1007/s40265-014-0212-x
- Carrithers MD. Update on disease-modifying treatments for multiple sclerosis. Clin Ther (2014) 36(12):1938–45. doi:10.1016/j.clinthera.2014.08.006

- Rudick R, Polman C, Clifford D, Miller D, Steinman L. Natalizumab: bench to bedside and beyond. *JAMA Neurol* (2013) 70(2):172–82. doi:10.1001/ jamaneurol.2013.598
- 170. Polman CH, O'Connor PW, Havrdova E, Hutchinson M, Kappos L, Miller DH, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of natalizumab for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2006) 354(9):899–910. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa044397
- 171. Rudick RA, Stuart WH, Calabresi PA, Confavreux C, Galetta SL, Radue EW, et al. Natalizumab plus interferon beta-1a for relapsing multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med* (2006) 354(9):911–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa044396
- 172. Cohen JA, Barkhof F, Comi G, Hartung HP, Khatri BO, Montalban X, et al. Oral fingolimod or intramuscular interferon for relapsing multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med* (2010) **362**(5):402–15. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0907839
- 173. Comi G, O'Connor P, Montalban X, Antel J, Radue EW, Karlsson G, et al. Phase II study of oral fingolimod (FTY720) in multiple sclerosis: 3-year results. *Mult Scler* (2010) 16(2):197–207. doi:10.1177/1352458509357065
- 174. Kappos L, Radue EW, O'Connor P, Polman C, Hohlfeld R, Calabresi P, et al. A placebo-controlled trial of oral fingolimod in relapsing multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 362(5):387–401. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0909494
- 175. O'Connor P, Comi G, Montalban X, Antel J, Radue EW, de Vera A, et al. Oral fingolimod (FTY720) in multiple sclerosis: two-year results of a phase II extension study. *Neurology* (2009) 72(1):73–9. doi:10.1212/01. wnl.0000338569.32367.3d
- 176. Brinkmann V, Billich A, Baumruker T, Heining P, Schmouder R, Francis G, et al. Fingolimod (FTY720): discovery and development of an oral drug to treat multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2010) **9**(11):883–97. doi:10.1038/nrd3248
- 177. Fox EJ, Rhoades RW. New treatments and treatment goals for patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Curr Opin Neurol* (2012) 25(Suppl):S11–9. doi:10.1097/01.wco.0000413320.94715.e9
- Mehling M, Johnson TA, Antel J, Kappos L, Bar-Or A. Clinical immunology of the sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor modulator fingolimod (FTY720) in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2011) 76(8 Suppl 3):S20–7. doi:10.1212/ WNL.0b013e31820db341
- Pelletier D, Hafler DA. Fingolimod for multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(4):339–47. doi:10.1056/NEJMct1101691
- von Wenckstern H, Zimmermann K, Kleuser B. The role of the lysophospholipid sphingosine 1-phosphate in immune cell biology. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz) (2006) 54(4):239–51. doi:10.1007/s00005-006-0028-9
- Barun B, Bar-Or A. Treatment of multiple sclerosis with anti-CD20 antibodies. Clin Immunol (2012) 142(1):31–7. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2011.04.005
- 182. Gürcan HM, Keskin DB, Stern JN, Nitzberg MA, Shekhani H, Ahmed AR. A review of the current use of rituximab in autoimmune diseases. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2009) 9(1):10–25. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2008.10.004
- 183. Lehmann-Horn K, Kinzel S, Feldmann L, Radelfahr F, Hemmer B, Traffehn S, et al. Intrathecal anti-CD20 efficiently depletes meningeal B cells in CNS autoimmunity. Ann Clin Transl Neurol (2014) 1(7):490–6. doi:10.1002/acn3.71
- 184. Monson NL, Cravens PD, Frohman EM, Hawker K, Racke MK. Effect of rituximab on the peripheral blood and cerebrospinal fluid B cells in patients with primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* (2005) 62(2):258–64. doi:10.1001/archneur.62.2.258
- Pescovitz MD. Rituximab, an anti-cd20 monoclonal antibody: history and mechanism of action. Am J Transplant (2006) 6(5 Pt 1):859–66. doi:10.1111/j.1600-6143.2006.01288.x

- 186. Kappos L, Li D, Calabresi PA, O'Connor P, Bar-Or A, Barkhof F, et al. Ocrelizumab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a phase 2, randomised, placebo-controlled, multicentre trial. *Lancet* (2011) **378**(9805):1779–87. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61649-8
- 187. Kausar F, Mustafa K, Sweis G, Sawaqed R, Alawneh K, Salloum R, et al. Ocrelizumab: a step forward in the evolution of B-cell therapy. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2009) 9(7):889–95. doi:10.1517/14712590903018837
- 188. Sorensen PS, Lisby S, Grove R, Derosier F, Shackelford S, Havrdova E, et al. Safety and efficacy of ofatumumab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a phase 2 study. *Neurology* (2014) 82(7):573–81. doi:10.1212/ WNL.000000000000125
- Osterborg A. Ofatumumab, a human anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody. Expert Opin Biol Ther (2010) 10(3):439–49. doi:10.1517/14712590903586239
- 190. Østergaard M, Baslund B, Rigby W, Rojkovich B, Jorgensen C, Dawes PT, et al. Ofatumumab, a human anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody, for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with an inadequate response to one or more disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase I/II study. Arthritis Rheum (2010) 62(8):2227–38. doi:10.1002/art.27524
- Reagan JL, Castillo JJ. Ofatumumab as front-line therapy in untreated chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Future Oncol* (2014) 10(7):1147–55. doi:10.2217/ fon.14.73
- 192. Cohen JA, Coles AJ, Arnold DL, Confavreux C, Fox EJ, Hartung HP, et al. Alemtuzumab versus interferon beta 1a as first-line treatment for patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a randomised controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet* (2012) **380**(9856):1819–28. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(12)61769-3
- 193. Coles AJ, Fox E, Vladic A, Gazda SK, Brinar V, Selmaj KW, et al. Alemtuzumab more effective than interferon beta-1a at 5-year follow-up of CAMMS223 clinical trial. *Neurology* (2012) 78(14):1069–78. doi:10.1212/ WNL.0b013e31824e8ee7
- 194. Coles AJ, Twyman CL, Arnold DL, Cohen JA, Confavreux C, Fox EJ, et al. Alemtuzumab for patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis after disease-modifying therapy: a randomised controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet* (2012) 380(9856):1829–39. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61768-1
- 195. Benson MJ, Dillon SR, Castigli E, Geha RS, Xu S, Lam KP, et al. Cutting edge: the dependence of plasma cells and independence of memory B cells on BAFF and APRIL. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(6):3655–9. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.180.6.3655
- 196. Gross JA, Dillon SR, Mudri S, Johnston J, Littau A, Roque R, et al. TACI-Ig neutralizes molecules critical for B cell development and autoimmune disease. impaired B cell maturation in mice lacking BLyS. *Immunity* (2001) 15(2):289–302. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00183-2

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Claes, Fraussen, Stinissen, Hupperts and Somers. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Hypersensitivity responses in the central nervous system

Reza Khorooshi<sup>1</sup>, Nasrin Asgari<sup>1,2</sup>, Marlene Thorsen Mørch<sup>1</sup>, Carsten Tue Berg<sup>1</sup> and Trevor Owens<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neurobiology Research, Institute for Molecular Medicine, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark, <sup>2</sup> Department of Neurology, Vejle Hospital, Vejle, Denmark

Immune-mediated tissue damage or hypersensitivity can be mediated by autospecific IgG antibodies. Pathology results from activation of complement, and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity, mediated by inflammatory effector leukocytes include macrophages, natural killer cells, and granulocytes. Antibodies and complement have been associated to demyelinating pathology in multiple sclerosis (MS) lesions, where macrophages predominate among infiltrating myeloid cells. Serum-derived autoantibodies with predominant specificity for the astrocyte water channel aquaporin-4 (AQP4) are implicated as inducers of pathology in neuromyelitis optica (NMO), a central nervous system (CNS) demyelinating disease where activated neutrophils infiltrate, unlike in MS. The most widely used model for MS, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, is an autoantigen-immunized disease that can be transferred to naive animals with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, but not with antibodies. By contrast, NMO-like astrocyte and myelin pathology can be transferred to mice with AQP4-IgG from NMO patients. This is dependent on complement, and does not require T cells. Consistent with clinical observations that interferon-beta is ineffective as a therapy for NMO, NMO-like pathology is significantly reduced in mice lacking the Type I IFN receptor. In MS, there is evidence for intrathecal synthesis of antibodies as well as blood-brain barrier (BBB) breakdown, whereas in NMO, IgG accesses the CNS from blood. Transfer models involve either direct injection of antibody and complement to the CNS, or experimental manipulations to induce BBB breakdown. We here review studies in MS and NMO that elucidate roles for IgG and complement in the induction of BBB breakdown, astrocytopathy, and demyelinating pathology. These studies point to significance of T-independent effector mechanisms in neuroinflammation.

Keywords: antibody, complement, neuroinflammation, multiple sclerosis, neuromyelitis optica, autoantibody, central nervous system

### Introduction

Evolution and function of the immune system in mammals are driven by the need for protection against pathogenic infection. The balance between the conflicting requirements for capacity to recognize a universe of continually evolving microorganisms while avoiding deleterious responses to self poses a challenge. Hypersensitivity responses are defined as disorders that are caused by the immune response and include autoimmune responses. Three of the four classically described types of hypersensitivity involve antibodies. Type I hypersensitivity involves IgE antibodies and atopy and will not be discussed further. Types II and III hypersensitivity involve IgG antibodies and are

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Manu Rangachari, CHU de Québec, Canada

# Reviewed by:

University of Toronto, Canada Kevin O'Connor, Yale School of Medicine, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Trevor Owens, Department of Neurobiology Research, Institute for Molecular Medicine, University of Southern Denmark, J.B Winslowsvej 25 2, Odense DK-5000, Denmark towens@health.sdu.dk

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 06 July 2015 Accepted: 22 September 2015 Published: 07 October 2015

#### Citation:

Khorooshi R, Asgari N, Mørch MT, Berg CT and Owens T (2015) Hypersensitivity responses in the central nervous system. Front. Immunol. 6:517. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00517

44

implicated in immune pathology, especially the Type II hypersensitivity response, which explicitly involves autospecific antibodies. Type IV hypersensitivity involves T cell response, particularly CD4 T cell responses.

Generation of the self-specific antibodies that underpin the Type II hypersensitivity response occurs during B cell development when IgH V, J, and D segments recombine with junctional diversity, as well as IgL V–J recombination, resulting in over 10<sup>11</sup> potential specificities. Selection against self-recognition occurs via IgL receptor editing as well as deletion via apoptosis. Nonetheless, B cell receptors with specificity for autoantigens persist in the adult repertoire. Protection against autoimmunity relies on a number of regulatory mechanisms, including the requirement for T cell help to generate a high affinity isotype-switched antibody response and that T cell activation is under separate and complex control. Autoantibodies may contribute to clearance of debris and effete cells as part of physiologically normal function, and so may not always be intrinsically deleterious. The T cell response that is required for IgG isotype switching does not itself need to be autospecific, since B cells may present innocuous or protective cross-reactive epitopes for T cell help (e.g., Molecular Mimicry). Nevertheless, it is clear from the fact of antibodymediated autoimmune diseases that self-specific B cell clones can become activated and undergo isotype switching, with deleterious consequences. The degree to which this plays a role in neurological disease is of interest here.

Multiple sclerosis (MS) and neuromyelitis optica (NMO) are both autoimmune inflammatory demyelinating diseases in the central nervous system (CNS). The cause of MS is unknown, but multiple factors are considered to be involved in pathogenesis of MS. These include antibody-dependent mechanisms that contribute to the demyelination observed in Pattern II lesion pathology (1). Key features of Type II hypersensitivity that are relevant to discussion of their role in MS are specificity for tissue antigens (therefore autospecificity), recruitment of effector leukocyte responses, and activation of complement. In NMO, autoantibody binding to aquaporin-4 (AQP4) causes inflammation, astrocyte damage, cytokine release, and demyelination (2).

This review will deal with the role of Type II hypersensitivity autoantibody-driven responses in inflammatory demyelinating disease, with particular relevance to MS and NMO.

### Autoantibody in MS

Detection of IgG oligoclonal bands (OCB) in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) is one of the clinical criteria supporting the diagnosis of MS (3). CSF OCB occur in more than 90% of MS patients (4). Other isotypes, such as IgM and IgA, can also be found in CSF OCB (5, 6). Intrathecal IgM synthesis, presumed to be T cell independent, has been detected in 55% of MS patients (7, 8). OCB and polyspecific production of antibodies against measles, rubella, and varicella zoster virus, the so-called "MRZ reaction," is associated with increased risk of converting from clinically isolated syndrome to MS (9). Possible involvement of antibodies in MS pathogenesis is suggested by beneficial response to therapeutic plasma exchange in MS patients retrospectively identified as having Pattern II lesions (10). However, it is important to note,

that treatment with CD20-directed B cell-depleting therapeutics reduced the relapse rate in MS patients without affecting the presence of antibodies in the CSF (11).

Multiple sclerosis lesions have been classified on the basis of pathological patterns. Pattern II lesions are defined by presence of antibodies and activated complement product deposition. These lesions have been described in over 50% of actively demyelinating MS lesions (1). The specificity of the autoantibodies in MS remains largely unknown. MS lesions are mainly found in the CNS white matter, so one might expect candidate autoantibodies to be directed against antigen structures within this region. In MS lesions, autoantibodies against the potassium channel KIR4.1, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) and myelin basic protein (MBP) have been identified (12-15). However, consensus is lacking whether these autoantibodies are of pathogenic significance in patients with MS. A number of studies report failure to detect KIR4.1-specific IgG in serum or CSF from all but a fraction of patients with MS (16). Antibodies to MBP, although detectable, are not considered a meaningful biomarker for MS, since they have also been shown to be increased in response to neuronal damage (17).

The occurrence of pathogenic anti-MOG Ab is very rare in adult MS patients (18–20). Recent studies have described that anti-MOG Ab is detected in pediatric MS, ADEM (21, 22), and now in AQP4 seronegative NMO patients (23–27). During the progression of pediatric MS, epitope spreading can increase the number of CNS-reactive antibodies (28). This process of epitope spreading can be driven by antigen-presenting cells that present products of antibody-mediated breakdown of myelin and axonal specific antigens to T cells in the CNS (28).

Some earlier confusion about anti-MOG IgG in MS derived from use of assay techniques, such as ELISA and Western Blot, which detected antibodies that recognize incorrectly folded and denatured MOG, and therefore did not necessarily recognize MOG expressed in the CNS. Implementation of techniques, such as cell-based and tetramer assays (29), has improved discrimination of pathogenic antibodies and B cells, and, for example, allowed demonstration that axopathic and/or demyelinating autoantibody responses can occur in some patients with MS (30). However, anti-MOG antibodies are not considered to play a major role in adult MS, and at this time, no serum antibody specificity in adult MS is considered to be of diagnostic value. This leaves unanswered the question of what are the antigen specificities in OCB and what is their role in MS. Lipids have been identified among the autoantigens for OCB antibodies (31) and one study showed that lipid-specific oligoclonal IgM antibodies, especially for phosphatidylcholine, were prognostic for aggressive evolution of MS (32).

The animal model experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) can be induced by immunization with different myelin peptides, e.g., from MBP and MOG. This model is generally considered to be a T cell-mediated disease and cannot be transferred with antibodies (33). Nevertheless, co-transfer of IgG specific for MOG converted a non-demyelinating uniphasic EAE in Lewis rats to a relapsing–remitting demyelinating disease (34, 35).

Choice of antigen is highly influential when inducing EAE in mice (36). MOG-peptide-induced EAE has been shown to

have no requirement for B cells, as it can be induced in animals without B cells (36, 37). Depletion of B cells exacerbated the clinical score in p35-55 MOG-induced EAE (38) indicating a regulatory role for B cells in EAE. On the other hand, MOGspecific TCR-transgenic mice that also expressed autoantibodies against MOG showed an accelerated and exacerbated course of EAE (39). Immunization of these or non-transgenic mice with human recombinant MOG extracellular domain or a fusion protein of MBP and proteolipid protein (MP4) both induced EAE, where activated B cells and antigen-specific antibodies played a pathogenic role in association with T cell-mediated inflammation (36, 40-43). Antigen-independent B cell infiltration and ectopic germinal center formation have been shown in mice with EAE induced by immunization with either a fusion protein incorporating the extracellular domain of mouse MOG or p35-55 peptide, both being T cell dependent (44). Thus, antibodies and B cells have a role to play in the animal model for MS, though the specific role is dependent on immunization strategy.

### Autoantibody in NMO

In NMO, disease-specific NMO-IgG (primarily of the IgG1 subclass) is a biomarker. The predominant NMO-associated antibody specificity is for the water channel AQP4 (45). AQP4 is densely localized in membranes of ependymal cells and astrocytes, to form the glia limitans of blood-brain barrier (BBB) and the CSF-parenchymal barrier (46). NMO-IgG/AQP4-IgG is thought to mediate pathogenesis by binding selectively to AQP4 on CNS astrocytes, causing complement fixation, generation of chemotactic signals (e.g., C3a, C5a), immune cell infiltration, and subsequent loss of AQP4 and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) on the astrocytes (2). Lesions in NMO are frequently found in the optic nerve and the spinal cord central gray matter as optic neuritis and transverse myelitis; however, brain lesions are also found at other sites of high AQP4 expression, such as the circumventricular organs (47-50). NMO-IgG is pathogenic only when reaching the CNS parenchyma as demonstrated in experimental animal studies where direct administration of NMO-IgG into the CNS or into the blood in mice with pre-established CNS inflammationinduced NMO-like histopathology, whereas peripheral administration into naïve animals had no effect (47, 51). In line with this observation, AQP4-IgG may exist for years after the first NMO attack without a relapse (52).

Other reported autoantibodies in NMO include anti-MOG as mentioned above (23–27), NMDA-type glutamate receptor (e.g., CV2/CRMP5), and glycine receptor antibodies (53–55). These and other autoantibodies may be useful biomarkers for NMO. However, their pathogenic importance has not been clarified. Future studies are required to establish this.

### Leukocytes in MS and NMO

Although the distribution of actively demyelinating lesions differs between MS patients, they are predominantly found within the optic nerves, spinal cord, brainstem, and periventricular white matter of the cerebral hemispheres (56). It has become clear in recent years that gray matter is not spared, even during the earliest phases of MS. Gray matter lesions show demyelination, neuronal loss, and atrophy (57–59). Gray matter lesions can be localized in or around the cortical and subcortical gray matter (60).

Inflammation is seen in both white and gray matter lesions at different stages of disease. It consists mainly of T-lymphocytes with a dominance of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. However, B cells and plasma cells are also found in lesions. Macrophages are mainly found in white matter lesions, where they phagocytose myelin (56). The infiltration of T and B cells in CNS lesions was more profound in relapsing MS compared to progressive MS (61). Although the global composition of inflammatory cells is similar between relapsing-remitting and progressive disease (61), the relative number of plasma cells is higher in the progressive phase (61, 62). Clonally expanded B cells are detected in the CSF (63), in the meningeal lymphoid follicles, as well as in the parenchymal infiltrates in MS patients (64-66). A high ratio of B cells to monocytes in the CSF determined by flow cytometry correlated with rapid MS progression (67). Furthermore, lesion activity on MRI correlated with the numbers of plasmablasts in the CSF (68). These findings support a role for B cells in MS pathology.

Comparing the inflammation in MS lesions with NMO lesions, several studies have found that while the infiltrating cells in MS mostly consist of mononuclear cells, such as macrophages and T cells, inflammation in NMO include neutrophils, eosinophils, and mononuclear cells (2, 69, 70). These infiltrating cells, in particular macrophages, are implicated in Type II hypersensitivity through antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC).

The role of neutrophils and eosinophils in NMO pathology has been studied in animal models where NMO patient autoantibodies have been transferred to the CNS of mice to induce such pathology (51, 70, 71). When mice were made neutropenic, neuroinflammation was greatly reduced at 24 h and 7 days following intracerebral injection of patient autoantibodies (70). The fact that this had no effect on complement activation identified distinct modes of antibody effect. Neutropenic mice did not show loss of AQP4 or myelin, whereas intracerebral injection into neutrophilenriched mice increased the areas of AQP4 and myelin loss and the number of inflamed cerebral vessels, thereby showing a role for granulocytes in tissue damage (70). Consistent with this, other studies showed that administration of a neutrophil protease inhibitor decreased the loss of AQP4 and myelin (70). Note that these studies would exclude either microglia or macrophages as mediators of pathology, since those cells should not have been affected by manipulations leading to neutropenia.

Eosinophils and neutrophils infiltrated NMO lesions in mice, after continuous infusion of patient autoantibodies (72). These granulocytes correlated to increased lesion size and both ADCC and complement-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (CDCC) were involved (72). In addition, inhibition of eosinophil degranulation protected against ADCC and CDCC (72). Organotypic slice cultures were used to analyze synergy between antibody and leukocytes in induction of pathology. These transwell-based vibratome tissue slices from spinal cord, optic nerve, or hippocampus allowed analysis of an intact neuronal–glial network *in vitro*, and of effects of complement or leukocytes independently of infiltrating blood-derived cells or mediators. Pathology was complement dependent and under circumstances of suboptimal NMO–IgG, could be enhanced by addition of leukocytes, or pro-inflammatory cytokines (73), or eosinophils or their granule

toxins (72). These studies also indicated that granulocytes play a role in formation of NMO lesions through both ADCC and CDCC. Addition of macrophages to slice cultures exacerbated pathology, dependent on complement, whereas natural killer (NK) cells caused loss of GFAP, AQP4, and myelin loss independent of complement (74). However, no evidence was found to support a role for NK cells in pathology in biopsy material from either MS or NMO patients (69), and granulocytes are the more likely effector cell.

Mechanism of action of pathogenic IgG in conjunction with leukocytes, or ADCC, involves Fc receptors (FcR). These are membrane glycoproteins expressed by leukocytes that have specific affinity for the Fc portions of immunoglobulin molecules, and thus link leukocytes via IgG to specific targets while signaling via the FcR. These are essential for a wide spectrum of biological activities, including transport of antibodies across cell membranes, induction of phagocytosis, and regulation of leukocyte function. Cross-linked FcR-bound antibody can initiate a signal transduction cascade that induces immune cell activation, resulting in cytokine production, immune cell proliferation, and degranulation of neutrophils, eosinophils, and mast cells (75, 76).

All of the effector mechanisms thus far described are components of the peripheral immune response. There is thus interest in the extent to which antibody entry from blood contributes to demyelinating pathology.

### BBB Integrity in Hypersensitivity Autoimmune Diseases in the CNS

Inflammation during disease activity in MS and NMO is frequently associated with BBB leakage, suggesting infiltration of the brain by inflammatory cells or immunoglobulin entering the CNS from the circulation (77). Studies of lesion pathology suggest that inflammation drives demyelination and neurodegeneration in MS patients (78). The BBB disruption in MS is primarily caused by infiltration of T cells responding to augmented expression chemokines and adhesion molecules at the luminal vascular endothelium, leading to migration of macrophages and dendritic cells, further increase of BBB permeability and leakage of inflammatory cytokines in the CNS to amplify the cascade of events (61). Complement components generated via the complement cascade are implicated in altered BBB permeability, further promoting inflammatory cell recruitment and Ig extravasation. Importantly, there can also be a role for antibody in BBB breakdown.

The BBB may be impaired before the occurrence of demyelinating foci and T-cell infiltration around small vessels (78). Disturbance of the BBB can be visualized by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) through leakage of the magnetic marker gadolinium (Gd) diethylenetriamine pentaacetic acid (contrast enhancement) (79– 81). An abnormal intra-BBB IgG synthesis rate was reported to correlate to the total area of MRI abnormality in the cerebrum (82). Elevated CSF/serum albumin ratio is evidence of BBB damage (83, 84). MS lesions are characterized by centrally placed inflamed veins, and fingerlike extensions of periventricular lesions (so-called Dawson's fingers) (78). Collectively, the diagnostic implications of intra-BBB IgG synthesis and formation of OCB are well-established in MS, but how intra-BBB IgG production influences BBB integrity is not known.

A particular case in point that may help answer this question is provided by studies in NMO. Intrathecal AQP4-IgG is detectable in the CSF of the majority of AQP4-IgG seropositive NMO patients who have acute disease relapse with AQP4-IgG serum titers >1:250 (85, 86). The AQP4-IgG present in the CSF has been correlated with astrocyte damage, a primary pathological process in NMO (87, 88). Intrathecal IgG synthesis in NMO only occurs rarely and does not persist over time, and serum-derived AQP4-IgG is probably of major pathogenic importance (89). Taken together, these findings suggest entry of serum-derived AQP4-IgG to CNS during disease activity in NMO, which may further be deposited on astrocytic foot processes at the BBB, subpial, and subependymal regions. Thus, the destruction of the BBB may be an important step in the development of NMO because circulating AQP4-IgG has to pass through the BBB to reach the astrocytic endfeet, where AQP4 is localized. Astrocytes interact with endothelial cells to maintain the CNS BBB. We have very recently evaluated the pathogenic impact of AQP4-IgG in the CSF and find that intrathecal injection of AQP4-IgG together with human complement into the CSF of mice results in pronounced deposition of AQP4-IgG along subarachnoid space and subpial spaces, which initiated perivascular astrocyte-destructive lesions and consequently BBB breakdown (Figure 1) (90). These data suggest a model whereby a small amount of AQP4-IgG initially is spilled over to the CSF, and then initiates a pathogenic process, giving the characteristic CSF data and radiological features of human NMO. Thus, AQP4-IgG in CSF is a significant element in NMO pathogenicity and can be a critical element, which promotes perivascular astrocyte pathology and consequently BBB disruption. Whether these principles can apply to other antibody specificities, such as MOG-IgG, and to MS where there are intrathecal antibodies as well as BBB disruptions now become important questions.

Factors indicative of BBB integrity may serve as surrogate markers of NMO disease activity. Matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) participates in the degradation of collagen IV, a major component of the cerebral vascular endothelial basement membrane (91), and of dystroglycan that anchors astrocyte endfeet to the basement membrane (92). MMP-9 is upregulated in MS lesions (93) and elevated serum levels of MMP-9 were reported in NMO and MS patients (91), interestingly higher in NMO than in MS (94), and likely increase BBB permeability in both diseases via effect on CNS microvascular endothelial cells. Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) play important roles in lymphocyte migration into the CNS. Higher levels of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 have been reported in relapsing NMO patients and in MS compared to patients with non-inflammatory neurological disorders (95, 96). Furthermore, levels in NMO were higher than in MS and correlated with CSF albumin quotient (96). Another NMO marker of BBB breakdown, vascular endothelial growth factor-A (VEGF-A), has been implicated in promoting BBB breakdown in demyelinating disorders (97). Interestingly, an in vitro study demonstrated that AQP4-IgG binding to astrocytes alters AQP4 polarized expression leading to increased permeability of the astrocyte/endothelial barrier,



astrocyte-destructive lesions and blood-brain barrier breakdown [modified after Asgari et al. (90)].

reversed by application of an anti-VEGF-A blocking antibody, suggesting the potential role of VEGF-A in NMO pathology (98). Studies in AQP4 knock-out mice have highlighted important functional roles for AQP4 in the maintenance of BBB integrity as indicated by tight junction opening in brain microvessels, swelling of perivascular astrocytic processes, and BBB hyperpermeability (99). These data suggest that the pathogenic significance of serumderived AQP4–IgG in NMO include BBB dysfunction. Whether astrocyte specificity of antibodies is required for analogous effects, in NMO as well as MS, is not known.

Central nervous system proteins are detected in sera and CSF of NMO patients, likely as part of compromised BBB and tissue damage. Neurofilament (NF) heavy chain levels have been implicated in optic neuritis associated with NMO, with high serum NF levels correlating with poor clinical outcome (100). In addition, astrocytic markers, including GFAP and S100B, are detected in the CSF in several inflammatory CNS disorders, including MS and NMO, and both are elevated in AQP4 IgG seropositive patients. CSF and serum levels of S100B correlated with active NMO disease, suggesting S100B may be a potential biomarker of acute relapse in seropositive NMO (87, 101). Blood-brain barrier breakdown is thus a potentially important pathogenic element in inflammatory demyelinating diseases, and may be driven by antibodies as part of hypersensitivity processes in the CNS.

### Cytokines and Chemokines in Hypersensitivity Disorders in CNS

Cytokines and chemokines are involved in the control of inflammatory processes associated with demyelinating diseases in the CNS (102). They can be protective, but may also have deleterious effects. Changes in the microenvironment of the CNS following injury trigger an innate immune response, which involves germline-encoded pattern recognition receptors, such as tolllike receptors (103). These receptors recognize endogenous agonists released from damaged tissue as well as molecular patterns expressed by pathogens. This innate immune response includes induction of soluble products such as cytokines and chemokines that are critical for priming the antigen-specific adaptive immune response (104). Infiltrating cells and glial cells are both sources of cytokines and chemokines in the CNS.

Recruitment of leukocytes to tissue in hypersensitivity responses is driven by chemokines and by some cytokines. A number of studies support their involvement in NMO and MS, including that their levels in serum and CSF change dramatically compared to in healthy individuals. The role of inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in the pathogenesis of MS and in EAE has been broadly studied. Many of them have pathological and clinical significance in the context of autoantibody-mediated demyelination, although this has received less attention. Similarly, although the list of studies that have focused on cytokine and chemokine profiles in NMO is growing (105-110), there is still limited information about their functional significance in the pathogenesis of NMO.

Cytokines and chemokines that are classically implicated in recruitment and activation of B cells and leukocytes in a Type II hypersensitivity response would potentially include B-cell activating factor (BAFF), IL-1β, IL-6, TNFα, type I IFN, CXCL1/CXCL2 (and other CXCR2-binding chemokines), CXCL10 (IFN-induced protein-10), CXCL13 (B lymphocyte chemoattractant), CCL2 (macrophage chemotactic protein-1), and CCL11 (eotaxin). This is by no means a complete list but represents the principal candidate mediators that would be important in antibody-mediated pathology in MS and NMO. Evidence for their involvement is summarized in Table 1. Additionally, the role of selected entities, such as IL-1, IL-6, type I IFN, and certain chemokines, are separately discussed.

### IL-1

Increased levels of IL-1β have been reported in serum and CSF from MS and NMO patients (110, 139, 140). Increased expression of IL-1ß by microglia/macrophages was detected in NMO patients with active lesions (characterized by AQP4 loss, astrocyte injury, immunoglobulin and complement deposition, and granulocyte infiltration). This likely depended on complement activation and granulocyte infiltration, since it was not shown in MS lesions or in advanced NMO lesions, which lacked complement activation and granulocyte infiltration (114). It was also shown that IL-1 enhanced formation of NMO lesions in spinal cord slice cultures treated with NMO-IgG and complement, but not in culture without NMO-IgG (73).

### IL-6

IL-6 levels in the CNS are normally undetectable, but increase during neuroinflammation, indicating their involvement in CNS diseases (141). Astrocytes and microglia are both sources of IL-6 (119, 141, 142). Elevated levels of IL-6 in the serum and CSF of NMO patients have also been reported (106, 140, 143). The severity of NMO-IgG and complement-induced lesions was increased when spinal cord slice cultures were treated with IL-6 (73). In another study, IL-6 was injected into the CNS of rats, and at the same time NMO-IgG was administered intraperitoneally. The results showed that IL-6 did not trigger formation of perivascular lesions with AQP4 loss distant from the needle track (114). Such findings suggest that IL-6 contributes to the pathogenesis of NMO as a secondary factor by facilitating the formation of NMO lesions. IL-6 also induces plasmablasts to produce autoantibody (144). IL-6 may also affect BBB integrity and has been implicated in BBB disruption (145, 146). All of these activities would potentially contribute to antibody-mediated pathology in MS and NMO.

<b>Nediator</b>	Cell source	Role in hypersensitivity related process in CNS	
BAFF	Astrocytes, leukocytes (111, 112)	Survival and maturation of B cells (111, 112)	
1	Microglia, astrocytes, neutrophils (113, 114)	Recruitment of leukocytes (115) Enhance C3 expression by astrocytes (116–118) T cell survival and effector functions (113)	
6	Microglia and astrocytes; virtually all immune cells (110, 119, 120)	Recruitment of leukocytes (120) Survival of plasmablasts, production of antibody (110)	
NFα	Microglia, astrocytes, and ependymal cells (121, 122)	Possible role in recruitment of leukocytes (122) Enhance C3 expression by astrocytes (117, 123) Cytotoxic for oligodendrocytes via TNFR1 cells (122)	
vpe I IFN	Glial cells, neurons, and leukocytes (124)	Proposed to reduce leukocyte migration across the BBB (124) Possible influence on complement induction (125, 126)	
XCL1	Astrocytes (127, 128)	Recruitment of neutrophils and T cells (129)	
KCL10	Astrocytes (121)	Recruitment of macrophages, neutrophils, and B cells (130)	
OS/RNS	Activated macrophages, granulocytes (131)	Influences leukocyte recruitment by affecting BBB permeability, and causing vasodilation (131) Cytotoxic to oligodendrocytes (131)	
XCL13	Microglia (132); follicular dendritic cells (133)	B cell recruitment (133) IgG affinity maturation (133)	
DL2	Glial cells, especially astrocytes (119)	Recruit monocytes through CCR2 (134) Promotes cytotoxic granule release by NK cells (135)	
CL11	Lymphocytes, macrophages, endothelial cells, and eosinophils (136–138)	Recruit eosinophils through CCR3 (137) Activation of basophils and T lymphocytes (136)	

### Type I IFN

Type I IFNs, including IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\beta$ , are known to play a crucial role in immune responses by activating JAK/STAT signals through their common receptor (IFNAR) (124). Unlike MS, IFN- $\beta$  therapy has been reported to have very poor efficacy or to even exacerbate NMO (147) [reviewed in Ref. (124)]. IFN- $\beta$  treatment in a NMO patient was associated with increased relapses and AQP4 antibody titers (147). Type I IFN signaling via the IFNAR receptor is required for NMO-like pathology in a mouse model (148). IFN- $\beta$  therapy induced elevated serum levels of BAFF (111), which may facilitate autoantibody production in NMO (149). Elevated levels of IL-17, IFN- $\beta$ , and neutrophil elastase were reported in serum from NMO patients, and the same study showed that IFN- $\beta$  increased the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) (150). Together, these findings suggested the severe exacerbation and increased relapses in NMO might be associated with IFN- $\beta$  induced BAFF as well as degranulation and NETs formation by granulocytes (151). The fact that IFN- $\beta$ had no effect on the development of NMO lesion in spinal cord slice culture, when it is treated with NMO-IgG and complement may reflect lack of neutrophil involvement (73). Lack of effect of IFNAR1-deficiency on cuprizone-induced de- and remyelination or glial cell response (152) may also reflect lack of neutrophil involvement.

# Cytokine Regulation of Complement in CNS

The complement system is an essential part of innate immunity and is important for protection against pathogens. The complement system is implicated in the pathogenesis of both MS and NMO (153, 154). Complement is activated by classical, alternative, and lectin pathways. All three pathways lead to activation of C3 convertases, release of C3b opsonin, C5 conversion, and, finally, membrane attack complex (MAC) formation. The activation of the complement pathway yields also C3a and C5a anaphylatoxins, potent inflammatory mediators, which target a broad spectrum of immune and non-immune cells. C3a and C5a are strong leukocyte chemoattractants, including neutrophils and B cells (75, 155). The classical pathway plays a major role in antibody-mediated pathology, and is activated when IgG or IgM antibodies bind to cell surface antigens.

Biosynthesis of complement in the human brain is reported to be generally low or non-detectable under normal health conditions (153). Complement activity presents a potent threat to the body's own cells that are tightly protected by complement regulatory proteins, including decay-accelerating factor (DAF) and CD59. These complement regulatory proteins exist to protect the body's own cells from damage caused by the activation of the complement pathway by blocking the formation of the C3 convertase and the MAC, respectively. DAF prevents the formation of C3 convertase by accelerating dissociation of C4b2a and C3bBb (classical and alternative C3 convertase). The complement regulator CD59 blocks the formation of the MAC by binding to C8, and thereby preventing further assembly of MAC. Therefore, the regulation of the expression of CD59 is a potentially important factor in protecting against MAC-mediated cytopathology (153). It has been shown that NMO–IgG and complement caused more severe longitudinally extensive spinal cord pathology in mice that lacked the complement regulator protein CD59 (156). However, the mechanism responsible for regulation of CD59 remains largely unknown.

Complement binding receptors are expressed on the surface of leukocytes and contribute to their response. The complement receptor 1 (CR1) is expressed on both neutrophils and B cells. It blocks the formation of C3 convertase by preventing its association with C2a. In addition, complement receptor 2 (CR2) participates with the B cell co-receptor complex in B cell activation. Complement receptors 3 and 4 (CR3 and CR4) are expressed on neutrophils and stimulate phagocytosis of bacteria and other particles that have complement components bound to their surface. CR3 is also important for leukocyte adhesion and migration processes (75, 153).

Complement was suggested to play a role in IL-6-induced CNS pathology (123). However, in contrast to IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 had no effect on the induction of complement by astrocytes in cell culture (157). The induction of complement seen in GFAP–IL-6 transgenic mice (123, 158), therefore, might not reflect the action of IL-6 alone, but rather of IL-6 acting in concert with other cytokines, including IL-1 $\beta$ . IL-1 is involved in regulation of complement component C3 in astrocytes (157, 159). Whether and how IL-1 influences complement-mediated astrocyte damage remains to be addressed.

Type I IFN can also influence complement in the CNS. The level of terminal complement complex, C1-inh, C4, and C3bc increased in IFN- $\alpha$ 2a-treated MS patients during the initial part of the treatment (125, 126). It was shown that IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\beta$ , in a dose-dependent manner, stimulated the synthesis of C2, C1-inh, and factor B, but not C3 in human monocytes in vitro (160). It was earlier noted that IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  selectively stimulated the synthesis of factor B and C1 inh, but reduced C3, and had no effect on C2 (161). The results from these studies suggest the involvement of type I IFN in the induction of selective complement components, but how the increased complement level is directly mediated by IFNAR signaling was not determined. In antibody-mediated pathology, such as in NMO, where the complement system is known to play a significant role and there is evidence for the involvement of type I IFN, it is tempting to speculate that the induction of complement by type I IFN is one of the underlying mechanisms that facilitate the formation of NMO lesion.

# Regulatory Role for Microglia in Antibody-Mediated Pathology

Microglia are considered to play a critical role in regulation of inflammatory processes within the CNS. In this regard, IL-6 also exerts a protective function and has anti-inflammatory activities (162, 163). Administration of human rIL-6 dramatically reduced demyelination and inflammation, which was induced by TMEV in the spinal cord of mice (164). A fusion protein of the soluble IL-6 receptor to IL-6 (IL6RIL6) prevented neuronal



and oligodendrocyte degeneration in organotypic hippocampal slices (165). This is in line with *in vivo* results that showed administration of IL6RIL6 to rats after sciatic nerve transection-stimulated remyelination (166) as well as -accelerated regeneration of axotomized peripheral nerve in transgenic mice expressing both IL-6 and IL-6R (167). However, IL-6activated microglia produced NO, resulting in neural injury *in vitro* (168).

# Chemokine and Cytokine Involvement in Leukocyte Recruitment

The cytokine IL-6 is implicated in extravasation of leukocytes into the CNS (168–172). Injection of IL-1 $\beta$  into CNS caused the formation of perivascular lesions with granulocytic infiltration and AQP4 loss distant from the injection site (114), also suggesting a role for IL-1 $\beta$  in leukocyte extravasation. The level of CXCL10, a downstream chemokine of type I IFN signaling (173–175), is elevated in NMO (105, 109). Astrocytes (119) and neutrophils (176) both produce CXCL10. Although CXCL10 is primarily associated with recruitment of T cells, it can also induce neutrophil recruitment (177, 178). One mechanism by which type I IFN signaling exacerbates NMO may involve induction of CXCL10 and thereby recruitment of neutrophils.

### References

- Lucchinetti C, Bruck W, Parisi J, Scheithauer B, Rodriguez M, Lassmann H. Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination. *Ann Neurol* (2000) 47:707–17. doi:10.1002/1531-8249(200006)47:6<707::AID-ANA3>3.0.CO;2-Q
- 2. Lucchinetti CF, Mandler RN, McGavern D, Bruck W, Gleich G, Ransohoff RM, et al. A role for humoral mechanisms in the pathogenesis of

### **Concluding Remarks**

We have here reviewed evidence for a role for antibody-mediated hypersensitivity mechanisms in MS and NMO. It must be emphasized that these mechanisms do not normally occur in isolation from effector T cell-mediated responses, whether CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup>. Also, direct pathology mediated by activated leukocytes may also contribute along with the ADCC mechanisms that we have highlighted. Nevertheless, the studies that we have reviewed demonstrate that antibody and especially IgG are powerful mediators in neuroinflammation and that they must be given equal weight in consideration of design of therapies for MS and NMO (**Figure 2**).

### Funding

Research in the Owens lab on which this review is based is funded primarily by the Danish MS Society, the Region of Southern Denmark, The Lundbeck Foundation, and the Danish Council for Independent Research (Health and Disease).

### Acknowledgments

We thank members of the Owens lab, past and present, for input and inspiration to this review.

Devic's neuromyelitis optica. Brain (2002) 125:1450-61. doi:10.1093/brain/awf151

- Freedman MS, Thompson EJ, Deisenhammer F, Giovannoni G, Grimsley G, Keir G, et al. Recommended standard of cerebrospinal fluid analysis in the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: a consensus statement. *Arch Neurol* (2005) 62:865–70. doi:10.1001/archneur.62.6.865
- 4. Fortini AS, Sanders EL, Weinshenker BG, Katzmann JA. Cerebrospinal fluid oligoclonal bands in the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis. Isoelectric focusing

with IgG immunoblotting compared with high-resolution agarose gel electrophoresis and cerebrospinal fluid IgG index. *Am J Clin Pathol* (2003) **120:**672–5. doi:10.1309/EM7K-CQR4-GLMH-RCX4

- Lolli F, Halawa I, Link H. Intrathecal synthesis of IgG, IgA, IgM and IgD in untreated multiple sclerosis and controls. *Acta Neurol Scand* (1989) 80:238–47. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0404.1989.tb03869.x
- Richard S, Miossec V, Moreau JF, Taupin JL. Detection of oligoclonal immunoglobulins in cerebrospinal fluid by an immunofixation-peroxidase method. *Clin Chem* (2002) 48:167–73.
- Sharief MK, Thompson EJ. Intrathecal immunoglobulin M synthesis in multiple sclerosis. Relationship with clinical and cerebrospinal fluid parameters. *Brain* (1991) 114(Pt 1A):181–95.
- Perini P, Ranzato F, Calabrese M, Battistin L, Gallo P. Intrathecal IgM production at clinical onset correlates with a more severe disease course in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2006) 77:953–5. doi:10.1136/jnnp. 2005.086116
- 9. Disanto G, Morahan JM, Barnett MH, Giovannoni G, Ramagopalan SV. The evidence for a role of B cells in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2012) **78**:823–32. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e318249f6f0
- Keegan M, Konig F, McClelland R, Bruck W, Morales Y, Bitsch A, et al. Relation between humoral pathological changes in multiple sclerosis and response to therapeutic plasma exchange. *Lancet* (2005) 366:579–82. doi:10. 1016/S0140-6736(05)67102-4
- Cross AH, Stark JL, Lauber J, Ramsbottom MJ, Lyons JA. Rituximab reduces B cells and T cells in cerebrospinal fluid of multiple sclerosis patients. J Neuroimmunol (2006) 180:63–70. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.06.029
- 12. Reindl M, Linington C, Brehm U, Egg R, Dilitz E, Deisenhammer F, et al. Antibodies against the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein and the myelin basic protein in multiple sclerosis and other neurological diseases: a comparative study. *Brain* (1999) **122**(Pt 11):2047–56. doi:10.1093/brain/122.11.2047
- Menge T, Lalive PH, Von Budingen HC, Genain CP. Conformational epitopes of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein are targets of potentially pathogenic antibody responses in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroinflammation* (2011) 8:161. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-161
- Srivastava R, Aslam M, Kalluri SR, Schirmer L, Buck D, Tackenberg B, et al. Potassium channel KIR4.1 as an immune target in multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 367:115–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1110740
- Brill L, Goldberg L, Karni A, Petrou P, Abramsky O, Ovadia H, et al. Increased anti-KIR4.1 antibodies in multiple sclerosis: could it be a marker of disease relapse? *Mult Scler* (2015) 21:572–9. doi:10.1177/1352458514551779
- Brickshawana A, Hinson SR, Romero MF, Lucchinetti CF, Guo Y, Buttmann M, et al. Investigation of the KIR4.1 potassium channel as a putative antigen in patients with multiple sclerosis: a comparative study. *Lancet Neurol* (2014) 13:795–806. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70141-3
- Greene DN, Schmidt RL, Wilson AR, Freedman MS, Grenache DG. Cerebrospinal fluid myelin basic protein is frequently ordered but has little value: a test utilization study. *Am J Clin Pathol* (2012) 138:262–72. doi:10.1309/ AJCPCYCH96QYPHJM
- O'Connor KC, McLaughlin KA, De Jager PL, Chitnis T, Bettelli E, Xu C, et al. Self-antigen tetramers discriminate between myelin autoantibodies to native or denatured protein. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:211–7. doi:10.1038/nm1488
- McLaughlin KA, Chitnis T, Newcombe J, Franz B, Kennedy J, McArdel S, et al. Age-dependent B cell autoimmunity to a myelin surface antigen in pediatric multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:4067–76. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0801888
- Sato DK, Callegaro D, Lana-Peixoto MA, Waters PJ, De Haidar Jorge FM, Takahashi T, et al. Distinction between MOG antibody-positive and AQP4 antibody-positive NMO spectrum disorders. *Neurology* (2014) 82:474–81. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000101
- Probstel AK, Sanderson NS, Derfuss T. B cells and autoantibodies in multiple sclerosis. Int J Mol Sci (2015) 16:16576–92. doi:10.3390/ijms160716576
- Probstel AK, Dornmair K, Bittner R, Sperl P, Jenne D, Magalhaes S, et al. Antibodies to MOG are transient in childhood acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. *Neurology* (2011) 77:580–8. doi:10.1212/WNL. 0b013e318228c0b1
- Mader S, Gredler V, Schanda K, Rostasy K, Dujmovic I, Pfaller K, et al. Complement activating antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in neuromyelitis optica and related disorders. *J Neuroinflammation* (2011) 8:184. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-184

- Kitley J, Woodhall M, Waters P, Leite MI, Devenney E, Craig J, et al. Myelin-oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies in adults with a neuromyelitis optica phenotype. *Neurology* (2012) **79**:1273–7. doi:10.1212/WNL. 0b013e31826aac4e
- Rostasy K, Mader S, Hennes EM, Schanda K, Gredler V, Guenther A, et al. Persisting myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies in aquaporin-4 antibody negative pediatric neuromyelitis optica. *Mult Scler* (2013) 19:1052–9. doi:10.1177/1352458512470310
- Kitley J, Waters P, Woodhall M, Leite MI, Murchison A, George J, et al. Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders with aquaporin-4 and myelinoligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies: a comparative study. *JAMA Neurol* (2014) 71:276–83. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.5857
- Nakajima H, Motomura M, Tanaka K, Fujikawa A, Nakata R, Maeda Y, et al. Antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in idiopathic optic neuritis. *BMJ Open* (2015) 5:e007766. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2015-007766
- Quintana FJ, Patel B, Yeste A, Nyirenda M, Kenison J, Rahbari R, et al. Epitope spreading as an early pathogenic event in pediatric multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2014) 83:2219–26. doi:10.1212/WNL.000000000001066
- Rodriguez Cruz PM, Huda S, Lopez-Ruiz P, Vincent A. Use of cell-based assays in myasthenia gravis and other antibody-mediated diseases. *Exp Neurol* (2015) 270:66–71. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2015.01.011
- Elliott C, Lindner M, Arthur A, Brennan K, Jarius S, Hussey J, et al. Functional identification of pathogenic autoantibody responses in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2012) 135:1819–33. doi:10.1093/brain/aws105
- Brennan KM, Galban-Horcajo F, Rinaldi S, O'leary CP, Goodyear CS, Kalna G, et al. Lipid arrays identify myelin-derived lipids and lipid complexes as prominent targets for oligoclonal band antibodies in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2011) 238:87–95. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.08.002
- 32. Villar LM, Sádaba MC, Roldán E, Masjuan J, González-Porqué P, Villarrubia N, et al. Intrathecal synthesis of oligoclonal IgM against myelin lipids predicts an aggressive disease course in MS. J Clin Invest (2005) 115:187–94. doi:10. 1172/JCI200522833
- Gold R, Linington C, Lassmann H. Understanding pathogenesis and therapy of multiple sclerosis via animal models: 70 years of merits and culprits in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis research. *Brain* (2006) 129:1953–71. doi:10.1093/brain/awl075
- Schluesener HJ. T cell line-mediated EAE: prevention and therapy by a monoclonal antibody specific for T lymphoblasts. J Neuroimmunol (1987) 14:339–43. doi:10.1016/0165-5728(87)90020-8
- Linington C, Engelhardt B, Kapocs G, Lassman H. Induction of persistently demyelinated lesions in the rat following the repeated adoptive transfer of encephalitogenic T cells and demyelinating antibody. *J Neuroimmunol* (1992) 40:219–24. doi:10.1016/0165-5728(92)90136-9
- Oliver AR, Lyon GM, Ruddle NH. Rat and human myelin oligodendrocyte glycoproteins induce experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by different mechanisms in C57BL/6 mice. J Immunol (2003) 171:462–8. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.171.9.4934
- Svensson L, Abdul-Majid KB, Bauer J, Lassmann H, Harris RA, Holmdahl R. A comparative analysis of B cell-mediated myelin oligodendrocyte glycoproteinexperimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis pathogenesis in B celldeficient mice reveals an effect on demyelination. *Eur J Immunol* (2002) **32**: 1939–46. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200207)32:7<1939::AID-IMMU1939>3.0. CO;2-S
- Weber MS, Prod'homme T, Patarroyo JC, Molnarfi N, Karnezis T, Lehmann-Horn K, et al. B-cell activation influences T-cell polarization and outcome of anti-CD20 B-cell depletion in central nervous system autoimmunity. *Ann Neurol* (2010) 68:369–83. doi:10.1002/ana.22081
- 39. Litzenburger T, Fassler R, Bauer J, Lassmann H, Linington C, Wekerle H, et al. B lymphocytes producing demyelinating autoantibodies: development and function in gene-targeted transgenic mice. *J Exp Med* (1998) 188:169–80. doi:10.1084/jem.188.1.169
- Lyons JA, Ramsbottom MJ, Cross AH. Critical role of antigen-specific antibody in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis induced by recombinant myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *Eur J Immunol* (2002) **32**:1905–13. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200207)32:7\$<\$1905:AID-IMMU1905\$>\$3.0.CO;2-L
- Marta CB, Oliver AR, Sweet RA, Pfeiffer SE, Ruddle NH. Pathogenic myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies recognize glycosylated epitopes and perturb oligodendrocyte physiology. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) 102:13992–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0504979102

- Kuerten S, Pauly R, Rottlaender A, Rodi M, Gruppe TL, Addicks K, et al. Myelin-reactive antibodies mediate the pathology of MBP-PLP fusion protein MP4-induced EAE. *Clin Immunol* (2011) 140:54–62. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2011. 03.009
- 43. Molnarfi N, Schulze-Topphoff U, Weber MS, Patarroyo JC, Prod'homme T, Varrin-Doyer M, et al. MHC class II-dependent B cell APC function is required for induction of CNS autoimmunity independent of myelin-specific antibodies. J Exp Med (2013) 210:2921–37. doi:10.1084/jem.20130699
- 44. Dang AK, Jain RW, Craig HC, Kerfoot SM. B cell recognition of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein autoantigen depends on immunization with protein rather than short peptide, while B cell invasion of the CNS in autoimmunity does not. *J Neuroimmunol* (2015) 278:73–84. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim. 2014.12.008
- Lennon VA, Wingerchuk DM, Kryzer TJ, Pittock SJ, Lucchinetti CF, Fujihara K, et al. A serum autoantibody marker of neuromyelitis optica: distinction from multiple sclerosis. *Lancet* (2004) 364:2106–12. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17551-X
- 46. Rash JE, Yasumura T, Hudson CS, Agre P, Nielsen S. Direct immunogold labeling of aquaporin-4 in square arrays of astrocyte and ependymocyte plasma membranes in rat brain and spinal cord. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) 95:11981–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.20.11981
- Asgari N, Khorooshi R, Lillevang ST, Owens T. Complement-dependent pathogenicity of brain-specific antibodies in cerebrospinal fluid. J Neuroimmunol (2013) 254:76–82. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2012.09.010
- Asgari N, Skejoe HP, Lennon VA. Evolution of longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis in an aquaporin-4 IgG-positive patient. *Neurology* (2013) 81:95–6. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e318297ef07
- Kim HJ, Paul F, Lana-Peixoto MA, Tenembaum S, Asgari N, Palace J, et al. MRI characteristics of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: an international update. *Neurology* (2015) 84:1165–73. doi:10.1212/WNL. 000000000001367
- Pittock SJ, Lucchinetti CF. Neuromyelitis optica and the evolving spectrum of autoimmune aquaporin-4 channelopathies: a decade later. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2015). doi:10.1111/nyas.12794
- Bradl M, Lassmann H. Experimental models of neuromyelitis optica. Brain Pathol (2014) 24:74–82. doi:10.1111/bpa.12098
- Nishiyama S, Ito T, Misu T, Takahashi T, Kikuchi A, Suzuki N, et al. A case of NMO seropositive for aquaporin-4 antibody more than 10 years before onset. *Neurology* (2009) 72:1960–1. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181a82621
- Ishikawa N, Tajima G, Hyodo S, Takahashi Y, Kobayashi M. Detection of autoantibodies against NMDA-type glutamate receptor in a patient with recurrent optic neuritis and transient cerebral lesions. *Neuropediatrics* (2007) 38:257–60. doi:10.1055/s-2007-1004521
- Kruer MC, Koch TK, Bourdette DN, Chabas D, Waubant E, Mueller S, et al. NMDA receptor encephalitis mimicking seronegative neuromyelitis optica. *Neurology* (2010) 74:1473–5. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181dc1a7f
- Jarius S, Wandinger KP, Borowski K, Stoecker W, Wildemann B. Antibodies to CV2/CRMP5 in neuromyelitis optica-like disease: case report and review of the literature. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg* (2012) 114:331–5. doi:10.1016/j.clineuro. 2011.10.048
- Compston A, Coles A. Multiple sclerosis. *Lancet* (2008) 372:1502–17. doi:10. 1016/S0140-6736(08)61620-7
- Peterson JW, Bo L, Mork S, Chang A, Trapp BD. Transected neurites, apoptotic neurons, and reduced inflammation in cortical multiple sclerosis lesions. *Ann Neurol* (2001) 50:389–400. doi:10.1002/ana.1123
- Brink BP, Veerhuis R, Breij EC, Van Der Valk P, Dijkstra CD, Bo L. The pathology of multiple sclerosis is location-dependent: no significant complement activation is detected in purely cortical lesions. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* (2005) 64:147–55.
- Wegner C, Esiri MM, Chance SA, Palace J, Matthews PM. Neocortical neuronal, synaptic, and glial loss in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2006) 67:960–7. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000237551.26858.39
- Kidd D, Barkhof F, McConnell R, Algra PR, Allen IV, Revesz T. Cortical lesions in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (1999) 122(Pt 1):17–26. doi:10.1093/brain/ 122.1.17
- Frischer JM, Bramow S, Dal-Bianco A, Lucchinetti CF, Rauschka H, Schmidbauer M, et al. The relation between inflammation and neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis brains. *Brain* (2009) 132:1175–89. doi:10.1093/brain/ awp070

- Ozawa K, Suchanek G, Breitschopf H, Bruck W, Budka H, Jellinger K, et al. Patterns of oligodendroglia pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (1994) 117(Pt 6):1311–22. doi:10.1093/brain/117.6.1311
- Qin Y, Duquette P, Zhang Y, Talbot P, Poole R, Antel J. Clonal expansion and somatic hypermutation of V(H) genes of B cells from cerebrospinal fluid in multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest (1998) 102:1045–50. doi:10.1172/JCI3568
- 64. Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Magliozzi R, Stigliano E, Aloisi F. Detection of ectopic B-cell follicles with germinal centers in the meninges of patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain Pathol* (2004) 14:164–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2004.tb00049.x
- 65. Magliozzi R, Howell O, Vora A, Serafini B, Nicholas R, Puopolo M, et al. Meningeal B-cell follicles in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis associate with early onset of disease and severe cortical pathology. *Brain* (2007) 130:1089–104. doi:10.1093/brain/awm038
- 66. Lovato L, Willis SN, Rodig SJ, Caron T, Almendinger SE, Howell OW, et al. Related B cell clones populate the meninges and parenchyma of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2011) 134:534–41. doi:10.1093/brain/awq350
- 67. Cepok S, Jacobsen M, Schock S, Omer B, Jaekel S, Boddeker I, et al. Patterns of cerebrospinal fluid pathology correlate with disease progression in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2001) **124**:2169–76. doi:10.1093/brain/124.11.2169
- Farlow MR, Edwards MK, Kolar OJ, Stevens JC, Yu PL. Magnetic resonance imaging in multiple sclerosis: analysis of correlations to peripheral blood and spinal fluid abnormalities. *Neurology* (1987) 37:1527–30. doi:10.1212/WNL. 37.9.1527
- Saadoun S, Bridges LR, Verkman AS, Papadopoulos MC. Paucity of natural killer and cytotoxic T cells in human neuromyelitis optica lesions. *Neuroreport* (2012) 23:1044–7. doi:10.1097/WNR.0b013e32835ab480
- Saadoun S, Waters P, Macdonald C, Bell BA, Vincent A, Verkman AS, et al. Neutrophil protease inhibition reduces neuromyelitis optica-immunoglobulin G-induced damage in mouse brain. *Ann Neurol* (2012) 71:323–33. doi:10. 1002/ana.22686
- Saadoun S, Waters P, Bell BA, Vincent A, Verkman AS, Papadopoulos MC. Intra-cerebral injection of neuromyelitis optica immunoglobulin G and human complement produces neuromyelitis optica lesions in mice. *Brain* (2010) 133:349–61. doi:10.1093/brain/awp309
- Zhang H, Verkman AS. Eosinophil pathogenicity mechanisms and therapeutics in neuromyelitis optica. J Clin Invest (2013) 123:2306–16. doi:10.1172/ JCI67554
- Zhang H, Bennett JL, Verkman AS. Ex vivo spinal cord slice model of neuromyelitis optica reveals novel immunopathogenic mechanisms. *Ann Neurol* (2011) 70:943–54. doi:10.1002/ana.22551
- Zhang X, Levy D, Kainz V, Noseda R, Jakubowski M, Burstein R. Activation of central trigeminovascular neurons by cortical spreading depression. *Ann Neurol* (2011) 69:855–65. doi:10.1002/ana.22329
- Abbas AK, Lichtman AH, Pillai S. Cellular and Molecular Immunology. 8th ed. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier (2014).
- Vidarsson G, Dekkers G, Rispens T. IgG subclasses and allotypes: from structure to effector functions. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:520. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2014.00520
- de Boer AG, Gaillard PJ. Blood-brain barrier dysfunction and recovery. J Neural Transm (2006) 113:455–62. doi:10.1007/s00702-005-0375-4
- Lassmann H. Review: the architecture of inflammatory demyelinating lesions: implications for studies on pathogenesis. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (2011) 37:698–710. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2990.2011.01189.x
- Grossman RI, Braffman BH, Brorson JR, Goldberg HI, Silberberg DH, Gonzalez-Scarano F. Multiple sclerosis: serial study of gadolinium-enhanced MR imaging. *Radiology* (1988) 169:117–22. doi:10.1148/radiology.169.1. 3420246
- Miller DH, Rudge P, Johnson G, Kendall BE, Macmanus DG, Moseley IF, et al. Serial gadolinium enhanced magnetic resonance imaging in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (1988) 111(Pt 4):927–39. doi:10.1093/brain/111.4.927
- Lassmann H, Bruck W, Lucchinetti CF. The immunopathology of multiple sclerosis: an overview. *Brain Pathol* (2007) 17:210–8. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639. 2007.00064.x
- Baumhefner RW, Tourtellotte WW, Syndulko K, Waluch V, Ellison GW, Meyers LW, et al. Quantitative multiple sclerosis plaque assessment with magnetic resonance imaging. Its correlation with clinical parameters, evoked potentials, and intra-blood-brain barrier IgG synthesis. *Arch Neurol* (1990) 47:19–26. doi:10.1001/archneur.1990.00530010027014

- Link H. Contribution of CSF studies to diagnosis of multiple sclerosis. *Ital J Neurol Sci* (1987) (Suppl 6):57–69.
- Raphael I, Webb J, Stuve O, Haskins W, Forsthuber T. Body fluid biomarkers in multiple sclerosis: how far we have come and how they could affect the clinic now and in the future. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* (2015) 11:69–91. doi:10.1586/1744666X.2015.991315
- Takahashi M, Tsunemi T, Miyayosi T, Mizusawa H. Reversible central neurogenic hyperventilation in an awake patient with multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol* (2007) 254:1763–4. doi:10.1007/s00415-007-0662-0
- Jarius S, Franciotta D, Paul F, Ruprecht K, Bergamaschi R, Rommer PS, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid antibodies to aquaporin-4 in neuromyelitis optica and related disorders: frequency, origin, and diagnostic relevance. J Neuroinflammation (2010) 7:52. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-7-52
- Takano R, Misu T, Takahashi T, Sato S, Fujihara K, Itoyama Y. Astrocytic damage is far more severe than demyelination in NMO: a clinical CSF biomarker study. *Neurology* (2010) 75:208–16. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181e2414b
- Sato DK, Callegaro D, De Haidar Jorge FM, Nakashima I, Nishiyama S, Takahashi T, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid aquaporin-4 antibody levels in neuromyelitis optica attacks. *Ann Neurol* (2014) 76:305–9. doi:10.1002/ana.24208
- Wingerchuk DM, Lennon VA, Lucchinetti CF, Pittock SJ, Weinshenker BG. The spectrum of neuromyelitis optica. *Lancet Neurol* (2007) 6:805–15. doi:10. 1016/S1474-4422(07)70216-8
- Asgari N, Tue Berg C, Thorsen Mørch M, Khorooshi R, Owens T. Cerebrospinal fluid aquaporin-4-immunoglobulin G disrupts blood brain barrier. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol* (2015) 2:857–63. doi:10.1002/acn3.221
- 91. Leppert D, Ford J, Stabler G, Grygar C, Lienert C, Huber S, et al. Matrix metalloproteinase-9 (gelatinase B) is selectively elevated in CSF during relapses and stable phases of multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (1998) **121**(Pt 12):2327–34. doi: 10.1093/brain/121.12.2327
- 92. Agrawal S, Anderson P, Durbeej M, Van Rooijen N, Ivars F, Opdenakker G, et al. Dystroglycan is selectively cleaved at the parenchymal basement membrane at sites of leukocyte extravasation in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Exp Med* (2006) **203**:1007–19. doi:10.1084/jem.20051342
- Cossins JA, Clements JM, Ford J, Miller KM, Pigott R, Vos W, et al. Enhanced expression of MMP-7 and MMP-9 in demyelinating multiple sclerosis lesions. *Acta Neuropathol* (1997) 94:590–8. doi:10.1007/s004010050754
- Hosokawa T, Nakajima H, Doi Y, Sugino M, Kimura F, Hanafusa T, et al. Increased serum matrix metalloproteinase-9 in neuromyelitis optica: implication of disruption of blood-brain barrier. *J Neuroimmunol* (2011) 236:81–6. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.04.009
- Rieckmann P, Altenhofen B, Riegel A, Baudewig J, Felgenhauer K. Soluble adhesion molecules (sVCAM-1 and sICAM-1) in cerebrospinal fluid and serum correlate with MRI activity in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol* (1997) 41:326–33. doi:10.1002/ana.410410307
- Uzawa A, Mori M, Masuda S, Kuwabara S. Markedly elevated soluble intercellular adhesion molecule 1, soluble vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 levels, and blood-brain barrier breakdown in neuromyelitis optica. *Arch Neurol* (2011) 68:913–7. doi:10.1001/archneurol.2011.148
- Cannella B, Cross AH, Raine CS. Upregulation and coexpression of adhesion molecules correlate with relapsing autoimmune demyelination in the central nervous system. J Exp Med (1990) 172:1521–4. doi:10.1084/jem.172. 5.1521
- Shimizu F, Sano Y, Takahashi T, Haruki H, Saito K, Koga M, et al. Sera from neuromyelitis optica patients disrupt the blood-brain barrier. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2012) 83:288–97. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2011-300434
- Zhou J, Kong H, Hua X, Xiao M, Ding J, Hu G. Altered blood-brain barrier integrity in adult aquaporin-4 knockout mice. *Neuroreport* (2008) 19:1–5. doi:10.1097/WNR.0b013e3282f2b4eb
- 100. Zhong X, Wang H, Dai Y, Wu A, Bao J, Xu W, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid levels of CXCL13 are elevated in neuromyelitis optica. *J Neuroimmunol* (2011) 24(0–241):104–8. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.10.001
- 101. Mecocci P, Parnetti L, Romano G, Scarelli A, Chionne F, Cecchetti R, et al. Serum anti-GFAP and anti-S100 autoantibodies in brain aging, Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. J Neuroimmunol (1995) 57:165–70. doi:10. 1016/0165-5728(94)00180-V
- 102. Ramesh G, Maclean AG, Philipp MT. Cytokines and chemokines at the crossroads of neuroinflammation, neurodegeneration, and neuropathic pain. *Mediators Inflamm* (2013) 2013:480739. doi:10.1155/2013/480739

- Larsen PH, Holm TH, Owens T. Toll-like receptors in brain development and homeostasis. Sci STKE (2007) 2007:e47. doi:10.1126/stke.4022007pe47
- Babcock AA, Kuziel WA, Rivest S, Owens T. Chemokine expression by glial cells directs leukocytes to sites of axonal injury in the CNS. *J Neurosci* (2003) 23:7922–30.
- 105. Narikawa K, Misu T, Fujihara K, Nakashima I, Sato S, Itoyama Y. CSF chemokine levels in relapsing neuromyelitis optica and multiple sclerosis. J *Neuroimmunol* (2004) **149**:182–6. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2003.12.010
- 106. Uzawa A, Mori M, Arai K, Sato Y, Hayakawa S, Masuda S, et al. Cytokine and chemokine profiles in neuromyelitis optica: significance of interleukin-6. *Mult Scler* (2010) 16:1443–52. doi:10.1177/1352458510379247
- 107. Feng X, Reder NP, Yanamandala M, Hill A, Franek BS, Niewold TB, et al. Type I interferon signature is high in lupus and neuromyelitis optica but low in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci (2012) 313:48–53. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2011.09.032
- Asgari N, Voss A, Steenstrup T, Kyvik KO, Stenager E, Lillevang ST. Interferon alpha association with neuromyelitis optica. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2013) 2013:713519. doi:10.1155/2013/713519
- 109. Matsushita T, Tateishi T, Isobe N, Yonekawa T, Yamasaki R, Matsuse D, et al. Characteristic cerebrospinal fluid cytokine/chemokine profiles in neuromyelitis optica, relapsing remitting or primary progressive multiple sclerosis. PLoS One (2013) 8:e61835. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0061835
- Uzawa A, Mori M, Kuwabara S. Cytokines and chemokines in neuromyelitis optica: pathogenetic and therapeutic implications. *Brain Pathol* (2014) 24:67–73. doi:10.1111/bpa.12097
- 111. Krumbholz M, Faber H, Steinmeyer F, Hoffmann LA, Kumpfel T, Pellkofer H, et al. Interferon-beta increases BAFF levels in multiple sclerosis: implications for B cell autoimmunity. *Brain* (2008) 131:1455–63. doi:10.1093/brain/awn077
- 112. Vincent FB, Saulep-Easton D, Figgett WA, Fairfax KA, Mackay F. The BAFF/APRIL system: emerging functions beyond B cell biology and autoimmunity. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2013) 24:203–15. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr. 2013.04.003
- 113. Ransohoff RM, Brown MA. Innate immunity in the central nervous system. J Clin Invest (2012) 122:1164–71. doi:10.1172/JCI58644
- 114. Kitic M, Hochmeister S, Wimmer I, Bauer J, Misu T, Mader S, et al. Intrastriatal injection of interleukin-1 beta triggers the formation of neuromyelitis opticalike lesions in NMO-IgG seropositive rats. Acta Neuropathol Commun (2013) 1:5. doi:10.1186/2051-5960-1-5
- 115. Wang Y, Jin S, Sonobe Y, Cheng Y, Horiuchi H, Parajuli B, et al. Interleukinlbeta induces blood-brain barrier disruption by downregulating Sonic hedgehog in astrocytes. *PLoS One* (2014) **9**:e110024. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0110024
- Barnum SR, Jones JL, Benveniste EN. Interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factormediated regulation of C3 gene expression in human astroglioma cells. *Glia* (1993) 7:225–36. doi:10.1002/glia.440070306
- 117. Kim CS, Ko JS, Lee AR, Shin BS, Choi SJ, Lee JJ, et al. Downregulation of constitutive and cytokine-induced complement 3 expression by morphine in rat astrocytes. *Curr Ther Res Clin Exp* (2011) 72:23–35. doi:10.1016/j. curtheres.2011.02.004
- Maranto J, Rappaport J, Datta PK. Role of C/EBP-beta, p38 MAPK, and MKK6 in IL-1beta-mediated C3 gene regulation in astrocytes. *J Cell Biochem* (2011) 112:1168–75. doi:10.1002/jcb.23032
- Farina C, Aloisi F, Meinl E. Astrocytes are active players in cerebral innate immunity. *Trends Immunol* (2007) 28:138–45. doi:10.1016/j.it.2007.01.005
- 120. Fontes JA, Rose NR, Cihakova D. The varying faces of IL-6: from cardiac protection to cardiac failure. *Cytokine* (2015) 74:62–8. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2014. 12.024
- Williams A, Piaton G, Lubetzki C. Astrocytes friends or foes in multiple sclerosis? Glia (2007) 55:1300–12. doi:10.1002/glia.20546
- Probert L. TNF and its receptors in the CNS: the essential, the desirable and the deleterious effects. *Neuroscience* (2015) **302**:2–22. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience. 2015.06.038
- 123. Barnum SR, Jones JL, Muller-Ladner U, Samimi A, Campbell IL. Chronic complement C3 gene expression in the CNS of transgenic mice with astrocytetargeted interleukin-6 expression. *Glia* (1996) 18:107–17. doi:10.1002/(SICI) 1098-1136(199610)18:2<107::AID-GLIA3>3.0.CO;2-Y
- 124. Owens T, Khorooshi R, Wlodarczyk A, Asgari N. Interferons in the central nervous system: a few instruments play many tunes. *Glia* (2014) 62:339–55. doi:10.1002/glia.22608

- 125. Myhr KM, Sadallah S, Mollnes TE, Meri S, Nyland HI, Schifferli J, et al. Interferon-alpha2a effects on complement activation and regulation in MS patients. Acta Neurol Scand (2000) 101:30–5. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0404.2000. 00013.x
- 126. Ulvestad E, Aarseth JH, Vedeler C, Nyland H, Myhr KM. The effects of interferon-alpha2a on concentrations of immunoglobulins, complement and lymphocytes in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Scand J Immunol* (2004) 59:103–8. doi:10.1111/j.0300-9475.2004.01360.x
- 127. Robinson S, Tani M, Strieter RM, Ransohoff RM, Miller RH. The chemokine growth-regulated oncogene-alpha promotes spinal cord oligodendrocyte precursor proliferation. J Neurosci (1998) 18:10457–63.
- 128. Zhang ZJ, Cao DL, Zhang X, Ji RR, Gao YJ. Chemokine contribution to neuropathic pain: respective induction of CXCL1 and CXCR2 in spinal cord astrocytes and neurons. *Pain* (2013) 154:2185–97. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2013.07.002
- 129. Frangogiannis NG, Dewald O, Xia Y, Ren G, Haudek S, Leucker T, et al. Critical role of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1/CC chemokine ligand 2 in the pathogenesis of ischemic cardiomyopathy. *Circulation* (2007) 115:584–92. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.646091
- 130. Phares TW, Stohlman SA, Hinton DR, Bergmann CC. Astrocyte-derived CXCL10 drives accumulation of antibody-secreting cells in the central nervous system during viral encephalomyelitis. *J Virol* (2013) 87:3382–92. doi:10.1128/ JVI.03307-12
- 131. Smith KJ, Lassmann H. The role of nitric oxide in multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol* (2002) 1:232–41. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(02)00102-3
- Esen N, Rainey-Barger EK, Huber AK, Blakely PK, Irani DN. Type-I interferons suppress microglial production of the lymphoid chemokine, CXCL13. *Glia* (2014) 62:1452–62. doi:10.1002/glia.22692
- Haugen M, Frederiksen JL, Degn M. B cell follicle-like structures in multiple sclerosis-with focus on the role of B cell activating factor. J Neuroimmunol (2014) 273:1–7. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2014.05.010
- 134. Mahad DJ, Ransohoff RM. The role of MCP-1 (CCL2) and CCR2 in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Semin Immunol (2003) 15:23–32. doi:10.1016/S1044-5323(02)00125-2
- 135. Robertson MJ. Role of chemokines in the biology of natural killer cells. *J Leukoc Biol* (2002) **71**:173–83.
- 136. Amerio P, Frezzolini A, Feliciani C, Verdolini R, Teofoli P, De Pita O, et al. Eotaxins and CCR3 receptor in inflammatory and allergic skin diseases: therapeutical implications. *Curr Drug Targets Inflamm Allergy* (2003) **2**:81–94. doi:10.2174/1568010033344480
- Hogan SP. Recent advances in eosinophil biology. Int Arch Allergy Immunol (2007) 143(Suppl 1):3–14. doi:10.1159/000101398
- Lampinen M, Waddell A, Ahrens R, Carlson M, Hogan SP. CD14+CD33+ myeloid cell-CCL11-eosinophil signature in ulcerative colitis. *J Leukoc Biol* (2013) 94:1061–70. doi:10.1189/jlb.1212640
- 139. Hauser SL, Doolittle TH, Lincoln R, Brown RH, Dinarello CA. Cytokine accumulations in CSF of multiple sclerosis patients: frequent detection of interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor but not interleukin-6. *Neurology* (1990) 40:1735–9. doi:10.1212/WNL.40.11.1735
- 140. Yanagawa K, Kawachi I, Toyoshima Y, Yokoseki A, Arakawa M, Hasegawa A, et al. Pathologic and immunologic profiles of a limited form of neuromyelitis optica with myelitis. *Neurology* (2009) 73:1628–37. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181c1deb9
- 141. Erta M, Quintana A, Hidalgo J. Interleukin-6, a major cytokine in the central nervous system. Int J Biol Sci (2012) 8:1254–66. doi:10.7150/ijbs.4679
- 142. Maimone D, Guazzi GC, Annunziata P. IL-6 detection in multiple sclerosis brain. J Neurol Sci (1997) 146:59–65. doi:10.1016/S0022-510X(96)00283-3
- 143. Icoz S, Tuzun E, Kurtuncu M, Durmus H, Mutlu M, Eraksoy M, et al. Enhanced IL-6 production in aquaporin-4 antibody positive neuromyelitis optica patients. *Int J Neurosci* (2010) **120**:71–5. doi:10.3109/00207450903428970
- 144. Chihara N, Aranami T, Sato W, Miyazaki Y, Miyake S, Okamoto T, et al. Interleukin 6 signaling promotes anti-aquaporin 4 autoantibody production from plasmablasts in neuromyelitis optica. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108:3701–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1017385108
- 145. Brett FM, Mizisin AP, Powell HC, Campbell IL. Evolution of neuropathologic abnormalities associated with blood-brain barrier breakdown in transgenic mice expressing interleukin-6 in astrocytes. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* (1995) 54:766–75. doi:10.1097/00005072-199505000-00132
- 146. de Vries HE, Blom-Roosemalen MC, Van Oosten M, De Boer AG, Van Berkel TJ, Breimer DD, et al. The influence of cytokines on the integrity of the

blood-brain barrier in vitro. J Neuroimmunol (1996) **64**:37–43. doi:10.1016/ 0165-5728(95)00148-4

- 147. Palace J, Leite MI, Nairne A, Vincent A. Interferon beta treatment in neuromyelitis optica: increase in relapses and aquaporin 4 antibody titers. Arch Neurol (2010) 67:1016–7. doi:10.1001/archneurol.2010.188
- Khorooshi R, Wlodarczyk A, Asgari N, Owens T. Neuromyelitis optica-like pathology is dependent on type I interferon response. *Exp Neurol* (2013) 247:744–7. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2013.02.005
- Vaknin-Dembinsky A, Brill L, Orpaz N, Abramsky O, Karussis D. Preferential increase of B-cell activating factor in the cerebrospinal fluid of neuromyelitis optica in a white population. *Mult Scler* (2010) 16:1453–7. doi:10.1177/ 1352458510380416
- 150. Herges K, De Jong BA, Kolkowitz I, Dunn C, Mandelbaum G, Ko RM, et al. Protective effect of an elastase inhibitor in a neuromyelitis optica-like disease driven by a peptide of myelin oligodendroglial glycoprotein. *Mult Scler* (2012) 18:398–408. doi:10.1177/1352458512440060
- 151. Axtell RC, Raman C, Steinman L. Type I interferons: beneficial in Th1 and detrimental in Th17 autoimmunity. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* (2013) 44:114–20. doi:10.1007/s12016-011-8296-5
- 152. Schmidt H, Raasch J, Merkler D, Klinker F, Krauss S, Bruck W, et al. Type I interferon receptor signalling is induced during demyelination while its function for myelin damage and repair is redundant. *Exp Neurol* (2009) 216:306–11. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2008.12.002
- 153. Ingram G, Hakobyan S, Robertson NP, Morgan BP. Complement in multiple sclerosis: its role in disease and potential as a biomarker. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2009) 155:128–39. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2008.03830.x
- 154. Papadopoulos MC, Bennett JL, Verkman AS. Treatment of neuromyelitis optica: state-of-the-art and emerging therapies. *Nat Rev Neurol* (2014) 10:493–506. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2014.141
- Kohl J. Anaphylatoxins and infectious and non-infectious inflammatory diseases. Mol Immunol (2001) 38:175–87. doi:10.1016/S0161-5890(01)00041-4
- 156. Zhang H, Verkman AS. Longitudinally extensive NMO spinal cord pathology produced by passive transfer of NMO-IgG in mice lacking complement inhibitor CD59. J Autoimmun (2014) 53:67–77. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2014.02.011
- Rus HG, Kim LM, Niculescu FI, Shin ML. Induction of C3 expression in astrocytes is regulated by cytokines and Newcastle disease virus. *J Immunol* (1992) 148:928–33.
- Chiang CS, Stalder A, Samimi A, Campbell IL. Reactive gliosis as a consequence of interleukin-6 expression in the brain: studies in transgenic mice. *Dev Neurosci* (1994) 16:212–21. doi:10.1159/000112109
- Maranto J, Rappaport J, Datta PK. Regulation of complement component C3 in astrocytes by IL-1beta and morphine. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol (2008) 3:43–51. doi:10.1007/s11481-007-9096-9
- 160. Lappin DF, Whaley K. Interferon-induced transcriptional and posttranscriptional modulation of factor H and C4 binding-protein synthesis in human monocytes. *Biochem J* (1990) 271:767–72. doi:10.1042/bj2710767
- Hamilton AO, Jones L, Morrison L, Whaley K. Modulation of monocyte complement synthesis by interferons. *Biochem J* (1987) 242:809–15. doi:10. 1042/bj2420809
- 162. Gadient RA, Otten UH. Interleukin-6 (IL-6) a molecule with both beneficial and destructive potentials. *Prog Neurobiol* (1997) 52:379–90. doi:10.1016/ S0301-0082(97)00021-X
- 163. Ransohoff RM, Howe CL, Rodriguez M. Growth factor treatment of demyelinating disease: at last, a leap into the light. *Trends Immunol* (2002) 23:512–6. doi:10.1016/S1471-4906(02)02321-9
- 164. Rodriguez M, Pavelko KD, McKinney CW, Leibowitz JL. Recombinant human IL-6 suppresses demyelination in a viral model of multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (1994) 153:3811–21.
- 165. Pizzi M, Sarnico I, Boroni F, Benarese M, Dreano M, Garotta G, et al. Prevention of neuron and oligodendrocyte degeneration by interleukin-6 (IL-6) and IL-6 receptor/IL-6 fusion protein in organotypic hippocampal slices. *Mol Cell Neurosci* (2004) 25:301–11. doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2003.10.022
- 166. Haggiag S, Zhang PL, Slutzky G, Shinder V, Kumar A, Chebath J, et al. Stimulation of myelin gene expression in vitro and of sciatic nerve remyelination by interleukin-6 receptor-interleukin-6 chimera. *J Neurosci Res* (2001) 64:564–74. doi:10.1002/jnr.1108
- 167. Hirota H, Kiyama H, Kishimoto T, Taga T. Accelerated nerve regeneration in mice by upregulated expression of interleukin (IL) 6 and IL-6 receptor after trauma. J Exp Med (1996) 183:2627–34. doi:10.1084/jem.183.6.2627

- 168. Kaplin AI, Deshpande DM, Scott E, Krishnan C, Carmen JS, Shats I, et al. IL-6 induces regionally selective spinal cord injury in patients with the neuroinflammatory disorder transverse myelitis. J Clin Invest (2005) 115:2731–41. doi:10.1172/JCI25141
- 169. Campbell IL. Structural and functional impact of the transgenic expression of cytokines in the CNS. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (1998) 840:83–96. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1998.tb09552.x
- Mendel I, Katz A, Kozak N, Ben-Nun A, Revel M. Interleukin-6 functions in autoimmune encephalomyelitis: a study in gene-targeted mice. *Eur J Immunol* (1998) 28:1727–37. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199805)28:05<1727::AID-IMMU1727>3.0.CO;2-\#
- 171. Samoilova EB, Horton JL, Hilliard B, Liu TS, Chen Y. IL-6-deficient mice are resistant to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: roles of IL-6 in the activation and differentiation of autoreactive T cells. *J Immunol* (1998) **161**:6480–6.
- 172. Quintana A, Muller M, Frausto RF, Ramos R, Getts DR, Sanz E, et al. Site-specific production of IL-6 in the central nervous system retargets and enhances the inflammatory response in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:2079–88. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0900242
- 173. Wuest T, Austin BA, Uematsu S, Thapa M, Akira S, Carr DJ. Intact TRL 9 and type I interferon signaling pathways are required to augment HSV-1 induced corneal CXCL9 and CXCL10. J Neuroimmunol (2006) 179:46–52. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.06.020
- 174. Khorooshi R, Owens T. Injury-induced type I IFN signaling regulates inflammatory responses in the central nervous system. J Immunol (2010) 185:1258–64. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901753

- 175. Khorooshi R, Morch MT, Holm TH, Berg CT, Dieu RT, Draeby D, et al. Induction of endogenous type I interferon within the central nervous system plays a protective role in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Acta Neuropathol* (2015) **130**:107–18. doi:10.1007/s00401-015-1418-z
- 176. Gasperini S, Marchi M, Calzetti F, Laudanna C, Vicentini L, Olsen H, et al. Gene expression and production of the monokine induced by IFN-gamma (MIG), IFN-inducible T cell alpha chemoattractant (I-TAC), and IFN-gammainducible protein-10 (IP-10) chemokines by human neutrophils. *J Immunol* (1999) **162**:4928–37.
- 177. Boztug K, Carson MJ, Pham-Mitchell N, Asensio VC, Demartino J, Campbell IL. Leukocyte infiltration, but not neurodegeneration, in the CNS of transgenic mice with astrocyte production of the CXC chemokine ligand 10. *J Immunol* (2002) 169:1505–15. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.169.3.1505
- 178. Shen FH, Wang SW, Yeh TM, Tung YY, Hsu SM, Chen SH. Absence of CXCL10 aggravates herpes stromal keratitis with reduced primary neutrophil influx in mice. J Virol (2013) 87:8502–10. doi:10.1128/JVI.01198-13

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Khorooshi, Asgari, Mørch, Berg and Owens. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# The role of latently infected B cells in CNS autoimmunity

#### Ana Citlali Márquez and Marc Steven Horwitz\*

Department of Microbiology and Immunology, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

The onset of multiple sclerosis (MS) is caused by both genetic and environmental factors. Among the environmental factors, it is believed that previous infection with Epstein–Barr virus (EBV) may contribute in the development of MS. EBV has been associated with other autoimmune diseases, such as systemic lupus erythematous, and cancers like Burkitt's lymphoma. EBV establishes a life-long latency in B cells with occasional reactivation of the virus throughout the individual's life. The role played by B cells in MS pathology has been largely studied, yet is not clearly understood. In MS patients, Rituximab, a novel treatment that targets CD20<sup>+</sup> B cells, has proven to have successful results in diminishing the number of relapses in remitting relapsing MS; however, the mechanism of how this drug acts has not been clearly established. In this review, we analyze the evidence of how B cells latently infected with EBV might be altering the immune system response and helping in the development of MS. We will also discuss how animal models, such as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) and murine gammaherpesvirus-68 ( $\gamma$ HV-68), can be used as powerful tools in the study of the relationship between EBV, MS, and B cells.

Keywords: multiple sclerosis, EBV, B cells, γHV-68, EAE

### INTRODUCTION: MS AND ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS

MS is a neurodegenerative disease that affects the central nervous system (CNS). Largely accepted as an autoimmune disease, the mechanism of how MS develops is still not clear. However, thanks to studies using experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), the animal model for MS, we now know that MS lesions are caused primarily by myelin-specific T cells and macrophages that infiltrate the brain and cause myelin degradation and axonal degeneration (1). The primary T cells that infiltrate the CNS are CD4<sup>+</sup>, Th1, and Th17 cells. These cells initiate acute lesions that are characterized by the breakdown of the blood–brain barrier (BBB), which drives the inflammatory process of MS (2). In addition, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells that recognize myelin proteins can also can be found in the perivascular regions (3). These regions also contain other immune cells, such as dendritic cells (DCs), B cells, microglia, astrocytes, macrophages, and natural killer T cells (NKT) (4).

While the etiology of MS is still unknown, several genetic and environmental factors have been identified as possible elements that increase the risk of developing MS. Among the specific genetic markers related to the development of MS is the presence of genes related to alleles in the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class II region [which is part of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC)], especially genes containing HLA-DRB1\*15.01 (5, 6). While genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified several non-MHC associations with MS in Caucasian populations,

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Nathalie Arbour, Université de Montréal, Canada

### Reviewed by:

Jorge Correale, Institute for Neurological Research Dr. Raul Carrea, Argentina Amanda Katherine Huber, University of Michigan, USA Bert A. 'T Hart, Biomedical Primate Research Centre, Netherlands

#### \*Correspondence:

Marc Steven Horwitz mhorwitz@mail.ubc.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 21 July 2015 Accepted: 09 October 2015 Published: 28 October 2015

#### Citation:

Márquez AC and Horwitz MS (2015) The role of latently infected B cells in CNS autoimmunity. Front. Immunol. 6:544. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00544

57

these appear to have a modest impact in the overall risk of disease, making MHC the main susceptibility locus (6, 7).

In addition to genetic research, studies in migration, discordancy among identical twins, and geographical gradients strongly suggest that environmental factors influence susceptibility to MS. Several environmental factors have been linked to increased risks of developing MS, including vitamin D deficiency (8), cigarette smoking (9), and infection by viruses, such as Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) (10). Among these factors, the relationship between EBV and MS is one that provides the strongest evidence of association. Though studies involving MS patients, together with investigation using EAE and other animal models of MS have yielded high quantities of data, the extent of the contribution of environmental factors in the onset of autoimmunity is still widely unknown. In the following sections, we explore some of the proposed mechanisms for how previous infection with EBV can contribute to MS, discuss the importance of B cells on MS pathology, and finally, propose an animal model that will help to further explore the relationship between EBV, memory B cells, and the pathology of MS.

# EPSTEIN-BARR VIRUS AND MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

Epstein–Barr virus is a  $\gamma$ -herpesvirus that infects both epithelial cells and B cells (11). Infected B cells are activated and differentiate to memory B cells, which then are released to peripheral circulation where they are recognized by T lymphocytes (12). Although the immune system is able to control the EBV infection, the provirus remains latent in the host's B-lymphocytes for the rest of his/her life. During latency, the main reservoir for EBV is long-lived memory B cells that have gone through somatic hypermutation and immunoglobulin class-switch recombination (13). The host cell expresses EBV gene products including six nuclear proteins (EBNA-1/2/3A/3B/3C/LP), three membrane proteins (LMP-1/2A/2B), and EBV-encoded small RNAs (EBER-1 and EBER-2). These products can control the host's cell cycle and prevent apoptosis. The virus reactivates again at intervals during the host's life (14). Primary infection with EBV is transmitted through saliva and, when it occurs during childhood, is asymptomatic (15). In contrast, if the infection occurs during puberty or early adulthood, it can cause infectious mononucleosis (IM), which is characterized by vague malaise followed by fever, sore throat, swollen posterior cervical lymph nodes, and fatigue (14).

Historically, EBV infection has been associated with the development of several autoimmune diseases and cancers. Some of these include Burkitt's lymphoma, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), rheumatoid arthritis (RA), and MS.

A connection between MS and EBV was first suggested when it was recognized that there are similarities in the demographic distribution of MS and IM (10), whereby both IM and MS occur at higher incidences in developed countries. Subsequent studies found that although 90% of the general population has circulating anti-EBV antibodies, these antibodies are found in almost 100% of MS patients (16), and that people with a history of IM have a two to three times higher risk of developing MS (17). Contrastingly, in developing countries, where infection with EBV occurs early in life, individuals show a low incidence of IM and, consequently, the risk of developing MS is much lower (18, 19). This so-called "paradox" reveals that the relationship between MS and EBV is related to the stage in life when the infection with EBV occurs (16), together with the associated development, or not, of IM. The factors that determine the relationship between EBV, IM, and MS, however, have not yet been clearly established.

In support of the epidemiological data, it has been described that MS patients show increased levels of serum or plasma IgG antibodies against the EBNA family in general, and in particular against EBNA 1, EBNA2 (20), EBNA3 (EBNA3A), EBNA4 (EBNA3B), EBNA6 (EBNA3C), LMP1, EBV capsid protein VP26 (21), early antigen complex (20, 22) EBV viral capsid antigen (23), and the EBV lytic protein BRRF2 (24). In addition, patients with MS also have elevated levels of these antibodies in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), including IgG antibodies to EBNA1, viral capsid antigen, EBV early antigen, Epstein–Barr virions and BRRF2 (24). Furthermore, increased antibody titers have been observed in adults more than 10 years before the development of the first MS symptoms (25).

Several hypotheses have been proposed to explain the relationship between EBV and MS. Among these, the most studied are molecular mimicry, bystander damage and mistaken self, and the EBV-infected autoreactive B cell hypothesis.

### **Molecular Mimicry**

This hypothesis postulates that T cells specific for EBV antigens (such as EBNA-1) are structurally related to CNS antigens like myelin basic protein (MBP). In this way, a TCR would be able to recognize more than one peptide and lead to recognition of autoantigens (26, 27). Additionally, it has been shown that anti-EBV antibodies, such as anti-EBNA-1, are cross-reactive for epitopes of neuroglial cells (28) and transaldolase, a protein expressed selectively in oligodendrocytes (29). Although this theory explains the development of autoreactive immune cells, it is not likely to be the sole cause of the onset of the disease, as the development of autoreactive cells and antibodies still requires leakage past the BBB and some targeting or inflammation at site of damage. Further, the presence of latently infected B cells alone does not necessarily influence cross-reactivity. Though the presence of latently infected B cells in the brains of MS patients (30) remains controversial (31, 32), B cells and plasma cells are commonly found in MS lesions, appear in large numbers in chronic MS plaques, and are present in areas of active myelin breakdown (33). Moreover, lymphoid B cell follicle-like structures that feature characteristics similar to germinal centers have been observed in the cerebral meninges of MS patients with secondary progressive MS and are usually associated with cortical neuronal loss and demyelination (34).

### The Bystander Damage Hypothesis

This hypothesis establishes that the activation of CD8<sup>+</sup> or CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells directed against EBV antigens, particularly lytic antigens, can result in bystander damage to the CNS. However, in order for this hypothesis to be possible, it would be necessary for infected B cells to be present in the CNS, which has been rather hard to prove. Serafini et al. showed that meningeal B cell follicles and acute white matter lesions express EBV nuclear transcripts (EBERs) (30); however, further attempts to detect EBV in MS brains have been futile (31, 32, 35). Under the bystander damage hypothesis, MS would not be an autoimmune disease, *although* secondary autoimmune responses could occur as a result of sensitization to CNS antigens released after virus-targeted bystander damage (30). A caveat to this hypothesis would be that overall and relative to other viruses, EBV does not directly damage the cells that it infects, leaves little bystander inflammation and is not likely to induce disease through this type of mechanism preferentially in the CNS.

### Mistaken Self Hypothesis

In this hypothesis, the stress protein  $\alpha$ B-crystallin that is expressed *de novo* in infected lymphoid cells is recognized by T-cells that are activated by microbial antigens, hence the accumulation of the  $\alpha$ B-crystallin self antigen in oligodendrocytes provokes a CD4 T cell response with resultant demyelination (36). To date, little to no data exists to fully support this scenario.

# The EBV-Infected Autoreactive B Cell Hypothesis

Pender has proposed a new theory, where EBV specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells do not effectively eliminate EBV-infected B cells, leading to the accumulation of autoreactive B cells infected with EBV in the CNS (37). If this theory proves true, it is possible that boosting the immune system with CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells specific for EBV epitopes could be a successful treatment for MS patients.

In support of this theory, Pender et al. recently performed a trial where they treated a patient with secondary progressive MS using AdE-1-LMPpoly, a recombinant adenovirus vector that encodes multiple CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell epitopes from the latent EBV proteins EBNA1, LMP1, and LMP2A (38). The patient was treated with EBV specific CD8 T cells expanded with AdE-1-LMPpoly and IL-2. The results showed an improvement in symptoms including reduction in fatigue and pain. More studies are needed in order to determine if this regimen could be effective in treating secondary progressive MS. In addition, more research is needed to investigate the treatment's mechanism of action, which is believed to occur through the elimination of EBV-infected B cells in the CNS (39). Nonetheless, since this treatment depletes B cells in general, it may block a number of putative autoimmune mechanisms and does not specifically demonstrate Pender's hypothesis.

In summary, these four hypotheses explain some of the potential scenarios that contribute to the development of autoimmunity by EBV. However, each of them fails to explain key characteristics of MS pathogenesis. Since sample collection from MS patients is limited, the development of animal models to help understand and explain these hypotheses is imperative and will eventually help us to understand the role of latently infected B cells in this relationship.

As an alternative to these hypotheses, we propose that EBV infection and latency establishes a precondition to the immune response where subsequent challenges show acceleration and/or enhanced Th1 outcomes that eventually will lead to the onset of MS (**Figure 1**). In this scenario, the latently infected B cell is not an initiator but instead acts as a necessary co-factor in disease progression.

# THE IMPORTANCE OF B CELLS IN MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

B cells found in the CNS and CSF of MS patients are clonally expanded and have gone through IgG class-switch and somatic hypermutation (40–42). In MS patients, more than 90% of B cells in the CSF express the memory B cell marker CD27 and a fraction of CSF B cells express CD138 and/or CD38, suggesting stimulation of the maturation of clonal activated memory B cells into antibody producing plasma blast. On the other hand, naïve B cells expressing CD27 IgD<sup>+</sup> naive B cells are significantly lower in the CSF compared to blood (43, 44). The memory B cells that can be found in the CSF have an upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules, which suggests an active B and T cell interaction (45).

Until recently, it was believed that the only role B cells played in MS pathogenesis was the production of autoantibodies; however, with the realization that B cell depleting drugs, such as Rituximab, ocrelizumab, and ofatumumab, had an important effect in diminishing relapses in patients with relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS), it has became more evident that B cells may be acting as antigenpresenting cells (APCs) during MS. In fact, patients treated with B cell depleted therapy show a rapid response to the treatment, and since these antibodies do not affect plasma cells, it is now believed that autoantibodies are not as important in the pathogenesis of MS as B cells functioning as APCs or immunomodulators (46-49). In their role as APCs, it has been suggested that B cells and DCs interact via cytokine-dependent feedback loops to shape the T cell response to viral infections. When B cells are stimulated with cytokines, TLR ligands, or antibodies, these cells release diverse cytokines including IL-10, TGFβ, IL-6, or IL-17, which have a suggested modulatory effect in DCs (50-52). One of these effects is the suppression of Ag presentation by IL-10. It has also been seen that high levels of TGF $\beta$  are produced by B cells stimulated with LPS, which regulates Th1 response in NOD mice, induces the apoptosis of T cells, and impairs the ability of APCs to present auto-Ags. In addition, IL-6 promotes the differentiation of B cells into Ab secreting plasma cells in mice and humans, and IL-17 has been seen to control DC maturation in mice infected with Trypanosoma cruzi (53). Alternatively, IL-12 production on DCs inhibits T cell derived IFNy, as well as the production of pro inflammatory cytokines through its actions on DCs (54).

In autoimmunity, the APC role of B cells has been primarily studied in EAE, which has long been accepted as the best *in vivo* model of MS. In active EAE, mice are immunized with myelin peptides, most often derived from either MBP or myelin oligo-dendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) that are emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA, which is composed of mineral oil and desiccated *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*) (55). In addition, two injections of pertussis toxin (PTX) might be needed, depending on the strain of mouse used. EAE leads to an ascending paralysis in 10–12 days after induction and is characterized by a CD4-mediated autoimmune reaction. SJL mice injected with PLP generally develop a relapsing-remitting disease course. In C57Bl/6 mice, EAE induction with MOG results in a chronic progressive disease (55). Alternatively, passive EAE can be induced if MOG-specific T cells are transferred to naïve mice.



It has been observed that B cell antigen presentation plays a critical role in the initiation of EAE (56, 57). Mice with a BCR specific for MOG but that cannot secrete antibodies are susceptible to EAE, while mice deficient in MHC II on B cells are resistant to EAE (58). This is further confirmed in patients since it has been described that contrary to other autoimmune diseases, such as RA, central tolerance of B cells is not affected in MS. Instead, only peripheral tolerance seems to be defective in MS, which can be the result of defective Treg function (59, 60). Patients with RRMS show memory B cells in peripheral blood, which are able to respond to MBP. Finally, it has been described in patients with MS that a pool of IgG-expressing B cells is capable of bidirectional exchange through the BBB (7).

One of the important characteristics of B cells in MS patients is cytokine production. In EAE mice, B cell depletion seems to deplete B cells that are producing IL-6, which helps to ameliorate symptoms of the disease. In MS patients, B cells produce higher levels of IL-6 compared to healthy controls. After depletion of B cells with anti-CD20, and after B cell reconstitution, the new cells do not seem to produce the same level of IL-6 than before depletion, which might help to understand the ameliorating effect in patients. All of this is accompanied by reduced levels of IL-17 secreted by peripheral T cells (61). In contrast, B cells that show a regulatory phenotype, commonly referred as Bregs or B10 cells, due to their ability to secrete IL-10, a cytokine known to be immunoregulatory, are able to modulate the autoimmune response in EAE (62). In RRMS, it has been shown that during relapses, patients have reduced levels of Bregs as well as memory B cells in peripheral blood compared to healthy donors (63, 64).

### ANIMAL MODELS TO STUDY MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS AND EPSTEIN-BARR VIRUS INFECTION

While numerous lines of evidence point toward a relationship between MS and EBV, the study of this interaction is limited since EBV only infects humans and, while most patients become infected with the virus during childhood or adolescents, the onset of MS does not occur until years later.

Despite these limitations, a current murine virus can be used to study  $\gamma$ -herpesviruses. Murine  $\gamma$ -herpesvirus 68 ( $\gamma$ HV-68), is a  $\gamma$ -herpesvirus that has provided a widely used model to study human  $\gamma$ -herpesviruses, in particular EBV and Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV) (65).  $\gamma$ HV-68 shares most of its genomes with these two viruses, and, importantly, genes that are associated with EBV cell tropism – latency and transformation – are present in  $\gamma$ HV-68 (66).

Mice are inoculated with  $\gamma$ HV-68 usually via intraperitoneal or intranasal methods. Despite of the route of infection, the virus main reservoir will be the spleen and it will be cleared 14–16 days post infection, at that point, it will establish a life-long latency in primarily isotype-switched B cells CD19<sup>+</sup> IgD<sup>-</sup>, which are considered as memory B cells (67). During early stages of latency, the virus also establishes itself in macrophages and splenic DCs, although to a much lesser extent. In these other APCs,  $\gamma$ HV-68 latency decreases considerably with time (68, 69).

In  $\gamma$ HV-68 infection, the virus is able to modify the expression of different genes in the cells that harbor the latent virus. Many of these genes are inflammatory cytokines, such as IFN $\gamma$ , IL-18 receptor, SOCS3, and a wide array of known stimulated IFN $\alpha\beta$ genes (50–52). But also, once the virus has established latency in B cells, it continues expressing latency genes that are able to regulate the expression of genes in B cells. In the same way, B cells will express other genes in order to control  $\gamma$ HV-68 reactivation. All of this will bring different outcomes that will differentiate latently infected B cells from uninfected B cells.

Among the viral genes expressed during latency, we can find M2, a protein that can suppress STAT1/2 expression and that as a consequence, leads to the inhibition of the interferon response (70), as well as being able to induce the expression of IL-10 in primary B cells. Despite M2 being unique for yHV-68, EBV also is able to modulate the immune response by producing its own viral IL-10 (vIL-10) (71). In addition, M1 a secreted protein with a superantigen-like activity might play an important role in maintaining latency (72). Additionally, EBV encodes for 25 premiRNAs that may play a role in immune response whose target transcripts are immune recognition, apoptosis, and cell cycle pathways. yHV68 can generate 15 mature miRNAs; however, their function is less understood than in EBV (73, 74). However, it is known that micro RNAs are not necessary for acute replication, but that they are important in the establishment of latency in germinal center and memory B cells (75).

Infection of  $\gamma$ HV-68 is able to increase Heparin sulfate (HS) in the surface of B cells. HS is a co-factor for cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors, and its upregulation is dependent on the expression of type I IFNs that increase responsiveness to APRIL, a cytokine important for B cell survival and T cell-independent B cell responses (76). It is well known that IFN  $\alpha/\beta$  are important to direct yHV-68 into latency, and that they are also important in maintaining latency (77). Moreover, Latency Membrane Protein (LMP-1) is a virus protein that has been shown to control EBV's latent life cycle. LMP-1 is upregulated in the presence of Type I IFN, in particular IFN  $\alpha$  (78), and this unique feedback maintains the latent life cycle and as well as promotes host IFN production (79). Intriguingly, it is important to remark that IFN  $\alpha$  and IFN  $\beta$ present functional differences (80) that are in a unique balance with each other. While not completely understood, Type I IFNs have been largely used in the clinic with different purposes, while IFN  $\alpha$  is used to treat chronic hepatitis C infection, IFN  $\beta$  has been effective for the treatment of MS. Addition of either IFN  $\alpha$  or IFN  $\beta$  generally resolves in diminishment of the other. Based on the effectiveness of Betaferon in the clinic and its putative role in upsetting the balance between LMP-1 and IFN  $\alpha$ , a better understanding of the roles and functions of IFN  $\alpha$  and IFN  $\beta$  should be explored in the context of EBV infection and MS. In particular, it would be interesting to explore whether IFN  $\alpha/\beta$  produced by infected B cells for the maintenance of latency are able to promote APC maturation.

There is even stronger evidence that  $\gamma$ HV-68 a successful model to help understand the relationship between EBV and MS. Peacock et al. describe that EAE induced mice infected with  $\gamma$ HV-68 show exacerbated symptoms of EAE compared to non-infected mice (81). Moreover, similar to what is observed in MS patients, it has been described that  $\gamma$ HV-68 is capable of inducing the expression of  $\alpha$ B crystallin in mice infected with the virus. These mice develop a strong immune response against heat shock protein (82). These experiments, however, do not address the changes in the pathology of EAE or MS.

Combining EAE and yHV-68 models, our research has focused on determining the relationship between EBV infection and the onset of MS. Recently, we demonstrated that mice that were latently infected with  $\gamma$ HV-68 before the induction of EAE showed increased ascending paralysis, as well as augmented neurological symptoms and brain inflammation. This was the result of a stronger Th1 response in infected mice, characterized by higher levels of IFNy and diminished IL-17 levels. CD8 infiltration into the CNS was also noted in these latently infected mice. This is remarkable, given that EAE pathology generally lacks the presence of CD8 T cell infiltration and has a predominant Th17 response. Conversely in MS, CD8 T cells infiltration and a combined Th1/ Th17 response are hallmarks of disease pathology. Another important aspect is the upregulation of the co-stimulatory molecule CD40 on APCs during EAE induction in latently infected mice (83). Recently, we showed that the enhanced disease observed in yHV-68 latently infected mice depends on maintaining the latent life cycle of the virus, and this is strongly associated with pSTAT1 and CD40 upregulation on uninfected CD11b+CD11c+ cells. This CD40 upregulation leads to a decrease in the frequency of regulatory T cell (84). CD40 signaling is important in the activation and suppression of Tregs and that its upregulation is associated with an enhanced Th1 response and fewer Tregs. Further, it has been associated with the development of autoimmunity (85, 86). Moreover, the decrease in peripheral Treg frequencies observed in latent  $\gamma$ HV-68 infection is also well described in MS patients (87, 88). It is highly likely that the mechanisms in place that maintain latency also modulate a pro-Th1 response and reduce Treg control. This results in prevention of virus reactivation and may not always be in the best interest of the virus. IFN  $\alpha/\beta$  are required for the maintenance of latency and are likely candidates for the Th1 modulation. Further research is needed to determine if factors, such as IFN  $\alpha/\beta$ , are involved in the enhancement of EAE symptoms, and in particular, to understand potential differences between uninfected and latently infected B cells.

Finally, studies performed on non-human primates would be an important tool in the study of EBV and MS. In marmosets, for example, EAE is effectively inhibited when marmosets are treated with anti-CD20; however, treatment with anti-BlyS or anti-APRIL, which mainly depletes peripheral B cells, but not CD40<sup>high</sup> B cells, only delays the onset of EAE (89, 90). It has been proposed that the difference in the effectiveness of the treatments resides in the fact that cells infected with CalHV3 are among the B cells depleted by anti-CD20; CalHV3 is the marmoset equivalent of human EBV, and is a B-cell transforming lymphocryptovirus (91). Moreover, it has been described that a small percentage of Japanese macaques which are naturally infected with a gamma 2-herpesvirus, named JM radhinovirus, isolated from CNS lesions, spontaneously develop an encephalomyelitis that is similar to MS (92). In addition, since EBV has not just been associated with MS but with other autoimmune diseases like lupus and inflammatory bowel disease, it is possible that the mechanism of action is similar in these diseases, making  $\gamma$ HV-68 even more important in the study of the development of autoimmunity.

It is our contention that EBV acts a co-factor that sets up a precondition in which any subsequent environmental stress runs the risk of an overly responsive, under regulated Th1 response. Specificity toward the CNS, myelin sheath, and oligodendrocyte is dictated by the secondary stress event and not EBV latency. While EAE is an acceptable model that mimics many of the characteristics of MS, it does not represent how MS is induced; given that not every person infected with EBV develops MS, genetic predispositions, as well as other environmental factors must be involved in the expression of the disease. With that in mind, other environmental events and stresses that target the myelin sheath or oligodendrocytes, such as a secondary virus infection or toxin, likely act to initiate the disease in the presence of latently infected B cells. For example, agents like cuprizone, a copper-chelating agent, that is known to cause demyelination in the CNS through oligodendrocyte apoptosis (93, 94), may well be active MS inducers.

### REFERENCES

- Sospedra M, Martin R. Immunology of multiple sclerosis. Annu Rev Immunol (2005) 23:683–747. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115707
- McFarland HF, Martin R. Multiple sclerosis: a complicated picture of autoimmunity. Nat Immunol (2007) 8:913–9. doi:10.1038/ni1507
- Crawford MP, Yan SX, Ortega SB, Mehta RS, Hewitt RE, Price DA, et al. High prevalence of autoreactive, neuroantigen-specific CD8+ T cells in multiple sclerosis revealed by novel flow cytometric assay. *Blood* (2004) 103:4222–31. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-11-4025
- Steinman L. Immunology of relapse and remission in multiple sclerosis. Ann Rev Immunol (2014) 32:257–81. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120227
- Giovannoni G, Ebers G. Multiple sclerosis: the environment and causation. Curr Opin Neurol (2007) 20:261–8. doi:10.1097/WCO.0b013e32815610c2
- Gourraud PA, Harbo HF, Hauser SL, Baranzini SE. The genetics of multiple sclerosis: an up-to-date review. *Immunol Rev* (2012) 248:87–103. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01134.x
- von Budingen HC, Kuo TC, Sirota M, Van Belle CJ, Apeltsin L, Glanville J, et al. B cell exchange across the blood-brain barrier in multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Invest* (2012) **122**:4533–43. doi:10.1172/jci63842
- Munger KL, Zhang SM, O'Reilly E, Hernan MA, Olek MJ, Willett WC, et al. Vitamin D intake and incidence of multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2004) 62:60–5. doi:10.1212/01.WNL.0000101723.79681.38
- Hernan MA, Olek MJ, Ascherio A. Cigarette smoking and incidence of multiple sclerosis. Am J Epidemiol (2001) 154:69–74. doi:10.1093/ aje/154.1.69
- Warner HB, Carp RI. Multiple sclerosis and Epstein-Barr virus. *Lancet* (1981) 2:1290. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(81)91527-0
- Hutt-Fletcher LM. Epstein-Barr virus entry. J Virol (2007) 81:7825–32. doi:10.1128/jvi.00445-07
- Hadinoto V, Shapiro M, Greenough TC, Sullivan JL, Luzuriaga K, Thorley-Lawson DA. On the dynamics of acute EBV infection and the pathogenesis of infectious. *Blood* (2008) 111:1420–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-06-093278

By studying these models in the context of latently infected B cells, we will be able to better investigate the role of latent virus infection in the initiation and progression of MS.

### CONCLUSION

Determining the mechanism that describes how environmental factors, such as EBV and IM, are related to the onset and development of MS is vital to understanding how MS pathogenesis is developed. The efficacy of treatments, such as Rituximab and Betaferon that indirectly act to inhibit EBV latency in B cells by depleting B cells or upsetting the IFN balance, serves to demonstrate the important role that EBV latent infection plays in MS progression. It is also important to remember that neither B cell depletion nor IFN I addition are successful therapies for EAE and were instead chosen because of their efficacy in other autoimmune diseases. With the aid of new animal models that consider the role of latent infection, it is expected that these complicated causal mechanisms can be more easily studied and new and more effective treatments for MS patients will more closely at hand.

### FUNDING

This work was funded by both the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada (MSSC) and the National Multiple Sclerosis Society (NMSS, US). AM is supported by a scholarship from the MSSC.

- Souza TA, Stollar BD, Sullivan JL, Luzuriaga K, Thorley-Lawson DA. Peripheral B cells latently infected with Epstein-Barr virus display molecular hallmarks of classical antigen-selected memory B cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A (2005) 102:18093–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0509311102
- Odumade OA, Hogquist KA, Balfour HH Jr. Progress and problems in understanding and managing primary Epstein-Barr virus infections. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (2011) 24(1):193–209. doi:10.1128/CMR.00044-10
- Ascherio A, Munger KL. Epstein-Barr virus infection and multiple sclerosis: a review. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol (2010) 5:271–7. doi:10.1007/ s11481-010-9201-3
- Ascherio A, Munger KL, Lunemann JD. The initiation and prevention of multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Neurol (2012) 8(11):602-12. doi:10.1038/ nrneurol.2012.198
- Thacker EL, Mirzaei F, Ascherio A. Infectious mononucleosis and risk for multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. *Ann Neurol* (2006) 59:499–503. doi:10.1002/ ana.20820
- Nielsen TR, Rostgaard K, Nielsen NM, Koch-Henriksen N, Haahr S, Sorensen PS, et al. Multiple sclerosis after infectious mononucleosis. *Arch Neurol* (2007) 64:72–5. doi:10.1001/archneur.64.1.72
- Ramagopalan SV, Valdar W, Dyment DA, Deluca GC, Yee IM, Giovannoni G, et al. Association of infectious mononucleosis with multiple sclerosis. A population-based study. *Neuroepidemiology* (2009) **32**:257–62. doi:10.1159/000201564
- Ascherio A, Munger KL, Lennette ET, Spiegelman D, Hernan MA, Olek MJ, et al. Epstein-Barr virus antibodies and risk of multiple sclerosis: a prospective study. *JAMA* (2001) 286:3083–8. doi:10.1001/jama.286.24.3083
- Ruprecht K, Wunderlich B, Giess R, Meyer P, Loebel M, Lenz K, et al. Multiple sclerosis: the elevated antibody response to Epstein-Barr virus primarily targets, but is not confined to, the glycine-alanine repeat of Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen-1. *J Neuroimmunol* (2014) 272:56–61. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2014.04.005
- Lindsey JW, Hatfield LM, Vu T. Epstein-Barr virus neutralizing and early antigen antibodies in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Neurol* (2010) 17:1263–9. doi:10.1111/j.1468-1331.2010.03005.x

- Larsen PD, Bloomer LC, Bray PF. Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen and viral capsid antigen antibody titers in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (1985) 35:435–8. doi:10.1212/WNL.35.3.435
- Cepok S, Zhou D, Srivastava R, Nessler S, Stei S, Bussow K, et al. Identification of Epstein-Barr virus proteins as putative targets of the immune response in multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest (2005) 115:1352–60. doi:10.1172/jci23661
- DeLorenze GN, Munger KL, Lennette ET, Orentreich N, Vogelman JH, Ascherio A. Epstein-Barr virus and multiple sclerosis: evidence of association from a prospective study with long-term follow-up. *Arch Neurol* (2006) 63:839–44. doi:10.1001/archneur.63.6.noc50328
- Wucherpfennig KW, Strominger JL. Molecular mimicry in T cell-mediated autoimmunity: viral peptides activate human T cell clones specific for myelin basic protein. *Cell* (1995) 80:695–705. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90348-8
- Lang HL, Jacobsen H, Ikemizu S, Andersson C, Harlos K, Madsen L, et al. A functional and structural basis for TCR cross-reactivity in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3:940–3. doi:10.1038/ni835
- Vaughan JH, Riise T, Rhodes GH, Nguyen MD, Barrett-Connor E, Nyland H. An Epstein Barr virus-related cross reactive autoimmune response in multiple sclerosis in Norway. *J Neuroimmunol* (1996) 69:95–102. doi:10.1016/0165-5728(96)00069-0
- Esposito M, Venkatesh V, Otvos L, Weng Z, Vajda S, Banki K, et al. Human transaldolase and cross-reactive viral epitopes identified by autoantibodies of multiple sclerosis patients. *J Immunol* (1999) 163:4027–32.
- Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Franciotta D, Magliozzi R, Reynolds R, Cinque P, et al. Dysregulated Epstein-Barr virus infection in the multiple sclerosis brain. *J Exp* Med (2007) 204:2899–912. doi:10.1084/jem.20071030
- Willis SN, Stadelmann C, Rodig SJ, Caron T, Gattenloehner S, Mallozzi SS, et al. Epstein-Barr virus infection is not a characteristic feature of multiple sclerosis brain. *Brain* (2009) 132:3318–28. doi:10.1093/brain/awp200
- Sargsyan SA, Shearer AJ, Ritchie AM, Burgoon MP, Anderson S, Hemmer B, et al. Absence of Epstein-Barr virus in the brain and CSF of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2010) 74:1127–35. doi:10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3181d865a1
- Prineas JW, Wright RG. Macrophages, lymphocytes, and plasma cells in the perivascular compartment in chronic multiple sclerosis. *Lab Invest* (1978) 38:409–21.
- Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Magliozzi R, Stigliano E, Aloisi F. Detection of ectopic B-cell follicles with germinal centers in the meninges of patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain Pathol* (2004) 14:164–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2004.tb00049.x
- Peferoen LA, Lamers F, Lodder LN, Gerritsen WH, Huitinga I, Melief J, et al. Epstein Barr virus is not a characteristic feature in the central nervous system in established multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2010) 133(Pt 5):e137. doi:10.1093/ brain/awp296
- van Noort JM, Bajramovic JJ, Plomp AC, Van Stipdonk MJ. Mistaken self, a novel model that links microbial infections with myelin-directed autoimmunity in multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol (2000) 105:46–57. doi:10.1016/ S0165-5728(00)00181-8
- Pender MP. Infection of autoreactive B lymphocytes with EBV, causing chronic autoimmune diseases. *Trends Immunol* (2003) 24:584–8. doi:10.1016/j. it.2003.09.005
- Smith C, Tsang J, Beagley L, Chua D, Lee V, Li V, et al. Effective treatment of metastatic forms of Epstein-Barr virus-associated nasopharyngeal carcinoma with a novel adenovirus-based adoptive immunotherapy. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:1116–25. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-11-3399
- Pender MP, Csurhes PA, Smith C, Beagley L, Hooper KD, Raj M, et al. Epstein-Barr virus-specific adoptive immunotherapy for progressive multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* (2014) 20:1541–4. doi:10.1177/1352458514521888
- Baranzini SE, Jeong MC, Butunoi C, Murray RS, Bernard CC, Oksenberg JR. B cell repertoire diversity and clonal expansion in multiple sclerosis brain lesions. *J Immunol* (1999) 163:5133–44.
- Qin Y, Duquette P, Zhang Y, Talbot P, Poole R, Antel J. Clonal expansion and somatic hypermutation of V(H) genes of B cells from cerebrospinal fluid in multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest (1998) 102:1045–50. doi:10.1172/jci3568
- 42. Owens GP, Ritchie AM, Burgoon MP, Williamson RA, Corboy JR, Gilden DH. Single-cell repertoire analysis demonstrates that clonal expansion is a prominent feature of the B cell response in multiple sclerosis cerebrospinal fluid. *J Immunol* (2003) **171**:2725–33. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.5.2725

- Cepok S, Rosche B, Grummel V, Vogel F, Zhou D, Sayn J, et al. Short-lived plasma blasts are the main B cell effector subset during the course of multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2005) 128:1667–76. doi:10.1093/brain/awh486
- Haas J, Bekeredjian-Ding I, Milkova M, Balint B, Schwarz A, Korporal M, et al. B cells undergo unique compartmentalized redistribution in multiple sclerosis. J Autoimmun (2011) 37:289–99. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2011.08.003
- 45. Corcione A, Casazza S, Ferretti E, Giunti D, Zappia E, Pistorio A, et al. Recapitulation of B cell differentiation in the central nervous system of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101:11064–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0402455101
- Bar-Or A, Calabresi PA, Arnold D, Markowitz C, Shafer S, Kasper LH, et al. Rituximab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a 72-week, open-label, phase I trial. *Ann Neurol* (2008) 63:395–400. doi:10.1002/ana.21363
- Hauser SL, Waubant E, Arnold DL, Vollmer T, Antel J, Fox RJ, et al. B-cell depletion with rituximab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2008) 358:676–88. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0706383
- Kappos L, Li D, Calabresi PA, O'Connor P, Bar-Or A, Barkhof F, et al. Ocrelizumab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a phase 2, randomised, placebo-controlled, multicentre trial. *Lancet* (2011) 378:1779–87. doi:10.1016/ s0140-6736(11)61649-8
- Sorensen PS, Lisby S, Grove R, Derosier F, Shackelford S, Havrdova E, et al. Safety and efficacy of ofatumumab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a phase 2 study. *Neurology* (2014) 82:573–81. doi:10.1212/wnl.00000000000125
- Muraguchi A, Hirano T, Tang B, Matsuda T, Horii Y, Nakajima K, et al. The essential role of B cell stimulatory factor 2 (BSF-2/IL-6) for the terminal differentiation of B cells. J Exp Med (1988) 167:332–44. doi:10.1084/jem.167.2.332
- Fillatreau S, Sweenie CH, Mcgeachy MJ, Gray D, Anderton SM. B cells regulate autoimmunity by provision of IL-10. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3:944–50. doi:10.1038/ni833
- Zietara N, Lyszkiewicz M, Krueger A, Weiss S. B-cell modulation of dendritic-cell function: signals from the far side. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44:23–32. doi:10.1002/eji.201344007
- Bermejo DA, Jackson SW, Gorosito-Serran M, Acosta-Rodriguez EV, Amezcua-Vesely MC, Sather BD, et al. *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase initiates a program independent of the transcription factors RORgammat and Ahr that leads to IL-17 production by activated B cells. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:514–22. doi:10.1038/ni.2569
- Decker T, Stockinger S, Karaghiosoff M, Muller M, Kovarik P. IFNs and STATs in innate immunity to microorganisms. J Clin Invest (2002) 109:1271–7. doi:10.1172/jci15770
- Kurschus FC, Wortge S, Waisman A. Modeling a complex disease: multiple sclerosis. Adv Immunol (2011) 110:111–37. doi:10.1016/ B978-0-12-387663-8.00001-6
- Lyons JA, San M, Happ MP, Cross AH. B cells are critical to induction of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis by protein but not by a short encephalitogenic peptide. *Eur J Immunol* (1999) 29:3432–9. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1521-4141(199911)29:11<3432::AID-IMMU3432>3.0.CO;2-2
- Weber MS, Prod'homme T, Patarroyo JC, Molnarfi N, Karnezis T, Lehmann-Horn K, et al. B-cell activation influences T-cell polarization and outcome of anti-CD20 B-cell depletion in central nervous system autoimmunity. *Ann Neurol* (2010) 68:369–83. doi:10.1002/ana.22081
- Molnarfi N, Schulze-Topphoff U, Weber MS, Patarroyo JC, Prod'homme T, Varrin-Doyer M, et al. MHC class II-dependent B cell APC function is required for induction of CNS autoimmunity independent of myelin-specific antibodies. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(13):2921–37. doi:10.1084/jem.20130699
- Samuels J, Ng YS, Coupillaud C, Paget D, Meffre E. Impaired early B cell tolerance in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *J Exp Med* (2005) 201:1659–67. doi:10.1084/jem.20042321
- Kinnunen T, Chamberlain N, Morbach H, Cantaert T, Lynch M, Preston-Hurlburt P, et al. Specific peripheral B cell tolerance defects in patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Invest* (2013) 123:2737–41. doi:10.1172/jci68775
- Barr TA, Shen P, Brown S, Lampropoulou V, Roch T, Lawrie S, et al. B cell depletion therapy ameliorates autoimmune disease through ablation of IL-6producing B cells. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209:1001–10. doi:10.1084/jem.20111675
- Yoshizaki A, Miyagaki T, Dilillo DJ, Matsushita T, Horikawa M, Kountikov EI, et al. Regulatory B cells control T-cell autoimmunity through IL-21dependent cognate interactions. *Nature* (2012) **491**:264–8. doi:10.1038/ nature11501

- Duddy M, Niino M, Adatia F, Hebert S, Freedman M, Atkins H, et al. Distinct effector cytokine profiles of memory and naive human B cell subsets and implication in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:6092–9. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.178.10.6092
- 64. Knippenberg S, Peelen E, Smolders J, Thewissen M, Menheere P, Cohen Tervaert JW, et al. Reduction in IL-10 producing B cells (Breg) in multiple sclerosis is accompanied by a reduced naive/memory Breg ratio during a relapse but not in remission. *J Neuroimmunol* (2011) **239**:80–6. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2011.08.019
- Olivadoti M, Toth LA, Weinberg J, Opp MR. Murine gammaherpesvirus 68: a model for the study of Epstein-Barr virus infections and related diseases. *Comp Med* (2007) 57:44–50.
- Virgin HWT, Latreille P, Wamsley P, Hallsworth K, Weck KE, Dal Canto AJ, et al. Complete sequence and genomic analysis of murine gammaherpesvirus 68. J Virol (1997) 71:5894–904.
- Willer DO, Speck SH. Long-term latent murine Gammaherpesvirus 68 infection is preferentially found within the surface immunoglobulin D-negative subset of splenic B cells in vivo. J Virol (2003) 77:8310–21. doi:10.1128/ JVI.77.15.8310-8321.2003
- Nash AA, Dutia BM, Stewart JP, Davison AJ. Natural history of murine gamma-herpesvirus infection. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* (2001) 356:569–79. doi:10.1098/rstb.2000.0779
- Flano E, Kim IJ, Moore J, Woodland DL, Blackman MA. Differential gamma-herpesvirus distribution in distinct anatomical locations and cell subsets during persistent infection in mice. *J Immunol* (2003) 170:3828–34. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.7.3828
- Liang X, Collins CM, Mendel JB, Iwakoshi NN, Speck SH. Gammaherpesvirusdriven plasma cell differentiation regulates virus reactivation from latently infected B lymphocytes. *PLoS Pathog* (2009) 5:e1000677. doi:10.1371/journal. ppat.1000677
- Siegel AM, Herskowitz JH, Speck SH. The MHV68 M2 protein drives IL-10 dependent B cell proliferation and differentiation. *PLoS Pathog* (2008) 4:e1000039. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000039
- Krug LT, Evans AG, Gargano LM, Paden CR, Speck SH. The absence of M1 leads to increased establishment of murine gammaherpesvirus 68 latency in IgD-negative B cells. J Virol (2013) 87:3597–604. doi:10.1128/jvi.01953-12
- Pfeffer S, Zavolan M, Grasser FA, Chien M, Russo JJ, Ju J, et al. Identification of virus-encoded microRNAs. *Science* (2004) 304:734–6. doi:10.1126/ science.1096781
- Pfeffer S, Sewer A, Lagos-Quintana M, Sheridan R, Sander C, Grasser FA, et al. Identification of microRNAs of the herpesvirus family. *Nat Methods* (2005) 2:269–76. doi:10.1038/nmeth746
- Feldman ER, Kara M, Coleman CB, Grau KR, Oko LM, Krueger BJ, et al. Virus-encoded microRNAs facilitate gammaherpesvirus latency and pathogenesis in vivo. *MBio* (2014) 5:e981–914. doi:10.1128/mBio.00981-14
- Jarousse N, Trujillo DL, Wilcox-Adelman S, Coscoy L. Virally-induced upregulation of heparan sulfate on B cells via the action of type I IFN. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:5540–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003495
- Barton ES, Lutzke ML, Rochford R, Virgin HWT. Alpha/beta interferons regulate murine gammaherpesvirus latent gene expression. J Virol (2005) 79:14149-60. doi:10.1128/jvi.79.22.14149-14160.2005
- Salamon D, Adori M, Ujvari D, Wu L, Kis LL, Madapura HS, et al. Latency type-dependent modulation of Epstein-Barr virus-encoded latent membrane protein 1 expression by type I interferons in B cells. J Virol (2012) 86:4701–7. doi:10.1128/jvi.06829-11
- Xu D, Brumm K, Zhang L. The latent membrane protein 1 of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) primes EBV latency cells for type I interferon production. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281:9163–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M511884200
- Runkel L, Pfeffer L, Lewerenz M, Monneron D, Yang CH, Murti A, et al. Differences in activity between alpha and beta type I interferons explored by mutational analysis. *J Biol Chem* (1998) 273:8003–8. doi:10.1074/ jbc.273.14.8003

- Peacock JW, Elsawa SF, Petty CC, Hickey WF, Bost KL. Exacerbation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in rodents infected with murine gammaherpesvirus-68. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) 33:1849–58. doi:10.1002/ eji.200323148
- Chauhan VS, Nelson DA, Marriott I, Bost KL. Alpha beta-crystallin expression and presentation following infection with murine gammaherpesvirus 68. *Autoimmunity* (2013) 46:399–408. doi:10.3109/08916934.2013.785535
- Casiraghi C, Shanina I, Cho S, Freeman ML, Blackman MA, Horwitz MS. Gammaherpesvirus latency accentuates EAE pathogenesis: relevance to Epstein-Barr virus and multiple sclerosis. *PLoS Pathog* (2012) 8:e1002715. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002715
- Casiraghi C, Marquez AC, Shanina I, Horwitz MS. Latent virus infection upregulates CD40 expression facilitating enhanced autoimmunity in a model of multiple sclerosis. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:13995. doi:10.1038/srep13995
- Smith TJ, Sciaky D, Phipps RP, Jennings TA. CD40 expression in human thyroid tissue: evidence for involvement of multiple. *Thyroid* (1999) 9:749–55. doi:10.1089/thy.1999.9.749
- Nanji SA, Hancock WW, Luo B, Schur CD, Pawlick RL, Zhu LF, et al. Costimulation blockade of both inducible costimulator and CD40 ligand induces. *Diabetes* (2006) 55:27–33. doi:10.2337/diabetes.55.01.06.db04-1154
- Huan J, Culbertson N, Spencer L, Bartholomew R, Burrows GG, Chou YK, et al. Decreased FOXP3 levels in multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neurosci Res* (2005) 81:45–52. doi:10.1002/jnr.20522
- Dalla Libera D, Di Mitri D, Bergami A, Centonze D, Gasperini C, Grasso MG, et al. T regulatory cells are markers of disease activity in multiple sclerosis patients. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e21386. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0021386
- Jagessar SA, Heijmans N, Bauer J, Blezer EL, Laman JD, Hellings N. B-cell depletion abrogates T cell-mediated demyelination in an antibody-nondependent common marmoset experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis model. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol (2012) 71:716–28. doi:10.1097/ NEN.0b013e3182622691
- Jagessar SA, Heijmans N, Oh L, Bauer J, Blezer EL, Laman JD, et al. Antibodies against human BLyS and APRIL attenuate EAE development in marmoset monkeys. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol (2012) 7:557–70. doi:10.1007/ s11481-012-9384-x
- 91. Anwar Jagessar S, Fagrouch Z, Heijmans N, Bauer J, Laman JD, Oh L, et al. The different clinical effects of anti-BLyS, anti-APRIL and anti-CD20 antibodies point at a critical pathogenic role of gamma-herpesvirus infected B cells in the marmoset EAE model. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol* (2013) 8:727–38. doi:10.1007/s11481-013-9448-6
- Axthelm MK, Bourdette DN, Marracci GH, Su W, Mullaney ET, Manoharan M, et al. Japanese macaque encephalomyelitis: a spontaneous multiple sclerosis-like disease in a nonhuman primate. *Ann Neurol* (2011) **70**:362–73. doi:10.1002/ana.22449
- Mason JL, Toews A, Hostettler JD, Morell P, Suzuki K, Goldman JE, et al. Oligodendrocytes and progenitors become progressively depleted within chronically demyelinated lesions. *Am J Pathol* (2004) 164:1673–82. doi:10.1016/s0002-9440(10)63726-1
- Acs P, Kalman B. Pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis: what can we learn from the cuprizone model. *Methods Mol Biol* (2014) **900**:403–31. doi:10.1007/978-1-60761-720-4\_20

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Márquez and Horwitz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Cytokine-Defined B Cell Responses** as Therapeutic Targets in Multiple Sclerosis

Rui Li<sup>1</sup>, Ayman Rezk<sup>1</sup>, Luke M. Healy<sup>1</sup>, Gillian Muirhead<sup>1</sup>, Alexandre Prat<sup>2</sup>, Jennifer L. Gommerman<sup>3</sup>, Amit Bar-Or<sup>1,4\*</sup> and MSSRF Canadian B cells in MS Team<sup>†</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Neuroimmunology Unit, Montreal Neurological Institute and Hospital, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada, <sup>2</sup>Neuroimmunology Unit, Department of Neuroscience, Centre de Recherche du CHUM (CRCHUM), Université de Montreal, Montreal, QC, Canada, <sup>3</sup>Department of Immunology, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>4</sup>Experimental Therapeutics Program, Montreal Neurological Institute and Hospital, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Jorge Ivan Alvarez, University of Pennsylvania, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Anne Spurkland, University of Oslo, Norway Michael Karl Racke, The Ohio State University, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Amit Bar-Or amit.bar-or@mcgill.ca

<sup>1</sup>The "MSSRF Canadian B cells in MS Team" represents the Multiple Sclerosis of Canada Research Foundation supported 'Canadian B cells in MS Team'. Co-principle investigators of the Canadian B cells in MS Team are Drs. Amit Bar-Or, Alexandre Prat and Jennifer Gommerman.

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 31 August 2015 Accepted: 30 November 2015 Published: 08 January 2016

#### Citation:

Li R, Rezk A, Healy LM, Muirhead G, Prat A, Gommerman JL, Bar-Or A and MSSRF Canadian B cells in MS Team (2016) Cytokine-Defined B Cell Responses as Therapeutic Targets in Multiple Sclerosis. Front. Immunol. 6:626. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00626 Important antibody-independent pathogenic roles of B cells are emerging in autoimmune diseases, including multiple sclerosis (MS). The contrasting results of different treatments targeting B cells in patients (in spite of predictions of therapeutic benefits from animal models) call for a better understanding of the multiple roles that distinct human B cell responses likely play in MS. In recent years, both murine and human B cells have been identified with distinct functional properties related to their expression of particular cytokines. These have included regulatory (Breg) B cells (secreting interleukin (IL)-10 or IL-35) and pro-inflammatory B cells (secreting tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$ , LT $\alpha$ , IL-6, and granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor). Better understanding of human cytokine-defined B cell responses is necessary in both health and diseases, such as MS. Investigation of their surface phenotype, distinct functions, and the mechanisms of regulation (both cell intrinsic and cell extrinsic) may help develop effective treatments that are more selective and safe. In this review, we focus on mechanisms by which cytokine-defined B cells contribute to the peripheral immune cascades that are thought to underlie MS relapses, and the impact of B cell-directed therapies on these mechanisms.

Keywords: multiple sclerosis, B-lymphocytes, cytokine-defined responses, immune modulation, B-cell depletion, B cell modulation

## INTRODUCTION

In addition to their potential to differentiate into antibody producing plasma cells, B cells can efficiently present antigens to T cells and modulate local immune responses through secretion of soluble products, such as pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory cytokines (**Figure 1**) (1). Historically, B-cell implication in multiple sclerosis (MS) pathogenesis was based on the common finding of abnormally increased immunoglobulin levels in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of patients as well as antibody deposition noted in brain lesions (2–5). However, the success of B-cell-depleting therapy to limit new MS relapses without obviously impacting abnormal CSF antibody levels underscores antibody-independent contributions of B cells to relapsing disease activity (6–11). In this review, we focus on implication of pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory cytokine-defined B cell responses in MS and the impact of B-cell-directed therapies on their functions.



# CYTOKINE-DEFINED B CELL RESPONSES IN MS AND EAE

Several functionally distinct cytokine-defined B cell responses have been implicated in the pathophysiology of MS and its commonly used animal model, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Nonetheless, translation of B-cell-related findings from mouse to human has not always been straightforward. Characterizing and defining the roles of distinct human B cell subsets in health and disease are important requisites for rational development of more selective and effective B cell-targeting therapies.

### **INTERLEUKIN-10-PRODUCING B CELLS**

Interleukin (IL)-10 is a cytokine with pleiotropic effects in immunoregulation and inflammation (12). In mice, knock-out (KO) of IL-10 selectively from B cells results in more severe EAE (13), and adoptive transfer of *in vitro*-induced IL-10-producing B cells suppresses EAE in an IL-10-dependent manner (14–16).

Inducing EAE in IL-10 reporter mice implicated the draining lymph nodes (rather than spleen or spinal cord) as the sites where IL-10<sup>+</sup> B cells regulate disease-relevant immune responses (17). The IL-10<sup>+</sup> B cells in this study exhibited plasma cell/ plasmablast markers, consistent with an earlier report showing that CD138<sup>+</sup> plasma cells are able to produce IL-10 (17), thus also highlighting the previously unappreciated antibody-independent functions of plasma cells. Although IL-10 production from B cells can be induced by both innate [toll-like receptors (TLRs)] and adaptive (cognate interaction) stimuli (14, 16, 18), the targets of regulation of innate- and adaptive-induced IL-10-producing B cells may differ depending on context. For example, innate signal-induced IL-10-producing B cells are able to down-regulate pathogenic T-cell responses indirectly through dendritic cells (14), whereas adaptive signal-induced IL-10-producing B cells directly down-regulate antigen-specific T-cell responses (15, 16).

In humans, both naïve and memory B cells are capable of producing IL-10 in a context-dependent manner (19–22). Human CD27<sup>-</sup> (naïve) B cells, but not CD27<sup>+</sup> (memory) B cells,

are able to produce IL-10 upon CD40-ligand stimulation (11, 23–25), a response found to be abnormally deficient in B cells of MS patients (24). By contrast, IL-10<sup>+</sup> B10 cells are induced within the CD27<sup>+</sup> memory pool by stimulation through TLR4 and TLR9 and can suppress tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) production by monocytes through an IL-10-dependent mechanism. Unexpectedly, B10 cells were reportedly increased in several human autoimmune diseases, including MS, upon stimulation (21). A better understanding of these cells, including defining surface markers and master transcriptional regulators, could facilitate future cell-based therapies for MS.

# **IL-35 PRODUCING B CELLS**

Interleukin-35 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine of the IL-12 family (26). Although the EBI3 subunit of IL-35 was first identified in EBV-infected B cells (27), functions of IL-35 were initially described in regulatory T cells (28–30). More recently, IL-35-producing B cells were found to play important roles in recovery from EAE and experimental autoimmune uveitis (31, 32). In these contexts, IL-35-producing B cells inhibited pro-inflammatory immune responses either directly through IL-35 (31) or indirectly through induction of IL-10-producing B cells (32). These IL-35-producing B cells also exhibited plasma cell phenotypic markers (31). Besides IL-10 and IL-35, B cells can also produce Transforming-growth factor  $\beta$  or Granzyme B that may down-regulate immune responses (33–39); their relevance to MS (or EAE) is yet to be determined.

# TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR $\alpha$ AND LYMPHOTOXIN- $\alpha$ PRODUCING B CELLS

Tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  and Lymphotoxin- $\alpha$  (LT $\alpha$ ) are actively involved in promoting pro-inflammatory immune responses to protect against pathogen invasion (40). In addition,  $TNF\alpha$  is also known to play a pathogenic role in several autoimmune diseases, including rheumatoid arthritis (41) and inflammatory bowel disease (42), in which  $TNF\alpha$ -blocking therapies have been successful (41). In MS, however, TNFa blockade increased disease activity (43) highlighting the challenge of broadly targeting individual cytokines (versus targeting particular cytokine-expressing cells). Stimulation through CD40 and the B-cell receptor (BCR) significantly increases TNFa and LTa secretion from human B cells, compared to either stimulation alone (19). B cells of MS patients produce abnormally higher levels of both TNF $\alpha$  and LT $\alpha$ upon such dual stimulation (11, 23, 24). A microRNA (miR)-132:SIRT1 axis controls expression of TNF $\alpha$  and LT $\alpha$  by human B cells (23). Abnormally increased expression of miR-132 by MS B cells inhibited their SIRT1 expression, resulting in enhanced pro-inflammatory cytokine production. In vitro addition of the SIRT1-agonist resveratrol normalized the exaggerated proinflammatory cytokine expression of MS B cells (23).

# **IL-6 PRODUCING B CELLS**

Interleukin-6, a cytokine with both pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory properties, can be produced by both immune and non-immune cells (44). IL-6 can induce Th17-cell differentiation from naïve T cells (45) and inhibit regulatory T cells (46–48). By contrast, IL-6 may induce IL-10-producing regulatory B cells and myeloid cells (18, 49). B cells of MS patients secrete abnormally high levels of IL-6 (50) and IL-6 knock-out selectively from B cells resulted in decreased Th17 responses and diminished EAE severity (50, 51). How B cell-derived IL-6 is regulated, and whether B-cell IL-6 also contributes to Th17 differentiation and regulatory T-cell dysfunction in MS, remains unknown.

# **IL-15 PRODUCING B CELLS**

Interleukin-15 belongs to the four  $\alpha$ -helix bundle family of cytokines and can be produced by multiple cell types (52). IL-15 knock-out mice develop more severe EAE (53), in part attributed to IL-15's ability to inhibit pathogenic Th17-cell differentiation (54), and to induce regulatory CD8<sup>+</sup> CD122<sup>+</sup> T cells (55). In patients with MS, however, IL-15 is abnormally increased in both serum and CSF (56, 57), where it may have disease-promoting (rather than disease-inhibiting) potential (58, 59). B cells from MS patients reportedly produce more IL-15 than controls, and activation of B cells through CD40 and the BCR induces IL-15 secretion that enhanced both the migratory capacity of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells across a model of the blood–brain barrier and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell cytotoxicity toward oligodentrocytes (59).

### GRANULOCYTE MACROPHAGE COLONY-STIMULATING FACTOR-PRODUCING B CELLS

Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) is an important growth factor for myeloid lineage cell development and function, which is secreted by both immune and non-immune cells during infection and autoimmune disease (60). GM-CSF KO is resistant to active EAE induction (61), and GM-CSF KO Th17 cells fail to induce passive EAE (62-64). Since GM-CSF-producing T cells are reportedly increased in the circulation of MS patients (65-67), T cells have been thought to be the main source of GM-CSF of relevance to MS and EAE (65–68). A murine B-cell population generated from B1a cells, termed "innate response activator (IRA)" B cells (69), was described to produce GM-CSF and found to play a GM-CSFmediated protective role during infections (69, 70), as well as a GM-CSF-mediated pathogenic role in atherosclerosis (71). In contrast to the murine IRA cells, a recently described human GM-CSF producing B cell subset belonged to the memory pool, and co-expressed high levels of TNFa and IL-6 (72). The human GM-CSF-producing B cells enhanced myeloid-cell pro-inflammatory responses in a GM-CSF-dependent manner and were abnormally increased in MS patients. B cell depletion in patients with MS resulted in a B cell-GM-CSF-dependent decrease of pro-inflammatory myeloid-cell responses, highlighting the potential pathogenic role of this B cell population in vivo and revealing a novel disease-implicated axis involving B cell:myeloid-cell interactions (72).

# B CELL-TARGETING THERAPIES AND EFFECTS IN MS

The use of B cell-depleting agents in MS was initially driven by the long-standing recognition of abnormal antibody presence in both the CSF and brain lesions of MS patients (2–4, 73). Therapies directed against B cells include agents that impact their survival (rituximab, ocrelizumab, ofatumumab, alemtuzumab, and atacicept), and their trafficking to the CNS (natalizumab and fingolimod). In this section, we will highlight the mechanisms of action of these and other MS-related therapies that may impact B cells, with a focus on how such therapies may influence MS disease-relevant cytokine-defined B cells responses.

### ANTI-CD20 MONOCLONAL ANTIBODIES

CD20 is a transmembrane protein with incompletely understood function, expressed on immature, transitional, naïve, and memory B cells, but not on stem cells, pro-B cells, and plasma cells (74). Rituximab, ocrelizumab, and ofatumumab are anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies that induce B cell lysis via different combinations of antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity, complement-dependent cytotoxicity, or apoptosis (75, 76). In MS, anti-CD20 antibodies rapidly and significantly reduced the number of new gadoliniumenhancing brain lesions and significantly reduced relapse rates (6-10, 77). Treatment reduced circulating B cell counts by >90% of baseline values, while serum and CSF immunoglobulin G levels remained largely unchanged (77-79), pointing to an important antibody-independent contribution of B cells to MS relapsing disease activity. An attractive hypothesis that has emerged is that pro-inflammatory B cells in untreated patients abnormally activate disease-relevant responses of other immune cells - hence removal of such B cells diminishes disease activity. In support of this view, anti-CD20-mediated B-cell depletion decreases both Th1 and Th17 T cell responses (11, 50) and pro-inflammatory myeloid-cell responses (that in turn could drive Th1 and Th17 responses) in the periphery of treated patients (72). In addition to cognate interactions in which B cells may serve as efficient antigen-presenting cells (APC) to activate T cells that recognize the same antigen, abnormal B-cell secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (including IL-6, TNFa, LTa, and GM-CSF) has now been implicated in abnormal T-cell and myeloid-cell responses of MS patients and may involve "bystander activation" (i.e., not be predicated by cognate antigen-specific interactions). Rituximab treatment could also diminish T cells within the CSF (79), providing further support that, when present, B cells may contribute to disease activity by enhancing peripheral T-cell activation and trafficking, and/or by CNS resident B cells promoting chemotaxis of T cells into the CNS. Alternative mechanisms proposed include an increased frequency of circulating regulatory T cells following B cell depletion (80) and in addition to depleting circulating B cells, anti-CD20 treatment also removes a small population of CD20<sup>dim</sup> T cells (81, 82). Initial studies of this T cell subset point to their potential to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines (81), though their significance in relation to MS disease activity warrants further investigation.

Elegant work using somatic mutation analysis of the Ig gene in B cells derived from both CNS and peripheral compartments of the same MS patients indicates that bi-directional trafficking of B cells occurs between the CNS and periphery and that much of the activation and maturation that results in clonal enrichment of B cells within the CNS may actually occur in the periphery (presumably through cognate-antigen interactions with T cells) (83-86). Hence, efforts to deplete or modulate the profile and functions of B cells in peripheral compartments of MS patients may meaningfully influence the profile and activities of B cells within the CNS, even if the treatment itself does not efficiently penetrate the CNS (as is generally the case for monoclonal antibodies). There have also been efforts to selectively eliminate B cells in the CNS using intrathecally administered rituximab (87). However, a complication in interpreting this result has been the finding that even small doses of rituximab infused into the CSF results in rapid and substantial peripheral B cell depletion (87). Data regarding effects of anti-CD20-mediated peripheral B-cell depletion on inflammation within the CNS compartment remain limited. Early work suggested that rituximab may be more effective at depleting CSF B cells in patients with relapsing compared to progressive forms of MS (77, 78), possibly due to differences in Blood-brain barrier permeability. In the earlier OLYMPUS trial (88), rituximab failed to limit progression of disability in PPMS patients compared to placebo treatment, though post hoc sub-group analysis suggested that patients who had gadolinium-enhancing lesions at baseline, and particularly younger patients, did benefit (88). The ORATORIO study, focusing on earlier disease, and using ocrelizumab, demonstrated that anti-CD20 therapy could limit disease progression in PPMS patients (89). The mechanisms underlying this benefit of B cell depletion in patients with progressive MS remain to be elucidated (see Michel et al., in this issue).

In addition to the decreased MS disease activity observed following B cell depletion with anti-CD20 antibodies, there is a suggestion that the benefit of B cell depletion may persist in at least some patients even as reconstitution of B cells occurs (6, 7). This would imply that the re-emerging B cells differ importantly from the B cells present prior to depletion. Indeed, the B cells that reconstitute following anti-CD20 depletion have been shown to be largely naïve B cells which, when activated, express more IL-10 and less pro-inflammatory cytokines, including TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6, and GM-CSF, compared to pre-treatment B cells (72).

### ATACICEPT

B-cell activating factor of the TNF family (BAFF) and a proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL) are expressed by a variety of immune and non-immune cells (90, 91). Both cytokines signal through transmembrane activator and cyclophilin ligand interactor (TACI) and B cell maturation antigen (BCMA), while only BAFF binds to BAFF-R (90, 91). Both play important roles in the survival, maturation, and function of B cells and plasma cells (92–94). BAFF can also promote differentiation and expansion of Th17 cells in models of infectious and autoimmune diseases (95). BAFF and APRIL levels are reportedly elevated in MS patients (96, 97), where they are highly expressed by peripheral blood monocytes and T cells. BAFF is also abnormally expressed

Drug name	Main drug target(s)	Effects on peripheral B cell subsets	Changes in expression of B cell cytokines
IFN-β	IFN-βR	↑ CD19+ B cells (108)	<b>↑ IL-10, TGF-β, IL-12p70, IL-27p28 (</b> 108, 109)
		↑ CD19*CD24**CD38** B cells (108) ↓ % CD19*CD38*IgM-IgD- (108) ↓ % CD80* B cells (107, 109)	<b>↓</b> IL-1β, IL-23p19/40 (108, 109)
		↓ % CD40 <sup>+</sup> B cells (109)	
Glatiramer acetate	MHC class II (126)	↓ CD19+ B cells (127)	↑ IL-10, IL-6 (127)
	× ,	↓ % CD27- B cells (128)	↓ LTα (127)
Natalizumab	Alpha-4-integrin	↑ % CD19+ B cells (114–116, 129)	Unknown
		↑ CD19+CD10-CD138- B cells (130)	
		↑ CD19+CD10+ pre-B cells (130)	
		↑ % CD27+lgD+ B cells (114)	
		<b>↓</b> % CD27-IgD+ B cells (114)	
		↑ % CD27+lgD- B cells (114)	
Mitoxantrone	Type II topoisomerase (121, 131)	↓ CD19+ B cells (132)	↑ IL-10 (24)
			<b>↓</b> LTα (24)
ingolimod	S1P1R	↓ CD19+ B cells (116–119)	<u>↑</u> IL-10, <b>↓</b> TNFα (117, 120)
		↓ % CD27+ CD38 <sup>int-low</sup> B cells (117, 120)	
		↑ % CD27- B cells (117, 119, 120)	
		↑ % CD38+CD27-CD24+CD5+ B cells (120)	
		↑ % CD10+CD38hiCD24hi B cells (117)	
Dimethyl-fumarate	Nrf2 (133)	↓ CD19+ B cells (124, 125)	Unknown
Teriflunomide	Mitonchondrial enzyme dihydroorotate	↓ Proliferation of T cells and B cells	Unknown
	dehydrogenase (DHODH) (134)	↓ Antibody titers against neoantigen but not recall antigens (135, 136)	
Alemtuzumab	CD52	↓ CD19 <sup>+</sup> B cells (123, 137, 138)	May result in shift in the balance between
			pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine
		↑ CD19+CD23+CD27- (after 3-12 months) (137)	networks in B cells
		Partial reconstitution of CD19+CD23+CD27+ B cells	
		(after 12 month) (137)	
		↑ CD19+CD24 <sup>hi</sup> CD38 <sup>hi</sup> (at 6 months) (123)	
Rituximab	CD20	↓ CD19 <sup>+</sup> B cells (but not plasma cells)	↓ IL-6, TNFα, LTα
Ocrelizumab		Early reconstitution of CD27-B cells and	↓ GM-CSF
Ofatumumab		CD19+lgD+CD38hiCD10hcD24hi B cells (6–10, 79, 98)	<b>↑ IL-10 (</b> 11, 24, 50)
Daclizumab	IL-2R-α	↓ CD19+ B cells (139)	Unknown
		No change in CD19 <sup>+</sup> B cells (140)	
Atacicept <sup>a</sup>	BAFF/APRIL	↓ % mature B cells and plasma cells (not memory B cells) (101, 103, 105)	Unknown but may result in ↓ IL-10 and IL-35

# TABLE 1 | Selected therapies approved for (or under investigation for) multiple sclerosis, and their *in vivo* effects on the profiles and cytokine responses of B cells.

<sup>a</sup>Clinical trial program of atacicept in MS was discontinued when early studies indicated treatment resulted in increased disease activity (103).

by astrocytes within MS lesions (77-79, 98). Atacicept, a soluble, recombinant fusion protein containing the extracellular ligandbinding portion of TACI receptor and a modified Fc portion of human IgG, prevents binding of BAFF and APRIL to their receptors (99). Atacicept thereby limits survival of mature and activated B cells as well as antibody-secreting plasma cells but does not appear to target pro- or memory B cells (100, 101). Treatment with atacicept reduces circulating B cell counts (by 60-70%) and substantially reduces serum IgM and IgA (but to a lesser extent IgG) levels (100, 102-104). While emerging as beneficial in systemic lupus erythematosus, development of atacicept in MS was halted due to increased relapsing disease activity (100, 103-105). Why atacicept induced rather than limited new MS disease activity remains unknown but may reflect differential effects on functionally distinct B cell or plasma cell responses. Indeed, BAFF can induce IL-10-producing B cells and suppress the generation of IL-15<sup>+</sup> B cells (106). Hence, the

dysregulated cytokine balance in B cells of untreated MS patients may actually be aggravated by atacicept, leading to aberrant responses of disease-relevant immune cells, such as pathogenic T cells and myeloid cells.

# APPROVED MS THERAPIES THAT MAY IMPACT B CELL RESPONSES

While most approved MS therapies were developed based on their presumed ability to target T cells, many of them are now understood to also impact B cells in potentially disease-relevant ways (**Table 1**). For example, interferon (IFN)- $\beta$  decreases the frequency of CD80-expressing B cells in treated MS patients, which could in turn limit peripheral T cell activation (107). IFN- $\beta$  also enhances the numbers of circulating transitional B cells (108) and, such as glatiramer acetate (GA), may result in an

anti-inflammatory shift of B cell cytokine responses (109, 110). Both treatment with IFN-β and GA unexpectedly increased serum BAFF (111, 112), which would not only support certain aspects of B cells and plasma cells but may also shape the balance between cytokine-defined B cells, as described above. While natalizumab modifies frequencies of circulating B cells and plasma cells (Table 1) its effects, if any, on B cell cytokine-response profiles are largely unknown (113-115). It is noteworthy that in vivo treatment with natalizumab not only limits trafficking but may also modify T cell activation, which may reflect a role for VLA-4 during T cell interaction with APC, including B cells (113). Treatment with fingolimod (FTY720), an S1P receptor targeting agent, not only reduces the overall number of circulating B cells but can also modulate the cytokine-response profile of B cells in treated patients (116-120). Indeed, the proportion of peripheral blood memory B cells was reduced in fingolimod-treated patients, while the proportion of regulatory and transitional B cells was increased (117-120). The shift in circulating B-cell subsets was paralleled by changes in B-cell cytokine production, with reduced TNFα and enhanced IL-10 expression in B cells from fingolimod-treated patients (117, 120). Fingolimod treatment may also enhance migration capacity of regulatory B cells based on *in vitro* modeling of blood-brain barrier trafficking (120). Mitoxantrone, a chemotherapeutic agent that targets type II topoisomerase (121), preferentially reduces memory B cell counts and leads to a profile of circulating B cells with a less pro-inflammatory profile (24). Alemtuzumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody-targeting CD52, rapidly depletes multiple immune cell subsets (including B cells) followed by distinct kinetics of reconstitution (122). B cells reconstitute faster than

### REFERENCES

- Shen P, Fillatreau S. Antibody-independent functions of B cells: a focus on cytokines. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15(7):441–51. doi:10.1038/nri3857
- Storch MK, Piddlesden S, Haltia M, Iivanainen M, Morgan P, Lassmann H. Multiple sclerosis: in situ evidence for antibody- and complement-mediated demyelination. *Ann Neurol* (1998) 43(4):465–71. doi:10.1002/ana.410430409
- Genain CP, Cannella B, Hauser SL, Raine CS. Identification of autoantibodies associated with myelin damage in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Med* (1999) 5(2):170–5. doi:10.1038/5532
- Raine CS, Cannella B, Hauser SL, Genain CP. Demyelination in primate autoimmune encephalomyelitis and acute multiple sclerosis lesions: a case for antigen-specific antibody mediation. *Ann Neurol* (1999) 46(2):144–60. doi:10.1002/1531-8249(199908)46:2<144::AID-ANA3>3.0.CO;2-K
- Walsh MJ, Tourtellotte WW, Roman J, Dreyer W. Immunoglobulin G, A, and M – clonal restriction in multiple sclerosis cerebrospinal fluid and serum – analysis by two-dimensional electrophoresis. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* (1985) 35(3):313–27. doi:10.1016/0090-1229(85)90092-3
- Hauser SL, Waubant E, Arnold DL, Vollmer T, Antel J, Fox RJ, et al. B-cell depletion with rituximab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2008) 358(7):676–88. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0706383
- Bar-Or A, Calabresi PA, Arnold D, Markowitz C, Shafer S, Kasper LH, et al. Rituximab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a 72-week, open-label, phase I trial. *Ann Neurol* (2008) 63(3):395–400. doi:10.1002/ana.21363
- Kappos L, Li D, Calabresi PA, O'Connor P, Bar-Or A, Barkhof F, et al. Ocrelizumab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a phase 2, randomised, placebo-controlled, multicentre trial. *Lancet* (2011) 378(9805):1779–87. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61649-8
- 9. Sorensen PS, Lisby S, Grove R, Derosier F, Shackelford S, Havrdova E, et al. Safety and efficacy of ofatumumab in relapsing-remitting multiple

T cells (within 3–6 months post-treatment), with naïve B cells dominating the re-emerging B cell pool. Such a treatment effect would be expected to induce a favorable shift in the balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory B cell responses (122, 123). Further studies are required to elucidate potential MS-relevant effects of dimethyl-fumarate (BG12) and teriflunomide on B-cell profiles, including cytokine responses (124, 125).

### CONCLUSION

The success of anti-CD20 therapy in MS establishes that B cells contribute to relapsing disease activity. Though unwelcome, the observation that treatment with atacicept (**Table 1**) exacerbates MS, serves to reinforce the concept that targeting B cells can change the face of CNS disease activity, while also underscoring the importance of elucidating the functional heterogeneity that exists within the B cell pool. Emerging studies indicate that responses of cytokine-secreting B cells in the periphery may influence new MS disease activity, potentially through aberrant peripheral activation of other immune cells. B cells may play additional roles in propagating disease activity within the CNS (see Michel et al., in this issue). Success of B cell targeting therapies may lie in restoring and maintaining a favorable balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory B cell activities in patients.

### FUNDING

Supported by a Collaborative Team grant from the Research Foundation of the MS Society of Canada (RF-MSSC) to the "Canadian B cells in MS Team" (AB-O, AP, and JG).

sclerosis: a phase 2 study. *Neurology* (2014) **82**(7):573-81. doi:10.1212/ WNL.00000000000125

- Bar-Or A, Grove RA, Austin DJ, Tolson JM, VanMeter SA, Lewis E, et al. The MIRROR Study: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group, dose-ranging study to investigate the safety and MRI efficacy of subcutaneous ofatumumab in subjects with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis (RRMS). *Neurology* (2014) 82(10 Suppl):S23.006.
- Bar-Or A, Fawaz L, Fan B, Darlington PJ, Rieger A, Ghorayeb C, et al. Abnormal B-cell cytokine responses a trigger of T-cell-mediated disease in MS? *Ann Neurol* (2010) 67(4):452–61. doi:10.1002/ana.21939
- Saraiva M, O'Garra A. The regulation of IL-10 production by immune cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10(3):170–81. doi:10.1038/nri2711
- Fillatreau S, Sweenie CH, McGeachy MJ, Gray D, Anderton SM. B cells regulate autoimmunity by provision of IL-10. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3(10):944–50. doi:10.1038/ni833
- Lampropoulou V, Hoehlig K, Roch T, Neves P, Calderon Gomez E, Sweenie CH, et al. TLR-activated B cells suppress T cell-mediated autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(7):4763–73. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.7.4763
- Matsushita T, Yanaba K, Bouaziz JD, Fujimoto M, Tedder TF. Regulatory B cells inhibit EAE initiation in mice while other B cells promote disease progression. J Clin Invest (2008) 118(10):3420–30. doi:10.1172/ JCI36030
- Yoshizaki A, Miyagaki T, DiLillo DJ, Matsushita T, Horikawa M, Kountikov EI, et al. Regulatory B cells control T-cell autoimmunity through IL-21-dependent cognate interactions. *Nature* (2012) **491**(7423):264–8. doi:10.1038/nature11501
- Matsumoto M, Baba A, Yokota T, Nishikawa H, Ohkawa Y, Kayama H, et al. Interleukin-10-producing plasmablasts exert regulatory function in autoimmune inflammation. *Immunity* (2014) 41(6):1040–51. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2014.10.016

- Rosser EC, Oleinika K, Tonon S, Doyle R, Bosma A, Carter NA, et al. Regulatory B cells are induced by gut microbiota-driven interleukin-1beta and interleukin-6 production. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(11):1334–9. doi:10.1038/ nm.3680
- Duddy ME, Alter A, Bar-Or A. Distinct profiles of human B cell effector cytokines: a role in immune regulation? *J Immunol* (2004) 172(6):3422–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.6.3422
- Blair PA, Norena LY, Flores-Borja F, Rawlings DJ, Isenberg DA, Ehrenstein MR, et al. CD19(+)CD24(hi)CD38(hi) B cells exhibit regulatory capacity in healthy individuals but are functionally impaired in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Immunity* (2010) 32(1):129–40. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2009.11.009
- Iwata Y, Matsushita T, Horikawa M, Dilillo DJ, Yanaba K, Venturi GM, et al. Characterization of a rare IL-10-competent B-cell subset in humans that parallels mouse regulatory B10 cells. *Blood* (2011) 117(2):530–41. doi:10.1182/ blood-2010-07-294249
- Rieger A, Bar-Or A. B-cell-derived interleukin-10 in autoimmune disease: regulating the regulators. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8(6):486–7. doi:10.1038/ nri2315-c1
- Miyazaki Y, Li R, Rezk A, Misirliyan H, Moore C, Farooqi N, et al. A novel microRNA-132-surtuin-1 axis underlies aberrant B-cell cytokine regulation in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(8):e105421. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0105421
- Duddy M, Niino M, Adatia F, Hebert S, Freedman M, Atkins H, et al. Distinct effector cytokine profiles of memory and naive human B cell subsets and implication in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**(10):6092–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.10.6092
- Correale J, Farez M. Association between parasite infection and immune responses in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol* (2007) 61(2):97–108. doi:10.1002/ ana.21067
- Vignali DA, Kuchroo VK. IL-12 family cytokines: immunological playmakers. Nat Immunol (2012) 13(8):722–8. doi:10.1038/ni.2366
- Devergne O, Hummel M, Koeppen H, Le Beau MM, Nathanson EC, Kieff E, et al. A novel interleukin-12 p40-related protein induced by latent Epstein-Barr virus infection in B lymphocytes. *J Virol* (1996) **70**(2):1143–53.
- Collison LW, Workman CJ, Kuo TT, Boyd K, Wang Y, Vignali KM, et al. The inhibitory cytokine IL-35 contributes to regulatory T-cell function. *Nature* (2007) 450(7169):566–9. doi:10.1038/nature06306
- Seyerl M, Kirchberger S, Majdic O, Seipelt J, Jindra C, Schrauf C, et al. Human rhinoviruses induce IL-35-producing Treg via induction of B7-H1 (CD274) and sialoadhesin (CD169) on DC. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(2):321–9. doi:10.1002/eji.200939527
- Chaturvedi V, Collison LW, Guy CS, Workman CJ, Vignali DA. Cutting edge: human regulatory T cells require IL-35 to mediate suppression and infectious tolerance. J Immunol (2011) 186(12):6661–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100315
- Shen P, Roch T, Lampropoulou V, O'Connor RA, Stervbo U, Hilgenberg E, et al. IL-35-producing B cells are critical regulators of immunity during autoimmune and infectious diseases. *Nature* (2014) 507(7492):366–70. doi:10.1038/nature12979
- Wang RX, Yu CR, Dambuza IM, Mahdi RM, Dolinska MB, Sergeev YV, et al. Interleukin-35 induces regulatory B cells that suppress autoimmune disease. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(6):633–41. doi:10.1038/nm.3554
- Caver TE, O'Sullivan FX, Gold LI, Gresham HD. Intracellular demonstration of active TGFbeta1 in B cells and plasma cells of autoimmune mice. IgGbound TGFbeta1 suppresses neutrophil function and host defense against *Staphylococcus aureus* infection. *J Clin Invest* (1996) **98**(11):2496–506. doi:10.1172/JCI119068
- Parekh VV, Prasad DVR, Banerjee PP, Joshi BN, Kumar A, Mishra GC. B cells activated by lipopolysaccharide, but not by anti-Ig and anti-CD40 antibody, induce anergy in CD8+ T cells: role of TGF-1. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(12):5897–911. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.12.5897
- Lee KM, Stott RT, Zhao G, SooHoo J, Xiong W, Lian MM, et al. TGFbeta-producing regulatory B cells induce regulatory T cells and promote transplantation tolerance. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44(6):1728–36. doi:10.1002/ eji.201344062
- 36. Jahrsdorfer B, Blackwell SE, Wooldridge JE, Huang J, Andreski MW, Jacobus LS, et al. B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells and other B cells can produce granzyme B and gain cytotoxic potential after interleukin-21-based activation. *Blood* (2006) **108**(8):2712–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-03-014001

- Hagn M, Schwesinger E, Ebel V, Sontheimer K, Maier J, Beyer T, et al. Human B cells secrete granzyme B when recognizing viral antigens in the context of the acute phase cytokine IL-21. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(3):1838–45. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901066
- Hagn M, Ebel V, Sontheimer K, Schwesinger E, Lunov O, Beyer T, et al. CD5+ B cells from individuals with systemic lupus erythematosus express granzyme B. Eur J Immunol (2010) 40(7):2060–9. doi:10.1002/eji.200940113
- Hagn M, Sontheimer K, Dahlke K, Brueggemann S, Kaltenmeier C, Beyer T, et al. Human B cells differentiate into granzyme B-secreting cytotoxic B lymphocytes upon incomplete T-cell help. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2012) 90(4):457–67. doi:10.1038/icb.2011.64
- Bradley JR. TNF-mediated inflammatory disease. J Pathol (2008) 214(2):149–60. doi:10.1002/path.2287
- Feldmann M, Maini RN. Anti-TNF alpha therapy of rheumatoid arthritis: what have we learned? *Annu Rev Immunol* (2001) 19:163–96. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.19.1.163
- Neurath MF. Cytokines in inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14(5):329–42. doi:10.1038/nri3661
- Arnason BGW, Jacobs G, Hanlon M, Harding B, Noronha ABC, Auty A, et al. TNF neutralization in MS: results of a randomized, placebo-controlled multicenter study. The Lenercept Multiple Sclerosis Study Group and The University of British Columbia MS/MRI Analysis Group. *Neurology* (1999) 53(3):457–65. doi:10.1212/WNL.53.3.457
- Kishimoto T. Interleukin-6: from basic science to medicine 40 years in immunology. Annu Rev Immunol (2005) 23:1–21. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.23.021704.115806
- Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, et al. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature* (2006) 441(7090):235–8. doi:10.1038/nature04753
- Kimura A, Kishimoto T. IL-6: regulator of Treg/Th17 balance. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(7):1830–5. doi:10.1002/eji.201040391
- Korn T, Mitsdoerffer M, Croxford AL, Awasthi A, Dardalhon VA, Galileos G, et al. IL-6 controls Th17 immunity in vivo by inhibiting the conversion of conventional T cells into Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105(47):18460–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0809850105
- Schneider A, Long SA, Cerosaletti K, Ni CT, Samuels P, Kita M, et al. In active relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis, effector T cell resistance to adaptive T(regs) involves IL-6-mediated signaling. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5(170):170ra15. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3004970
- Mauer J, Chaurasia B, Goldau J, Vogt MC, Ruud J, Nguyen KD, et al. Signaling by IL-6 promotes alternative activation of macrophages to limit endotoxemia and obesity-associated resistance to insulin. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15(5):423–30. doi:10.1038/ni.2865
- Barr TA, Shen P, Brown S, Lampropoulou V, Roch T, Lawrie S, et al. B cell depletion therapy ameliorates autoimmune disease through ablation of IL-6-producing B cells. J Exp Med (2012) 209(5):1001–10. doi:10.1084/ jem.20111675
- Molnarfi N, Schulze-Topphoff U, Weber MS, Patarroyo JC, Prod'homme T, Varrin-Doyer M, et al. MHC class II-dependent B cell APC function is required for induction of CNS autoimmunity independent of myelin-specific antibodies. J Exp Med (2013) 210(13):2921–37. doi:10.1084/jem.20130699
- Ma A, Koka R, Burkett P. Diverse functions of IL-2, IL-15, and IL-7 in lymphoid homeostasis. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2006) 24:657–79. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.24.021605.090727
- Gomez-Nicola D, Spagnolo A, Guaza C, Nieto-Sampedro M. Aggravated experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in IL-15 knockout mice. *Exp Neurol* (2010) 222(2):235–42. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2009.12.034
- Pandiyan P, Yang XP, Saravanamuthu SS, Zheng L, Ishihara S, O'Shea JJ, et al. The role of IL-15 in activating STAT5 and fine-tuning IL-17A production in CD4 T lymphocytes. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(9):4237–46. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1201476
- Yu P, Bamford RN, Waldmann TA. IL-15-dependent CD8+ CD122+ T cells ameliorate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by modulating IL-17 production by CD4+ T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44(11):3330–41. doi:10.1002/eji.201444675
- Blanco-Jerez C, Plaza JF, Masjuan J, Orensanz LM, Alvarez-Cermeno JC. Increased levels of IL-15 mRNA in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis attacks. J Neuroimmunol (2002) 128(1–2):90–4. doi:10.1016/ S0165-5728(02)00146-7
- Rentzos M, Cambouri C, Rombos A, Nikolaou C, Anagnostouli M, Tsoutsou A, et al. IL-15 is elevated in serum and cerebrospinal fluid of patients with multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci (2006) 241(1–2):25–9. doi:10.1016/j. jns.2005.10.003
- Saikali P, Antel JP, Pittet CL, Newcombe J, Arbour N. Contribution of astrocyte-derived IL-15 to CD8 T cell effector functions in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2010) 185(10):5693–703. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002188
- Schneider R, Mohebiany AN, Ifergan I, Beauseigle D, Duquette P, Prat A, et al. B cell-derived IL-15 enhances CD8 T cell cytotoxicity and is increased in multiple sclerosis patients. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(8):4119–28. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1100885
- Hamilton JA. Colony-stimulating factors in inflammation and autoimmunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8(7):533–44. doi:10.1038/nri2356
- McQualter JL, Darwiche R, Ewing C, Onuki M, Kay TW, Hamilton JA, et al. Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor: a new putative therapeutic target in multiple sclerosis. *J Exp Med* (2001) **194**(7):873–82. doi:10.1084/jem.194.7.873
- Ponomarev ED, Shriver LP, Maresz K, Pedras-Vasconcelos J, Verthelyi D, Dittel BN. GM-CSF production by autoreactive T cells is required for the activation of microglial cells and the onset of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(1):39–48. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.1.39
- 63. Codarri L, Gyulveszi G, Tosevski V, Hesske L, Fontana A, Magnenat L, et al. RORgammat drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells, which is essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2011) **12**(6):560–7. doi:10.1038/ni.2027
- El-Behi M, Ciric B, Dai H, Yan Y, Cullimore M, Safavi F, et al. The encephalitogenicity of T(H)17 cells is dependent on IL-1- and IL-23-induced production of the cytokine GM-CSF. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(6):568–75. doi:10.1038/ni.2031
- Hartmann FJ, Khademi M, Aram J, Ammann S, Kockum I, Constantinescu C, et al. Multiple sclerosis-associated IL2RA polymorphism controls GM-CSF production in human TH cells. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:5056. doi:10.1038/ ncomms6056
- Noster R, Riedel R, Mashreghi MF, Radbruch H, Harms L, Haftmann C, et al. IL-17 and GM-CSF expression are antagonistically regulated by human T helper cells. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(241):241ra80. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3008706
- Rasouli J, Ciric B, Imitola J, Gonnella P, Hwang D, Mahajan K, et al. Expression of GM-CSF in T cells is increased in multiple sclerosis and suppressed by IFN-beta therapy. *J Immunol* (2015) **194**(11):5085–93. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1403243
- Kleinewietfeld M, Manzel A, Titze J, Kvakan H, Yosef N, Linker RA, et al. Sodium chloride drives autoimmune disease by the induction of pathogenic TH17 cells. *Nature* (2013) 496(7446):518–22. doi:10.1038/nature11868
- Rauch PJ, Chudnovskiy A, Robbins CS, Weber GF, Etzrodt M, Hilgendorf I, et al. Innate response activator B cells protect against microbial sepsis. *Science* (2012) 335(6068):597–601. doi:10.1126/science.1215173
- Weber GF, Chousterman BG, Hilgendorf I, Robbins CS, Theurl I, Gerhardt LM, et al. Pleural innate response activator B cells protect against pneumonia via a GM-CSF-IgM axis. J Exp Med (2014) 211(6):1243–56. doi:10.1084/ jem.20131471
- Hilgendorf I, Theurl I, Gerhardt LM, Robbins CS, Weber GF, Gonen A, et al. Innate response activator B cells aggravate atherosclerosis by stimulating T helper-1 adaptive immunity. *Circulation* (2014) **129**(16):1677–87. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.006381
- Li R, Rezk A, Miyazaki Y, Hilgenberg E, Touil H, Shen P, et al. Proinflammatory GM-CSF-producing B cells in multiple sclerosis and B cell depletion therapy. *Sci Transl Med* (2015) 7(310):310ra166. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aab4176
- Kostulas VK, Link H, Lefvert AK. Oligoclonal IgG bands in cerebrospinal fluid. Principles for demonstration and interpretation based on findings in 1114 neurological patients. *Arch Neurol* (1987) 44(10):1041–4. doi:10.1001/ archneur.1987.00520220043014
- 74. Scott SD. Rituximab: a new therapeutic monoclonal antibody for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Cancer Pract* (1998) 6(3):195–7. doi:10.1046/j.1523-5394.1998.006003195.x
- Pescovitz MD. Rituximab, an anti-cd20 monoclonal antibody: history and mechanism of action. Am J Transplant (2006) 6(5 Pt 1):859–66. doi:10.1111/j.1600-6143.2006.01288.x

- Boross P, Leusen JH. Mechanisms of action of CD20 antibodies. Am J Cancer Res (2012) 2(6):676–90.
- 77. Stuve O, Cepok S, Elias B, Saleh A, Hartung HP, Hemmer B, et al. Clinical stabilization and effective B-lymphocyte depletion in the cerebrospinal fluid and peripheral blood of a patient with fulminant relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* (2005) 62(10):1620–3. doi:10.1001/archneur.62.10.1620
- Monson NL, Cravens PD, Frohman EM, Hawker K, Racke MK. Effect of rituximab on the peripheral blood and cerebrospinal fluid B cells in patients with primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* (2005) 62(2):258–64. doi:10.1001/archneur.62.2.258
- Cross AH, Stark JL, Lauber J, Ramsbottom MJ, Lyons JA. Rituximab reduces B cells and T cells in cerebrospinal fluid of multiple sclerosis patients. J Neuroimmunol (2006) 180(1–2):63–70. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2006.06.029
- Stasi R, Cooper N, Del Poeta G, Stipa E, Laura Evangelista M, Abruzzese E, et al. Analysis of regulatory T-cell changes in patients with idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura receiving B cell-depleting therapy with rituximab. *Blood* (2008) 112(4):1147–50. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-12-129262
- Palanichamy A, Jahn S, Nickles D, Derstine M, Abounasr A, Hauser SL, et al. Rituximab efficiently depletes increased CD20-expressing T cells in multiple sclerosis patients. *J Immunol* (2014) **193**(2):580–6. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1400118
- Wilk E, Witte T, Marquardt N, Horvath T, Kalippke K, Scholz K, et al. Depletion of functionally active CD20+ T cells by rituximab treatment. *Arthritis Rheum* (2009) 60(12):3563–71. doi:10.1002/art.24998
- Bankoti J, Apeltsin L, Hauser SL, Allen S, Albertolle ME, Witkowska HE, et al. In multiple sclerosis, oligoclonal bands connect to peripheral B-cell responses. *Ann Neurol* (2014) 75(2):266–76. doi:10.1002/ana.24088
- Palanichamy A, Apeltsin L, Kuo TC, Sirota M, Wang S, Pitts SJ, et al. Immunoglobulin class-switched B cells form an active immune axis between CNS and periphery in multiple sclerosis. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(248):248ra106. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008930
- Stern JNH, Yaari G, Vander Heiden JA, Church G, Donahue WF, Hintzen RQ, et al. B cells populating the multiple sclerosis brain mature in the draining cervical lymph nodes. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(248):248ra107. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3008879
- von Budingen HC, Kuo TC, Sirota M, van Belle CJ, Apeltsin L, Glanville J, et al. B cell exchange across the blood-brain barrier in multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(12):4533–43. doi:10.1172/JCI63842
- Studer V, Rossi S, Motta C, Buttari F, Centonze D. Peripheral B cell depletion and central proinflammatory cytokine reduction following repeated intrathecal administration of rituximab in progressive multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol (2014) 276(1–2):229–31. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2014.08.617
- Hawker K, O'Connor P, Freedman MS, Calabresi PA, Antel J, Simon J, et al. Rituximab in patients with primary progressive multiple sclerosis: results of a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled multicenter trial. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 66(4):460–71. doi:10.1002/ana.21867
- Montalban X, Hemmer B, Rammohan B, Giovannoni G, de Seze J, Bar-Or A. Efficacy and safety of ocrelizumab in primary progressive multiple sclerosis – results of the placebo-controlled, double-blind, phase III ORATORIO Study. *Mult Scler J* (2015) 21(S11):780–808. doi:10.1177/1352458515604791
- Mackay F, Schneider P, Rennert P, Browning J. BAFF and APRIL: a tutorial on B cell survival. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2003) 21:231–64. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.21.120601.141152
- Novak AJ, Darce JR, Arendt BK, Harder B, Henderson K, Kindsvogel W, et al. Expression of BCMA, TACI, and BAFF-R in multiple myeloma: a mechanism for growth and survival. *Blood* (2004) **103**(2):689–94. doi:10.1182/ blood-2003-06-2043
- O'Connor BP, Raman VS, Erickson LD, Cook WJ, Weaver LK, Ahonen C, et al. BCMA is essential for the survival of long-lived bone marrow plasma cells. J Exp Med (2004) 199(1):91–8. doi:10.1084/jem.20031330
- Dillon SR, Gross JA, Ansell SM, Novak AJ. An APRIL to remember: novel TNF ligands as therapeutic targets. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2006) 5(3):235–46. doi:10.1038/nrd1982
- Bossen C, Schneider P. BAFF APRIL and their receptors: structure, function and signaling. Semin Immunol (2006) 18(5):263-75. doi:10.1016/j. smim.2006.04.006

- Lai Kwan Lam Q, King Hung Ko O, Zheng BJ, Lu L. Local BAFF gene silencing suppresses Th17-cell generation and ameliorates autoimmune arthritis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105(39):14993–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0806044105
- Thangarajh M, Gomes A, Masterman T, Hillert J, Hjelmstrom P. Expression of B-cell-activating factor of the TNF family (BAFF) and its receptors in multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol (2004) 152(1–2):183–90. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2004.03.017
- Krumbholz M, Theil D, Derfuss T, Rosenwald A, Schrader F, Monoranu CM, et al. BAFF is produced by astrocytes and up-regulated in multiple sclerosis lesions and primary central nervous system lymphoma. *J Exp Med* (2005) 201(2):195–200. doi:10.1084/jem.20041674
- Piccio L, Naismith RT, Trinkaus K, Klein RS, Parks BJ, Lyons JA, et al. Changes in B- and T-lymphocyte and chemokine levels with rituximab treatment in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* (2010) 67(6):707–14. doi:10.1001/ archneurol.2010.99
- Lehmann-Horn K, Schleich E, Hertzenberg D, Hapfelmeier A, Kumpfel T, von Bubnoff N, et al. Anti-CD20 B-cell depletion enhances monocyte reactivity in neuroimmunological disorders. *J Neuroinflammation* (2011) 8:146. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-146
- 100. Dall'Era M, Chakravarty E, Wallace D, Genovese M, Weisman M, Kavanaugh A, et al. Reduced B lymphocyte and immunoglobulin levels after atacicept treatment in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: results of a multicenter, phase Ib, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalating trial. *Arthritis Rheum* (2007) **56**(12):4142–50. doi:10.1002/art.23047
- Hartung HP, Kieseier BC. Atacicept: targeting B cells in multiple sclerosis. Ther Adv Neurol Disord (2010) 3(4):205–16. doi:10.1177/1756285610371146
- 102. van Vollenhoven RF, Kinnman N, Vincent E, Wax S, Bathon J. Atacicept in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and an inadequate response to methotrexate: results of a phase II, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Arthritis Rheum* (2011) 63(7):1782–92. doi:10.1002/art.30372
- 103. Kappos L, Hartung HP, Freedman MS, Boyko A, Radu EW, Mikol DD, et al. Atacicept in multiple sclerosis (ATAMS): a randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Neurol* (2014) 13(4):353–63. doi:10.1016/ S1474-4422(14)70028-6
- 104. Isenberg D, Gordon C, Licu D, Copt S, Rossi CP, Wofsy D. Efficacy and safety of atacicept for prevention of flares in patients with moderate-to-severe systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE): 52-week data (APRIL-SLE randomised trial). Ann Rheum Dis (2014) 74(11):2006–15. doi:10.1136/ annrheumdis-2013-205067
- 105. Sergott RC, Bennett JL, Rieckmann P, Montalban X, Mikol D, Freudensprung U, et al. ATON: results from a Phase II randomized trial of the B-celltargeting agent atacicept in patients with optic neuritis. *J Neurol Sci* (2015) 351(1–2):174–8. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.02.019
- 106. Ma N, Xing C, Xiao H, He Y, Han G, Chen G, et al. BAFF suppresses IL-15 expression in B cells. *J Immunol* (2014) **192**(9):4192–201. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1302132
- 107. Genc K, Dona DL, Reder AT. Increased CD80(+) B cells in active multiple sclerosis and reversal by interferon beta-1b therapy. J Clin Invest (1997) 99(11):2664–71. doi:10.1172/JCI119455
- Schubert RD, Hu Y, Kumar G, Szeto S, Abraham P, Winderl J, et al. IFN-beta treatment requires B cells for efficacy in neuroautoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(5):2110–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1402029
- 109. Ramgolam VS, Sha Y, Marcus KL, Choudhary N, Troiani L, Chopra M, et al. B cells as a therapeutic target for IFN-beta in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. J Immunol (2011) 186(7):4518–26. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000271
- 110. Ireland SJ, Guzman AA, O'Brien DE, Hughes S, Greenberg B, Flores A, et al. The effect of glatiramer acetate therapy on functional properties of B cells from patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *JAMA Neurol* (2014) 71(11):1421–8. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.1472
- 111. Hedegaard CJ, Sellebjerg F, Krakauer M, Hesse D, Bendtzen K, Nielsen CH. Interferon-beta increases systemic BAFF levels in multiple sclerosis without increasing autoantibody production. *Mult Scler* (2011) 17(5):567–77. doi:10.1177/1352458510393771
- 112. Begum-Haque S, Sharma A, Christy M, Lentini T, Ochoa-Reparaz J, Fayed IF, et al. Increased expression of B cell-associated regulatory cytokines by glatiramer acetate in mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol (2010) 219(1–2):47–53. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2009.11.016

- Niino M, Bodner C, Simard ML, Alatab S, Gano D, Kim HJ, et al. Natalizumab effects on immune cell responses in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol* (2006) 59(5):748–54. doi:10.1002/ana.20859
- 114. Planas R, Jelcic I, Schippling S, Martin R, Sospedra M. Natalizumab treatment perturbs memory- and marginal zone-like B-cell homing in secondary lymphoid organs in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) **42**(3):790–8. doi:10.1002/eji.201142108
- 115. Warnke C, Stettner M, Lehmensiek V, Dehmel T, Mausberg AK, von Geldern G, et al. Natalizumab exerts a suppressive effect on surrogates of B cell function in blood and CSF. *Mult Scler* (2015) **21**(8):1036–44. doi:10.1177/1352458514556296
- 116. Kowarik MC, Pellkofer HL, Cepok S, Korn T, Kumpfel T, Buck D, et al. Differential effects of fingolimod (FTY720) on immune cells in the CSF and blood of patients with MS. *Neurology* (2011) 76(14):1214–21. doi:10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3182143564
- 117. Miyazaki Y, Niino M, Fukazawa T, Takahashi E, Nonaka T, Amino I, et al. Suppressed pro-inflammatory properties of circulating B cells in patients with multiple sclerosis treated with fingolimod, based on altered proportions of B-cell subpopulations. *Clin Immunol* (2014) **151**(2):127–35. doi:10.1016/j. clim.2014.02.001
- 118. Nakamura M, Matsuoka T, Chihara N, Miyake S, Sato W, Araki M, et al. Differential effects of fingolimod on B-cell populations in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* (2014) **20**(10):1371–80. doi:10.1177/1352458514523496
- 119. Claes N, Dhaeze T, Fraussen J, Broux B, Van Wijmeersch B, Stinissen P, et al. Compositional changes of B and T cell subtypes during fingolimod treatment in multiple sclerosis patients: a 12-month follow-up study. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(10):e111115. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0111115
- 120. Grutzke B, Hucke S, Gross CC, Herold MV, Posevitz-Fejfar A, Wildemann BT, et al. Fingolimod treatment promotes regulatory phenotype and function of B cells. Ann Clin Transl Neurol (2015) 2(2):119–30. doi:10.1002/acn3.155
- 121. Smith IE, Stuart-Harris R, Pavlidis N, Bozek T. Mitoxantrone (novantrone) as single agent and in combination chemotherapy in the treatment of advanced breast cancer. *Cancer Treat Rev* (1983) **10**(Suppl B):37–40. doi:10.1016/0305-7372(83)90020-8
- 122. Hill-Cawthorne GA, Button T, Tuohy O, Jones JL, May K, Somerfield J, et al. Long term lymphocyte reconstitution after alemtuzumab treatment of multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2012) 83(3):298–304. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2011-300826
- 123. Heidt S, Hester J, Shankar S, Friend PJ, Wood KJ. B cell repopulation after alemtuzumab induction-transient increase in transitional B cells and longterm dominance of naive B cells. *Am J Transplant* (2012) **12**(7):1784–92. doi:10.1111/j.1600-6143.2012.04012.x
- 124. Spencer CM, Crabtree-Hartman EC, Lehmann-Horn K, Cree BA, Zamvil SS. Reduction of CD8(+) T lymphocytes in multiple sclerosis patients treated with dimethyl fumarate. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2015) 2(3):e76. doi:10.1212/NXI.00000000000076
- 125. Berkovich R, Weiner LP. Effects of dimethyl fumarate on lymphocyte subsets. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2015) 4(4):339–41. doi:10.1016/j.msard.2015.06.002
- 126. Fridkis-Hareli M, Teitelbaum D, Gurevich E, Pecht I, Brautbar C, Kwon OJ, et al. Direct binding of myelin basic protein and synthetic copolymer 1 to class II major histocompatibility complex molecules on living antigen-presenting cells specificity and promiscuity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1994) **91**(11):4872–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.91.11.4872
- 127. Carrieri PB, Carbone F, Perna F, Bruzzese D, La Rocca C, Galgani M, et al. Longitudinal assessment of immuno-metabolic parameters in multiple sclerosis patients during treatment with glatiramer acetate. *Metabolism* (2015) 64(9):1112–21. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2015.05.001
- Rovituso D, Heller S, Schroeter M, Kleinschnitz C, Kuerten S. B1 cells are unaffected by immune modulatory treatment in remitting-relapsing multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neuroimmunol* (2014) 272(1–2):86–90. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2014.04.008
- 129. Mattoscio M, Nicholas R, Sormani MP, Malik O, Lee JS, Waldman AD, et al. Hematopoietic mobilization: potential biomarker of response to natalizumab in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2015) 84(14):1473–82. doi:10.1212/ WNL.000000000001454
- Krumbholz M, Meinl I, Kumpfel T, Hohlfeld R, Meinl E. Natalizumab disproportionately increases circulating pre-B and B cells in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2008) 71(17):1350–4. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000327671.91357.96

- Crespi MD, Ivanier SE, Genovese J, Baldi A. Mitoxantrone affects topoisomerase activities in human breast cancer cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1986) 136(2):521–8. doi:10.1016/0006-291X(86)90471-7
- 132. Chanvillard C, Millward JM, Lozano M, Hamann I, Paul F, Zipp F, et al. Mitoxantrone induces natural killer cell maturation in patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(6):e39625. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0039625
- 133. Fox RJ, Kita M, Cohan SL, Henson LJ, Zambrano J, Scannevin RH, et al. BG-12 (dimethyl fumarate): a review of mechanism of action, efficacy, and safety. *Curr Med Res Opin* (2014) **30**(2):251–62. doi:10.1185/03007995.2013.849236
- 134. Bar-Or A, Pachner A, Menguy-Vacheron F, Kaplan J, Wiendl H. Teriflunomide and its mechanism of action in multiple sclerosis. *Drugs* (2014) **74**(6):659–74. doi:10.1007/s40265-014-0212-x
- 135. Bar-Or A, Freedman MS, Kremenchutzky M, Menguy-Vacheron F, Bauer D, Jodl S, et al. Teriflunomide effect on immune response to influenza vaccine in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2013) 81(6):552–8. doi:10.1212/ WNL.0b013e31829e6fbf
- 136. Bar-Or A, Wiendl H, Miller B, Benamor M, Truffinet P, Church M, et al. Randomized study of teriflunomide effects on immune responses to neoantigen and recall antigens. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2015) 2(2):e70. doi:10.1212/NXI.000000000000000
- Thompson SA, Jones JL, Cox AL, Compston DA, Coles AJ. B-cell reconstitution and BAFF after alemtuzumab (Campath-1H) treatment of multiple sclerosis. J Clin Immunol (2010) 30(1):99–105. doi:10.1007/s10875-009-9327-3
- Cox AL, Thompson SA, Jones JL, Robertson VH, Hale G, Waldmann H, et al. Lymphocyte homeostasis following therapeutic lymphocyte depletion in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) 35(11):3332–42. doi:10.1002/ eji.200535075

- Lin YC, Winokur P, Blake A, Wu T, Romm E, Bielekova B. Daclizumab reverses intrathecal immune cell abnormalities in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol* (2015) 2(5):445–55. doi:10.1002/acn3.181
- 140. Wynn D, Kaufman M, Montalban X, Vollmer T, Simon J, Elkins J, et al. Daclizumab in active relapsing multiple sclerosis (CHOICE study): a phase 2, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, add-on trial with interferon beta. *Lancet Neurol* (2010) 9(4):381–90. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70033-8

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** Rui Li, Ayman Rezk, Luke M. Healy, Gillian Muirhead, Alexandre Prat, and Jennifer L. Gommerman declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest. Dr. Bar-Or has participated as a speaker in meetings sponsored by and received consulting fees and/or grant support from Biogen Idec, Diogenix, Genentech, Sanofi-Genzyme, GlaxoSmithKline, Novartis, Ono Pharma, Teva Neuroscience, Receptos Inc, Roche, and Merck/EMD Serono.

The Handling Editor, Jorge Ivan Alvarez, declares that, despite having been supervised by author Alexandre Prat during post-doctoral work, the review process was handled objectively.

Copyright © 2016 Li, Rezk, Healy, Muirhead, Prat, Gommerman, Bar-Or and MSSRF Canadian B cells in MS Team. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# The ins and outs of B cells in multiple sclerosis

#### Kevin Blauth<sup>1</sup>, Gregory P. Owens<sup>1</sup> and Jeffrey L. Bennett<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neurology, University of Colorado Denver, Aurora, CO, USA, <sup>2</sup> Department of Ophthalmology, University of Colorado Denver, Aurora, CO, USA, <sup>3</sup> Program in Neuroscience, University of Colorado Denver, Aurora, CO, USA

B cells play a central role in multiple sclerosis (MS) pathology. B and plasma cells may contribute to disease activity through multiple mechanisms: antigen presentation, cytokine secretion, or antibody production. Molecular analyses of B cell populations in MS patients have revealed significant overlaps between peripheral lymphoid and clonally expanded central nervous system (CNS) B cell populations, indicating that B cell trafficking may play a critical role in driving MS exacerbations. In this review, we will assess our current knowledge of the mechanisms and pathways governing B cell migration into the CNS and examine evidence for and against a compartmentalized B cell response driving progressive MS pathology.

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Jorge Ivan Alvarez, University of Pennsylvania, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Nancy Monson, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, USA Edgar Meinl, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Germany Roberta Magliozzi, Verona University, Italy

### \*Correspondence:

Jeffrey L. Bennett jeffrey.bennett@ucdenver.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 03 September 2015 Accepted: 23 October 2015 Published: 05 November 2015

#### Citation:

Blauth K, Owens GP and Bennett JL (2015) The ins and outs of B cells in multiple sclerosis. Front. Immunol. 6:565. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00565 Keywords: multiple sclerosis, B cells, lymphocyte trafficking, chemokines, blood-brain barrier

# INTRODUCTION

In recent decades, accumulating evidence has brought B cells into focus as critical players in multiple sclerosis (MS) pathogenesis. B cells are present at elevated levels in inflamed MS central nervous system (CNS) tissue and are significantly increased in MS cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (1, 2). Furthermore, IgG is synthesized intrathecally in MS patients (3), and IgG and complement are characteristic features of both type 2 and active MS lesions (4–6). In the CSF, the presence of oligoclonal IgG bands (OCBs) are a long-standing hallmark of MS diagnosis, and in the meninges, B cell-predominant lymphoid aggregations [germinal center (GC)-like structures] are observed in some relapsing and secondary progressive patients (7, 8). Finally, clinical trials of the anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies rituximab (9), and ocrelizumab (10), have demonstrated beneficial effects on MRI lesion load and relapse activity in MS patients.

Many questions about the role of B and plasma cells in MS remain unanswered. What factors drive B cells into the CNS, through which pathways do they travel, and are these cells persistent or transient? When during the course of disease do B cells populate the CNS and are there particular CNS niches in which B cells thrive? How may (GC)-like structures contribute to MS pathology? In this review, we will examine the chemotactic cues, migratory pathways, and CNS factors that facilitate B cells trafficking and survival in the inflamed CNS, and evaluate evidence supporting a compartmentalized B cell response in MS pathogenesis.

# **B CELL MIGRATION INTO THE CNS IN HEALTH AND DISEASE**

## B Cells are Directed into the CNS by Chemokine Signaling

B cells may be observed in the healthy brain but are sparse in number, and increase drastically during neuroinflammation (11, 12). B cells express a robust array of chemokine receptors that largely dictate their movement, and the B cell chemokine receptor profile is dependent upon their state of

#### TABLE 1 | B cell chemokines in multiple sclerosis.

Chemokine	Levels in MS	Chemokine receptor	Reference
CCL2	Expressed by astrocytes and macrophages in acutely demyelinating lesions and active chronic lesions, at lesion edge, and in reactive astrocytes surrounding lesions Decreased in CSF	CCR2, CCR3	(19–22)
CCL3	Unchanged in CSF	CCR1, CCR5	(19)
CCL20	Undetectable in CSF Decreased in serum during relapse	CCR6	(23)
CXCL10	Increased in CSF Upregulated in MS lesions	CXCR3	(19, 24)
CXCL12	Upregulated in chronic active and inactive MS lesions on astrocytes and blood vessels	CXCR4, CXCR7	(14)
CXCL13	Increased in actively demyelinating MS lesions, secreted by macrophages in the perivascular cuffs. Not present in chronic inactive lesions. Shown to be the most important determinant for B cell recruitment into the CNS. Increased in CSF during relapse and remission	CXCR5	(14, 16, 25)
CX3CL1	Increased in CSF	CX3CR1	(26, 27)

differentiation and external microenvironment. The local milieu of cytokines in the inflamed CNS may also promote B cell migration by enhancing B cell chemoattraction and lymphoid organization. For instance, lymphotoxin- $\alpha$  expressed along the outer layer of inflamed vessel walls may facilitate lymphoid organogenesis and the formation of meningeal B cell GC-like structures (13).

Several chemokines and their receptors (in parentheses) have been shown to influence CNS B cell trafficking: CCL2 (CCR2, CCR3), CCL3 (CCR1, CCR5), CCL20 (CCR6), CXCL10 (CXCR3), CXCL12 (CXCR4, CXCR7), and CXCL13 (CXCR5) (Table 1). Among these factors, CXCL13 may play a central role. The CSF concentration of CXCL13 is elevated in MS patients (14), correlates with conversion from clinically isolated syndrome (CIS) to definite MS (15), and shows a strong correlation with B cell numbers in the CSF of MS and other neuroinflammatory diseases (14, 16). Indeed, nearly all CD19+ CSF B cells express the CXCL13 receptor, CXCR5 (14). Elevated CSF CXCL13 correlates strongly with the CNS accumulation of class-switched CD27+ memory B cells, CD27-IgD- B cells, and unswitched CD27+ memory B cells, but bears no relationship to the numbers of CD138 + CD38 + antibody-secreting plasmablasts and plasma cells (17). The ability of CXCL13 blockade to disrupt the formation of GC-like structures in the pancreatic islets of NOD mice suggests that meningeal B cell aggregates in MS patients may also develop from migrating memory B cells that differentiate intrathecally to plasmablasts and plasma cells (18).

As short-lived plasmablasts comprise a significant proportion of the CSF B cell population in MS (28), the chemokines CXCL10 and CXCL12 may also act as chemoattractants for CXCR3+ and CXCR4+ plasmablasts and additionally regulate the dynamics of CNS B cell trafficking in disease. Since CXCL10 is constitutively expressed by a subset of cells in the CNS subventricular zone, the gradient of CXCL10 may be a potent chemo-attractant signal for both activated T cells and antibody-secreting cells (29).

# Adhesion Molecules, B Cells, and the Blood–Brain Barrier

B cells follow chemokine gradients into the CNS via one of several anatomical pathways: (1) through the choroid plexus into the CSF;

(2) through parenchymal vessels into the perivascular space; or (3) or through the post-capillary venules into the subarachnoid and Virchow-Robin spaces (30). B cells entering into the CNS through the choroid plexus must traverse apical tight junctions between epithelial cells composing the blood-CSF barrier, whereas B cells trafficking through parenchymal vessels or stromal venules ultimately need to traverse the tight junctions of the microvascular endothelial cells composing the blood-brain barrier (BBB). While the stages of lymphocyte transmigration across the blood-CSF barrier have yet to be described in detail, the sequence of leukocyte rolling, activation, arrest, crawling, and migration has been defined in great detail for blood-brain barrier trafficking (30). Basic adhesion molecule interactions important for T cell transmigration across the BBB include selectins during rolling (31), leukocyte very late antigen-4 (VLA-4) and endothelial vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) during the rolling and arrest, leukocyte lymphocyte function associated antigen-1 (LFA-1), and endothelial intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) during arrest and migration (32, 33), as well as activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM), and CD6 in migration (34).

The specific molecules required for B cell transmigration, however, are less clearly understood. Similar to requirements for T cell BBB transit, ex vivo studies using human adult brain-derived endothelial cells (HBECs) show that blockade of VLA-4, but not VCAM-1, inhibits B cell transmigration (35). Consistent with these findings, mice lacking the VLA-4  $\alpha$ -4 subunit specifically on B cells but not on other lymphocyte populations reduced disease severity significantly, and inhibited the recruitment of B cells into the CNS in an experimental autoimmune encephalitis model (36). In natalizumab-treated MS patients, CSF B and plasma cells are decreased in concert with the reduction in intrathecal CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (37). Complete (55%) or partial (27%) loss of CSF OCBs was observed in a natatlizumab-treated patient cohort following 2 years of therapy, suggesting that continuous trafficking of B cells to the CNS may be required to maintain the plasma cell niches producing intrathecal oligoclonal IgG (38). Antibody blockade of ICAM-1 and ALCAM also result in reduced migration of CD19+ B cells in ex vivo transmigration assays using HBECs as an artificial BBB (34, 35). The exact roles of ICAM-1

and ALCAM in CNS B cell trafficking *in vivo*, however, remain to be determined.

Recently, CNS meningeal lymphatic vessels containing T lymphocytes were discovered running parallel to the dural sinuses (39). These vessels drain to the deep cervical lymph nodes and may provide a novel route for trafficking B and T cells into or out of the CNS. This pathway may involve similar or distinct chemokine and adhesion molecules in the transit of various B cell populations that may infiltrate into the brain parenchyma, circulate in the CSF, populate GC-like structures, and transit back to the peripheral lymphoid compartment (39).

## BIDIRECTIONAL B CELL TRAFFICKING IN MS

In general, lymphocytic surveillance of the healthy CNS is significantly lower than that of other peripheral organs (40). The majority of data, particularly in humans and mice, indicate that activated antigen-experienced T and B cells constitute almost the entirety (41) or the vast majority (17, 42) of the infiltrating lymphocytes. Whether activated lymphocytes return from the CNS compartment to the peripheral circulation has remained uncertain.

Recently, the ability of B cells to exit the CNS compartment and re-enter the peripheral circulation and, potentially germinal center responses, has been investigated by deep sequencing (43). Deep, or next-generation sequencing, allows for high-throughput recovery of B cell IgG heavy-chain variable region (VH) repertoires from patient fluids and tissues. When compared to singlecell methods, the large number of VH sequences analyzed by deep sequencing provides a more complete representation of the B cell Ig repertoire contained in a biological sample and substantially increase the likelihood of observing identical or related VH sequences between samples. This enhanced sensitivity likely accounts for the frequent identification of common peripheral and CNS B cell clones with deep sequencing (43–45) and the rare identification of those with single-cell analyses (46, 47).

Using diverse strategies, patient populations, and methods, the VH repertoire from the peripheral blood, cervical lymph nodes, meninges, parenchyma, and CSF have been compared within the same MS patient (43-45). A common finding of each investigation was overlapping clonal B cell populations common to both the peripheral and CNS compartments. Overlapping peripheral blood and CSF B cell clones were observed among multiple subsets of Ig class-switched and post-germinal center B cells: CD27(+)IgD(-)memory B cells, CD27(hi)CD38(hi) plasma cells/plasmablasts, and CD27(-)IgD(-) negative memory B cells (44, 48, 49). While the number of overlapping sequences observed in each study varied due to technique and disease activity, lineage analysis of bi-compartmental B cell clones demonstrated patterns of somatic hypermutation consistent with bidirectional exchange (43-45). Some lineages showed a balanced distribution of peripheral and CNS compartment clones; while other lineages exhibited isolated CNS clones that were closely related to germline sequences. The pattern of overlapping B cell clones in these lineage trees suggest that B cells may travel back and forth across the BBB and reenter germinal centers to undergo further somatic hypermutation (43-45) (Figure 1). In-depth analysis of the relationship between

overlapping B cell clones in the cervical lymph nodes and CNS compartment of the same patient revealed that most of the shared VH clones were less mature sequences that originated, more often, in the periphery (45). More mature B cell clones tended to be restricted to either the peripheral lymph node or CNS compartment. Permutation testing supported a model in which B cell maturation into antibody-secreting cells occurs in both the periphery and CNS with antigen-specific maturation occurring in the periphery.

## COMPARTMENTALIZATION OF THE CNS B CELL RESPONSE IN MS

A key question related to MS pathogenesis is whether B cellmediated antigen-driven responses are generated, supported, and sustained within the CNS (43)? CNS B cells show evidence of clonal expansion (50, 51), and express somatically mutated, classswitched Ig transcripts (46, 52–55). As noted previously, B cells with clonally related VH sequences are recovered on both sides of the BBB; however, CNS B cells may eventually form a compartmentalized population that is independent of the peripheral B cell pool as disease progresses. Interestingly, compartmentalized CNS inflammation has been hypothesized to drive treatment-resistant progressive disease (56).

Oligoclonal CSF IgG (OCBs) are observed in over 95% of MS patients. The CSF Ig proteome and B cell Ig transcriptome show strong overlap, indicating that CSF B cell clones are a major contributor to MS intrathecal IgG (57). In a subsequent study, peptide sequences from the CSF Ig proteome were also found to match heavy- (VH) and light-chain (VL) transcriptome sequences recovered from the CNS parenchyma and CSF of the same individual (58). The CSF Ig proteome covered high percentages of VH (CNS-77%; CSF-84%) and VL (CNS-39%; CSF-60%) transcriptome sequences in one patient and were somewhat limited in a second due to low CSF Ig quotient (58). The results indicate that B cells and IgG in MS CSF accurately mirror the humoral immunity present at the site of brain tissue damage (Figure 1). Indeed, 39-62% of the B cell transcriptome sequences recovered from the meninges, demyelinating plaques, normal appearing white matter, and CSF of the same MS patient were shared between intrathecal compartments, indicating that a significant fraction of intrathecal B cells trafficked through the CNS (59). Some expanded B cells clones, however, appear restricted to regions of MS plaque and meninges, suggesting some potential for localized tissue injury (59).

Interestingly, recent studies have questioned whether the CSFrestricted OCBs identified by isoelectric focusing are truly exclusive to the CNS (60). While the majority of CSF OCBs matched IgG-VH transcripts only recovered from the CSF B cell transcriptome, several OCB peptides matched bi-compartmental peripheral blood and CSF VH sequences. Although the type of MS and disease therapies were not reported, lineage tree analysis of bi-compartmental B cell populations suggested that these B cell groups underwent immune stimulation on both sides of the BBB (**Figure 1**). As a result, there remains the possibility that CNS immune populations may maintain molecular links with the periphery despite contrary data from isoelectric focusing.



Ig VH gene usage from the periphery and CNS provides additional data supporting compartmentalization of the humoral immune response in MS patients. The analysis of Ig VH sequences from demyelinating plaques and CSF of affected individuals reveal substantial VH4 family bias compared to normal VH4 prevalence (61, 62). Similar to patients with viral meningitis, CNS VH4 germline sequences displayed evidence of clonal expansion and extensive somatic mutations consistent with antigen selection (53, 54). MS patient with the longest disease course had the largest number of distinct IgG clonal populations, while the patients with recent diagnoses had limited clonal populations. CSF B cells from patients with a single demyelinating event (clinically isolated syndrome) also showed clonally expanded, somatically hypermutated VH genes (63, 64). Interestingly, both the overrepresentation of VH4 family sequences (65) and a unique pattern of somatic hypermutation "antibody gene signature" (66) within the CSF Ig VH transcriptome predicted transition to clinically definite MS. Recent deep sequencing of MS CSF VH repertoires from six MS patients has also revealed an overrepresentation of VH4-39, VH4-59, and VH4-61 heavy-chain sequences. The bias of MS CSF B cell heavy chains to VH4 germline sequences suggests that their basic structure may define an antigenbinding pocket that favors interaction with target antigen(s). As a result, a compartmental CNS humoral immune response may be able to drive CNS injury independent of peripheral immune activity.

Lastly, the GC-like structures or lymphoid infiltration have been noted in a large proportion of meningeal tissue from secondary progressive early stage cortical biopsies (7, 8, 67, 68). These CNS-specific immune infiltrates correlate with the severity of disease progression (8) and are associated with cortical neuronal loss in adjacent gray matter (69). The composition of these infiltrates included B cells, T cells, and dendritic cells, whose organization may resemble lymphoid follicles (7, 67). In addition, the presence of IgG and CXCL13 (7, 67) provide additional information, suggesting the active attraction and maintenance of B cells in MS meninges. The identification of CD19+CD38hiCD77+Ki67+Bcl2- centroblasts in the CSF but not the peripheral blood of MS patients suggests that a compartmental humoral immune response in the MS CNS recapitulates all stages of B cell differentiation and may create a selfsufficient CNS response that is independent of the immune activity in the periphery (13). Additional data, however, are required to establish the relationship between the generation and maintenance of meningeal GC-like structures, intrathecal B cell clonal populations, and progressive disease (Figure 1). Peripheral B cell depletion, effective in early phase clinical trials in relapsing MS (9, 10), has not delivered similar efficacy for the treatment of primary progressive disease (70). This could be directly related to the inefficient depletion of the intrathecal B cell population in progressive (71) versus relapsing MS (72) due to compartmentalization of the B cell response in progressive disease and inefficient transit of anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody across the BBB. Interestingly, intrathecal administration of anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody rapidly depleted both peripheral and CD19+ B cells within days of delivery (73). Therefore, intrathecal anti-CD20 therapy may offer a novel avenue to evaluate the role of intrathecal B cell inflammation in progressive disease. The recent development of novel MRI techniques to identify meningeal follicles may offer a non-invasive tool to correlate therapeutic response with changes in meningeal inflammation (74).

## CONCLUSION

Molecular analysis of the B cell response in MS has demonstrated that antigen-experienced B cells are shared between multiple CNS compartments and the peripheral immune response. Several features of CNS clonal B cell populations suggest that B cell subsets may not be shared between the CNS and periphery as disease progresses and that meningeal GC-like structures may support an independent, compartmentalized immune response that is correlative with measures of CNS injury. The data supporting the trafficking of B cells back and forth across the BBB are undermined by the technical constraints of single-cell PCR, deep

## REFERENCES

- Cepok S, Jacobsen M, Schock S, Omer B, Jaekel S, Boddeker I, et al. Patterns of cerebrospinal fluid pathology correlate with disease progression in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2001) 124(Pt 11):2169–76. doi:10.1093/brain/124.11.2169
- Esiri MM. Multiple sclerosis: a quantitative and qualitative study of immunoglobulin-containing cells in the central nervous system. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (1980) 6(1):9–21. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2990.1980.tb00199.x
- Kabat EA, Moore DH, Landow H. An electrophoretic study of the protein components in cerebrospinal fluid and their relationship to the serum proteins. *J Clin Invest* (1942) 21(5):571–7. doi:10.1172/JCI101335
- Lumsden CE. The immunogenesis of the multiple sclerosis plaque. Brain Res (1971) 28(3):365–90. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(71)90052-7
- Lucchinetti C, Bruck W, Parisi J, Scheithauer B, Rodriguez M, Lassmann H. Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination. *Ann Neurol* (2000) 47(6):707–17. doi:10.1002/1531-8249(200006)47:6<707::AID-ANA3>3.0.CO;2-Q
- Breij EC, Brink BP, Veerhuis R, van den Berg C, Vloet R, Yan R, et al. Homogeneity of active demyelinating lesions in established multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol* (2008) 63(1):16–25. doi:10.1002/ana.21311
- Magliozzi R, Howell O, Vora A, Serafini B, Nicholas R, Puopolo M, et al. Meningeal B-cell follicles in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis associate with early onset of disease and severe cortical pathology. *Brain* (2007) 130(Pt 4):1089–104. doi:10.1093/brain/awm038
- Howell OW, Reeves CA, Nicholas R, Carassiti D, Radotra B, Gentleman SM, et al. Meningeal inflammation is widespread and linked to cortical pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2011) 134(Pt 9):2755–71. doi:10.1093/brain/awr182
- Hauser SL, Waubant E, Arnold DL, Vollmer T, Antel J, Fox RJ, et al. B-cell depletion with rituximab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med* (2008) 358(7):676–88. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0706383
- Kappos L, Li D, Calabresi PA, O'Connor P, Bar-Or A, Barkhof F, et al. Ocrelizumab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a phase 2, randomised, placebo-controlled, multicentre trial. *Lancet* (2011) **378**(9805):1779–87. doi:10. 1016/S0140-6736(11)61649-8
- Anthony IC, Crawford DH, Bell JE. B lymphocytes in the normal brain: contrasts with HIV-associated lymphoid infiltrates and lymphomas. *Brain* (2003) 126(Pt 5):1058–67. doi:10.1093/brain/awg118
- 12. Monson NL, Ortega SB, Ireland SJ, Meeuwissen AJ, Chen D, Plautz EJ, et al. Repetitive hypoxic preconditioning induces an immunosuppressed B cell

sequencing, and sampling errors. For instance, the VH sequences defining the bi-compartmental B cell clones may be skewed by errors in PCR sequencing, multiple cDNA copies from the same cell, errors in flow cytometry, or limited blood and CSF sampling. Future studies are needed to confirm present data using defined MS cohorts at multiple stages of disease. The influence of current MS therapeutics on B cell trafficking and survival may be critical for understanding MS pathogenesis and establishing biomarkers of disease activity and therapeutic efficacy.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

Drs. KB, GO, and JB participated in the analysis, interpretation, writing, and critical review of the manuscript for important intellectual content.

## FUNDING

Support was provided by the NIH EY022936 (JLB), NS072141 (GPO), NS007321 (KB); the Guthy-Jackson Charitable Foundation (JLB, GPO); and the National Multiple Sclerosis Society (JLB, GPO).

phenotype during endogenous protection from stroke. J Neuroinflammation (2014) 11:22. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-11-22

- Corcione A, Casazza S, Ferretti E, Giunti D, Zappia E, Pistorio A, et al. Recapitulation of B cell differentiation in the central nervous system of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101(30):11064–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0402455101
- Krumbholz M, Theil D, Cepok S, Hemmer B, Kivisakk P, Ransohoff RM, et al. Chemokines in multiple sclerosis: CXCL12 and CXCL13 up-regulation is differentially linked to CNS immune cell recruitment. *Brain* (2006) 129(Pt 1):200–11. doi:10.1093/brain/awh680
- Brettschneider J, Czerwoniak A, Senel M, Fang L, Kassubek J, Pinkhardt E, et al. The chemokine CXCL13 is a prognostic marker in clinically isolated syndrome (CIS). *PLoS One* (2010) 5(8):e11986. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0011986
- Kowarik MC, Cepok S, Sellner J, Grummel V, Weber MS, Korn T, et al. CXCL13 is the major determinant for B cell recruitment to the CSF during neuroinflammation. J Neuroinflammation (2012) 9:93. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-9-93
- Haas J, Bekeredjian-Ding I, Milkova M, Balint B, Schwarz A, Korporal M, et al. B cells undergo unique compartmentalized redistribution in multiple sclerosis. *J Autoimmun* (2011) 37(4):289–99. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2011.08.003
- Henry RA, Kendall PL. CXCL13 blockade disrupts B lymphocyte organization in tertiary lymphoid structures without altering B cell receptor bias or preventing diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. *J Immunol* (2010) 185(3):1460–5. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903710
- Mahad DJ, Howell SJ, Woodroofe MN. Expression of chemokines in the CSF and correlation with clinical disease activity in patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2002) 72(4):498–502. doi:10.1136/jnnp.72.4.498
- Malmestrom C, Andersson BA, Haghighi S, Lycke J. IL-6 and CCL2 levels in CSF are associated with the clinical course of MS: implications for their possible immunopathogenic roles. *J Neuroimmunol* (2006) 175(1–2):176–82. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.03.004
- McManus C, Berman JW, Brett FM, Staunton H, Farrell M, Brosnan CF. MCP-1, MCP-2 and MCP-3 expression in multiple sclerosis lesions: an immunohis-tochemical and in situ hybridization study. *J Neuroimmunol* (1998) 86(1):20–9. doi:10.1016/S0165-5728(98)00002-2
- Simpson JE, Newcombe J, Cuzner ML, Woodroofe MN. Expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and other beta-chemokines by resident glia and inflammatory cells in multiple sclerosis lesions. J Neuroimmunol (1998) 84(2):238–49. doi:10.1016/S0165-5728(97)00208-7

- Kalinowska-Lyszczarz A, Szczucinski A, Pawlak MA, Losy J. Clinical study on CXCL13, CCL17, CCL20 and IL-17 as immune cell migration navigators in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients. J Neurol Sci (2011) 300(1–2):81–5. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2010.09.026
- Sorensen TL, Tani M, Jensen J, Pierce V, Lucchinetti C, Folcik VA, et al. Expression of specific chemokines and chemokine receptors in the central nervous system of multiple sclerosis patients. *J Clin Invest* (1999) 103(6):807–15. doi:10.1172/JCI5150
- Sellebjerg F, Bornsen L, Khademi M, Krakauer M, Olsson T, Frederiksen JL, et al. Increased cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of the chemokine CXCL13 in active MS. *Neurology* (2009) 73(23):2003–10. doi:10.1212/WNL. 0b013e3181c5b457
- Blauth K, Zhang X, Chopra M, Rogan S, Markovic-Plese S. The role of fractalkine (CX3CL1) in regulation of CD4(+) cell migration to the central nervous system in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Clin Immunol* (2015) 157(2):121–32. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2015.01.001
- Broux B, Pannemans K, Zhang X, Markovic-Plese S, Broekmans T, Eijnde BO, et al. CX(3)CR1 drives cytotoxic CD4(+)CD28(-) T cells into the brain of multiple sclerosis patients. *J Autoimmun* (2012) 38(1):10–9. doi:10.1016/j.jaut. 2011.11.006
- Cepok S, Rosche B, Grummel V, Vogel F, Zhou D, Sayn J, et al. Short-lived plasma blasts are the main B cell effector subset during the course of multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2005) 128(Pt 7):1667–76. doi:10.1093/brain/awh486
- Muzio L, Cavasinni F, Marinaro C, Bergamaschi A, Bergami A, Porcheri C, et al. Cxcl10 enhances blood cells migration in the sub-ventricular zone of mice affected by experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Mol Cell Neurosci* (2010) 43(3):268–80. doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2009.11.008
- Takeshita Y, Ransohoff RM. Inflammatory cell trafficking across the bloodbrain barrier: chemokine regulation and in vitro models. *Immunol Rev* (2012) 248(1):228–39. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01127.x
- 31. Kivisakk P, Mahad DJ, Callahan MK, Trebst C, Tucky B, Wei T, et al. Human cerebrospinal fluid central memory CD4+ T cells: evidence for trafficking through choroid plexus and meninges via P-selectin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100(14):8389–94. doi:10.1073/pnas.1433000100
- Wong D, Dorovini-Zis K. Upregulation of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) expression in primary cultures of human brain microvessel endothelial cells by cytokines and lipopolysaccharide. J Neuroimmunol (1992) 39(1–2):11–21. doi:10.1016/0165-5728(92)90170-P
- 33. Wong D, Prameya R, Dorovini-Zis K. In vitro adhesion and migration of T lymphocytes across monolayers of human brain microvessel endothelial cells: regulation by ICAM-1, VCAM-1, E-selectin and PECAM-1. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol (1999) 58(2):138–52. doi:10.1097/00005072-199902000-00004
- Cayrol R, Wosik K, Berard JL, Dodelet-Devillers A, Ifergan I, Kebir H, et al. Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule promotes leukocyte trafficking into the central nervous system. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9(2):137–45. doi:10.1038/ ni1551
- Alter A, Duddy M, Hebert S, Biernacki K, Prat A, Antel JP, et al. Determinants of human B cell migration across brain endothelial cells. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(9):4497–505. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.9.4497
- Lehmann-Horn K, Sagan SA, Bernard CC, Sobel RA, Zamvil SS. B-cell very late antigen-4 deficiency reduces leukocyte recruitment and susceptibility to central nervous system autoimmunity. *Ann Neurol* (2015) 77(5):902–8. doi:10.1002/ ana.24387
- Stuve O, Marra CM, Jerome KR, Cook L, Cravens PD, Cepok S, et al. Immune surveillance in multiple sclerosis patients treated with natalizumab. *Ann Neurol* (2006) 59(5):743–7. doi:10.1002/ana.20858
- Mancuso R, Franciotta D, Rovaris M, Caputo D, Sala A, Hernis A, et al. Effects of natalizumab on oligoclonal bands in the cerebrospinal fluid of multiple sclerosis patients: a longitudinal study. *Mult Scler* (2014) 20(14):1900–3. doi:10.1177/ 1352458514538111
- Louveau A, Smirnov I, Keyes TJ, Eccles JD, Rouhani SJ, Peske JD, et al. Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. *Nature* (2015) 523:337–41. doi:10.1038/nature14432
- Flugel A, Willem M, Berkowicz T, Wekerle H. Gene transfer into CD4+ T lymphocytes: green fluorescent protein-engineered, encephalitogenic T cells illuminate brain autoimmune responses. *Nat Med* (1999) 5(7):843–7. doi:10. 1038/10567

- Flugel A, Schwaiger FW, Neumann H, Medana I, Willem M, Wekerle H, et al. Neuronal FasL induces cell death of encephalitogenic T lymphocytes. *Brain Pathol* (2000) 10(3):353–64. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2000.tb00267.x
- Cepok S, von Geldern G, Grummel V, Hochgesand S, Celik H, Hartung H, et al. Accumulation of class switched IgD-IgM- memory B cells in the cerebrospinal fluid during neuroinflammation. J Neuroimmunol (2006) 180(1–2):33–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.06.031
- von Budingen HC, Kuo TC, Sirota M, van Belle CJ, Apeltsin L, Glanville J, et al. B cell exchange across the blood-brain barrier in multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122(12):4533–43. doi:10.1172/JCI63842
- 44. Palanichamy A, Apeltsin L, Kuo TC, Sirota M, Wang S, Pitts SJ, et al. Immunoglobulin class-switched B cells form an active immune axis between CNS and periphery in multiple sclerosis. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(248):248ra106. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008930
- 45. Stern JN, Yaari G, Vander Heiden JA, Church G, Donahue WF, Hintzen RQ, et al. B cells populating the multiple sclerosis brain mature in the draining cervical lymph nodes. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(248):248ra107. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3008879
- 46. Colombo M, Dono M, Gazzola P, Roncella S, Valetto A, Chiorazzi N, et al. Accumulation of clonally related B lymphocytes in the cerebrospinal fluid of multiple sclerosis patients. *J Immunol* (2000) 164(5):2782–9. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.164.5.2782
- 47. Monson NL, Brezinschek HP, Brezinschek RI, Mobley A, Vaughan GK, Frohman EM, et al. Receptor revision and atypical mutational characteristics in clonally expanded B cells from the cerebrospinal fluid of recently diagnosed multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neuroimmunol* (2005) **158**(1–2):170–81. doi:10. 1016/j.jneuroim.2004.04.022
- Wei C, Anolik J, Cappione A, Zheng B, Pugh-Bernard A, Brooks J, et al. A new population of cells lacking expression of CD27 represents a notable component of the B cell memory compartment in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(10):6624–33. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.10.6624
- Mahmood Z, Muhammad K, Schmalzing M, Roll P, Dorner T, Tony HP. CD27-IgD- memory B cells are modulated by in vivo interleukin-6 receptor (IL-6R) blockade in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2015) 17:61. doi:10.1186/ s13075-015-0580-y
- Baranzini SE, Jeong MC, Butunoi C, Murray RS, Bernard CC, Oksenberg JR. B cell repertoire diversity and clonal expansion in multiple sclerosis brain lesions. *J Immunol* (1999) 163(9):5133–44.
- 51. Owens GP, Ritchie AM, Burgoon MP, Williamson RA, Corboy JR, Gilden DH. Single-cell repertoire analysis demonstrates that clonal expansion is a prominent feature of the B cell response in multiple sclerosis cerebrospinal fluid. *J Immunol* (2003) 171(5):2725–33. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.5.2725
- Ritchie AM, Gilden DH, Williamson RA, Burgoon MP, Yu X, Helm K, et al. Comparative analysis of the CD19+ and CD138+ cell antibody repertoires in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2004) 173(1):649–56. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.1.649
- Qin Y, Duquette P, Zhang Y, Talbot P, Poole R, Antel J. Clonal expansion and somatic hypermutation of V(H) genes of B cells from cerebrospinal fluid in multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest (1998) 102(5):1045–50. doi:10.1172/JCI3568
- Smith-Jensen T, Burgoon MP, Anthony J, Kraus H, Gilden DH, Owens GP. Comparison of immunoglobulin G heavy-chain sequences in MS and SSPE brains reveals an antigen-driven response. *Neurology* (2000) 54(6):1227–32. doi:10.1212/WNL.54.6.1227
- Sandberg-Wollheim M, Turesson I. Lymphocyte subpopulations in the cerebrospinal fluid and peripheral blood in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Scand J Immunol* (1975) 4(8):831–6. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.1975.tb02693.x
- Frischer JM, Bramow S, Dal-Bianco A, Lucchinetti CF, Rauschka H, Schmidbauer M, et al. The relation between inflammation and neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis brains. *Brain* (2009) 132:1175–89. doi:10.1093/brain/awp070
- Obermeier B, Mentele R, Malotka J, Kellermann J, Kumpfel T, Wekerle H, et al. Matching of oligoclonal immunoglobulin transcriptomes and proteomes of cerebrospinal fluid in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Med* (2008) 14(6):688–93. doi: 10.1038/nm1714
- Obermeier B, Lovato L, Mentele R, Bruck W, Forne I, Imhof A, et al. Related B cell clones that populate the CSF and CNS of patients with multiple sclerosis produce CSF immunoglobulin. *J Neuroimmunol* (2011) 233(1–2):245–8. doi:10. 1016/j.jneuroim.2011.01.010

- Lovato L, Willis SN, Rodig SJ, Caron T, Almendinger SE, Howell OW, et al. Related B cell clones populate the meninges and parenchyma of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2011) 134(Pt 2):534–41. doi:10.1093/brain/ awq350
- Bankoti J, Apeltsin L, Hauser SL, Allen S, Albertolle ME, Witkowska HE, et al. In multiple sclerosis, oligoclonal bands connect to peripheral B-cell responses. *Ann Neurol* (2014) 75(2):266–76. doi:10.1002/ana.24088
- Owens GP, Winges KM, Ritchie AM, Edwards S, Burgoon MP, Lehnhoff L, et al. VH4 gene segments dominate the intrathecal humoral immune response in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2007) 179(9):6343–51. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 179.9.6343
- 62. Owens GP, Kraus H, Burgoon MP, Smith-Jensen T, Devlin ME, Gilden DH. Restricted use of VH4 germline segments in an acute multiple sclerosis brain. *Ann Neurol* (1998) **43**(2):236–43. doi:10.1002/ana.410430214
- 63. Qin Y, Duquette P, Zhang Y, Olek M, Da RR, Richardson J, et al. Intrathecal B-cell clonal expansion, an early sign of humoral immunity, in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with clinically isolated syndrome suggestive of multiple sclerosis. *Lab Invest* (2003) 83(7):1081–8. doi:10.1097/01.LAB.0000077008. 24259.0D
- Haubold K, Owens GP, Kaur P, Ritchie AM, Gilden DH, Bennett JL. Blymphocyte and plasma cell clonal expansion in monosymptomatic optic neuritis cerebrospinal fluid. *Ann Neurol* (2004) 56(1):97–107. doi:10.1002/ana.20152
- 65. Bennett JL, Haubold K, Ritchie AM, Edwards SJ, Burgoon M, Shearer AJ, et al. CSF IgG heavy-chain bias in patients at the time of a clinically isolated syndrome. *J Neuroimmunol* (2008) **199**(1–2):126–32. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim. 2008.04.031
- 66. Cameron EM, Spencer S, Lazarini J, Harp CT, Ward ES, Burgoon M, et al. Potential of a unique antibody gene signature to predict conversion to clinically definite multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol (2009) 213(1–2):123–30. doi:10. 1016/j.jneuroim.2009.05.014
- Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Magliozzi R, Stigliano E, Aloisi F. Detection of ectopic B-cell follicles with germinal centers in the meninges of patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain Pathol* (2004) 14(2):164–74. doi:10.1111/j. 1750-3639.2004.tb00049.x

- Prineas JW. Multiple sclerosis: presence of lymphatic capillaries and lymphoid tissue in the brain and spinal cord. *Science* (1979) 203(4385):1123–5. doi:10. 1126/science.424741
- Kooi EJ, Geurts JJ, van Horssen J, Bo L, van der Valk P. Meningeal inflammation is not associated with cortical demyelination in chronic multiple sclerosis. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol (2009) 68(9):1021–8. doi:10.1097/NEN.0b013e3181b4bf8f
- Hawker K, O'Connor P, Freedman MS, Calabresi PA, Antel J, Simon J, et al. Rituximab in patients with primary progressive multiple sclerosis: results of a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled multicenter trial. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 66(4):460–71. doi:10.1002/ana.21867
- Monson NL, Cravens PD, Frohman EM, Hawker K, Racke MK. Effect of rituximab on the peripheral blood and cerebrospinal fluid B cells in patients with primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* (2005) 62(2):258–64. doi:10.1001/archneur.62.2.258
- Cross AH, Stark JL, Lauber J, Ramsbottom MJ, Lyons JA. Rituximab reduces B cells and T cells in cerebrospinal fluid of multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neuroimmunol* (2006) 180(1–2):63–70. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.06.029
- Svenningsson A, Bergman J, Dring A, Vagberg M, Birgander R, Lindqvist T, et al. Rapid depletion of B lymphocytes by ultra-low-dose rituximab delivered intrathecally. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2015) 2(2):e79. doi:10. 1212/NXI.000000000000079
- Absinta M, Vuolo L, Rao A, Nair G, Sati P, Cortese IC, et al. Gadolinium-based MRI characterization of leptomeningeal inflammation in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2015) 85(1):18–28. doi:10.1212/WNL.000000000001587

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Blauth, Owens and Bennett. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# B Cells in the Multiple Sclerosis Central Nervous System: Trafficking and Contribution to CNS-Compartmentalized Inflammation

Laure Michel<sup>1†</sup>, Hanane Touil<sup>2†</sup>, Natalia B. Pikor<sup>3</sup>, Jennifer L. Gommerman<sup>3</sup>, Alexandre Prat<sup>1</sup> and Amit Bar-Or<sup>2,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Département de Neurosciences, Centre de Recherche du Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal, Montréal, QC, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Neuroimmunology Unit, Montreal Neurological Institute, McGill University, Montréal, QC, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Department of Immunology, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>4</sup> Experimental Therapeutics Program, Montreal Neurological Institute, McGill University, Montréal, QC, Canada

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Clemens Warnke, Universitätsklinikum Düsseldorf, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Hartmut Wekerle, Max-Planck-Society, Germany Anna Fogdell-Hahn, Karolinska Institutet, Sweden

> \*Correspondence: Amit Bar-Or amit.bar-or@mcgill.ca

<sup>†</sup>Laure Michel and Hanane Touil have contributed equally to this work.

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 03 October 2015 Accepted: 03 December 2015 Published: 24 December 2015

#### Citation:

Michel L, Touil H, Pikor NB, Gommerman JL, Prat A and Bar-Or A (2015) B Cells in the Multiple Sclerosis Central Nervous System: Trafficking and Contribution to CNS-Compartmentalized Inflammation. Front. Immunol. 6:636. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00636 Clinical trial results of peripheral B cell depletion indicate abnormal proinflammatory B cell properties, and particularly antibody-independent functions, contribute to relapsing MS disease activity. However, potential roles of B cells in progressive forms of disease continue to be debated. Prior work indicates that presence of B cells is fostered within the inflamed MS central nervous system (CNS) environment, and that B cell-rich immune cell collections may be present within the meninges of patients. A potential association is reported between such meningeal immune cell collections and the subpial pattern of cortical injury that is now considered important in progressive disease. Elucidating the characteristics of B cells that populate the MS CNS, how they traffic into the CNS and how they may contribute to progressive forms of the disease has become of considerable interest. Here, we will review characteristics of human B cells identified within distinct CNS subcompartments of patients with MS, including the cerebrospinal fluid, parenchymal lesions, and meninges, as well as the relationship between B cell populations identified in these subcompartments and the periphery. We will further describe the different barriers of the CNS and the possible mechanisms of migration of B cells across these barriers. Finally, we will consider the range of human B cell responses (including potential for antibody production, cytokine secretion, and antigen presentation) that may contribute to propagating inflammation and injury cascades thought to underlie MS progression.

Keywords: B cells, multiple sclerosis, central nervous system, meningeal inflammation, trafficking

# INTRODUCTION

Roles of B cells in central nervous system (CNS) inflammatory diseases have been investigated in patients and through elegant animal model studies. Here, we will focus on studies carried out in human, with animal work described in more detail elsewhere in this issue. B cell responses have long since been recognized in MS with variable degrees of evidence implicating them in both early/

	Early/relapsing MS	Later/progressive MS	
Clinical arguments	Anti-CD20 therapy robustly limits new focal inflammatory brain lesions and MS relapses (34–36) PLEX may improve resolution of steroid refractory relapses (38)	Anti-CD20 therapy may limit worsening of disability in ( <i>post hoc</i> ) subgroup analysis of PPMS patients (younger patients; those exhibiting gadolinium enhancing lesions) (37)	
Biological arguments	CSF OCB already present early in relapsing MS course in many patients; IgG levels (39) and presence of IgM OCBs have been associated with MS activity (39–41)	CSF OCB present in majority of patients later in MS course; some implication that their presence is associated with more aggressive or progressive course (39, 40)	
	Abnormal autoantibodies against MOG (27–30) and KIR4.1 (31, 32) reported in some patients with MS; clinical significance remains unclear IgG transfer from MS patients can induce complement-mediated demyelination in animals (27, 42)		
	Dynamic exchange of B cell clones found in MS CNS and periphery, and evidence that activation/maturation may occur in the periphery (13, 43)	Shared B cell/PC clones within different CNS subcompartments including parenchymal lesions, CSF as well as meninges (10)	
Pathological arguments	Common lesion type in pathologic classification of demyelinating lesions notable for deposition of immunoglobulin (Ig) and complement (8)		
	Antibodies and myelin fragments have been identified within phagocytic cells in MS lesions (6, 44)		
	Meningeal inflammation including presence of B cells, as well as subpial cortical demyelinating lesions can be features of early MS (9)	B cell-rich meningeal aggregates associated with subpial cortical lesions reported as more common in progressive forms of MS (10–12)	

PLEX, plasma exchange; OCB, oligoclonal bands; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; PC, plasma cell.

relapsing and later/progressive disease (Table 1). The abnormal presence of antibodies in the CNS continues to represent the most consistent immunodiagnostic feature in patients with MS. Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF)-restricted oligoclonal bands (OCBs) are reported in the CSF of over 90% of MS patients throughout disease stages (1-5). Over the years, pathological implication of B cells has included the demonstration of antimyelin antibodies inside phagocytic cells within MS lesions (6, 7), the observation that the most common demyelinating lesion pattern (Pattern II) is characterized by prominent deposition of antibodies and complement (8), and the more recent descriptions of meningeal immune cell collections that can be B cell rich (9-12). The latter were first described in a proportion of patients with progressive forms of MS and subsequently also within meninges of patients considerably earlier in their disease course (9-12). Molecular analyses of the Immunoglobulin (Ig) variable gene region of B cells and plasma cells from active parenchymal lesions, the CSF, or meninges of MS patients have revealed the persistence of (presumably antigen driven) clonotypes that are shared between these three different CNS subcompartments (10, 13-18). Antibodies generated from clonally expanded plasma cells derived from the CSF of MS patients were capable of both binding human and mouse CNS tissue, and causing complement-mediated demyelination and astrocyte activation in spinal cord explants (19). In spite of the long-standing implication of clonally expanded B cell populations and abnormal antibodies in the MS CNS, the antigens recognized by these antibodies are still subject of debate and different targets have been suggested such as viruses, axoglial proteins, and glycolipids (20-25). The more recent work-deriving antibodies from CSF-expanded B cell clones of MS patients suggest that they may preferentially target neurons and astrocytes (19, 26). The significance of serum antibodies to molecules, such as MOG and KIR4.1, also continues to be investigated (27–33).

The observation that B cell depletion with anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies substantially limits new relapsing MS disease activity (34–36, 45, 46) has made it clear that B cells play important roles in the immune cascades underlying CNS inflammation and has reinvigorated research efforts to elucidate mechanisms underlying such B cell roles. Of interest in this regard, is the observation that while anti-CD20 therapy rapidly reduces new relapsing MS disease activity, the abnormalities in CSF antibody measures seem to persist in the face of the therapeutic benefit (47). This indicates that the therapeutic mechanisms of action by which B cell depletion limits new MS relapses reflect at least in part antibody-independent roles of B cells. Indeed, B cells are now recognized to have multiple functions that may contribute to MS pathogenesis, in addition to their capacity to differentiate into antibody-secreting cells (plasmablasts/plasma cells) (Figure 1). B cells can be highly efficient antigen-presenting cells (APC) to T cells when presenting antigens that they initially recognize with their surface B cell receptor (BCR) (48). In this context, Harp et al. reported that memory B cells in MS patients can efficiently present neuro-antigens to T cells (49, 50). Moreover, activated B cells can modulate the local inflammatory response of both T cells and myeloid cells through secretion of proinflammatory or anti-inflammatory cytokines (described in detail in Li et al., in this issue). Some B cells support proinflammatory functions of other cells through production of TNFa, IL-6, GM-CSF, and Lymphotoxin-alpha (51-55), while IL-10 and IL-35 producing B cells possess anti-inflammatory (regulatory) roles (53, 56–58). In MS, B cells seem to be abnormally polarized toward a more proinflammatory phenotype (54, 55, 59, 60), and defects in their regulatory function have also been suggested by some but not all authors (55, 59-62).

Anti-CD20 therapy has also been studied in Phase III trials of patients with primary progressive MS (PPMS). Treatment in the initial trial using rituximab, failed to limit disease progression though a benefit was suggested in the subgroup of younger patients, and those with evidence of focal inflammatory brain lesions (37). The follow-up ORATORIO study of anti-CD20 (ocrelizumab) focused on younger patients who were closer to clinical PPMS disease-onset, and demonstrated a modest



formation, B cells may release factors that contribute to the formation and/or maintenance of persisting immune cell aggregates in the meninges of MS patients.

treatment benefit in limiting the rate of progression of neurological disability (63, 64). A number of factors may limit a more robust effect of peripheral B cell depletion on progressive MS biology. Meningeal immune cell aggregates in which B cells can be a prominent feature may not be as efficiently targeted by anti-CD20 antibodies that only weakly penetrate the CNS. It is also possible that long-lived plasma cells (that do not express CD20) and the antibodies they generate may play a more important role in progressive forms of MS compared to relapsing MS. B cells are known to play important roles in the formation of normal lymphoid follicle architecture (65, 66). Observations of B cell-rich immune cell collections in the meninges of MS patients [some of which recapitulate lymphoid follicle-like features (9, 11, 12) and reviewed by Pikor and Gommerman, in this issue] raise the intriguing possibility that B cells contribute to the formation and/ or maintenance of such structures. In doing so, the B cells may contribute to propagation of inflammation within the MS CNS. Some or all of the diverse functions of B cells which are now thought to contribute to inflammatory responses in the periphery of MS patients may also be relevant within the CNS.

It now appears likely that functionally distinct B cells contribute to the MS disease process through diverse mechanisms within the distinct disease compartments and throughout different stages of the disease. Peripheral proinflammatory B cells play an important role in relapsing disease mechanisms (see Li et al., in this issue), whereas meningeal collections of B cells potentially participate in the maintenance and propagation of CNS-compartmentalized disease. This review will focus on studies that implicate human B cells within the CNS of MS patients. We will highlight available findings form human studies that (I) consider the sites and characteristics of B cells within the MS CNS subcompartments, including CSF, parenchyma, and meninges; (II) how B cells might get there (barriers/trafficking); and (III) what they might do there (responses that may be relevant to CNS injury processes).

# Where Are B Cells Within the MS CNS?

B cells, plasmablasts, and/or plasma cells have been described in several subcompartments of the CNS of patients with MS, including the CSF, parenchyma, and meninges (**Figure 2A**). Emerging studies are adding to our understanding of the profiles of such cells as well as the relationship between such cells in the different CNS compartments.

## Cerebrospinal Fluid B Cells in MS

Early studies investigating CSF cytology suggested that the number and the relationship of B cells to other CSF immune cells (principally monocytes) may be associated with MS disease severity and progression (67). In particular, a high ratio (predominance of B cells) was associated with more rapid disease progression, whereas a low ratio (predominance of monocytes) was found in patients with slower progression (67). Subsequent



cells in the periphery (possibly triggered by pathogen-associated molecules recognized by cross-reactive T cells; referred to as molecular mimicry) and subsequent trafficking of the activated cells into the CNS (green arrow). However, the demonstration that the CNS clearly has lymphatics that drain into cervical lymph nodes and evidence from somatic mutation analysis indicating bidirectional trafficking of B cells between the CNS and the periphery (with much of the activation and clonal expansion apparently occurring in the periphery) suggests that relapses may also be "invited" from within the CNS (blue arrows). This might occur if proinflammatory B cells exit the chronically inflamed CNS carrying CNS antigens, which they may then present to T cells in the draining cervical lymph nodes with subsequent trafficking of the activated T cells into the CNS.

work demonstrated that CSF B cells in MS CSF are largely classswitched IgD-IgM- memory B cells (68) and that the main B cell effector subset are short-lived plasmablasts (69, 70). Over the years, several groups carried out somatic hypermutation analysis of the variable region of the heavy chain immunoglobulin (Ig V<sub>H</sub>) in B cells obtained from CSF of MS patients in comparison to circulating blood B cells obtained from the patients at the same time (14-18). A consistent finding was that MS CSF harbored increased frequencies of clonally expanded B cells (with post-germinal center memory characteristics) compared to the blood. The mutations appeared to be highly concentrated within the CDR3 region, which has been taken to indicate an antigen-driven selection process of B cells accumulating in the CSF of patients. Presorting and amplifying the variable region of the IgG gene from both total CD19<sup>+</sup> B cells and CD138<sup>+</sup> plasma cell/plasmablasts purified from the CSF of MS patients revealed that both sorted subsets harbored somatically mutated expanded clones (71). The repertoire within the CD138+ subset was more restricted though little sequence overlap was observed between the CD19<sup>+</sup> and CD138<sup>+</sup> repertoires (71). More recently, analysis of genes for IgM-chains in CSF B cells of MS patients revealed extensive accumulation of somatic hypermutation and clonal expansion in IgM-producing B cells (72). Whether or not

these cells initially trafficked into the CNS as naïve B cells, their coexpression of activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID, an enzyme crucial for somatic hypermutation and class switch recombination of antibodies, that is normally expressed during activation of B cells in germinal centers) provides further support that the intrathecal milieu in patients with MS sustains accumulation of germinal center-like experienced B cells that can produce both IgM and IgG antibodies. Additional elegant work examining both CSF B cell IgG-H and Ig- $\kappa$  chains transcriptomes, as well as the oligoclonal Ig proteomes derived from the same CSF of patients with relapsing-remitting MS, showed a correspondence between CSF Ig proteomes and B cell Ig transcriptomes, providing the most direct evidence that expanded CSF B cell clones are responsible for producing the abnormal Ig that comprises the CSF OCB in MS patients (73).

### Parenchymal B Cells in MS Brains

Most histopathologic studies of MS are based on autopsy tissues, which tend to be obtained relatively late in the disease course. When patients undergo biopsy earlier in the course of disease, such tissues may not be representative of typical MS pathology as biopsies tend to be done only when the lesion and/or clinical presentation are sufficiently atypical. Thus, available insights into the distribution and magnitude of B cell infiltrates within the MS CNS (whether in the parenchyma or meninges) largely reflect longer-standing disease states. With respect to the parenchyma, studies have generally indicated that the classical deep white matter perivascular demyelinating lesions of MS typically exhibit relatively few B cells and plasma cells compared to the greater abundance of myeloid cells and T cells (8, 74, 75). At the same time, demyelinating lesion classification has identified "Type II" lesions (that exhibit considerable Ig and complement deposition) as the most common demyelinating lesion type in MS (8, 74). It is noteworthy that in a study of 26 active lesions from 11 patients diagnosed with relatively early MS, demyelinated lesions reportedly exhibited considerable numbers of B cells as well as IgG-positive plasma cells, in addition to T cells and myeloid cells (75, 76). This raises the possibility that B cells and plasma cells may be a more common feature of early, as compared to later, MS parenchymal lesions. Somatic mutation analysis of B cells and plasma cells isolated from both parenchymal lesions and CSF of the same MS patients at autopsy demonstrated clonally expanded and somatically hypermutated populations within the tissue samples, as well as shared clones populating the tissue and CSF (77). Shared clones were subsequently demonstrated in parenchyma and meninges of the patients (10). These observations point to relatedness of expanded B cell and plasma cell clones in both parenchymal and extraparenchymal subcompartments of the MS CNS, at least later in disease.

# B Cells Within Meningeal Immune Cell Collections in MS

Cellular immune aggregates have been reported in the meninges of patients with MS, some of which were found to be rich in B cells, and have been referred to as "ectopic follicles" or "folliclelike structures" based on their resemblance to tertiary lymphoid tissues (TLT) (11, 12). Early studies described these structures mainly in subsets of relatively late-phase SPMS and PPMS patients (11, 12, 78, 79). Presence of these meningeal immune cell collections was associated with more aggressive clinical disease and a greater extent of tissue injury in the subjacent cortical regions. The pattern of the demyelinating subpial cortical injury associated with meningeal inflammation involved a gradient of microglial activation, reduced numbers of oligodendrocytes, and neuronal loss, such that the most severe injury was present in the most superficial cortical layers. Meningeal immune cell aggregates were most commonly found in the deep sulci of the temporal, cingulate, insula, and frontal cortex (79). Based on these initial reports, the prevailing concept was that meningeal inflammation in MS is a feature of a subset of patients with late/ progressive disease. However, recent imaging studies demonstrate leptomeningeal contrast enhancement in the brain of individuals with RRMS (80) and substantial meningeal inflammation has also been described in biopsy material obtained from patients relatively early in their MS disease course (9). While these biopsies were obtained for diagnostic purposes of atypical deep white matter lesions, the biopsy trajectories captured meningeal and cortical tissue that exhibited the typical features of cortical MS injury, and demonstrated considerable meningeal inflammation.

The cortical tissue underlying the meningeal immune cell collections in these early cases depicted a similar demyelinating injury pattern (with enhanced microglial activation, reduced number of oligodendrocytes, and neuronal/neuritic loss) as was described in the more chronic cases (11, 78). Further characterization of meningeal immune cell aggregates in MS indicated that at least some are enriched in proliferating (Ki67<sup>+</sup>) CD20<sup>+</sup> B cells. Presence of some plasma cells/plasmablasts, CD8+ and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, and CXCL13-producing CD35<sup>+</sup> cells with follicular dendritic cell characteristics were also described (12, 79, 81). As noted, somatic hypermutation analysis of the BCR in B cells and plasma cells isolated from meningeal immune cell aggregates, as well as parenchymal lesions and CSF from the same MS patients, demonstrated that related B cell clones populate all three compartments (10), again underscoring the relatedness of clonally expanded B cells found in the MS CNS. CNS-infiltrating B cells are also clonally related to peripheral B cells (13, 14, 18) raising intriguing questions about the dynamics involved in trafficking of B cells into the CNS and among these distinct CNS subcompartments as discussed below. It is still not clear whether formation of meningeal immune cell collections occurs commonly and throughout the different (early and late) phases of disease, and whether their presence contributes to, or is merely the consequence of underlying tissue injury. Indeed, some groups did not identify the presence of meningeal immune cell aggregates or a relation between such aggregates and cortical injury (82). These discrepancies may reflect true biological heterogeneity across patients, transient presence of meningeal inflammation (for example, during periods of more active CNS inflammation), or technical reasons as these structures tend to be very small ( $\leq 100 \,\mu\text{m}$  in thickness) and may be lost depending on the approach to tissue processing.

# What Routes Might B Cells Use to Infiltrate the CNS?

Anatomical Routes to Cross the Blood/CNS Barriers

The CNS (comprising the brain and spinal cord) which was historically referred to as immune privileged is now referred to as immune specialized with the understanding that peripherally derived immune cells do patrol the CNS as part of normal physiologic immune surveillance (83–85). This immune specialization is conferred by the presence of barriers that restrict the passage of large molecules and limit broader cell infiltration. While the most known of these specialized barriers is the blood–brain barrier (BBB), two less well studied but nonetheless important other barriers are the blood–meningeal barrier (BMB) and the blood CSF barrier (BCB).

### The Blood-Brain Barrier

The BBB is a structure formed by specialized endothelial cells (ECs) that separates the CNS from systemic circulation. CNS blood vessels are made of two main cell types: the ECs themselves and the mural cells that sit on the abluminal surface of the EC layer (i.e., pericytes and astrocytes). CNS ECs are characterized by the presence of tight junctions that limit the paracellular flux of solutes and by a very low rate of transcytosis. These properties

permit a tight control of the exchange between the brain and the blood (86). Maintenance of the BBB is governed by both cellular and non-cellular elements that interact with the ECs. Astrocytes, pericytes, and the extracellular matrix together provide structural and functional support to the BBB (87–89). The term "neurovascular unit" (NVU) additionally refers to neurons and microglia cells that also contribute to this barrier. At the level of the postcapillary venule, two distinct basement membranes (endothelial and parenchymal) define the inner and outer border of the perivascular space. Basement membranes keep members of the NVU in place and regulate their intercellular cross-talk.

#### The Blood-Meningeal Barrier

The meninges are composed of three layers that surround the CNS (Dura mater, Arachnoid mater, and Pia mater) and contain the CSF located within the subarachnoid space. In the brain, the gray matter is directly adjacent to the meninges. While the meninges were initially considered as a mere physical barrier preventing entry of infections and toxins into the CNS, more recent findings have established this tissue as a site of active immunity in both health and disease (84, 85, 90). Similar to barrier membranes in the gut and lungs, the meninges can house a wide variety of immune-competent cells such as macrophages, dendritic cells, mast cells, innate lymphoid cells, and fibroblasts that can provide effective protection against microbes (91-93). As is the case with the other immunologically competent barriers, the meninges can also be the site of chronic inflammation in pathologic states. The description of meningeal immune cell collections associated with MS has reinforced the concept that the BMB could be an important pathway in immune cell CNS trafficking. Indeed, live imaging studies in animals demonstrate that lymphocytes cross the BMB prior to onset of CNS inflammation and appear to become reactivated in the subarachnoid space as part of disease instigation (94, 95). Relatively, little is known about the properties of ECs located in the meninges, which appear to differ in important ways from parenchymal ECs associated with the BBB. For example, meningeal microvessels lack the rich astrocytic ensheathment, which characterizes the microvessels in the CNS parenchyma (96).

#### The Blood CSF Barrier

Another port of entry into the CNS is the choroid plexus (CP) forming a barrier between the blood and CSF. This villous structure extends into the ventricular organs and is also responsible for producing the CSF. The CP is made up of a layer of epithelial cells surrounding a core of fenestrated capillaries and connective tissue, allowing the free diffusion of solutes from the blood toward the parenchyma through inter-endothelial gaps. The monolayer of epithelial cells has tight gap junctions that prevent the flux of macromolecules and cells and acts as a blood:CSF barrier (97). It has been shown that ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 are constitutively expressed by CP epithelial cells (98), and this barrier may be a port of entry of pathogenic TH17 cells during the commonly used animal model of CNS inflammation, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis

(EAE), an influx mediated at least in part *via* CCR6/CCL20 interactions (99).

# Molecular Mechanisms Underlying Cell Trafficking into the CNS

#### The Multistep Process of Leukocyte Extravasation

In healthy individuals, there is a very low rate of ongoing immune surveillance of the CNS. Immune cell migration across barriers is normally tightly regulated and involves a multistep process. These different steps include rolling, firm adhesion, crawling, and extravasation (97, 100-104). The initial contact between leukocytes and the endothelium is usually mediated by adhesion molecules of the selectin family. This first step allows the reduction of the leukocyte velocity in the bloodstream, hence allowing them to detect the chemokine factors secreted by, or bound to ECs. The binding of chemokines to their cognate receptors expressed on the surface of leukocytes leads to an increased avidity/affinity of interaction between cellular adhesion molecules (immunoglobulin family members such as VCAM1, ICAM1, ALCAM, and MCAM) and adhesion molecule receptors such as those of the integrin family, which contributes to firm adhesion of the cells to the endothelium. Subsequent leukocyte polarization and crawling (typically against the direction of blood flow) to sites permissive for diapedesis, requires the expression of ICAM1 and 2 (but not VCAM1) by ECs and is a prerequisite for immune cell diapedesis across the BBB (94).

Leukocytes can then migrate through inter-endothelial regions (diapedesis) or directly through the ECs themselves. Expression of several of these adhesion molecules has been found to be highly increased in MS tissue and is thought to contribute to the extravasation of leukocytes into the CNS parenchyma of patients (100–106). Different preferential pathways and molecular mechanisms of trafficking across the BBB have already been identified for T cells and monocytes [for review, see Ref. (97)]. Less is known concerning B cell migration into the CNS.

#### Molecules Implicated in B Cell Migration into the CNS

Natalizumab, which binds VLA-4, is one of the most potent therapies in RRMS. Studies have mainly focused on its impact on T cells migration across the BBB, but B cells express also high levels of VLA-4 (107, 108). A major role of VLA-4 in B cells migration across human adult brain-derived ECs has been shown in vitro, with a prominent role also identified for ICAM-1 (108). A recent study has reported that the selective inhibition of VLA-4 expression on B cells reduces the susceptibility to EAE by decreasing B cell accumulation inside the CNS but also by interfering with TH17/macrophage recruitment (109). Finally, another adhesion molecule named ALCAM (activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule) seems to promote B cell trafficking into the CNS across the BBB (103). Nonetheless, little is known about whether distinct B cell subsets that have been implicated in MS utilize particular molecular pathways to get across the BBB, and whether and how B cells traffic across the other CNS barriers (BMB and CP), are among key questions that have not yet been elucidated.

### Dynamics of B Cell Infiltration into the MS CNS

Until recently, the documentation of clonally expanded B cells in the MS CNS including CSF, lesions, and meninges, has been taken as evidence that B cell clonal expansion is driven (by one or more unknown antigens) within the CNS of patients (10, 13-18). More recent evidence points to the potential for more dynamic, bidirectional exchange of B cells between the CNS and periphery (Figure 2B), including clonal expansion that occurs in both compartments (13, 14). Since the initial study implicating active diversification of B cells on both sides of the BBB (18), two additional complementary studies confirmed that particular B cells found outside the CNS (in both peripheral blood and draining cervical lymph nodes), share clonality with B cells populating the brain (13, 14) and exhibit evidence of presumably antigen-driven expansion on both sides of the BBB. In one of these studies, using paired CNS tissue and draining cervical lymph nodes from the same patient source, not only were shared B cell clones identified in the two compartments, but the founding clones and much of the subsequent maturation involved in the bidirectional exchange, appeared to take place in the cervical lymph nodes rather than the CNS (13, 14). This could provide a mechanism for "epitope spread," a phenomenon well described in animal studies whereby the antigenic target of the CNS inflammatory attack shifts over time as injury exposes additional epitopes (110). Supporting a role for B cells in such "epitope spread" in patients with MS are observations from antigen array studies indicating that the circulating repertoire of serum anti-CNS antibodies appears to expand in children with MS, yet constrict in children with monophasic CNS inflammatory disease, over time (111).

It is now also apparent that the CNS is not as "immune privileged" as previously thought, with organized lymphatic draining that allows CNS antigens and potential APC to exit from the CNS including the meninges and to access the periphery (84, 85). Based on these observations, one can challenge the prevailing view that MS relapses are invariably triggered by some external stimulus (e.g., pathogen exposure) resulting in peripheral immune cell activation and trafficking into the CNS. Instead, cells capable of antigen presentation, such as B cells, may drain from the CNS into the draining lymph nodes, and present CNS antigens to T cells with subsequent T cell activation and trafficking involved in new relapsing disease activity.

# How Might B Cells Within the CNS Contribute to MS Disease Mechanisms?

While the capacity of B cells to mediate aberrant T cell activation in the periphery could explain the substantial contribution of B cells to relapsing MS biology (evidenced by robust relapse-reduction following B cell depletion with anti-CD20 therapy), whether and how B cells may also contribute to progressive (non-relapsing) disease remains to be elucidated. The biology underlying CNS injury in progressive MS is now thought to involve a combination of degeneration and ongoing inflammation that is compartmentalized within the CNS (112). Such compartmentalized inflammation involves astrocyte and microglial activation, though the molecular mechanisms driving such chronic activation remain largely unknown. Since B cells are recognized to persist in the chronically inflamed MS CNS (10, 13, 14, 16), and evidence has mounted that B cells of patients with MS exhibit abnormal proinflammatory response profiles (54, 55, 59, 60), it has been tempting to consider whether B cells chronically residing in the CNS may contribute to propagating local injury processes even independent of B cell roles in relapsing disease biology. This concept is reinforced by reports of meningeal immune cell infiltrates which can be rich in B cells and that have now been identified in both early and late (9, 11, 12, 79) stages of MS. One potential mechanism by which B cells could contribute to ongoing injury is through secretion of CNS-directed autoantibodies (5, 6, 8). As noted, somatic mutation analysis has indicated that clonally expanded B cells and plasma cells are shared between the different CNS subcompartments (CSF, parenchyma, and meninges) (10). Moreover, CSF-derived B cell clones can produce antibody that binds CNS cells (including neurons and astrocytes) and can be shown to cause complement-mediated injury to such structures in CNS explants (19, 26). Antibody-independent contributions (e.g., Figure 1) of B cells to propagating inflammation in the MS CNS should also be considered. The great majority of B cells identified in the MS CNS (regardless of subcompartment) appear to be preferentially memory rather than naïve B cells (14, 15), and it is now recognized that memory B cells of MS patients may have particular proinflammatory propensities including the capacity to express exaggerated levels of immune activating molecules and proinflammatory cytokines (55, 59). This may be particularly relevant when considering meningeal B cell-rich immune collections and the subpial cortical demyelinating injury, which is now thought to importantly contribute to progressive loss of neurological function in patients with MS. These subpial demyelinating lesions are notable for microglial activation, astrogliosis, and neuronal loss, and their location may be associated with regions subjacent to areas of meningeal immune cell collections (81). It is intriguing to speculate whether particular B cell subsets persisting within such immune cell collections may impact the underlying glial neural cells through the release of specific soluble factors. In turn, what factors within the inflamed CNS milieu may sustain B cells in that environment? Does CNS persistence of particular B cell clones relate to the antigenic specificity of the B cells? In the case of primary CNS lymphoma, there is some evidence that specific recognition by tumoral B cells of CNS antigens contribute to fostering local tumor survival and proliferation (113), and such a mechanism may also contribute to persistence of B cells in the MS CNS. A number of features of the inflamed MS CNS may support B cells unrelated to their antigenic specificity. These include soluble factors known to support B cell survival that are produced by activated astrocytes and microglia - such as BAFF, IL-6, IL-10, and IL-15 - all reportedly found at increased levels within the CSF of MS patients (114-116). Some of these factors (BAFF and IL-6) also support the survival of plasma cells. In the context of EAE, plasmablasts and plasma cells have been implicated in regulating neuroinflammation through their production of cytokines such as IL-10 and IL-35, although it is



What are preferential routes of migration of B cells into the CNS?

Which molecules are involved in migration of distinct B cell subsets?

What are the molecular mechanisms that favor B cell persistence in the MS CNS?

What are the antigenic specificities of abnormal CSF immunoglobulins (Ig) in MS?

Which Ig are disease-relevant vs. an epiphenomenon of chronic activation? Which response profiles (proinflammatory/anti-inflammatory) characterize CNS B cells?

What are the different roles of B cells within immune cell aggregates in the meninges?

What are the interactions between B cells and other cells in the inflamed MS CNS?

- Do they have direct effects on oligodendrocytes and neurons?
- Do they present antigen/s to T cells? Do they modulate T cell activation/ polarization?
- Do they influence astrocyte/microglia activation/polarization and vice versa?

unclear if this is occurring exclusively in the periphery (lymph nodes) or also in the CNS itself (56, 117). Thus, identifying the particular B cell subsets that preferentially migrate into, and are then fostered within, the MS CNS, and elucidating how they may contribute to propagating local injury responses are of considerable interest for future studies.

### Perspectives

The success of anti-CD20 therapies has made it clear that B cells contribute substantially to the initiation of MS relapses. Growing evidence suggests this largely reflects non-antibodydependent proinflammatory roles of B cells in the periphery, where they can aberrantly activate disease-relevant T cells, which in turn traffic to the CNS and mediate relapses. The inflamed MS CNS appears to foster persistence of B cells and plasma cells and the same clonally expanded populations can be found within different CNS subcompartments (CSF, parenchyma, and meninges). There is an early appreciation that multiple distinct barriers separate the CNS from the periphery, including the BBB, meningeal, and choroidal interfaces. Elegant studies now underscore the bidirectional trafficking of B cells between the CNS and the periphery and reveal that maturation of expanded clones that populate the CNS of patients may be peripherally rather than centrally driven. Despite key advances, little is known about B cell contributions to the chronic nonrelapsing CNS-compartmentalized inflammation that may underlie progressive tissue injury and worsening of disability in MS. A number of observations make such contributions (through both antibody-dependent and antibody-independent mechanisms) plausible and worthy of further study. Key observations reviewed here include the known persistence of B cells in the inflamed MS CNS of patients; the demonstration that CSF-derived B cell clones isolated from MS patients can bind CNS (including neurons and astrocytes) and cause complementmediated injury; the now recognized abnormal proinflammatory response propensity of MS B cells; potential cross-talk between B cells and activated CNS glial cells; and the reported association

#### BOX 2 | The case of Neuromyelitis Optica (NMO).

For years, neuromyelitis optica (NMO) was largely considered a variant of MS until the discovery of serum antibodies to the water channel aquaporin (AQP)-4, which distinguished patients with NMO from those with MS (118, 119). A growing range of clinical syndromes found to harbor such antibodies has since lead to the characterization of "NMO spectrum disorders" (NMOSD) as a pathophysiologic spectrum that should be considered distinct from multiple sclerosis (120). Unlike MS (in which no particular antibody has been firmly linked to pathophysiology), a convergence of pathologic (121-125) and clinical (126-131) observations supports a pathophysiologic role of anti-AQP-4 antibodies in NMOSD [reviewed by Ref. (132, 133)]. While anti-AQP-4 antibodies are thought to be pathogenic in NMOSD, the observation that decreased NMO relapses seen following anti-CD20-mediated B-cell depletion do not correlate well with changes in anti-AQP4 antibody titers (134-136), indicates that the role of B cells in NMO may extend beyond antibody production. Such antibody-independent roles may include the capacity of B cells activate T cells and/or myeloid cells, as also implicated in MS. The observation that anti-AQP-4 antibodies are more readily detectable in serum rather than CSF of NMOSD patients has raised the question whether pathogenic antibodies are exclusively generated in the periphery and subsequently access the CNS, or whether plasmablasts and plasma cells that secrete such antibodies can be induced and fostered within the CNS. A recent study indicates that during NMO exacerbations, a substantial fraction of the intrathecal Ig proteome is generated by B cells of both peripheral and central origin (137). This suggests that in order for NMO therapies aiming to target the source of anti-AQP-4 antibodies to be most effective, they will need to access both the periphery and the CNS. Pathologically, NMO is characterized by an astrocytopathy with vasculocentric deposition of complement, vascular fibrosis, and eosinophilic infiltration, with associated white matter and gray matter injury. Meningeal immune cell collections with follicle-like features and cortical demyelination do not appear to be features of NMO pathology (138).

between B cell-containing meningeal immune cell infiltrates and presence of the subpial cortical injury increasingly thought to underlie progressive decline of functions in patients with progressive MS. Future work should aim to address key remaining questions (**Box 1**) thereby shedding light on which functionally distinct B cell subsets are present in the different anatomical subcompartments in the CNS, which molecular mechanisms and barriers are involved in their trafficking into those sites, what their antigenic specificities are, how are they fostered in the local environment, how they interact with glial and neural cells and ultimately how they contribute to disease propagation in the MS CNS as compared to the case of NMO (**Box 2**). These insights will hopefully help guide novel therapeutic options that may prove as useful for limiting progressive disease biology as peripheral B cell depletion has been for limiting relapses.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LM, HT, and AB-O designed and wrote the manuscript. AP, JG, and NP helped critically the manuscript.

# FUNDING

Members of the "Canadian B cells in MS Team" (PIs: AB-O, AP, and JG) are funded through a collaborative team grant from the Research Foundation of the MS Society of Canada.

## REFERENCES

- Freedman MS, Thompson EJ, Deisenhammer F, Giovannoni G, Grimsley G, Keir G, et al. Recommended standard of cerebrospinal fluid analysis in the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: a consensus statement. *Arch Neurol* (2005) 62(6):865–70. doi:10.1001/archneur.62.6.865
- Tourtellotte WW, Ingram TJ, Shapshak P, Staugaitis SM, Reiber HO. Correlation of multiple sclerosis (MS) IgG fractionated by capillary isotachophoresis (ITP) and by isoelectric focusing polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (IEF-PAGE). *Prog Clin Biol Res* (1984) 146:379–84.
- Archelos JJ, Storch MK, Hartung HP. The role of B cells and autoantibodies in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol (2000) 47(6):694–706. doi:10.1002/1531-8249(200006)47:6<694::AID-ANA2>3.3.CO;2-N
- Trojano M, Logroscino GC, Pisicchio L, Rosato A, Bordo B, Citterio A, et al. The multiple sclerosis cooperative etiological study in Italy: preliminary analysis of CSF findings. *Ital J Neurol Sci* (1987) Suppl 6:71–6.
- Siritho S, Freedman MS. The prognostic significance of cerebrospinal fluid in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci (2009) 279(1–2):21–5. doi:10.1016/j. jns.2008.12.029
- Genain CP, Cannella B, Hauser SL, Raine CS. Identification of autoantibodies associated with myelin damage in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Med* (1999) 5(2):170–5. doi:10.1038/5532
- Prineas JW, Raine CS. Electron microscopy and immunoperoxidase studies of early multiple sclerosis lesions. *Neurology* (1976) 26(6 Pt 2):29–32. doi:10.1212/WNL.26.6\_Part\_2.29
- Lucchinetti C, Brück W, Parisi J, Scheithauer B, Rodriguez M, Lassmann H. Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination. *Ann Neurol* (2000) 47(6):707–17. doi:10.1002/1531-8249(200006)47:6<707::AID-ANA3>3.0.CO;2-Q
- Lucchinetti CF, Popescu BF, Bunyan RF, Moll NM, Roemer SF, Lassmann H, et al. Inflammatory cortical demyelination in early multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med* (2011) 365(23):2188–97. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1100648
- Lovato L, Willis SN, Rodig SJ, Caron T, Almendinger SE, Howell OW, et al. Related B cell clones populate the meninges and parenchyma of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2011) 134(Pt 2):534–41. doi:10.1093/brain/awq350
- Magliozzi R, Howell O, Vora A, Serafini B, Nicholas R, Puopolo M, et al. Meningeal B-cell follicles in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis associate with early onset of disease and severe cortical pathology. *Brain* (2007) 130(Pt 4):1089–104. doi:10.1093/brain/awm038
- Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Magliozzi R, Stigliano E, Aloisi F. Detection of ectopic B-cell follicles with germinal centers in the meninges of patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain Pathol* (2004) 14(2):164–74. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2004.tb00049.x
- Stern JN, Yaari G, Vander Heiden JA, Church G, Donahue WF, Hintzen RQ, et al. B cells populating the multiple sclerosis brain mature in the draining cervical lymph nodes. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(248):248ra107. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3008879
- Palanichamy A, Apeltsin L, Kuo TC, Sirota M, Wang S, Pitts SJ, et al. Immunoglobulin class-switched B cells form an active immune axis between CNS and periphery in multiple sclerosis. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(248):248ra106. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008930
- Qin Y, Duquette P, Zhang Y, Talbot P, Poole R, Antel J. Clonal expansion and somatic hypermutation of V(H) genes of B cells from cerebrospinal fluid in multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Invest* (1998) **102**(5):1045–50. doi:10.1172/ JCI3568
- Baranzini SE, Jeong MC, Butunoi C, Murray RS, Bernard CC, Oksenberg JR. B cell repertoire diversity and clonal expansion in multiple sclerosis brain lesions. *J Immunol* (1999) 163(9):5133–44.
- Colombo M, Dono M, Gazzola P, Roncella S, Valetto A, Chiorazzi N, et al. Accumulation of clonally related B lymphocytes in the cerebrospinal fluid of multiple sclerosis patients. *J Immunol* (2000) 164(5):2782–9. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.164.5.2782
- von Büdingen HC, Kuo TC, Sirota M, van Belle CJ, Apeltsin L, Glanville J, et al. B cell exchange across the blood-brain barrier in multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122(12):4533–43. doi:10.1172/JCI63842
- 19. Blauth K, Soltys J, Matschulat A, Reiter CR, Ritchie A, Baird NL, et al. Antibodies produced by clonally expanded plasma cells in multiple

sclerosis cerebrospinal fluid cause demyelination of spinal cord explants. *Acta Neuropathol* (2015) **130**(6):765–81. doi:10.1007/s00401-015-1500-6

- Mathey EK, Derfuss T, Storch MK, Williams KR, Hales K, Woolley DR, et al. Neurofascin as a novel target for autoantibody-mediated axonal injury. *J Exp* Med (2007) 204(10):2363–72. doi:10.1084/jem.20071053
- Derfuss T, Parikh K, Velhin S, Braun M, Mathey E, Krumbholz M, et al. Contactin-2/TAG-1-directed autoimmunity is identified in multiple sclerosis patients and mediates gray matter pathology in animals. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A (2009) 106(20):8302–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0901496106
- Kanter JL, Narayana S, Ho PP, Catz I, Warren KG, Sobel RA, et al. Lipid microarrays identify key mediators of autoimmune brain inflammation. *Nat Med* (2006) 12(1):138–43. doi:10.1038/nm1344
- Brennan KM, Galban-Horcajo F, Rinaldi S, O'Leary CP, Goodyear CS, Kalna G, et al. Lipid arrays identify myelin-derived lipids and lipid complexes as prominent targets for oligoclonal band antibodies in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2011) 238(1–2):87–95. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.08.002
- Ho PP, Kanter JL, Johnson AM, Srinagesh HK, Chang EJ, Purdy TM, et al. Identification of naturally occurring fatty acids of the myelin sheath that resolve neuroinflammation. *Sci Transl Med* (2012) 4(137):137ra73. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3003831
- Krumbholz M, Derfuss T, Hohlfeld R, Meinl E. B cells and antibodies in multiple sclerosis pathogenesis and therapy. *Nat Rev Neurol* (2012) 8(11):613–23. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2012.203
- 26. Ligocki AJ, Rivas JR, Rounds WH, Guzman AA, Li M, Spadaro M, et al. A distinct class of antibodies may be an indicator of gray matter autoimmunity in early and established relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis patients. ASN Neuro (2015) 7(5):1759091415609613. doi:10.1177/1759091415609613
- Zhou D, Srivastava R, Nessler S, Grummel V, Sommer N, Brück W, et al. Identification of a pathogenic antibody response to native myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in multiple sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103(50):19057–62. doi:10.1073/pnas.0607242103
- McLaughlin KA, Chitnis T, Newcombe J, Franz B, Kennedy J, McArdel S, et al. Age-dependent B cell autoimmunity to a myelin surface antigen in pediatric multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(6):4067–76. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0801888
- Meinl E, Derfuss T, Krumbholz M, Pröbstel AK, Hohlfeld R. Humoral autoimmunity in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci (2011) 306(1–2):180–2. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2010.08.009
- Mayer MC, Breithaupt C, Reindl M, Schanda K, Rostásy K, Berger T, et al. Distinction and temporal stability of conformational epitopes on myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein recognized by patients with different inflammatory central nervous system diseases. *J Immunol* (2013) **191**(7):3594–604. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1301296
- Srivastava R, Aslam M, Kalluri SR, Schirmer L, Buck D, Tackenberg B, et al. Potassium channel KIR4.1 as an immune target in multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 367(2):115–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1110740
- Kraus V, Srivastava R, Kalluri SR, Seidel U, Schuelke M, Schimmel M, et al. Potassium channel KIR4.1-specific antibodies in children with acquired demyelinating CNS disease. *Neurology* (2014) 82(6):470–3. doi:10.1212/ WNL.000000000000097
- Ketelslegers IA, Van Pelt DE, Bryde S, Neuteboom RF, Catsman-Berrevoets CE, Hamann D, et al. Anti-MOG antibodies plead against MS diagnosis in an acquired demyelinating syndromes cohort. *Mult Scler* (2015) 21(12):1513–20. doi:10.1177/1352458514566666
- Bar-Or A, Calabresi PA, Arnold D, Markowitz C, Shafer S, Kasper LH, et al. Rituximab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a 72-week, open-label, phase I trial. *Ann Neurol* (2008) 63(3):395–400. doi:10.1002/ana.21363
- Hauser SL, Waubant E, Arnold DL, Vollmer T, Antel J, Fox RJ, et al. B-cell depletion with rituximab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2008) 358(7):676–88. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0706383
- Kappos L, Li D, Calabresi PA, O'Connor P, Bar-Or A, Barkhof F, et al. Ocrelizumab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a phase 2, randomised, placebo-controlled, multicentre trial. *Lancet* (2011) 378(9805):1779–87. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61649-8
- Hawker K, O'Connor P, Freedman MS, Calabresi PA, Antel J, Simon J, et al. Rituximab in patients with primary progressive multiple sclerosis: results of a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled multicenter trial. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 66(4):460–71. doi:10.1002/ana.21867

- Gwathmey K, Balogun RA, Burns T. Neurologic indications for therapeutic plasma exchange: 2013 update. J Clin Apher (2014) 29(4):211–9. doi:10.1002/ jca.21331
- 39. Annunziata P, Giorgio A, De Santi L, Zipoli V, Portaccio E, Amato MP, et al. Absence of cerebrospinal fluid oligoclonal bands is associated with delayed disability progression in relapsing-remitting MS patients treated with interferon-beta. *J Neurol Sci* (2006) 244(1-2):97-102. doi:10.1016/j. jns.2006.01.004
- Joseph FG, Hirst CL, Pickersgill TP, Ben-Shlomo Y, Robertson NP, Scolding NJ. CSF oligoclonal band status informs prognosis in multiple sclerosis: a case control study of 100 patients. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2009) 80(3):292–6. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2008.150896
- Villar LM, Masjuan J, González-Porqué P, Plaza J, Sádaba MC, Roldán E, et al. Intrathecal IgM synthesis is a prognostic factor in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol* (2003) 53(2):222–6. doi:10.1002/ana.10441
- Elliott C, Lindner M, Arthur A, Brennan K, Jarius S, Hussey J, et al. Functional identification of pathogenic autoantibody responses in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2012) 135(Pt 6):1819–33. doi:10.1093/brain/ aws105
- Palanichamy A, Jahn S, Nickles D, Derstine M, Abounasr A, Hauser SL, et al. Rituximab efficiently depletes increased CD20-expressing T cells in multiple sclerosis patients. *J Immunol* (2014) **193**(2):580–6. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1400118
- O'Connor KC, Appel H, Bregoli L, Call ME, Catz I, Chan JA, et al. Antibodies from inflamed central nervous system tissue recognize myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *J Immunol* (2005) 175(3):1974–82. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.175.3.1974
- 45. Bar-Or A, Grove R, Austin D, Tolson JM, VanMeter SA, Lewis E, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group, dose-ranging study to investigate the safety and MRI efficacy of subcutaneous ofatumumab in subjects with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis (RRMS). *Neurology* (2014) 82(10):S23.006.
- 46. Sorensen PS, Lisby S, Grove R, Derosier F, Shackelford S, Havrdova E, et al. Safety and efficacy of ofatumumab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a phase 2 study. *Neurology* (2014) 82(7):573–81. doi:10.1212/ WNL.000000000000125
- Piccio L, Naismith RT, Trinkaus K, Klein RS, Parks BJ, Lyons JA, et al. Changes in B- and T-lymphocyte and chemokine levels with rituximab treatment in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* (2010) 67(6):707–14. doi:10.1001/ archneurol.2010.99
- Pöllinger B, Krishnamoorthy G, Berer K, Lassmann H, Bösl MR, Dunn R, et al. Spontaneous relapsing-remitting EAE in the SJL/J mouse: MOGreactive transgenic T cells recruit endogenous MOG-specific B cells. J Exp Med (2009) 206(6):1303–16. doi:10.1084/jem.20090299
- Harp CT, Lovett-Racke AE, Racke MK, Frohman EM, Monson NL. Impact of myelin-specific antigen presenting B cells on T cell activation in multiple sclerosis. *Clin Immunol* (2008) 128(3):382–91. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2008.05.002
- Harp CT, Ireland S, Davis LS, Remington G, Cassidy B, Cravens PD, et al. Memory B cells from a subset of treatment-naive relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients elicit CD4(+) T-cell proliferation and IFN-gamma production in response to myelin basic protein and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(10):2942–56. doi:10.1002/eji.201040516
- Duddy ME, Alter A, Bar-Or A. Distinct profiles of human B cell effector cytokines: a role in immune regulation? *J Immunol* (2004) 172(6):3422–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.6.3422
- Rauch PJ, Chudnovskiy A, Robbins CS, Weber GF, Etzrodt M, Hilgendorf I, et al. Innate response activator B cells protect against microbial sepsis. *Science* (2012) 335(6068):597–601. doi:10.1126/science.1215173
- Dang VD, Hilgenberg E, Ries S, Shen P, Fillatreau S. From the regulatory functions of B cells to the identification of cytokine-producing plasma cell subsets. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2014) 28:77–83. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2014.02.009
- Barr TA, Shen P, Brown S, Lampropoulou V, Roch T, Lawrie S, et al. B cell depletion therapy ameliorates autoimmune disease through ablation of IL-6-producing B cells. J Exp Med (2012) 209(5):1001–10. doi:10.1084/ jem.20111675
- 55. Li R, Rezk A, Miyazaki Y, Hilgenberg E, Touil H, Shen P, et al. \* On behalf of the 'Canadian B cells in MS Team' proinflammatory GM-CSF producing B cells: implication in multiple sclerosis and B cell depletion therapy. *Sci Transl Med* (2015) 7(310):310ra166. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aab4176

- Shen P, Roch T, Lampropoulou V, O'Connor RA, Stervbo U, Hilgenberg E, et al. IL-35-producing B cells are critical regulators of immunity during autoimmune and infectious diseases. *Nature* (2014) 507(7492):366–70. doi:10.1038/nature12979
- Wolf SD, Dittel BN, Hardardottir F, Janeway CA Jr. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis induction in genetically B cell-deficient mice. *J Exp Med* (1996) 184(6):2271–8. doi:10.1084/jem.184.6.2271
- Fillatreau S, Sweenie CH, McGeachy MJ, Gray D, Anderton SM. B cells regulate autoimmunity by provision of IL-10. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3(10):944–50. doi:10.1038/ni833
- Duddy M, Niino M, Adatia F, Hebert S, Freedman M, Atkins H, et al. Distinct effector cytokine profiles of memory and naive human B cell subsets and implication in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**(10):6092–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.10.6092
- Bar-Or A, Fawaz L, Fan B, Darlington PJ, Rieger A, Ghorayeb C, et al. Abnormal B-cell cytokine responses a trigger of T-cell-mediated disease in MS? *Ann Neurol* (2010) 67(4):452–61. doi:10.1002/ana.21939
- Correale J, Farez M, Razzitte G. Helminth infections associated with multiple sclerosis induce regulatory B cells. *Ann Neurol* (2008) 64(2):187–99. doi:10.1002/ana.21438
- 62. Michel L, Chesneau M, Manceau P, Genty A, Garcia A, Salou M, et al. Unaltered regulatory B-cell frequency and function in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Clin Immunol* (2014) **155**(2):198–208. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2014.09.011
- 63. Montalban X. Efficacy and Safety of Ocrelizumab in Primary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis-Results of the Placebo-Controlled, Double-Blind, Phase III ORATORIO Study. ECTRIMS Congress, Abstract 228 (2015).
- Genentech Press Release (2015). Available from: http://www.gene.com/media/ press-releases/14608/2015-09-27/genentechs-ocrelizumab-first-investigation
- Gonzalez M, Mackay F, Browning JL, Kosco-Vilbois MH, Noelle RJ. The sequential role of lymphotoxin and B cells in the development of splenic follicles. *J Exp Med* (1998) 187(7):997–1007. doi:10.1084/jem.187.7.997
- 66. Tumanov AV, Kuprash DV, Mach JA, Nedospasov SA, Chervonsky AV. Lymphotoxin and TNF produced by B cells are dispensable for maintenance of the follicle-associated epithelium but are required for development of lymphoid follicles in the Peyer's patches. *J Immunol* (2004) 173(1):86–91. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.1.86
- Cepok S, Jacobsen M, Schock S, Omer B, Jaekel S, Böddeker I, et al. Patterns of cerebrospinal fluid pathology correlate with disease progression in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2001) **124**(Pt 11):2169–76. doi:10.1093/ brain/124.11.2169
- Cepok S, von Geldern G, Grummel V, Hochgesand S, Celik H, Hartung H, et al. Accumulation of class switched IgD-IgM- memory B cells in the cerebrospinal fluid during neuroinflammation. J Neuroimmunol (2006) 180(1–2):33–9. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.06.031
- 69. Cepok S, Rosche B, Grummel V, Vogel F, Zhou D, Sayn J, et al. Short-lived plasma blasts are the main B cell effector subset during the course of multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2005) **128**(Pt 7):1667–76. doi:10.1093/brain/awh486
- Corcione A, Casazza S, Ferretti E, Giunti D, Zappia E, Pistorio A, et al. Recapitulation of B cell differentiation in the central nervous system of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) **101**(30):11064–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0402455101
- Ritchie AM, Gilden DH, Williamson RA, Burgoon MP, Yu X, Helm K, et al. Comparative analysis of the CD19+ and CD138+ cell antibody repertoires in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2004) 173(1):649–56. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.1.649
- Beltrán E, Obermeier B, Moser M, Coret F, Simó-Castelló M, Boscá I, et al. Intrathecal somatic hypermutation of IgM in multiple sclerosis and neuroinflammation. *Brain* (2014) 137(Pt 10):2703–14. doi:10.1093/brain/ awu205
- Obermeier B, Mentele R, Malotka J, Kellermann J, Kümpfel T, Wekerle H, et al. Matching of oligoclonal immunoglobulin transcriptomes and proteomes of cerebrospinal fluid in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Med* (2008) 14(6):688–93. doi:10.1038/nm1714
- Lassmann H, Bruck W, Lucchinetti CF. The immunopathology of multiple sclerosis: an overview. *Brain Pathol* (2007) 17(2):210–8. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2007.00064.x
- Barnett MH, Parratt JD, Cho ES, Prineas JW. Immunoglobulins and complement in postmortem multiple sclerosis tissue. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 65(1):32–46. doi:10.1002/ana.21524

- Henderson AP, Barnett MH, Parratt JD, Prineas JW. Multiple sclerosis: distribution of inflammatory cells in newly forming lesions. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 66(6):739–53. doi:10.1002/ana.21800
- 77. Obermeier B, Lovato L, Mentele R, Brück W, Forne I, Imhof A, et al. Related B cell clones that populate the CSF and CNS of patients with multiple sclerosis produce CSF immunoglobulin. *J Neuroimmunol* (2011) 233(1–2):245–8. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.01.010
- Choi SR, Howell OW, Carassiti D, Magliozzi R, Gveric D, Muraro PA, et al. Meningeal inflammation plays a role in the pathology of primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2012) 135(Pt 10):2925–37. doi:10.1093/brain/ aws189
- Howell OW, Reeves CA, Nicholas R, Carassiti D, Radotra B, Gentleman SM, et al. Meningeal inflammation is widespread and linked to cortical pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2011) 134(Pt 9):2755–71. doi:10.1093/brain/awr182
- Absinta M, Vuolo L, Rao A, Nair G, Sati P, Cortese IC, et al. Gadolinium-based MRI characterization of leptomeningeal inflammation in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2015) 85(1):18–28. doi:10.1212/WNL.000000000001587
- Magliozzi R, Howell OW, Reeves C, Roncaroli F, Nicholas R, Serafini B, et al. A gradient of neuronal loss and meningeal inflammation in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol* (2010) 68(4):477–93. doi:10.1002/ana.22230
- Kooi EJ, Geurts JJ, van Horssen J, Bø L, van der Valk P. Meningeal inflammation is not associated with cortical demyelination in chronic multiple sclerosis. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol (2009) 68(9):1021–8. doi:10.1097/ NEN.0b013e3181b4bf8f
- Carson MJ, Doose JM, Melchior B, Schmid CD, Ploix CC. CNS immune privilege: hiding in plain sight. *Immunol Rev* (2006) 213:48–65. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00441.x
- Louveau A, Smirnov I, Keyes TJ, Eccles JD, Rouhani SJ, Peske JD, et al. Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. *Nature* (2015) 523(7560):337–41. doi:10.1038/nature14432
- Aspelund A, Antila S, Proulx ST, Karlsen TV, Karaman S, Detmar M, et al. A dural lymphatic vascular system that drains brain interstitial fluid and macromolecules. *J Exp Med* (2015) 212(7):991–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20142290
- Daneman R, Prat A. The blood-brain barrier. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2015) 7(1):a020412. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a020412
- Janzer RC, Raff MC. Astrocytes induce blood-brain barrier properties in endothelial cells. *Nature* (1987) 325(6101):253–7. doi:10.1038/325253a0
- Abbott NJ, Ronnback L, Hansson E. Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the blood-brain barrier. Nat Rev Neurosci (2006) 7(1):41–53. doi:10.1038/ nrn1824
- Alvarez JI, Katayama T, Prat A. Glial influence on the blood brain barrier. Glia (2013) 61(12):1939–58. doi:10.1002/glia.22575
- Ransohoff RM, Schafer D, Vincent A, Blachère NE, Bar-Or A. Neuroinflammation: ways in which the immune system affects the brain. *Neurotherapeutics* (2015) 12(4):896–909. doi:10.1007/s13311-015-0385-3
- Decimo I, Fumagalli G, Berton V, Krampera M, Bifari F. Meninges: from protective membrane to stem cell niche. *Am J Stem Cells* (2012) 1(2):92–105.
- Russi AE, Brown MA. The meninges: new therapeutic targets for multiple sclerosis. *Transl Res* (2015) 165(2):255–69. doi:10.1016/j.trsl.2014.08.005
- Wieseler-Frank J, Jekich BM, Mahoney JH, Bland ST, Maier SF, Watkins LR. A novel immune-to-CNS communication pathway: cells of the meninges surrounding the spinal cord CSF space produce proinflammatory cytokines in response to an inflammatory stimulus. *Brain Behav Immun* (2007) 21(5):711–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2006.07.004
- Bartholomäus I, Kawakami N, Odoardi F, Schläger C, Miljkovic D, Ellwart JW, et al. Effector T cell interactions with meningeal vascular structures in nascent autoimmune CNS lesions. *Nature* (2009) 462(7269):94–8. doi:10.1038/nature08478
- Mues M, Bartholomäus I, Thestrup T, Griesbeck O, Wekerle H, Kawakami N, et al. Real-time in vivo analysis of T cell activation in the central nervous system using a genetically encoded calcium indicator. *Nat Med* (2013) 19(6):778–83. doi:10.1038/nm.3180
- Allt G, Lawrenson JG. Is the pial microvessel a good model for blood-brain barrier studies? *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* (1997) 24(1):67–76. doi:10.1016/ S0165-0173(97)00011-8
- Engelhardt B, Ransohoff RM. The ins and outs of T-lymphocyte trafficking to the CNS: anatomical sites and molecular mechanisms. *Trends Immunol* (2005) 26(9):485–95. doi:10.1016/j.it.2005.07.004

- Steffen BJ, Breier G, Butcher EC, Schulz M, Engelhardt B. ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and MAdCAM-1 are expressed on choroid plexus epithelium but not endothelium and mediate binding of lymphocytes in vitro. *Am J Pathol* (1996) 148(6):1819–38.
- Reboldi A, Coisne C, Baumjohann D, Benvenuto F, Bottinelli D, Lira S, et al. C-C chemokine receptor 6-regulated entry of TH-17 cells into the CNS through the choroid plexus is required for the initiation of EAE. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(5):514–23. doi:10.1038/ni.1716
- 100. Larochelle C, Cayrol R, Kebir H, Alvarez JI, Lécuyer MA, Ifergan I, et al. Melanoma cell adhesion molecule identifies encephalitogenic T lymphocytes and promotes their recruitment to the central nervous system. *Brain* (2012) 135(Pt 10):2906–24. doi:10.1093/brain/aws212
- 101. Ifergan I, Kebir H, Terouz S, Alvarez JI, Lécuyer MA, Gendron S, et al. Role of Ninjurin-1 in the migration of myeloid cells to central nervous system inflammatory lesions. *Ann Neurol* (2011) **70**(5):751–63. doi:10.1002/ ana.22519
- 102. Ifergan I, Kebir H, Alvarez JI, Marceau G, Bernard M, Bourbonnière L, et al. Central nervous system recruitment of effector memory CD8+ T lymphocytes during neuroinflammation is dependent on alpha4 integrin. *Brain* (2011) 134(Pt 12):3560–77. doi:10.1093/brain/awr268
- 103. Cayrol R, Wosik K, Berard JL, Dodelet-Devillers A, Ifergan I, Kebir H, et al. Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule promotes leukocyte trafficking into the central nervous system. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9(2):137–45. doi:10.1038/ni1551
- 104. Ifergan I, Kébir H, Bernard M, Wosik K, Dodelet-Devillers A, Cayrol R, et al. The blood-brain barrier induces differentiation of migrating monocytes into Th17-polarizing dendritic cells. *Brain* (2008) 131(Pt 3):785–99. doi:10.1093/ brain/awm295
- Alvarez JI, Cayrol R, Prat A. Disruption of central nervous system barriers in multiple sclerosis. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2011) 1812(2):252–64. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2010.06.017
- 106. Alvarez JI, Kébir H, Cheslow L, Chabarati M, Larochelle C, Prat A. JAML mediates monocytes andCD8 T cell migration across the brain endothelium. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol* (2015) 2(11):1032–7. doi:10.1002/acn3.255
- Niino M, Bodner C, Simard ML, Alatab S, Gano D, Kim HJ, et al. Natalizumab effects on immune cell responses in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol* (2006) 59(5):748–54. doi:10.1002/ana.20859
- Alter A, Duddy M, Hebert S, Biernacki K, Prat A, Antel JP, et al. Determinants of human B cell migration across brain endothelial cells. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(9):4497–505. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.9.4497
- 109. Lehmann-Horn K, Sagan SA, Bernard CC, Sobel RA, Zamvil SS. B-cell very late antigen-4 deficiency reduces leukocyte recruitment and susceptibility to central nervous system autoimmunity. *Ann Neurol* (2015) 77(5):902–8. doi:10.1002/ana.24387
- McMahon EJ, Bailey SL, Castenada CV, Waldner H, Miller SD. Epitope spreading initiates in the CNS in two mouse models of multiple sclerosis. *Nat Med* (2005) 11(3):335–9. doi:10.1038/nm1202
- 111. Quintana FJ, Patel B, Yeste A, Nyirenda M, Kenison J, Rahbari R, et al. Epitope spreading as an early pathogenic event in pediatric multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2014) 83(24):2219–26. doi:10.1212/WNL.000000000001066
- Mahad DH, Trapp BD, Lassmann H. Pathological mechanisms in progressive multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol* (2015) 14(2):183–93. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70256-X
- 113. Montesinos-Rongen M, Purschke FG, Brunn A, May C, Nordhoff E, Marcus K, et al. Primary central nervous system (CNS) lymphoma B cell receptors recognize CNS proteins. *J Immunol* (2015) **195**(3):1312–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1402341
- 114. Ragheb S, Li Y, Simon K, VanHaerents S, Galimberti D, De Riz M, et al. Multiple sclerosis: BAFF and CXCL13 in cerebrospinal fluid. *Mult Scler* (2011) 17(7):819–29. doi:10.1177/1352458511398887
- 115. Rentzos M, Cambouri C, Rombos A, Nikolaou C, Anagnostouli M, Tsoutsou A, et al. IL-15 is elevated in serum and cerebrospinal fluid of patients with multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci (2006) 241(1-2):25-9. doi:10.1016/j. jns.2005.10.003
- Uccelli A, Pedemonte E, Narciso E, Mancardi G. Biological markers of the inflammatory phase of multiple sclerosis. *Neurol Sci* (2003) 24 (Suppl 5):S271–4. doi:10.1007/s10072-003-0172-5
- 117. Matsumoto M, Baba A, Yokota T, Nishikawa H, Ohkawa Y, Kayama H, et al. Interleukin-10-producing plasmablasts exert regulatory function in

autoimmune inflammation. *Immunity* (2014) **41**(6):1040–51. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2014.10.016

- 118. Lennon VA, Wingerchuk DM, Kryzer TJ, Pittock SJ, Lucchinetti CF, Fujihara K, et al. A serum autoantibody marker of neuromyelitis optica: distinction from multiple sclerosis. *Lancet* (2004) **364**(9451):2106–12. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17551-X
- Lennon VA, Kryzer TJ, Pittock SJ, Verkman AS, Hinson SR. IgG marker of optic-spinal multiple sclerosis binds to the aquaporin-4 water channel. *J Exp Med* (2005) 202(4):473–7. doi:10.1084/jem.20050304
- 120. Wingerchuk DM, Banwell B, Bennett JL, Cabre P, Carroll W, Chitnis T, et al. International consensus diagnostic criteria for neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Neurology* (2015) 85(2):177–89. doi:10.1212/WNL.000000000001729
- 121. Lucchinetti CF, Mandler RN, McGavern D, Bruck W, Gleich G, Ransohoff RM, et al. A role for humoral mechanisms in the pathogenesis of Devic's neuromyelitis optica. *Brain* (2002) **125**(Pt 7):1450–61. doi:10.1093/brain/awf151
- 122. Misu T, Fujihara K, Kakita A, Konno H, Nakamura M, Watanabe S, et al. Loss of aquaporin 4 in lesions of neuromyelitis optica: distinction from multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2007) **130**(Pt 5):1224–34. doi:10.1093/brain/awm047
- 123. Roemer SF, Parisi JE, Lennon VA, Benarroch EE, Lassmann H, Bruck W, et al. Pattern-specific loss of aquaporin-4 immunoreactivity distinguishes neuromyelitis optica from multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2007) **130**(Pt 5):1194–205. doi:10.1093/brain/awl371
- 124. Sinclair C, Kirk J, Herron B, Fitzgerald U, McQuaid S. Absence of aquaporin-4 expression in lesions of neuromyelitis optica but increased expression in multiple sclerosis lesions and normal-appearing white matter. *Acta Neuropathol* (2007) **113**(2):187–94. doi:10.1007/s00401-006-0169-2
- 125. Jarius S, Franciotta D, Paul F, Bergamaschi R, Rommer PS, Ruprecht K, et al. Testing for antibodies to human aquaporin-4 by ELISA: sensitivity, specificity, and direct comparison with immunohistochemistry. *J Neurol Sci* (2012) 320(1–2):32–7. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2012.06.002
- 126. Watanabe S, Nakashima I, Misu T, Miyazawa I, Shiga Y, Fujihara K, et al. Therapeutic efficacy of plasma exchange in NMO-IgG-positive patients with neuromyelitis optica. *Mult Scler* (2007) 13(1):128–32. doi:10.1177/1352458506071174
- 127. Merle H, Olindo S, Jeannin S, Valentino R, Mehdaoui H, Cabot F, et al. Treatment of optic neuritis by plasma exchange (add-on) in neuromyelitis optica. Arch Ophthalmol (2012) 130(7):858–62. doi:10.1001/ archophthalmol.2012.1126
- Khatri BO, Kramer J, Dukic M, Palencia M, Verre W. Maintenance plasma exchange therapy for steroid-refractory neuromyelitis optica. J Clin Apher (2012) 27(4):183–92. doi:10.1002/jca.21215
- Bonnan M, Valentino R, Olindo S, Mehdaoui H, Smadja D, Cabre P. Plasma exchangeinseverespinalattacksassociated with neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. *Mult Scler* (2009) 15(4):487–92. doi:10.1177/1352458508100837

- 130. Kim SH, Huh SY, Lee SJ, Joung A, Kim HJ. A 5-year follow-up of rituximab treatment in patients with neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. *JAMA Neurol* (2013) **70**(9):1110–7. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.3071
- 131. Kleiter I, Gahlen A, Borisow N, Fischer K, Wernecke KD, Wegner B, et al. Neuromyelitis optica: evaluation of 871 attacks and 1153 treatment courses. *Ann Neurol* (2015). doi:10.1002/ana.24554
- Bennett JL, O'Connor KC, Bar-Or A, Zamvil SS, Hemmer B, Tedder TF, et al. B lymphocytes in neuromyelitis optica. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2015) 2(3):e104. doi:10.1212/NXI.00000000000104
- Levy M, Wildemann B, Jarius S, Orellano B, Sasidharan S, Weber MS, et al. Immunopathogenesis of neuromyelitis optica. *Adv Immunol* (2014) 121:213–42. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-800100-4.00006-4
- Cree BA, Lamb S, Morgan K, Chen A, Waubant E, Genain C. An open label study of the effects of rituximab in neuromyelitis optica. *Neurology* (2005) 64(7):1270–2. doi:10.1212/01.WNL.0000159399.81861.D5
- 135. Jacob A, Weinshenker BG, Violich I, McLinskey N, Krupp L, Fox RJ, et al. Treatment of neuromyelitis optica with rituximab: retrospective analysis of 25 patients. Arch Neurol (2008) 65(11):1443–8. doi:10.1001/archneur.65.11. noc80069
- Melamed E, Levy M, Waters PJ, Sato DK, Bennett JL, John GR, et al. Update on biomarkers in neuromyelitis optica. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2015) 2(4):e134. doi:10.1212/NXI.00000000000134
- 137. Kowarik MC, Dzieciatkowska M, Wemlinger S, Ritchie AM, Hemmer B, Owens GP, et al. The cerebrospinal fluid immunoglobulin transcriptome and proteome in neuromyelitis optica reveals central nervous system-specific B cell populations. *J Neuroinflammation* (2015) **12**:19. doi:10.1186/ s12974-015-0240-9
- Popescu BF, Parisi JE, Cabrera-Gómez JA, Newell K, Mandler RN, Pittock SJ, et al. Absence of cortical demyelination in neuromyelitis optica. *Neurology* (2010) 75(23):2103–9. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e318200d80c

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** Laure Michel, Hanane Touil, Natalia B. Pikor, Jennifer L. Gommerman, and Alexandre Prat have no conflicts of interest. Amit Bar-Or has participated as a speaker in meetings sponsored by and received consulting fees and/or grant support from Biogen Idec, Diogenix, Genentech, Sanofi-Genzyme, GlaxoSmithKline, Novartis, Ono Pharma, Teva Neuroscience, Receptos Inc., Roche, and Merck/EMD Serono.

Copyright © 2015 Michel, Touil, Pikor, Gommerman, Prat and Bar-Or. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Meningeal Tertiary Lymphoid Tissues and Multiple Sclerosis: A Gathering Place for Diverse Types of Immune Cells during CNS Autoimmunity

Natalia B. Pikor<sup>1</sup>, Alexandre Prat<sup>2</sup>, Amit Bar-Or<sup>3</sup> and Jennifer L. Gommerman<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Immunology, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>2</sup>Neuroimmunology Unit, Department of Neuroscience, Centre de Recherche de CHUM, Université de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada, <sup>3</sup>Neuroimmunology Unit, Montreal Neurological Institute and Hospital, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

Collections of leukocytes in the meningeal space have been documented in Multiple Sclerosis (MS). These meningeal aggregates, which in the context of other autoimmune diseases have often been termed tertiary lymphoid tissues (TLT), have been associated with sub-pial cortical damage and disease progression. However, the key molecular and cellular signals required for their formation and maintenance remain unclear. Herein, we review TLT structures in other disease states in order to provide a framework for understanding these structures in the MS meninges. We then assess the evidence that the meningeal compartment serves as an important nexus for immune cells as well as a location for drainage of antigen into cervical lymph nodes. Extrapolating what is known about the molecular and cellular cues that initiate the formation of leukocyte aggregates in non-lymphoid tissues, we speculate on what signals lead to the formation and maintenance of meningeal TLT structures. Referring to the animal model of MS [experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)], we also explore what is known about these structures in supporting B cell and T cell responses during neuroinflammation. Last, we examine the evidence that connects these structures to ongoing neuropathology. Collectively, our review points to the meningeal compartment as an important player in neuroinflammatory processes. Moreover, we hypothesize that in order to gain insights into pro- and anti-inflammatory properties of lymphocytes in MS, one must understand the cellular scaffolds that support lymphocyte retention within the meninges, thus highlighting the importance of non-immune cells (stromal cells) in the neuroinflammatory process.

Keywords: meninges, multiple sclerosis, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, tertiary lymphoid tissues, stromal cells

# **OVERVIEW**

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an inflammatory disease of the central nervous system (CNS) resulting in demyelination and axonal loss with consequential clinical impairment. MS is most commonly diagnosed as relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS), which is thought to reflect the waxing and waning of underlying CNS-targeted immune responses. Most individuals with RRMS go on to develop a

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Steven M. Kerfoot, Western University, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Nancy H. Ruddle, Yale University School of Medicine, USA Richard Reynolds, Imperial College London, UK

> \*Correspondence: Jennifer L. Gommerman jen.gommerman@utoronto.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 14 August 2015 Accepted: 22 December 2015 Published: 13 January 2016

### Citation:

Pikor NB, Prat A, Bar-Or A and Gommerman JL (2016) Meningeal Tertiary Lymphoid Tissues and Multiple Sclerosis: A Gathering Place for Diverse Types of Immune Cells during CNS Autoimmunity. Front. Immunol. 6:657. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00657

94

progressive form of MS, termed secondary progressive MS. The relative absence of new gadolinium-enhancing lesions in the CNS of individuals with progressive MS has for a long-time supported the hypothesis that there is limited infiltration of peripheral immune cells into the CNS at this stage of disease (1). This concept has been recently challenged following the observation of meningeal leukocytic infiltrates (consisting of T cells, B cells, plasma cells, monocytes and macrophages) in both SPMS [in as many as 40% of cases; (2–4)] and Primary Progressive MS (5), correlating with proximal neuropathology (6). However, meningeal inflammation may also contribute to neuroinflammatory processes early on in MS, and recent MRI studies demonstrate leptomeningeal contrast enhancement in RRMS [~19% of cases; (7)].

Meningeal leukocytic aggregates have been referred to as tertiary lymphoid tissues (TLT), provoking the hypothesis that such aggregates support disease-relevant immune responses locally within the CNS. Although there is some discrepancy as to whether meningeal follicle-like structures recapitulate all of the features of TLT, for the purposes of this review, we will refer to them as TLT (8–10).

# TERTIARY LYMPHOID TISSUES

Tertiary lymphoid tissues (TLT) are locally inducible leukocyte aggregates that form in chronically inflamed non-lymphoid tissues and share cellular and organizational similarities with secondary lymphoid organs (SLO). TLT arise within the target tissues of many autoimmune diseases and certain sites of chronic infection, including in the synovial membrane of the joints (rheumatoid arthritis), salivary glands (Sjögren's syndrome), thymus (Mysasthenia gravis and Grave disease), meninges (MS), the liver (hepatitis C viral infection), the lung (Influenza A viral infection), as well as at sites of chronic graft rejection, atherosclerosis, and cancer (8, 10). The majority of information we have on TLT structure and formation is from disease settings that do not involve the CNS. This may be due to the limitations in studying TLT in post-mortem tissue (brain tissue from autopsies tends to be obtained very late in the disease process when inflammation may be less pronounced), the relatively smaller size of meningeal TLT, and variability in histology and dissection protocols for assessing meningeal TLT. As such, this section will focus on what we have learned about TLT in other disease settings that may be more amenable to study, and we will then apply these findings to CNS autoimmunity in a subsequent section.

# **TLT Structure**

Lymphoid architecture is orchestrated by specialized stromal cell subsets. Follicular dendritic cells (FDC; CD45<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>-</sup>Pdpn<sup>±</sup>) and recently defined *Cxcl12*-expressing reticular cells (CRC; CD45<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>-</sup>Pdpn<sup>±</sup>) (11) secrete B cell chemoattractants CXCL13 and CXCL12, respectively. FDC further upregulate molecules involved in trapping and presenting antigen (CD35, FDC-M1, and FDC-M2) to support germinal center responses. The T cell zone is supported by fibroblastic reticular cells (FRC; CD45<sup>-</sup>Pdpn<sup>+</sup>CD31<sup>-</sup>) that secrete T cell chemoattractants (CCL19, CCL21) as well as T and B cell survival factors (IL-7, BAFF) and form long reticular channels supporting the passage of antigen through the lymphoid organ (12). TLT encompass a spectrum of lymphoid tissue-like organization depending on the target tissue. TLT are primarily described as B cell-rich infiltrates, with a varying degree of T cell infiltration and sometimes segregation into distinct B and T cell compartments resembling SLO architecture. Although FDC markers have been detected within TLT in various chronic inflammatory conditions, not all TLT demonstrate germinal centers or reticular conduits reminiscent of FRC (10, 13, 14). Mature TLT can also contain high endothelial venules (HEV) and lymphatic vessels, suggesting an avenue for entry of naive lymphocytes (via the HEV) and egress of antigen and activated or memory lymphocytes via lymphatic vessels (15).

# **TLT Formation**

Lymphorganogenesis requires the well-defined interaction of embryonic/neonatal lymphoid tissue inducer cells (LTi; CD45<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>-</sup>) with stromal lymphoid tissue organizer cells (LTo) to promote LTo maturation into specialized lymphoid stromal cells that in turn form an immune-competent niche [reviewed by Ref. (12, 16–20)]. In the context of lymphoneogenesis in the adult host, distinct cell types may substitute as TLT inducer and organizer cells. LTi equivalent cell types implicated in TLT formation include: innate lymphoid cells (21–23), T cells (24–27), NKT cells (28), as well a myeloid cells (28, 29). Although the exact combination of molecular cues may differ, a unifying feature of TLT-inducing leukocytes is their production of cytokines, especially IL-17 [reviewed by Ref. (30)] and/or IL-22 (21, 22, 27), and their ability to engage receptors of the Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF) superfamily (LT $\beta$ R, TNFR) by virtue of their expression of cognate ligands LTαβ and TNFα.

The origin and phenotype of TLT organizer cells remains more elusive. Seminal studies have demonstrated that stromal precursor cells reside quiescently throughout the periphery, and mature to acquire phenotypic and functional capacities consistent with lymphoid tissue stromal cells in response to inflammation (29, 31). A population of CD45<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>-</sup>Pdpn<sup>-</sup> cells, which transcriptionally most closely resemble FRCs (32), has also been demonstrated to differentiate into *de novo* FRCs in the inflamed LN (33, 34), illustrating that even within adult SLOs, mesenchymal precursors can recapitulate an LTo-like function. Nevertheless, further studies are needed in order to elucidate to what extent mesenchymal precursor cells in the adult host resemble embryonic LTos and how such LTo-like cells differentiate in order to support emerging TLT.

Several markers have been useful for assessing the phenotype of tissue-resident stromal cells, including: podoplanin (Pdpn or gp38); the endothelial cell marker, CD31; EPCAM, a marker of epithelial cells; as well as the expression of homeostatic chemokines. For example, in several models of TLT formation, peripheral Pdpn<sup>+</sup> stromal cells express CXCL13 (26, 27, 29, 31), while in a model of atherosclerosis, vascular smooth muscle cells were found to express both CXCL13 and CCL21 within aortic TLT (35). Both Pdpn<sup>+</sup>CD31<sup>-</sup> stromal cells and EPCAM<sup>+</sup> epithelial cells express CXCL12 within TLT in the lungs (26) and salivary glands (27), respectively. Nevertheless, without a consistent panel of mesenchymal/lymphoid stromal cell markers applied to different models of TLT formation, it is difficult to interpret whether different inflammatory insults instigate distinct maturation protocols from ubiquitous precursor cells, or whether tissue-specific differences exist.

In summary, our current understanding is that precursors of lymphoid-like stromal cells reside quiescently throughout peripheral non-lymphoid tissues and are poised to mature into lymphoid stromal cells at sites of persistent inflammation. In response to local inflammatory cues, tissue-resident stromal cells acquire phenotypic and functional capacities consistent with lymphoid tissue stromal cells.

# STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION OF MENINGEAL TLT DURING CNS AUTOIMMUNITY

Meningeal aggregates in the MS CNS are often referred to as TLT; however, as is true for ectopic lymphoid tissues in general, this term captures a range of lymphoid tissue-like organization. Animal studies characterizing meningeal inflammation in EAE demonstrate TLT formation in mice with different genetic backgrounds and disease-induction protocols (24, 36–39). These meningeal infiltrates often resemble mature TLT, with the presence of lymphoid-like stromal cells, elaboration of an extra-cellular matrix (ECM) network, and expression of cytokines and homeostatic chemokines. Below, we will review our current understanding about the structure and capacity for the meninges to support TLT formation, as well as the clinical and neuropathological correlates of meningeal TLT in both MS and EAE (see also **Table 1**).

## **Anatomical Structure of the Meninges**

The meninges are a series of membranes that envelope the brain and spinal cord, serving as a canal for circulating cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). The outermost membrane is the dura, which cocoons the CNS and is attached to the skull and spinal column. The leptomeninges that envelope the entire CNS consist of the arachnoid and pia mater and are separated by the subarachnoid space. Large conducting blood vessels transecting the leptomeninges are embedded within the pia mater, which is lined by the glial limitans, a barrier comprising astrocytic end-foot processes (55). Cells of the pia mater continue to line intracerebral arteries but gradually become less dense as the arteries penetrate the CNS parenchyma (56-58). The meningeal space is depicted in Figure 1. Cells that reside in the meningeal compartment include fibroblasts and peri-endothelial cells (myofibroblasts, pericytes, and vascular smooth muscle cells), as well as CNS-resident macrophages and dendritic cells. A recent study by Louveau and colleagues has revealed the presence of lymphatic vessels within the dural sinuses, implying there is direct communication between the meningeal environment and the draining cervical LNs (cLN) (59).

## The Meninges – A Portal of Leukocyte Entry and Accumulation in the Inflamed CNS

The blood endothelium transecting the subarachnoid space (the blood–CSF barrier) represents an important route of leukocyte

TABLE 1 | Association of immune cell phenotypes and pathology with TLT.

Feature	Evidence	Reference
B cell	B cell-rich meningeal aggregates during	(36)
responses – EAE	EAE	(40)
		(24)
	FDC-M1- and CD35-immunoreactive cells (FDC-like cells) and CXCL13 transcripts within meningeal TLT	(36)
B cell responses – MS	B cell- and plasma cell-rich meningeal TLT	(2)
		(41)
	CD35- and CXCL13-immunoreactive cells (FDC-like cells) within meningeal TLT	(2)
	Activated B cells (clonal expansion,	(42)
	somatic hypermutation, Ig class switching)	(43)
	within meningeal aggregates	(44)
		(45)
T cell	T cells infiltrate the meninges and	(46)
responses – EAE	are reactivated in the subarachnoid	(47)
	compartment	(48)
		(49)
		(50)
	T cell epitope spreading concurrent with presence of meningeal TLT	(37)
	Th17 cells contribute to meningeal TLT	(51)
	formation	(24)
		(52)
T cell responses – MS	T cell accumulation within meningeal TLT	(4)
		(53)
		(5)
Neuropathology – MS	Cortical demyelination	(54)
		(3)
		(6)
		(53)
		(4)
		(5)
	Glial limitans damage, increased microglial	(3)
	activation	(6)
		(4)
		(41)
	Cortical astrocyte and oligodendrocyte loss Neuronal loss	(6)
	NEURONALIOSS	(6)
Clinical correlates	Farlier ago of aliginal apost faster time of	(5)
Uninical correlates	Earlier age of clinical onset, faster time of disease progression, earlier age at death	(3)
	uisease progression, earlier age at death	(4)

entry into the meninges. In the steady state, the subarachnoid space represents an avenue for immune-surveying lymphocytes to scan the CNS (60). Studies examining the kinetics of meningeal infiltration in EAE report an influx of immune cells prior to clinical onset (39). In addition, using specialized fluorescent reporter mice and two-photon live imaging, myelin-specific T cells have been shown to first cross the blood–CSF barrier in the subarachnoid space, where antigen-specific re-priming must occur in order to gain access to the parenchyma and instigate clinical symptoms of EAE (47). With respect to MS, biopsies from early stage MS patients identified a subset of patients with evidence of cortical demyelinating lesions associated with meningeal inflammation (53). Moreover, a recent study has estimated that almost 20% of individuals with RRMS demonstrate meningeal contrast enhancement (7).

EAE studies, post-mortem histological analyses, and CSF samplings all demonstrate that accumulation of proliferating,



antigen-experienced T cells (48, 61, 62), and B cells (3, 4, 42-45) can occur within the meningeal compartment itself during CNS autoimmunity. In terms of T cell responses, epitope spreading of myelin-reactive T cells is suggested to occur within the meninges (37). While antigen-presenting phagocytic cells have been shown to productively interact with myelin-specific T cells in the subarachnoid space (46, 48-50), recent studies also demonstrate that meningeal stromal cells may be important for propagating encephalitogenic T cell responses within the CNS (52). With respect to meningeal B cell responses, class-switched memory B cells and plasmablasts/plasma cells have long been detected in the CSF of individuals with MS, and contribute to intrathecal production of antibodies, a hallmark of MS (43, 63). While antigen-experienced B cells populate the meningeal compartment, clonally related B cells are also located in parenchymal lesions, the normal-appearing white matter (42), and in the periphery (44, 45, 64), making it unclear where B cells are first primed. The presence of myelin antigens in the cLN of individuals with MS, but not healthy controls (65), and the discovery of lymphatics draining from the meningeal space to cLN (59) suggest that antigen-dependent B cell responses can be initiated in the cLN. Recently, deep sequencing analyses of the B cell receptor variable heavy chain (VH) between matched CNS and peripheral samples demonstrated that upwards of 90% of founder B cell clones were localized within cervical lymph node tissues (44). However, it remains possible that the spatial-temporal distribution of founder clones differs at disease onset. In summary, the blood-CSF barrier is an important portal of entry for leukocytes into the CNS. The subarachnoid space represents an important site of accumulation for activated lymphocytes, as well as dendritic cells (46), neutrophils, and mast cells (39, 66) within the inflamed CNS.

# How Do TLT Form within the Meninges?

The presence of immune cells in the meninges and CSF of individuals with MS does not in and of itself confirm that the meninges constitute an immune-competent niche. To endow "immune competence," such an environment would need to be populated by stromal support cells that secrete lymphocyte chemoattractants (such as CXCL13, CCL19, CCL21) and possibly also survival/differentiation factors (cytokines). Indeed, meningeal stromal cells have the capacity to secrete mediators such as TNF $\alpha$ , iNOS, IL-6, TGF- $\beta$ , and IL-23 under inflammatory conditions (52, 67). Pro-inflammatory cytokines themselves can induce lymphocytic accumulation within the meningeal compartment, as demonstrated following injection of TNF $\alpha$  and IFN $\gamma$  directly into the subarachnoid space (68) or intra-cortically (69) in rodents immunized sub-clinically with MOG. While these studies did

not examine whether cytokine-induced TLT-like aggregates are supported by an underlying stromal cell and ECM network, TLT surrounded by a reticular network have been observed upon adoptive transfer of IL-17 producing encephalitogenic T cells in mice (24).

Expression of both T cell and B cell chemoattractants and lymphoid-like FRCs and FDCs has been demonstrated in the inflamed CNS. In both EAE and MS, CXCL13 expression and FDC-like cells (CD35<sup>+</sup> and FDC-M1<sup>+</sup>) are reported within B cell-rich meningeal aggregates (2, 36, 40), while CCL19 and CCL21 transcripts have been detected within parenchymal and sub-meningeal lesions in the brains of SWR/J × SJL/J F1 mice with EAE (38). In the context of MS, over three decades ago, Prineas and colleagues described the presence of reticular-like cells embedded within lymphoid-like structures and lymphatic capillaries within old plaques in the MS CNS (70). While the phenotype of these reticular cells has not since been explored in the MS CNS, the elaboration and maturation of a reticular lymphoid-like stromal cell network were recently described in the brain meninges of mice with Th17 adoptive transfer EAE (52). FRC-like stromal cells were found to secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines, homeostatic chemokines (CXCL13, CCL21), as well as CXCL1 and BAFF, forming an immune-competent microenvironment. IL-17- and IL-22-derived signals were shown to promote the physical elaboration of the reticular network while acquisition of lymphoid-like stromal cell properties was in part lymphotoxin dependent, suggesting that multiple pathways culminate in the elaboration of an immune-regulatory stromal cell scaffold in the inflamed CNS. In summary, the meninges are a CNS environment poised to establish an inflammatory niche that is capable of supporting immune-responses within the CNS.

# Meningeal Inflammation and Cortical Pathology in MS

Cortical lesions characterized by demyelination, axonal atrophy, and microglial activation in the sub-pial mater have been shown to underly meningeal lymphocytic infiltrates in the progressive MS CNS (3, 5, 54), although another study failed to see a correlation between meningeal inflammation and sub-pial demyelination (71). The presence of meningeal TLT in SPMS correlates with accelerated clinical disease (earlier age of clinical onset, faster time of disease progression and earlier age of death) compared to SPMS cases without meningeal TLT (4).

## REFERENCES

- Revesz T, Kidd D, Thompson AJ, Barnard RO, McDonald WI. A comparison of the pathology of primary and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (1994) 117(Pt 4):759–65. doi:10.1093/brain/117.4.759
- Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Magliozzi R, Stigliano E, Aloisi F. Detection of ectopic B-cell follicles with germinal centers in the meninges of patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain Pathol* (2004) 14:164–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2004.tb00049.x
- Magliozzi R, Howell O, Vora A, Serafini B, Nicholas R, Puopolo M, et al. Meningeal B-cell follicles in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis associate with early onset of disease and severe cortical pathology. *Brain* (2007) 130:1089–104. doi:10.1093/brain/awm038

It is postulated that soluble factors emanating from meningeal lymphocytic aggregates degrade the glial limitans, promoting a gradient of demyelination and neuronal injury (3, 6). While B cells, plasma cells (IgA<sup>+</sup>, IgG<sup>+</sup>, IgM<sup>+</sup>), CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, monocytes/macrophages infiltrate the subarachnoid space, a recent study revealed that only the accumulation of plasma cells and macrophages was significantly elevated in meningeal TLT compared to region-matched controls, and the accumulation of these particular cell types was associated with underlying cerebellar gray matter demyelination (41). In addition, the accumulation of meningeal CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells correlates with axonal loss and microglial activation in the underlying normal-appearing white matter in the spinal cord in progressive MS (72). Taken together, these observations may reflect distinct susceptibility of different regions of the CNS to immune cell-mediated injury.

## CONCLUSIONS

The presence and inducible formation of an immune-competent niche in the meninges suggests that these structures may support disease-relevant immune responses in the CNS. While TLT-associated immune responses are proposed to contribute to ongoing neuropathology and disease exacerbation, these structures likely evolve to support cell types regulating the balance of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory responses in the meninges. Indeed, the accumulation of regulatory T cells within chronic aortic TLT is associated with clinical benefit in a rodent model of atherosclerosis (35). On the other hand, the presence of TLT in cases of enteropathic infection or cancer is associated with clinical benefit (21, 22, 73, 74). Therefore, one must consider that the cellular constituents of meningeal TLT may change over time, implicating altered neuropathological and clinical consequences within the inflamed CNS. We propose that an understanding of the cellular scaffolds that support lymphocyte retention within the meninges (i.e., specialized non-immune stromal cells) will lead to a better understanding of the meningeal compartment in the context of MS/EAE.

# FUNDING

The authors wish to acknowledge the MS Society of Canada for an operating grant to JG, a team grant (Collaborative Grant on B cells and MS) to JG, AP and ABO, and a Doctoral student award to NP.

- Howell OW, Reeves CA, Nicholas R, Carassiti D, Radotra B, Gentleman SM, et al. Meningeal inflammation is widespread and linked to cortical pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2011) 134:2755–71. doi:10.1093/ brain/awr182
- Choi SR, Howell OW, Carassiti D, Magliozzi R, Gveric D, Muraro PA, et al. Meningeal inflammation plays a role in the pathology of primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2012) 135:2925–37. doi:10.1093/brain/aws189
- Magliozzi R, Howell OW, Reeves C, Roncaroli F, Nicholas R, Serafini B, et al. A gradient of neuronal loss and meningeal inflammation in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol* (2010) 68:477–93. doi:10.1002/ana.22230
- Absinta M, Vuolo L, Rao A, Nair G, Sati P, Cortese IC, et al. Gadolinium-based MRI characterization of leptomeningeal inflammation in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2015) 85:18–28. doi:10.1212/WNL.000000000001587

- Aloisi F, Pujol-Borrell R. Lymphoid neogenesis in chronic inflammatory diseases. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6:205–17. doi:10.1038/nri1786
- Carragher DM, Rangel-Moreno J, Randall TD. Ectopic lymphoid tissues and local immunity. *Semin Immunol* (2008) 20:26–42. doi:10.1016/j. smim.2007.12.004
- Buckley CD, Barone F, Nayar S, Benezech C, Caamano J. Stromal cells in chronic inflammation and tertiary lymphoid organ formation. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2015) 33:715–45. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120252
- Rodda LB, Bannard O, Ludewig B, Nagasawa T, Cyster JG. Phenotypic and morphological properties of germinal center dark zone Cxcl12-expressing reticular cells. *J Immunol* (2015) 195:4781–91. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1501191
- Chang JE, Turley SJ. Stromal infrastructure of the lymph node and coordination of immunity. Trends Immunol (2015) 36:30–9. doi:10.1016/j.it.2014.11.003
- Drumea-Mirancea M, Wessels JT, Muller CA, Essl M, Eble JA, Tolosa E, et al. Characterization of a conduit system containing laminin-5 in the human thymus: a potential transport system for small molecules. *J Cell Sci* (2006) 119:1396–405. doi:10.1242/jcs.02840
- Link A, Hardie DL, Favre S, Britschgi MR, Adams DH, Sixt M, et al. Association of T-zone reticular networks and conduits with ectopic lymphoid tissues in mice and humans. *Am J Pathol* (2011) **178**:1662–75. doi:10.1016/j. ajpath.2010.12.039
- Ruddle NH. Lymphatic vessels and tertiary lymphoid organs. J Clin Invest (2014) 124:953–9. doi:10.1172/JCI71611
- Gommerman JL, Browning JL. Lymphotoxin/light, lymphoid microenvironments and autoimmune disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2003) 3:642–55. doi:10.1038/nri1151
- Mebius RE. Organogenesis of lymphoid tissues. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3:292–303. doi:10.1038/nri1054
- Drayton DL, Liao S, Mounzer RH, Ruddle NH. Lymphoid organ development: from ontogeny to neogenesis. *Nat Immunol* (2006) 7:344–53. doi:10.1038/ ni1330
- Brendolan A, Caamano JH. Mesenchymal cell differentiation during lymph node organogenesis. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:381. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2012.00381
- Koning JJ, Mebius RE. Interdependence of stromal and immune cells for lymph node function. *Trends Immunol* (2012) 33:264–70. doi:10.1016/j. it.2011.10.006
- Ota N, Wong K, Valdez PA, Zheng Y, Crellin NK, Diehl L, et al. IL-22 bridges the lymphotoxin pathway with the maintenance of colonic lymphoid structures during infection with *Citrobacter rodentium*. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:941–8. doi:10.1038/ni.2089
- Tumanov AV, Koroleva EP, Guo X, Wang Y, Kruglov A, Nedospasov S, et al. Lymphotoxin controls the IL-22 protection pathway in gut innate lymphoid cells during mucosal pathogen challenge. *Cell Host Microbe* (2011) 10:44–53. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2011.06.002
- Hatfield JK, Brown MA. Group 3 innate lymphoid cells accumulate and exhibit disease-induced activation in the meninges in EAE. *Cell Immunol* (2015) 297(2):69–79. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2015.06.006
- Peters A, Pitcher LA, Sullivan JM, Mitsdoerffer M, Acton SE, Franz B, et al. Th17 cells induce ectopic lymphoid follicles in central nervous system tissue inflammation. *Immunity* (2011) 35:986–96. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.10.015
- Rangel-Moreno J, Carragher DM, De La Luz Garcia-Hernandez M, Hwang JY, Kusser K, Hartson L, et al. The development of inducible bronchusassociated lymphoid tissue depends on IL-17. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:639–46. doi:10.1038/ni.2053
- Fleige H, Ravens S, Moschovakis GL, Bolter J, Willenzon S, Sutter G, et al. IL-17-induced CXCL12 recruits B cells and induces follicle formation in BALT in the absence of differentiated FDCs. J Exp Med (2014) 211:643–51. doi:10.1084/jem.20131737
- Barone F, Nayar S, Campos J, Cloake T, Withers DR, Toellner KM, et al. IL-22 regulates lymphoid chemokine production and assembly of tertiary lymphoid organs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) **112**:11024–9. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1503315112
- Benezech C, Luu NT, Walker JA, Kruglov AA, Loo Y, Nakamura K, et al. Inflammation-induced formation of fat-associated lymphoid clusters. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16:819–28. doi:10.1038/ni.3215
- Peduto L, Dulauroy S, Lochner M, Spath GF, Morales MA, Cumano A, et al. Inflammation recapitulates the ontogeny of lymphoid stromal cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:5789–99. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803974

- Grogan JL, Ouyang W. A role for Th17 cells in the regulation of tertiary lymphoid follicles. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) 42:2255–62. doi:10.1002/eji.201242656
- Krautler NJ, Kana V, Kranich J, Tian Y, Perera D, Lemm D, et al. Follicular dendritic cells emerge from ubiquitous perivascular precursors. *Cell* (2012) 150:194–206. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.05.032
- Malhotra D, Fletcher AL, Astarita J, Lukacs-Kornek V, Tayalia P, Gonzalez SF, et al. Transcriptional profiling of stroma from inflamed and resting lymph nodes defines immunological hallmarks. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:499–510. doi:10.1038/ni.2262
- Chai Q, Onder L, Scandella E, Gil-Cruz C, Perez-Shibayama C, Cupovic J, et al. Maturation of lymph node fibroblastic reticular cells from myofibroblastic precursors is critical for antiviral immunity. *Immunity* (2013) 38:1013–24. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.03.012
- 34. Yang CY, Vogt TK, Favre S, Scarpellino L, Huang HY, Tacchini-Cottier F, et al. Trapping of naive lymphocytes triggers rapid growth and remodeling of the fibroblast network in reactive murine lymph nodes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111:E109–18. doi:10.1073/pnas.1312585111
- Hu D, Mohanta SK, Yin C, Peng L, Ma Z, Srikakulapu P, et al. Artery tertiary lymphoid organs control aorta immunity and protect against atherosclerosis via vascular smooth muscle cell lymphotoxin beta receptors. *Immunity* (2015) 42:1100–15. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.05.015
- Magliozzi R, Columba-Cabezas S, Serafini B, Aloisi F. Intracerebral expression of CXCL13 and BAFF is accompanied by formation of lymphoid follicle-like structures in the meninges of mice with relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2004) 148:11–23. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2003.10.056
- Kuerten S, Schickel A, Kerkloh C, Recks MS, Addicks K, Ruddle NH, et al. Tertiary lymphoid organ development coincides with determinant spreading of the myelin-specific T cell response. *Acta Neuropathol* (2012) **124**:861–73. doi:10.1007/s00401-012-1023-3
- Bielecki B, Jatczak-Pawlik I, Wolinski P, Bednarek A, Glabinski A. Central nervous system and peripheral expression of CCL19, CCL21 and their receptor CCR7 in experimental model of multiple sclerosis. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp* (*Warsz*) (2015) 63(5):367–76. doi:10.1007/s00005-015-0339-9
- Walker-Caulfield ME, Hatfield JK, Brown MA. Dynamic changes in meningeal inflammation correspond to clinical exacerbations in a murine model of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2015) 278:112–22. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2014.12.009
- Columba-Cabezas S, Griguoli M, Rosicarelli B, Magliozzi R, Ria F, Serafini B, et al. Suppression of established experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and formation of meningeal lymphoid follicles by lymphotoxin beta receptor-Ig fusion protein. *J Neuroimmunol* (2006) 179:76–86. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2006.06.015
- Howell OW, Schulz-Trieglaff EK, Carassiti D, Gentleman SM, Nicholas R, Roncaroli F, et al. Extensive grey matter pathology in the cerebellum in multiple sclerosis is linked to inflammation in the subarachnoid space. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (2015) 41(6):798–813. doi:10.1111/nan.12199
- Lovato L, Willis SN, Rodig SJ, Caron T, Almendinger SE, Howell OW, et al. Related B cell clones populate the meninges and parenchyma of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2011) 134:534–41. doi:10.1093/brain/awq350
- 43. Obermeier B, Lovato L, Mentele R, Bruck W, Forne I, Imhof A, et al. Related B cell clones that populate the CSF and CNS of patients with multiple sclerosis produce CSF immunoglobulin. *J Neuroimmunol* (2011) **233**:245–8. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.01.010
- 44. Stern JN, Yaari G, Vander Heiden JA, Church G, Donahue WF, Hintzen RQ, et al. B cells populating the multiple sclerosis brain mature in the draining cervical lymph nodes. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:248ra107. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3008879
- Palanichamy A, Apeltsin L, Kuo TC, Sirota M, Wang S, Pitts SJ, et al. Immunoglobulin class-switched B cells form an active immune axis between CNS and periphery in multiple sclerosis. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:248ra106. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008930
- Greter M, Heppner FL, Lemos MP, Odermatt BM, Goebels N, Laufer T, et al. Dendritic cells permit immune invasion of the CNS in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. *Nat Med* (2005) 11:328–34. doi:10.1038/nm1197
- Bartholomaus I, Kawakami N, Odoardi F, Schlager C, Miljkovic D, Ellwart JW, et al. Effector T cell interactions with meningeal vascular structures in nascent autoimmune CNS lesions. *Nature* (2009) 462:94–8. doi:10.1038/ nature08478

- Kivisakk P, Imitola J, Rasmussen S, Elyaman W, Zhu B, Ransohoff RM, et al. Localizing central nervous system immune surveillance: meningeal antigen-presenting cells activate T cells during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 65:457–69. doi:10.1002/ana.21379
- Lodygin D, Odoardi F, Schlager C, Korner H, Kitz A, Nosov M, et al. A combination of fluorescent NFAT and H2B sensors uncovers dynamics of T cell activation in real time during CNS autoimmunity. *Nat Med* (2013) 19:784–90. doi:10.1038/nm.3182
- Mues M, Bartholomaus I, Thestrup T, Griesbeck O, Wekerle H, Kawakami N, et al. Real-time in vivo analysis of T cell activation in the central nervous system using a genetically encoded calcium indicator. *Nat Med* (2013) 19:778–83. doi:10.1038/nm.3180
- Jager A, Dardalhon V, Sobel RA, Bettelli E, Kuchroo VK. Th1, Th17, and Th9 effector cells induce experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis with different pathological phenotypes. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(11):7169–77. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0901906
- Pikor NB, Astarita JL, Summers-Deluca L, Galicia G, Qu J, Ward LA, et al. Integration of Th17 and Lymphotoxin-derived signals initiates meningeal-resident stromal cell remodeling to propagate neuroinflammation. *Immunity* (2015) 43(6):1160–73. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.11.010
- Lucchinetti CF, Popescu BF, Bunyan RF, Moll NM, Roemer SF, Lassmann H, et al. Inflammatory cortical demyelination in early multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2011) 365:2188–97. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1100648
- Kutzelnigg A, Lucchinetti CF, Stadelmann C, Bruck W, Rauschka H, Bergmann M, et al. Cortical demyelination and diffuse white matter injury in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2005) 128:2705–12. doi:10.1093/brain/awh641
- Engelhardt B, Ransohoff RM. Capture, crawl, cross: the T cell code to breach the blood-brain barriers. *Trends Immunol* (2012) 33:579–89. doi:10.1016/j. it.2012.07.004
- Zhang ET, Inman CB, Weller RO. Interrelationships of the pia mater and the perivascular (Virchow-Robin) spaces in the human cerebrum. *J Anat* (1990) 170:111–23.
- Nonaka H, Akima M, Nagayama T, Hatori T, Zhang Z, Ihara F. Microvasculature of the human cerebral meninges. *Neuropathology* (2003) 23:129–35. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1789.2003.00487.x
- Patel N, Kirmi O. Anatomy and imaging of the normal meninges. Semin Ultrasound CT MR (2009) 30:559–64. doi:10.1053/j.sult.2009.08.006
- Louveau A, Smirnov I, Keyes TJ, Eccles JD, Rouhani SJ, Peske JD, et al. Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. *Nature* (2015) 523:337–41. doi:10.1038/nature14432
- Ransohoff RM, Engelhardt B. The anatomical and cellular basis of immune surveillance in the central nervous system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12:623–35. doi:10.1038/nri3265
- Matsumoto Y, Yoon WK, Jee Y, Fujihara K, Misu T, Sato S, et al. Complementarity-determining region 3 spectratyping analysis of the TCR repertoire in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2003) 170:4846–53. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.170.9.4846
- Junker A, Ivanidze J, Malotka J, Eiglmeier I, Lassmann H, Wekerle H, et al. Multiple sclerosis: T-cell receptor expression in distinct brain regions. *Brain* (2007) 130:2789–99. doi:10.1093/brain/awm214
- Von Budingen HC, Bar-Or A, Zamvil SS. B cells in multiple sclerosis: connecting the dots. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2011) 23:713–20. doi:10.1016/j. coi.2011.09.003
- Von Budingen HC, Kuo TC, Sirota M, Van Belle CJ, Apeltsin L, Glanville J, et al. B cell exchange across the blood-brain barrier in multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122:4533–43. doi:10.1172/JCI63842

- 65. Fabriek BO, Zwemmer JN, Teunissen CE, Dijkstra CD, Polman CH, Laman JD, et al. In vivo detection of myelin proteins in cervical lymph nodes of MS patients using ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration cytology. J Neuroimmunol (2005) 161:190–4. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2004.12.018
- Christy AL, Walker ME, Hessner MJ, Brown MA. Mast cell activation and neutrophil recruitment promotes early and robust inflammation in the meninges in EAE. J Autoimmun (2013) 42:50–61. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2012.11.003
- Wieseler-Frank J, Jekich BM, Mahoney JH, Bland ST, Maier SF, Watkins LR. A novel immune-to-CNS communication pathway: cells of the meninges surrounding the spinal cord CSF space produce proinflammatory cytokines in response to an inflammatory stimulus. *Brain Behav Immun* (2007) 21:711–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2006.07.004
- Gardner C, Magliozzi R, Durrenberger PF, Howell OW, Rundle J, Reynolds R. Cortical grey matter demyelination can be induced by elevated proinflammatory cytokines in the subarachnoid space of MOG-immunized rats. *Brain* (2013) 136:3596–608. doi:10.1093/brain/awt279
- Merkler D, Ernsting T, Kerschensteiner M, Bruck W, Stadelmann C. A new focal EAE model of cortical demyelination: multiple sclerosis-like lesions with rapid resolution of inflammation and extensive remyelination. *Brain* (2006) 129:1972–83. doi:10.1093/brain/awl135
- Prineas JW. Multiple sclerosis: presence of lymphatic capillaries and lymphoid tissue in the brain and spinal cord. *Science* (1979) 203:1123–5. doi:10.1126/ science.424741
- Kooi EJ, Geurts JJ, Van Horssen J, Bo L, Van Der Valk P. Meningeal inflammation is not associated with cortical demyelination in chronic multiple sclerosis. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol (2009) 68:1021–8. doi:10.1097/ NEN.0b013e3181b4bf8f
- Androdias G, Reynolds R, Chanal M, Ritleng C, Confavreux C, Nataf S. Meningeal T cells associate with diffuse axonal loss in multiple sclerosis spinal cords. *Ann Neurol* (2010) 68:465–76. doi:10.1002/ana.22054
- Martinet L, Garrido I, Filleron T, Le Guellec S, Bellard E, Fournie JJ, et al. Human solid tumors contain high endothelial venules: association with T- and B-lymphocyte infiltration and favorable prognosis in breast cancer. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:5678–87. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0431
- 74. Di Caro G, Bergomas F, Grizzi F, Doni A, Bianchi P, Malesci A, et al. Occurrence of tertiary lymphoid tissue is associated with T-cell infiltration and predicts better prognosis in early-stage colorectal cancers. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 20:2147–58. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-2590

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** Amit Bar-Or has participated as a speaker in meetings sponsored by and received consulting fees and/or grant support from Biogen Idec, Diogenix, Genentech, Sanofi-Genzyme, GlaxoSmithKline, Novartis, Ono Pharma, Teva Neuroscience, Receptos Inc., Roche, and Merck/EMD Serono. Jennifer Gommerman has received consulting fees from Novartis and Merck although these relationships bear no relevance to this mini-review. No other authors have financial relationships with entities that could be perceived to influence, or that give the appearance of potentially influencing, what the authors wrote in the submitted work.

Copyright © 2016 Pikor, Prat, Bar-Or and Gommerman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Involvement of CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cells in Multiple Sclerosis

#### Marion Salou<sup>1,2†</sup>, Bryan Nicol<sup>1,2†</sup>, Alexandra Garcia<sup>1,3</sup> and David-Axel Laplaud<sup>1,4,5\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> UMR 1064, INSERM, Nantes, France, <sup>2</sup> Medicine Department, Nantes University, Nantes, France, <sup>3</sup> ITUN, Nantes Hospital, Nantes, France, <sup>4</sup> Department of Neurology, Nantes Hospital, Nantes, France, <sup>5</sup> Centre d'Investigation Clinique, INSERM 004, Nantes, France

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic autoimmune disease of the central nervous system characterized by focal demyelination patches associated with inflammatory infiltrates containing T lymphocytes. For decades, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have been recognized as playing a major role in the disease, especially in animal models, which has led to the development of several therapies. However, interest has recently developed in the involvement of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in MS following the analysis of infiltrating T cells in human brain lesions. A broad range of evidence now suggests that the pathological role of this T cell subset in MS may have been underestimated. In this review, we summarize the literature implicating CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the pathophysiology of MS. We present data from studies in the fields of genetics, anatomopathology and immunology, mainly in humans but also in animal models of MS. Altogether, this strongly suggests that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells may be major effectors in the disease process, and that the development of treatments specifically targeting this subset would be germane.

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Jorge Ivan Alvarez, University of Pennsylvania, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Catherine Larochelle, Mainz Universität Medizin, Germany Johanna Olweus, University of Oslo, Norway

\*Correspondence:

David-Axel Laplaud david.laplaud@univ-nantes.fr

<sup>†</sup>Marion Salou and Bryan Nicol have contributed equally to this work.

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 08 July 2015 Accepted: 12 November 2015 Published: 26 November 2015

#### Citation:

Salou M, Nicol B, Garcia A and Laplaud D-A (2015) Involvement of CD8+ T Cells in Multiple Sclerosis. Front. Immunol. 6:604. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00604 Keywords: multiple sclerosis, autoimmunity, CD8+ T cells

# INTRODUCTION

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic inflammatory disease of the central nervous system (CNS), resulting in disability. The clinical manifestations are very variable, and include motor, sensory, visual, and cognitive symptoms, none of them being disease specific (1). The disease is thought to be a result of both genetic and environmental factors, including infectious agents, vitamin D deficiency, obesity, and smoking (2). Neuropathological studies show disseminated patches of demyelination among the brain and the spinal cord, resulting in altered nerve conduction. Axonal loss can also be observed. Demyelinated patches are characterized by immune cell infiltration, which is absent in normal brain tissue. The infiltrate is mainly composed of macrophages, and, to a lesser extent, T and B lymphocytes (1, 3, 4).

In addition to the immune cell infiltrates, a wide range of evidence points to the pivotal role of the immune system in the development of the disease. Indeed, the genetic variants conferring a higher susceptibility to MS are associated to immune mechanisms, the animal models used for disease characterization and comprehension are autoimmune ones, and current treatments

Abbreviations: BBB, blood-brain barrier; CNS, central nervous system; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; EAE, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis; EBV, Epstein–Barr virus; HLA, human leukocyte antigen; HV, healthy volunteers; MAIT, mucosalassociated invariant T; MBP, myelin basic protein; MHC, major histocompatibility complex; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; MS, multiple sclerosis; NAWM, normal-appearing white matter; TCR, T-cell receptor.

regulate or modulate the immune system (1). For decades, MS has been considered as being driven by  $CD4^+$  T cells, especially in animal models of the disease (1). However, treatment with monoclonal anti-CD4 antibody in phase II trials failed to reduce MS activity [measured by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)] (5). In recent years, numerous other immune populations have been shown to be important in MS development. Among these, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells have appeared as potential major effectors within the CNS, especially in studies using human samples. In this review, we will focus on the various results that seem pivotal in understanding the involvement of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the pathophysiology of MS. The potential regulatory role of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the disease will be described elsewhere in this issue [for other reviews, see Ref. (6, 7)].

## MHC CLASS I GENES' IMPACT ON MS RISK

Numerous alleles associated with immune response have been found to be linked with increased MS risk (8-12). The strongest association, with an odds ratio of 3, was seen for human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-DRB1\*15:01 in European and United States populations, which identifies CD4+ T cells as potent effectors in the disease (13). Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I alleles are also associated with MS, though to a lesser extent. HLA-A3 and B7 alleles were the first to be described as associated with a higher risk of developing the disease (14, 15). More recently, HLA A\*0301 was associated with a higher risk  $(2\times)$  and HLA A\*0201 with a protective effect (50%) (16, 17). These associations were confirmed by Friese and colleagues in "humanized" transgenic mice for HLA\*0301 and/or HLA-A\*0201. These mice either developed (HLA\*0301) or were protected from (HLA\*0201) the disease after proteolipid protein (PLP) injection (18). In addition, these alleles are known to work in synergy with MHC class-II alleles, such as DRB1\*1501, resulting in an increased risk when both are present (16). These data strongly suggest that some CD8+ T cells may have a beneficial or pathogenic effect, depending on the genetic background (Table 1). On top of this genetic evidence, the presence of CD8+ T cells in MS lesions, as well as their cytotoxic profile, evinces their involvement in the disease.

TABLE 1 | MHC-I alleles and their additive effect on MS risk with MHC-II alleles.

MHC allele	Odds ratio	
HLA-DRB1*1501	2.9–3.6	
HLA-A*0201	0.52–0.7	
HLA-DRB1*1501 + HLA-A*0201	1.5	
HLA-A*0301	1.9–2.1	
HLA-DRB1*1501 + HLA-A*0301	3.7–5.2	
HLA-A*0201 + HLA-A*0301	1	
HLA-B*0702	1.6–2.2	
HLA-DRB1*1501 + HLA-B*0702	2.9	

MHC alleles described as implicated in MS risk are listed with their corresponding risk factor expressed by odds ratio. These data are from Fogdell-Hahn et al. and Harbo et al. (16, 17).

# CD8<sup>+</sup> T CELLS ARE PRESENT AND HAVE A PATHOGENIC PROFILE IN THE MS CNS

# CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cell Infiltration in CNS Lesions

One of the major indicators pointing toward an implication of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the pathophysiology of MS is the presence of these cells, in a greater number than CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, in the brain lesions of MS patients. The fact that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells outnumber CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in MS lesions was first observed in the 80s, in particular in the parenchyma, and was regardless of differing clinical parameters, such as disease duration, disease evolution, and therapy (19). In 1986, Hauser et al. studied 16 cases of progressive MS, and observed up to 50 times more CD8+ T cells in both the parenchyma and in perivascular cuffs of active lesions, with no case of more CD4+ than CD8+ T cells. CD8+ T cells also predominated in normal-appearing white matter (NAWM) (20). Recently, our study of 22 lesions in three MS patients found the same, CD8+ T cells being predominant regardless of the lesion type studied (21). Other studies have reached the same conclusion by single cell analysis in different MS patients (22-24). Although not all the studies concur with the above (25), others put forward the hypothesis that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells might be more prevalent in the parenchyma while CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells would stay in the perivascular areas (26). Recently, in tissue block section of MS patients, CD8+ T cells were described as being often present in cortical plaques (54 of 70 cortical plaques analyzed). This type of plaque has been found to be associated with disease progression and cognitive impairment in the early stages of MS (27).

# **MHC-I Expression and CNS Damage**

MHC-I expression and presentation is necessary for CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to carry out their cytotoxic functions. In 2004, a study including 30 MS patients and 21 controls quantified the expression of MHC-I on various cell subtypes within the CNS by immunohistochemistry and fluorescence methods (28). While constitutive expression of MHC-I on macrophages/microglia and endothelial cells was observed, MHC-I expression was gradually upregulated on astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, neurons, and axons depending on the disease type (inactive, chronic active, and active MS) and lesion activity (inactive, periplaque white matter, and active), making these cells potential targets for CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the context of the disease. Consistent with this, CD8+ T cells have been shown to be able to mediate axonal transection in vitro (29). In this study, murine neurons induced to express MHC-I were pulsed with a dominant peptide of the lymphochoriomeningitis virus envelope glycoprotein (GP33). Five to 30 min after culture with antigen-specific cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, neurite breakage appeared in contact zones between CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and neurites. Confocal live imaging gave a clear image of this process. Axonal transection has also been suggested in MS (30). Indeed, axonal injury, in 88 brain biopsy samples from 42 patients, correlated with the number of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, but not CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells, found in the lesions (31). Variable proportions of lesion-infiltrating CD8+ T cells express granzyme B [Figure 1, personal results from Ref. (21)] and interferon  $\gamma$  (IFN $\gamma$ ), further evincing the ability of these cells to damage the CNS (21, 25, 32). In conclusion, CD8+





T cells seem more likely than CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells to mediate CNS damage, in particular through their cytotoxic and proinflammatory properties.

# Pathogenic CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cells in the CSF

Deciphering the mechanisms involved in MS development is made difficult by the limited access to the CNS compartment. As such, a lot of studies focus on the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) as a surrogate compartment for understanding the T cell processes occurring in situ. In 2007, an enrichment of effector memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the CSF of 52 relapsing-remitting MS patients was observed at the beginning of the disease (33). This, together with an enrichment of granzyme B-expressing CD8+ T cells, has been confirmed in 17 other relapsing-remitting patients (25). Interestingly, the effector memory CD8+ T cells had increased in vitro migration through a model of the blood-brain barrier, especially those producing granzyme B, perforin, IFNy, and interleukin 17 (IL-17). This was further confirmed in a mouse experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model (25). Another study found that granzyme A and B levels were higher in the CSF of patients in flare up, compared to those in clinical remission and control patients (34). Altogether, these results suggest a specific enrichment of effector memory CD8+ T cells in the CNS compartment in MS and place them as disease effectors.

# CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cell Migration into the Brain

Studying the mechanisms leading to  $CD8^+$  T cell transmigration into the CNS further highlights their involvement in the

disease process. Blockade of α4 integrin in EAE mice immunized with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG)<sub>35-55</sub> yields a decreased number of infiltrating CD8+ T cells, together with a reduced EAE score. However, a similar effect has been described for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (25). More recently, melanoma cell adhesion molecule (MCAM), expressed by a subset of human effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, was reported to be upregulated during MS relapse compared to controls (35). Interestingly, MCAM blockade prevents the transmigration of human CD8+ T cells across a blood-brain barrier (BBB) model and decreases the EAE score in active, transfer and spontaneous models (36-38). As MCAM binds itself and laminin 411 (37), which are both expressed by endothelial cells, the mode of action of MCAM blockade is not yet known (35). P-glycoprotein (also known as multidrug resistance protein 1), a transporter involved in drug efflux (39) and in cytokine/chemokine secretion (40), has also been shown to be important for the trafficking of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells into the brain during the disease. Indeed, Mdr1a/b KO mice show significantly reduced EAE (40). In another study, P-glycoprotein silencing led to decreased CD8 infiltration into the brain, with no effect on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (41). P-glycoprotein control of endothelial C-C chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2) secretion was responsible for this result. Indeed, EAE mice lacking this protein or CCL2 show significantly reduced CD8+ migration into the brain. More significantly, CCL2 transcript has also been found to be elevated in six MS lesions compared to six controls (41).

In conclusion, various studies on brain, spinal cord, and CSF, as well as on the mechanisms allowing T cell entry into the

brain highlight CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells' potential role in the development of MS.

# CD8<sup>+</sup> T CELL REPERTOIRE AND REACTIVITY IN MS

A number of studies have focused on the T cell pools that arise with MS in order to understand their role in its pathophysiology. Different CNS and non-CNS antigens have been used to search for autoreactive T cells (3, 42), but to date the triggering antigen(s) is unknown. The search for a specific antigen is made more difficult because of the mechanisms of molecular mimicry, epitope spreading, bystander activation, and/or dual T cell receptor (TCR) (43–48). Numerous studies have analyzed the T cell repertoire, allowing the identification of reactive T cells without the need to know the recognized antigen. Indeed, after antigen recognition, T cells undergo clonal proliferation, and this expanded T cell population can be identified within the total T cell pool.

# CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cell Repertoire in Lesions and in CSF

Two different groups, including our own, have studied the TCR repertoire of lesion-infiltrating T cells, either by single cell analysis (22, 23) or by whole TCR analysis using high-throughput sequencing, in comparison with sorted populations from the blood (21). These studies show that infiltrating CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are oligoclonal, i.e., only clones bearing particular TCRs specific to each patient are represented within the lesion, which is less the case for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. These oligoclonal CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are also found in different locations in the brains of the same patients. In addition, some of these clones harbored silent mutations (23). These data strongly suggest antigen-driven selection or activation processes, and identify these infiltrating CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells as disease effectors.

# CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cell Repertoire Alteration in CSF and Blood

Different studies have observed that the blood of MS patients exhibits more clonal expansions than that of controls (49-53). In 35 patients, our group showed that the repertoire was more skewed in the CD8 than in the CD4 compartment, further suggesting the involvement of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (50). The repertoire was even more skewed in the CSF than the blood of MS patients, especially in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells which interestingly expressed memory T cell markers (54-56). Of note, clonal expansions were correlated to the clinical activity of the disease. We observed more blood expansions in MS patients with an active form of the disease, assessed by MRI (57). Muraro et al. published a case study that extensively studied the TCR Vβ repertoire in the CSF of one MS patient, and described more expansions in that compartment during relapse than during remission (58). Altogether, these data strongly suggest an implication of oligoclonal T cells, especially CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, in the pathophysiology of MS.

However, whether expanded T cells in blood and CSF correlates with T cell expansion in the CNS, which is likely to participate

in disease development, was unknown until recently. Indeed, only one study had suggested that some expanded CNS CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell clones could persist in the blood and in the CSF for several years, seen in two MS patients (24). Very recently, we confirmed and extended this result by comparing the TCR repertoires in the blood, CSF, and CNS (22 lesions with various locations and activities) of three MS patients (21). Using CDR3 spectratyping and high-throughput sequencing, we showed for the first time that the CSF repertoire mirrors that of the CNS, which is, to a lesser extent, also similar to that of blood CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. This further evinces the involvement of CSF and blood expanded CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in MS and further identifies CSF expanded T cells as good surrogates for infiltrating T cells.

# CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cell Autoreactivity

A number of studies have been looking at autoreactive T cells in MS, using different methods and antigens, but the results are hardly comparable between the studies and no consensus has been found as to the presence of CNS-specific CD4+ or CD8+ T cells in MS patients [reviewed in Ref. (42)]. In 2004, Crawford et al. adapted a flow cytometry approach to analyze antigen-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferative response in MS patients. They showed that relapsing-remitting MS patients have a higher proportion of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses against CNS peptides compared to healthy volunteers (HV) or primary progressive MS patients and that this is not the case for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (59). In another study, CD8+ T cells specific to apoptotic epitopes have been shown to be overrepresented in MS patients (in a cohort of 26 compared to 27 HV), and to be able to produce IFNy and/or IL-17 when stimulated with apoptotic epitopes (60). Interestingly, these cells have been found also in the CSF and correlate with the level of disease disability, which strongly suggests their involvement in the immunopathology (60). Finally, Zang et al. tested the proliferation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in contact with irradiated PBMC incubated with degenerated myelin basic proteins (MBP), showing that autoreactive CD8+ T cells recognizing MBP proteins were increased in the blood (15 MS patients compared to 15 HV) (61). Recently, high-throughput sequencing on paired blood and CSF samples of MS patients and control gave further evidence of the implication of a particular subset of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in MS (62), a specific enrichment of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-specific CD8+T cells being observed in the CSF of MS patients.

These results evince the existence of a pool of  $CD8^+$  T cells able to damage the CNS, however the triggering events as well as the antigens recognized remain unclear, necessitating the development of other methods in order to isolate and study the relevant T cells.

# ANIMAL MODELS IDENTIFY CD8<sup>+</sup> T CELLS AS POTENT EFFECTORS IN THE DISEASE

Prior to 2001, most models focused on the involvement of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in the development of EAE. Two groups, developed, in parallel, EAE models based on specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell adoptive transfer. First, in mice C57BL/6, Sun et al. observed that the adoptive

transfer of pMOG<sub>35-55</sub> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells led to the development of an EAE that was both longer and more severe than the disease actively induced by the injection of the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide (63). EAE did not develop in mice lacking  $\beta$ 2 microglobulin, further supporting the involvement of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the development of the disease (63). These data were confirmed in 2005, and the authors further identified the pMOG<sub>37-46</sub> peptide as the minimal peptide recognized by the pMOG<sub>35-55</sub>-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells that both led to IFNy production by these cells and to the development of severe EAE (64). In another 2001 study, Huseby et al. showed that a rapid and severe CNS-autoimmune disease could be induced in C3H mice after adoptive transfer of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells lines reacting against the MBP<sub>79-87</sub> peptide (65). The severity of the disease was reduced when coinjecting anti-IFNy with the CD8 MBP-specific cell lines, supporting a pivotal role for this cytokine in the development of the disease. Interestingly, the clinical symptoms, as well as the CNS lesion types and distributions observed, were different from those induced after CD4+ T cell transfer, better reflecting the clinical features of the human disease (65). The authors then proposed that the different MS clinical manifestations could be linked to the activation of either CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Since then, CD8<sup>+</sup> specific models have mainly been developed by transfer of T cells bearing TCR recognizing transgenic epitopes expressed on oligodendrocytes (66). In 2008, Saxena et al. developed a double knock-in transgenic mouse in which the influenza hemagglutinin (HA) expression was restricted to oligodendrocytes (67). The injection of in vitro activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells bearing a TCR specific for HA led to CNS inflammation and demyelination. Of note, the activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells produced granzyme B and IFNy and exhibited cytotoxicity against cells loaded with HA in vitro. The authors were able to track these cells in the lesions, in close proximity to oligodendrocytes and in association with microglia activation. In another study, Na et al. showed that double transgenic mice with ovalbumin (OVA) expression in oligodendrocytes and OVA-specific TCR CD8+ T cells (OT-I) - but not OVA-specific TCR CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (OT-II) – develop a spontaneous EAE with demylinated and infiltrated lesions (68). The disease developed during the first 10-12 days of life, when CD8+ T cells still have access to the CNS, and was amplified by IFNy. Of note, blocking the recognition of the OT-I CD8+ T cells with an antibody specific for the OVA-peptide/MHC-I complex prevents disease development (69). Interestingly, most of these models develop either clinical manifestations and/or infiltration characteristics that have a greater resemblance to MS symptoms and infiltrates than CD4-mediated EAE models (65, 67, 68).

Another model has been used to study the mechanisms by which CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltrate and damage the CNS. In Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV)-infected mice, the viral model of MS, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells secreting perforin were shown to be involved in BBB disruption and astrocyte activation (70). CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells have also been shown to be able to enter the CNS in a naïve CL4 mice model without peripheral activation (CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells specific for HA). Even if they remained inactivated *in situ*, they were able to proliferate when HA was injected intracerebrally. Interestingly, blocking MHC-I led to the reduction by 76% of the trafficking (71). Recently, Sobottka et al. further described mechanisms of presentation into the CNS. Using living brain slices preincubated with IFN $\gamma$  (to mimic CNS inflammation) and OVA, they showed that OT-I CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (OVA-specific) were able to mediate axonal damage. Moreover, they obtained the same results using transgenic oligodendrocytes-expressing OVA in their living brain slices, making them potential target cells for CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell pathogenicity (72).

Animal models depending on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are, thus, relatively recent, and their study may shed new light on the mechanisms involving these cells in disease development (**Table 2**).

# IL-17-PRODUCING CD8<sup>+</sup> T CELLS AS POTENT EFFECTORS IN MS

Similarly to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, the implication of IL-17-producing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in MS has been recently suggested. The first study suggesting this was performed on 18 frozen CNS samples from 14 MS patients (26). Seventy to 80% of the infiltrating T cells, both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, expressed IL-17 in active and chronic active lesions, shown through double immunofluorescent staining. This percentage was dramatically lower, at 20%, in chronic inactive lesions and NAWM, suggesting significant involvement of these IL-17-producing CD4 and CD8+ T cells in MS pathogenesis. After in vitro stimulation of blood samples, another study observed more IL-17 producing CD8+ T cells in the 20 MS patients than in the 16 controls (74). CD8+ T cells secreting IL-17 after in vitro stimulation were present in greater frequency in the CSF than in the blood of 17 MS patients in the early stages of the disease (75). Finally, in EAE, IL-17-producing CD8+ T cells were found to be necessary for IL-17-producing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell accumulation in the CNS and for disease development (75).

In human, the *in vitro* production of IL-17 is restricted to CD161-expressing cells (76). These cells have been shown to be present in CNS lesions of MS patients and the majority of them produce IFN $\gamma$  (IL-17 staining was not performed on these samples) (32). In addition, an enrichment of CD8<sup>+</sup>CD161<sup>hi</sup> in the blood of MS patients has also been evidenced, suggesting a specific involvement in the disease (32).

Recently, it has been shown that more than 80% of these cells are mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells. MAIT cells are a subset of innate effector memory T cells bearing a semi-invariant TCR (V $\alpha$ 7.2-J $\alpha$ 33/12/20) in humans (77–82). They are restricted to the MHC class-I related protein I (MR1) and have antimicrobial properties both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (83–86). Although they have been correlated with various autoimmune diseases (87–90), their implication, especially in MS (32, 91, 92), remain elusive. MAIT cells are present in the CNS of MS patients, but at very low frequencies compared to in the blood (92–94). This argues against a particular implication of this IL-17-producing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell subset in the pathophysiology of MS (92, 95), similar to what has been described for psoriasis, where conventional IL-17producing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells might be more pathogenic than MAIT cells (87).

Other IL-17-producing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell subsets have been described (96), with different markers, such as MCAM (97), but further research is necessary to decipher their involvement in MS pathogenesis.

Model	Mode	Background	Results	Publication
WT	MOG <sub>35-55</sub> CD8+ injection	WT (C57BL/6)	Severe and permanent EAE	(63)
	MBP <sub>79-87</sub> CD8+ injection	WT (C3H)	Severe EAE with similarities with MS features	(65)
	MOG <sub>35-55</sub> CD8+ injection	WT (C57BL/6)	Severe and long-term EAE	(64)
Transgenic	HA CD8+ injection OVA CD8+ injection	Oligodendrocytes Tg for HA expression (CL4) Oligodendrocytes Tg for OVA expression (C57BL/6)	CNS inflammation and demyelination Severe/lethal EAE	(67) (68)
"Humanized" transgenic	$MOG_{35-55} + MOG_{181}$ injection PLP <sub>45-53</sub> injection	HLA-A*0201 Tg (C57BL/6) HLA-A*0201-2D1 TCR (specific for PLP <sub>45-53</sub> ) double Tg (CBA/c × C57BL/6)	More severe EAE than MOG <sub>35-55</sub> alone MS-like disease (relapsing–remitting)	(73) (18)

HA, hemagglutinin; OVA, ovalburnin; Tg, transgenic; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MBP, myelin basic protein; PLP, proteolipid protein; EAE, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis; WT, wild type; CNS, central nervous system; MS, multiple sclerosis; TCR, T cell receptor.



**FIGURE 2** | Steps to elucidate to better understand CD8<sup>+</sup> autoreactivity mechanisms in MS disease. A peripheral inflammation induced by pathogens (such as EBV) could occur in case of uncontrolled infection. This can lead to the activation or reactivation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, and the expression of several molecules implicated in adhesion, migration, and cytotoxicity, currently not well characterized. In this inflamed state, the BBB could overexpress adhesion and chimoattractant molecules, leading to the entry of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells into the CNS. *In situ*, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells could be reactivated by resident APC presenting target Ag(s), unknown for now. This could lead to the clonal expansion of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells along with the secretion of proinflammatory molecules. Finally, in this step, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells could be able to mediate damage to resident cells and axons potentially by the recognition of CNS derived peptides. Ag: antigen; GZM-B: granzyme-B; BBB: blood–brain barrier; CNS: central nervous system; MS: multiple sclerosis; EBV: Epstein–Barr virus; APC: antigen-presenting cell; TCR: T-cell receptor; MCAM: melanoma cell adhesion molecule 1; DC: dendritic cell; MHC-I: major histocompatibility complex I; CCR2: C–C chemokine receptor type 2; CCL2: C–C chemokine ligand 2; IFNγ: interferon γ; IL-17: interleukin-17.

# MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS: A CLOSE COLLABORATION BETWEEN CD4<sup>+</sup> AND CD8<sup>+</sup> T CELLS

Even though we are convinced that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells play a pivotal role in MS pathophysiology, it seems obvious that they interact with other subsets - especially CD4+ T cells - in mediating MS development. Indeed, CD8+T cells may migrate first into the CNS, further allowing the infiltration of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. This proposition is supported by the fact that a small infiltrate of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was found in the CNS of a CD8-specific mouse model of EAE (67). Moreover, that fact that both CD8+ and CD4+ T cells produce IL-17 at the same frequency in brain lesions gives evidence for the involvement of both cell types. However, whether the damage caused by these cells is direct or bystander is still unclear. Indeed, the initiating event, which is still unknown, leads to an in situ inflammatory context. Amplifying inflammatory loops are likely to develop, leading to BBB disruption and to the infiltration of other immune cell subsets. The inflammatory climate and the subsequent destruction of CNS cell types result in the

# REFERENCES

- Compston A, Coles A. Multiple sclerosis. Lancet (2008) 372:1502–17. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61620-7
- Pierrot-Deseilligny C, Souberbielle J-C. Is hypovitaminosis D one of the environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis? *Brain* (2010) 133:1869–88. doi:10.1093/brain/awq147
- Sospedra M, Martin R. Immunology of multiple sclerosis. Annu Rev Immunol (2005) 23:683–747. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115707
- Noseworthy JH, Lucchinetti C, Rodriguez M, Weinshenker BG. Multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2000) 343:938–52. doi:10.1056/NEJM200009283431307
- Van Oosten BW, Lai M, Hodgkinson S, Barkhof F, Miller DH, Moseley IF, et al. Treatment of multiple sclerosis with the monoclonal anti-CD4 antibody cM-T412: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, MR-monitored phase II trial. *Neurology* (1997) 49:351–7. doi:10.1212/ WNL.49.2.351
- Sinha S, Itani FR, Karandikar NJ. Immune regulation of multiple sclerosis by CD8+ T cells. *Immunol Res* (2014) 59:254–65. doi:10.1007/s12026-014-8529-9
- Denic A, Wootla B, Rodriguez M. CD8(+) T cells in multiple sclerosis. *Expert* Opin Ther Targets (2013) 17:1053–66. doi:10.1517/14728222.2013.815726
- Brown MA, Rubio JP, Bahlo M, Stankovich J, Danoy P, Hickey PF, et al. Salivaderived DNA performs well in large-scale, high-density single-nucleotide polymorphism microarray studies. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2010) 19:794–8. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-09-0812
- Baranzini SE, Wang J, Gibson RA, Galwey N, Naegelin Y, Barkhof F, et al. Genome-wide association analysis of susceptibility and clinical phenotype in multiple sclerosis. *Hum Mol Genet* (2009) 18:767–78. doi:10.1093/hmg/ ddn388
- Sawcer S, Hellenthal G, Pirinen M, Spencer CCA, Patsopoulos NA, Moutsianas L, et al. Genetic risk and a primary role for cell-mediated immune mechanisms in multiple sclerosis. *Nature* (2011) 476:214–9. doi:10.1038/nature10251
- Hafler DA, Compston A, Sawcer S, Lander ES, Daly MJ, De Jager PL, et al. Risk alleles for multiple sclerosis identified by a genomewide study. N Engl J Med (2007) 357:851–62. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa073493
- Esposito F, Reischl J, Lehr S, Bauer D, Heubach J, Sandbrink R, et al. Genomewide meta-analysis identifies novel multiple sclerosis susceptibility loci. *Ann Neurol* (2011) **70**:897–912. doi:10.1002/ana.22609
- Sawcer S, Franklin RJM, Ban M. Multiple sclerosis genetics. *Lancet Neurol* (2014) 13:700–9. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70041-9
- Jersild C, Svejgaard A, Fog T. HL-A antigens and multiple sclerosis. Lancet (1972) 1:1240–1. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(72)90962-2

release of self-antigens. These antigens, usually sequestered in a compartment that is poorly accessible for immune cells, are then available for recognition and further activation of the immune compartment *in situ*. This phenomenon is well described in the EAE model. Ji et al. showed that in their EAE model, induced by the transfer of MOG-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, particular dentritic cells (DC) derived from inflammatory monocytes (Tip-DC) lead to epitope spreading to MBP-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells *in situ* (98).

To conclude, it appears clear to us that  $CD8^+T$  cells are involved in the pathophysiology of MS, in particular as potent effectors for CNS damage. However, other cell subsets, including  $CD4^+T$ cells, are likely to act in synergy to trigger the disease, probably by giving aid to pathogenic  $CD8^+T$  cells. More studies are needed to decipher the exact steps involving  $CD8^+T$  cells in the disease. Indeed, numerous questions remain unanswered: how and why  $CD8^+T$  cells get activated/reactivated in MS patients; how they cross the BBB; what the target antigen(s) is (are); how they mediate damage *in situ*. Focusing on these different questions and mechanisms is essential in order to develop effective therapeutic approaches (**Figure 2**).

- Naito S, Namerow N, Mickey MR, Terasaki PI. Multiple sclerosis: association with HL-A3. *Tissue Antigens* (1972) 2:1–4. doi:10.1111/j.1399-0039.1972. tb00111.x
- Fogdell-Hahn A, Ligers A, Grønning M, Hillert J, Olerup O. Multiple sclerosis: a modifying influence of HLA class I genes in an HLA class II associated autoimmune disease. *Tissue Antigens* (2000) 55:140–8. doi:10.1034/j.1399-0039.2000.550205.x
- Harbo HF, Lie BA, Sawcer S, Celius EG, Dai K-Z, Oturai A, et al. Genes in the HLA class I region may contribute to the HLA class II-associated genetic susceptibility to multiple sclerosis. *Tissue Antigens* (2004) 63:237–47. doi:10.1111/j.0001-2815.2004.00173.x
- Friese MA, Jakobsen KB, Friis L, Etzensperger R, Craner MJ, McMahon RM, et al. Opposing effects of HLA class I molecules in tuning autoreactive CD8+ T cells in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Med* (2008) 14:1227–35. doi:10.1038/ nm.1881
- Booss J, Esiri MM, Tourtellotte WW, Mason DY. Immunohistological analysis of T lymphocyte subsets in the central nervous system in chronic progressive multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci (1983) 62:219–32. doi:10.1016/0022-510X(83)90201-0
- Hauser SL, Bhan AK, Gilles F, Kemp M, Kerr C, Weiner HL. Immunohistochemical analysis of the cellular infiltrate in multiple sclerosis lesions. *Ann Neurol* (1986) 19:578–87. doi:10.1002/ana.410190610
- Salou M, Garcia A, Michel L, Gainche-Salmon A, Loussouarn D, Nicol B, et al. Expanded CD8 T-cell sharing between periphery and CNS in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol* (2015) 2:609–22. doi:10.1002/acn3.199
- Babbe H, Roers A, Waisman A, Lassmann H, Goebels N, Hohlfeld R, et al. Clonal expansions of CD8(+) T cells dominate the T cell infiltrate in active multiple sclerosis lesions as shown by micromanipulation and single cell polymerase chain reaction. J Exp Med (2000) 192:393–404. doi:10.1084/ jem.192.3.393
- Junker A, Ivanidze J, Malotka J, Eiglmeier I, Lassmann H, Wekerle H, et al. Multiple sclerosis: T-cell receptor expression in distinct brain regions. *Brain* (2007) 130:2789–99. doi:10.1093/brain/awm214
- Skulina C, Schmidt S, Dornmair K, Babbe H, Roers A, Rajewsky K, et al. Multiple sclerosis: brain-infiltrating CD8+ T cells persist as clonal expansions in the cerebrospinal fluid and blood. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101:2428–33. doi:10.1073/pnas.0308689100
- Ifergan I, Kebir H, Alvarez JI, Marceau G, Bernard M, Bourbonnière L, et al. Central nervous system recruitment of effector memory CD8+ T lymphocytes during neuroinflammation is dependent on α4 integrin. *Brain* (2011) 134:3557–74. doi:10.1093/brain/awr268
- Tzartos JS, Friese MA, Craner MJ, Palace J, Newcombe J, Esiri MM, et al. Interleukin-17 production in central nervous system-infiltrating T cells and glial cells is associated with active disease in multiple sclerosis. *Am J Pathol* (2008) 172:146–55. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2008.070690
- Lucchinetti CF, Popescu BFG, Bunyan RF, Moll NM, Roemer SF, Lassmann H, et al. Inflammatory cortical demyelination in early multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2011) 365:2188–97. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1100648
- Höftberger R, Aboul-Enein F, Brueck W, Lucchinetti C, Rodriguez M, Schmidbauer M, et al. Expression of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules on the different cell types in multiple sclerosis lesions. *Brain Pathol* (2004) 14:43–50. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2004.tb00496.x
- Medana I, Martinic MA, Wekerle H, Neumann H. Transection of major histocompatibility complex class I-induced neurites by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Am J Pathol* (2001) 159:809–15. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)61755-5
- Trapp BD, Peterson J, Ransohoff RM, Rudick R, Mörk S, Bö L. Axonal transection in the lesions of multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med* (1998) 338:278–85. doi:10.1056/NEJM199801293380502
- Bitsch A, Schuchardt J, Bunkowski S, Kuhlmann T, Brück W. Acute axonal injury in multiple sclerosis. Correlation with demyelination and inflammation. *Brain* (2000) 123(Pt 6):1174–83. doi:10.1093/brain/123.6.1174
- Annibali V, Ristori G, Angelini DF, Serafini B, Mechelli R, Cannoni S, et al. CD161(high)CD8+T cells bear pathogenetic potential in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2011) 134:542–54. doi:10.1093/brain/awq354
- Jilek S, Schluep M, Rossetti AO, Guignard L, Le Goff G, Pantaleo G, et al. CSF enrichment of highly differentiated CD8+ T cells in early multiple sclerosis. *Clin Immunol* (2007) 123:105–13. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2006.11.004
- Malmeström C, Lycke J, Haghighi S, Andersen O, Carlsson L, Wadenvik H, et al. Relapses in multiple sclerosis are associated with increased CD8+ T-cell mediated cytotoxicity in CSF. J Neuroimmunol (2008) 196:159–65. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2008.03.001
- Larochelle C, Lécuyer M-A, Alvarez JI, Charabati M, Saint-Laurent O, Ghannam S, et al. Melanoma cell adhesion molecule–positive CD8 T lymphocytes mediate central nervous system inflammation. *Ann Neurol* (2015) 78:39–53. doi:10.1002/ana.24415
- Larochelle C, Cayrol R, Kebir H, Alvarez JI, Lécuyer M-A, Ifergan I, et al. Melanoma cell adhesion molecule identifies encephalitogenic T lymphocytes and promotes their recruitment to the central nervous system. *Brain* (2012) 135:2906–24. doi:10.1093/brain/aws212
- Flanagan K, Fitzgerald K, Baker J, Regnstrom K, Gardai S, Bard F, et al. Laminin-411 is a vascular ligand for MCAM and facilitates TH17 cell entry into the CNS. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e40443. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0040443
- Duan H, Xing S, Luo Y, Feng L, Gramaglia I, Zhang Y, et al. Targeting endothelial CD146 attenuates neuroinflammation by limiting lymphocyte extravasation to the CNS. *Sci Rep* (2013) 3:1687. doi:10.1038/srep01687
- Juliano RL, Ling V. A surface glycoprotein modulating drug permeability in Chinese hamster ovary cell mutants. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (1976) 455:152–62. doi:10.1016/0005-2736(76)90160-7
- Kooij G, Backer R, Koning JJ, Reijerkerk A, van Horssen J, van der Pol SMA, et al. P-glycoprotein acts as an immunomodulator during neuroinflammation. *PLoS One* (2009) 4:e8212. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008212
- Kooij G, Kroon J, Paul D, Reijerkerk A, Geerts D, van der Pol SMA, et al. P-glycoprotein regulates trafficking of CD8(+) T cells to the brain parenchyma. *Acta Neuropathol* (2014) 127:699–711. doi:10.1007/s00401-014-1244-8
- Elong Ngono A, Pettré S, Salou M, Bahbouhi B, Soulillou J-P, Brouard S, et al. Frequency of circulating autoreactive T cells committed to myelin determinants in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients. *Clin Immunol* (2012) 144:117–26. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2012.05.009
- Sewell AK. Why must T cells be cross-reactive? Nat Rev Immunol (2012) 12:669–77. doi:10.1038/nri3279
- 44. Zhang X, Tang Y, Sujkowska D, Wang J, Ramgolam V, Sospedra M, et al. Degenerate TCR recognition and dual DR2 restriction of autoreactive T cells: implications for the initiation of the autoimmune response in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Immunol* (2008) 38:1297–309. doi:10.1002/eji.200737519
- Ji Q, Perchellet A, Goverman JM. Viral infection triggers central nervous system autoimmunity via activation of CD8+ T cells expressing dual TCRs. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:628–34. doi:10.1038/ni.1888
- 46. Kim S-M, Bhonsle L, Besgen P, Nickel J, Backes A, Held K, et al. Analysis of the paired TCR  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ -chains of single human T cells. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e37338. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0037338

- Goebels N, Hofstetter H, Schmidt S, Brunner C, Wekerle H, Hohlfeld R. Repertoire dynamics of autoreactive T cells in multiple sclerosis patients and healthy subjects: epitope spreading versus clonal persistence. *Brain* (2000) 123(Pt 3):508–18. doi:10.1093/brain/123.3.508
- Croxford JL, Olson JK, Miller SD. Epitope spreading and molecular mimicry as triggers of autoimmunity in the Theiler's virus-induced demyelinating disease model of multiple sclerosis. *Autoimmun Rev* (2002) 1:251–60. doi:10.1016/ S1568-9972(02)00080-0
- Gran B, Gestri D, Sottini A, Quiròs Roldàn E, Bettinardi A, Signorini S, et al. Detection of skewed T-cell receptor V-beta gene usage in the peripheral blood of patients with multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol (1998) 85:22–32. doi:10.1016/S0165-5728(97)00250-6
- Laplaud D-A, Ruiz C, Wiertlewski S, Brouard S, Berthelot L, Guillet M, et al. Blood T-cell receptor beta chain transcriptome in multiple sclerosis. Characterization of the T cells with altered CDR3 length distribution. *Brain* (2004) 127:981–95. doi:10.1093/brain/awh119
- Matsumoto Y, Yoon WK, Jee Y, Fujihara K, Misu T, Sato S, et al. Complementarity-determining region 3 spectratyping analysis of the TCR repertoire in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2003) 170:4846–53. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.170.9.4846
- Monteiro J, Hingorani R, Peroglizzi R, Apatoff B, Gregersen PK. Oligoclonality of CD8+ T cells in multiple sclerosis. *Autoimmunity* (1996) 23:127–38. doi:10.3109/08916939608995336
- Muraro PA, Bonanni L, Mazzanti B, Pantalone A, Traggiai E, Massacesi L, et al. Short-term dynamics of circulating T cell receptor V beta repertoire in relapsing-remitting MS. J Neuroimmunol (2002) 127:149–59. doi:10.1016/ S0165-5728(02)00105-4
- Démoulins T, Mouthon F, Clayette P, Bequet D, Gachelin G, Dormont D. The same TCR (N)Dbeta(N)Jbeta junctional region is associated with several different vbeta13 subtypes in a multiple sclerosis patient at the onset of the disease. *Neurobiol Dis* (2003) 14:470–82. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2003.07.001
- Jacobsen M, Cepok S, Quak E, Happel M, Gaber R, Ziegler A, et al. Oligoclonal expansion of memory CD8+ T cells in cerebrospinal fluid from multiple sclerosis patients. *Brain* (2002) 125:538–50. doi:10.1093/brain/awf059
- Lozeron P, Chabas D, Duprey B, Lyon-Caen O, Liblau R. T cell receptor V beta 5 and V beta 17 clonal diversity in cerebrospinal fluid and peripheral blood lymphocytes of multiple sclerosis patients. *Mult Scler* (1998) 4:154–61. doi:10.1177/135245859800400313
- Laplaud D-A, Berthelot L, Miqueu P, Bourcier K, Moynard J, Oudinet Y, et al. Serial blood T cell repertoire alterations in multiple sclerosis patients; correlation with clinical and MRI parameters. *J Neuroimmunol* (2006) 177:151–60. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.05.006
- Muraro PA, Cassiani-Ingoni R, Chung K, Packer AN, Sospedra M, Martin R. Clonotypic analysis of cerebrospinal fluid T cells during disease exacerbation and remission in a patient with multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2006) 171:177–83. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2005.10.002
- Crawford MP, Yan SX, Ortega SB, Mehta RS, Hewitt RE, Price DA, et al. High prevalence of autoreactive, neuroantigen-specific CD8+ T cells in multiple sclerosis revealed by novel flow cytometric assay. *Blood* (2004) 103:4222–31. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-11-4025
- Lolli F, Martini H, Citro A, Franceschini D, Portaccio E, Amato MP, et al. Increased CD8+ T cell responses to apoptotic T cell-associated antigens in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroinflammation* (2013) 10:94. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-10-94
- Zang YCQ, Li S, Rivera VM, Hong J, Robinson RR, Breitbach WT, et al. Increased CD8+ cytotoxic T cell responses to myelin basic protein in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:5120–7. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.172.8.5120
- Lossius A, Johansen JN, Vartdal F, Robins H, Jūratė Šaltytė B, Holmøy T, et al. High-throughput sequencing of TCR repertoires in multiple sclerosis reveals intrathecal enrichment of EBV-reactive CD8+ T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44:3439–52. doi:10.1002/eji.201444662
- Sun D, Whitaker JN, Huang Z, Liu D, Coleclough C, Wekerle H, et al. Myelin antigen-specific CD8+ T cells are encephalitogenic and produce severe disease in C57BL/6 mice. *J Immunol* (2001) 166:7579–87. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.166.12.7579
- Ford ML, Evavold BD. Specificity, magnitude, and kinetics of MOG-specific CD8+ T cell responses during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) 35:76–85. doi:10.1002/eji.200425660

- Huseby ES, Liggitt D, Brabb T, Schnabel B, Ohlén C, Goverman J. A pathogenic role for myelin-specific CD8(+) T cells in a model for multiple sclerosis. *J Exp Med* (2001) 194:669–76. doi:10.1084/jem.194.5.669
- Lassmann H. Experimental models of multiple sclerosis. *Rev Neurol* (2007) 163:651–5. doi:10.1016/S0035-3787(07)90474-9
- Saxena A, Bauer J, Scheikl T, Zappulla J, Audebert M, Desbois S, et al. Cutting edge: multiple sclerosis-like lesions induced by effector CD8 T cells recognizing a sequestered antigen on oligodendrocytes. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:1617–21. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.3.1617
- Na S-Y, Cao Y, Toben C, Nitschke L, Stadelmann C, Gold R, et al. Naive CD8 T-cells initiate spontaneous autoimmunity to a sequestered model antigen of the central nervous system. *Brain* (2008) 131:2353–65. doi:10.1093/brain/awn148
- Na S-Y, Eujen H, Göbel K, Meuth SG, Martens K, Wiendl H, et al. Antigenspecific blockade of lethal CD8 T-cell mediated autoimmunity in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:6569–75. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0804200
- Johnson HL, Willenbring RC, Jin F, Manhart WA, LaFrance SJ, Pirko I, et al. Perforin competent CD8 T cells are sufficient to cause immune-mediated blood-brain barrier disruption. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e111401. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0111401
- Galea I, Bernardes-Silva M, Forse PA, van Rooijen N, Liblau RS, Perry VH. An antigen-specific pathway for CD8 T cells across the blood-brain barrier. J Exp Med (2007) 204:2023–30. doi:10.1084/jem.20070064
- Sobottka B, Harrer MD, Ziegler U, Fischer K, Wiendl H, Hünig T, et al. Collateral bystander damage by myelin-directed CD8+ T cells causes axonal loss. *Am J Pathol* (2009) 175:1160–6. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2009.090340
- Mars LT, Bauer J, Gross DA, Bucciarelli F, Firat H, Hudrisier D, et al. CD8 T cell responses to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-derived peptides in humanized HLA-A\*0201-transgenic mice. *J Immunol* (2007) 179:5090–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.8.5090
- Wang HH, Dai YQ, Qiu W, Lu ZQ, Peng FH, Wang YG, et al. Interleukin-17secreting T cells in neuromyelitis optica and multiple sclerosis during relapse. *J Clin Neurosci* (2011) 18:1313–7. doi:10.1016/j.jocn.2011.01.031
- Huber M, Heink S, Pagenstecher A, Reinhard K, Ritter J, Visekruna A, et al. IL-17A secretion by CD8+ T cells supports Th17-mediated autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Clin Invest (2013) 123:247–60. doi:10.1172/JCI63681
- Billerbeck E, Kang Y-H, Walker L, Lockstone H, Grafmueller S, Fleming V, et al. Analysis of CD161 expression on human CD8+ T cells defines a distinct functional subset with tissue-homing properties. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:3006–11. doi:10.1073/pnas.0914839107
- Martin E, Treiner E, Duban L, Guerri L, Laude H, Toly C, et al. Stepwise development of MAIT cells in mouse and human. *PLoS Biol* (2009) 7:e1000054. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000054
- Walker LJ, Kang Y-H, Smith MO, Tharmalingham H, Ramamurthy N, Fleming VM, et al. Human MAIT and CD8 cells develop from a pool of type-17 precommitted CD8+ T cells. *Blood* (2012) 119:422–33. doi:10.1182/ blood-2011-05-353789
- Dusseaux M, Martin E, Serriari N, Peguillet I, Premel V, Louis D, et al. Human MAIT cells are xenobiotic-resistant, tissue-targeted, CD161hi IL-17-secreting T cells. *Blood* (2010) 117:1250–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-08-303339
- Patel O, Kjer-Nielsen L, Le Nours J, Eckle SBG, Birkinshaw R, Beddoe T, et al. Recognition of vitamin B metabolites by mucosal-associated invariant T cells. Nat Commun (2013) 4:2142. doi:10.1038/ncomms3142
- Reantragoon R, Corbett AJ, Sakala IG, Gherardin NA, Furness JB, Chen Z, et al. Antigen-loaded MR1 tetramers define T cell receptor heterogeneity in mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210:2305–20. doi:10.1084/jem.20130958
- Treiner E, Duban L, Bahram S, Radosavljevic M, Wanner V, Tilloy F, et al. Selection of evolutionarily conserved mucosal-associated invariant T cells by MR1. *Nature* (2003) 422:164–9. doi:10.1038/nature01433
- Chua W-J, Kim S, Myers N, Huang S, Yu L, Fremont DH, et al. Endogenous MHC-related protein 1 is transiently expressed on the plasma membrane in a conformation that activates mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:4744–50. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003254

- Le Bourhis L, Martin E, Péguillet I, Guihot A, Froux N, Coré M, et al. Antimicrobial activity of mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:701–8. doi:10.1038/ni.1890
- Gold MC, Cerri S, Smyk-Pearson S, Cansler ME, Vogt TM, Delepine J, et al. Human mucosal associated invariant T cells detect bacterially infected cells. *PLoS Biol* (2010) 8:e1000407. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000407
- Meierovics A, Yankelevich W-JC, Cowley SC. MAIT cells are critical for optimal mucosal immune responses during in vivo pulmonary bacterial infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110:E3119–28. doi:10.1073/pnas.1302799110
- Teunissen MBM, Yeremenko NG, Baeten DLP, Chielie S, Spuls PI, de Rie MA, et al. The IL-17A-producing CD8+ T-cell population in psoriatic lesional skin comprises mucosa-associated invariant T cells and conventional T cells. J Invest Dermatol (2014) 134:2898–907. doi:10.1038/jid.2014.261
- Serriari N-E, Eoche M, Lamotte L, Lion J, Fumery M, Marcelo P, et al. Innate mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells are activated in inflammatory bowel diseases: MAIT cells in IBD. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2014) **176**:266–74. doi:10.1111/cei.12277
- Dunne MR, Elliott L, Hussey S, Mahmud N, Kelly J, Doherty DG, et al. Persistent changes in circulating and intestinal γδ T cell subsets, invariant natural killer T cells and mucosal-associated invariant T cells in children and adults with coeliac disease. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e76008. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0076008
- 90. Eidson M, Wahlstrom J, Beaulieu AM, Zaidi B, Carsons SE, Crow PK, et al. Altered development of NKT cells,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, CD8 T cells and NK cells in a PLZF deficient patient. *PLoS One* (2011) **6**:e24441. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0024441
- Miyazaki Y, Miyake S, Chiba A, Lantz O, Yamamura T. Mucosal-associated invariant T cells regulate Th1 response in multiple sclerosis. *Int Immunol* (2011) 23:529–35. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxr047
- 92. Abrahamsson SV, Angelini DF, Dubinsky AN, Morel E, Oh U, Jones JL, et al. Non-myeloablative autologous haematopoietic stem cell transplantation expands regulatory cells and depletes IL-17 producing mucosal-associated invariant T cells in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2013) **136**:2888–903. doi:10.1093/ brain/awt182
- Illes Z. Accumulation of V 7.2-J 33 invariant T cells in human autoimmune inflammatory lesions in the nervous system. *Int Immunol* (2004) 16:223–30. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxh018
- 94. Held K, Bhonsle-Deeng L, Siewert K, Sato W, Beltrán E, Schmidt S, et al. αβ T-cell receptors from multiple sclerosis brain lesions show MAIT cell-related features. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2015) 2:e107. doi:10.1212/ NXI.000000000000107
- Willing A, Leach OA, Ufer F, Attfield KE, Steinbach K, Kursawe N, et al. CD8<sup>+</sup> MAIT cells infiltrate into the CNS and alterations in their blood frequencies correlate with IL-18 serum levels in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44:3119–28. doi:10.1002/eji.201344160
- Fergusson JR, Fleming VM, Klenerman P. CD161-expressing human T cells. Front Immunol (2011) 2:36. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2011.00036
- Dagur PK, Biancotto A, Stansky E, Sen HN, Nussenblatt RB, McCoy JP. Secretion of interleukin-17 by CD8+ T cells expressing CD146 (MCAM). *Clin Immunol* (2014) 152:36–47. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2014.01.009
- Ji Q, Castelli L, Goverman JM. MHC class I-restricted myelin epitopes are cross-presented by Tip-DCs that promote determinant spreading to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:254–61. doi:10.1038/ni.2513

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Salou, Nicol, Garcia and Laplaud. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# CD8<sup>+</sup> T-Cells as Immune Regulators of Multiple Sclerosis

Sushmita Sinha<sup>†</sup>, Alexander W. Boyden<sup>†</sup>, Farah R. Itani, Michael P. Crawford and Nitin J. Karandikar<sup>\*</sup>

Department of Pathology, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA

The vast majority of studies regarding the immune basis of MS (and its animal model, EAE) have largely focused on CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells as mediators and regulators of disease. Interestingly, CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells represent the predominant T-cell population in human MS lesions and are oligoclonally expanded at the site of pathology. However, their role in the autoimmune pathologic process has been both understudied and controversial. Several animal models and MS patient studies support a pathogenic role for CNS-specific CD8+ T-cells, whereas we and others have demonstrated a regulatory role for these cells in disease. In this review, we describe studies that have investigated the role of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in MS and EAE, presenting evidence for both pathogenic and regulatory functions. In our studies, we have shown that cytotoxic/suppressor CD8+ T-cells are CNS antigen-specific, MHC class I-restricted, IFNy- and perforin-dependent, and are able to inhibit disease. The clinical relevance for CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell suppressive function is best described by a lack of their function during MS relapse, and importantly, restoration of their suppressive function during quiescence. Furthermore, CD8+ T-cells with immunosuppressive functions can be therapeutically induced in MS patients by glatiramer acetate (GA) treatment. Unlike CNSspecific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells, these immunosuppressive GA-induced CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells appear to be HLA-E restricted. These studies have provided greater fundamental insight into the role of autoreactive as well as therapeutically induced CD8+ T-cells in disease amelioration. The clinical implications for these findings are immense and we propose that this natural process can be harnessed toward the development of an effective immunotherapeutic strategy.

#### Keywords: CD8, multiple sclerosis, EAE, T-cells, immune regulation

# INTRODUCTION

Studies addressing the immunobiology of multiple sclerosis (MS) and its animal model experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) have focused on CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells as the main orchestrators of pathogenesis and regulation. CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells are the most abundant T-cells in CNS lesions of MS patients (1) and exhibit oligoclonal expansion (2–4). This indicates an important role for these cells in the target organ. However, the functional nature of these cells during disease and its treatment is unclear and somewhat controversial. There are abundant CNS-specific (5, 6) and therapeutically induced CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses in MS patients (5–8). Recent studies suggest that certain MHC class I alleles can be associated with genetic risk or protection in MS (9–11). Functional roles for some of these MHC class I molecules have been tested in the EAE models. 2D1-TCR humanized transgenic

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Nathalie Arbour, Université de Montreal, Canada

## Reviewed by:

Roland S. Liblau, Université Paul Sabatier – INSERM, France Eric Huseby, University of Massachusetts Medical School, USA

\*Correspondence:

Nitin J. Karandikar nitin-karandikar@uiowa.edu

<sup>†</sup>Sushmita Sinha and Alexander W. Boyden have contributed equally to this work.

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 13 August 2015 Accepted: 26 November 2015 Published: 10 December 2015

#### Citation:

Sinha S, Boyden AW, Itani FR, Crawford MP and Karandikar NJ (2015) CD8<sup>+</sup> T-Cells as Immune Regulators of Multiple Sclerosis. Front. Immunol. 6:619. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00619

CD8+ T-Cells in MS and EAE

mice, expressing MS risk variant HLA-A3 together with TCR that recognizes myelin proteolipid protein (PLP), develope spontaneous EAE in only 4% of mice and mild EAE early on when immunized with PLP peptide. A quarter of these mice went on to develop a severe disease course with 2D1+-TCR+-CD8+ T-cells present in the CNS of these mice, suggesting a pathogenic role for HLA-A3-restricted myelin-specific CD8+ T-cells (12). However, introduction of HLA-A2 alleles in the same model completely abrogates spontaneous and induced EAE, providing evidence for the protective role for HLA-A2-restricted CD8+ T-cells (12). We are only beginning to understand these responses and here attempt to provide an overview of such studies. We will summarize the evidence for both pathogenic and regulatory functions of CD8+ T-cells in MS and EAE. We will provide an overview of the various cellular and molecular interactions that mediate the role of these cells and develop a model for such functions during disease.

# PATHOGENIC ROLE FOR CD8<sup>+</sup> T-CELLS IN EAE

Much of the focus regarding the pathogenesis of EAE has revolved primarily around myelin-specific CD4+ T-cells. Adoptive transfer of CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells isolated from myelin antigen-primed animals is sufficient to induce disease. This observation partly facilitated the overall ignorance surrounding CD8+ T-cells and their potential contribution to disease. A pathogenic role first became evident when a CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell-mediated model of EAE was developed using the self-protein myelin basic protein (MBP) (13). In attempts to prime an MHC class I-restricted T-cell response, C3H.Fej, and C3H MBP-deficient shiverer mice were infected with MBPexpressing vaccinia. CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell lines specific for MBP<sub>79-87</sub> drove pathogenesis and demyelination when transferred into wildtype (WT) C3H recipients. Mice developed neurological symptoms including ataxia, spasticity, and lost weight when compared to control animals that received vaccinia-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells. Histologically, perivascular cuffs composed primarily of lymphocytes and macrophages were detected in the brain but not in the spinal cord. IFNy was found to play an important role in mediating MBP-specific CD8+ T-cell-driven disease, as its neutralization reduced severity. The break of peripheral tolerance following viral infection was also shown to induce CD8+ T-cell-mediated CNS autoimmunity (14). In this report, dual TCR-expressing CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells recognizing both viral antigen and MBP triggered disease. Following viral infection, CD8+ T-cells, macrophages, and activated microglia infiltrated both the brain and spinal cord. Clinically, mice lost weight and exhibited symptoms of ataxia, impaired mobility, and tail weakness.

CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell-mediated EAE has also been induced in C57BL/6 (B6) mice through transfer of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG)-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells (15). MOG-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells isolated from mice immunized with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide were encephalitogenic, and transferred severe paralytic disease to B6 mice. One caveat to this study is that cells were nylon woolenriched, calling purity into question. Disease was transferred using <1e6 MOG<sub>35-55</sub> CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells and resulted in more severe EAE compared to active immunization. Transferred cells could be re-isolated 6–8 months later, possibly due to additional IL-2 stimulus. How these cells induced pathology was not investigated.

A separate group identified  $MOG_{37-46}$ -specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells as autoaggressive effectors (16). In this system, MOG-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells were generated following immunization. Restimulation with antigen and IL-2 readily yielded IFN $\gamma$  from these cells, but not TGF $\beta$  or IL-10. These cells, which were found to be H-2D<sup>b</sup>restricted, could induce EAE when transferred into SCID or naïve WT B6 recipients.  $MOG_{37-46}$  elicited the best IFN $\gamma$  response from  $MOG_{35-55}$ -primed lymph node cells, although bound MHC poorly. When used to induce active EAE in B6 mice,  $MOG_{37-46}$ led to similar disease as  $MOG_{35-55}$ -immunized mice. Using  $MOG_{37-50}/H-2D^b$  tetramers, MOG-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells were found to persist within the CNS.

While these studies utilized myelin-components to examine the potential pathogenic role of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in EAE, nonmyelin antigen-driven systems have been used as well. One report describes CD8<sup>+</sup> TCR transgenic mice recognizing glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), an intermediate filament protein expressed in the CNS by astrocytes and in various peripheral tissues (17). BG1 transgenic mice are reactive to the GFAP<sub>264-274</sub> peptide presented on H-2K<sup>b</sup>, and develop spontaneous inflammatory CNS disease by 6–12 months of age. Interestingly, GFAP-expressing vaccinia induced distinct disease pathology compared to spontaneous disease. Lesion localization and clinical manifestations of disease was dependent upon how CNS-reactive CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells were activated. CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells isolated from brains of WT BG1 mice were poor secretors of IFN $\gamma$ , IL-17A, and granzyme B, suggesting alternative effector mechanisms.

Efforts to study the role of Src homology 2 domain-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase (SHP-2) in EAE demonstrated that disease could be ameliorated through phosphatase inhibition (18). The competitive inhibitor, NSC-87877 led to reduced demyelination and blocked CD8<sup>+</sup> but not CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell migration into the CNS, suggesting a pathogenic role for CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in this model.

A study of engineered transgenic NOD mice expressing a  $MOG_{35-55}$ -reactive TCR (1C6) lends further support for pathogenic CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in EAE (19). 1C6 mice spontaneously generated MOG-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells that secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines. 1C6 CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells could recognize  $MOG_{35-55}$  in the context of MHC class I and II, and when adoptively transferred into NOD. Scid recipients, induced optic neuritis and mild EAE, while 1C6 CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells induced severe EAE.

CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells' ability to target CNS components has also been evaluated in several viral models (20–22). LCMV GP33 peptidespecific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells can induce lesions in cultured murine neurons presenting GP33 in MHC class I. While this report relies on peptide pulsing and artificial upregulation of MHC class I, viral infection-induced upregulation of class I has been demonstrated in Borna disease virus-infected rat neuronal cultures, which could be targeted by antiviral CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells, eventually leading to apoptosis of neurons (23). Although electrical signals were not initially disrupted in this model and longer incubation times were needed for neuronal apoptosis, another study has demonstrated impaired murine neuronal signaling following neuron/CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell interactions along with eventual apoptosis which interestingly occurred independent of perforin/granzymes (24). To this end, IFN $\gamma$ -production from CNS CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells and subsequent IFN $\gamma$  signaling in neurons has been shown to be significant for intracranial LCMV disease in mice (25). In another study, OT-I CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells formed immune synapses with MHC class I (H-2K<sup>b</sup>)-expressing axons presenting SIINFEKL peptide, and loss of axon integrity was observed. Additionally, axonal injury was dependent upon antigen-specific TCR recognition and granzyme B (26).

Another report also described mice expressing neo-self antigen in oligodendrocytes (ODCs) targeted by transgenic CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells (27). In this model, ovalbumin was expressed exclusively in the cytosol of ODCs and therefore ignored by CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells and B-cells. Following immunization, mild EAE was observed in some ODC–OVA mice. Studies using double transgenic ODC– OVA/OT-I mice demonstrate treatment with D1 mAb (specific for H-2K<sup>b</sup>/OVA) prevented the lethal EAE normally observed in these animals (28). Double transgenic mice were also given D1 prophylactically, which in certain instances led to spontaneous disease remission.

CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells have also been shown to indirectly influence CNS autoimmunity. Tc17 cells, coined for their ability to produce IL-17A, were detected in the lymph nodes and CNS of  $MOG_{37-50}$  EAE mice (29). Tc17s differ from conventional CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells regarding granzyme B and IFN $\gamma$  expression, and thus are impaired in their cytotoxic capacity. In a separate study implementing CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell co-transfer, Tc17 cells were found to help CD4<sup>+</sup> Th17 cells accumulate in the CNS and induce EAE (30). Furthermore, their ability to produce IL-17A was required to render CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells encephalitogenic.

# **REGULATORY ROLE FOR CD8+ T-CELLS IN EAE**

While evidence exists to suggest a pathogenic role for CD8+ T-cells in MS and EAE (reviewed in Ref. (31) and discussed above), there is a growing body of evidence supporting the opposite conclusion - CD8+ T-cells play an important regulatory role in the pathogenesis of MS and MS-like disease. Ultimately, CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell subsets likely perform varying effector functions in the context of MS/EAE. However, the seeming discrepancy is in part due to a lack of concrete in vivo evidence demonstrating a cytotoxic effect of CD8+ T-cells in MS lesions. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that depletion of CD8+ T-cells prior to EAE induction results in exacerbated disease (32). Similar results are seen in mice lacking MHC class I (although a role for NK cells can be argued) (33) and in CD8-deficient mice (32, 34, 35). This is in addition to work from our lab, which clearly demonstrated - in marked contrast to their CD4<sup>+</sup> counterparts - neuroantigenspecific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells failed to adoptively transfer EAE disease to naïve recipient mice (36). We have seen this protective CD8+ T-cells phenotype very robustly in several models of EAE (37).

The notion of a regulatory CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell subset (CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs) in MS is not a new idea. Studies spanning several decades point to the suppressive potential of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in MS patients (5–8, 38–41). In lieu of these examples, T-cell-mediated tolerance studies have largely focused on CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ T-cells. Although full appreciation of CD8+ Treg function and significance in MS and EAE is lacking, the last 15 years have seen a steady growth toward this understanding.

CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells' suppressive ability has been described in many mouse models, including cancer (42), diabetes (43), colitis (44), SLE-like disease (45), Grave's disease (46), and transplant tolerance (47). Inhibitory CD8+ T-cell subsets involved in autoimmunity in both mice and humans have been exhaustively reviewed in Ref. (48). These regulatory CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells have been extensively studied in T1D where it has been shown that lowavidity autoreactive CD8+ T-cells convert into memory-like autoregulatory cells and blunt diabetes progression (49, 50). However, CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg participation in EAE is less-widely studied. Moreover, unlike murine CD4+Foxp3+ Tregs, a universal CD8+ Treg phenotype has yet to be described. For example, in EAE, CD8+CD28- T-cells have been shown to play an inhibitory role (32) while others show CD8+CD122+ T-cells to be protective (51-53). Little is known concerning the induction of these cells in MS-like disease, though the involvement of one subtype versus another surely is influenced by disease setting and may depend on the cell's antigen specificity/MHC-restriction. Studies of anterior chamber-associated immune deviation (ACAID) represent some of the best efforts to understand antigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs, which appear to be Qa-1-restricted (54-56). Several ACAID studies further complicate the CD8+ Treg phenotyping picture (e.g., Foxp3<sup>+</sup>, CD94<sup>+</sup>, CD103<sup>+</sup>, TGFβ-producing, etc.) (56-60). Interestingly, immune deviation can be elicited against myelin antigens (61, 62), pointing to the potential role for Qa-1-restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in EAE disease. Qa-1-restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells have been described as being important for protection in MBP-driven EAE (63). We have demonstrated that Qa-1-restricted CD8+ T-cells suppress EAE. We have also demonstrated that GA treatment induces CD8+ Treg in mice, and that these CD8+ T-cells are required for GA to be therapeutically effective in ameliorating EAE disease (64).

While little is still known about Qa-1-restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs, even less was understood about CNS-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells until very recently. We observed the surprising result that neuroantigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells could suppress EAE induction and even ameliorate established EAE disease (36). To our knowledge, this was the first documentation of neuroantigenspecific CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs in mice. In our recently published and unpublished results, adoptive transfer of both MOG<sub>35-55</sub>- and PLP<sub>178-191</sub>-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells can suppress EAE (34, 65). Due to mechanistic studies, we will elaborate upon later that these cells are quite distinct from previously described Qa-1restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs (37).

Recent work has suggested a role of IL-10-producing CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in diminishing disease pathology in virus-induced encephalitis models. These IL-10-producing CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells display a more functional profile including increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, are immunosuppressive, and their presence in the CNS following Coronavirus infection reduces tissue destruction and morbidity in these mice (66).

# INTERACTIONS BETWEEN CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs AND OTHER CELL TYPES IN EAE/MS

Advancement in therapy for MS patients, particularly cellular immunotherapy, necessitates the full understanding of regulatory immune cell interplay. Studies concerning the functional interactions between CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs and other cells in the context of MS and MS-like disease are therefore of paramount interest. The next several sections will provide mechanistic insights into CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell-mediated modulation of other immune cells including CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells and antigen presenting cell (APC) populations.

# Influence of CD8<sup>+</sup> T Regulatory Cells on CD4<sup>+</sup> T-Cells

Qa-1-restricted CD8+ T-cells have been shown to modulate EAE disease through action on CD4+ T-cells. It has been demonstrated in a model of MBP-driven EAE that CD4+ T-cell vaccination protocol-mediated protection against EAE disease is dependent on the presence of Qa-1-restricted CD8+ T-cells that recognize specific TCRV $\beta$  molecules on MBP-reactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells (63). In this particular example, CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells mediated their control by preferentially suppressing Th1 CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells during EAE. While this report did not directly test cytotoxic killing as a means of suppression, the group had previously established this capability in T-cell vaccination scenarios. Data from another group later confirmed a cytotoxic effect by demonstrating that CD8 $\alpha\alpha^+$ TCR $\alpha\beta^+$  T-cells from lines that recognize TCRV $\beta$ 8.2<sup>+</sup> (MBP-reactive) CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells could protect against EAE disease in recipient mice by the targeted killing of these pathogenic cells via Qa-1-recognition (67).

We have showed that the disease-ameliorating effect of GA-therapy in EAE is dependent upon Qa-1-restricted CD8+ Tregs (64). In this report, we demonstrated that the protective ability of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells was completely lost or diminished when unable to produce IFNy or perforin, respectively. These CD8+ T-cells could kill GA-loaded target T-cells and even limited the proliferation of ex vivo neuroantigen-specific CD4+ T-cells (64). Furthermore, the GA-induced Qa-1-restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in this study were important for generation of CD4+ Tregs (64). These GA-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells have the potential to kill GA-expressing CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells and limit proliferation of neuroantigen-specific and anti-CD3-stimulated CD4+ T-cells (8, 40). We have also demonstrated that GA therapy, whose effects require CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in mice (64), was able to increase the induction of CD4+CD25+ Tregs from the CD4+CD25- T-cell population in MS patient blood (40).

Distinct from the non-classical HLA-E-like Qa-1-restricted murine CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs, we have also demonstrated the existence of neuroantigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs in MS and EAE. Neuroantigen-specific, MHC class Ia-restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells can kill MOG-loaded CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells in mice (34, 36) and mediate their disease-ameliorating effects via the targeting of encephalitogenic CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells during EAE disease (34). We have also demonstrated an ability of neuroantigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs to induce anti-inflammatory profiles in CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells during EAE (65). Importantly, we have also shown that neuroantigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells are detectable in MS patient blood, and possess capacity to suppress CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell proliferation (5, 68).

## Influence of CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs on Dendritic Cells

The potential for CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells to alter CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell priming through direct effects on DCs is worth investigation. CD8<sup>+</sup>CD28<sup>-</sup> T-cells have been implicated as regulators of EAE disease. It has been demonstrated that DCs have reduced costimulatory molecule (CD80, CD86, and CD40) expression after culture with CD8<sup>+</sup>CD28<sup>-</sup> T regulatory cells, rendering these DCs as substandard APCs (32). It has been similarly demonstrated that DCs cultured with CD8<sup>+</sup>CD122<sup>+</sup> T-cells had a reduction in CD80/86 and MHC molecules and showed inferior antigen-presentation ability compared to DCs cultured with CD8<sup>+</sup>CD122<sup>-</sup> T-cells (52).

While it remains unclear whether Qa-1-restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs have a direct effect on DCs, we have shown that neuroantigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs can both kill and suppress antigen presentation of MOG-loaded bulk APCs (contains DCs) (36). Interestingly, we have demonstrated that neuroantigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs have little effect on DC surface expression of MHC or costimulatory molecules, but rather shift the inflammatory profiles of CD11c<sup>+</sup> DCs from IL-12 to IL-10 (65). Early human MS work from our lab points to the potential of GA therapy-induced CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregmediated killing of APCs, as CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells were only a part of the larger target pool (8).

# Influence of CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs on Monocytes/ Macrophages

Another potential mechanism of suppression is CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cellmediated regulation of monocytes or macrophages, which are present in MS lesions and important for pathology in the CNS of EAE mice. Interestingly, GA treatment has been demonstrated to affect monocyte populations in EAE. For example, anti-inflammatory type II monocytes are induced in GA-treated mice, which can shift inflammatory cytokine profiles toward immunosuppressive IL-10, expand Th2 cells, and induce CD4+ Tregs capable of ameliorating EAE (69). We have observed similar results and have further demonstrated that the action of GA on monocytes elicits CD8+ Tregs and actually requires CD8+ T-cells for its ameliorative effects in EAE (64). This GA-induced monocyte-CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell interaction is largely unknown in MS, as is the effect of GA-induced CD8+ T-cell targeting of other macrophage populations. While a direct link to CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells has yet to be confirmed, studies from us and others have shown modulation of monocytes following GA therapy in humans (40, 70, 71). As mentioned in the section above, GA-induced CD8+ T-cell-mediated killing of APC populations like dendritic cells and monocytes/macrophages while unconfirmed, cannot be ruled out, as CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were only a portion of a larger affected target pool (8). Refining these assays for direct detection of killed targets is needed going forward.

Beyond GA-induced CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs, neuroantigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs could conceivably modulate monocytes/macrophages in EAE. We have demonstrated that these cells can kill MOG-loaded bulk APCs, which may contain monocytes/macrophages, and can suppress their antigen presentation (36). However, we did not observe a substantial neuroantigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg effect on monocytes during EAE (65). Furthermore, neuroantigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs from MS patients do not appear to specifically target monocytes. More work is needed to understand the potential functional interactions between CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells and monocytes/ macrophages during MS and MS-like disease, and may ultimately be a GA treatment-specific phenomenon.

# Potential CD8<sup>+</sup> T-Cell: B-Cell Interactions in MS/EAE?

In light of depletion therapy success, more focus is now being given to B-cells and their role in MS. The literature supports both a pathogenic (72–82) and regulatory (76, 83–94) role for B-cells in MS/EAE, and it is intriguing to speculate about the potential immune cell interplay between CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, B-cells, and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells therein. There is evidence in the literature to support a B-cell effect on CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells (54, 55, 82, 95–100). Many of these reports point to B-cell antigen presentation to CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells and even a B-cell requirement for CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg function in some models. There is also literature supporting a role for Bregs in controlling CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses (17, 101–105). Additionally, CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells can be detected in follicles and modulate B-cell biology, such as germinal centers and antibody production (45, 106–111). The significance of these CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell and B-cell subset interactions in the context of MS/EAE remains to be seen.

# PATHOGENIC ROLE FOR CD8<sup>+</sup> T-CELLS IN MS

Due to the inherent complexity of studying CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell function in the human brain, only circumstantial evidence exists regarding a pathogenic role for CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in MS.

CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells are the most abundant T-cells found in the CNS lesions of MS patients, far outnumbering CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells (1). In patients with active disease, CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells were detected in increasing amounts from the center to the edge of the lesions studied (112). The CD8/CD4 ratio is shown to have been as high as 50/1 in the lymphocytic perivascular cuffs at the edge of active plaques (113). CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells displaying activated and memory phenotypes (suggesting previous interaction with local antigens) have also been detected in the CNS and CSF of MS patients (3, 114). CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell clones have also been shown to move throughout the affected CNS and into normal appearing white matter (NAWM) (112). One study demonstrated that there is diffuse infiltration by CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells combined with microglial activation and meningeal inflammation in the NAWM of MS patients (115).

Unfortunately, assigning function to these CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells remains a challenging task, although speculations have been made that CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells present in the CNS lesions of MS patients may be cytotoxic toward CNS cells including glia and axons. CD8<sup>+</sup> MHC class I-restricted myelin peptide-specific T-cells have been shown to cause injury to human ODCs *in vitro* (116). Similarly, an MBP-specific memory phenotype CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell line generated from the peripheral blood of MS patients, in addition to secreting IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$ , was able to lyse COS-MBP/HLA-A2-transfected cells that were presenting endogenous MBP (114).

CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells have also been detected near or attached to ODCs and demyelinated axons in MS patients (117–119). Importantly, MHC class I molecules are present on astrocytes, ODCs, neurons, and endothelial cells (120, 121). Furthermore, MHC class I molecules are upregulated – depending on disease severity – and can be induced by IFN $\gamma$  (121). CNS blood vessel endothelium as well as several APCs also express MHC class I molecules, which can cross-present exogenous peptides (122). Thus, it is not surprising that CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells have been demonstrated to interact with APCs at CNS plaque margins (119). The potentially detrimental nature of this interaction is supported by a study that showed that the amount of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells and macrophages present in an MS lesion is proportional to the amount of acute axonal damage present (123).

Effector cytokines from CD8+ T-cells can also enhance their cytotoxic function and activate other immune cells to amplify inflammatory cascades in the CNS. For example, neuroantigenspecific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells present in the peripheral blood express IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  in response to their cognate antigen *ex vivo* (6, 124, 125). IFNy- and IL-17-producing CD8+ T-cells can be recruited into the CNS when responding to apoptotic T-cellassociated self-epitopes (126). One report demonstrated that CD8<sup>+</sup> but not CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells from patients with acute RRMS had increased ability to be recruited in inflamed CNS venules (127). Additionally, CD8+ IL-17-secreting T-cell numbers have been shown to be significantly elevated in acute CNS lesions of MS patients (128). IFNy- and IL-17-secreting CD8+CD161+ T-cells were also found to be elevated in the peripheral blood of MS patients (129). Higher frequency of CD8+ T-cells expressing cytotoxic molecules like perforin has been shown to be present in MS patients, particularly during a relapse (130).

# REGULATORY ROLE FOR CD8<sup>+</sup> T-CELLS IN MS

In light of the present literature, it can be appreciated that CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in MS and other autoimmune diseases are phenotypically and functionally diverse, and can potentially regulate the pathogenic immune processes. Besides cytolytic molecules like perforin and granzyme, CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells are armed with immunosuppressive cytokines, such as IL-10, that can dampen the inflammatory response.

The evidence for  $CD8^+$  T-cell regulatory function in MS has existed for a long time and has been largely ignored by the field.  $CD8^+$  T-cells from the peripheral blood of MS patients displaying reduced levels of suppressor function was the first report that suggested a regulatory function for  $CD8^+$  T-cells in MS (131). This was followed by another study that demonstrated a similar defect in  $CD8^+$  T-cell-mediated suppression in patients with chronic progressive MS (132). Since then, mounting evidence has accumulated in the field of MS disease and others that collectively points toward a regulatory role for  $CD8^+$  T-cells in autoimmune diseases (50, 133, 134). More recently, our lab has provided direct evidence for  $CD8^+$  T-cell regulatory function in MS and has established clinical correlations with the disease activity (31).

As in the mouse, phenotypic identification of human CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs has been challenging. Human CD8+CD28- T-cells have been shown to possess suppressor activity and are the most extensively studied population of CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs. In MS, they were found to be present at significantly reduced frequency in the blood of RRMS patients as compared to healthy donors (135). Although it is not a marker for CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs, FoxP3-expressing CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells are present in human blood. They possess regulatory activity (136), which is Foxp3-dependent (137), and are associated with autoimmune diseases such as IBD and MS (133, 138). CD8+FoxP3+ cells are present at reduced levels in the CSF of MS patients during acute exacerbation (137). CD8+CXCR3+ T-cells are human counterparts of the well-known regulatory CD8+CD122+ T-cells found in mouse. Human CD8+CXCR3+ T-cells are suppressive in nature and their function is IL-10dependent (139). Although all of these CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg subsets have potent immunosuppressive functions, so far their antigen specificity remains unknown.

Our lab showed for the first time that CNS-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells have potent suppressor activity toward myelin antigenspecific CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells (5). These CNS-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells were reactive to several myelin antigens including MOG, PLP, MBP, MAG and others and are present in the peripheral blood of healthy donors and MS patients (6). Mechanistically, these CNS-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells are MHC class I-restricted, and their suppressive function is IFNγ-and perforin-dependent (5, 68). Our findings lend credence to the hypothesis that CNS-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in the CNS would function to dampen the inflammatory response by targeting pathogenic CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells and APCs, rather than causing damage themselves. Phenotypically, these cells are CD8<sup>+</sup>CD2  $7^{-}$ CD28<sup>-</sup>CD45RO<sup>-</sup>CD62L<sup>-</sup>CD57<sup>+</sup> or a terminally differentiated subset of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells (68).

Similar to Qa1-restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> T in murine models, HLA-Erestricted CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in humans perform a regulatory function and are involved in the maintenance of self-tolerance (140). The nature of NKG2 receptors present on CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells determines the functional outcome of their interaction with Qa1-expressing T-cell targets. For example, NKG2C-expressing CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells suppress Qa1-expressing target T-cells while NKG2A-expressing CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells get suppressed by these targets, and therefore cannot perform regulatory functions. A recent study showed reduced expression of FoxP3 and CD122 in NKG2C-expressing CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells from MS patients compared to healthy controls, suggesting a reduced regulatory potential of these cells in MS patients (41).

Although, there are only a handful of studies that report the phenotypic and functional significance of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in MS patients, one prominent feature that emerges from these studies is an underlying defect in the CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg component. Of note, this defect is found specifically during MS relapses. Since a relapse represents the active phase of the disease, any significant differences in the phenotype and functions of immune cells between relapse and remission may be directly correlated with the immunopathogenesis of MS. Interestingly, frequency of circulating CD8<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup> T-cells was found to be significantly lower in the peripheral blood of MS patients during relapse as compared to

remission (138). Another study showed that CD8<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>CD28<sup>-</sup> T-cells harbored potent suppressive activity and were lower in MS patients during relapse when compared to healthy controls (141). Importantly, treatment with glucocorticoids leads to a significant increase in the frequency of these CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs in the blood of MS patients. This was an interesting observation, suggesting that recovery from relapse under glucocorticoid treatment might be mediated by the regulatory function of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells. Furthermore, deficiency in CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg function is not limited to the blood, as evidenced by the significantly reduced CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell cloning frequency in the CSF during MS relapse as compared to remission, suggesting loss of CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs in the CSF during relapse (142).

Our own studies show that the terminally differentiated CD8+ T-cell pool, which harbors the CNS-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs, is significantly reduced during MS relapse as compared to remission (68). Furthermore, relapses in MS are associated with significantly lower CNS-specific CD8+ T-cell suppressor ability, while this potential in MS patients during quiescence is similar to healthy donors, suggesting a role with disease activity (5). Of clinical significance, we showed that the CNS-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg suppressive function is restored in MS patients during remission and this recovery in CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg-mediated suppression correlated with the distance in time from an acute clinical episode. This suggests that the correction of the neuroantigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> suppressor deficit would correlate with recovery from an acute relapse (5). One caveat to the study is that the quiescence samples could still potentially have pseudo relapses in the CNS in the absence of any clinical signs. Nonetheless, these findings raise the possibility that reduction in CNS-specific CD8+ T-cell suppression might be used as a marker to predict relapses in MS patients.

Although etiology of MS remains unknown, epidemiological studies suggest an association between Epstein–Barr virus (EBV) and MS (143). EBV-reactive CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells are present in the peripheral blood of MS patients (144). By using high throughput sequencing, a recent study demonstrated intrathecal enrichment of EBV-reactive CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in MS patients (145). However, the function of these CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in the CNS remains speculative. Interestingly, adoptive immunotherapy with *in vitro*-expanded autologous EBV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in secondary progressive MS had no adverse effects and was associated with clinical improvement and reduced disease activity on MRI (146). This study suggests that the EBV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in the CNS of MS patients might be playing a regulatory role by limiting EBV-infected B-cells and antibody production.

The pathogenic function of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in MS is believed to be largely derived from its cytotoxic potential toward CNS tissues including glial cells and axons. However, there is a clear lack of evidence in this area in human MS. Interestingly, a recent study demonstrated that CD4<sup>+</sup> but not CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells from peripheral blood of MS patients expressed NKG2C and had elevated levels of cytotoxic molecules FasL, granzyme B, and perforin. Intriguingly, these CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells were cytotoxic toward HLA-E-positive human ODCs *in vitro* (147). This study suggested a novel mechanism for CNS damage in MS which is, in contrast to the widely held view, potentially mediated by CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells. Although the pathogenic role of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in MS remains largely speculative, the studies discussed above strongly suggest that there is now ample evidence for the regulatory role for CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell subsets in the disease process. Lack of their regulatory function specifically during relapses should be probed further, as this could be a major underlying factor leading to relapse in MS.

# THERAPEUTIC INDUCTION OF CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs

The majority of drugs used for the long-term management of MS are immunomodulatory in nature. The precise mechanisms by which these drugs act are under constant investigation. We have convincingly demonstrated that CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs not only exist physiologically but can also be induced therapeutically by GA treatment. Both, CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells reactive to GA are present in the peripheral blood of healthy donors and MS patients (7). Although CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses are comparable between the two groups, untreated MS patients have reduced GA-induced CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses and this deficiency is corrected after GA therapy (7). Functionally, these GA-reactive CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells are HLA-E-restricted and have a strong suppressive potential against CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells (8). Interestingly, GA-reactive CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells obtained from untreated MS patients have reduced suppressor ability and GA

therapy restores the CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell suppressive potential in MS patients (8). These were the pioneering findings that linked the regulatory function of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells with the therapeutic action of the drug. The proof of principle came from our EAE studies discussed above where we showed that GA does not work in the absence of CD8+ T-cells in mice (64), suggesting that CD8+ T-cells are absolutely required for GA action and all the other reported immunomodulatory effects of GA might lie downstream to the induction of CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs by the drug. The idea is also supported by our surprising observation that GA reverses the CD4/CD8 T-cell ratio and increases CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell-mediated suppression as early as 12 h after GA therapy initiation in humans (40). Similar to our findings, a 1-year follow-up study after IFNB treatment showed expansion of regulatory CD8+ T-cell subsets (CD8+CD25+ and CD8+CD25+CD28-) in the responder cohort (148). Another study found a higher frequency of regulatory CXCR3+CD8+ T-cells 6 months after IFN $\beta$  therapy (149). Collectively, these studies suggest that therapeutic induction of CD8+ Tregs might be the underlying factor in other MS therapies as well. Natalizumab treatment results in a decreased CD4+/CD8+ ratio in the CSF and peripheral blood of MS patients (150). Fingolimod therapy is associated with altering the cytokine status of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in peripheral blood (151). However, detailed dissection of the role of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells has not been performed in the setting of these treatments.





# SUMMARY AND MODEL

The potential roles of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in MS is summarized in the model shown in **Figure 1**, where the various pieces of evidence supporting the potential of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells for both pathogenic and regulatory roles in MS/EAE disease are depicted. On the pathogenic side of the model, CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells, whose antigenic specificity has yet to be fully elucidated, have been shown to be involved in several disease-driving mechanisms, ranging from cytotoxicity and demyelination to pro-inflammatory cytokine production. This is in addition to hallmark activation behavior in disease lesions, such as oligoclonal expansion and IFN $\gamma$  production. Interestingly, this fails to rule out the activation of a regulatory population, as indicated in the bottom portion of the model. As illustrated on the regulatory side – to which our lab has made several novel contributions – several lines of evidence exist demonstrating the regulatory mechanisms performed by CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in the context

# REFERENCES

- Booss J, Esiri MM, Tourtellotte WW, Mason DY. Immunohistological analysis of T lymphocyte subsets in the central nervous system in chronic progressive multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci (1983) 62:219–32. doi:10.1016/0022-510X(83)90201-0
- Babbe H, Roers A, Waisman A, Lassmann H, Goebels N, Hohlfeld R, et al. Clonal expansions of CD8(+) T cells dominate the T cell infiltrate in active multiple sclerosis lesions as shown by micromanipulation and single cell polymerase chain reaction. *J Exp Med* (2000) **192**:393–404. doi:10.1084/ jem.192.3.393
- Jacobsen M, Cepok S, Quak E, Happel M, Gaber R, Ziegler A, et al. Oligoclonal expansion of memory CD8+ T cells in cerebrospinal fluid from multiple sclerosis patients. *Brain* (2002) 125:538–50. doi:10.1093/brain/awf059
- Junker A, Ivanidze J, Malotka J, Eiglmeier I, Lassmann H, Wekerle H, et al. Multiple sclerosis: T-cell receptor expression in distinct brain regions. *Brain* (2007) 130:2789–99. doi:10.1093/brain/awm214
- Baughman EJ, Mendoza JP, Ortega SB, Ayers CL, Greenberg BM, Frohman EM, et al. Neuroantigen-specific CD8+ regulatory T-cell function is deficient during acute exacerbation of multiple sclerosis. *J Autoimmun* (2011) 36:115–24. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2010.12.003
- Crawford MP, Yan SX, Ortega SB, Mehta RS, Hewitt RE, Price DA, et al. High prevalence of autoreactive neuroantigen-specific CD8+ T cells in multiple sclerosis revealed by novel flow cytometric assay. *Blood* (2004) 103:4222–31. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-11-4025
- Karandikar NJ, Crawford MP, Yan X, Ratts RB, Brenchley JM, Ambrozak DR, et al. Glatiramer acetate (Copaxone) therapy induces CD8(+) T cell responses in patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Invest* (2002) 109:641–9. doi:10.1172/JCI200214380
- Tennakoon DK, Mehta RS, Ortega SB, Bhoj V, Racke MK, Karandikar NJ. Therapeutic induction of regulatory, cytotoxic CD8+ T cells in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2006) 176:7119–29. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.11.7119
- Brynedal B, Duvefelt K, Jonasdottir G, Roos IM, Akesson E, Palmgren J, et al. HLA-A confers an HLA-DRB1 independent influence on the risk of multiple sclerosis. *PLoS One* (2007) 2:e664. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0000664
- Fogdell-Hahn A, Ligers A, Gronning M, Hillert J, Olerup O. Multiple sclerosis: a modifying influence of HLA class I genes in an HLA class II associated autoimmune disease. *Tissue Antigens* (2000) 55:140–8. doi:10.1034/j.1399-0039.2000.550205.x
- Harbo HF, Lie BA, Sawcer S, Celius EG, Dai KZ, Oturai A, et al. Genes in the HLA class I region may contribute to the HLA class II-associated genetic susceptibility to multiple sclerosis. *Tissue Antigens* (2004) 63:237–47. doi:10.1111/j.0001-2815.2004.00173.x
- 12. Friese MA, Jakobsen KB, Friis L, Etzensperger R, Craner MJ, McMahon RM, et al. Opposing effects of HLA class I molecules in tuning autoreactive

of MS/EAE, which can either be neuroantigen specific (MHC class 1a-restricted) or GA/Copaxone<sup>®</sup> specific (HLA-E/Qa-1-restricted). Their protective functions, which seem to depend on IFNγ and perforin production, range from direct cytotoxicity to pathogenic CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells to modulation of pro-inflammatory cytokine profiles to inhibition of APC function. It is still unclear to what extent CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells affect other cell populations such as B-cells, but some evidence demonstrates a suppressive effect on monocytes and macrophages. These all serve to suppress CNS auto-inflammation and protect myelinated axons – effectively limiting EAE disease pathogenesis. The potential role for these CD8<sup>+</sup> Tregs in ultimately modulating MS disease is of high interest.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported, in part, by grant awards (to NJK) from the NIH and National MS Society.

CD8+ T cells in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Med* (2008) 14:1227–35. doi:10.1038/ nm.1881

- Huseby ES, Liggitt D, Brabb T, Schnabel B, Ohlen C, Goverman J. A pathogenic role for myelin-specific CD8(+) T cells in a model for multiple sclerosis. *J Exp Med* (2001) 194:669–76. doi:10.1084/jem.194.5.669
- Ji Q, Perchellet A, Goverman JM. Viral infection triggers central nervous system autoimmunity via activation of CD8+ T cells expressing dual TCRs. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:628–34. doi:10.1038/ni.1888
- Sun D, Whitaker JN, Huang Z, Liu D, Coleclough C, Wekerle H, et al. Myelin antigen-specific CD8+ T cells are encephalitogenic and produce severe disease in C57BL/6 mice. *J Immunol* (2001) 166:7579–87. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.166.12.7579
- Ford ML, Evavold BD. Specificity, magnitude, and kinetics of MOG-specific CD8+ T cell responses during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) 35:76–85. doi:10.1002/eji.200425660
- Sasaki K, Bean A, Shah S, Schutten E, Huseby PG, Peters B, et al. Relapsingremitting central nervous system autoimmunity mediated by GFAP-specific CD8 T cells. J Immunol (2014) 192:3029–42. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1302911
- Luo Q, Sun Y, Gong FY, Liu W, Zheng W, Shen Y, et al. Blocking initial infiltration of pioneer CD8(+) T-cells into the CNS via inhibition of SHP-2 ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. *Br J Pharmacol* (2014) 171:1706–21. doi:10.1111/bph.12565
- Anderson AC, Chandwaskar R, Lee DH, Sullivan JM, Solomon A, Rodriguez-Manzanet R, et al. A transgenic model of central nervous system autoimmunity mediated by CD4+ and CD8+ T and B cells. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:2084–92. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102186
- Getts MT, Richards MH, Miller SD. A critical role for virus-specific CD8(+) CTLs in protection from Theiler's virus-induced demyelination in disease-susceptible SJL mice. *Virology* (2010) 402:102–11. doi:10.1016/j. virol.2010.02.031
- Haring JS, Pewe LL, Perlman S. Bystander CD8 T cell-mediated demyelination after viral infection of the central nervous system. *J Immunol* (2002) 169:1550–5. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.169.3.1550
- Nicholson SM, Dal Canto MC, Miller SD, Melvold RW. Adoptively transferred CD8+ T lymphocytes provide protection against TMEV-induced demyelinating disease in BALB/c mice. J Immunol (1996) 156:1276–83.
- Medana I, Martinic MA, Wekerle H, Neumann H. Transection of major histocompatibility complex class I-induced neurites by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Am J Pathol (2001) 159:809–15. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)61755-5
- Meuth SG, Herrmann AM, Simon OJ, Siffrin V, Melzer N, Bittner S, et al. Cytotoxic CD8+ T cell-neuron interactions: perforin-dependent electrical silencing precedes but is not causally linked to neuronal cell death. *J Neurosci* (2009) 29:15397–409. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4339-09.2009
- 25. Kreutzfeldt M, Bergthaler A, Fernandez M, Bruck W, Steinbach K, Vorm M, et al. Neuroprotective intervention by interferon-gamma blockade

prevents CD8+ T cell-mediated dendrite and synapse loss. J Exp Med (2013) 210:2087-103. doi:10.1084/jem.20122143

- Sauer BM, Schmalstieg WF, Howe CL. Axons are injured by antigen-specific CD8(+) T cells through a MHC class I- and granzyme B-dependent mechanism. *Neurobiol Dis* (2013) 59:194–205. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2013.07.010
- Cao Y, Toben C, Na SY, Stark K, Nitschke L, Peterson A, et al. Induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in transgenic mice expressing ovalbumin in oligodendrocytes. *Eur J Immunol* (2006) 36:207–15. doi:10.1002/eji.200535211
- Na SY, Eujen H, Gobel K, Meuth SG, Martens K, Wiendl H, et al. Antigenspecific blockade of lethal CD8 T-cell mediated autoimmunity in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:6569–75. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0804200
- Huber M, Heink S, Grothe H, Guralnik A, Reinhard K, Elflein K, et al. A Th17like developmental process leads to CD8(+) Tc17 cells with reduced cytotoxic activity. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) **39**:1716–25. doi:10.1002/eji.200939412
- Huber M, Heink S, Pagenstecher A, Reinhard K, Ritter J, Visekruna A, et al. IL-17A secretion by CD8+ T cells supports Th17-mediated autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Clin Invest (2013) 123:247–60. doi:10.1172/ JCI63681
- Sinha S, Itani FR, Karandikar NJ. Immune regulation of multiple sclerosis by CD8+ T cells. *Immunol Res* (2014) 59:254–65. doi:10.1007/ s12026-014-8529-9
- Najafian N, Chitnis T, Salama AD, Zhu B, Benou C, Yuan X, et al. Regulatory functions of CD8+CD28- T cells in an autoimmune disease model. J Clin Invest (2003) 112:1037–48. doi:10.1172/JCI17935
- 33. Linker RA, Rott E, Hofstetter HH, Hanke T, Toyka KV, Gold R. EAE in beta-2 microglobulin-deficient mice: axonal damage is not dependent on MHC-I restricted immune responses. *Neurobiol Dis* (2005) 19:218–28. doi:10.1016/j. nbd.2004.12.017
- 34. Ortega SB, Kashi VP, Tyler AF, Cunnusamy K, Mendoza JP, Karandikar NJ. The disease-ameliorating function of autoregulatory CD8 T cells is mediated by targeting of encephalitogenic CD4 T cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol (2013) 191:117–26. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300452
- Weiss HA, Millward JM, Owens T. CD8+ T cells in inflammatory demyelinating disease. J Neuroimmunol (2007) 191:79–85. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2007.09.011
- York NR, Mendoza JP, Ortega SB, Benagh A, Tyler AF, Firan M, et al. Immune regulatory CNS-reactive CD8+T cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Autoimmun (2010) 35:33–44. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2010.01.003
- Ortega SB, Kashi VP, Cunnusamy K, Franco J, Karandikar NJ. Autoregulatory CD8 T cells depend on cognate antigen recognition and CD4/CD\* myelin determinants. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2015) 2:e170. doi:10.1212/NXI.00000000000170
- Antel J, Bania M, Noronha A, Neely S. Defective suppressor cell function mediated by T8+ cell lines from patients with progressive multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (1986) 137:3436–9.
- Bania MB, Antel JP, Reder AT, Nicholas MK, Arnason BG. Suppressor and cytolytic cell function in multiple sclerosis. Effects of cyclosporine A and interleukin 2. J Clin Invest (1986) 78:582–6. doi:10.1172/JCI112612
- Ayers CL, Mendoza JP, Sinha S, Cunnusamy K, Greenberg BM, Frohman EM, et al. Modulation of immune function occurs within hours of therapy initiation for multiple sclerosis. *Clin Immunol* (2013) 147:105–19. doi:10.1016/j. clim.2013.02.015
- Pannemans K, Broux B, Goris A, Dubois B, Broekmans T, Van Wijmeersch B, et al. HLA-E restricted CD8+ T cell subsets are phenotypically altered in multiple sclerosis patients. *Mult Scler* (2013) 20:790–801. doi:10.1177/1352458513509703
- Grosso JF, Kelleher CC, Harris TJ, Maris CH, Hipkiss EL, De Marzo A, et al. LAG-3 regulates CD8+ T cell accumulation and effector function in murine self- and tumor-tolerance systems. *J Clin Invest* (2007) 117:3383–92. doi:10.1172/JCI31184
- Wang R, Han G, Song L, Wang J, Chen G, Xu R, et al. CD8+ regulatory T cells are responsible for GAD-IgG gene-transferred tolerance induction in NOD mice. *Immunology* (2009) 126:123–31. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.02884.x
- Endharti AT, Okuno Y, Shi Z, Misawa N, Toyokuni S, Ito M, et al. CD8+CD122+ regulatory T cells (Tregs) and CD4+ Tregs cooperatively

prevent and cure CD4+ cell-induced colitis. J Immunol (2011) 186:41-52. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000800

- Kim HJ, Verbinnen B, Tang X, Lu L, Cantor H. Inhibition of follicular T-helper cells by CD8(+) regulatory T cells is essential for self tolerance. *Nature* (2010) 467:328–32. doi:10.1038/nature09370
- Saitoh O, Abiru N, Nakahara M, Nagayama Y. CD8+CD122+ T cells, a newly identified regulatory T subset, negatively regulate Graves' hyperthyroidism in a murine model. *Endocrinology* (2007) 148:6040–6. doi:10.1210/ en.2007-0300
- Li XL, Menoret S, Bezie S, Caron L, Chabannes D, Hill M, et al. Mechanism and localization of CD8 regulatory T cells in a heart transplant model of tolerance. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:823–33. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000120
- Suzuki M, Konya C, Goronzy JJ, Weyand CM. Inhibitory CD8+ T cells in autoimmune disease. *Hum Immunol* (2008) 69:781–9. doi:10.1016/j. humimm.2008.08.283
- Shameli A, Clemente-Casares X, Wang J, Santamaria P. Development of memory-like autoregulatory CD8+ T cells is CD4+ T cell dependent. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:2859–66. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101117
- Tsai S, Shameli A, Yamanouchi J, Clemente-Casares X, Wang J, Serra P, et al. Reversal of autoimmunity by boosting memory-like autoregulatory T cells. *Immunity* (2010) 32:568–80. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.03.015
- Lee YH, Ishida Y, Rifa'i M, Shi Z, Isobe K, Suzuki H. Essential role of CD8+CD122+ regulatory T cells in the recovery from experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:825–32. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.180.2.825
- Mangalam AK, Luckey D, Giri S, Smart M, Pease LR, Rodriguez M, et al. Two discreet subsets of CD8 T cells modulate PLP(91-110) induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in HLA-DR3 transgenic mice. *J Autoimmun* (2012) 38:344–53. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2012.02.004
- Yu P, Bamford RN, Waldmann TA. IL-15-dependent CD8+ CD122+ T cells ameliorate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by modulating IL-17 production by CD4+ T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44:3330–41. doi:10.1002/eji.201444675
- 54. D'Orazio TJ, Mayhew E, Niederkorn JY. Ocular immune privilege promoted by the presentation of peptide on tolerogenic B cells in the spleen. II. Evidence for presentation by Qa-1. *J Immunol* (2001) **166**:26–32.
- Skelsey ME, Mayhew E, Niederkorn JY. Splenic B cells act as antigen presenting cells for the induction of anterior chamber-associated immune deviation. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2003) 44:5242–51. doi:10.1167/iovs.03-0768
- Chattopadhyay S, O'Rourke J, Cone RE. Implication for the CD94/ NKG2A-Qa-1 system in the generation and function of ocular-induced splenic CD8+ regulatory T cells. *Int Immunol* (2008) 20:509–16. doi:10.1093/ intimm/dxn008
- Keino H, Masli S, Sasaki S, Streilein JW, Stein-Streilein J. CD8+ T regulatory cells use a novel genetic program that includes CD103 to suppress Th1 immunity in eye-derived tolerance. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2006) 47:1533–42. doi:10.1167/iovs.04-1454
- Jiang L, Yang P, He H, Li B, Lin X, Hou S, et al. Increased expression of Foxp3 in splenic CD8+ T cells from mice with anterior chamber-associated immune deviation. *Mol Vis* (2007) 13:968–74.
- He H, Yang P, Jiang L, Zhang J, Zhao C, Chen L, et al. Upregulation of CD94 on CD8+ T cells in anterior chamber-associated immune deviation. *BMC Immunol* (2008) 9:53. doi:10.1186/1471-2172-9-53
- Jiang L, He H, Yang P, Lin X, Zhou H, Huang X, et al. Splenic CD8+ T cells secrete TGF-beta1 to exert suppression in mice with anterior chamber-associated immune deviation. *Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol* (2009) 247:87–92. doi:10.1007/s00417-008-0947-8
- Farooq SM, Ashour HM. In vitro-induced cell-mediated immune deviation to encephalitogenic antigens. *Brain Behav Immun* (2014) 35:64–9. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2013.09.016
- Farooq SM, Elkhatib WF, Ashour HM. The in vivo and in vitro induction of anterior chamber associated immune deviation to myelin antigens in C57BL/6 mice. *Brain Behav Immun* (2014) 42:118–22. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2014.06.010
- Jiang H, Braunstein NS, Yu B, Winchester R, Chess L. CD8+ T cells control the TH phenotype of MBP-reactive CD4+ T cells in EAE mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98:6301–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.101123098
- Tyler AF, Mendoza JP, Firan M, Karandikar NJ. CD8 T cells are required for glatiramer acetate therapy in autoimmune demyelinating disease. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e66772. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0066772

- Kashi VP, Ortega SB, Karandikar NJ. Neuroantigen-specific autoregulatory CD8+ T cells inhibit autoimmune demyelination through modulation of dendritic cell function. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e105763. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0105763
- Trandem K, Zhao J, Fleming E, Perlman S. Highly activated cytotoxic CD8 T cells express protective IL-10 at the peak of coronavirus-induced encephalitis. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:3642–52. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003292
- Tang X, Maricic I, Purohit N, Bakamjian B, Reed-Loisel LM, Beeston T, et al. Regulation of immunity by a novel population of Qa-1-restricted CD8alphaalpha+TCRalphabeta+ T cells. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:7645–55. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.11.7645
- Cunnusamy K, Baughman EJ, Franco J, Ortega SB, Sinha S, Chaudhary P, et al. Disease exacerbation of multiple sclerosis is characterized by loss of terminally differentiated autoregulatory CD8+ T cells. *Clin Immunol* (2014) 152:115–26. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2014.03.005
- Weber MS, Prod'homme T, Youssef S, Dunn SE, Rundle CD, Lee L, et al. Type II monocytes modulate T cell-mediated central nervous system autoimmune disease. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:935–43. doi:10.1038/nm1620
- Kim HJ, Ifergan I, Antel JP, Seguin R, Duddy M, Lapierre Y, et al. Type 2 monocyte and microglia differentiation mediated by glatiramer acetate therapy in patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:7144–53. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.11.7144
- Weber MS, Starck M, Wagenpfeil S, Meinl E, Hohlfeld R, Farina C. Multiple sclerosis: glatiramer acetate inhibits monocyte reactivity in vitro and in vivo. *Brain* (2004) 127:1370–8. doi:10.1093/brain/awh163
- Schluesener HJ, Sobel RA, Linington C, Weiner HL. A monoclonal antibody against a myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein induces relapses and demyelination in central nervous system autoimmune disease. *J Immunol* (1987) 139:4016–21.
- Lyons JA, Ramsbottom MJ, Cross AH. Critical role of antigen-specific antibody in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis induced by recombinant myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. *Eur J Immunol* (2002) 32:1905–13. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200207)32:7<1905::AID-IMMU1905>3.0.CO;2-L
- 74. Svensson L, Abdul-Majid KB, Bauer J, Lassmann H, Harris RA, Holmdahl R. A comparative analysis of B cell-mediated myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis pathogenesis in B cell-deficient mice reveals an effect on demyelination. *Eur J Immunol* (2002) **32**:1939–46. doi:10.1002/1521-4141 (200207)32:7<1939::AID-IMMU1939>3.0.CO;2-S
- Marta CB, Oliver AR, Sweet RA, Pfeiffer SE, Ruddle NH. Pathogenic myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies recognize glycosylated epitopes and perturb oligodendrocyte physiology. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2005) 102:13992–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0504979102
- Matsushita T, Yanaba K, Bouaziz JD, Fujimoto M, Tedder TF. Regulatory B cells inhibit EAE initiation in mice while other B cells promote disease progression. J Clin Invest (2008) 118:3420–30. doi:10.1172/JCI36030
- Weber MS, Prod'homme T, Patarroyo JC, Molnarfi N, Karnezis T, Lehmann-Horn K, et al. B-cell activation influences T-cell polarization and outcome of anti-CD20 B-cell depletion in central nervous system autoimmunity. *Ann Neurol* (2010) 68:369–83. doi:10.1002/ana.22081
- Weber MS, Hemmer B, Cepok S. The role of antibodies in multiple sclerosis. Biochim Biophys Acta (2011) 1812:239–45. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2010.06.009
- Wu GF, Alvarez E. The immunopathophysiology of multiple sclerosis. *Neurol Clin* (2011) 29:257–78. doi:10.1016/j.ncl.2010.12.009
- Barr TA, Shen P, Brown S, Lampropoulou V, Roch T, Lawrie S, et al. B cell depletion therapy ameliorates autoimmune disease through ablation of IL-6producing B cells. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209:1001–10. doi:10.1084/jem.20111675
- Krumbholz M, Derfuss T, Hohlfeld R, Meinl E. B cells and antibodies in multiple sclerosis pathogenesis and therapy. *Nat Rev Neurol* (2012) 8:613–23. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2012.203
- Pierson ER, Stromnes IM, Goverman JM. B cells promote induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by facilitating reactivation of T cells in the central nervous system. *J Immunol* (2014) 192:929–39. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1302171
- Wolf SD, Dittel BN, Hardardottir F, Janeway CA Jr. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis induction in genetically B cell-deficient mice. *J Exp Med* (1996) 184:2271–8. doi:10.1084/jem.184.6.2271
- 84. Lyons JA, San M, Happ MP, Cross AH. B cells are critical to induction of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis by protein but not by a short

encephalitogenic peptide. *Eur J Immunol* (1999) **29**:3432–9. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1521-4141(199911)29:11<3432::AID-IMMU3432>3.0.CO;2-2

- Fillatreau S, Sweenie CH, McGeachy MJ, Gray D, Anderton SM. B cells regulate autoimmunity by provision of IL-10. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3:944–50. doi:10.1038/ni833
- Fillatreau S, Gray D, Anderton SM. Not always the bad guys: B cells as regulators of autoimmune pathology. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8:391–7. doi:10.1038/nri2315
- Matsushita T, Horikawa M, Iwata Y, Tedder TF. Regulatory B cells (B10 cells) and regulatory T cells have independent roles in controlling experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis initiation and late-phase immunopathogenesis. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:2240–52. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001307
- Van Kaer L. Glatiramer acetate for treatment of MS: regulatory B cells join the cast of players. *Exp Neurol* (2011) 227:19–23. doi:10.1016/j. expneurol.2010.10.009
- Ray A, Mann MK, Basu S, Dittel BN. A case for regulatory B cells in controlling the severity of autoimmune-mediated inflammation in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2011) 230:1–9. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2010.10.037
- Mauri C, Bosma A. Immune regulatory function of B cells. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:221–41. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074934
- Yoshizaki A, Miyagaki T, DiLillo DJ, Matsushita T, Horikawa M, Kountikov EI, et al. Regulatory B cells control T-cell autoimmunity through IL-21dependent cognate interactions. *Nature* (2012) **491**:264–8. doi:10.1038/ nature11501
- Kalampokis I, Yoshizaki A, Tedder TF. IL-10-producing regulatory B cells (B10 cells) in autoimmune disease. Arthritis Res Ther (2013) 15(Suppl 1):S1. doi:10.1186/ar3907
- Fillatreau S. Cytokine-producing B cells as regulators of pathogenic and protective immune responses. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2013) 72(Suppl 2):ii80–4. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-202253
- Shen P, Roch T, Lampropoulou V, O'Connor RA, Stervbo U, Hilgenberg E, et al. IL-35-producing B cells are critical regulators of immunity during autoimmune and infectious diseases. *Nature* (2014) 507:366–70. doi:10.1038/ nature12979
- Noble A, Zhao ZS, Cantor H. Suppression of immune responses by CD8 cells. II. Qa-1 on activated B cells stimulates CD8 cell suppression of T helper 2 responses. *J Immunol* (1998) 160:566–71.
- Heit A, Huster KM, Schmitz F, Schiemann M, Busch DH, Wagner H. CpG-DNA aided cross-priming by cross-presenting B cells. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:1501–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.3.1501
- Marino E, Tan B, Binge L, Mackay CR, Grey ST. B-cell cross-presentation of autologous antigen precipitates diabetes. *Diabetes* (2012) 61:2893–905. doi:10.2337/db12-0006
- Niederkorn JY, Mayhew E. Role of splenic B cells in the immune privilege of the anterior chamber of the eye. *Eur J Immunol* (1995) 25:2783–7. doi:10.1002/eji.1830251011
- D'Orazio TJ, Niederkorn JY. Splenic B cells are required for tolerogenic antigen presentation in the induction of anterior chamber-associated immune deviation (ACAID). *Immunology* (1998) 95:47–55. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567.1998.00581.x
- Ashour HM, Niederkorn JY. Peripheral tolerance via the anterior chamber of the eye: role of B cells in MHC class I and II antigen presentation. *J Immunol* (2006) 176:5950–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.10.5950
- 101. Liu Y, Chen Y, Li Z, Han Y, Sun Y, Wang Q, et al. Role of IL-10-producing regulatory B cells in control of cerebral malaria in *Plasmodium berghei* infected mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) **43**:2907–18. doi:10.1002/ eji.201343512
- Mauri C, Menon M. The expanding family of regulatory B cells. *Int Immunol* (2015) 27:479–86. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxv038
- Mutnal MB, Hu S, Schachtele SJ, Lokensgard JR. Infiltrating regulatory B cells control neuroinflammation following viral brain infection. *J Immunol* (2014) 193:6070–80. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400654
- 104. Siewe B, Wallace J, Rygielski S, Stapleton JT, Martin J, Deeks SG, et al. Regulatory B cells inhibit cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) activity and elimination of infected CD4 T cells after in vitro reactivation of HIV latent reservoirs. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e92934. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0092934
- 105. Siewe B, Stapleton JT, Martinson J, Keshavarzian A, Kazmi N, Demarais PM, et al. Regulatory B cell frequency correlates with markers of HIV disease

progression and attenuates anti-HIV CD8(+) T cell function in vitro. *J Leukoc Biol* (2013) **93**:811–8. doi:10.1189/jlb.0912436

- 106. Kang YM, Zhang X, Wagner UG, Yang H, Beckenbaugh RD, Kurtin PJ, et al. CD8 T cells are required for the formation of ectopic germinal centers in rheumatoid synovitis. J Exp Med (2002) 195:1325–36. doi:10.1084/ jem.20011565
- 107. Shen H, Whitmire JK, Fan X, Shedlock DJ, Kaech SM, Ahmed R. A specific role for B cells in the generation of CD8 T cell memory by recombinant Listeria monocytogenes. *J Immunol* (2003) **170**:1443–51. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.170.3.1443
- 108. Wei B, Velazquez P, Turovskaya O, Spricher K, Aranda R, Kronenberg M, et al. Mesenteric B cells centrally inhibit CD4+ T cell colitis through interaction with regulatory T cell subsets. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2005) **102**:2010–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0409449102
- Quigley MF, Gonzalez VD, Granath A, Andersson J, Sandberg JK. CXCR5+ CCR7- CD8 T cells are early effector memory cells that infiltrate tonsil B cell follicles. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) 37:3352–62. doi:10.1002/eji.200636746
- 110. Deola S, Panelli MC, Maric D, Selleri S, Dmitrieva NI, Voss CY, et al. Helper B cells promote cytotoxic T cell survival and proliferation independently of antigen presentation through CD27/CD70 interactions. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:1362–72. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.3.1362
- 111. Wei B, McPherson M, Turovskaya O, Velazquez P, Fujiwara D, Brewer S, et al. Integration of B cells and CD8+ T in the protective regulation of systemic epithelial inflammation. *Clin Immunol* (2008) **127**:303–12. doi:10.1016/j. clim.2008.01.001
- 112. Traugott U, Reinherz EL, Raine CS. Multiple sclerosis. Distribution of T cells, T cell subsets and Ia-positive macrophages in lesions of different ages. *J Neuroimmunol* (1983) 4:201–21. doi:10.1016/0165-5728(83)90036-X
- 113. Hauser SL, Bhan AK, Gilles F, Kemp M, Kerr C, Weiner HL. Immunohistochemical analysis of the cellular infiltrate in multiple sclerosis lesions. *Ann Neurol* (1986) 19:578–87. doi:10.1002/ana.410190610
- 114. Zang YC, Li S, Rivera VM, Hong J, Robinson RR, Breitbach WT, et al. Increased CD8+ cytotoxic T cell responses to myelin basic protein in multiple sclerosis. J Immunol (2004) 172:5120–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.8.5120
- 115. Kutzelnigg A, Lucchinetti CF, Stadelmann C, Bruck W, Rauschka H, Bergmann M, et al. Cortical demyelination and diffuse white matter injury in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2005) **128**:2705–12. doi:10.1093/brain/ awh641
- Jurewicz A, Biddison WE, Antel JP. MHC class I-restricted lysis of human oligodendrocytes by myelin basic protein peptide-specific CD8 T lymphocytes. *J Immunol* (1998) 160:3056–9.
- 117. Lassmann H, Bruck W, Lucchinetti CF. The immunopathology of multiple sclerosis: an overview. *Brain Pathol* (2007) 17:210–8. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2007.00064.x
- Neumann H, Medana IM, Bauer J, Lassmann H. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes in autoimmune and degenerative CNS diseases. *Trends Neurosci* (2002) 25:313–9. doi:10.1016/S0166-2236(02)02154-9
- 119. Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Magliozzi R, Stigliano E, Capello E, Mancardi GL, et al. Dendritic cells in multiple sclerosis lesions: maturation stage, myelin uptake, and interaction with proliferating T cells. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* (2006) 65:124–41. doi:10.1097/01.jnen.0000199572.96472.1c
- 120. Hoftberger R, Aboul-Enein F, Brueck W, Lucchinetti C, Rodriguez M, Schmidbauer M, et al. Expression of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules on the different cell types in multiple sclerosis lesions. *Brain Pathol* (2004) 14:43–50. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2004.tb00496.x
- Massa PT, Ozato K, McFarlin DE. Cell type-specific regulation of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I gene expression in astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and neurons. *Glia* (1993) 8:201–7. doi:10.1002/glia.440080307
- 122. Galea I, Bernardes-Silva M, Forse PA, van Rooijen N, Liblau RS, Perry VH. An antigen-specific pathway for CD8 T cells across the blood-brain barrier. *J Exp Med* (2007) **204**:2023–30. doi:10.1084/jem.20070064
- Bitsch A, Schuchardt J, Bunkowski S, Kuhlmann T, Bruck W. Acute axonal injury in multiple sclerosis. Correlation with demyelination and inflammation. *Brain* (2000) 123(Pt 6):1174–83. doi:10.1093/brain/123.6.1174
- Dressel A, Chin JL, Sette A, Gausling R, Hollsberg P, Hafler DA. Autoantigen recognition by human CD8 T cell clones: enhanced agonist response induced by altered peptide ligands. *J Immunol* (1997) 159:4943–51.
- 125. Tsuchida T, Parker KC, Turner RV, McFarland HF, Coligan JE, Biddison WE. Autoreactive CD8+ T-cell responses to human myelin protein-derived

peptides. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (1994) 91:10859-63. doi:10.1073/ pnas.91.23.10859

- 126. Lolli F, Martini H, Citro A, Franceschini D, Portaccio E, Amato MP, et al. Increased CD8+ T cell responses to apoptotic T cell-associated antigens in multiple sclerosis. J Neuroinflammation (2013) 10:94. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-10-94
- 127. Battistini L, Piccio L, Rossi B, Bach S, Galgani S, Gasperini C, et al. CD8+ T cells from patients with acute multiple sclerosis display selective increase of adhesiveness in brain venules: a critical role for P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1. *Blood* (2003) **101**:4775–82. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-10-3309
- 128. Tzartos JS, Friese MA, Craner MJ, Palace J, Newcombe J, Esiri MM, et al. Interleukin-17 production in central nervous system-infiltrating T cells and glial cells is associated with active disease in multiple sclerosis. *Am J Pathol* (2008) **172**:146–55. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2008.070690
- 129. Annibali V, Ristori G, Angelini DF, Serafini B, Mechelli R, Cannoni S, et al. CD161(high)CD8+ T cells bear pathogenetic potential in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2011) 134:542–54. doi:10.1093/brain/awq354
- 130. Giovanni F, Domenico P, Alessandro M, Raffaele I, Viviana N, Katia PA, et al. Circulating CD8+CD56-perforin+ T cells are increased in multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neuroimmunol* (2011) 24(0–241):137–41. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2011.09.002
- 131. Antel JP, Nicholas MK, Bania MB, Reder AT, Arnason BG, Joseph L. Comparison of T8+ cell-mediated suppressor and cytotoxic functions in multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol (1986) 12:215–24. doi:10.1016/ S0165-5728(86)80005-4
- Balashov KE, Khoury SJ, Hafler DA, Weiner HL. Inhibition of T cell responses by activated human CD8+ T cells is mediated by interferon-gamma and is defective in chronic progressive multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Invest* (1995) 95:2711–9. doi:10.1172/JCI117973
- 133. Brimnes J, Allez M, Dotan I, Shao L, Nakazawa A, Mayer L. Defects in CD8+ regulatory T cells in the lamina propria of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *J Immunol* (2005) 174:5814–22. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.174.9.5814
- Cho BA, Sim JH, Park JA, Kim HW, Yoo WH, Lee SH, et al. Characterization of effector memory CD8+ T cells in the synovial fluid of rheumatoid arthritis. *J Clin Immunol* (2012) **32**:709–20. doi:10.1007/s10875-012-9674-3
- 135. Mikulkova Z, Praksova P, Stourac P, Bednarik J, Strajtova L, Pacasova R, et al. Numerical defects in CD8+CD28- T-suppressor lymphocyte population in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus and multiple sclerosis. *Cell Immunol* (2010) 262:75–9. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2010.02.002
- 136. Tsai YG, Yang KD, Niu DM, Chien JW, Lin CY. TLR2 agonists enhance CD8+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells and suppress Th2 immune responses during allergen immunotherapy. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:7229–37. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1000083
- Correale J, Villa A. Role of CD8+ CD25+ Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol (2010) 67:625–38. doi:10.1002/ana.21944
- Frisullo G, Nociti V, Iorio R, Plantone D, Patanella AK, Tonali PA, et al. CD8(+)Foxp3(+) T cells in peripheral blood of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients. *Hum Immunol* (2010) 71:437–41. doi:10.1016/j. humimm.2010.01.024
- 139. Shi Z, Okuno Y, Rifa'i M, Endharti AT, Akane K, Isobe K, et al. Human CD8+CXCR3+ T cells have the same function as murine CD8+CD122+ Treg. Eur J Immunol (2009) 39:2106–19. doi:10.1002/eji.200939314
- 140. Jiang H, Canfield SM, Gallagher MP, Jiang HH, Jiang Y, Zheng Z, et al. HLA-E-restricted regulatory CD8(+) T cells are involved in development and control of human autoimmune type 1 diabetes. *J Clin Invest* (2010) 120:3641–50. doi:10.1172/JCI43522
- 141. Aristimuno C, Navarro J, de Andres C, Martinez-Gines L, Gimenez-Roldan S, Fernandez-Cruz E, et al. Expansion of regulatory CD8+ T-lymphocytes and fall of activated CD8+ T-lymphocytes after i.v. methyl-prednisolone for multiple sclerosis relapse. *J Neuroimmunol* (2008) **204**:131–5. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2008.08.009
- Correale J, Villa A. Isolation and characterization of CD8+ regulatory T cells in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2008) 195:121–34. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2007.12.004
- 143. Ascherio A, Munger KL. 99th Dahlem conference on infection, inflammation and chronic inflammatory disorders: Epstein–Barr virus and multiple sclerosis: epidemiological evidence. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2010) 160:120–4. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2010.04121.x

- 144. Jilek S, Schluep M, Meylan P, Vingerhoets F, Guignard L, Monney A, et al. Strong EBV-specific CD8+ T-cell response in patients with early multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2008) 131:1712–21. doi:10.1093/brain/awn108
- 145. Lossius A, Johansen JN, Vartdal F, Robins H, Jurate Saltyte B, Holmoy T, et al. High-throughput sequencing of TCR repertoires in multiple sclerosis reveals intrathecal enrichment of EBV-reactive CD8+ T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44:3439–52. doi:10.1002/eji.201444662
- 146. Pender MP, Khanna R. Epstein-Barr virus-specific adoptive immunotherapy: a new horizon for multiple sclerosis treatment? *Immunotherapy* (2014) 6:659–61. doi:10.2217/imt.14.43
- 147. Zaguia F, Saikali P, Ludwin S, Newcombe J, Beauseigle D, McCrea E, et al. Cytotoxic NKG2C+ CD4 T cells target oligodendrocytes in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* (2013) **190**:2510–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202725
- 148. Aristimuno C, de Andres C, Bartolome M, de las Heras V, Martinez-Gines ML, Arroyo R, et al. IFNbeta-1a therapy for multiple sclerosis expands regulatory CD8+ T cells and decreases memory CD8+ subset: a longitudinal 1-year study. *Clin Immunol* (2010) **134**:148–57. doi:10.1016/j. clim.2009.09.008
- 149. Dhib-Jalbut S, Sumandeep S, Valenzuela R, Ito K, Patel P, Rametta M. Immune response during interferon beta-1b treatment in patients with multiple sclerosis who experienced relapses and those who were relapse-free

in the START study. J Neuroimmunol (2013) 254:131-40. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2012.08.012

- 150. Serpero LD, Filaci G, Parodi A, Battaglia F, Kalli F, Brogi D, et al. Fingolimod modulates peripheral effector and regulatory T cells in MS patients. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol (2013) 8:1106–13. doi:10.1007/s11481-013-9465-5
- 151. Stuve O, Marra CM, Bar-Or A, Niino M, Cravens PD, Cepok S, et al. Altered CD4+/CD8+ T-cell ratios in cerebrospinal fluid of natalizumab-treated patients with multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* (2006) 63:1383–7. doi:10.1001/ archneur.63.10.1383

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Sinha, Boyden, Itani, Crawford and Karandikar. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# The non-obese diabetic mouse strain as a model to study CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell function in relapsing and progressive multiple sclerosis

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Björn Tackenberg, Philipps-University, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Daisuke Kamimura, Hokkaido University, Japan Anne Kathrin Mausberg, Heinrich Heine University, Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Manu Rangachari manu.rangachari@crchudequebec. ulaval.ca

#### <sup>†</sup>Present address:

AiLi Wang, Faculty of Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada aili.wang.1994@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 20 August 2015 Accepted: 08 October 2015 Published: 22 October 2015

#### Citation:

Ignatius Arokia Doss PM, Roy A-P, Wang A, Anderson AC and Rangachari M (2015) The non-obese diabetic mouse strain as a model to study CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell function in relapsing and progressive multiple sclerosis. Front. Immunol. 6:541. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00541 Prenitha Mercy Ignatius Arokia Doss<sup>1</sup>, Andrée-Pascale Roy<sup>1</sup>, AiLi Wang<sup>1†</sup>, Ana Carrizosa Anderson<sup>2,3</sup> and Manu Rangachari<sup>1,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neurosciences, Centre de recherche du CHU de Québec – Université Laval (Pavillon CHUL), Québec, QC, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Ann Romney Center for Neurologic Diseases, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA, <sup>3</sup> Evergrande Center for Immunologic Diseases, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA, <sup>4</sup> Department of Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Université Laval, Québec, QC, Canada

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a neurodegenerative disease resulting from an autoimmune attack on central nervous system (CNS) myelin. Although CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell function in MS pathology has been extensively studied, there is also strong evidence that CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes play a key role. Intriguingly, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells accumulate in great numbers in the CNS in progressive MS, a form of the disease that is refractory to current disease-modifying therapies that target the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell response. Here, we discuss the function of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a mouse model of MS. In particular, we describe EAE in non-obese diabetic (NOD) background mice, which develop a pattern of disease characterized by multiple attacks and remissions followed by a progressively worsening phase. This is highly reminiscent of the pattern of disease observed in nearly half of MS patients. Particular attention is paid to a newly described transgenic mouse strain (1C6) on the NOD background whose CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are directed against the encephalitogenic peptide MOG<sub>[35-55]</sub>. Use of this model will give us a more complete picture of the role(s) played by distinct T cell subsets in CNS autoimmunity.

Keywords: multiple sclerosis, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis, progressive multiple sclerosis, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell, non-obese diabetic mouse, 1C6

Abbreviations: B6, C57BL6/J; CNS, central nervous system; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; EAE, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis; HLA, human leukocyte antigen; MBP, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MS, multiple sclerosis; NOD, non-obese diabetic; PLP, proteolipid protein; RR, relapsing-remitting; SCID, severe combined immunodeficient; SP, secondary progressive; T1D, type 1 diabetes; TcR, T cell receptor; Tg, transgenic; Th, T helper; WT, wild-type.

# INTRODUCTION

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a complex chronic neurological disease that results from an immune-mediated attack against central nervous system (CNS) myelin. It is characterized by demyelination, axon damage, white matter inflammation, and glial scarring (1). Approximately 2.5 million people in the world are affected by MS (2) and it is therefore important that we better understand its causes, with the goal of developing treatments that can improve disease outcomes. The four known subtypes of MS are relapsing-remitting (RR), secondary progressive (SP), primary progressive, and progressive relapsing. Approximately 85% of MS patients display an RR disease course in which repeated periods of inflammatory response are followed by remission. Nearly 50% of RR patients eventually transition to a chronic SP phase marked by slow and steady increase in disability, and more than half of all MS patients will exhibit some form of progressive disease (3). Although CD4<sup>+</sup> T helper cells have been thought to be the main players in the pathogenesis of MS, the evidence suggests that disease processes in MS involve other immune cell types that include, among others, CD8+ T cells, B cells, macrophages, microglia, and neutrophils (4). Our goal here is to discuss the role of CD8+ T cells in the pathology of MS with a particular focus on findings from studies of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a mouse model of MS.

# T CELLS IN MS PATHOGENESIS

Autoimmunity results from (a) the escape of self tissue antigenspecific T cells from negative selection and deletion in the thymus and (b) the breakdown of peripheral immune tolerance mechanisms, such as inhibitory receptor signaling and regulatory T cell-mediated inhibition. MS specifically results from an autoreactive T cell inflammatory reaction against myelin-producing CNS oligodendrocytes (1). The role of T cells in MS pathogenesis is strongly supported by genetic analysis demonstrating that polymorphisms in the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) gene region (5) and in genes encoding T cell-related signaling molecules and cytokines (6) which are strongly linked to MS susceptibility. Furthermore, immunohistochemical analysis of acute and recent MS lesions reveal extensive perivascular infiltration of T lymphocytes (7).

Myelin-reactive T cells proliferate and differentiate into effector subpopulations in peripheral lymphoid tissues, where they recognize myelin-derived antigenic epitopes presented by specialized antigen-presenting cells. The CD4<sup>+</sup> IFN- $\gamma$ -secreting Th1 and IL-17-secreting Th17 subsets have been well described in both MS (8, 9) and EAE (10). However, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells can also respond vigorously to myelin antigen and induce neuroinflammatory damage (11). Activated T cells express cell adhesion molecules (e.g., LFA-1, VLA-4, and PSGL-1) and chemokine receptors (e.g., CCR5 and CXCR3) that permit them to cross the blood brain barrier (12). Once in the CNS, they are reactivated by local antigen-presenting cells, such as microglia and dendritic cells (13), which themselves produce proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-23, TNF- $\alpha$ , and lymphotoxin- $\alpha$ ) and chemokines

(e.g., RANTES, CXCL10, and IL-8). This attracts other immune effector cells from the circulation (12–14).

It has been more than 20 years since the first effective diseasemodifying therapies were introduced for RR-MS. Both IFN-β and glatiramer acetate appear to modulate the function of inflammatory T cells (15, 16). More recently developed drugs, such as natalizumab (17) and rituximab (18), also target lymphocyte function, thus emphasizing the critical role played by dysregulated adaptive immune responses in MS. However, there are no currently available treatments for progressive MS, which has led some to argue that this form of the disease is driven by neurodegenerative rather than inflammatory mechanisms (19). On the other hand, lymphocytes accumulate in the meninges (20-22) and CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells are detected in normal-appearing white matter of the spinal cord during progressive disease (20). Intriguingly, CD8+ T cells are detected in normal-appearing white matter, active lesions, and inactive lesions in progressive MS (23), and can directly induce demyelination (24). Thus, CD8+ T cell function may present an attractive target for the treatment of progressive MS.

# CD8<sup>+</sup> T CELLS IN MS

A number of current MS drugs, such as interferon- $\beta$  (15), glatiramer acetate (16), and natalizumab (17), appear to modulate CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses, indicating the relevance of these cells to pathogenesis. However, multiple lines of evidence suggest that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells also play a key role in MS pathology. On the genetic level, positivity for the HLA class I allele A3 increases one's risk of developing MS (25, 26); as the human CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell repertoire is restricted by class I molecules, this implies that CD8+ T cell reactivity to specific myelin antigens can predispose an individual to developing MS. Myelin-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells show oligoclonal expansion in plaques, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), and blood of MS patients, and the frequency of CD8+ T cells greatly exceeds that of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in acute MS lesions (27). Interestingly, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are detected in NAWM in MS brains, suggesting that they are among the first lymphocytes on the scene in the earliest stages of disease (23). In addition, during MS, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells upregulate cell adhesion molecules involved in immune trafficking into the CNS; increased frequency of CCR5+ and CXCR3+ CD8+ T cells in peripheral blood correlates with increased annualized MS lesion load (28) and increased PSGL-1+CD8+ T cell frequency is observed in active MS (29).

CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells can execute inflammatory damage in the CNS via two distinct mechanisms: a direct mechanism by which they attack MHC class I-expressing axons, or an indirect one by which they attack oligodendrocytes, thereby exposing axons to further damage (30). Granzyme B-positive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are found in close proximity to demyelinated axons in MS lesions and their cytolytic granules appear to be polarized toward the site of injury (24). CSF levels of granzymes A and B are elevated during active MS (31) and highly differentiated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are enriched in the CSF during early MS (32). Importantly, various cells of the CNS, including neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes, can be induced to express MHC class I on their surface in the context of an inflammatory response. These cells are, thus, susceptible to

CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell-mediated killing (24). Indeed, abundance of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in MS brain tissue positively correlates with the extent of axonal damage (33). Taken together, these data suggest that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells proliferate in response to myelin antigens, and traffic to the CNS, where they can help to initiate and maintain tissue inflammation and damage.

# ANIMAL MODELS OF MS

Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis is a murine disease that recapitulates the immunopathogenesis of MS. It can be induced (a) by active immunization with encephalitogenic peptides derived from myelin component proteins, such as myelin basic protein (MBP), proteolipid protein (PLP), or myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) or (b) by passive ("adoptive") transfer of myelin-reactive lymphocytes to genetically susceptible recipient mice (34). Classic adoptive transfer approaches entail the isolation and re-stimulation of myelin-specific lymphocytes from actively immunized donor mice, followed by transfer to genetically susceptible recipient mice. As will be described below, EAE can also be induced by the adoptive transfer of transgenic, myelin antigen-reactive, T cells.

Immunization of C57BL/6J (B6) mice with  $MOG_{[35-55]}$  is a popular model of EAE induction, in part because of the ready availability of genetically modified strains on the B6 background (34). These mice typically develop an ascending paralysis that is either monophasic or chronically non-remitting (35), which does not reflect the full clinical course of MS. By contrast, immunization of SJL/J mice with PLP<sub>[139-151]</sub> induces a RR disease pattern characterized by epitope spreading of the immune response to secondary myelin antigens (36). Furthermore, as we will discuss, immunization of non-obese diabetic (NOD) background mice with  $MOG_{[35-55]}$  induces a RR  $\rightarrow$  SP disease course characterized by extensive demyelination and axonal loss (37). This disease course is reminiscent of that seen in close to half of MS patients (3).

In recent years, the field has welcomed the introduction of T cell receptor (TcR) transgenic (Tg) mouse strains, such as MBP-reactive Ac1-11 (38) and T/R (39), PLP-reactive 5B6 (40), and MOG-reactive 2D2 (41) and 1C6 (42), in which >90% of an animal's T cells are directed against a defined myelin epitope, thus providing a readily available source of myelin antigen-specific T cells for adoptive transfer. Although EAE develops spontaneously on the T/R Tg strain (39) and can be observed at a low spontaneous frequency in 2D2 mice, the disease typically requires robust induction of T cell activation, either via the use of adjuvants that stimulate the innate immune system or by the ex vivo triggering of TcR and costimulatory receptors on myelin-reactive T cells (10, 43). No single model of EAE can recapitulate the complex clinical presentation of MS in its entirety. However, depending on the immunogen used and the method of induction, one can observe paralysis of the extremities (44), ataxia (10), optic nerve inflammation (45), and weight loss (46).

Although EAE models have yielded invaluable insights into the role of autoreactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in pathogenesis, they have been less forthcoming with respect to the role of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. This is in part because 21-23mer peptides, such as MOG<sub>[35-55]</sub> or PLP<sub>[139-151]</sub>, are optimally presented by MHC class II molecules. Nevertheless, Ford et al. demonstrated that adoptive transfer of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from MOG<sub>[35-55]</sub>-immunized B6 mice into severe combined immunodeficient (SCID) recipients resulted in severe EAE, and found that the pathogenic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells recognize a minimal core epitope MOG<sub>[37-46]</sub> in the context of class I H-2D<sup>b</sup> (47). Notably, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from MOG<sub>[35-55]</sub>-immunized NOD mice elicited reactivity toward a core epitope MOG<sub>[39-47]</sub> (48).

Early models, involving the transfer of ectopic Ag-specific T CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to Tg mice expressing the ectopic Ag in CNS tissue, supported a role for CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in CNS inflammation (49). More recently, models with CD8+ T cells directed at myelin Ag have been described, such as Tg mice (strain 8.8) that express a MHC class I-restricted TcR specific for MBP<sub>[79-87]</sub> (46). Infection of these mice with a recombinant vaccinia virus encoding MBP efficiently induced EAE. Intriguingly, wild-type (WT) vaccinia virus induced EAE in 8.8 mice as well. The effect appeared to be due to the expression of endogenous TcR chains, as WT virus did not cause EAE in  $8.8 \times Rag1^{-/-}$  mice and as CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells co-expressing 2 distinct  $\beta$ -chains (V $\beta$ 8 and V $\beta$ 6) were detected in WT virus-infected mice. Their findings suggest a cellular mechanism by which dual antigen-specific CD8+ T cells can be initially activated in response to virus and then induce damage to CNS tissue, and thus reveal a potential mechanism by which viral infection can trigger CD8+ responses directed against myelin. More recently, a Tg strain (BG1) was described that carries CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells specific for astrocytic glial fibrillary acidic protein (50). These mice spontaneously develop a RR disease course characterized by lesions in both CNS white and gray matter. Intriguingly, B6 mice adoptively transferred with BG1 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells develop atypical EAE and suffer from weight loss upon inoculation with Vac-GFAP, in a manner reminiscent of Vac-MBP-inoculated 8.8 mice (46). However, WT Vac does not induce symptoms in BG1 mice, indicating that this phenotype was not caused by the expression of endogenous TcR  $\beta$ -chains (50). The relevance of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to virally induced CNS autoimmune pathology is further supported by Pirko et al., who infected B6 mice with Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus and found that the presence of T1 "black holes" on MRI - a classic sign of chronic and irreversibly damaged lesions - correlated with the accumulation of CD8+ T cells (51). As epitopes 35-55 of MOG are located in its extracellular domain, in the future it would be interesting to examine whether MHC class I-restricted peptides derived from myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG) or PLP, both of which have extracellular domains (52), could induce CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell-driven EAE.

# NOD MICE AS A MODEL FOR AUTOIMMUNE DISEASE

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is an autoimmune disease initiated by the infiltration of mononuclear cells into the pancreatic islets of Langerhans (insulitis). This is followed by autoreactive T cell-mediated destruction of insulin-producing pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells (53). T1D and MS have been linked epidemiologically. A large-scale Danish study found that T1D patients had a threefoldgreater risk of developing MS (54), and a study of Sardinian MS patients found that they were approximately threefold more likely to have T1D than their healthy siblings (55). Indeed, MS and T1D share common etiological factors, such as increased incidence at northern latitudes and among individuals born in springtime (56). Furthermore, MS patients have islet-antigen-reactive T cells in their repertoire, whereas T1D patients have T cells that respond to myelin-derived epitopes (57). Taken together, these findings suggest that MS and T1D may share common pathogenic mechanisms.

The NOD strain has been used as a model for T1D for over three decades (58). NOD mice spontaneously develop T cell responses to the β-cell antigen GAD65, resulting in insulitis and subsequent  $\beta$ -cell destruction (59). NOD mice can also develop self-reactive inflammatory responses to a variety of tissues, and EAE can be induced in these animals upon active immunization with MOG<sub>[35-55]</sub> (60, 61). More than 20 non-MHC genetic loci (termed Idd) have been identified that can contribute to T1D pathogenesis on the NOD strain (62). In an elegant series of experiments, Encinas et al. immunized a series of congenic NOD mice carrying B6-derived *Idd* loci with MOG<sub>[35-55]</sub> (60). They found that NOD mice carrying B6-origin Idd3 developed milder EAE than WT NOD mice. In contrast to WT NOD, B6-Idd3 mice did not develop chronic disease, suggesting that differences in this genetic region were potentially responsible for the development of progressive EAE in NOD mice. Thus, the immunoregulatory factor(s) encoded in the Idd3 locus have been the subject of intense interest. The gene encoding the T cell growth factor IL-2 is located in Idd3, and there is a coding polymorphism between the B6 and NOD Il2 genes (60). NOD. Idd3 lymphocytes

transcribe twofold more *Il2* than WT NOD mice. This seemingly paradoxical observation is explained by the findings that excess IL-2 in NOD.*Idd3* mice increases the function of IL-2-dependent FoxP3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells, which suppress pancreatic inflammation (63), and that IL-2 responsive macrophages can suppress inflammatory Th17 responses (64). IL-21 is also encoded in the Idd3 locus (65), and NOD.*Idd3* T cells produce less IL-21 than their WT NOD counterparts. This reduction in IL-21 results in defective NOD.*Idd3* Th17 responses due to both T cell-intrinsic and -extrinsic mechanisms (66). Furthermore, IL-21 plays a crucial role in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell-driven T1D (67). Thus, the *Idd3* locus can likely restrict tissue inflammation in both the pancreas and CNS through multiple regulatory mechanisms.

# EAE IN NOD MICE

Upon immunization with MOG<sub>[35-55]</sub>, NOD mice develop RR– EAE that progresses to a chronic SP disease course characterized by loss of both axons and myelin as measured by magnetic resonance imaging (37). During the initiation phase, inflammatory cells infiltrate the perivascular and arachnoid space, and splenocyte production of IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6 is enhanced. By contrast, IL-17 is upregulated in re-stimulated splenocytes during relapses that follow the initiation phase. These relapses are characterized histologically by mononuclear cell infiltration into the white matter and demyelination (68). However, CNS-resident cells, such as microglia and astrocytes, also participate in the transition from RR to SP phase in NOD–EAE, with reactive gliosis being present from the early stage of the disease (69).



Both CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells appear to play important roles in mediating EAE on the NOD background. NOD mice deficient in key regulators of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell function show alterations in their susceptibility to EAE (70, 71). Immunization with  $MOG_{[35-55]}$  causes the expansion of an IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell population in NOD mice that recognize the core epitope  $MOG_{[39-47]}$  (48). Our preliminary data reveal the infiltration of inflammatory effector CD44<sup>hi</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells into the CNS upon active immunization with  $MOG_{[35-55]}$ . These CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells display a Tc1 phenotype with the production of proinflammatory cytokines, such as IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-2 (unpublished).

# **1C6 TCR TRANSGENIC MICE**

Recently, Anderson et al. generated a novel TcR transgenic mouse model on the NOD background, using the TCR $\alpha$  and TCR $\beta$ chains of a MOG<sub>[35-55]</sub> CD4<sup>+</sup> clone (42). Surprisingly, the resulting strain (named 1C6) possesses both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells with specificity for MOG<sub>[35-55]</sub> (Figure 1), with the proportion of CD4+/CD8+ T cells in peripheral lymphoid tissues being similar to that seen in WT animals. The 1C6 transgenic strain is thus the first to have both myelin-reactive CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, allowing us to interrogate the relative contribution of both cell types to EAE. Active immunization of 1C6 mice with MOG<sub>[35-55]</sub> induces a RR to SP disease as seen in NOD mice. Furthermore, 1C6 mice develop spontaneous EAE and optic neuritis at a frequency of about 2%. Adoptive transfer of 1C6 CD4+ T cells, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, or both together, to lymphocyte deficient NOD. Scid mice, followed by immunization with MOG<sub>[35-55]</sub>, results in the development of EAE. Both the incidence and severity of EAE were lower in 1C6 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell transfer recipients when compared to mice receiving 1C6 CD4+ T cells alone or 1C6 CD4+ plus CD8+ T cells. It remains to be seen whether immunization with the class I-restricted MOG<sub>[39-47]</sub> peptide (48) could induce disease of greater incidence and/or severity in NOD.Scid mice reconstituted with 1C6 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells given that the 21-mer MOG<sub>[35-55]</sub> peptide is optimally presented by MHC class II molecules. 1C6 CD8+ T cells did have the capacity to induce optic neuritis; furthermore, they produced IFN- $\gamma$  and granzyme B, and degranulated, in response to MOG<sub>[35-55]</sub> (42).

Importantly, the 1C6 model will enable us to distinguish between the molecular pathogenesis of CD4+ versus CD8+ T cell-driven CNS autoimmunity. CD4+ and CD8+ T cells express many of the same effector molecules; it is therefore difficult to draw conclusions on the relative contribution of the two cell types based on active immunization of whole-animal gene knockouts. Furthermore, T-cell-specific transgenic deleter strains, such as Lck-Cre and CD4-Cre, target gene expression in both CD4+ and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (72, 73). To address this gap in the field, we have developed an EAE induction protocol in which T cells are isolated from 1C6 mice, are stimulated and differentiated ex vivo into defined effector subsets (Th1 or Th17 CD4+; Tc1 or Tc17 CD8+), and are then adoptively transfer to NOD.Scid mice (unpublished data). Using retrovirally mediated gene transduction, we can now manipulate the expression of a target gene in 1C6 CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, or both concomitantly, to assess in which cell type the molecule of interest exerts its effects (Figure 2). This



will allow us to ascertain in which T cell compartment a given immune regulatory molecule exerts its function, in a mouse model that can recapitulate both the relapsing/remitting and progressive phases of MS.

# CONCLUSION

Several decades' worth of evidence from animal models have supported the idea that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are the chief drivers of inflammation in MS. However, histopathological and clinical findings from human patients indicate that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are key players as well. Indeed, several popular therapeutic reagents that are believed to subvert CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell function in MS – namely, interferon- $\beta$ , natalizumab, and alemtezumab – could also

exert effects on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Furthermore, to date, no effective treatments exist for progressive MS, and there are indications that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells play a role in tissue damage during this disease state (23). Thus, targeting autoreactive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells could present an attractive mechanism by which to treat progressive MS.

The 1C6 mouse model will allow us to examine this possibility. As these mice possess both CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> myelin-reactive T cells, we can address both the role of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in CNS autoimmunity and the pathophysiology of progressive MS. In particular, genetic or pharmacological manipulation of 1C6 T cells permits us to interrogate the function of candidate genes or signaling pathways in both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell-driven EAE, simultaneously or separately, in the same animal. Such an approach could

## REFERENCES

- Brück W. The pathology of multiple sclerosis is the result of focal inflammatory demyelination with axonal damage. *J Neurol* (2005) 252(Suppl 5):v3–9. doi:10.1007/s00415-005-5002-7
- Haussleiter IS, Brüne M, Juckel G. Psychopathology in multiple sclerosis: diagnosis, prevalence and treatment. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord* (2009) 2:13–29. doi:10.1177/1756285608100325
- Antel J, Antel S, Caramanos Z, Arnold DL, Kuhlmann T. Primary progressive multiple sclerosis: part of the MS disease spectrum or separate disease entity? *Acta Neuropathol* (2012) 123:627–38. doi:10.1007/s00401-012-0953-0
- Duffy SS, Lees JG, Moalem-Taylor G. The contribution of immune and glial cell types in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Int* (2014) 2014:285245. doi:10.1155/2014/285245
- Baranzini SE. Revealing the genetic basis of multiple sclerosis: are we there yet? *Curr Opin Genet Dev* (2011) 21:317–24. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2010.12.006
- International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium, Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2; Sawcer S, Hellenthal G, Pirinen M, Spencer CC, et al. Genetic risk and a primary role for cell-mediated immune mechanisms in multiple sclerosis. *Nature* (2011) 476:214–9. doi:10.1038/nature10251
- Nyland H, Mörk S, Matre R. In-situ characterization of mononuclear cell infiltrates in lesions of multiple sclerosis. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (1982) 8:403–11. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2990.1982.tb00308.x
- Olsson T, Zhi WW, Höjeberg B, Kostulas V, Jiang YP, Anderson G, et al. Autoreactive T lymphocytes in multiple sclerosis determined by antigen-induced secretion of interferon-gamma. *J Clin Invest* (1990) 86:981–5. doi:10.1172/JCI114800
- Tzartos JS, Friese MA, Craner MJ, Palace J, Newcombe J, Esiri MM, et al. Interleukin-17 production in central nervous system-infiltrating T cells and glial cells is associated with active disease in multiple sclerosis. *Am J Pathol* (2008) 172:146–55. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2008.070690
- Jäger A, Dardalhon V, Sobel RA, Bettelli E, Kuchroo VK. Th1, Th17, and Th9 effector cells induce experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis with different pathological phenotypes. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:7169–77. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0901906
- Mars LT, Saikali P, Liblau RS, Arbour N. Contribution of CD8 T lymphocytes to the immuno-pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis and its animal models. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2011) 1812:151–61. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2010.07.006
- Goverman J. Autoimmune T cell responses in the central nervous system. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:393–407. doi:10.1038/nri2550
- Kivisäkk P, Imitola J, Rasmussen S, Elyaman W, Zhu B, Ransohoff RM, et al. Localizing central nervous system immune surveillance: meningeal antigen-presenting cells activate T cells during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 65:457–69. doi:10.1002/ana.21379
- Wojkowska DW, Szpakowski P, Ksiazek-Winiarek D, Leszczynski M, Glabinski A. Interactions between neutrophils, Th17 cells, and chemokines during the initiation of experimental model of multiple sclerosis. *Mediators Inflamm* (2014) 2014:590409. doi:10.1155/2014/590409
- 15. Furlan R, Bergami A, Lang R, Brambilla E, Franciotta D, Martinelli V, et al. Interferon-beta treatment in multiple sclerosis patients decreases the

ultimately help us to design and validate novel therapeutics for the betterment of MS patients.

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PD, AR, and AW wrote the manuscript. AA edited the manuscript. MR wrote and edited the manuscript.

# FUNDING

AW was the recipient of a MS Society of Canada Summer Studentship. MR holds a Junior-1 *«chercheurs-boursiers»* award from the Fonds de recherche du Québec – Santé (FRQS) and an Operating Grant from the MS Society of Canada.

number of circulating T cells producing interferon-gamma and interleukin-4. *J Neuroimmunol* (2000) **111**:86–92. doi:10.1016/S0165-5728(00)00377-5

- Arnon R, Aharoni R. Mechanism of action of glatiramer acetate in multiple sclerosis and its potential for the development of new applications. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) **101**(Suppl 2):14593–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0404887101
- Kivisäkk P, Healy BC, Viglietta V, Quintana FJ, Hootstein MA, Weiner HL, et al. Natalizumab treatment is associated with peripheral sequestration of proinflammatory T cells. *Neurology* (2009) 72:1922–30. doi:10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3181a8266f
- Lehmann-Horn K, Kronsbein HC, Weber MS. Targeting B cells in the treatment of multiple sclerosis: recent advances and remaining challenges. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord* (2013) 6:161–73. doi:10.1177/1756285612474333
- Trapp BD, Nave K-A. Multiple sclerosis: an immune or neurodegenerative disorder? Annu Rev Neurosci (2008) 31:247–69. doi:10.1146/annurev. neuro.30.051606.094313
- Androdias G, Reynolds R, Chanal M, Ritleng C, Confavreux C, Nataf S. Meningeal T cells associate with diffuse axonal loss in multiple sclerosis spinal cords. *Ann Neurol* (2010) 68:465–76. doi:10.1002/ana.22054
- Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Magliozzi R, Stigliano E, Aloisi F. Detection of ectopic B-cell follicles with germinal centers in the meninges of patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain Pathol* (2004) 14:164–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2004.tb00049.x
- Magliozzi R, Howell O, Vora A, Serafini B, Nicholas R, Puopolo M, et al. Meningeal B-cell follicles in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis associate with early onset of disease and severe cortical pathology. *Brain* (2007) 130:1089–104. doi:10.1093/brain/awm038
- Kutzelnigg A, Lassmann H. Pathology of multiple sclerosis and related inflammatory demyelinating diseases. *Handb Clin Neurol* (2014) 122:15–58. doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-52001-2.00002-9
- Neumann H, Medana IM, Bauer J, Lassmann H. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes in autoimmune and degenerative CNS diseases. *Trends Neurosci* (2002) 25:313–9. doi:10.1016/S0166-2236(02)02154-9
- Harbo HF, Lie BA, Sawcer S, Celius EG, Dai KZ, Oturai A, et al. Genes in the HLA class I region may contribute to the HLA class II-associated genetic susceptibility to multiple sclerosis. *Tissue Antigens* (2004) 63:237–47. doi:10.1111/j.0001-2815.2004.00173.x
- Fogdell-Hahn A, Ligers A, Grønning M, Hillert J, Olerup O. Multiple sclerosis: a modifying influence of HLA class I genes in an HLA class II associated autoimmune disease. *Tissue Antigens* (2000) 55:140–8. doi:10.1034/j.1399-0039.2000.550205.x
- Friese MA, Fugger L. Pathogenic CD8(+) T cells in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol (2009) 66:132–41. doi:10.1002/ana.21744
- Eikelenboom MJ, Killestein J, Izeboud T, Kalkers NF, van Lier RA, Barkhof F, et al. Chemokine receptor expression on T cells is related to new lesion development in multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol (2002) 133:225–32. doi:10.1016/S0165-5728(02)00374-0
- Battistini L, Piccio L, Rossi B, Bach S, Galgani S, Gasperini C, et al. CD8+ T cells from patients with acute multiple sclerosis display selective increase of adhesiveness in brain venules: a critical role for P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1. *Blood* (2003) 101:4775–82. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-10-3309

- Johnson AJ, Suidan GL, McDole J, Pirko I. The CD8 T cell in multiple sclerosis: suppressor cell or mediator of neuropathology? *Int Rev Neurobiol* (2007) 79:73–97. doi:10.1016/S0074-7742(07)79004-9
- Malmeström C, Lycke J, Haghighi S, Andersen O, Carlsson L, Wadenvik H, et al. Relapses in multiple sclerosis are associated with increased CD8+ T-cell mediated cytotoxicity in CSF. J Neuroimmunol (2008) 196:159–65. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2008.03.001
- Jilek S, Schluep M, Rossetti AO, Guignard L, Le Goff G, Pantaleo G, et al. CSF enrichment of highly differentiated CD8+ T cells in early multiple sclerosis. *Clin Immunol* (2007) 123:105–13. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2006.11.004
- Bitsch A, Schuchardt J, Bunkowski S, Kuhlmann T, Brück W. Acute axonal injury in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2000) 123(Pt 6):1174–83. doi:10.1093/ brain/123.6.1174
- Rangachari M, Kuchroo VK. Using EAE to better understand principles of immune function and autoimmune pathology. *J Autoimmun* (2013) 45:31–9. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2013.06.008
- Berard JL, Wolak K, Fournier S, David S. Characterization of relapsing-remitting and chronic forms of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in C57BL/6 mice. *Glia* (2010) 58:434–45. doi:10.1002/glia.20935
- Kennedy MK, Dal Canto MC, Trotter JL, Miller SD. Specific immune regulation of chronic-relapsing experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in mice. *J Immunol* (1988) 141:2986–93.
- Levy H, Assaf Y, Frenkel D. Characterization of brain lesions in a mouse model of progressive multiple sclerosis. *Exp Neurol* (2010) 226:148–58. doi:10.1016/j. expneurol.2010.08.017
- Goverman J, Woods A, Larson L, Weiner LP, Hood L, Zaller DM. Transgenic mice that express a myelin basic protein-specific T cell receptor develop spontaneous autoimmunity. *Cell* (1993) 72:551–60. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(93)90074-Z
- Lafaille JJ, Nagashima K, Katsuki M, Tonegawa S. High incidence of spontaneous autoimmune encephalomyelitis in immunodeficient anti-myelin basic protein T cell receptor transgenic mice. *Cell* (1994) 78:399–408. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(94)90419-7
- Waldner H, Whitters MJ, Sobel RA, Collins M, Kuchroo VK. Fulminant spontaneous autoimmunity of the central nervous system in mice transgenic for the myelin proteolipid protein-specific T cell receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2000) 97:3412–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.97.7.3412
- Bettelli E, Pagany M, Weiner HL, Linington C, Sobel RA, Kuchroo VK. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-specific T cell receptor transgenic mice develop spontaneous autoimmune optic neuritis. *J Exp Med* (2003) 197:1073–81. doi:10.1084/jem.20021603
- Anderson AC, Chandwaskar R, Lee DH, Sullivan JM, Solomon A, Rodriguez-Manzanet R, et al. A transgenic model of central nervous system autoimmunity mediated by CD4+ and CD8+ T and B cells. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:2084–92. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102186
- Rangachari M, Zhu C, Sakuishi K, Xiao S, Karman J, Chen A, et al. Bat3 promotes T cell responses and autoimmunity by repressing Tim-3-mediated cell death and exhaustion. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:1394–400. doi:10.1038/nm.2871
- 44. Mendel I, Kerlero de Rosbo N, Ben-Nun A. A myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein peptide induces typical chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in H-2b mice: fine specificity and T cell receptor V beta expression of encephalitogenic T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (1995) 25:1951–9. doi:10.1002/eji.1830250723
- Krishnamoorthy G, Lassmann H, Wekerle H, Holz A. Spontaneous opticospinal encephalomyelitis in a double-transgenic mouse model of autoimmune T cell/B cell cooperation. J Clin Invest (2006) 116:2385–92. doi:10.1172/ JCI28330
- Ji Q, Perchellet A, Goverman JM. Viral infection triggers central nervous system autoimmunity via activation of CD8+ T cells expressing dual TCRs. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:628–34. doi:10.1038/ni.1888
- Ford ML, Evavold BD. Specificity, magnitude, and kinetics of MOG-specific CD8+ T cell responses during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) 35:76–85. doi:10.1002/eji.200425660
- Mayo S, Quinn A. Altered susceptibility to EAE in congenic NOD mice: altered processing of the encephalitogenic MOG35-55 peptide by NOR/LtJ mice. *Clin Immunol* (2007) **122**:91–100. doi:10.1016/j. clim.2006.08.001

- Saxena A, Bauer J, Scheikl T, Zappulla J, Audebert M, Desbois S, et al. Cutting edge: multiple sclerosis-like lesions induced by effector CD8 T cells recognizing a sequestered antigen on oligodendrocytes. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:1617–21. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.3.1617
- Sasaki K, Bean A, Shah S, Schutten E, Huseby PG, Peters B, et al. Relapsing-remitting central nervous system autoimmunity mediated by GFAP-specific CD8 T cells. *J Immunol* (2014) **192**:3029–42. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1302911
- Pirko I, Chen Y, Lohrey AK, McDole J, Gamez JD, Allen KS, et al. Contrasting roles for CD4 vs. CD8 T-cells in a murine model of virally induced 'T1 black hole' formation. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e31459. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0031459
- Hemmer B, Archelos JJ, Hartung H-P. New concepts in the immunopathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2002) 3:291–301. doi:10.1038/ nrn784
- Kachapati K, Adams D, Bednar K, Ridgway WM. The non-obese diabetic (NOD) mouse as a model of human type 1 diabetes. *Methods Mol Biol* (2012) 933:3–16. doi:10.1007/978-1-62703-068-7\_1
- Nielsen NM, Westergaard T, Frisch M, Rostgaard K, Wohlfahrt J, Koch-Henriksen N, et al. Type 1 diabetes and multiple sclerosis: a Danish population-based cohort study. *Arch Neurol* (2006) 63:1001–4. doi:10.1001/ archneur.63.7.1001
- Marrosu MG, Cocco E, Lai M, Spinicci G, Pischedda MP, Contu P. Patients with multiple sclerosis and risk of type 1 diabetes mellitus in Sardinia, Italy: a cohort study. *Lancet* (2002) 359:1461–5. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08431-3
- Handel AE, Handunnetthi L, Ebers GC, Ramagopalan SV. Type 1 diabetes mellitus and multiple sclerosis: common etiological features. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2009) 5:655–64. doi:10.1038/nrendo.2009.216
- Winer S, Astsaturov I, Cheung R, Gunaratnam L, Kubiak V, Cortez MA, et al. Type I diabetes and multiple sclerosis patients target islet plus central nervous system autoantigens; nonimmunized nonobese diabetic mice can develop autoimmune encephalitis. *J Immunol* (2001) 166:2831–41. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.166.4.2831
- Reed JC, Herold KC. Thinking bedside at the bench: the NOD mouse model of T1DM. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2015) 11:308–14. doi:10.1038/nrendo.2014.236
- Quinn A. Antigen-induced T1D in NOD mice. J Autoimmun (2003) 20:207–10. doi:10.1016/S0896-8411(03)00028-3
- Encinas JA, Wicker LS, Peterson LB, Mukasa A, Teuscher C, Sobel R, et al. QTL influencing autoimmune diabetes and encephalomyelitis map to a 0.15cM region containing Il2. *Nat Genet* (1999) 21:158–60. doi:10.1038/5941
- Basso AS, Frenkel D, Quintana FJ, Costa-Pinto FA, Petrovic-Stojkovic S, Puckett L, et al. Reversal of axonal loss and disability in a mouse model of progressive multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Invest* (2008) 118:1532–43. doi:10.1172/ JCI33464
- Todd JA, Wicker LS. Genetic protection from the inflammatory disease type 1 diabetes in humans and animal models. *Immunity* (2001) 15:387–95. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00202-3
- Yamanouchi J, Rainbow D, Serra P, Howlett S, Hunter K, Garner VE, et al. Interleukin-2 gene variation impairs regulatory T cell function and causes autoimmunity. *Nat Genet* (2007) 39:329–37. doi:10.1038/ng1958
- Anderson AC, Sullivan JM, Tan DJ, Lee DH, Kuchroo VK. A T cell extrinsic mechanism by which IL-2 dampens Th17 differentiation. *J Autoimmun* (2015) 59:38–42. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2015.02.001
- King C, Ilic A, Koelsch K, Sarvetnick N. Homeostatic expansion of T cells during immune insufficiency generates autoimmunity. *Cell* (2004) 117:265–77. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00335-6
- 66. Liu SM, Lee DH, Sullivan JM, Chung D, Jäger A, Shum BO, et al. Differential IL-21 signaling in APCs leads to disparate Th17 differentiation in diabetes-susceptible NOD and diabetes-resistant NOD.Idd3 mice. J Clin Invest (2011) 121:4303–10. doi:10.1172/JCI46187
- Sutherland AP, Joller N, Michaud M, Liu SM, Kuchroo VK, Grusby MJ. IL-21 promotes CD8+ CTL activity via the transcription factor T-bet. *J Immunol* (2013) 190:3977–84. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201730
- 68. Hidaka Y, Inaba Y, Matsuda K, Itoh M, Kaneyama T, Nakazawa Y, et al. Cytokine production profiles in chronic relapsing-remitting experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: IFN-γ and TNF-α are important participants in the first attack but not in the relapse. *J Neurol Sci* (2014) **340**:117–22. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2014.02.039

- Pham H, Doerrbecker J, Ramp AA, D'Souza CS, Gorasia DG, Purcell AW, et al. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) IN C57Bl/6 mice is not associated with astrogliosis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2011) 232:51–62. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2010.10.006
- Boyton RJ, Davies S, Marden C, Fantino C, Reynolds C, Portugal K, et al. Stat4null non-obese diabetic mice: protection from diabetes and experimental allergic encephalomyelitis, but with concomitant epitope spread. *Int Immunol* (2005) 17:1157–65. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxh293
- Lin MH, Yeh LT, Chen SJ, Chiou HY, Chu CC, Yen LB, et al. T cell-specific BLIMP-1 deficiency exacerbates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in nonobese diabetic mice by increasing Th1 and Th17 cells. *Clin Immunol* (2014) 151:101–13. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2014.02.006
- Chong MM, Cornish AL, Darwiche R, Stanley EG, Purton JF, Godfrey DI, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 is a critical regulator of interleukin-7-dependent CD8+ T cell differentiation. *Immunity* (2003) 18:475–87. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00078-5
- 73. Wolfer A, Wilson A, Nemir M, MacDonald HR, Radtke F. Inactivation of Notch1 impairs VDJbeta rearrangement and allows pre-TCR-independent

survival of early alpha beta lineage thymocytes. *Immunity* (2002) **16**:869–79. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00330-8

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** MR holds an EMD Serono Canada and endMS Research and Training Network Transitional Career Development Award from the MS Society of Canada and the Multiple Sclerosis Scientific Research Foundation. Acceptance of this unrestricted educational grant by the MS Society of Canada does not constitute endorsement by researcher or society of any product(s) of EMD Serono Canada. Funds from this award did not support the work contained herein.

Copyright © 2015 Ignatius Arokia Doss, Roy, Wang, Anderson and Rangachari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Evidence from human and animal studies: pathological roles of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in autoimmune peripheral neuropathies

Mu Yang<sup>1,2</sup>, Corentin Peyret<sup>3</sup>, Xiang Qun Shi<sup>2</sup>, Nicolas Siron<sup>2</sup>, Jeong Ho Jang<sup>2</sup>, Sonia Wu<sup>2</sup>, Sylvie Fournier<sup>3\*</sup> and Ji Zhang<sup>1,2,3,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada, <sup>2</sup> The Alan Edwards Centre for Research on Pain, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Department of Microbiology and Immunology, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada, <sup>4</sup> Faculty of Dentistry, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Nathalie Arbour, Université de Montréal, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Anna Fogdell-Hahn, Karolinska Institutet, Sweden Tricia Hogan Burdo, Boston College, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Sylvie Fournier sylvie.fournier@mcgill.ca; Ji Zhang ji.zhang@mcgill.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 11 August 2015 Accepted: 30 September 2015 Published: 15 October 2015

#### Citation:

Yang M, Peyret C, Shi XQ, Siron N, Jang JH, Wu S, Fournier S and Zhang J (2015) Evidence from human and animal studies: pathological roles of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in autoimmune peripheral neuropathies. Front. Immunol. 6:532. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00532 Autoimmune peripheral neuropathies such as Guillain-Barre Syndrome (GBS) and chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP) affect millions of people worldwide. Despite significant advances in understanding the pathology, the molecular and cellular mechanisms of immune-mediated neuropathies remain elusive. T lymphocytes definitely play an important role in disease pathogenesis and CD4+ T cells have been the main area of research for decades. This is partly due to the fact that the most frequent animal model to study autoimmune peripheral neuropathy is experimental allergic neuritis (EAN). As it is induced commonly by immunization with peripheral nerve proteins, EAN is driven mainly by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. However, similarly to what has been reported for patients suffering from multiple sclerosis, a significant body of evidence indicates that CD8+ T cells may play a pathogenic role in GBS and CIDP disease development and/or progression. Here, we summarize clinical studies pertaining to the presence and potential role of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in autoimmune peripheral neuropathies. We also discuss the findings from our most recent studies using a transgenic mouse line (L31 mice) in which the T cell co-stimulator molecule B7.2 (CD86) is constitutively expressed in antigen presenting cells of the nervous tissues. L31 mice spontaneously develop peripheral neuropathy, and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are found accumulating in peripheral nerves of symptomatic animals. Interestingly, depletion of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells accelerates disease onset and increases disease prevalence. Finally, we point out some unanswered questions for future research to dissect the critical roles of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in autoimmune peripheral neuropathies.

Keywords: Guillain-Barre syndrome, chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy, CD8 T cells, macrophages, cytokines, co-stimulatory molecules, animal models

# INTRODUCTION

Autoimmune peripheral neuropathy, in the broadest sense, refers to a range of clinical syndromes mediated by aberrant immune response against self-antigens derived from peripheral nervous tissues including motor, sensory, and autonomic nerves. Guillain-Barré Syndrome (GBS) and chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP) are prototypical autoimmune peripheral

neuropathies. The common incidence is about 1.6/100,000/year with a prevalence of 6-8.9/100,000 (1, 2). Clinically, GBS and CIDP patients present weakness, areflexia, and sensory deficits. Characterized by an acute and sudden onset, GBS is the most common cause of acute flaccid paralysis and represents a serious neurological emergency with 4% of GBS patients dying within the first year (3). CIDP is characterized by either chronic progressive, stepwise progressive, or relapsing weakness (1, 4). Although the majority of CIDP patients initially improve with immunosuppressive treatment, the relapse rate is about 50% (5). Over the last three decades, even with improved therapeutic options, both diseases still carry a severe prognosis as they are associated with significant mortality and sustained disability with 28% of patients requiring an assistive device to ambulate (6). The pathological changes in GBS and CIDP patients are characterized by inflammatory infiltration of both T cells and macrophages into peripheral nerves, as well as areas of demyelination, with or without axonal damage in peripheral nervous system (PNS) (4, 7).

Both humoral and cellular immune responses against antigen epitopes of Schwann cells, myelin and/or axons have been postulated to be responsible for autoimmune peripheral neuropathy. However, the extent and the details of the cascade leading to the peripheral nervous system damage are incompletely defined. Apart from the humoral immune response, T cells play a decisive role in the pathogenic sequence of immune-mediated nerve damage. Activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells may operate by recruiting macrophages to exert damage on peripheral nerve tissue or may help B cells to produce antibodies against peripheral nerve components, thereby inducing complement activation. In addition to mediating local inflammatory response as CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells do, activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, acting as cytotoxic effector cells, can contribute directly to the damage of both myelin and axons.

From recent research, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells emerged as important players in multiple sclerosis (MS) pathogenesis. Increasing evidence indicates that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells predominate and outnumber CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in all MS lesions, regardless of disease stages (8). Furthermore, depletion of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells did not show any therapeutic effect in MS patients (9), but when all T cells were targeted, a significant reduction in MS relapse was observed (10). In fact, infiltration of nervous tissues by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells has been observed in various classical neurodegenerative disorders, such Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis, Alzheimer disease, and Parkinson's disease (11-13). However, due to the rare incidence of the diseases and the shortage of appropriate animal models, our understanding on the relative contribution of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the pathogenesis of GBS and CIDP is very much limited. Because experimental allergic neuritis (EAN), the most used animal model for the study of autoimmune peripheral neuropathy, is driven mainly by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (14, 15), CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have been the main area of research for decades. In this perspective article, we will summarize clinical studies pertaining to the presence and potential role of CD8+ T cells in autoimmune peripheral neuropathy. We will also discuss the findings from various current available animal models. Emphasis will be given to our most recent studies using B7.2 transgenic (L31) mice where animals develop spontaneous autoimmune peripheral neuropathy and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are the major players (16). L31

mice provide a unique opportunity to investigate underlying mechanisms of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell-mediated autoimmune peripheral neuropathy.

# PUTATIVE RELEVANCE OF CD8<sup>+</sup> T CELLS IN AUTOIMMUNE PERIPHERAL NEUROPATHY: EVIDENCE FROM GBS AND CIDP PATIENTS

In humans, two-thirds of GBS are preceded by infections with viruses or bacteria especially cytomegalovirus (CMV) and Campylobacter jejuni (17, 18). Although not as frequent as in GBS, the onset and the relapse of CIDP can also be triggered by infections or immunization (5, 19). Biochemical and histopathological evidence suggests the potential involvement of T cells in the pathogenesis of these autoimmune peripheral neuropathies. The levels of soluble interleukin-2 receptors (20) and the frequencies of activated T cells were elevated in the serum of GBS (21) and CIDP (22) patients. Multifocal infiltration of lymphocytes were also found in post mortem and biopsy specimens of most GBS and CIDP cases (23). However, the specific targets and actors (CD4<sup>+</sup> and/or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells) of the immune response remain uncertain. Although some discrepancies exist, several data imply putative relevance of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the pathogenesis of autoimmune peripheral neuropathies. For instance, the mean proportion of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells significanly increased in the blood GBS patients compared to the control group of healthy donors (24); CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were found to outnumber CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells at the lesion sites of CIDP (25) and GBS (26) patients. Interestingly, Sindern et al. (27) revealed that the composition of the T cell subpopulations in the blood of GBS patients depends in particular on the nature of the proceeding infection. They found that in GBS patients with evidence of recent CMV infection, the proportion of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were abnormally high whereas the proportion of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were abnormally low; in contrast, CD8+ T cells were abnormally low in GBS patients with evidence of C. jejuni infection. Furthermore, they reported an increase of activated cytotoxic/ suppressor T cells (CD8+CD38+) in progressive and plateau phases of GBS, which was normalized in the recovery phase. More direct evidence in supporting pathogenic contribution of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in CIDP was provided by two recent studies. Mausberg et al. (28) reported that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells exhibited a much broader clonal activation pattern than CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in the blood of CIDP patients. In addition, IVIg treatment, which was beneficial to patients, normalized the distorted CD8+ T cell repertoire and reduced the number of highly activated  $V\beta$ elements within the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell population. Another study by Schneider-Hohendorf et al. (29) reported that T cells in CIDP biopsies showed strong monoclonal and oligoclonal restrictions in their T cell repertoire, which were reflected in the patients' blood CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell pool. Taken together, these data support the hypothesis of an antigen driven, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell-mediated attack against nerve tissues, even if the target (antigen) of this immune response still remains to be identified.

# CD4<sup>+</sup> AND CD8<sup>+</sup> T CELLS IN AUTOIMMUNE PERIPHERAL NEUROPATHY: INSIGHTS FROM ANIMAL MODELS

# CD4<sup>+</sup> T Cells in EAN and NOD B7.2KO Mice

First described in 1955, EAN can be induced either by immunization with myelin peptide or by active transfer of antigen sensitized T cells in rats, mice, rabbits, and guinea pigs (14, 15). Many of our current knowledge of immune-mediated mechanisms of demyelination were primarily based on studying EAN, the animal model for human GBS and CIDP (30). EAN resembles many of the clinical and electrophysiological aspects of human GBS/ CIDP. The pathological hallmark of EAN consists of infiltration of peripheral nerves by lymphocytes, predominantly CD4+ T cells, and macrophages with segmental demyelination and some axonal damage. Previous studies have shown that EAN belongs to the group of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell-mediated autoimmune diseases that can be transferred to naïve animals by CD4+ P2-reactive T cells (31). While EAN has provided valuable information regarding immunopathogenic mechanisms, it has been criticized for its artificial manipulation resulting in the bias towards CD4+ T cells. Development of spontaneous autoimmune peripheral neuropathy in B7.2 deficient NOD mice (32) introduced another tool for mechanistic studies. The individual role of CD4+ T cells vs. CD8+ T cells in the pathogenesis of the disease has been carefully investigated. While transfer of purified CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from affected animals induced the disease in NOD·SCID mice, the transfer using preparation of CD4+ T-depleted cells failed in triggering the disease (32). On the other hand, spontaneous autoimmune neuropathy was rapidly induced in NOD-SCID mice after transfer of CD8+-depleted preparation from affected mice (32). These results highlight the necessary and sufficient role of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in the effector phase of this autoimmune disease model.

# CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cells in B7.2 Transgenic L31 Mice

We recently established a novel and clinically relevant animal model of spontaneous autoimmune peripheral polyneuropathy in which CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells play a critical role (16). Transgenic mice with constitutive expression of the co-stimulator B7.2 were originally generated by placing the murine B7.2 cDNA under the transcriptional control of a MHC-I promoter and an immuno-globulin enhancer (33). Among multiple transgenic lines, Line 31 (L31) mice spontaneously developed neurological symptoms at the age of 4–6 months (34). Massive infiltration of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and B7.2 high expression macrophages were found in inflamed nerves (16). Deficiency in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell generation accelerated disease onset and increased disease prevalence (35).

L31 mice and L31mice deficient in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (L31/CD4KO) exhibit motor and sensory deficits, including weakness and paresis of limbs, numbness to mechanical stimuli, and hypersensitivity to thermal stimulation. Stereotypic pathological changes, including demyelination, axonal damage, and infiltration of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and macrophages were found not only in sciatic nerve of symptomatic L31 mice (**Figures 1A,B**) but also in cranial nerves, e.g.,

facial (Figure 1C) and trigeminal (Figure 1D) nerves. However, it is worth noting that only limited inflammatory reaction and demyelination were observed in the spinal cords of diseased transgenic mice (16), which is consistent with reports from GBS patients (36). In addition, there was no tissue destruction or immune cell infiltration in other organs (34). The mechanism by which the autoimmune cascade is initiated in L31 mice remains elusive. We hypothesize that PNS selectivity could be determined, in one hand, by the distribution of B7.2 expression. In this model, B7.2 expressed constitutively only on resident microglia and macrophages of the nervous system, but not on APCs of any other tissues. We have shown that this B7.2 expression on the nervous tissues is an absolute requirement for susceptibility to disease development (34). On the other hand, as we detected immune infiltrates in pre-symptomatic animals in the DRG and spinal roots where the blood nerve barrier is fenestrated under physiological conditions (16), it implies that the virtual absence of the barrier in these peripheral nerve structures allows CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, during immune patrolling, to encounter resident macrophages overexpressing B7.2. The CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are reactivated by PNS selfantigens presented by resident macrophages. They are responsible to initiate PNS antigen specific autoimmune response. Although molecular targets for the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are not fully defined, MHC class I is expressed constitutively on rodent Schwann's cells and they are able to activate CD8 T cells (37). MHC class I upregulation has been observed on Schwann's cells in sural nerves of GBS patients (26, 38). We are currently assessing MHC I expression by the cellular elements of the peripheral nerves of L31 mice. The demonstration of direct contact between T cells and MHC class 1-expressing target cells (neurons and/or Schwann's cells) would be a strong evidence for a CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell-mediated attack.

In the blood of diseased L31 mice, the ratio of CD8+/CD4+ T cells was about five times higher than that in wild type (WT) mice, which is mainly due to the significant increase of absolute CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell numbers in the circulation (Figure 2A). Furthermore, these CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells exhibited activated phenotypes, as the majority of these CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells expressed high levels of CD44. A greater part circulating CD8+CD44hi T cells exhibited CD62-Llo phenotype (Figure 2B) that is different from the small amount of central memory CD8+ T cells (CD44hiCD62-Lhi) in the blood of WT littermates, suggesting that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in symptomatic L31 mice had already encountered antigens. The increase of CD8+/CD44hi/ CD122<sup>hi</sup> population in the blood (Figure 2B) entailed a group of effecter CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, while the increase of CD8<sup>+</sup>/CD44<sup>hi</sup>/CD122<sup>lo</sup> cell population (Figure 2B) suggested the existence of atypical memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells such as those found during chronic viral infections which also exhibit low levels of CD122 expression (39).

In affected sciatic nerves of L31 mice, T cell infiltration was skewed strikingly towards CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (**Figure 2C**). These infiltrated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells displayed activated phenotypes characterized by CD62-L<sup>10</sup>/CD43<sup>hi</sup> expression, but did not exhibit high levels of CD25, which is usually considered as an early T cell activation marker (**Figure 2D**). Furthermore, the data from the diseased nerves of L31/CD4KO revealed a significant increase of cytokines (IFN $\gamma$ , TNF) and chemokines (CXCL9, CXCL10) (**Figure 2E**). These cytokines/chemokines released by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and/or macrophages are essential in promoting recruitment



and interactions between different subsets of immune cells. The fact that L31 mice deficient in IFN $\gamma$  receptors were completely resistant to disease development (35) supports the requirement of IFN- $\gamma$ , mainly derived from CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in disease pathogenesis.

Macrophages are also abundantly accumulating in peripheral nerves of symptomatic L31 mice. It remains to determine whether

and to what extent these cells are required for disease pathogenesis. We are particularly interested in assessing the critical role of macrophage phagocytosis in Ag presentation, disease initiation and macrophage-associated oxidative burst-mediated damage of the nervous tissue. Other mechanisms involving macrophages, such as antibody-dependent cell-mediated-cytotoxicity could also be of relevance.



**FIGURE 2 | T cell phenotypes in symptomatic L31 mice**. Flow cytometry analysis revealed that the ratio of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells vs. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was significantly higher in the circulating system of symptomatic L31 mice (L31) by comparing with that in wild type (WT) mice, this enhancement was derived from the dramatically increase of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell absolute numbers in the blood of L31 mice (**A**). CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from the blood of symptomatic L31 mice exhibited memory/effector phenotypes, which were determined by CD44<sup>h</sup>CD62-L<sup>lo</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>, as well as the expression levels of CD122 in CD44<sup>h</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> population (**B**). In parallel, both flow cytometry and immunohistochemistry analyses demonstrated that infiltration of T cells in affected sciatic nerves was predominated by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (**C**), Scale bar: 50 µm. The majority of infiltrated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells have low expression of CD62-L and high expression of CD43, but without the high levels of CD25 expression, which is a typical phenotype of activated T cells (**D**). Cytokine/chemokine expression was analyzed using LUMINEX assay. The results indicated a significantly increase of both pro-inflammatory (IFN<sub>Y</sub> and TNF) and chemokines (CXCL9 and CXCL10) in affected sciatic nerves of symptomatic L31 mice (**E**). *n* = 3–4/group, \*\*\**p* < 0.0001.

To summarize, the massive infiltration of T cells in diseased nervous tissues of L31 mice is CD8<sup>+</sup>, not CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the blood and in the nerves of diseased L31 display memory/effector phenotypes. Lack of T cells prevents disease development in L31 mice (34). L31 mice deficient in CD4+ T cells have an accelerated disease onset and an increased disease penetrance (35). Interestingly, L31 mice have an increased number of Foxp3-expressing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in their lymphoid organs, which display an activated phenotype (unpublished data). Initiation of disease requires Ag specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation since L31 mice with an almost unique TCR specificity expressed by CD8+ T cells (L31/OT-1 mice) never developed disease (35). Hence, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells arise as key players in disease pathogenesis in L31 B7.2 transgenic mice. Different from EAN where CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are the main culprits in mediating neuropathy, L31 mice provide a unique opportunity to investigate the involvement of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in autoimmune peripheral neuropathy. In L31 mice, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells may function as regulators in the disease pathogenesis.

# LESSONS FROM ANIMAL MODELS FOR HUMAN AUTOIMMUNE PERIPHERAL NEUROPATHY

Whether induced or spontaneous, no single animal model perfectly mimics a human disease. These models represent only particular aspects of a complex human autoimmune disease, and not all animal response patterns are replicated in the human immune system. Among the most frequently used animal models of autoimmune peripheral neuropathy that we discussed above, EAN and NOD B7.2KO mice have provided valuable information in the principles of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell-mediated autoimmunity and in the development of clinically applicable immunotherapies. However, caution should be taken in the interpretation of results, especially, EAN, which is induced using complete Freund's adjuvant. L31 mice offer a unique and excellent tool to investigate CD8+ T cell-mediated spontaneous autoimmmune neuropathy. As epidemiological studies have provided strong evidence on the involvement of viral infection in the onset of GBS and CIDP, this model might be essential in elucidating their viral etiology. However, L31 mice do not recover

# REFERENCES

- 1. Latov N. Diagnosis and treatment of chronic acquired demyelinating polyneuropathies. *Nat Rev Neurol* (2014) **10**(8):435–46. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2014.117
- McGrogan A, Madle GC, Seaman HE, de Vries CS. The epidemiology of Guillain-Barre syndrome worldwide. A systematic literature review. *Neuroepidemiology* (2009) 32(2):150–63. doi:10.1159/000184748
- Hughes RA, Cornblath DR. Guillain-Barre syndrome. Lancet (2005) 366(9497):1653–66. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67665-9
- Dalakas MC. Medscape. Advances in the diagnosis, pathogenesis and treatment of CIDP. Nat Rev Neurol (2011) 7(9):507–17. doi:10.1038/ nrneurol.2011.121
- Barohn RJ, Kissel JT, Warmolts JR, Mendell JR. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Clinical characteristics, course, and recommendations for diagnostic criteria. *Arch Neurol* (1989) 46(8):878–84. doi:10.1001/archneur.1989.00520440064022
- 6. Dimachkie MM, Barohn RJ, Katz J. Multifocal motor neuropathy, multifocal acquired demyelinating sensory and motor neuropathy, and other chronic

without intervention, suggesting this model is not appropriate for examining the mechanism of self-recovery in GBS patients. On the whole, autoimmune peripheral neuropathy is neither a single disease nor a disease stemming from one etiology; instead these are syndromes with multiple variants and very complex mechanisms. Thus, while recognizing the limitations of extrapolating findings from each animal model to human disease, what is important is the integration of the diverse data generated from different models into coherent framework for understanding the entirety of autoimmune peripheral neuropathy.

# FUTURE DIRECTIONS: QUESTIONS NEED TO BE ADDRESSED

Although the potential contribution of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in autoimmune neuropathy, including MS, GBS, and CIDP, has brought considerable attention in recent years, our knowledge on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells is still very much limited. Why do so many people have viral or bacterial infections, but only a small population develop GBS/CIDP? Where is the site of the abnormality that initiates the disease process? What are the key molecules or cells that determine the fate of the disease? Why do some patients recover spontaneously, while others do not? Whether and to what extent CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are engaged in different stages of the diseases, and whether CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells can be targeted for disease prevention and effective treatment? Use of appropriate animal models should help answer these questions and decipher the role of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in human autoimmune peripheral neuropathy.

# STATEMENT ON ANIMAL ETHICS

All experiments were in accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care, and approved by the animal care committee of McGill University (Permit #5533).

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

MY is supported by the CIHR Neuroinflammation Training Program. This work was supported by funding from the Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) MOP-111129 to JZ and from Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada to SF.

acquired demyelinating polyneuropathy variants. *Neurol Clin* (2013) **31**(2):533–55. doi:10.1016/j.ncl.2013.01.001

- Yuki N, Hartung HP. Guillain-Barre syndrome. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(24):2294–304. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1114525
- Babbe H, Roers A, Waisman A, Lassmann H, Goebels N, Hohlfeld R, et al. Clonal expansions of CD8(+) T cells dominate the T cell infiltrate in active multiple sclerosis lesions as shown by micromanipulation and single cell polymerase chain reaction. *J Exp Med* (2000) **192**(3):393–404. doi:10.1084/ jem.192.3.393
- van Oosten BW, Lai M, Hodgkinson S, Barkhof F, Miller DH, Moseley IF, et al. Treatment of multiple sclerosis with the monoclonal anti-CD4 antibody cM-T412: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, MR-monitored phase II trial. *Neurology* (1997) 49(2):351–7.
- Coles AJ, Compston DA, Selmaj KW, Lake SL, Moran S, Margolin DH, et al. Alemtuzumab vs. interferon beta-1a in early multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2008) 359(17):1786–801. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0802670
- 11. Chiu IM, Chen A, Zheng Y, Kosaras B, Tsiftsoglou SA, Vartanian TK, et al. T lymphocytes potentiate endogenous neuroprotective inflammation in

a mouse model of ALS. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2008) 105(46):17913-8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0804610105

- Town T, Tan J, Flavell RA, Mullan M. T-cells in Alzheimer's disease. Neuromolecular Med (2005) 7(3):255–64. doi:10.1385/NMM:7:3:255
- Itagaki S, McGeer PL, Akiyama H. Presence of T-cytotoxic suppressor and leucocyte common antigen positive cells in Alzheimer's disease brain tissue. *Neurosci Lett* (1988) 91(3):259–64. doi:10.1016/0304-3940(88)90690-8
- Waksman BH, Adams RD. Allergic neuritis: an experimental disease of rabbits induced by the injection of peripheral nervous tissue and adjuvants. *J Exp Med* (1955) 102(2):213–36. doi:10.1084/jem.102.2.213
- Brostoff SW, Levit S, Powers JM. Induction of experimental allergic neuritis with a peptide from myelin P2 basic protein. *Nature* (1977) 268(5622):752–3. doi:10.1038/268752a0
- Yang M, Rainone A, Shi XQ, Fournier S, Zhang J. A new animal model of spontaneous autoimmune peripheral polyneuropathy: implications for Guillain-Barre syndrome. *Acta Neuropathol Commun* (2014) 2(1):5. doi:10.1186/2051-5960-2-5
- Poropatich KO, Walker CL, Black RE. Quantifying the association between *Campylobacter* infection and Guillain-Barre syndrome: a systematic review. J *Health Popul Nutr* (2010) 28(6):545–52. doi:10.3329/jhpn.v28i6.6602
- Hadden RD, Gregson NA. Guillain–Barre syndrome and Campylobacter jejuni infection. Symp Ser Soc Appl Microbiol (2001) 30:1458–54S. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2672.2001.01363.x
- Kuitwaard K, Bos-Eyssen ME, Blomkwist-Markens PH, van Doorn PA. Recurrences, vaccinations and long-term symptoms in GBS and CIDP. J Peripher Nerv Syst (2009) 14(4):310–5. doi:10.1111/j.1529-8027.2009.00243.x
- Hartung HP, Reiners K, Schmidt B, Stoll G, Toyka KV. Serum interleukin-2 concentrations in Guillain-Barre syndrome and chronic idiopathic demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy: comparison with other neurological diseases of presumed immunopathogenesis. *Ann Neurol* (1991) **30**(1):48–53. doi:10.1002/ana.410300110
- 21. Van den Berg LH, Mollee I, Wokke JH, Logtenberg T. Increased frequencies of HPRT mutant T lymphocytes in patients with Guillain-Barre syndrome and chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: further evidence for a role of T cells in the etiopathogenesis of peripheral demyelinating diseases. J Neuroimmunol (1995) 58(1):37–42. doi:10.1016/0165-5728(94)00185-Q
- Klehmet J, Staudt M, Ulm L, Unterwalder N, Meisel A, Meisel C. Circulating lymphocyte and T memory subsets in glucocorticosteroid versus IVIG treated patients with CIDP. J Neuroimmunol (2015) 283:17–22. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2015.03.023
- Schmidt B, Toyka KV, Kiefer R, Full J, Hartung HP, Pollard J. Inflammatory infiltrates in sural nerve biopsies in Guillain-Barre syndrome and chronic inflammatory demyelinating neuropathy. *Muscle Nerve* (1996) 19(4):474–87. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-4598(199604)19:4<474::AID-MUS8>3.0.CO;2-9
- Dahle C, Vrethem M, Ernerudh J. T lymphocyte subset abnormalities in peripheral blood from patients with the Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neuroimmunol (1994) 53(2):219–25. doi:10.1016/0165-5728(94)90032-9
- Matsumuro K, Izumo S, Umehara F, Osame M. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: histological and immunopathological studies on biopsied sural nerves. J Neurol Sci (1994) 127(2):170–8. doi:10.1016/0022-510X(94)90070-1
- Wanschitz J, Maier H, Lassmann H, Budka H, Berger T. Distinct time pattern of complement activation and cytotoxic T cell response in Guillain-Barre syndrome. *Brain* (2003) 126(Pt 9):2034–42. doi:10.1093/brain/awg207
- 27. Sindern E, Oreja-Guevara C, Raulf-Heimsoth M, Baur X, Malin JP. A longitudinal study of circulating lymphocyte subsets in the peripheral blood during

the acute stage of Guillain-Barre syndrome. *J Neurol Sci* (1997) **151**(1):29–34. doi:10.1016/S0022-510X(97)00082-8

- Mausberg AK, Dorok M, Stettner M, Muller M, Hartung HP, Dehmel T, et al. Recovery of the T-cell repertoire in CIDP by IV immunoglobulins. *Neurology* (2013) 80(3):296–303. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e31827debad
- Schneider-Hohendorf T, Schwab N, Uceyler N, Gobel K, Sommer C, Wiendl H. CD8+ T-cell immunity in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. *Neurology* (2012) 78(6):402–8. doi:10.1212/ WNL.0b013e318245d250
- Gold R, Hartung HP, Toyka KV. Animal models for autoimmune demyelinating disorders of the nervous system. *Mol Med Today* (2000) 6(2):88–91. doi:10.1016/S1357-4310(99)01639-1
- Linington C, Izumo S, Suzuki M, Uyemura K, Meyermann R, Wekerle H. A permanent rat T cell line that mediates experimental allergic neuritis in the Lewis rat in vivo. *J Immunol* (1984) 133(4):1946–50.
- Salomon B, Rhee L, Bour-Jordan H, Hsin H, Montag A, Soliven B, et al. Development of spontaneous autoimmune peripheral polyneuropathy in B7-2-deficient NOD mice. J Exp Med (2001) 194(5):677–84. doi:10.1084/ jem.194.5.677
- Fournier S, Rathmell JC, Goodnow CC, Allison JP. T cell-mediated elimination of B7.2 transgenic B cells. *Immunity* (1997) 6(3):327–39. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(00)80335-0
- Zehntner SP, Brisebois M, Tran E, Owens T, Fournier S. Constitutive expression of a costimulatory ligand on antigen-presenting cells in the nervous system drives demyelinating disease. *FASEB J* (2003) 17(13):1910–2. doi:10.1096/ fj.03-0199fje
- Brisebois M, Zehntner SP, Estrada J, Owens T, Fournier S. A pathogenic role for CD8+ T cells in a spontaneous model of demyelinating disease. *J Immunol* (2006) 177(4):2403–11. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.4.2403
- Gachter C, Petersen JA, Schwarz U, Pangalu A, Tarnutzer AA. Teaching NeuroImages: variant of Guillain-Barre syndrome with spinal cord involvement. *Neurology* (2015) 84(5):e30. doi:10.1212/ WNL.000000000001217
- Meyer zu Horste G, Heidenreich H, Mausberg AK, Lehmann HC, ten Asbroek AL, Saavedra JT, et al. Mouse Schwann cells activate MHC class I and II restricted T-cell responses, but require external peptide processing for MHC class II presentation. *Neurobiol Dis* (2010) 37(2):483–90. doi:10.1016/j. nbd.2009.11.006
- Meyer Zu Horste G, Heidenreich H, Lehmann HC, Ferrone S, Hartung HP, Wiendl H, et al. Expression of antigen processing and presenting molecules by Schwann cells in inflammatory neuropathies. *Glia* (2010) 58(1):80–92. doi:10.1002/glia.20903
- Boyman O, Letourneau S, Krieg C, Sprent J. Homeostatic proliferation and survival of naive and memory T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) 39(8):2088–94. doi:10.1002/eji.200939444

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Yang, Peyret, Shi, Siron, Jang, Wu, Fournier and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# $\gamma\delta$ T cells and NK cells – distinct pathogenic roles as innate-like immune cells in CNS autoimmunity

Sarah C. Edwards<sup>1</sup>, Aoife M. McGinley<sup>1</sup>, Niamh C. McGuinness<sup>1,2</sup> and Kingston H. G. Mills<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Immune Regulation Research Group, Trinity Biomedical Sciences Institute, School of Biochemistry and Immunology, Trinity College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland, <sup>2</sup> Trinity College Institute of Neuroscience, Trinity College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland

Keywords:  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, NK cells, IL-17, multiple sclerosis, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, autoimmunity

# Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic inflammatory, demyelinating disease that affects the central nervous system (CNS) resulting in progressive cognitive decline and physical disability. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) is an animal model of MS that has been used to understand the cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying CNS inflammation and autoimmunity. Since the discovery of IL-17-sereting CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Th17 cells) over 10 years ago, these cells have been the main focus of attention as mediators of pathology in MS and EAE (1, 2). However, in recent years evidence has emerged that lymphocytes with innate-like properties are potent producers of IL-17 and related pro-inflammatory cytokines (3-6). γδ T cells, NKT, and innate lymphoid cells have been shown to be major sources of IL-17 in host control of a variety of bacterial, viral, and fungal infections. However, dysregulation of these innate-like lymphocytes can also result in severe pathology in EAE and other models of autoimmunity. The role of IFN- $\gamma$ in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases is more controversial. Like Th17 cells, transfer of myelin antigen-specific Th1 cells can induce EAE in naïve mice (7, 8). However, IFN- $\gamma$ , the signature cytokine of Th1 and natural killer (NK) cells, has been shown to inhibit the function of pathogenic Th17 cells, as well as promoting development of encephalitogenic T cells during induction of EAE (8, 9). Immunotherapeutics that suppress the induction or function of Th17 cells have proved successful in treating psoriasis, but have had more variable success in MS patients (10). Based on recent studies on the role of innate-like lymphocytes in the pathogenesis of EAE, we propose that these cells may provide more selective and improved drug targets for the treatment of MS.

# CD4<sup>+</sup> T Cells

Th1 cells were originally thought to be the main pathogenic cells in MS and EAE. This was in part attributed to the fact that IL-12p40<sup>-/-</sup> mice were resistant to EAE, and treatment of MS patients with IFN- $\gamma$  exacerbated disease (11). However, mice deficient in IFN- $\gamma$  or T-bet, which lack Th1 cells, were not protected from EAE (12, 13). The discovery of IL-23 partly resolved this paradox. IL-23 and IL-12 share a common p40 chain, which associates with a separate p19 chain to make IL-23 or with a p35 chain to make IL-12. Like IL-23p40<sup>-/-</sup> mice, IL-23p19<sup>-/-</sup> mice are resistant to EAE, whereas IL-12p35<sup>-/-</sup> mice are susceptible (14). IL-23 was then shown to be essential in driving the induction or the expansion of IL-17-secreting CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, which were termed Th17 cells (15–17). IL-17-producing Th17 cells proved to have a key role in inflammation and autoimmunity when they were found capable of transferring EAE to naive mice (16).

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Jorge Ivan Alvarez, University of Pennsylvania, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Carmen Infante Duarte, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany Eva Cernuda-Morollón, Hospital Universitario Central de Asturias, Spain

> \*Correspondence: Kingston H. G. Mills kingston.mills@tcd.ie

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 09 July 2015 Accepted: 24 August 2015 Published: 08 September 2015

#### Citation:

Edwards SC, McGinley AM, McGuinness NC and Mills KHG (2015) yδ T cells and NK cells – distinct pathogenic roles as innate-like immune cells in CNS autoimmunity. Front. Immunol. 6:455. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00455

In addition to IL-17A, Th17 cells produce an array of other inflammatory cytokines, including IL-17F, GM-CSF, IL-22, IL-21, IL-26 and TNF- $\alpha$  (16, 18–24). Since their discovery, Th17 cells have been implicated in the pathogenesis of most common autoimmune diseases, including psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), and MS, and in animal models of these diseases. Despite the extensive studies on Th17 cells, the relative roles of Th1 and Th17 cells in the pathogenesis of MS and other autoimmune diseases are still unclear. Data from our laboratory and others show that both Th1- and Th17-polarized T cells are capable of transferring EAE (7, 8). Furthermore, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells secreting both IL-17 and IFN- $\gamma$  are detectable in the CNS of mice with EAE (25-27). Therefore, it is our opinion that both Th1 and Th17 cell subsets play important roles in autoimmune pathology, but that there is plasticity between these T cell types and that the pathogenic function of other immune cells, especially cells of the innate immune system should not be ignored.

# $\gamma\delta$ T Cells

 $\gamma\delta$  T cells represent around 2–5% of peripheral lymphocytes and are known to play an important role in innate and adaptive immunity at mucosal surfaces.  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have been described as polyfunctional; they produce an array of cytokines, including IL-17A, IL-17F, IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-10, IL-22, IL-21, GM-CSF, and TNF- $\alpha$  (28–31). The IL-17-producing  $\gamma\delta$  T cells share many features with CD4<sup>+</sup> Th17 cells, including expression of RORyt, IL-1R1, IL-23R, and CCR6 (32). Although  $\gamma\delta$  T cells do express a unique T cell receptor (TCR), engagement of this TCR with MHC-antigen complexes is not a prerequisite for their activation. Unlike conventional  $\alpha\beta$ T cells, cytokine stimulation alone is sufficient for activation of IL-17-secreting  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, making these cells rapid and potent mediators of inflammation (28).  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have been shown to be pathogenic in a variety of autoimmune diseases, such as EAE, collagen-induced arthritis (CIA), and most recently in EAU (33-35). Before the discovery of Th17 cells and their signature cytokine IL-17, it was assumed that early IFN- $\gamma$  derived from  $\gamma\delta$ T cells was the main pathogenic cytokine driving EAE; this was in part based on the established role of IFN- $\gamma$ -secreting  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in enhancing CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses in anti-tumor immunity (36). However, our studies, supported by recent results from other labs, suggest that the pathogenic function of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells is mediated by their production of IL-17 and related cytokines, including IL-21 and GM-CSF (28). γδ T cells can secrete IL-17 in response to IL-1, IL-18, and IL-23 without TCR engagement, promoting the induction of Th1 and Th17 cells and amplifying their encephalitogenic function during the development of EAE (28, 37, 38) (Figure 1). Studies from our group have demonstrated that dendritic cells (DCs) can enhance the ability of IL-1- and IL-23-activated  $\gamma\delta$  T cells to promote IL-17 production by Th17 cells (28). Furthermore, DCs express IL-17R and secrete IL-23 in response to IL-17, which was enhanced by LPS and blocked



**FIGURE 1** | **Proposed roles for \gamma\delta T cells and NK cells in amplifying pathogenic CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses in EAE**. Dendritic cells (DCs) are activated by TLR and NLR agonists. Antigenic peptide is presented by MHC class II molecules on DCs to the TCR on T cells. This, along with co-stimulatory signals, activates the T cell. Once activated, DCs secrete cytokines including IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-23, and IL-12 that promote the polarization of naïve T cells into effector cells. IL-12 promotes the induction of Th1 cells, which are primarily IFN- $\gamma$  producers. IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and IL-23 promote the differentiation and expansion of Th17 cells, which secrete IL-17 (and IL-22, GM-CSF, IL-21) and mediate protection against extracellular pathogens, such as fungi, and are heavily implicated in the pathology of autoimmune diseases.  $\gamma\delta$  T cells secrete IL-17 and IL-21 following stimulation with IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-23 without TCR engagement, which act in an autocrine loop to promote further IL-17 production by Th17 cells in the development of EAE. NK cells provide an early source of IFN- $\gamma$  to drive VLA-4 expression on Th1 and Th17 cells, allowing these cells to traffic from the peripheral lymphoid organs and into the CNS.

by anti-IL-17R. These findings suggest that  $\gamma\delta$  T-cell-derived IL-17 may act in a positive feedback loop involving DC activation leading to enhanced Th17 cell effector function during EAE. *In vitro* studies have also suggested a pathogenic role for  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in demyelinating diseases of the CNS, as  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are indirectly responsible for axonal demyelination through toxic destruction of oligodendrocytes, cells responsible for myelinating axons (39).

Importantly, data from our laboratory and others have shown that  $\gamma \delta$  T cells infiltrate the brain and spinal cord in large numbers during the course of EAE, where they produce IL-17 and related cytokines (28, 37, 38).  $V\gamma 4^+$  T cells were identified as the main IL-17-producing  $\gamma\delta$  T cell in the brains of mice with EAE, but V $\gamma$ 1 and V $\gamma$ 6 T cells are also present (28). V $\gamma$ 4<sup>+</sup> T cells are also key players in a variety of other autoimmune conditions, such as myocarditis, (40) psoriasis (41), and CIA (34). The pathogenic role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in EAE was demonstrated by a reduction in disease severity in TCR $\delta^{-/-}$  mice (42). Furthermore, studies in the relapsing-remitting EAE model showed a significant reduction in clinical severity when mice were treated with a TCR $\delta$  depleting antibody immediately before disease onset or during the chronic phase of disease (33). In addition, experiments in the adoptive transfer model of EAE demonstrated that depletion of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells reduced clinical severity and delayed the onset of disease (43).

The pivotal role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in the pathogenicity of EAE is also reflected in MS, where clonal expansion of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells has been observed in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of patients with recent disease onset (44). Furthermore, an increased frequency of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have been detected in the peripheral blood of patients with MS (45) and an accumulation of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells has been described in acute brain lesions (46). Based on these findings, we propose that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have a critical role in the active stages of both EAE and MS.

# **NK Cells**

Natural killer cells are innate lymphocytes named for their cytolytic activity, which can control tumor growth and microbial infection. NK cells can produce the pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , as well as the immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10 and the growth factor GM-CSF in response to IL-12, IL-15, or IL-18 (47).

Human NK cells can be broadly separated into two types on the basis of their expression of CD16 and CD56. CD16<sup>+</sup>CD56<sup>dim</sup> cells express more intracellular perforin and are more efficient killers, whereas the CD16<sup>dim/-</sup>CD56<sup>bright</sup> subset produce greater amounts and a wider variety of cytokines, and are more regulatory in nature (48). The general consensus in the literature is that the CD56<sup>bright</sup> NK cells play a protective role in MS. It has been reported that the ratio of CD56<sup>bright</sup>:CD56<sup>dim</sup> cells is higher in the CSF of MS patients relative to control subjects (49). Furthermore, the CD56<sup>bright</sup> subtype is expanded in response to the MS disease modifying therapies IFN- $\beta$  (50), daclizumab (51, 52) and natalizumab (53). There is also an established link between disease relapse and a decrease in the number of total circulating NK (CD16<sup>+</sup>CD56<sup>+</sup>) cells in peripheral blood of MS patients (54). Conversely, an increase in NK cell number and migratory capacity has been associated with remission (55). Therefore, it is possible that certain subsets of NK cells may have a role in controlling CNS inflammation in MS patients.

A potential mechanism underlying the protective effect of NK cells in MS was provided by the observation that these CD56<sup>bright</sup> NK cells can kill activated, but not resting, autologous CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells by inducing apoptosis through degranulation (56). While less is known about the role of the CD56<sup>dim</sup> subset in MS, the frequency of these cells in the circulation is enhanced in the progressive forms of the disease, (57) a phenomenon which also occurs with age (58). Therefore, it is possible that CD56<sup>dim</sup> NK cells may contribute to neurodegeneration, however, further investigation is required to confirm this hypothesis.

Studies in the animal model EAE have generated more extensive data on the role of NK cells that has led to more controversy. The severity of EAE is enhanced in mice deficient in fractalkine receptor expression, which is required for NK cell recruitment to the inflamed CNS (59), suggesting that NK cells may play a role in limiting CNS inflammation. This is consistent with a more recent publication suggesting that a population of CNS-resident NK cells have a protective role in EAE through suppression of myelin-reactive Th17 cells (60). By contrast, IFN- $\gamma$  from NK cells has also been shown to promote autoreactive Th1 responses and contribute to the pathogenesis of EAE (61).

Depletion of NK cells in EAE using either anti-NK1.1 or anti-asialo GM1, which induce apoptosis (62) or complementdependent lysis (63), respectively, has generated conflicting reports of both exacerbation (60, 64-66) and amelioration (61, 67) of clinical disease. These discrepancies may reflect differences in the antibodies used, the depletion regimen, and a focus on disease peak. Data from our laboratory suggest that NK cells have a pathogenic role in disease induction; NK cells were found to infiltrate the CNS of mice with EAE before the onset of clinical symptoms, and depletion of these cells at this early timepoint led to a significant reduction in disease severity (8). The pathogenic role of NK cells was attributed to early IFN- $\gamma$  production, as early depletion of NK cells did not affect the clinical course of EAE in IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$  mice. IFN- $\gamma$  from NK cells polarized macrophages to an M1 phenotype and thus conferred encephalitogenic potential on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells by upregulating expression of the integrin VLA-4, which is required for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltration into the CNS (8) (Figure 1). We believe that NK cells play a critical pathogenic role in EAE by acting as an early source of innate IFN- $\gamma$  in the initiation of disease. However, late in disease, IFN- $\gamma$  production by Th1 cells, activated by NK cells, may have protective role through suppression of cytokine production by Th17 cells. This might explain the finding in MS patients of an association between reduced NK cells numbers and disease relapse (54) and increased NK cells and disease remission (55).

# Conclusion

Understanding the Th17/IL-17 axis in both protective and dysregulated immunity has led to the development of many promising front line therapies for autoimmune diseases. However, we believe that research in this area has been too heavily focused on  $CD4^+$  T cells and that further study on innate immunity may provide vital insight into mechanisms of disease and improved therapies. Although much of the attention has been on Th17 cells, these are not the only source of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-17. Innate-like lymphocytes, such as  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and NK cells, provide an early source of IL-17 and IFN- $\gamma$ , traffic to the CNS early during development of EAE, and provide an amplification loop for the activation of pathogenic CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (**Figure 1**). IL-17 and IL-21 derived from  $\gamma\delta$  T cells enhances the pathogenicity of Th17 cells in EAE. Furthermore, IFN- $\gamma$  derived from NK cells polarizes M1-type macrophages and enhances the encephalitogenic activity of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells by upregulating VLA-4 expression. Treatment of MS patients with biological drugs designed to suppress the induction, migration, or function of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, such as natalizumab, come with an increased risk of infection,

## References

- Matusevicius D, Kivisakk P, He B, Kostulas N, Ozenci V, Fredrikson S, et al. Interleukin-17 mRNA expression in blood and CSF mononuclear cells is augmented in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* (1999) 5(2):101–4. doi:10.1177/ 135245859900500206
- Ivanov II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, et al. The orphan nuclear receptor RORγt directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell* (2006) **126**(6):1121–33. doi:10. 1016/j.cell.2006.07.035
- Sutton C, Brereton C, Keogh B, Mills KH, Lavelle EC. A crucial role for interleukin (IL)-1 in the induction of IL-17-producing T cells that mediate autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Exp Med (2006) 203(7):1685–91. doi:10. 1084/jem.20060285
- Conti HR, Peterson AC, Brane L, Huppler AR, Hernández-Santos N, Whibley N, et al. Oral-resident natural Th17 cells and γδ T cells control opportunistic *Candida albicans* infections. *J Exp Med* (2014) **211**(10):2075–84. doi:10.1084/ jem.20130877
- Tanaka S, Yoshimoto T, Naka T, Nakae S, Iwakura Y, Cua D, et al. Natural occurring IL-17 producing T cells regulate the initial phase of neutrophil mediated airway responses. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(11):7523–30. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0803828
- Marks BR, Nowyhed HN, Choi J-Y, Poholek AC, Odegard JM, Flavell RA, et al. Thymic self-reactivity selects natural interleukin 17-producing T cells that can regulate peripheral inflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(10):1125–32. doi:10.1038/ni.1783
- Kroenke MA, Carlson TJ, Andjelkovic AV, Segal BM. IL-12-and IL-23modulated T cells induce distinct types of EAE based on histology, CNS chemokine profile, and response to cytokine inhibition. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(7):1535–41. doi:10.1084/jem.20080159
- Dungan LS, McGuinness NC, Boon L, Lynch MA, Mills KH. Innate IFN-γ promotes development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: a role for NK cells and M1 macrophages. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44(10):2903–17. doi:10.1002/eji.201444612
- Billiau A, Heremans H, Vandekerckhove F, Dijkmans R, Sobis H, Meulepas E, et al. Enhancement of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in mice by antibodies against IFN-gamma. *J Immunol* (1988) 140(5):1506–10.
- Jones SA, Sutton CE, Cua D, Mills KH. Therapeutic potential of targeting IL-17. Nat Immunol (2012) 13(11):1022–5. doi:10.1038/ni.2450
- Panitch H, Haley A, Hirsch R, Johnson K. Exacerbations of multiple sclerosis in patients treated with gamma interferon. *Lancet* (1987) **329**(8538):893–5. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(87)92863-7
- Bettelli E, Sullivan B, Szabo SJ, Sobel RA, Glimcher LH, Kuchroo VK. Loss of T-bet, but not STAT1, prevents the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Exp Med* (2004) **200**(1):79–87. doi:10.1084/jem.20031819
- Ferber IA, Brocke S, Taylor-Edwards C, Ridgway W, Dinisco C, Steinman L, et al. Mice with a disrupted IFN-gamma gene are susceptible to the induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). *J Immunol* (1996) 156(1):5–7.

in particular progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) (68). Given the important role of small populations of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and NK cells in the pathogenesis of EAE, we propose that a better understanding of the activation and function of these innate-like lymphocytes and their secreted cytokines may lead to new and more selective therapeutic interventions for the treatment of MS.

## Acknowledgments

KM and AM are supported by Science Foundation Ireland (PI grant 11/PI/1036). SE and NM are supported by a postgraduate Fellowship from the Programme for Research in Third Level Institute in Ireland.

- Cua DJ, Sherlock J, Chen Y, Murphy CA, Joyce B, Seymour B, et al. Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. *Nature* (2003) 421(6924):744–8. doi:10.1038/ nature01355
- Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, et al. Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(11):1123-32. doi:10.1038/ni1254
- Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein WM, Mattson J, Basham B, Sedgwick JD, et al. IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med (2005) 201(2):233–40. doi:10.1084/jem.20041257
- Park H, Li Z, Yang XO, Chang SH, Nurieva R, Wang Y-H, et al. A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(11):1133–41. doi:10.1038/ni1261
- Codarri L, Gyülvészi G, Tosevski V, Hesske L, Fontana A, Magnenat L, et al. ROR [gamma] t drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells, which is essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(6):560–7. doi:10.1038/ni.2027
- El-Behi M, Ciric B, Dai H, Yan Y, Cullimore M, Safavi F, et al. The encephalitogenicity of TH17 cells is dependent on IL-1-and IL-23-induced production of the cytokine GM-CSF. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(6):568–75. doi:10.1038/ ni.2031
- Korn T, Bettelli E, Gao W, Awasthi A, Jäger A, Strom TB, et al. IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce proinflammatory TH17 cells. *Nature* (2007) 448(7152):484–7. doi:10.1038/nature05970
- Liang SC, Tan X-Y, Luxenberg DP, Karim R, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M, et al. Interleukin (IL)-22 and IL-17 are coexpressed by Th17 cells and cooperatively enhance expression of antimicrobial peptides. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(10):2271–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20061308
- 22. Nurieva R, Yang XO, Martinez G, Zhang Y, Panopoulos AD, Ma L, et al. Essential autocrine regulation by IL-21 in the generation of inflammatory T cells. *Nature* (2007) **448**(7152):480–3. doi:10.1038/nature05969
- Zheng Y, Danilenko DM, Valdez P, Kasman I, Eastham-Anderson J, Wu J, et al. Interleukin-22, a TH17 cytokine, mediates IL-23-induced dermal inflammation and acanthosis. *Nature* (2007) 445(7128):648–51. doi:10.1038/nature05505
- Zhou L, Ivanov II, Spolski R, Min R, Shenderov K, Egawa T, et al. IL-6 programs TH-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. *Nature immunology* (2007) 8(9):967–74. doi:10.1038/NI1488
- Abromson-Leeman S, Bronson RT, Dorf ME. Encephalitogenic T cells that stably express both T-bet and RORγt consistently produce IFNγ but have a spectrum of IL-17 profiles. *J Neuroimmunol* (2009) 215(1):10–24. doi:10.1016/ j.jneuroim.2009.07.007
- 26. Korn T, Mitsdoerffer M, Croxford AL, Awasthi A, Dardalhon VA, Galileos G, et al. IL-6 controls Th17 immunity in vivo by inhibiting the conversion of conventional T cells into Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) **105**(47):18460–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0809850105
- Suryani S, Sutton I. An interferon-γ-producing Th1 subset is the major source of IL-17 in experimental autoimmune encephalitis. J Neuroimmunol (2007) 183(1):96–103. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.11.023

- Sutton CE, Lalor SJ, Sweeney CM, Brereton CF, Lavelle EC, Mills KH. Interleukin-1 and IL-23 induce innate IL-17 production from gammadelta T cells, amplifying Th17 responses and autoimmunity. *Immunity* (2009) 31(2):331–41. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.001
- Mielke LA, Jones SA, Raverdeau M, Higgs R, Stefanska A, Groom JR, et al. Retinoic acid expression associates with enhanced IL-22 production by gammadelta T cells and innate lymphoid cells and attenuation of intestinal inflammation. J Exp Med (2013) 210(6):1117–24. doi:10.1084/jem.20121588
- Lukens JR, Barr MJ, Chaplin DD, Chi H, Kanneganti TD. Inflammasomederived IL-1beta regulates the production of GM-CSF by CD4(+) T cells and gammadelta T cells. J Immunol (2012) 188(7):3107–15. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1103308
- Rhodes KA, Andrew EM, Newton DJ, Tramonti D, Carding SR. A subset of IL-10-producing gammadelta T cells protect the liver from *Listeria*-elicited, CD8(+) T cell-mediated injury. *Eur J Immunol* (2008) 38(8):2274–83. doi:10. 1002/eji.200838354
- Cua DJ, Tato CM. Innate IL-17-producing cells: the sentinels of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10(7):479–89. doi:10.1038/nri2800
- Rajan AJ, Gao YL, Raine CS, Brosnan CF. A pathogenic role for gamma delta T cells in relapsing-remitting experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in the SJL mouse. J Immunol (1996) 157(2):941–9.
- Roark CL, French JD, Taylor MA, Bendele AM, Born WK, O'Brien RL. Exacerbation of collagen-induced arthritis by oligoclonal, IL-17-producing γδ T cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 179(8):5576–83. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.8.5576
- 35. Nian H, Shao H, O'Brien RL, Born WK, Kaplan HJ, Sun D. Activated γδ T cells promote the activation of uveitogenic T cells and exacerbate EAU development. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2011) 52(8):5920–7. doi:10.1167/iovs. 10-6758
- 36. Gao Y, Yang W, Pan M, Scully E, Girardi M, Augenlicht LH, et al.  $\gamma\delta$  T cells provide an early source of interferon  $\gamma$  in tumor immunity. *J Exp Med* (2003) **198**(3):433–42. doi:10.1084/jem.20030584
- Olive C. Gamma delta T cell receptor variable region usage during the development of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol (1995) 62(1):1–7. doi:10.1016/0165-5728(95)00081-C
- Lalor SJ, Dungan LS, Sutton CE, Basdeo SA, Fletcher JM, Mills KH. Caspase-1-processed cytokines IL-1beta and IL-18 promote IL-17 production by gammadelta and CD4 T cells that mediate autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(10):5738–48. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003597
- Freedman MS, Ruijs TC, Selin LK, Antel JP. Peripheral blood gamma-delta T cells lyse fresh human brain-derived oligodendrocytes. *Ann Neurol* (1991) 30(6):794–800. doi:10.1002/ana.410300608
- Huber SA, Sartini D, Exley M. Vγ4+ T cells promote autoimmune CD8+ cytolytic T-lymphocyte activation in *Coxsackievirus* B3-induced myocarditis in mice: role for CD4+ Th1 cells. *J Virol* (2002) 76(21):10785–90. doi:10.1128/jvi. 76.21.10785-10790.2002
- Cai Y, Shen X, Ding C, Qi C, Li K, Li X, et al. Pivotal role of dermal IL-17-producing gammadelta T cells in skin inflammation. *Immunity* (2011) 35(4):596–610. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.08.001
- Spahn TW, Issazadah S, Salvin AJ, Weiner HL. Decreased severity of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein peptide 33–35-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice with a disrupted TCR delta chain gene. Eur J Immunol (1999) 29(12):4060–71. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199912)29
- 43. Odyniec A, Szczepanik M, Mycko MP, Stasiolek M, Raine CS, Selmaj KW. Gammadelta T cells enhance the expression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by promoting antigen presentation and IL-12 production. *J Immunol* (2004) 173(1):682–94. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.1.682
- 44. Shimonkevitz R, Colburn C, Burnham JA, Murray RS, Kotzin BL. Clonal expansions of activated gamma/delta T cells in recent-onset multiple sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1993) **90**(3):923–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.90.3.923
- 45. Stinissen P, Vandevyver C, Medaer R, Vandegaer L, Nies J, Tuyls L, et al. Increased frequency of gamma delta T cells in cerebrospinal fluid and peripheral blood of patients with multiple sclerosis. Reactivity, cytotoxicity, and T cell receptor V gene rearrangements. *J Immunol* (1995) **154**(9): 4883–94.
- Wucherpfennig KW, Newcombe J, Li H, Keddy C, Cuzner ML, Hafler DA. Gamma delta T-cell receptor repertoire in acute multiple sclerosis lesions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1992) 89(10):4588–92. doi:10.1073/pnas.89.10.4588

- Vivier E, Raulet DH, Moretta A, Caligiuri MA, Zitvogel L, Lanier LL, et al. Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. *Science* (2011) 331(6013):44–9. doi:10.1126/science.1198687
- Vivier E, Tomasello E, Baratin M, Walzer T, Ugolini S. Functions of natural killer cells. Nat Immunol (2008) 9(5):503–10. doi:10.1038/ni1582
- Rodríguez-Martín E, Picón C, Costa-Frossard L, Alenda R, Sainz de la Maza S, Roldán E, et al. Natural killer cell subsets in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2015) 180(2):243–9. doi:10.1111/ cei.12580
- Saraste M, Irjala H, Airas L. Expansion of CD56bright natural killer cells in the peripheral blood of multiple sclerosis patients treated with interferon-beta. *Neurol Sci* (2007) 28(3):121–6. doi:10.1007/s10072-007-0803-3
- Bielekova B, Catalfamo M, Reichert-Scrivner S, Packer A, Cerna M, Waldmann TA, et al. Regulatory CD56bright natural killer cells mediate immunomodulatory effects of IL-2Rα-targeted therapy (daclizumab) in multiple sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) **103**(15):5941–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0601335103
- Elkins J, Sheridan J, Amaravadi L, Riester K, Selmaj K, Bielekova B, et al. CD56bright natural killer cells and response to daclizumab HYP in relapsingremitting MS. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2015) 2(2):e65. doi:10. 1212/NXI.00000000000065
- Putzki N, Baranwal MK, Tettenborn B, Limmroth V, Kreuzfelder E. Effects of natalizumab on circulating B cells, T regulatory cells and natural killer cells. *Eur Neurol* (2010) 63(5):311–7. doi:10.1159/000302687
- Kastrukoff LF, Lau A, Wee R, Zecchini D, White R, Paty DW. Clinical relapses of multiple sclerosis are associated with 'novel' valleys in natural killer cell functional activity. *J Neuroimmunol* (2003) 145(1):103–14. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim. 2003.10.001
- 55. Serrano-Pertierra E, Blanco-Gelaz MA, Oliva-Nacarino P, Martínez-Camblor P, Villafani J, ópez-Larrea CL, et al. Increased natural killer cell chemotaxis to CXCL12 in patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2015) 282:39–44. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2015.03.007
- 56. Nielsen N, Odum N, Urso B, Lanier LL, Spee P. Cytotoxicity of CD56 (bright) NK cells towards autologous activated CD4+ T cells is mediated through NKG2D, LFA-1 and TRAIL and dampened via CD94/NKG2A. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(2):e31959. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0031959
- Plantone D, Marti A, Frisullo G, Iorio R, Damato V, Nociti V, et al. Circulating CD56 dim NK cells expressing perforin are increased in progressive multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol (2013) 265(1):124–7. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2013. 10.004
- Borrego F, Alonso M, Galiani M, Carracedo J, Ramirez R, Ostos B, et al. NK phenotypic markers and IL2 response in NK cells from elderly people. *Exp Gerontol* (1999) 34(2):253–65. doi:10.1016/S0531-5565(98)00076-X
- Huang D, Shi F-D, Jung S, Pien GC, Wang J, Salazar-Mather TP, et al. The neuronal chemokine CX3CL1/fractalkine selectively recruits NK cells that modify experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis within the central nervous system. *FASEB J* (2006) 20(7):896–905. doi:10.1096/fj.05-5465com
- Hao J, Liu R, Piao W, Zhou Q, Vollmer TL, Campagnolo DI, et al. Central nervous system (CNS)-resident natural killer cells suppress Th17 responses and CNS autoimmune pathology. J Exp Med (2010) 207(9):1907–21. doi:10.1084/ jem.20092749
- Shi F-D, Takeda K, Akira S, Sarvetnick N, Ljunggren H-G. IL-18 directs autoreactive T cells and promotes autodestruction in the central nervous system via induction of IFN-γ by NK cells. J Immunol (2000) 165(6):3099–104. doi:10. 4049/jimmunol.165.6.3099
- Asea A, Stein-Streilein J. Signalling through NK1. 1 triggers NK cells to die but induces NK T cells to produce interleukin-4. *Immunology* (1998) 93(2):296. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567.1998.00422.x
- 63. Shimada S, Iwata D. Preparation of monoclonal antibodies against a glycolipid asialo GM1. *Microbiol Immunol* (1987) **31**(9):923–33. doi:10.1111/j.1348-0421. 1987.tb03153.x
- Zhang B, Yamamura T, Kondo T, Fujiwara M, Tabira T. Regulation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by natural killer (NK) cells. *J Exp Med* (1997) 186(10):1677–87. doi:10.1084/jem.186.10.1677
- Xu W, Fazekas G, Hara H, Tabira T. Mechanism of natural killer (NK) cell regulatory role in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2005) 163(1):24–30. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2005.02.011
- 66. Matsumoto Y, Kohyama K, Aikawa Y, Shin T, Kawazoe Y, Suzuki Y, et al. Role of natural killer cells and TCR qp T cells in acute autoimmune encephalomyelitis.

*Eur J Immunol* (1998) **28**:1681–8. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199805)28: 05<1681::AID-IMMU1681>3.0.CO;2-T

- Winkler-Pickett R, Young HA, Cherry JM, Diehl J, Wine J, Back T, et al. In vivo regulation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by NK cells: alteration of primary adaptive responses. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(7):4495–506. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.7.4495
- Bloomgren G, Richman S, Hotermans C, Subramanyam M, Goelz S, Natarajan A, et al. Risk of natalizumab-associated progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(20):1870–80. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1107829

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Edwards, McGinley, McGuinness and Mills. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# The Emerging Roles of Gamma–Delta T Cells in Tissue Inflammation in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis

Sakshi Malik, Muzamil Yaqub Want and Amit Awasthi\*

Translational Health Science and Technology Institute, Faridabad, India

 $\gamma\delta$  (gamma–delta) T cells, a small population of unconventional T cells, have been found in central nervous system lesions of multiple sclerosis (MS) patients, but their function in disease activity is not clearly understood. Previous studies in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) were inconsistent in identifying their specific roles in suppressing or promoting disease pathogenesis. Emerging advancements in the biology of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells especially in the context of their being the major initial producers of IL-17, suggested their crucial role in pathogenesis of EAE. In addition,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells express high levels of IL-23R and IL-1R, which further enhance their effector functions in the pathogenesis of EAE. Nonetheless, activated heterogeneous  $\gamma\delta$  T cells display functional dichotomy, which is crucial in determining the outcomes of tissue inflammation in EAE. In this review, we discussed recent advances in understanding the biology of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in tissue inflammation as well as their roles in suppressing or promoting the development of EAE.

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Manu Rangachari, Centre hospitalier universitaire de Québec, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Girdhari Lal, National Centre for Cell Science, India Oliver Haworth, Queen Mary University of London, UK

\*Correspondence:

Amit Awasthi aawasthi@thsti.res.in

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 22 July 2015 Accepted: 12 January 2016 Published: 29 January 2016

#### Citation:

Malik S, Want MY and Awasthi A (2016) The Emerging Roles of Gamma–Delta T Cells in Tissue Inflammation in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. Front. Immunol. 7:14. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00014 Keywords: gamma-delta T cells, Th17 cells, cytokines, inflammation, autoimmunity

# INTRODUCTION

 $\gamma\delta$  (gamma-delta) T cells comprise a small fraction (~1–5%) of the total blood lymphocytes of mice and humans and are more commonly localized in mucosal tissue and skin where they constitute a major population (up to 50%) of lymphocytes (1). The identification of an unusually rearranged  $\gamma$ chain of the T cell receptor (TCR) gene led to the discovery of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells (2, 3). After the identification of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells as a new subset of T cells, it became clear that these cell types, unlike their  $\alpha\beta$ (alpha-beta) T cell counterparts, possess features of both innate and adaptive immune cells (4, 5). Moreover,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have also been recognized as non-conventional innate-like cells as they share several features of innate immune cells, such as surface expression of Toll-like receptors (TLRs) (6). In addition,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells acquire preactivated phenotypes of effector and memory T cells during their early development (6).

The antigen recognition, activation, and effector functions of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are different than those of their  $\alpha\beta$  T cell counterparts. Unlike  $\alpha\beta^+$  T cells,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells can be activated with or without their cognate TCR ligands and appear to induce an early burst of inflammatory cytokine that initiates effective and progressive  $\alpha\beta$  T cell responses in tissue inflammation during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) (7–10). These unusual unique features of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells make them an early effector T cells during an immune response in inflamed tissue.
$\alpha\beta^+$  CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are crucial for inducing tissue inflammation in EAE. It has been convincingly elucidated that IL-17-producing Th17 cells are the major driver in inducing pathogenesis of EAE. Ablation of Th17 cells or absence of IL-17 significantly reduces the severity of inflammation in EAE (11). Similarly, the absence of Th17 cell-associated genes, such as *Rorc*, a master transcription factor for Th17 cells development, and IL-23R also attenuate inflammation in EAE (12, 13). Interestingly,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells express higher level of IL-23R on their surface, which raised an interesting possibility that IL-23-responsive  $\gamma\delta$  T cells may contribute to the severity of tissue inflammation in EAE (8). Furthermore, GWAS studies suggested a genetic association of IL-23R with MS (14).

Although the *bona fide* antigens were identified for  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, still not much is known about their antigenic repertoire and restrictions (15). In addition to their antigens,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells can be activated by TLRs to induce various inflammatory cytokines, such as IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4, IL-17, IL-21, and IL-22 (6, 16).

Unlike  $\alpha\beta^+$  T cells, antigen recognition by the TCR of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells does not require antigen processing and presentation by MHC molecules (17, 18). Moreover, deficiencies of MHC class II and  $\beta2$  microglobulin do not affect the development of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and their repertoire remain intact, which suggest that the generation of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells is apparently independent of both class I and II molecules (19, 20). Interestingly, non-classical MHC class Ib molecules T10 and T22 are described as the natural ligands for murine  $\gamma\delta$  T cells (21, 22). Similarly, human class I-like molecules MICA and MICB were also suggested as natural antigens for human  $\gamma\delta$  T cells (21, 23–25). Interestingly, alterations in the expression of these ligands are induced by infection or tissue inflammation or stress, which can provide early danger-signal to initiate the activation of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells even in the absence of  $\alpha\beta^+$  T cells activation (15, 16).

The functions of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in different pathophysiological conditions are driven by their tissue-specific distributions and tropism. At steady state,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are predominantly localized in epithelial surfaces of liver, skin, and mucosal surfaces of digestive, respiratory, and reproductive organs (15, 16). Moreover, the distribution of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells to the above mentioned epithelial and mucosal surfaces is often driven by their specific expression of invariant or closely related  $\gamma\delta$  TCRs; for example, V $\gamma6V\delta1$ TCR-expressing  $\gamma\delta$  T cells mostly accumulate in the lung, peritoneum, and reproductive organs, while V $\gamma5V\delta1$ -bearing  $\gamma\delta$  T cells predominantly reside in the epithelial surface of the skin (16). In addition to their tissue localization, cellular distribution, pathophysiological conditions, and inflammatory signals also determine the activation and phenotypic plasticity of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells.

Upon activation,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells can produce the effector cytokines of Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells, such as IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4, and IL-17, respectively, therefore contribute to specific effector function in Th1, Th2, and Th17 cell-associated tissue inflammation (26). Interestingly, IL-23 stimulation of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells rapidly induces IL-17 production (6, 13, 27) to initiate tissue inflammation and enhance CD4<sup>+</sup>  $\alpha\beta$  Th17 cells responses during EAE (7). It is apparent that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells play critical role in the induction and pathogenesis of EAE (15). Nonetheless, the regulatory role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells is also suggested in EAE.

# SUBSETS OF $\gamma\delta$ T CELLS AND THEIR FUNCTIONS IN EAE

The functions of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are not only critically required for elimination of intra- and extracellular pathogens and tissue surveillance in cancer but are also associated with multiple organ-specific autoimmunity, such as type 1 diabetes, arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), and MS (16).

There are multiple subtypes of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells that are involved in the pathogenesis of EAE and can be identified based on the usage of their variable regions for both  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  genes (28, 29). Unlike the mucosal surfaces and the skin, which usually harbor higher frequency of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, a smaller frequency of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells can be found within the central nervous system (CNS) in steady state of untreated naive mice (30, 31). Although the role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in the CNS at steady state is not precisely understood, it might be possible that their presence within the CNS could be required for carrying out immune surveillance function. Nonetheless, the frequency of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells profoundly increases within the CNS in EAE; and moreover, their distribution within the CNS can be classified based on their TCR usage during different phases of EAE (28). At the initial phase of EAE, CNS-infiltrating  $\gamma\delta$  T cells show a limited repertoire, including V $\delta$ 1, V $\delta$ 4, V $\delta$ 5, V $\gamma$ 1–3, and Vy6, while almost all the Vy and V $\delta$  transcripts can be found in the brain at the chronic or later phase of the disease (28). Although lymph nodes of EAE mice contained most of the  $V\gamma$ transcripts during all phases of disease, a limited repertoire of  $\gamma\delta$ T cells was also observed within the CNS at the initial phase of the disease. Though Vy6 (also known as DV7s6) expressing y8 T cells are predominantly located in mucosa, but they can also be found within the CNS at the initial phase of EAE. However, the precise antigen specificity of CNS-localized Vy6 y8 T cells is not clearly understood in EAE. Since  $\gamma\delta$  T cells do not appear to recognize myelin basic protein (MBP) as antigen; therefore, Vy6 T cells might be recruited to the CNS in EAE in response to the heat shock protein (HSP), which is expressed on stressed autologous cells (32). In addition, another possibility is that V $\gamma$ 6  $\gamma$ 8 T cells could recognize self-antigens that mimic bacterial peptide in the CNS during inflammation as this subset of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells is known to recognize microbial antigens (bacterial peptide) at mucosal surfaces (15, 33). Furthermore,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are suggested to be functionally dichotomous on the basis of their TCR usage in EAE; Vy1 subset preferentially regulates while Vy4 subset further enhances tissue inflammation in EAE (34). Further analysis revealed that the Vy1 subset is predominantly prevalent in spleen in all phases of EAE, and in fact, about 35–50% of total splenic  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are found to be  $V\gamma1$  in EAE (34). However, a small percentage of Vγ1 γδ T cells are also found in the CNS during EAE. Emerging literature suggested that Vy1 y $\delta$  T cells act as regulatory cells and were shown to suppress tissue inflammation during the acute phase of EAE by enhancing the functions of Foxp3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T (Treg) cells. Moreover, it is proposed that Vy1 subset of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells highly express CCL4, which can bind to CCR5 on Treg cells and promote their suppressive functions in EAE (34). Consistent with their regulatory role in EAE, CNS-sorted Vγ1 γδ T cells from EAE mice do not express high amounts of IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-23R,

and GM-CSF, which further reinforce their regulatory function in EAE (34). Thus, it is suggested that V $\gamma$ 1 subset might shift the balance away from Th17 cells while promoting the proliferation and suppressive functions of Treg cells during EAE.

Yet, another subset of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, V $\gamma4$  predominates in the CNS during EAE. These cells typically responds to self-antigens by producing pro inflammatory cytokine, such as IL-17, which in turn can directly act on stromal cells and induce migration of lymphocytes across blood brain barrier in EAE (8, 27). Interestingly, the IL-17-producing V $\gamma4$   $\gamma\delta$  T cells also expressed other Th17 cell-associated molecules, such as Rorc, IL-22, IL-1R, and IL-1 $\beta$  (6, 34), which further suggested to contribute to inflammation and exacerbation of EAE (34). In addition to EAE, IL-17-producing V $\gamma4$   $\gamma\delta$  T cells are shown to promote collagen-induced arthritis (CIA), as antibody-mediated depletion of V $\gamma4$   $\gamma\delta$  T cells resulted in attenuated tissue inflammation in CIA (35). It is proposed that adjuvant rather antigen expands IL-17-producing V $\gamma4$   $\gamma\delta$  T cells in CIA.

The ability of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells to produce IL-17 innately in response to IL-23 in EAE could be attributed to V $\gamma4$  subset of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells as they highly express IL-23R on their surface (6, 7, 27). Nonetheless, it is not clearly understood whether natural ligand or antigen of V $\gamma4$   $\gamma\delta$  T cells can induce strong IL-17 response in EAE. In addition to V $\gamma4$   $\gamma\delta$  T cells, V $\gamma6$   $\gamma\delta$  T cells, which primarily resides under the skin also express IL-23R on their surface, and therefore might be contributing to IL-17-mediated inflammation in the CNS of EAE mice (27).

Interestingly, in addition to IL-23R and V $\gamma$ 4, the differential expression of CD27 can also identify  $\gamma\delta$ T17 cells (IL-17-producing  $\gamma\delta$  T cells). CD27<sup>+</sup>  $\gamma\delta$  T cells produce IFN- $\gamma$  while CD27<sup>-</sup>  $\gamma\delta$  T cells secrete IL-17 suggested that the surface expression CD27 can differentially mark IL-17- and IFN- $\gamma$ -producing  $\gamma\delta$  T cells (36).

Furthermore, structural and functional heterogeneity of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in EAE can be further contributed by different mice strain. Olive et al. have reported amplification of V $\gamma5$  transcript in C57Bl/6 mice during EAE while this transcript was not detected in the CNS of SJL/J mice, suggesting that the infiltrating population of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in CNS during disease can be varied on the basis of mouse strains (28).

# Th17 CELLS DIFFERENTIATION AND IL-17-PRODUCING $\gamma\delta$ T CELLS IN EAE

After the identification of Th17 cells as a separate lineage of helper T (Th) cells, it became clear that they, together, with Th1 cells, play a crucial role in EAE (37, 38). Before the identification of Th17 cells, IFN- $\gamma$ -producing Th1 cells were thought to be the primary effector cell type involved in the disease induction of EAE, which has puzzled immunologist for a very long time as both IFN- $\gamma$ - and IFN- $\gamma$ R-deficient animals had exacerbated tissue inflammation in EAE (39). In addition, the deficiencies of IL-12p35 (IL-12) and IL-12R $\beta$ 2 (IL-12 receptor), which are critically required for the development of Th1 cells, also enhanced the development of EAE (37). Taken together, it is clearly suggested that Th1 cells are not the primary effector T cell subsets involved in development of EAE. In fact, Th1 cell-associated molecules, such as IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-12,

and IL-12R, negatively regulate disease and tissue inflammation in EAE (11). Nonetheless, Th1 cells also critical for the development of EAE, as Th1 cells were found in the CNS in active EAE. In fact, a sizable population of IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-17 double positive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was found within the CNS at the peak of EAE (40).

Seminal studies demonstrated that TGF- $\beta$ 1 and IL-6 are required for the differentiation of Th17 cells (41–43). IL-6 strongly induces IL-21 in Th17 cells, which creates feed forward loop to further amplify the generation of Th17 cells (44–46). The role of Th17 cells and IL-17 was further demonstrated by using IL-17deficient mice, as *Il-17<sup>-/-</sup>* animals develop attenuated EAE with delayed onset. Moreover, the adoptive transfer of *Il-17<sup>-/-</sup>* CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is inefficient in transferring EAE, suggesting that IL-17 is crucial for tissue inflammation and disease pathogenesis (47).

Similar to Th17 cells, IL-6 and TGF- $\beta$  are also crucial for the generation of  $\gamma\delta$ T17 cells (8, 48). *Tgfb*<sup>-/-</sup> and *Smad3*<sup>-/-</sup> mice harbor reduced precursor frequency of  $\gamma\delta$ T17 cells in thymus (48). On the other hand, *Il6*<sup>-/-</sup> mice have shown reduced frequency of peripheral  $\gamma\delta$ T17 cells (8). Taken together, similar to Th17 cells differentiation, TGF- $\beta$  and IL-6 are crucial for the generation of  $\gamma\delta$ T17 cells.

Importantly, the precise role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells was demonstrated in EAE using *Tcrd*<sup>-/-</sup> mice (15, 49). Mice lacking TCR delta chain gene develop less severe EAE with reduced infiltration of  $\alpha\beta^+$  T cells in their CNS (49). Similarly, depletion of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells by anti-GL3 antibody before the onset or at chronic phase of EAE reduces the severity and clinical signs of EAE (50). Moreover, antibody-mediated depletion of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells regulates the influx of proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1, IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , lymphotoxin, and IFN- $\gamma$ , further suggesting an essential role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in contributing to the pathogenesis of EAE (50). Furthermore, it is demonstrated that the depletion of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells from MBP-reactive lymph node cells transferred attenuated EAE with reduced T cells proliferation and IL-12 secretion (51). Moreover, replenishing  $\gamma\delta$  T cells population not only enhanced the severity of EAE but also restored the IL-12 production and T cells proliferation (51).

In addition, a detailed systematic analysis of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells was performed to understand their distribution in different phases of EAE (52). Interestingly, an increased frequency of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells (up to 12% of total CD3+ T cells) was found in the CNS during the acute phase while the percentage of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells decreased (from 12 to 5% of total CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells) during the recovery phase of EAE (52). Since the frequency of myelin-specific Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells increases during recovery phase of EAE, it is possible that the increased number of Foxp3+ Tregs contributes in controlling the expansion of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells population during recovery phase of EAE (8, 53). Interestingly, the contraction of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells population was restricted only to the CNS, as their percentages in spleen remained low (~2% of total CD3+ T cells) during all phases of EAE. This implies that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells selectively accumulate in the target tissue during tissue inflammation to enhance severity of inflammation in EAE (52).

Although  $\alpha\beta^+$  CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are suggested to be the primary source of IL-17 in infection and autoimmune inflammation,  $\gamma\delta$ T cells can be a potent source of IL-17, and in some cases, even more dominant than Th17 cells (6, 33, 54). In fact, in the model of Fas-ligand-induced inflammation in which injecting FasL-expressing tumor cells into peritoneum of mice induces enhanced production of IL-17 from non-conventional T cells (55). Interestingly, the majority of these IL-17-producing cells were  $\gamma\delta$ T cells as compared to  $\alpha\beta$  Th17 cells in this particular model (55). Similarly,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells isolated from *Mycobacterium*-infected lung and spleen produce massive amounts of IL-17 as compared to  $\alpha\beta$ Th17 cells (56). Furthermore, in other model of infection, such as *Escherichia coli*, *Bacillus subtilis*, and experimental sepsis,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, rather than  $\alpha\beta^+$  Th17 cells, are the primary source of IL-17 (33, 57). Hence, in certain conditions,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells appear to have an inherent ability to rapidly produce substantial amounts of IL-17 without being primed.

Although, initial studies identified that IL-17-producing  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are essential for clearing infections, the role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are also suggested for inducing autoimmune inflammation and propagation of autoimmune diseases, including EAE (15).

In addition to Th17 cells, Th1 cells were also implicated in the development of EAE (58). In fact, many studies suggested that myelin-specific Th1 cells adoptively transfer EAE (58). Interestingly, the initiation of EAE development by adoptively transferred myelin-specific Th1 cells resulted in recruitment of IL-17-producing host cells (IL-17hc) to the CNS (59). Further cellular characterization revealed that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells comprising almost 60% of the total IL-17hc (59). Moreover, in the absence of IL-17hc, myelin-specific Th1 cells transferred less severe EAE, suggesting the requirement of host production of IL-17, largely by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, in the development of EAE (59).

# PROINFLAMMATORY CYTOKINES THAT INDUCE IL-17 FROM $\gamma\delta$ T CELLS IN INFLAMMATION IN CNS DURING EAE

Progression and development of tissue inflammation in EAE are primarily mediated by infiltrating mononuclear cells, which produce proinflammatory cytokines. Among other CNS-infiltrating cells,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells predominantly and rapidly produce proinflammatory cytokines to further enhance tissue inflammation in EAE. Like conventional  $\alpha\beta$  T cells,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells also expand in secondary lymphoid organs upon immunization with MOG/CFA. Once migrated to the CNS in  $\beta$ 2 integrin-independent manner, these  $\gamma\delta$  T cells further expand and accumulate shortly before the peak of EAE and produce IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-17 to further enhance disease progression (60, 61).

Unlike  $\alpha\beta$  Th17 cells, which require primary (TCR), secondary (costimulation) and cytokine signals (TGF- $\beta$ 1 + IL-6) to produce IL-17,  $\gamma\delta$ T cells can produce IL-17 with cytokine signals (IL-23 and IL-1 $\beta$ ) alone in the absence of primary and secondary signals (7). This peculiar feature of  $\gamma\delta$ T cells make them superior IL-17 producers by capturing the initial burst of proinflammatory cytokines produced by dendritic cells (DCs) and macrophages in response to TLR and NLR activation in EAE. The ability of  $\gamma\delta$ T cells to generate an initial burst of IL-17 in the absence of activation of  $\alpha\beta$ T cells is critical for initiating CNS inflammation, as *Tcrd*<sup>-/-</sup> mice develop less severe EAE with reduced production of IL-17 (7, 49). Moreover,  $\alpha\beta$ T cells from *Tcrd*<sup>-/-</sup> mice produce lower amounts of IL-17 as compared to  $\alpha\beta$ T cells from wild-type mice (8), which clearly suggested that the presence of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells is essentially required for optimal production of IL-17 by  $\alpha\beta$  T cells. Interestingly,  $Il1r^{-/-}$  mice are substantially more resistant to EAE development (62); however, reconstituting IL-1R-sufficient  $\gamma\delta$  T cells into  $Il_{1r^{-/-}}$  mice prior to MOG immunization enhances progression of EAE, suggesting that IL-1β–IL-1R interaction on  $\gamma\delta$  T cells is essential for promoting tissue inflammation in EAE (7). Furthermore, stimulation of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells with IL-1 $\beta$  together with IL-23 synergistically enhanced IL-17 production in the absence of TCR stimulation (7). In addition to IL-17, other Th17 cell-associated cytokines, such as IL-17F, IL-21, and IL-22, were also produced by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells upon their activation with IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-23 (Figure 1). Consistently, culture supernatant of IL-1 $\beta$ - and IL-23-stimulated γδ T cells further enhanced IL-17 production from  $\alpha\beta^+$  CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (7, 8). Neutralization of IL-21 and IL-17 reduced IL-17 induction from  $\alpha\beta^+$  CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells induced by culture supernatant of IL-1 $\beta$ - and IL-23-stimulated  $\gamma\delta$  T cells (7, 8). In fact, it is suggested that the combination of IL-1 $\beta$ - and IL-23-stimulated  $\gamma\delta$  T cells provides early burst of IL-21, which not only enhances production of IL-17 by the  $\gamma\delta$  T cells but it can also amplify the generation of Th17 cells (8, 11, 45) (Figure 1).

In addition to IL-21, another common  $\gamma$  chain family cytokine, IL-2 also play a role in generation of  $\gamma\delta$ T17 cells. IL-2, which is known to suppress Th17 cells (63), promotes  $\gamma\delta$ T17 cells generation, as *Il2<sup>-/-</sup>* and *Cd25<sup>-/-</sup>* mice selectively reduced the frequency of  $\gamma\delta$ T17 cells (64). Interestingly, the new subset of IL-15-producing  $\gamma\delta$  T cells ( $\gamma\delta$ T15) was recently identified in EAE (65).  $\gamma\delta$ T15 cells suggested to enhance tissue inflammation in EAE by enhancing the functions of CD44<sup>hi</sup> memory T and Th17 cells (65). However, whether these  $\gamma\delta$ T15 cells express other inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-17 and GM-CSF, are not clear. In summary, various cytokines signals are required for the generation of  $\gamma\delta$ T17 cells; and interestingly, some of these cytokines can directly activate  $\gamma\delta$  T cells without the requirement of TCR activation. Taken together, the initial burst of proinflammatory cytokines produce by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells is crucial for induction of EAE.

# IL-18 PROMOTES IL-17 INDUCTION FROM $\gamma\delta$ T CELLS IN EAE

IL-18, an IL-1 family cytokine, also known as IFN- $\gamma$ -inducing factor. It has been shown that IL-18 further enhances the development of IL-12-induced Th1 cells. Moreover, Th1 cells sensitized with IL-18 enhance their disease promoting effector functions in EAE by activating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK cells (66). The function of IL-18 in EAE was described using IL-18R1-deficient animals. *Il18r1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice were completely resistant to development of EAE, suggesting the role of IL-18R in inducing encephalitogenic T cells in disease (67). Moreover, the engagement of IL-18R $\alpha$  on antigen-presenting cells is essential for generation of pathogenic Th17 cells during EAE (67). In fact, caspase-1-processed cytokines IL-1ß and IL-18 predominantly promote innate production of IL-17 from  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in EAE (9). Immunization with CFA, which contains heat-killed cell wall of Mycobacterium tuberculosis, activates caspase-1 via NLRP3 inflammasome to induce active forms of IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18 from DCs. Inhibition of



caspase-1 by its specific inhibitor suppresses EAE development and IL-17 production from  $\gamma\delta$  T cells (9). Similar to IL-23R,  $\gamma\delta$ T cells also express IL-18R constitutively on their surface even in the steady state (**Figure 2**). On the contrary, the expression of IL-18R on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is induced in inflammatory conditions during EAE, suggesting that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, and not CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, respond first to the IL-18 in order to induce IL-17 production. It has been shown that the combination of IL-18 together with IL-23 rapidly induced innate production of IL-17 from  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in the absence of TCR stimulation (**Figure 2**). This initial burst of IL-17 from  $\gamma\delta$  T cells may be required for initiation of EAE and the development of pathogenic Th17 cells. It is, however, unclear whether coexpression of IL-23R and IL-18R on  $\gamma\delta$  T cells make them more pathogenic in initiating EAE.

# GM-CSF-PRODUCING $\gamma\delta$ T IN TISSUE INFLAMMATION DURING EAE DEVELOPMENT

In addition to IL-17 and IFN- $\gamma$ , GM-CSF is also essentially required for the development of EAE. GM-CSF-deficient mice are resistant to the development of EAE with reduced infiltration of effector T cells into the CNS (68). Rostami et al. reported that the neutralization of GM-CSF-attenuated tissue inflammation in EAE (69).



FIGURE 2 | Dendritic cell-derived IL-23, IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-18 mediates induction of effector  $\gamma\delta$ T17 cells. Ligation of TLRs on the surface of DCs induces caspase-1 activation in inflammasome-dependent manner. Activated caspase-1 cleaves pro IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18 into their active forms as shown in the figure. Activated DCs also produce IL-23, which together with IL-1 $\beta$  or IL-18 promote the induction of proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-17, GM-CSF, IL-21, and IL-22. These effector  $\gamma\delta$  T cells initiate disease induction and help  $\alpha\beta^+$  CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells to induce EAE.

Taken together, it is clearly suggested that GM-CSF is required for the induction of encephalitogenic T cells in EAE. In fact, both Th1 and Th17 cells were shown to produce GM-CSF, which can further enhance the encephalitogenicity of these effector T cells in

mediating the development of EAE. Moreover, it is proposed that GM-CSF is critical for the induction of pathogenic Th17 cells in EAE. Although both IL-12 and IL-23 can induce the production of GM-CSF by the effector T cells, it is clearly demonstrated that IL-23, but not IL-12, signaling is critically required for GM-SCF production in EAE (70-72). Similarly, exposure of IL-23 enhances the pathogenic functions of Th17 cells mediated by GM-CSF in EAE. In addition to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, macrophages, and NK cells,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells produce high amounts of GM-CSF, which contributes to neuroinflammation of CNS in EAE (68). In fact,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are the major innate source of GM-CSF in the CNS during EAE development (10). Combination of IL-23 together with IL-1 $\beta$ promotes GM-CSF production from  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in the absence of TCR stimulation (10). Moreover, the production of GM-CSF induced by IL-23 and IL-1 $\beta$  was compromised in *Il*1*r*<sup>-/-</sup>  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. In fact, production of GM-CSF by CNS-infiltrating γδ T cells is abolished in  $Il1r^{-/-}$  mice, suggesting that IL-1 signaling is crucial for generation of GM-SCF-producing  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in EAE (**Figure 2**) (10). Caspase-1, which is required for active IL-1 $\beta$  production, is also critical in inducing GM-CSF from  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, as caspase  $1^{-/-}\gamma\delta$ T cells are defective in GM-CSF production. In fact, caspase1-/and Il1b<sup>-/-</sup> mice share a similar EAE phenotype, suggesting a specific role of caspase-1 and downstream IL-1 $\beta$  in regulating the induction of GM-CSF during EAE (10). It is suggested that GM-CSF contribute to the development of EAE by enhancing the functions of CNS-resident myeloid cells, including microglial cells (70). Although IL-1 signaling is required for the generation of GM-CSF-producing γδ T cells within the CNS during EAE, it is not identified which subtype of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells predominantly produce GM-CSF during disease. Moreover, IL-1- and IL-23-mediated inductions of GM-CSF in  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are dependent on MyD88 signaling, as yo T cells from MyD88-deficient mice severely reduced GM-CSF production (10). Since MyD88 is a major downstream signaling component of TLR signaling pathway, it might be possible that ligation of TLRs on  $\gamma\delta$  T cells can also induce IL-17 production (57). To precisely understand the role TLRs in generating  $\gamma\delta$ T17 cells, Dong et al. used IL-17-RFP·KI mice to understand the cellular source of IL-17 in EAE in response to TLR4 ligation. Using a faithful IL-17 reporter system, Dong et al. clearly demonstrated that the expression of TLR4 is high on IL-17+ as compared to IL-17-γδ T cells (31). In addition to IL-17 expression, IL-23-stimulation strongly enhanced the expression of TLR4 on  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. Moreover, the combination of IL-23 together with LPS further enhanced the secretion of IL-17 from  $\gamma\delta$  T cells (31). In addition to induced IL-17 production, TLR4 signaling also enhanced the survival of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, which can further contribute in enhancing tissue inflammation in EAE. Taken together, TLRs especially TLR4 plays an essential role in inducing the development of IL-17-producing γδ T cells and their survival.

# $\gamma\delta$ T CELLS MAKE $\alpha\beta^+$ CD4+ T CELLS REFRACTORY TO TREG SUPPRESSION IN EAE

Regulatory T cells are critical for maintaining immune homeostasis of the host as loss of these cells either by naturally

occurring mutation or cellular ablation leads to overwhelming activation of effector T cell-mediated multiple organ failure of the host (73-75). The critical functions of Treg cells were described in various models of autoimmune diseases, including EAE (53, 76). Using MOG tetramer and Foxp3-GFP·KI mice, it has been demonstrated that myelin-antigen-specific Treg cells are primed and expanded during the priming phase of EAE (53). Similar to effector T cells, these myelin-specific Treg cells can effectively migrate to the CNS (53). Although their frequency within the CNS is lower during the peak of EAE, strikingly, the population of Treg cells outnumber the population of effector T cells within the CNS at recovery phase of EAE (53). These CNS-accumulated Treg cells produce both IL-10 and TGF-β, which help in resolving the inflammation at the recovery phase of EAE. Interestingly, both Tr1 and Treg cells were shown to produce IL-10 in the CNS during the recovery phase of EAE (53, 77). In spite of their presence in the CNS at the peak of EAE, Treg cells failed to suppress proliferation and effector functions of CNS-accumulated effector T cells (53). Interestingly, cytokine analysis of CNS-accumulated effector CD4+ T cells revealed a strikingly higher production of proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-21, which can be accounted for the failure of suppressive functions of Treg cells in EAE (53, 78). Interestingly, the higher frequency of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells together with  $\alpha\beta$  effector T cells found to be accumulated within the CNS (7, 8, 53, 76). In general,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have high expression of IL-23R, in fact, all the  $\gamma\delta$  T cells present in the CNS at the peak of EAE exclusively expressed IL-23R (8, 13). Moreover, the frequency of IL-23R<sup>+</sup>  $\gamma\delta$  T cells contracts while the frequency of Tregs cells increases during the recovery phase of EAE (8, 53). This raised an interesting possibility that the presence of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells within the CNS might promote the functions of inflammatory  $\alpha\beta^+$  T cells while hampering the suppressive functions of Treg cells in EAE (Figure 1). In fact,  $Tcrd^{-/-}$  mice mount-attenuated effector  $\alpha\beta$  T cells response in EAE, supporting the fact that the presence of  $\gamma\delta$ T cells are essential for effective CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells effector functions in EAE (49). Interestingly, Korn et al. suggested a mechanism by which  $\gamma\delta$  T cells enhanced the effector functions of CD4+ T cells during inflammation (8). Activation of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells with IL-23 produced soluble factors, which make  $\alpha\beta^+$  T cells refractory to Treg cell-mediated suppression, as cellular supernatant of IL-23-activated  $\gamma\delta$  T cells inhibited the suppressive functions of Treg cell (7, 8). It has been demonstrated that Treg cells can lose their suppressive functions in the presence of inflammatory environment. In fact, IL-6 makes  $\alpha\beta$  effector T cells refractory to the suppressive activity of Tregs cells (8, 53, 78). In addition, IL-6 has also been shown to inhibit TGF-\beta-induced de novo conversion of conventional T cells into Treg cells (41, 42). Similarly, Kuchroo et al. has demonstrated that IL-21, in addition to IL-6, can also suppress TGF-\beta-mediated de novo conversion of conventional T cells into Treg cells. Interestingly, IL-23R-stimulated  $\gamma\delta$  T cells not only block the conversion of conventional T cells into Treg cells but also make  $\alpha\beta^+$  effector T cells refractory to Treg cells suppression in vivo (8). This clearly indicates that the presence of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells at the site of tissue inflammation within the CNS indirectly promote the effector functions of  $\alpha\beta^+$  T cells by restraining their de novo conversion into Treg cells and inhibiting the suppressive functions of Treg cells in EAE (7, 8) (Figure 1). Similarly, the role of IL-23 in restraining the suppressive functions of Treg is well described in intestinal inflammation, as the frequency of inducible Foxp3+ Treg (iTreg) cells increases in the absence of IL-23 (79). However, it is not clear whether appearance of increased frequency of iTreg cells in the absence of IL-23-IL-23R signaling in the intestinal inflammation is due to loss of IL-23R<sup>+</sup>  $\gamma\delta$  T cells functions, which are known to suppress the conversion of conventional T cells into Treg cells (8). Moreover, the importance of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in mediating the inhibition of suppressive functions of Treg cells was further elucidated in Tcrd-/- mice, as these mice develop attenuated EAE with reduced production of IL-17 due to increased frequency of Treg cells (7, 49). Strikingly, anti-CD25 antibody-mediated depletion of Treg cells in Tcrd-/- mice enhanced the development of EAE with increased production of IL-17 (8). Altogether, it suggests that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are crucial cellular component in promoting inflammation in EAE by restraining the regulatory functions of Treg cells and promoting the functions inflammatory  $\alpha\beta$  T cells (Figure 2).

## $\gamma\delta$ T CELLS: PATHOGENIC OR PROTECTIVE IN EAE?

While some models of EAE suggest that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are pathogenic, others suggest that they modulate disease; thus, their precise role in pathogenesis is unclear. Both disease-promoting and disease-preventing functions of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells were documented in EAE. Deficiency of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells on B10·PL background develop a chronic EAE as compared to the development of monophasic acute EAE in the control mice (30). It has been further shown that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells regulate chronic inflammation by Fas–FasLmediated killing of CNS-infiltrating inflammatory T cells (30). These studies clearly suggested the protective role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in EAE development.

Although recent literature on  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in context of IL-17 production implicated the pathogenic role of these cell types in EAE, a number of studies have ascribed the protective role of  $\gamma\delta T$ cells in EAE (30, 80, 81). A number of factors, such as using different mice strains in combination with either depleting antibodies or genetic manipulation of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, might be contributing to these conflicting observations. Treatment of mice with UC7-13D5 anti- $\gamma\delta$  antibody accelerates the onset of EAE (80). Similar results were obtained with the usage of UC7-13D5 antibody in other models of autoimmunity. It is partially identified that different subtypes of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells such as V $\gamma1$  produce regulatory or V $\gamma4$ and Vy6 produce inflammatory cytokines (Table 1); therefore, it is possible that the treatment of UC7-13D5 antibody may alter this ratio and activate different subtypes of  $\gamma\delta$  T cell populations by cross-linking their TCR at different phases of EAE, which results in different outcome of disease. Nonetheless, it was not clearly understood whether anti-pan γδ T cells antibody depletes or activates  $\gamma\delta$  T cells by cross-linking their TCR in EAE (80). Using Tcrd-GFP knock-in mice, it has been clearly demonstrated that treatment with anti-pan  $\gamma\delta$  T cell antibodies activates, rather than depletes,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and therefore exacerbating EAE (34).

#### TABLE 1 | Major $\gamma\delta$ T cells subset in mouse.

γ/δ usage	Characteristic	Tissue location
Vy1	Produce IL-4. Regulatory functions in EAE by promoting Treg cells functions (34)	Majorly found in circulation, lymphatics, spleen, lymph nodes
Vγ4	Produce IL-17 and express IL-23R. Promote EAE and CIA. Also promote virus-induced encephalitis (6–8, 27, 35, 83)	Lymphoid tissue and lung, also found in CNS in EAE
Vγ5	Regulation of skin inflammation by maintaining the epidermal homeostasis (84, 85)	Skin and epidermis
Vγ6	Produce IL-17, IL-22, IFN-γ, and express IL-23R (27)	Mucosal tissues, reproductive tract, tongue, lung and kidney. Also detected in CNS during EAE
Vy7	Prevent colitis by protecting intestinal barrier functions (57, 86, 87)	IEL and intestine

In addition, *Tcrd<sup>-/-</sup>* mice develop chronic inflammation in some mouse model of EAE (82). Tcrd<sup>-/-</sup> mice are devoid of  $\delta$  TCR, which allow  $\gamma\delta$  T cells not to be activated by their TCR stimulation; however, the number of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in these mice remains unchanged. This indicates that TCR-independent activation of  $\gamma\delta$ T cells can still occur in *Tcrd*<sup>-/-</sup> mice. We have discussed those different subsets of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells play opposite roles in EAE development. An interesting dichotomy has been established among Vy1 and Vy4 subsets of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in EAE, which further provide a logical explanation for previously published contradictory results. Specific antibody-mediated activation of Vy4 y8 T cells promote the development of EAE associated with enhanced production of IL-17 (34). On the other hand, specific antibody-mediated activation of Vy1 y8 T cells suppressed EAE development (34). Interestingly, it has recently shown that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells can be activated with proinflammatory cytokines without the requirement of their TCR signals. To further identify the pathogenic or protective role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in EAE, a detailed study, including the involvement of various subtypes of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, is required with more definitive tools. Nonetheless, accumulated literature in other autoimmunity has suggested that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells might play a pathogenic role in EAE. We have summarized the chief findings of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in EAE in Table 2.

# RELEVANCE OF $\gamma\delta$ T CELLS IN MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

Multiple sclerosis is demyelinating disease of CNS, which is caused by inflammatory T cells. In addition to  $\alpha\beta^+$  CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells were also clearly implicated in the disease pathogenesis in MS. It is shown that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are accumulated in the MS plaques (90, 91). A restricted repertoire of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells was identified in MS lesions. CNS-restricted  $\gamma\delta$  T cells abundantly express variable gene segments V $\delta1$  and V $\delta2$ . Furthermore, V $\gamma9^+$   $\gamma\delta$  T cells circulate abundantly in the blood of MS patients and can be

#### TABLE 2 | Chief findings of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in EAE.

Gene deficiency/treatment	Consequence	Effect in EAE
Anti- $\gamma\delta$ T cells (clone GL3) monoclonal antibody treatment in EAE	Reduction in disease pathology. Significant reduction in clinical sign in acute phase of EAE	Protection (52)
Anti- $\gamma\delta$ T cells (clone UC7-13D5) monoclonal antibody treatment in EAE	Significant reduction in demyelination and reduction in limb paresis	Protection (88)
Active EAE development in delta (d) chain-deficient mice	Significant reduction in clinical score of EAE with enhanced frequency of Foxp3+ Tregs	Protection (8, 49)
EAE induction by adoptively transferring MOG-specific Wt T cells into delta (d) chain-deficient mice	Significant reduction in clinical score of EAE with no cellular infiltration in CNS	Protection (49)
MBP-specific $\gamma\delta$ T cells depleted (clone: GL3) lymph node cells were adoptively transferred to induce EAE	Significant reduction in clinical score in EAE with a significant reduction in IL-12 production	Protection (51)
Activation of Vy4 subset with anti-Vy4 TCR (UC3) antibody treatment in EAE	Worsen EAE with enhanced IL-17 response	Promote EAE (34)
Activation of V $\gamma$ 1 subset by anti-V $\gamma$ 1 TCR antibody (2.11) treatment in EAE	Significant reduction in clinical score of EAE with less proinflammatory cytokines production	Protection (34)
EAE in IL-23R-deficient mice and effect of IL-23–IL-23R axis on $\gamma\delta$ T cells	IL-23R-deficient mice are resistant to EAE. $\gamma\delta$ T cells constitutively express IL-23R. Almost all $\gamma\delta$ T cells express IL-23R in CNS in EAE and produce IL-17	Protection (8, 13)
EAE in IL-18R-deficeint mice and effect of IL-18R on $\gamma\delta$ T cells	IL-18R-deficient mice are protected from EAE. IL-18R-/- failed to produce IL-17	Protection (9, 67)
EAE in IL-1R-deficent mice and effect of IL-1R on $\gamma\deltaT$ cells	IL-1R-deficient mice are protected from EAE. IL-1R1-/- $\gamma\delta$ T cells are defective in IL-17 and GM-CSF production in EAE	Protection (7, 10, 62)
EAE in caspase-1-deficient mice and effect of caspase-1 on $\gamma\delta$ T cells	Significantly reduced clinical sign of EAE. Defective production of IL-17 and GM-CSF from caspase-1-deficient $\gamma\delta$ T cells	Protection (9, 10, 89)

used as an indicator of disease activity (92). With the emerging literature on  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in EAE, it is indicated the involvement of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in the pathogenesis of disease (see **Table 1**). Mouse data in EAE clearly indicated that IL-17-producing  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are crucial for disease induction and tissue inflammation in EAE (8, 10). Moreover, the role of IL-23, IL-1, IL-18, and caspase-1 is clearly indicated in enhancing IL-17- and GM-CSF-producing  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in EAE. Recent advancements in understanding the biology of Th17- and IL-17-producing  $\gamma\delta$  T cell and their implication in autoimmune diseases, including MS, could suggest new therapeutic targets for MS by targeting Th17- and IL-17-producing  $\gamma\delta$  T cells populations.

## CONCLUSION

A number of studies have demonstrated a potential role of  $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the induction and maintenance of demyelinating CNS inflammation.  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are multifaceted cells, which are equipped with variety of functions to potentially influence all levels of inflammation by recognizing diverse array of antigens, rapid production of inflammatory mediators, and influencing the differentiation of their  $\alpha\beta$  counterparts. Equipped with functions of both innate and adaptive immune cells,  $\gamma\delta$ T cells can provide consequential functions in EAE development. Opposing roles of different subtypes of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have been described in different mouse strains in EAE. Moreover, the identification of IL-17-producing inflammatory  $\gamma\delta$  T cells suggested their pathogenic role in EAE. In fact, many of the key questions in autoimmune inflammation, including EAE, were resolved by the discovery of IL-17-secreting Th17 cells. Moreover, clarification on the indispensible role of IL-23-IL-23R axis in Th17 cells also urged researchers to identify the role of IL-23–IL-23R signaling in  $\gamma\delta$  T cells as they have high expression of IL-23R receptor and therefore are responsive to IL-23 even in steady state – a characteristic which naive  $\alpha\beta$  T cells lack. This revisits the importance of IL-23 in the settings of EAE since it can influence the generation of two pathogenic subsets Th17 cells and  $\gamma\delta$ T17 cells both of which contributes IL-17 to large extent. Synergistic action of IL-23, IL-1β, and IL-21 induces inflammatory IL-17-producing-γδ T cells, which not only enhance the generation and functions of  $\alpha\beta^+$  Th17 cells but also obstructs the suppressive functions of Treg cells in EAE. Recently, significant progress has been made in understanding the pathogenic role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in tissue inflammation. Yet more substantial evidences are required on different subtypes of  $\gamma \delta T$ cells for defining their opposing roles in tissue inflammation and explaining the confounding findings on their pathogenic or protective role in EAE.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the grants from Department of Biotechnology (DBT), Government of India. AA is recipient of DBT-Wellcome Trust intermediate fellowship (IA/I/12/1/500524) and Innovative Young Biotechnologist Award (BT/05/IYBA/2011) from DBT. SM is a senior research fellow of the Council of Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR). MW is a post-doctoral fellow supported by DBT-Wellcome Trust. We thank Dr. Kasia Karwacz (Brigham and Women's Hospital) for her critical and thoughtful comments on the manuscript.

## REFERENCES

- Carding SR, Egan PJ. Gammadelta T cells: functional plasticity and heterogeneity. Nat Rev Immunol (2002) 2:336–45. doi:10.1038/nri797
- Saito H, Kranz DM, Takagaki Y, Hayday AC, Eisen HN, Tonegawa S. Complete primary structure of a heterodimeric T-cell receptor deduced from cDNA sequences. *Nature* (1984) 309:757–62. doi:10.1038/309757a0
- Brenner MB, McLean J, Dialynas DP, Strominger JL, Smith JA, Owen FL, et al. Identification of a putative second T-cell receptor. *Nature* (1986) 322:145–9. doi:10.1038/322145a0
- Born WK, Jin N, Aydintug MK, Wands JM, French JD, Roark CL, et al. Gammadelta T lymphocytes-selectable cells within the innate system? J Clin Immunol (2007) 27:133–44. doi:10.1007/s10875-007-9077-z
- O'Brien RL, Roark CL, Jin N, Aydintug MK, French JD, Chain JL, et al. Gammadelta T-cell receptors: functional correlations. *Immunol Rev* (2007) 215:77–88. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00477.x
- Martin B, Hirota K, Cua DJ, Stockinger B, Veldhoen M. Interleukin-17producing gammadelta T cells selectively expand in response to pathogen products and environmental signals. *Immunity* (2009) 31:321–30. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.06.020
- Sutton CE, Lalor SJ, Sweeney CM, Brereton CF, Lavelle EC, Mills KH. Interleukin-1 and IL-23 induce innate IL-17 production from gammadelta T cells, amplifying Th17 responses and autoimmunity. *Immunity* (2009) 31:331–41. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.001
- Petermann F, Rothhammer V, Claussen MC, Haas JD, Blanco LR, Heink S, et al. Gammadelta T cells enhance autoimmunity by restraining regulatory T cell responses via an interleukin-23-dependent mechanism. *Immunity* (2010) 33:351–63. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.08.013
- Lalor SJ, Dungan LS, Sutton CE, Basdeo SA, Fletcher JM, Mills KH. Caspase-1-processed cytokines IL-1beta and IL-18 promote IL-17 production by gammadelta and CD4 T cells that mediate autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:5738–48. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003597
- Lukens JR, Barr MJ, Chaplin DD, Chi H, Kanneganti TD. Inflammasomederived IL-1beta regulates the production of GM-CSF by CD4(+) T cells and gammadelta T cells. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:3107–15. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1103308
- Korn T, Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. IL-17 and Th17 cells. Annu Rev Immunol (2009) 27:485–517. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132710
- Ivanov II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, et al. The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell* (2006) 126:1121–33. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.035
- Awasthi A, Riol-Blanco L, Jager A, Korn T, Pot C, Galileos G, et al. Cutting edge: IL-23 receptor gfp reporter mice reveal distinct populations of IL-17-producing cells. J Immunol (2009) 182:5904–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900732
- Nunez C, Dema B, Cenit MC, Polanco I, Maluenda C, Arroyo R, et al. IL23R: a susceptibility locus for celiac disease and multiple sclerosis? *Genes Immun* (2008) 9:289–93. doi:10.1038/gene.2008.16
- BlinkSE, MillerSD. The contribution of gamma delta T cells to the pathogenesis of EAE and MS. Curr Mol Med (2009) 9:15–22. doi:10.2174/156652409787314516
- Paul S, Shilpi S, Lal G. Role of gamma-delta (gammadelta) T cells in autoimmunity. J Leukoc Biol (2015) 97:259–71. doi:10.1189/jlb.3RU0914-443R
- Chien YH, Konigshofer Y. Antigen recognition by gammadelta T cells. *Immunol Rev* (2007) 215:46–58. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00470.x
- Konigshofer Y, Chien YH. Gammadelta T cells innate immune lymphocytes? *Curr Opin Immunol* (2006) 18:527–33. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2006.07.008
- Correa I, Bix M, Liao NS, Zijlstra M, Jaenisch R, Raulet D. Most gamma delta T cells develop normally in beta 2-microglobulin-deficient mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1992) 89:653–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.89.2.653
- Bigby M, Markowitz JS, Bleicher PA, Grusby MJ, Simha S, Siebrecht M, et al. Most gamma delta T cells develop normally in the absence of MHC class II molecules. *J Immunol* (1993) 151:4465–75.
- Crowley MP, Reich Z, Mavaddat N, Altman JD, Chien Y. The recognition of the nonclassical major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecule, T10, by the gammadelta T cell, G8. J Exp Med (1997) 185:1223–30. doi:10.1084/ jem.185.7.1223
- 22. Crowley MP, Fahrer AM, Baumgarth N, Hampl J, Gutgemann I, Teyton L, et al. A population of murine gammadelta T cells that recognize an

inducible MHC class Ib molecule. *Science* (2000) **287**:314–6. doi:10.1126/ science.287.5451.314

- Wu J, Groh V, Spies T. T cell antigen receptor engagement and specificity in the recognition of stress-inducible MHC class I-related chains by human epithelial gamma delta T cells. *J Immunol* (2002) 169:1236–40. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.169.3.1236
- 24. Haas W, Pereira P, Tonegawa S. Gamma/delta cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1993) 11:637–85. doi:10.1146/annurev.iy.11.040193.003225
- Bauer S, Groh V, Wu J, Steinle A, Phillips JH, Lanier LL, et al. Activation of NK cells and T cells by NKG2D, a receptor for stress-inducible MICA. *Science* (1999) 285:727–9. doi:10.1126/science.285.5428.727
- Ferrick DA, Schrenzel MD, Mulvania T, Hsieh B, Ferlin WG, Lepper H. Differential production of interferon-gamma and interleukin-4 in response to Th1- and Th2-stimulating pathogens by gamma delta T cells in vivo. *Nature* (1995) 373:255–7. doi:10.1038/373255a0
- Riol-Blanco L, Lazarevic V, Awasthi A, Mitsdoerffer M, Wilson BS, Croxford A, et al. IL-23 receptor regulates unconventional IL-17-producing T cells that control bacterial infections. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:1710–20. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0902796
- Olive C. Gamma delta T cell receptor variable region usage during the development of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroimmunol* (1995) 62:1–7. doi:10.1016/0165-5728(95)00081-C
- Olive C. T cell receptor usage in autoimmune disease. *Immunol Cell Biol* (1995) 73:297–307. doi:10.1038/icb.1995.46
- Ponomarev ED, Novikova M, Yassai M, Szczepanik M, Gorski J, Dittel BN. Gamma delta T cell regulation of IFN-gamma production by central nervous system-infiltrating encephalitogenic T cells: correlation with recovery from experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2004) 173:1587–95. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.3.1587
- Reynolds JM, Martinez GJ, Chung Y, Dong C. Toll-like receptor 4 signaling in T cells promotes autoimmune inflammation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109:13064–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1120585109
- Hirsh MI, Junger WG. Roles of heat shock proteins and gamma delta T cells in inflammation. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2008) 39:509–13. doi:10.1165/ rcmb.2008-0090TR
- Roark CL, Simonian PL, Fontenot AP, Born WK, O'Brien RL. Gammadelta T cells: an important source of IL-17. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2008) 20:353–7. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2008.03.006
- 34. Blink SE, Caldis MW, Goings GE, Harp CT, Malissen B, Prinz I, et al. Gammadelta T cell subsets play opposing roles in regulating experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Cell Immunol* (2014) 290:39–51. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2014.04.013
- Roark CL, French JD, Taylor MA, Bendele AM, Born WK, O'Brien RL. Exacerbation of collagen-induced arthritis by oligoclonal, IL-17-producing gamma delta T cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 179:5576–83. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.179.8.5576
- Ribot JC, deBarros A, Pang DJ, Neves JF, Peperzak V, Roberts SJ, et al. CD27 is a thymic determinant of the balance between interferon-gamma- and interleukin 17-producing gammadelta T cell subsets. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:427–36. doi:10.1038/ni.1717
- Cua DJ, Sherlock J, Chen Y, Murphy CA, Joyce B, Seymour B, et al. Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. *Nature* (2003) 421:744–8. doi:10.1038/ nature01355
- McGeachy MJ, Cua DJ. Th17 cell differentiation: the long and winding road. *Immunity* (2008) 28:445–53. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.03.001
- Ferber IA, Brocke S, Taylor-Edwards C, Ridgway W, Dinisco C, Steinman L, et al. Mice with a disrupted IFN-gamma gene are susceptible to the induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). *J Immunol* (1996) 156:5–7.
- Duhen R, Glatigny S, Arbelaez CA, Blair TC, Oukka M, Bettelli E. Cutting edge: the pathogenicity of IFN-gamma-producing Th17 cells is independent of T-bet. J Immunol (2013) 190:4478–82. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1203172
- Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, et al. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector Th17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature* (2006) 441:235–8. doi:10.1038/nature04753
- 42. Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B. TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo

differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. *Immunity* (2006) 24:179-89. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.01.001

- Mangan PR, Harrington LE, O'Quinn DB, Helms WS, Bullard DC, Elson CO, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta induces development of the T(H)17 lineage. *Nature* (2006) 441:231–4. doi:10.1038/nature04754
- Zhou L, Ivanov II, Spolski R, Min R, Shenderov K, Egawa T, et al. IL-6 programs T(H)-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:967–74. doi:10.1038/ni1488
- Korn T, Bettelli E, Gao W, Awasthi A, Jager A, Strom TB, et al. IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce proinflammatory T(H)17 cells. *Nature* (2007) 448:484–7. doi:10.1038/nature05970
- Nurieva R, Yang XO, Martinez G, Zhang Y, Panopoulos AD, Ma L, et al. Essential autocrine regulation by IL-21 in the generation of inflammatory T cells. *Nature* (2007) 448:480–3. doi:10.1038/nature05969
- Komiyama Y, Nakae S, Matsuki T, Nambu A, Ishigame H, Kakuta S, et al. IL-17 plays an important role in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:566–73. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.177.1.566
- Do JS, Fink PJ, Li L, Spolski R, Robinson J, Leonard WJ, et al. Cutting edge: spontaneous development of IL-17-producing gamma delta T cells in the thymus occurs via a TGF-beta 1-dependent mechanism. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:1675–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903539
- 49. Spahn TW, Issazadah S, Salvin AJ, Weiner HL. Decreased severity of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein peptide 33 – 35-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice with a disrupted TCR delta chain gene. *Eur J Immunol* (1999) 29:4060–71. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1521-4141(199912)29:12<4060::AID-IMMU4060>3.0.CO;2-S
- Rajan AJ, Klein JD, Brosnan CF. The effect of gammadelta T cell depletion on cytokine gene expression in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (1998) 160:5955–62.
- Odyniec A, Szczepanik M, Mycko MP, Stasiolek M, Raine CS, Selmaj KW. Gammadelta T cells enhance the expression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by promoting antigen presentation and IL-12 production. *J Immunol* (2004) 173:682–94. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.1.682
- Rajan AJ, Gao YL, Raine CS, Brosnan CF. A pathogenic role for gamma delta T cells in relapsing-remitting experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in the SJL mouse. *J Immunol* (1996) 157:941–9.
- Korn T, Reddy J, Gao W, Bettelli E, Awasthi A, Petersen TR, et al. Myelinspecific regulatory T cells accumulate in the CNS but fail to control autoimmune inflammation. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:423–31. doi:10.1038/nm1564
- Lockhart E, Green AM, Flynn JL. IL-17 production is dominated by gammadelta T cells rather than CD4 T cells during *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:4662–9. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.177.7.4662
- Umemura M, Kawabe T, Shudo K, Kidoya H, Fukui M, Asano M, et al. Involvement of IL-17 in Fas ligand-induced inflammation. *Int Immunol* (2004) 16:1099–108. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxh111
- Umemura M, Yahagi A, Hamada S, Begum MD, Watanabe H, Kawakami K, et al. IL-17-mediated regulation of innate and acquired immune response against pulmonary *Mycobacterium bovis* bacille Calmette-Guerin infection. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:3786–96. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.6.3786
- Shibata K, Yamada H, Hara H, Kishihara K, Yoshikai Y. Resident Vdelta1+ gammadelta T cells control early infiltration of neutrophils after *Escherichia coli* infection via IL-17 production. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**:4466–72. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.178.7.4466
- Kuchroo VK, Anderson AC, Waldner H, Munder M, Bettelli E, Nicholson LB. T cell response in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE): role of self and cross-reactive antigens in shaping, tuning, and regulating the autopathogenic T cell repertoire. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2002) 20:101–23. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.081701.141316
- Lees JR, Iwakura Y, Russell JH. Host T cells are the main producers of IL-17 within the central nervous system during initiation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis induced by adoptive transfer of Th1 cell lines. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:8066–72. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.12.8066
- Smith SS, Barnum SR. Differential expression of beta 2-integrins and cytokine production between gammadelta and alphabeta T cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Leukoc Biol (2008) 83:71–9. doi:10.1189/ jlb.0407263

- Wohler JE, Smith SS, Zinn KR, Bullard DC, Barnum SR. Gammadelta T cells in EAE: early trafficking events and cytokine requirements. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) 39:1516–26. doi:10.1002/eji.200839176
- Sutton C, Brereton C, Keogh B, Mills KH, Lavelle EC. A crucial role for interleukin (IL)-1 in the induction of IL-17-producing T cells that mediate autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Exp Med (2006) 203:1685–91. doi:10.1084/ jem.20060285
- Laurence A, Tato CM, Davidson TS, Kanno Y, Chen Z, Yao Z, et al. Interleukin-2 signaling via STAT5 constrains T helper 17 cell generation. *Immunity* (2007) 26:371–81. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.02.009
- Shibata K, Yamada H, Nakamura R, Sun X, Itsumi M, Yoshikai Y. Identification of CD25+gamma delta T cells as fetal thymus-derived naturally occurring IL-17 producers. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:5940–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.9.5940
- Wang X, Wei Y, Liu X, Xing C, Han G, Chen G, et al. IL-15-secreting gammadeltaT cells induce memory T cells in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (EAE) mice. *Mol Immunol* (2015) 66:402–8. doi:10.1016/j. molimm.2015.04.021
- Shi FD, Takeda K, Akira S, Sarvetnick N, Ljunggren HG. IL-18 directs autoreactive T cells and promotes autodestruction in the central nervous system via induction of IFN-gamma by NK cells. *J Immunol* (2000) 165:3099–104. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.6.3099
- Gutcher I, Urich E, Wolter K, Prinz M, Becher B. Interleukin 18-independent engagement of interleukin 18 receptor-alpha is required for autoimmune inflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2006) 7:946–53. doi:10.1038/ni1377
- Shi Y, Liu CH, Roberts AI, Das J, Xu G, Ren G, et al. Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and T-cell responses: what we do and don't know. *Cell Res* (2006) 16:126–33. doi:10.1038/sj.cr.7310017
- El-Behi M, Ciric B, Dai H, Yan Y, Cullimore M, Safavi F, et al. The encephalitogenicity of T(H)17 cells is dependent on IL-1- and IL-23-induced production of the cytokine GM-CSF. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:568–75. doi:10.1038/ni.2031
- Ponomarev ED, Shriver LP, Maresz K, Pedras-Vasconcelos J, Verthelyi D, Dittel BN. GM-CSF production by autoreactive T cells is required for the activation of microglial cells and the onset of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol (2007) 178:39–48. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.1.39
- Codarri L, Gyulveszi G, Tosevski V, Hesske L, Fontana A, Magnenat L, et al. RORgammat drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells, which is essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:560–7. doi:10.1038/ni.2027
- Croxford AL, Lanzinger M, Hartmann FJ, Schreiner B, Mair F, Pelczar P, et al. The cytokine GM-CSF drives the inflammatory signature of CCR2 monocytes and licenses autoimmunity. *Immunity* (2015) 43:502–14. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2015.08.010
- 73. Rudensky AY. Regulatory T cells and Foxp3. *Immunol Rev* (2011) **241**:260–8. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01018.x
- Ramsdell F, Ziegler SF. FOXP3 and scurfy: how it all began. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14:343–9. doi:10.1038/nri3650
- Kim JM, Rasmussen JP, Rudensky AY. Regulatory T cells prevent catastrophic autoimmunity throughout the lifespan of mice. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:191–7. doi:10.1038/ni1428
- Korn T, Mitsdoerffer M, Croxford AL, Awasthi A, Dardalhon VA, Galileos G, et al. IL-6 controls Th17 immunity in vivo by inhibiting the conversion of conventional T cells into Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:18460–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0809850105
- Awasthi A, Carrier Y, Peron JP, Bettelli E, Kamanaka M, Flavell RA, et al. A dominant function for interleukin 27 in generating interleukin 10-producing anti-inflammatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:1380–9. doi:10.1038/ni1541
- Pasare C, Medzhitov R. Toll pathway-dependent blockade of CD4+CD25+ T cell-mediated suppression by dendritic cells. *Science* (2003) 299:1033–6. doi:10.1126/science.1078231
- Izcue A, Hue S, Buonocore S, Arancibia-Carcamo CV, Ahern PP, Iwakura Y, et al. Interleukin-23 restrains regulatory T cell activity to drive T cell-dependent colitis. *Immunity* (2008) 28:559–70. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.02.019
- Kobayashi Y, Kawai K, Ito K, Honda H, Sobue G, Yoshikai Y. Aggravation of murine experimental allergic encephalomyelitis by administration of T-cell receptor gammadelta-specific antibody. J Neuroimmunol (1997) 73:169–74. doi:10.1016/S0165-5728(96)00187-7
- 81. Ponomarev ED, Dittel BN. Gamma delta T cells regulate the extent and duration of inflammation in the central nervous system by a Fas

ligand-dependent mechanism. *J Immunol* (2005) **174**:4678-87. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.174.8.4678

- Koenecke C, Chennupati V, Schmitz S, Malissen B, Forster R, Prinz I. In vivo application of mAb directed against the gammadelta TCR does not deplete but generates "invisible" gammadelta T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) **39**:372–9. doi:10.1002/eji.200838741
- Welte T, Lamb J, Anderson JF, Born WK, O'Brien RL, Wang T. Role of two distinct gammadelta T cell subsets during *West Nile virus* infection. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* (2008) 53:275–83. doi:10.1111/j.1574-695X.2008.00430.x
- Girardi M, Oppenheim DE, Steele CR, Lewis JM, Glusac E, Filler R, et al. Regulation of cutaneous malignancy by gammadelta T cells. *Science* (2001) 294:605–9. doi:10.1126/science.1063916
- Jameson J, Havran WL. Skin gammadelta T-cell functions in homeostasis and wound healing. *Immunol Rev* (2007) 215:114–22. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00483.x
- Chen Y, Chou K, Fuchs E, Havran WL, Boismenu R. Protection of the intestinal mucosa by intraepithelial gamma delta T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99:14338–43. doi:10.1073/pnas.212290499
- Tsuchiya T, Fukuda S, Hamada H, Nakamura A, Kohama Y, Ishikawa H, et al. Role of gamma delta T cells in the inflammatory response of experimental colitis mice. J Immunol (2003) 171:5507–13. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.10.5507
- Dandekar AA, Perlman S. Virus-induced demyelination in nude mice is mediated by gamma delta T cells. *Am J Pathol* (2002) 161:1255–63. doi:10.1016/ S0002-9440(10)64402-1

- Furlan R, Martino G, Galbiati F, Poliani PL, Smiroldo S, Bergami A, et al. Caspase-1 regulates the inflammatory process leading to autoimmune demyelination. *J Immunol* (1999) 163:2403–9.
- Wucherpfennig KW, Newcombe J, Li H, Keddy C, Cuzner ML, Hafler DA. Gamma delta T-cell receptor repertoire in acute multiple sclerosis lesions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1992) 89:4588–92. doi:10.1073/pnas.89.10.4588
- Hvas J, Oksenberg JR, Fernando R, Steinman L, Bernard CC. Gamma delta T cell receptor repertoire in brain lesions of patients with multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol (1993) 46:225–34. doi:10.1016/0165-5728(93)90253-U
- Korn T, Petermann F. Development and function of interleukin 17-producing gammadelta T cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2012) 1247:34–45. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06355.x

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Malik, Want and Awasthi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Mucosal-associated invariant T cells in multiple sclerosis: the jury is still out

#### Emmanuel Treiner<sup>1,2,3</sup> and Roland S. Liblau<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Centre de Physiopathologie de Toulouse-Purpan (CPTP), INSERM UMR1043-CNRS 5282, Toulouse, France, <sup>2</sup> Université Toulouse III - Paul-Sabatier, Toulouse, France, <sup>3</sup> Department of Immunology, Toulouse University Hospital, Toulouse, France

The immune system is strongly implicated in the pathophysiology of multiple sclerosis (MS), as demonstrated by the efficacy of therapies targeting various components of adaptive immunity. However, the disease still progresses despite these treatments in many patients, while others experience life-threatening adverse effects, urging for the discovery of new immune-targeting medications. Among the immune cell types participating to MS pathogenesis, decades of work have highlighted the prominent role of CD4 T cells. More recent data demonstrate the involvement of CD8 T cells as well. The existence of both pathogenic and protective CD8 T cells subsets has been suggested, adding an additional layer of complexity to the picture. Mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells are innate-like lymphocytes that make up to 25% of CD8 T cells in healthy subjects. They are specific for conserved microbial ligands and may constitute an important barrier against invasive bacterial and fungal infection. An increasing number of reports also suggest their possible involvement in chronic inflammatory diseases, including MS. MAIT cells could participate through their ability to produce IFNy and/or IL-17, two major cytokines in the pathogenesis of several chronic inflammatory/autoimmune diseases. However, the mechanisms by which MAIT cells could be activated in these sterile conditions are not known. Furthermore, contradictory observations have been made, reporting either a protective or a pro-inflammatory behavior of MAIT cells in MS or its murine model, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. In this review article, we will describe the current knowledge on MAIT cell biology in health and disease, and discuss the possible mechanisms behind their role in MS. The specific features of this new non-conventional T cell subset make it an interesting candidate as a biomarker or as the target of immune-mediated intervention.

#### Keywords: multiple sclerosis, adaptive immunity, innate-like T cells, MHC-related 1, IFN gamma

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic immune-mediated disease of the central nervous system (CNS). MS is characterized by discrete white matter lesions in the brain and spinal cord. The cellular injury is primarily oligodendrocytes but MS also affects axons/neurons. This neural demise results in the progressive neurological disability affecting people with MS. The genetic factors providing susceptibility to the disease have been largely deciphered in recent years (1). Polymorphisms at more than 150 loci contribute to MS susceptibility. Importantly, the incriminated genes collectively point to a central role of the immune system in disease pathogenesis (2, 3). The most studied and also the strongest MS-susceptibility genes reside within the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) locus with a major

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Manu Rangachari, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Québec, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Hiroshi Wakao, Hokkaido University, Japan Manuel Friese, Universitätsklinikum Hamburg-Eppendorf, Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Roland S. Liblau, INSERM UMR1043 – CPTP, CHU Purpan, BP 3028, 31024 Toulouse Cedex 03, France roland.liblau@inserm.fr

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 06 July 2015 Accepted: 15 September 2015 Published: 30 September 2015

#### Citation:

Treiner E and Liblau RS (2015) Mucosal-associated invariant T cells in multiple sclerosis: the jury is still out. Front. Immunol. 6:503. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00503 influence of the *DRB1\*15:01-HLA-DRB5\*01:01-DQB1\*06:02* haplotype and significant impact of HLA class I alleles (4).

There is little doubt that multiple immune cell populations are implicated both at the initiation of the disease process and at the effector phase responsible for CNS tissue damage. However, the respective contribution of these various populations at the different phases of the disease remains only partly understood (5). Nevertheless, deciphering how the various CD4 and CD8 T cell subsets promote and regulate MS immunopathogenesis has benefited from progress in fundamental immunology and from experimental models (6-8). Much has been learned lately regarding the different functional subsets of CD4 T cells and regarding the pathogenic and regulatory influence of CD8 T cells. This has, in part, led to new therapeutic directions for the benefit of people with MS (9). However, newly identified innate-like T cell populations, such as innate lymphoid cells, invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cells, and mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells, have emerged as important actors in inflammatory diseases. They are positioned at the interface between the environment and the host and may, therefore, represent a key link for the amplification of an immune reaction against microbes. Understanding their exact contribution to pathogenesis will undoubtedly open innovative therapeutic possibilities.

Here, we review the current knowledge regarding the biology of MAIT cells and their possible involvement in MS. Future directions are suggested to better apprehend their precise role and their usefulness as therapeutic targets.

# Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cells: A New Innate-Like T Cell Subset

Mucosal-associated invariant T cells are a homogenous T cell subset displaying features of innate-like T cells, such as  $\gamma\delta$  or iNKT cells. Originally described in humans, they are phylogenetically conserved in distant mammal species, including mice (10-14). However, the frequency of MAIT cells in laboratory mouse strains is low, and there is evidence that they may be developmentally and/or functionally different from their human counterparts (15). These differences must be kept in mind when interpreting results obtained in mice. MAIT cells are mainly characterized by a highly restricted TCR repertoire, selected for by a monomorphic major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I-like molecule known as MHC-related 1 (MR1) (10). Indeed, the vast majority of MAIT cells express an invariant TCR $\alpha$  chain (V $\alpha$ 7.2-J $\alpha$ 33 in humans and the homologous V $\alpha$ 19-J $\alpha$ 33 in mice) (13, 16). The second important feature of MAIT cells is their peripheral maturation/differentiation status; in one study, >90% of MAIT cells displayed an effector/memory phenotype in healthy adults (17). The ontogeny of MAIT cells in mice is dependent upon microbial colonization of the intestine soon after birth, suggesting that shared commensal bacterial antigens presented by MR1 drive the proliferation and maturation of memory MAIT cells (17). In humans, cord blood harbors a small population of naïve MAIT cells that apparently expand in early childhood, and differentiate into memory cells (17, 18), suggesting a similar mechanism of antigen-driven expansion after birth. Seminal studies performed by the Rossjohn

and McCluskey laboratories led to the discovery of microbial antigens for MAIT cells (19, 20). These antigens are low molecular weight molecules derived from the intermediates of the riboflavin (vitamin B2) metabolism. The mammalian genome is devoid of the genes necessary to the synthesis of riboflavin; however, an important number of different bacterial and fungal species are riboflavin producers, and therefore, MAIT cell activators (21). It is, therefore, speculated that MAIT cells exit the thymus as naïve cells, and then encounter bacterial antigens (probably originating from the commensal flora), driving their early maturation in the periphery. However, a recent study challenged this hypothesis, showing evidences of MAIT cell proliferation and differentiation in the peripheral organs of second trimester human fetuses (22) This would suggest that MAIT cells can mature before bacterial colonization of the body with commensal microbes, and has profound consequences on our understanding of MAIT cells reactivity toward various cognate ligands and/or environmental cues; more studies are, therefore, needed to unravel these processes. Activation of MAIT cells leads to cytokine secretion, mostly interferon  $\gamma$  (IFN $\gamma$ ) and tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ), as well as induction of degranulation and cytotoxicity (23-25). Virtually all MAIT cells in humans express high levels of CD161, as well as the IL-23 receptor (IL-23R), the C-C chemokine receptor 6 (CCR6) and the transcription factor RAR-related orphan receptor gamma t (RORC2/RORyt), three markers associated with interleukin 17 (IL-17) producing subsets (Figure 1) (16, 18, 23). Indeed, IL-17-secreting MAIT cells can be found in some settings, mostly in pathological conditions (see below) (23, 26-31). The phenotype of MAIT cells in wild-type mice has been described recently (Figure 1). In peripheral tissues, such as the lung, they uniformly express a memory phenotype (CD44<sup>hi</sup>CD62L<sup>lo</sup>), the



**FIGURE 1 | Phenotype of human and mouse MAIT cells**. Blood MAIT cells in humans are defined as TCRVα7.2\*CD161<sup>hi</sup>-expressing T cells. Most MAIT cells are CD8+, and express an effector/memory phenotype CD45R0+CD62L<sup>to</sup>CCR7- (not depicted). They express several chemokineand interleukin-receptors at steady state. They are equipped with the cytotoxicity co-receptor NKG2D, and display intra-cytoplasmic granules containing granulysin, granzyme B, and perforin. The expression of CD161, IL-18Rα, or CD26 at high levels is usually sufficient to identify MAIT cells within the CD8+ subset in human blood. The phenotype of mouse MAIT cells is apparently more diverse, and dependent upon the tissues examined. Most of them are CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> (double negative), display an effector/memory phenotype and the interleukin and chemokine receptors IL-7Rα, IL-18Rα, and CXCR6 (16, 17, 23, 24, 32). cytokine receptors IL-7R and IL18R, and the C-X-C chemokine Receptor 6 (CXCR6) chemokine receptor, akin to humans (32). Other surface markers show a more diverse pattern of expression, suggesting that mouse MAIT cells may be more diverse than their human counterparts. In particular, most mouse MAIT cells lack both CD4 and CD8, but variable proportions of CD4 and CD8 cells are found in a tissue-specific fashion (32). In agreement with their anti-microbial reactivity, MAIT cells react against a wide array of bacteria in vitro, by producing IFNy and lysing bacteria-infected cells (19, 24, 25, 33-36). In vitro analysis showed that their functional response is regulated by several cytokines, such as IL-7, IL-12, IL-18, and IL-23 (Figure 2) (26, 30, 37, 38). MAIT cells may be particularly involved in the immune response against Mycobacterium tuberculosis: patients with active tuberculosis show a depleted blood MAIT cell compartment resulting from their recruitment to the lung (33, 38-40). All evidence points out an important role for MAIT cells as a first line of defense against invasive bacterial infections, chiefly at mucosal surfaces (41).

An increasing number of studies have reported the likely involvement of MAIT cells in non-bacterial diseases. These include chronic viral infections like human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) (42–48), autoimmune diseases [such as inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), MS, or psoriasis] (27, 31, 49–52), other inflammatory or hypersensitivity diseases, and even cancer (28, 29, 53–56). Although the significance of these observations is still unknown, they point



professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs), such as monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, and B cells as well as with epithelial cells. Professional APCs may influence MAIT cell response through secretion of IL-12 and IL-18, and by providing co-stimulation. MAIT cell effector functions primarily involve IFNγ secretion and degranulation of their cytotoxic content, thereby inducing killing of infected epithelial cells. out a possible role for MAIT cells in the pathogenesis of many inflammatory conditions.

## MAIT Cells in MS and EAE

The first study focusing on MAIT cells in the context of CNS inflammation was performed in humans. Because at the time there was no tool available to directly identify MAIT cells (such as TCR-targeting antibodies or tetramers), the transcripts encoding the MAIT cell-specific invariant TCR $\alpha$  chain V $\alpha$ 7.2-J $\alpha$ 33 were searched for within the CNS (49). An accumulation of such mRNA species was found in autopsy lesions from MS patients in 50% of the analyzed cases, as well as in 73% of cerebrospinal fluid samples obtained from patients experiencing relapses. The authors concluded that MAIT cells are involved in the CNS inflammation. The same group further investigated the role of MAIT cells in the EAE mouse model. As MAIT cells are scarce in mice, they increased their number and frequency by generating a mouse transgenic (Tg) for the MAIT cell-specific TCRa chain (iV $\alpha$ 19). Upon immunization with a myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) peptide (57), iVa19 Tg mice showed dramatically reduced EAE incidence and severity, as compared with wild-type B6 or CD1d-deficient mice, which lack CD1drestricted iNKT cells. A similar regulatory effect of MAIT cells was observed in regular B6 mice adoptively transferred with iVα19 Tg cells, as well as in MR1 knock-out (KO) mice compared to wild-type animals.  $iV\alpha 19$  Tg cells induced IL-10 production by B cells in a MR1-independent manner in vitro, accompanied by a reduction in the production of inflammatory cytokines by MOGspecific T cells, probably accounting for the EAE-protecting effect of MAIT cells. Altogether, these data strongly suggested that MAIT cells display an immune-regulatory function in the context of EAE. The interpretation of these data was, however, hampered by the fact that iV $\alpha$ 19 Tg mice were not crossed onto a C $\alpha$  KO background, thereby allowing endogenous TCRa chains to be recombined and expressed. It is, therefore, difficult to evaluate how the alterations induced in the TCR repertoire of iV $\alpha$ 19 Tg mice could have impacted the data obtained in the EAE model.

However, this striking paper triggered several studies evaluating MAIT cell numbers and functions in MS patients, which yielded contradictory results. Miyazaki et al. observed a dramatic reduction in the frequency of blood MAIT cells in patients with relapsing-remitting MS (RR-MS) (58). The frequency of blood MAIT cells inversely correlated with disease activity as it was lower in active disease as compared to stable patients. Interestingly, steroid treatment of active patients induced a rise in the frequency of MAIT cells. This may suggest that a reversible, altered distribution could be responsible for their depletion from blood in the acute phases of inflammation. It was suggested from in vitro experiments that MAIT cells suppress IFNy production by other T cell subsets, akin to the data obtained with iVa19 Tg mice; however, this suppression was independent of B cells or IL-10 production. By contrast, Annibali et al. observed an increased frequency of CD8+CD161<sup>hi</sup> T cells in the blood of MS patients (51). Several independent studies have clearly demonstrated that this T cell subset is almost exclusively composed of MAIT cells (16, 18). CD8+CD161<sup>hi</sup> T cells from MS patients

displayed an inflammatory phenotype characterized by high IL-17 production, and could be found in post-mortem brain biopsies within perivascular cuffs and chronic active lesions. Thus, MAIT cells in these patients behaved oppositely from the previous reports, and suggested a pro-inflammatory pathogenic role in MS. These data were in part corroborated by an analysis of post-autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in MS patients. This study showed that MAIT cells were depleted by a conditioning regimen including cyclophosphamide or alemtuzumab and did not recover for more than 2 years post-graft (59). Before immunosuppressive conditioning, the patients exhibited a high frequency of MAIT cells, together with a pro-inflammatory profile. Moreover, MAIT cells were identified within white matter inflammatory lesions from post-mortem samples of nine MS cases. In addition, a recent report described a significant but modest decrease of MAIT cells in the blood of RR-MS patients (60), and confirmed their presence in brain lesions. Stimulation of MAIT cells with IL-18 induced very late antigen 4 (VLA-4) up-regulation, providing a possible mechanism to explain their migratory behavior. In agreement with this, the decrease in blood MAIT cells was inversely correlated with IL-18 plasma levels (60). More recently, Held and collaborators made a strong effort to identify antigen-driven T cells expansion within brain lesions by combining laser microdissection and TCR pyrosequencing (61). They indeed observed massive expansion of T cell clones that persisted for several years. Surprisingly, TCRs closely related to, but distinct from, the MAIT cells' TCR were found, whereas the canonical TCR V $\alpha$ 7.2-J $\alpha$ 33 was present as a minor fraction (61). It is not clear at this point to what extent these TCRs allow any recognition of MR1, and how T cells expressing these specificities are indeed related to MAIT cells. Thus, opposite results are described with regard to MAIT cell frequency and functions in MS patients, and the reasons underlying these discrepancies are currently not clear. It should be pointed out at this point that the effect of immunosuppressive/immunomodulatory regimen on MAIT cells has never been studied, with the exception of the hematopoietic stem cell transplantation study mentioned above. The cohorts analyzed in these various articles included patients that were free of any current medication affecting the immune system, but no mention of previous treatments was made, with the exception of the Annibali's work, which analyzed mostly treatment-naïve patients. Therefore, differences in treatment history may hamper a valid comparison of these cohorts. Nevertheless, available data suggest that MAIT cells in MS gain the ability to traffic to the CNS, which in some cases may explain their depletion from blood, as seen in other pathological settings (see below).

## MAIT Cells in Other Autoimmune/ Inflammatory Diseases

Several reports have described alterations in the frequency, phenotype, location and/or functions of MAIT cells in inflammatory diseases, mostly in human samples and sometimes in mouse models. Most studies found a decreased frequency of blood MAIT cells, in patients with SLE, celiac disease, or IBD (31, 52, 56). When studied, the function of MAIT cells was altered, with decreased IFNy production in SLE and IBD, and increased IL-17 secretion in IBD. Increased MAIT cell frequency was found in the inflamed intestinal tissue of IBD patients as well as in skin lesions of patients with psoriasis (27, 31). MAIT cells appeared pathogenic in a mouse model of autoimmune arthritis (62). In this study, the authors showed that MR1 KO animals were less sensitive to both active (collagen-induced) and passive (antibodyinduced) arthritis than wild-type animals. Moreover, they used adoptive transfer of MAIT cells from iVa19 Tg mice (with the limitations already described) to reveal the disease-enhancing role of MAIT cells in the passive arthritis model. Recently, two seminal studies documented the behavior of MAIT cells in obese patients. It appears that, similar to several autoimmune or infectious diseases, MAIT cell frequency gradually declines in the blood of obese patients, and increases in the adipose tissue where MAIT cells are prone to produce IL-17 (28, 29).

## Putative Mechanisms of MAIT Cells Involvement in MS and Other Inflammatory Diseases

The diverse and clonal expression of the TCR by T cells implies that different clones react against different ligands. MAIT cells display very limited repertoire diversity and therefore should recognize a limited set of different ligands. However, akin to other innate T cell subsets (such as  $\gamma\delta$  T cells or CD1d-restricted iNKT cells), the antigens recognized by MAIT cells are highly conserved and potentially expressed by a large variety of bacteria and fungi (34). This property accounts for the activation of MAIT cells by various microorganisms, such as *Escherichia coli*, *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Shigella flexnerii*, *Salmonella typhimurium*, *Vibrio cholerae*, or *Francisella tularensis*, and certainly many others (20, 24, 33–35, 63–66).

However, our knowledge of the mechanisms by which MAIT cells are recruited and activated in non-infectious inflammatory diseases is minimal. The first general hypothesis postulates that MAIT cells are activated in a cognate manner, by recognition of their specific Ags. But what would be the origin of these antigens? In the case of intestinal inflammatory diseases, alterations in the permeability of the gut epithelial barrier and subsequent translocation of microbial products may promote MAIT cell activation. Further, recent findings suggest that this general mechanism is involved in the pathogenesis of non-intestinal inflammatory diseases, including MS (67, 68). However, it would be difficult to explain how a low level of microbial translocation would induce a strong MAIT cell activation, given the fact that their specific ligands appear to be extremely unstable (20), which could actually be a regulation mechanism. Alternatively, there may be endogenous ligands for MAIT cells, whose expression could be induced and/or increased in the context of inflammation. It must be pointed out that there is to date no demonstration that such endogenous ligands exist. However, this could be inferred from several studies analyzing MAIT cell ontogeny, which proved that

MAIT cells are positively selected on hematopoietic cells in the thymus in the presence of MR1 only (10, 69). Thus, although it is highly probable that such endogenous ligands for MAIT cells exist, their molecular characterization is still eagerly awaited.

The second hypothesis to explain such broad involvement of MAIT cells in inflammatory diseases involves a bystander mechanism, i.e., in the absence of their antigen recognition through their TCR. MAIT cells are effector/memory cells, and as such, are equipped with a panel of receptors involved in cell migration, or in the response to inflammatory mediators [Tolllike receptors (TLR), cytokine receptors, etc.]. Notably, MAIT cells can be activated to produce IFNy in the mere presence of cytokines, specifically a combination of IL-12 and IL-18 (37). Jo et al. showed that the TLR7/8 agonist R848 stimulates monocytes to produce IL-12 and IL-18, which in turn activate IFNy secretion by MAIT cells (70). Further, bacteria devoid of MR1-binding ligands, such as Streptococcus pneumoniae, also induce the production of these cytokines by antigen-presenting cell (APC) and subsequent MAIT cell activation. IL-12 is involved in many autoimmune diseases, including MS (and EAE); IL-18 is also a major cytokine whose role in driving autoimmune diseases but also hypersensitivity conditions is gaining strong interest (71, 72). Therefore, it could be proposed that the inflammatory milieu drives MAIT cell activation through cytokine responsiveness, leading to their recruitment in the inflamed lesions of the brain in MS. Indeed, IL-18 apparently up-regulates VLA-4 at the surface of MAIT cells, providing a molecular clue as to how the cytokine milieu might influence MAIT cells migratory behavior (60). Other cytokines, such as IL-1β, which shares with IL-18 an inflammasome-dependent processing, might also be involved.

# Possible Roles of MAIT Cells in the Inflamed Brain During MS

Mucosal-associated invariant T cells can be found in the inflamed CNS lesions from MS patients; they are also observed in other inflamed tissues, such as the skin of psoriatic patients. This raises the obvious question of their functions within tissues and their relevance to the pathogenesis of these diseases in general. Very little information is available about MAIT cell functions in tissues, and we are currently led to speculate on this matter. It is of course possible that they are only innocent bystanders in the inflammatory lesions and do not play any important role. Blood MAIT cells are equipped with receptors involved in migration to the CNS, such as CCR5 (in the steady-state) and VLA-4 (after stimulation). Indeed, MAIT cells are usually identified in low frequency within target tissues of inflammation. On the other hand, it must be reminded that MAIT cells are effector/memory cells prone to produce inflammatory cytokines and to release cytotoxic granules. Several reports showed that circulating blood MAIT cells in diseases, such as IBD, type 2 diabetes (T2D), and MS, display increased cytokine-producing functions, in particular IL-17, as compared with their counterparts from healthy donors (29, 31, 51). Therefore, infiltrating MAIT cells in MS are functionally active, which may suggest their involvement in the

disease. If so, the next question is: what role do MAIT cells play in the inflamed brain?

Upon activation, cytokine secretion by MAIT cells is mostly related to a Tc1/Tc17 pattern, i.e., IFNy and/or IL-17 as well as GM-CSF and TNFa. All these cytokines are considered as major culprits in many autoimmune diseases, including MS. From there, it is tempting to speculate that MAIT cells are pro-inflammatory cells with deleterious effects in the disease process. Furthermore, given that MAIT cells are cytotoxic against bacteria-infected epithelial cells, it is possible that in MS they gain the ability to kill oligodendrocytes, axons/neurons, or even other CNS-resident cell types. Direct evidence supporting this hypothesis is, however, lacking. Although MR1 (the restriction molecule for MAIT cells) appears to be broadly expressed, its expression in CNS cells has never been investigated. This aspect needs to be addressed in MS as well as in other CNS inflammatory diseases. We think that the current knowledge regarding the functional properties of MAIT cells does not permit to predict whether these cells ultimately play a pro-inflammatory or regulatory role in MS. MS is probably a heterogeneous disease with regard to the precise mechanisms of pathogenesis. Although the issue is not totally resolved, there is increasing evidence that both inflammasome-dependent and inflammasome-independent mechanisms exist that would be differentially elicited in patients, and that this may underlie the differential response to therapy (73, 74). We postulate that this heterogeneity in the disease pathogenesis could partially explain the contradictory results found by different teams with regard to the pro-inflammatory or regulatory role of MAIT cells in MS and EAE. If this hypothesis holds true, we also anticipate that there could be a correlation between MAIT cells functions in MS (for instance, IFNy versus IL-17 production) and response to disease-modifying therapies, suggesting a possible use as an immunological biomarker.

## **Concluding Remarks**

The multifaceted nature of MAIT cells makes them promising candidates for therapeutic targeting and/or to use as biomarker of disease. A strong body of work strongly suggests that MAIT cells are involved in MS, fostering new studies aiming at deciphering their precise role in pathogenesis. Studies in human patients are obviously hampered by the limited access to tissue samples. One interesting avenue would be to analyze MAIT cells phenotype and functions in patients stratified according to their response to therapy. Limitations of the murine models available thus far have been already described. However, a report published while this review was in preparation described MAIT cells in wild-type mice, with the help of MR1 tetramers (32). The authors suggest that mouse MAIT cells more closely resemble their human counterparts than previously thought, although important differences remain, such as a much lower frequency and a more pronounced Tc17 skewing of cytokine secretion. There is no doubt that future analysis of MAIT cells in the EAE model will yield relevant data as to their role in this disease.

### References

- Beecham AH, Patsopoulos NA, Xifara DK, Davis MF, Kemppinen A, Cotsapas C, et al. Analysis of immune-related loci identifies 48 new susceptibility variants for multiple sclerosis. *Nat Genet* (2013) 45(11):1353–60. doi:10.1038/ng.2770
- Hauser SL, Chan JR, Oksenberg JR. Multiple sclerosis: prospects and promise. Ann Neurol (2013) 74(3):317–27. doi:10.1002/ana.24009
- Housley WJ, Fernandez SD, Vera K, Murikinati SR, Grutzendler J, Cuerdon N, et al. Genetic variants associated with autoimmunity drive NFkappaB signaling and responses to inflammatory stimuli. *Sci Transl Med* (2015) 7(291):291ra93. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa9223
- Sawcer S, Hellenthal G, Pirinen M, Spencer CC, Patsopoulos NA, Moutsianas L, et al. Genetic risk and a primary role for cell-mediated immune mechanisms in multiple sclerosis. *Nature* (2011) 476(7359):214–9. doi:10.1038/nature10251
- Nylander A, Hafler DA. Multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(4):1180–8. doi:10.1172/JCI58649
- Ben-Nun A, Kaushansky N, Kawakami N, Krishnamoorthy G, Berer K, Liblau R, et al. From classic to spontaneous and humanized models of multiple sclerosis: impact on understanding pathogenesis and drug development. *J Autoimmun* (2014) 54:33–50. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2014.06.004
- Rangachari M, Kuchroo VK. Using EAE to better understand principles of immune function and autoimmune pathology. J Autoimmun (2013) 45:31–9. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2013.06.008
- Saxena A, Martin-Blondel G, Mars LT, Liblau RS. Role of CD8 T cell subsets in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *FEBS Lett* (2011) 585(23):3758–63. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2011.08.047
- Bruck W, Gold R, Lund BT, Oreja-Guevara C, Prat A, Spencer CM, et al. Therapeutic decisions in multiple sclerosis: moving beyond efficacy. *JAMA Neurol* (2013) 70(10):1315–24. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.3510
- Treiner E, Duban L, Bahram S, Radosavljevic M, Wanner V, Tilloy F, et al. Selection of evolutionarily conserved mucosal-associated invariant T cells by MR1. *Nature* (2003) 422(6928):164–9. doi:10.1038/nature01433
- Huang S, Martin E, Kim S, Yu L, Soudais C, Fremont DH, et al. MR1 antigen presentation to mucosal-associated invariant T cells was highly conserved in evolution. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) **106**(20):8290–5. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0903196106
- Goldfinch N, Reinink P, Connelley T, Koets A, Morrison I, Van Rhijn I. Conservation of mucosal associated invariant T (MAIT) cells and the MR1 restriction element in ruminants, and abundance of MAIT cells in spleen. *Vet Res* (2010) 41(5):62. doi:10.1051/vetres/2010034
- Tilloy F, Treiner E, Park SH, Garcia C, Lemonnier F, de la Salle H, et al. An invariant T cell receptor alpha chain defines a novel TAP-independent major histocompatibility complex class Ib-restricted alpha/beta T cell subpopulation in mammals. J Exp Med (1999) 189(12):1907–21. doi:10.1084/ jem.189.12.1907
- Tsukamoto K, Deakin JE, Graves JA, Hashimoto K. Exceptionally high conservation of the MHC class I-related gene, MR1, among mammals. *Immunogenetics* (2013) 65(2):115–24. doi:10.1007/s00251-012-0666-5
- Le Bourhis L, Guerri L, Dusseaux M, Martin E, Soudais C, Lantz O. Mucosalassociated invariant T cells: unconventional development and function. *Trends Immunol* (2011) 32(5):212–8. doi:10.1016/j.it.2011.02.005
- Reantragoon R, Corbett AJ, Sakala IG, Gherardin NA, Furness JB, Chen Z, et al. Antigen-loaded MR1 tetramers define T cell receptor heterogeneity in mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(11):2305–20. doi:10.1084/jem.20130958
- Martin E, Treiner E, Duban L, Guerri L, Laude H, Toly C, et al. Stepwise development of MAIT cells in mouse and human. *PLoS Biol* (2009) 7(3):e54. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000054
- Walker LJ, Kang YH, Smith MO, Tharmalingham H, Ramamurthy N, Fleming VM, et al. Human MAIT and CD8alphaalpha cells develop from a pool of type-17 precommitted CD8+ T cells. *Blood* (2012) 119(2):422–33. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-05-353789
- Kjer-Nielsen L, Patel O, Corbett AJ, Le Nours J, Meehan B, Liu L, et al. MR1 presents microbial vitamin B metabolites to MAIT cells. *Nature* (2012) 491(7426):717–23. doi:10.1038/nature11605
- Corbett AJ, Eckle SB, Birkinshaw RW, Liu L, Patel O, Mahony J, et al. T-cell activation by transitory neo-antigens derived from distinct microbial pathways. *Nature* (2014) 509(7500):361–5. doi:10.1038/nature13160

- Birkinshaw RW, Kjer-Nielsen L, Eckle SB, McCluskey J, Rossjohn J. MAITs, MR1 and vitamin B metabolites. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2014) 26:7–13. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2013.09.007
- Leeansyah E, Loh L, Nixon DF, Sandberg JK. Acquisition of innate-like microbial reactivity in mucosal tissues during human fetal MAIT-cell development. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:3143. doi:10.1038/ncomms4143
- Dusseaux M, Martin E, Serriari N, Peguillet I, Premel V, Louis D, et al. Human MAIT cells are xenobiotic-resistant, tissue-targeted, CD161hi IL-17-secreting T cells. *Blood* (2011) 117(4):1250–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-08-303339
- Le Bourhis L, Dusseaux M, Bohineust A, Bessoles S, Martin E, Premel V, et al. MAIT cells detect and efficiently lyse bacterially-infected epithelial cells. *PLoS Pathog* (2013) 9(10):e1003681. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003681
- Lepore M, Kalinichenko A, Colone A, Paleja B, Singhal A, Tschumi A, et al. Parallel T-cell cloning and deep sequencing of human MAIT cells reveal stable oligoclonal TCRbeta repertoire. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:3866. doi:10.1038/ ncomms4866
- Tang XZ, Jo J, Tan AT, Sandalova E, Chia A, Tan KC, et al. IL-7 licenses activation of human liver intrasinusoidal mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *J Immunol* (2013) 190(7):3142–52. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1203218
- Teunissen MB, Yeremenko NG, Baeten DL, Chielie S, Spuls PI, de Rie MA, et al. The IL-17A-producing CD8+ T-cell population in psoriatic lesional skin comprises mucosa-associated invariant T cells and conventional T cells. J Invest Dermatol (2014) 134(12):2898–907. doi:10.1038/jid.2014.261
- Carolan E, Tobin LM, Mangan BA, Corrigan M, Gaoatswe G, Byrne G, et al. Altered distribution and increased IL-17 production by mucosal-associated invariant T cells in adult and childhood obesity. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(12):5775–80. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1402945
- Magalhaes I, Pingris K, Poitou C, Bessoles S, Venteclef N, Kiaf B, et al. Mucosal-associated invariant T cell alterations in obese and type 2 diabetic patients. J Clin Invest (2015) 125(4):1752–62. doi:10.1172/JCI78941
- Turtle CJ, Delrow J, Joslyn RC, Swanson HM, Basom R, Tabellini L, et al. Innate signals overcome acquired TCR signaling pathway regulation and govern the fate of human CD161(hi) CD8alpha(+) semi-invariant T cells. *Blood* (2011) 118(10):2752–62. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-02-334698
- Serriari NE, Eoche M, Lamotte L, Lion J, Fumery M, Marcelo P, et al. Innate mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells are activated in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2014) 176(2):266–74. doi:10.1111/cei.12277
- Rahimpour A, Koay HF, Enders A, Clanchy R, Eckle SB, Meehan B, et al. Identification of phenotypically and functionally heterogeneous mouse mucosal-associated invariant T cells using MR1 tetramers. *J Exp Med* (2015) 212(7):1095–108. doi:10.1084/jem.20142110
- Gold MC, Cerri S, Smyk-Pearson S, Cansler ME, Vogt TM, Delepine J, et al. Human mucosal associated invariant T cells detect bacterially infected cells. *PLoS Biol* (2010) 8(6):e1000407. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000407
- Le Bourhis L, Martin E, Peguillet I, Guihot A, Froux N, Core M, et al. Antimicrobial activity of mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(8):701–8. doi:10.1038/ni.1890
- 35. Leung DT, Bhuiyan TR, Nishat NS, Hoq MR, Aktar A, Rahman MA, et al. Circulating mucosal associated invariant T cells are activated in *Vibrio cholerae* O1 infection and associated with lipopolysaccharide antibody responses. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2014) 8(8):e3076. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0003076
- Salerno-Goncalves R, Rezwan T, Sztein MB. B cells modulate mucosal associated invariant T cell immune responses. *Front Immunol* (2014) 4:511. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00511
- Ussher JE, Bilton M, Attwod E, Shadwell J, Richardson R, de Lara C, et al. CD161++ CD8+ T cells, including the MAIT cell subset, are specifically activated by IL-12+IL-18 in a TCR-independent manner. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44(1):195–203. doi:10.1002/eji.201343509
- Chua WJ, Truscott SM, Eickhoff CS, Blazevic A, Hoft DF, Hansen TH. Polyclonal mucosa-associated invariant T cells have unique innate functions in bacterial infection. *Infect Immun* (2012) 80(9):3256–67. doi:10.1128/IAI.00279-12
- Gold MC, Napier RJ, Lewinsohn DM. MR1-restricted mucosal associated invariant T (MAIT) cells in the immune response to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Immunol Rev* (2015) 264(1):154–66. doi:10.1111/imr.12271
- Sharma PK, Wong EB, Napier RJ, Bishai WR, Ndung'u T, Kasprowicz VO, et al. High expression of CD26 accurately identifies human bacteria-reactive MR1-restricted MAIT cells. *Immunology* (2015) 145(3):443–53. doi:10.1111/ imm.12461

- Grimaldi D, Le Bourhis L, Sauneuf B, Dechartres A, Rousseau C, Ouaaz F, et al. Specific MAIT cell behaviour among innate-like T lymphocytes in critically ill patients with severe infections. *Intensive Care Med* (2014) 40(2):192–201. doi:10.1007/s00134-013-3163-x
- Cosgrove C, Ussher JE, Rauch A, Gartner K, Kurioka A, Huhn MH, et al. Early and nonreversible decrease of CD161++/MAIT cells in HIV infection. *Blood* (2013) 121(6):951–61. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-06-436436
- Leeansyah E, Ganesh A, Quigley MF, Sonnerborg A, Andersson J, Hunt PW, et al. Activation, exhaustion, and persistent decline of the antimicrobial MR1restricted MAIT-cell population in chronic HIV-1 infection. *Blood* (2013) 121(7):1124–35. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-07-445429
- 44. Wong EB, Akilimali NA, Govender P, Sullivan ZA, Cosgrove C, Pillay M, et al. Low levels of peripheral CD161++CD8+ mucosal associated invariant T (MAIT) cells are found in HIV and HIV/TB co-infection. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(12):e83474. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0083474
- 45. Eberhard JM, Hartjen P, Kummer S, Schmidt RE, Bockhorn M, Lehmann C, et al. CD161+ MAIT cells are severely reduced in peripheral blood and lymph nodes of HIV-infected individuals independently of disease progression. *PLoS One* (2014) **9**(11):e111323. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0111323
- 46. Greathead L, Metcalf R, Gazzard B, Gotch F, Steel A, Kelleher P. CD8+/ CD161++ mucosal-associated invariant T-cell levels in the colon are restored on long-term antiretroviral therapy and correlate with CD8+ T-cell immune activation. *AIDS* (2014) 28(11):1690-2. doi:10.1097/ QAD.000000000000351
- Fernandez CS, Amarasena T, Kelleher AD, Rossjohn J, McCluskey J, Godfrey DI, et al. MAIT cells are depleted early but retain functional cytokine expression in HIV infection. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2015) 93(2):177–88. doi:10.1038/ icb.2014.91
- Saeidi A, Tien Tien VL, Al-Batran R, Al-Darraji HA, Tan HY, Yong YK, et al. Attrition of TCR Valpha7.2+ CD161++ MAIT cells in HIV-tuberculosis co-infection is associated with elevated levels of PD-1 expression. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(4):e0124659. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0124659
- Illes Z, Shimamura M, Newcombe J, Oka N, Yamamura T. Accumulation of Valpha7.2-Jalpha33 invariant T cells in human autoimmune inflammatory lesions in the nervous system. *Int Immunol* (2004) 16(2):223–30. doi:10.1093/ intimm/dxh018
- Peterfalvi A, Gomori E, Magyarlaki T, Pal J, Banati M, Javorhazy A, et al. Invariant Valpha7.2-Jalpha33 TCR is expressed in human kidney and brain tumors indicating infiltration by mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells. *Int Immunol* (2008) 20(12):1517–25. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxn111
- Annibali V, Ristori G, Angelini DF, Serafini B, Mechelli R, Cannoni S, et al. CD161(high)CD8+T cells bear pathogenetic potential in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2011) 134(Pt 2):542–54. doi:10.1093/brain/awq354
- Cho YN, Kee SJ, Kim TJ, Jin HM, Kim MJ, Jung HJ, et al. Mucosal-associated invariant T cell deficiency in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(8):3891–901. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1302701
- Kim JC, Jin HM, Cho YN, Kwon YS, Kee SJ, Park YW. Deficiencies of circulating mucosal-associated invariant T cells and natural killer T cells in patients with acute cholecystitis. *J Korean Med Sci* (2015) 30(5):606–11. doi:10.3346/ jkms.2015.30.5.606
- Sugimoto C, Konno T, Wakao R, Fujita H, Fujita H, Wakao H. Mucosalassociated invariant T cell is a potential marker to distinguish fibromyalgia syndrome from arthritis. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(4):e0121124. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0121124
- Hinks TS, Zhou X, Staples KJ, Dimitrov BD, Manta A, Petrossian T, et al. Innate and adaptive T cells in asthmatic patients: relationship to severity and disease mechanisms. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2015) 136(2):323–33. doi:10.1016/j. jaci.2015.01.014
- 56. Dunne MR, Elliott L, Hussey S, Mahmud N, Kelly J, Doherty DG, et al. Persistent changes in circulating and intestinal gammadelta T cell subsets, invariant natural killer T cells and mucosal-associated invariant T cells in children and adults with coeliac disease. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(10):e76008. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0076008
- Croxford JL, Miyake S, Huang YY, Shimamura M, Yamamura T. Invariant V(alpha)19i T cells regulate autoimmune inflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2006) 7(9):987–94. doi:10.1038/ni1370
- Miyazaki Y, Miyake S, Chiba A, Lantz O, Yamamura T. Mucosal-associated invariant T cells regulate Th1 response in multiple sclerosis. *Int Immunol* (2011) 23(9):529–35. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxr047

- Abrahamsson SV, Angelini DF, Dubinsky AN, Morel E, Oh U, Jones JL, et al. Non-myeloablative autologous haematopoietic stem cell transplantation expands regulatory cells and depletes IL-17 producing mucosal-associated invariant T cells in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2013) 136(Pt 9):2888–903. doi:10.1093/brain/awt182
- Willing A, Leach OA, Ufer F, Attfield KE, Steinbach K, Kursawe N, et al. CD8(+) MAIT cells infiltrate into the CNS and alterations in their blood frequencies correlate with IL-18 serum levels in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44(10):3119–28. doi:10.1002/eji.201344160
- Held K, Bhonsle-Deeng L, Siewert K, Sato W, Beltran E, Schmidt S, et al. alphabeta T-cell receptors from multiple sclerosis brain lesions show MAIT cell-related features. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2015) 2(4):e107. doi:10.1212/NXI.00000000000107
- Chiba A, Tajima R, Tomi C, Miyazaki Y, Yamamura T, Miyake S. Mucosalassociated invariant T cells promote inflammation and exacerbate disease in murine models of arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2012) 64(1):153–61. doi:10.1002/ art.33314
- Gold MC, McLaren JE, Reistetter JA, Smyk-Pearson S, Ladell K, Swarbrick GM, et al. MR1-restricted MAIT cells display ligand discrimination and pathogen selectivity through distinct T cell receptor usage. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211(8):1601–10. doi:10.1084/jem.20140507
- Kurioka A, Ussher JE, Cosgrove C, Clough C, Fergusson JR, Smith K, et al. MAIT cells are licensed through granzyme exchange to kill bacterially sensitized targets. *Mucosal Immunol* (2015) 8(2):429–40. doi:10.1038/mi.2014.81
- 65. Soudais C, Samassa F, Sarkis M, Le Bourhis L, Bessoles S, Blanot D, et al. In vitro and in vivo analysis of the gram-negative bacteria-derived riboflavin precursor derivatives activating mouse MAIT cells. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(10):4641–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1403224
- Meierovics A, Yankelevich WJ, Cowley SC. MAIT cells are critical for optimal mucosal immune responses during in vivo pulmonary bacterial infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(33):E3119–28. doi:10.1073/pnas.1302799110
- Berer K, Krishnamoorthy G. Microbial view of central nervous system autoimmunity. FEBS Lett (2014) 588(22):4207–13. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2014.04.007
- Nouri M, Bredberg A, Westrom B, Lavasani S. Intestinal barrier dysfunction develops at the onset of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, and can be induced by adoptive transfer of auto-reactive T cells. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(9):e106335. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0106335
- Seach N, Guerri L, Le Bourhis L, Mburu Y, Cui Y, Bessoles S, et al. Doublepositive thymocytes select mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *J Immunol* (2013) 191(12):6002–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1301212
- Jo J, Tan AT, Ussher JE, Sandalova E, Tang XZ, Tan-Garcia A, et al. Toll-like receptor 8 agonist and bacteria trigger potent activation of innate immune cells in human liver. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) **10**(6):e1004210. doi:10.1371/journal. ppat.1004210
- Novick D, Kim S, Kaplanski G, Dinarello CA. Interleukin-18, more than a Th1 cytokine. Semin Immunol (2013) 25(6):439–48. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2013.10.014
- Axtell RC, de Jong BA, Boniface K, van der Voort LF, Bhat R, De Sarno P, et al. T helper type 1 and 17 cells determine efficacy of interferon-beta in multiple sclerosis and experimental encephalomyelitis. *Nat Med* (2010) 16(4):406–12. doi:10.1038/nm.2110
- Malhotra S, Rio J, Urcelay E, Nurtdinov R, Bustamante MF, Fernandez O, et al. NLRP3 inflammasome is associated with the response to IFN-beta in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2015) 138(Pt 3):644–52. doi:10.1093/ brain/awu388
- 74. Inoue M, Williams KL, Oliver T, Vandenabeele P, Rajan JV, Miao EA, et al. Interferon-beta therapy against EAE is effective only when development of the disease depends on the NLRP3 inflammasome. *Sci Signal* (2012) 5(225):ra38. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2002767

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Treiner and Liblau. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

